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THE SPANISH OCCUPATION OF TEXAS, 1519-1690

HERBERT E. BOLTON

I. INTRODUCTORY

For a century and a half before they made definite attempts

to occupy the region now called Texas the Spaniards gradually

explored it^ proceeding step by step from the borders toward the

interior, and slowly formed ideas concerning its geography and its

suitability for settlement. Viewed in this light, the final occupa-

tion of Texas at the end of the seventeenth century was by no

means the sudden event, brought about by the chance settlement

of the French on the Gulf coast, which it was once thought to be.

Though it is not commonly known, Texas had its share in the

romance, and myth, and fable which everywhere attended the Span^

ish conquest in America. In Florida the Spaniards sought the

Fountain of Youth; in South America the Gilded Man (El Do-

rado) ; on the west coast of Mexico the Isle of the Amazons ; in

Arizona and New Mexico the Seven Cities of Cibola; on the Cali-

fornia coast the Strait of Anian.^ Likewise, in Texas they searched

for the Kingdom of Gran Quivira, where "everyone had their

ordinary dishes made of wrought plate, and the jugs and bowls

*Volume8 I-XV published as The Quarterly of the Texas State Histor-

ical Association.

^Bandelier, The Gilded Man, passim.
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were of gold";^ for the Seven Hills of the Aijados, or Aixaos,

where gold was so plentiful that "the natives not knowing any of

the other metals, make of it everything they need, such as vessels

and the tips of arrows and lances";^ for the Sierra (or Cerro) de

la Plata (Silver Mountain), somewhere north of the Eio Grande;^

for the pearls of the Jumano country;* and for the "Great King-

dom of the Texas," a people who, like the Jumanos, had been

miraculously converted by the woman in blue,^ who lived next

door to the Kingdom of Gran Quivira, were ruled by a powerful

lord, had well built towns, each several miles in length, and raised

grain in such abundance that they even fed it to their horses.® All

these various quests and beliefs had made the Texas country an

object of interest to the Spaniards long before it became a field for

political contest with France.

II. FOUR LIN-ES OF APPROACH TO TEXAS, 1519-1678

There were four lines of approach to Spanish Texas, through

the development of which a knowledge of the region was gradually

unfolded: (1) From the east and south, by way of the Gulf of

Mexico: (2) from the east, by way of the vast region known in

early days as La Florida; (3) from the west and southwest, by

way of Kew Mexico and Xueva Yizcaya; and (4) from the south,

through the expansion of Xuevo Leon and Coahuila.

^Castaneda, Narrative, translated by Winship, in Fourteenth Annual Re-
port of the Bureau of American Ethnology, 1, 493.

^Niel, Apuntamientos, in Documentos para la Historia de Mexico, Tercera
Serie, tomo iv, 92. See also Benavides, Memorial, in Land of Sunshine,
xiv, 139-140.

^"Un cerro dicen que hay, que llaman el de La Plata, incognito a los que
hoy viven, tambien lo seria a los pasados; es hacia el Norte." (Leon,
Historia de Xuei:o Leon [Mexico, 1909], 84. Diego Ramon explored the
Cerro de la Platta, at the order of the viceroy, sometime before 1703.
Hidalgo, Fray Francisco, "Relaoion de la Quivira" [MS], 65.)

*See page 10.

^See note 4 page 8 for a statement concerning the miraculous conver-

sion of various tribes in Texas.

^Declaration of Juan Sabeata before Governor Cruzate, of New Mexico,
at El Paso del Rio del Norte, October 20, 1683. MS.
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1. By way of the Gulf

Tn the course of the exploration of the Gulf coast and the

search for a strait through the newly found land mass to the East

Indies, Pineda, in the employ of Garay, governor of Jamaica, in

1519 ran the coast from Florida to Panuco (Tampico) and back,

and made a map which shows with substantial accuracy the entire

shore line of Texas. Two years later, on the basis of this explora-

tion, Garay was granted a province, called Amichel, comprising the

whole Gulf coast from modern Alabama to Tampico, which he

attempted to colonize at its southern extremity.^ In this he was

forestalled by the master conquistador himself, Cortes, who in

1522 founded a villa at P^nuco.^ By 1528 two expeditions from

this place explored the coasts northward beyond the Eio Bravo,

or Rio Grande. On a later expedition,, made in 1544, it is said.

Father Olmos took back and settled at Panuco the tribe of the

Olives, thought by some to have been secured on Texas soil.^ In

1553 more than three hundred survivors of a wrecked treasure fleet

were cast on the Texas shore five days' march north of the Rio

Grande, and escaped toward Panuco. In 1558 an expedition destined

to colonize Florida was led from Vera Cruz by Bazares. In lati-

tude 27° 30' he landed on the Texas shore; coasting eastward, in

latitude 28° 30', he discovered and took possession of a bay which

he called San Francisco, and which may have been the modern

Matagorda Bay.* Thereafter occasional voyages were made along

the northern shores of the Gulf; but the Texas coast, instead of

being one of the first portions of the Gulf shore to be colonized,

as it would have been had Garay succeeded, was destined to be

nearly the last, its settlement being deferred still two centuries

after Garay's day.

^Lowery, The Spanish Settlements within the Present Limits of the
United States, 149-153; Navarette, Coleccidn de Viages, iii, 147-153, where
the Pineda map is reproduced.

^Called San Estevan del Puerto. Bancroft, Mexico, 11, 94-101.

^Prieto, Alejandro, Historia, Ge\ografia y Estadistica del Estado de
Tamaulipas (Mexico, 1873), 16, 60; Bancroft, Mexico, 11, 267; Orozco y
Berra, Manuel, Geografia de las Lenguas, 293, 296; Shea, J. G., History of
the Catholic Missions (1855), 45-46; Vetancur, Gronica (1697), 92. There
is a confusion of the names of Olmedo and Olmos in this connection.

*Lowery, Spanish Settlements, 352-357. Barcia, Ensayo Cronologico,
fol. 28 et seq.; Shea. op. ext., 49.50.



4 The Southwestern Historical Quarterly

2. By way of Florida

Incident to the early attempts to explore and conquer La Florida

from the east, the survivors of two shattered expeditions, seeking

refnge in the settlements of Mexico, entered what is now Texas,

crossed large stretches of its territory, and gained the first knowl-

edge sent to Europe of the southern and northeastern interiors.

As has been intimated, so far as the crossing of Texas is con-

cerned, both of these explorations were accidental.

Reference is made, of course, to the well known journeys of

Cabeza de Yaca and Moscoso. In 1528 Cabeza de Yaca and some

two hundred companions, survivors of the Florida expedition led by

Narvaez, were cast on the southeastern shore of Texas. After

spending six years on Texas soil, and enduring the hardships of en-

slavement by the Indians, Yaca and three others made their way

westward across the whole southwestern border of the present state

of Texas, entered northern Chihuahua, and finally reached Culiacan^

in Sinaloa.^ In 1542 jVIoscoso led the survivors of the De Soto ex-

pedition into Texas near the northeastern corner, westward or south-

westward to a point thought by Mr. Lewis to have been in the upper

Brazos, and back across the Red River by essentially the same route.^

This journey gave the Spaniards some knowledge of the geography

of northeastern Texas and of the Caddoan group of Indians then, as

later, inhabiting the region. It is rem.arkable, in this connection,

that a map based on Moscoso's exploration shows the Nondacau,

Nisone, Ays, and G-uasco tribes in the same general location as

that in which they were found a century and a half later.

^

3. By way of New Mexico

The third line of approach, that from the west and southwest

through ^^ew Mexico, was till the later seventeenth century the

^Bandelier, The Journey of Alvar Nunez Caheza de Vaca (Trail Makers
series)

;
Hodge, The Narrative of Alvar Nunez Caheza de Yaca, in Spanish

Explorers in the Southern United States, 1528-1543. For various critical

articles relative to the route of Cabeza de Vaca, see the early files of The
Quarterly.

-With regard to the district traversed the present writer hopes to have
something to say at a later time.

^Lewis, The Narrative of the Expedition of Hernando de Soto, by the

Gentleman of Elvas, in Spanish Explorers in the Southern United States,

1528-1543.



The Spanish Occupation of Texas, 1519-1690 5

principal one, and for this reason until 1685 western Texas was

nuich better known than the southern portion, lying nearer Mex-

ico, or than the eastern portion, commonly regarded as "old"

Texas.

The Coro'imdo expedition.—Just before the Moscoso party en-

tered northeastern Texas, another band, led by Coronado, entered

its northwestern border. Coronado had come, by way of the

Pacific Slope, to Kew Mexico in search of the Seven Cities of

Cibola. Disappointed at what he found, and hearing while in the

Eio Grande valley of a great kingdom called Quivira to the north-

east, he set out in search of it across the Llanos del Cibolo (Buf-

falo Plains)
,
going, it is believed, from the upper Pecos Eiver south-

eastward to the upper Colorado, thence north across the Brazos,

Eed, Canadian and Arkansas rivers, eastward into central Kansas,

and directly back to the Pecos. In the course of the expedition,

northwestern Texas was traversed in four distinct paths, and the

Spaniards learned of the Llanos del Cibolo and of the wandering

tribes of Plains Indians who followed the buffalo for subsistence.^

Incidental crossing of southwestern Texas.—After the Coronado

expedition interest in our Southwest lagged for nearly four de-

cades, when the Spaniards again gave it their attention, this time

approaching it by way of the central Mexican plateau, across what

is now northern Chihuahua and up the Rio G-rande or the Pecos.

In the course of the renewed exploration and the colonization of

New Mexico, in the last two decades of the sixteenth century, sev-

eral expeditions incidentally crossed the western extremity of

Texas, between the Pecos and the Rio Grande. Of these expedi-

tions the ones best known are those made by Father Rodriguez in

1581, Espejo in 1582, Castaho de Sosa in 1590, Bonilla and

Humana about 1595, and Juan de Onate, the colonizer of New
Mexico, in 1598.^ All this region was then a part of New Mex-

ico, and the exploration of it was made chiefly incident to the

development and exploitation of the more interesting Pueblo region

in the upper Rio Grande valley.

^Winship, George Parker, The Coronado Expedition; Castaneda, Narra-
tive of the Expedition of Coronado, edited by Hodge, in Spanish Explorers
in the Southern United States, 1528-1543. The route, as outlined above, is

that marked out by Hodge, op. cit., map.

^Bancroft, Arizona and New Mexico, 74-128; De Leon, Historia de Nuevo
Le^n, 92-95; Niel, Apuntamientos, 91-92.
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The sparch for Gran Qaivira.—But the subjugation of the

Pueblos did not exhaust the energies of the conquistadores, and

they turned again from time to time with all their old fire to

exploit and exploration. To the east there were several points of

interest. G-ran Quivira was still to be sought somewhere across

the Llanos del Cibolo : adjacent to it were the Aijados, in whose

country were the Seven Hills supposedly rich in gold : southeast

of Santa Fe, on the upper Colorado Eiver, were the Jumano In-

dians, who welcomed missionaries and afforded trade in hides, and

in whose streams were found pearls. Finally, in the pursuit of

these objects, still another, more remote, rose above the horizon in

the east, the ^^Great Kingdom of the Texas."^^

Concerning the expeditions made in search of Quivira after

Coronado's day, our information is exaggerated and unsatisfac-

tory, but the general outline of events is fairlv clear. As the

lecord has it, about 1595 Juan de Humana and a part}- of soldiers

were destroyed by the Indians while returning from a search for

Quivira, at a place some two hundred leagues northeast of Santa

Fe, afterward known in tradition as La Matanza (the death

place. It was said that they were returning laden with gold.

In June, 1601, Juan de Onate, governor of IS'ew Mexico, made the

opening expedition of the seventeenth century. Accompanied by

two friars and eighty men, and with a survivor of the Humana ex-

pedition as guide, he went east-northeast and north two hundred

leagues from Santa Fe, reached La Matanza, received ambassadors

from Quivira, engaged in a terrible battle with the Escanjaques

Indians, and returned home.- In 1629, when Father Juan de

Salas, of Xew Mexico, was on the eastern plains among the Ju-

manos, messengers from the Aijados and Quiviras were sent to see

him and accompanied him to Santa Fe to ask for missionaries."

In 1631: Alonso de Vaca went three hundred leagues east from

Xew Mexico, possibly in response to the call of 1629, to a great

river across which was Quivira. Finally, Don Diego de Penalosa,

an evicted and discredited governor of Xew Mexico, later claimed

^Niel, Apuntamientos, 91-93. Posadas, Informe d S. M. sohre Uls tierras

de Nuevo Mexico, Quivira, y Teguayo (1686), in Duro, Don Diego de Pen-
alosa, 53-67.

-Xiel, Apuntamientos, 91-92; Bancroft, Arizona and yew Mexico, 149-150.

'Posadas, Informe, 1686.
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that in 1662 he had made an expedition several hundred leagues

east and north, and succeeded in finding the city of Quivira. That

Penalosa made- such a journey at all is doubted by most scholars/

but the news that he was telling the tale at the court of

France, for the purpose of getting up an expedition against

Spain's possessions on the Gulf, aroused Spain in 1678 to take a

livelier interest in Texas than she had before manifested, and to

renewed talk of searching for Gran Quivira.^

Father Benavides's proposal.—In 1630, when Quivira was at-

tracting so much attention, Father Benavides, custos of the mis-

sions of New Mexico, made a most interesting suggestion regard-

ing the eastern country, and one which later bore fruit. Writing

of the "kingdoms'' of Quivira and Aixaos, he described them as

rich in gold
;
and, as a means of subduing them^ restraining the

English and the Dutch, and providing a shorter route from Cuba

to New Mexico, he suggested the occupation of a place on the Gulf

coast known as the Bay of Espiritu Santo, shown on the maps as

somewhere between Apalache and Tampico, and, as Benavides

thought, less than a hundred leagues from Quivira.^ In 1632

Benavides published another memorial urging the same plan.* It

will be seen that nearly half a century later the Spanish govern-

ment took the proposal under consideration, and had set about

putting it into effect before the La Salle expedition occurred.

Expeditions to the Jumanos: Neivs of the> Texas.—Much more

satisfactory is our information concerning a similar series of ex-

peditions made in the seventeenth century to the Jumano Indians

of the upper Colorado Kiver, in the interest of missionary work,

pearl hunting, trade in skins, and exploration.

The Jumanos left a most interesting and, on account of the

numerous localities in which people of that name were encoun-

tered at different times, a somewhat puzzling record. They were

found, for example, on the Rio Grande below El Paso, in eastern

^For the Penalosa expedition, see Cesaro Fernandez Duio, Don Diego de
Penalosa y su Descuhrifniento de Quivira (Madrid, 1882) ; John Gilmary
Shea, The Expedition of Don Diego Dionisio de Penalosa (New York, 1882) ;

Miller, E. T., "The Connection of Penalosa with the La Salle Expedition,"
in The Quarterly, V, 97-112.

'See pp. 17-18.

^Benavides, Memorial, translation in the Land of Sunshine, xiv, 139-140.

*Duro, Don Diego de Penalosa, 132.
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New Mexico, in central Texas on the Colorado, in southeastern

Texas, on the Arkansas, and on the Red.^ This nbiquitv of the

Jnmanos is to be explained in part, no doubt, by the migration

of the tribe to and from the buffalo plains at different seasons of

the year; but it seems equally clear that there were at least two

distinct divisions of people known to the Spaniards by the same

name. The division of particular interest here is the one which,

in the seventeenth century, frequented or lived upon the buffalo

plains of west-central Texas and was often visited there by the

Spaniards of Xew Mexico for the purposes indicated.

The first recorded journey to these eastern Jumanos was made

in 1629.2 Previous to that time Father Juan de Salas, of Isleta

(old Isleta, near the present Albuquerque) had worked among the

Tompiros and Salineros in eastern New Mexico and had come in

contact with Jumano living east of these tribes and hostile to

them.^ In the year mentioned, the Jumano sent a delegation to

Isleta to repeat a request previously made that he go with them

to their homes to minister to their people. On being asked why

they desired missionaries, they told the story, now a classic in the

lore of the Southwest, of the miraculous conversion of their tribes

by a beautiful woman wearing the garb of a nun, and later iden-

tified as Mother Maria de Agreda, abbess of a famous convent in

Spain, who declared that she had converted these tribes during a

visit to America "in ecstacy."*

^For a summary of the history of the Jumanos, see Hodge, •"The Jumano
Indians," in Proceedings of the American Antiquarian Society at the
Semi-Annual Meeting, April, 1910; a treatment of special phases of the
subject, suggested by Hodge's paper, is contained in Bolton, "The Jumano
Indians in Texas, 1650-1771," in The Quabtebly, XV, 66-84.

"In 1582 Espeio had encountered Jumano living on the Rio Grande, and
during the last years of the sixt-eenth century Jumano were under instruc-

tion by the missionaries in eastern Xew Mexico. Hodge, op. cit.

^Benavides, Memorial, 1630; Vetancur, Chronica de la Provincia del

Santo Evangelio ( 1697 )
, 96.

*For the foundation of the story of the miraculous conversion of the

Jumano, see Benavides. Memorial, in Land of Sunshine, xiv, 139, and
Vetancur, Chronica de la Provincia del Santo Evangelio (1697). 96. Sec-

ondary accounts are in Shea. The Catholic Church in America. I. 195-198,

and Schmidt, "Yen. ^laria Jesus de Agreda: a Correction," in The Quab-
tebly, I, 121-124. For references to the conversion of the Texas by this

mysterious person, see the letter of De Leon, quoted on page 25 : and
Manzanet, Carta, translated by Lilia M. Casis. in The Quabtebly. II, 311.

Manzanet (Mass-anet) there states that while at the village of the Nabe-
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Setting out with the petitioners, accompanied by Father Diego

Lopez and three soldiers, Salas went to a point more than one

hundred twelve leagues eastward from Santa Fe, where he found

a multitude of Indians, wrought miraculous cures, received mes-

sengers from the Quiviras and Aixados, and returned to Santa Fe

for aid in founding missions among the people he had visited.^

There is evidence that a part of the Jumanos followed the mis-

sionaries to New Mexico and were for a time ministered to in a

separate mission.- But the period was short, and in 1632 Father

Salas went again to the Jumanos on the plains, accompanied by

Father Diego de Ortega and some soldiers. When Salas returned,

Father Ortega remained with the Indians six months.

From now on the location of the Jumanos comes into clearer

light. The place where they were found this time was described

as two hundred leagues southeast of Santa Fe, on a stream called

the Nueces, because of the abundance of nuts (nueces) on its

banks. This description corresponds essentially with those of all

subsequent journeys made in the seventeenth century. The stream,

as we shall ,see, was clearly one of the branches of the Colorado

Eiver, and not improbably the Concho.^

What occurred in the interim does not appear, but eighteen

years later an expedition led by Captains Hernando Martin and

dache chief in 1690 the chie;f "asked me one evening for a piece of blue

baize to make a shroud in which to bury his mother when she died; I told

him that cloth would be more suitable, and he answered that he did not
want any color other than blue, I then asked him what mysterious reason
he had for preferring the blue color, and in reply he said that they were
very fond of that color, particularly for burial clothes, because in times

past they had been visited frequently by a very beautiful woman, who
used to come down from the hills, dressed in blue garments, and that they
wished to do as that woman had done. On my asking whether that had
been long since, the governor said it had been before his time, but his

mother, who was aged, had seen that woman, as had also the other old

people. From this it is easily to be seen that they referred to the Madre
Maria de Jesus de Agreda, who was very frequently in these regions, as

she herself acknowledged to the Father Custodiian of Ncav Mexico, her last

visit having been made in 1631." Father Casanas, writing in 1691 at the

Nabedache village, made the comment, evidently intended to controvert the

foregoing opinion, that the Indians "greatly esteem any piece of woolen
cloth, especially if it is blue. This is due solely to the circumstance that

the sky is of tliis color." Relacion, August 15, 1691. MS.

^See the works of Benavides, Vetancur, and Hodge, already cited.

^Hodge, The Jumano Indians, LO-11, and works cited therein.

'See Bolton, "The Jumano Indians in Texas, 1650-1771 " in The Quar-
terly, XV, 68-74; Posadas, Informe, 1686.
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Diego del Castillo visited the Jumanos on the Nueces and re-

mained with them six months. While there two things of greatest

interest occurred. The first was the gathering of a large quantity

of shells (conch os) from the river, which, on being burned, dis-

closed pearls. The other was the approach of a portion of the

party, after passing fifty leagues beyond the Jumano through the

country of the Cuitaos, Escanjaques, and Aijados, to the borders

of a people called "Tejas.^' "They did not enter their territory/'

our chronicler tells us, "as they learned that it was very large and

contained many people," but a "lieutenant'^ of the Teias "king''

went to see Castillo. This, so far as I know, is the first informa-

tion acquired by the Spaniards unquestionably concerning the peo-

ple from whom Texas got its name.^

The arrival of Martin and Castillo at Santa Fe with pearls, at

a time wlien the pearls of California were proving to be a dis-

appointment, now created a new interest in central Texas. The

samples were sent to the viceroy in Mexico, who at once ordered

another expedition to the Nueces. It was made in 1654 by Diego

de Guadalajara, with thirty soldiers, among whom was Juan Do-

minguez de Mendoza, thirty years later the leader of a more im-

portant expedition to the same place. G-uadalajara found the

Jumano in the same region where they had been encountered in

1632 and 1650. Thirty leagues farther on they had a hard fight

with the Cuitaos, of whom they killed many, besides taking two

hundred prisoners and rich spoils in the way of buckskins, elk-

skins, and buffalo hides. Still another interest in the country had

arisen—that of commerce in peltry.-

No other specific expedition to the Jumano is recorded till that

of Juan Dominguez de Mendoza, in 1681, the records of which

settle all doubt as to the location of the tribe to whom these visits

were directed. But in the interim many journeys seem to have

been made to them for the purpose of trade, evidence of which has

^Posadas, Informe; Declaration of Juan Sabeata, October 20, 1683. There
is no good reason for thinking that Yejo, the Indian referred to in Cas-
taiieda's narrative of Guzman's exploring activities on the west coast of

Mexico, or the Teyas met by Coronado on the buffalo plains, were of the
Texas group found in the later seventeenth century east of the Trinity
River. See Winship, The Coronado Expedition, 472-473; Wooten (editor),

Comprehensive History of Texas, I, 8.

^Posadas, Informe, 1686.
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just come to light in the Mexican archives. In 1683, when a

delegation of Jumanos from the eastern plains visited the Spanish

refugees then at El Paso, the authorities declared in writing, as

evidence of the friendship of the tribe, that before 1680, when the

Pueblo revolt had occurred, trade and friendship had been main-

tained with the Jumanos "with such security that the Spaniards,

six, eight, and ten, went to their lands and villages every year to

trade with these Indians" in buckskins, teocas, and buffalo hides.^

We shall see that the Mendoza party in 1684 brought back nearly

five thousand buffalo skins. It was later asserted that some time

before this event, two Franciscan missionaries, inspired by the

Venerable Mother Maria de Agreda, had gone to the Texas and

baptized many of their number, "their very prince" being the first

to receive the faith.^ This allusion may have been to the visits

of Father Salas and his companions to the borders of the Texas

early in the century, for no other record of a missionary visit to

these people before 1689 is known.

If.. From the South, by way of Nuevo Leon and Coahuila

While there had thus been definite progress eastward from New
Mexico during the first three-fourths of the seventeenth century,

and considerable contact between that province and what is now

the western half of Texas, from the south, the natural line of

advance from Mexico to Texas, progress was slow.

The outposts of northeastern New Spain.—In the sixteenth cen-

tury, nevertheless, northeastward expansion from the valley of

Mexico had been rapid. It has already been stated that as early

as 1522 Panuco had been founded by Cortes himself, and that by

1528 two expeditions from that point had explored the coasts

north of the Kio Grande. For half a century Panuco remained

the northeasternmost outpost, but meanwhile progress was more

rapid along the central Mexican plateau, where, following the line

^"Declaracion de 1-os Yndios que vinieron a esta Plassa de armas de San
Lorengo de la toma del rio del Norte," August 11, 1683. MS. Provincias
Internas, vol. 35, Expediente, 2, p. 60.

^"Memorial de Fray Nicolas Lopez acerca de la repoblacion de Nuevo
MC'jico," April 24, 1686, in Duro, Penalosa, 67.
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of the most promising mineral deposits, by 1565 conquests were

extended as far as Parras, Saltillo, and perhaps Monterrey.

Advance was now made again along the Gulf plain. In 1576

Luis de Carabajal pursued Indians into the country north of

Panuco, and in 1579 was commissioned to conquer and settle it.

The province assigned to him was called Nuevo Leon, and was

to extend two hundred leagues north from Panuco, a jurisdiction

reaching nearly or quite to the mouth of the Colorado River. For

a few years Carabajal's headquarters were at Panuco, but in (or

by) 1583 he went inland with a colony, opened the mines of San

Gregorio, and founded there the city of Leon, now Cerralvo. This

place, situated about one hundred fifty miles from the coast and

only some forty from the Eio Grande (near modern Mier), was

for a long time the principal settlement and the capital of the

province, and was for a century, with some intervals, the north-

ernmost outpost on the Rio Grande frontier. Shortly after found-

ing Leon, Carabajal established the villa of San Luis, farther

south, which in 1596 became or was succeeded by the villa of Mon-

teiTcy. Subsequently various intermediate points were occupied.^

Temporarily a more northerly outpost than Leon was estab-

lished. Hearing of rich mineral deposits toward the northwest, in

the district called Coahuila, about 1590 Carabajal took from Sal-

tillo supplies and a colony, opened mines, and founded the villa

of Almaden where Monclova now stands. While there he was

arrested by the Inquisition on the charge of Judaism and thrown

into prison in Mexico, where he died. A few months after Cara-

bajaFs arrest, Castano de Sosa, left in charge of the colony,

abandoned the place and led the settlers off to attempt the con-

quest of New Mexico, crossing the Rio Grande at the Pecos and

following that stream to the Pueblo region.^ In 1603 and again

in 1644 Almaden was temporarily reoccupied, but without success,

^This summary of the early history of Nuevo Le6n is based mainly on
Leon, Alonso, Historia de Nuevo Leon (Mexico. 1909) ;

Portillo, Esteban
L., Apuntes para la Historia Antiqua de Coahuila y Texas (Satillo, 1888) ;

Gonzalez, E. J., Lecciones Orales de Historia de Nuevo Leon (Monterey,

1887); Gonzalez, E. J., Coleccion de Noticias y Documentos para la His-

toria del Estado de Nuevo Leon (Monterey, 1885) ;
Prieto, Alejandro,

Historia, Geografia y EstoAistica del Estado de Tamaulipas (Mexico,

1873).

^Leon, 91-95; Bancroft, North Meancan 8tates, 1, 100-107. Bancroft

could not determine the location of Almaden, but this point is now per-

fectly clearr
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and after this Tvcon (Cerralvo), where a mission was founded in

1630 and a presidio in 1653, remained the northern outpost till

1673.1

Frontier explorations, 1590-1665.—By the middle of the seven-

teenth century explorations beyond the frontier had been made on

a small scale in all directions. That they were not more extensive

was due to Indian troubles and the feebleness of the frontier set-

tlements. From Cerralvo an expedition was sent eastward in

1638 to verify the report that Europeans, thought to be Dutch,

were trading with the Indians near the Gulf. The party was

impeded by the swollen "Camalucanos" River^ had a battle with

the Indians, and failed to reach the coast. A direct route to the

Gulf would have taken them across the Eio Bravo^ but that stream

was apparently not reached, unless it was the Camalucanos. By
1653 a regular line of trade had been established between Cerralvo

and Panuco, the Eio de las Palmas (Santander) had been re-ex-

plored, and the country twenty leagues beyond that stream

traversed.^

To the north the Spaniards were led short distances by a desire

to establish connection with La Florida, by rumors of the silver

deposit called El Cerro (or La Sierra) de la Plata, and in pur-

suit of Indians. Soon after Sosa's expedition up the Pecos, a

party of eight men from Saltillo is said to have crossed the Rio

Bravo into what is now Texas, but no details of the event are

known. 3 Interest in Florida is shown by the fact that in 1613

two citizens of Nuevo Leon, Captains Jose Trevino and Bernabe

Casas, offered the viceroy "their persons and their property to

undertake the conquest of the interior provinces of the Kingdom
of Leon, helping thereby to expel the English from La Florida.''*

Perhaps they had heard of the settlement of Jamestown six years

before. To discover the Cerro de la Plata two attempts were made
in 1644 and 1648 by General Juan de Zavala, but both of them
were frustrated by Indian revolts. Writing of this mineral de-

posit in 1648 De Leon said: "It is unknown to those now living

^Leon, Historia de Nuevo Leon, 84, 87-88, 95-98, 102, 125-127; Arlegui,
Cronica, 85, 126-128, 228; GonzrUez, Lecciones Orales, 2(5.

^Leon, Historia de Nuevo Leon, 153.

^Portillo, Apuntes, 114, note. It is referred to the time of Francisco de
Urdinola the younger, who became governor of Nueva Vizcaya in 1591,

^Gonzalez, Lecciones Orales, 52, citing Cavo, Tres Siglos ; Leon, Historia
de Nuevo Ledn, 29-30, 81, 133-134, 153, 100-1()3, 204, 214, 219.



14 The Southwestern Hi^toriml Quarterly

. . . and must have been to those in the past.''^ Summariz-

ing in 1650 what he had accomplished by way of exploration since

1626, when he became governor, Martin de Zavala said of him-

self : ^Tie has made a beginning of northern discovery, wherebv he

has explored more than fifty leagues with the purpose of continu-

ing till communication is established with La Florida, and has

almost certain knowledge of the SieiTa de la Plata, which he in-

tends to reach, a feat which has so often been attempted by the

governors of Xueva Vizcaya and Xuevo Leon, but which has been

abandoned because of Indian troubles/""- It is not clear whether

the fifty leagues explored toward La Florida were those covered in

search of the mine or not; but in either case, the Eio Bravo was

in all probability passed.

Pursuit of the Indians was a constant occupation on this fron-

tier. From the outset slave catching for the markets and for the

encomiendas, which in Xuevo Leon were generally established, had

been a favorite occupation at Cerralvo, more attractive than min-

ing.^ In retaliation, the savage tribes made frequent raids upon

the settlements, and were as often pursued beyond the frontiers by

such dought}^ warriors as Alonso de Leon, Juan, de Zavala, Juan

de la Garza, and Fernandez de Azcue. In 1653, for example, a

campaign led by Garza was made jointly by soldiers of. SaltiUo

and Xuevo L-eon against the Cacaxtles, who were found more than

seventy leagues northward from Monterrey.* Two years later an-

other joint campaign was made by the soldiers of Saltillo and

Monterrey against the same tribe. The troop of one hundred three

soldiers, equipped with eight hundred horses, and led by Fer-

nandez de Azcue, were supported by more than three hundred In-

dian allies of the Coahuila region. Going north from Monterrey,

at a place twenty-four leagues beyond the Eio Bravo they en-

countered the enemy within a wood, surrounded them, fought all

day, slew a hundred men and took seventy prisoners, themselves

suffering the loss of twenty wounded. This campaign of Azcue,

^Leon, Hisforia de Xuevo Leon, 84.

^Memorial presented to the king through Alonso de Leon. Ihid., 214.

Uhid., 95.

*md., 221-222.
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made against the Cacaxtles^ is the first expedition to cross the

lower Rio Grande of which we have definite record.^

Thus, by 1670 the Spaniards had barely broken over the Rio

Grande frontier below the Pecos. Now, however, another forward

step was taken on this border, the frontier of settlement pushed

northeastward, and missionary activity extended across the Rio

Grande, a movement that brought other important developments

in its train. As was often the case, the pioneers in this advance

movement were the missionaries; their leader was Juan Larios,

a native of Nueva Galicia and a friar of the Franciscan province

of Santiago de Jalisco.

The founding of Coahuila: the Larios-Bosque Expedition.—In

1670 Father Larios began missionary work on the troubled

Coahuila frontier, where he seems to have remained alone for

some three years. Returning to Guadalajara, in 1673 he went

again to Coahuila, accompanied by Father Dionysio de Penasco

and Fray Manuel de la Cruz, a lay brother. Aided by soldiers

sent by the governor of Nueva Vizcaya, they founded of the rov-

ing tribes two Indian settlements, one on the Sabinas River and

one to the north of that stream. On one of his missionary trips

made at this time Fray Manuel de la Cruz crossed the Rio Grande

to visit the interior tribes, and barely escaped capture by the Yer-

bipiames, a people who from that time till the day of their ex-

tinction gave untold trouble on this border. In the next year,

1674, Antonio de Valcc4rcel, appointed alcalde mayor of the

Coahuila district, founded on the site of the thrice abandoned

Almaden a "city'^ called Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe, and as-

sisted Father Larios in transferring thither his temporary mis-

sions, which included numerous Indians from across the Rio

Grande. Meanwhile the friars had been joined by Father Dionysio

de San Buenaventura. In 1675 Valcarcel sent Alferez Fernando

del Bosque, accompanied by Fathers Larios and San Buenaventura

across the Rio Grande to explore the country and reconnoiter the

tribes, and as a result of the report brought back four missions

^Ihid.y 228-230. There is a persistent tradition, found in many eighteenth
century and nineteenth century official Spanish documents, that an expedi-
tion made in 1630 explored clear to the San Andr6s (Red) and Mississippi
rivers, and marked out the boundaries of the province of Texas, but the
story is not well substantiated, and contains so many conflicting and im-
possible elements that it is self-refuting.
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were soon established in the Coahnila district, one for each of the

four groups or confederacies, which embraced tribes to the north

as well as to the south of the Eio Grande.^

Neius of the Texas.—Now the Texas arose above the Coahuila

horizon, just as they had appeared above that of New Mexico a

quarter of a century before. In 1676 the Bishop of Guadalajara

visited Coahuila, and one of the reasons which he gave in his

report for favoring the four missions recommended by Bosque was

the opportunity which they would afford to reach and convert a

more important people beyond, the Texas, of whom he gives a

most interesting account. "Coahuila,'^ he says,

has as a neighbor on the north, inclining somewhat to the east,

a populous nation of people, and so extensive that those who give

detailed reports of them do not know where it ends. These [who
give the reports] are many, through having communicated with

the people of that nation, which they call Texas, and who, they

maintain, live under an organized government {en policia), con-

gregated in their pueblos, and governed by a casique who is named
by the Great Lord, as they call the one who rules them all, and
who, they say, resides in the interior. They have houses made of

wood, cultivate the soil, plant maize and other crops, wear clothes,

and punish misdemeanors, especially theft. The Coahuiles do not

give more detailed reports of the Texas because, they say, they are

allowed to go only to the first pueblos of the border, since the

Great Lord of the Texas does not permit foreign nations to enter

the interior of his country. There are many of these Coahuiles

who give these reports, and who say that they got them through

having aided the Texas in their wars against the Pauit, another

very warlike nation. The Coahuiles once pacified, the Spaniards

can reach the land of the Texas without touching the country of

enemies.

This account of the Texas is of special interest as being the earliest

extant, so far as is known, although, as we have seen, reports of

^The principal source for the history of the developments described

above is a collection of documents entitled "Autos de la conquista de la

Prova. hecha en este ano por D. Antonio Balcarcel," etc. Some of them
are printed in Portillo, Apuntes. They were used by me in the original

in the archives of Mexico,
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jective points of the Spaniards both of New Mexico and Coahuila

was thenceforth the Kingdom of the Texas.

^

Summary.—By 1676 some advance had been made into Texas

from all directions. Sixteenth century explorers coming by way

of the Gulf, Florida, and New Mexico had run its coasts and

traversed its southern, northern, and western borders. In the

seventeenth century the continued search for Gran Quivira had led

to further explorations in the west and north; frequent visits to

the Juraano country had made better known the country between

Santa Fe and the middle Colorado, while some beginnings had

been made of missionary work and settlement in the Eio Grande

valley between Fl Paso and the mouth of the Conchos River.^ In

addition to interest in Quivira, the Aixados, the Jumanos, the

pearls of the Nueces (Colorado), and trade in peltry and cap-

tives on the plains, there had arisen a desire to reach another

land reputed to be rich but as yet untrod, the Great Kingdom of

the Texas. From the south, meanwhile, the frontier had slowly

expanded across the lower Eio Grande through the search for the

Cerro de la Plata, pursuit of hostile Indians, efforts to establish

communication with Florida, and missionary work among the

tribes of the Coahuila frontier. In the pursuit of this last object,

interest was aroused, here as in New Mexico, in the Texas Indians.

It is clear that all these forces were leading slowly but surely

to the occupation of central and eastern Texas, even in the absence

of the stimulus of foreign aggression. But the old interests were

now all quickened by rumors of foreign encroachment, and thence-

forth the various lines of advance rapidly converged and led to the

settlement of the country beyond the Trinity. At the same time

the El Paso district, at the other extreme of Texas, became defi-

nitely settled as a result of a counter movement from New Mexico.

III. THE CONVERGENCE OF THE LINES

1. Penalosa and Plans to Occupy the Bay of Espiritu Santo

In 1678 news was received at the Spanish court that Penalosa,

the discredited governor of New Mexico already mentioned, had

^"Informe que hizo el Yllmo Senor Don Manuel Fernz. de Sta Cruz Abpo
de Guadalaxa. a el Yllmo, y exmo Senor Maestro Don Fr. Payo de Rivera,
Arzobispo de Mexico. . . . dando Relasion de las Tierras de Coaliuila,"

etc., 1676. MS. in the archive of the Bishopric of Linares.

'''On the past point see p. 19.
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proposed at the court of France an expedition against Xew Spain.

Incident to the investigation of the report, the royal secretaries

brought forth Benavides's memorial of 1630, and noted his recom-

mendation that the Bay of Espiritu Santo be occupied as a base

of operations in Xew Mexico and Quivira and as a defence against

the encroachment of foreigners. Thereupon the king asked the

viceroy for a report on the geography of the country east of Xew
^Mexico and the feasibility of Benavides's plan—"what advantages

would come from Christianizing the kingdoms of Quivira and

Tagago [Teguayo] : what means would be needed to effect it
;

whether it could be done better by the way of Florida than through

the Bay of Espiritu Santo; and whether any danger was to be

feared from the proposals of Penalosa."^

Some time before August 2, 1685, Martin de Echegaray, pilot

major and captain at Pensacola, reported to the king the danger

that the French might occupy the Bay of Espiritu Santo and enter

thence to Xew Mexico. He accordingly repeated the suggestion of

Father Benavides. and offered to explore the bay with a view to its

occupation and to prepare a map of the coast. A junta de guerra

approved the proposal, and on August 2 the king ordered the gov-

ernor of Florida to cooperate with Echegaray. At the same time,

he repeated the request for the report from the viceroy, which had

not yet been made, "in order that from all directions may be had

the desired notices with respect to all the foregoing, for the greater

security and certainty of the achievement of the discover}^ of the

said Bay of Espiritu Santo and the kingdoms of Quivira and Tag-

ago, and of their settlement and conservation, in order thereby to

make the said provinces of Florida secure from the menaces in.

which they stand from the corsairs and pirates who commonly infest

thern.''^

^Bolton, "Notes on Clark's Tlie Beginnings of Texas," in The Quab-
TEBLY, XII, 152; Duro, Don Die^o de Penalosa, 50-53.

Cedula of August 2, 1685, printed in Duro, Penalosa, 50-53. Without
knowing the date of Echegaray's proposal, it can not be stated whether it

was made before or after news of the La Salle expedition reached Florida.
It may have been suggested by the La Salle expedition of 1682 down the
Mississippi.



71ic Spanish Occupation of Texas, 1519-1690 19

2. The Settlemmt of the El Paso District

Meanwhile, the center of the province of New Mexico had been

transferred to the El Paso district, where it remained till near

the end of the seventeenth century. This change of base not only

resulted in the planting of considerable establishments on what is

now Texas soil^ but also served to increase interest in the country

toward the east.

In 1659, a mission, Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe, was begun at

El Paso, on the south side of the river, and a small civil settle-

ment grew up there. Before 1680 another mission, San Francisco

de los Sumas, was founded some twelve leagues down the river.

In 1680 the colony received a large accretion through the revolt of

the Pueblo Indians of New Mexico. As a result of this event all

the Spanish inhabitants and the Indians of three pueblos retreated

down the river and settled at the Pass and at different points be-

low that place on both sides of the river for a distance of twelve

or more leagues. There were now in or near the valley six mis-

sions, Guadalupe, San Francisco de los Sumas, Senecii, Socorro,

Isleta, and Santa Gertrudis; four Spanish villages or pueblos, San

Lorenzo, San Pedro de Alcantara, San Jose, and Isleta; and the

presidio of El Paso.

In 1683 and 1684 missionary work was temporarily extended

from El Paso to the junction of the Conchos with the Rio Grande,

a point then known as La Junta, among the Julimes and their

allies. Already two Franciscans, Fray Garcia de San Francisco,

founder of the mission of Guadalupe at El Paso in 1659 and guar-

dian there till 1671, and Fray Juan de Sumesta, had separately

visited the Indians at La Junta, but had not remained. Requests

for missionaries at Parral proving without avail, the Indians

turned in 1683 to the settlement of El Paso. In response to their

appeal. Fray Nicolas Lopez and Fathers Juan Zavaleta and An-

tonio Acevedo went in December, 1683, to La Junta, and before

the end of 1684 seven churches had been built for nine tribes,

living, apparently, on both sides of the Rio Grande, and five hun-

dren persuxis had been baptized. Father Lopez tried to secure a

settlement of Spaniards for the place, but failed, and within a

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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short time the missions were abandoned on account of an upris-

ing.!

3. The Mendoza-Lopez Expedition to the Jumanos, 168Jf

The same appeal that led Father Lopez to undertake missionary

work at La Junta resulted in the expedition made in 1684 by

Juan Domlnguez de Mendoza and Father Lopez to the Jumano

Indians of the N'ueces ; this event, in turn, greatly increased in-

terest in the eastern tribes, especially the Texas and Quiviras.

The principal bearer of the request for missionaries in 1683

was a Jumano Indian known to history as Juan Sabeata, who

appeared before Governor Cruzate in October.^ According to his

story he and some of his people lived with the Julimes at La

Junta. Part of his tribe lived six days to the eastward, on the

^^ueces Eiver, which was three days beyond the place where the

buffalo herds began. Among more than thirty tribes which he

named as living toward the east were the "extended nation of the

Humanas/^ the "great kingdom of the Texas/'' and the "great

kingdom of Quivira." He told particularly of the "great king-

dom of the Texas." This populous realm, which was fifteen days

eastward from La Junta, was ruled by a powerful king. As for

the man who had visited Castillo in 1650, he was not king, "but

only the king's lieutenant." The Texas were a settled people,

raised crops in abundance, and were neighbors of La Gran Quivira,

so close, indeed, that they visited back and forth almost daily. From
what he had heard, they would gladly welcome settlers and mission-

aries, for ever since Castillo's day they had been wishing for and ex-

pecting them. Even now two messengers from the Texas were wait-

^The above summary is based mainly on two collections of original Span-
ish manuscripts entitled "Auttos tocantes; al Alsamiento de los Yndios
de la Provincia de la Nueba Mexico," and "Autos Pertenecientes a el

algamiento de los Yndios de la Proua del Xuevo Mexico y la entrada, Y
subgesos de ella que se higo para su recuperacion." In addition some use

has been made of the church archives of Juarez. I am indebted to Miss
Anne Hughes for much aid in digesting the two expedientes, and to Mr,
J. W. Curd, for notes from the Juarez documents.

-This account of the Mendoza expedition is based on the original docu-

ments in the archives of Mexico. Thej^ consist for the most part of the

two collections named in the note next above, and another entitled "Viage
Que A solicitud de los Naturales de la Prova. de Texas . . . Hizo el

Maestre de campo Juan Dominguez de Mendoza."
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mg at La Junta for a reply to their request sent through Saheata.

A touch of interest was added to the story by the statement, on the

authority of the two Texas messengers "that in that part of the

east Spaniards enter by water in Houses made of trees, and main-

tain trade with the said Nation of the Texas."^ It was easy for

the authorities, after the menace offered by Pefialosa, to transform

these "Spaniards'' into encroaching Frenchmen.

Governor Cruzate was enthusiastic at the prospect of a new

field for exploration, and forwarded Sabeata's declaration to the

viceroy with a letter in which he stated that he would consider

it a great triumph if "another New World" and "two Eealms with

two more Crowns" should be added to the kingdom. ^ In answer

to Sabeata's request, Father Lopez went to La Junta, as we have

already seen. Shortly afterward he was followed by Maestre de

Campo Juan Domlnguez de Mendoza and a small band of soldiers,

destined to "the Discovery of the Orient and the Kingdom of the

Texas. On January 1, 1684, the party, accompanied by Father

Lopez, and leaving Father Acevedo to minister to the Indians

at La Junta, set out for the country of the Nueces, which they

found after going seventy leagues northward to the Pecos and

thence forty leagues toward the east. Mendoza kept a diary of

the expedition which identifies the Nueces with one of the branches

of the upper Colorado, probably the Concho, and with the stream

visited by the expedition of 1654, for Mendoza had himself been

on that journey and recognized the place. Moreover, he had with

him Hernando Martin, who had been one of the leaders of the

expedition of 1650. Forty leagues from the head of the Nueces,

at a stream called the San Clemente, apparently the Colorado, a

temporary fort and chapel were built. During the stay of several

weeks a number of Indians were baptized and nearly five thousand

buffalo hides secured. The Indians asked for missionaries and set-

^Declaration of Juan Sabeata, October 20, 1683. Sabeata added that "he
who came to see said Sargento Mayor Diego del castillo when he was
there was not their King, but his Lieutenant, for the King never leaves

home, and lives with great authority." Ibid.

^Cruzate to the viceroy, October 30, 1683. MS.
'Opening paragraph of Mendoza's "Derrotero." Mendoza's "Ynstruccion"

required him to undertake "the new discovery of the Jumanas and of all

the other nations who are their friends." MS. in the Bancroft Collection.
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tiers, and before returning Father Lopez and Mendoza promised to

return within a year prepared to grant the request.^

Writing to the king of this expedition Father Lopez said:

Penetrating and mapping out their lands, both to the north and
the east. I was in sixty-six other nations [besides those at La
Junta], all docile and friendly toward the Spaniard, and asking
also for the water of baptism, and that we should settle where it

should seem convenient. ... We were in their lands six

months, sustained by the said heathen solely on the fruits of the
soil. . . . Their mineral hills offer much; there are many
rivers, all with different kinds of fish and abounding in nacre,
from which years ago many pearl were secured. . . . And be-

sides these nations we had ambassadors from the Texas, a power-
ful kingdom, where ]\Iother Maria de Agreda catechized many In-
dians, as she relates in her writings. . . . And we came to

tread the borders of the first settlements of this nation. . . .

We succeeded also in treading the lands of the Aijados nation,
next to the great kingdom of Quivira, of whom Frav Alonso de
Benavides makes mention, but because the said Aijados were at
war with the tribes which we had in our friendship, I did not
communicate with them, although they were already planning to

make friends with us. It [the Aijados tribe] is less than seventv
leagues distant from La Gran Quivira.^

Jf. Proposals for the Occupation of the Jumano Country, 1685-

1686

This expedition of 1684, coupled with news of Penalosa's doings,

now became the basis of an attempt to occupy the Jumano country

with missionaries and soldiers, and of renewed talk by the New
Mexico officials of Gran Quivira, Gran Teguayo, and the great

Kingdom of the Texas.

On their return to El Paso, Father Lopez and Mendoza both

went to the city of Mexico. In a memorial of June 7, 1685,

Lopez urged, besides support for the settlements about El Paso

^Mendoza. ''Derrotero," and accompanying documents, in ''Viage Que A
Solicitud," etc. For further details see Bolton. "The Jumano Indians in

Texas, 1650-1771," in The Quabterly, XV, 68-74.

^Memorial, April 24, 1684. in Duro, Penalosa. 67-74. In another ac-

count Lopez stated that they were within twenty-five leagues of the Texas.
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and the missions at T.:! Junta, the occupation of the recently ex-

plored country of the Jnnianos. Sixty-six tribes, he said, north-

eastward from La Jnnta, had given obedience, and twenty addi-

tional missionaries were needed to serve them,^ He- was backed in

this request by his order, for the commissary general advertized

the new field in the various monasteries, and forty-six friars vol-

unteered to go.^ Lopez's petition being negatived by the authori-

ties at Mexico on account of the bad situation at El Paso, in

March, 1G86, he urged anew "the manifest peril threatened by

delay/' At present two hundred men would suffice to avert the

danger, at little cost, because of the richness of the country; but

later it would "be impossible to repair it with millions/' He now

asked, not for twenty but for fifty-two missionaries.^ In another

memorial he requested one hundred soldiers, even from the jails,

and offered, on the promise of his two wealthy brothers of El

Rosario, to furnish for the undertaking five hundred fanegas of

maize, three hundred beeves, and two hundred horses.* His pro-

posals were pronounced by the fiscal as "fantastic, and ideas merit-

ing no consideration" but he had already turned to the king,

repeating his request, and urging especially the nearness of the

country to be occupied to the Aijados, Texas, and the great king-

dom of Quivira.®

About the same time Mendoza also addressed a memorial to the

viceroy, saying that Penalosa, under whom he had served in New
Mexico, really possessed detailed information regarding Teguayo>

the Sierra Azul, and the kingdom of the Texas. "And if this

Penalosa should carry out his intention, great ruin of this New
Spain is to be feared, since these lands are the most fertile and

fruitful of this New World." But in Mendoza lay the remedy.

To avert the danger he offered, if the king would only supply him

with two hundred men from the jails, to enter the eastern coun-

try again, explore as far as the North Sea, reconnoiter Gran

^Lopez, "Representacion," June 7, 1085, in Viage Que A Solicitud, 53-73.

-Memorial to the king, April 24, 1686, in Duro, Penalosa, 67-74.

^"Segunda Representacion," in Viage Que A Solicitud, 73.

^Memorial of April 24, 1686, in Duro, Penalosa, 67-74.

'"Dictamen fiscal. May 22, 1686.

^Memorial of April 24, 1686. Duro, Penalosa, 67-74.
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Quivira and the Kingdom of the Texas, make maps and reports,

plant two presidios in the country of the Nueces, and reduce the In-

dians to settled life. The only expense to the crown would be that

incident to arming the men and maintaining them till they should

reach the Fueces, since, once there, the country would support, not

two hundred, but two million; "for, besides these advantages, we

have immediate recourse to the settlement of the Texas, which

nation plants maize, calabashes, and beans." This memorial was

perhaps written by Father Lopez, for, besides bearing internal

marks of that friar's authorship, it was sent by him to the king

with ^Tiearty commendation."*

5. The La Salle Expedition and the, Occupation of Eastern Texas,

1685-1690

By this time news had been received in Mexico of the ha, Salle

expedition to some point on the Gulf coast, and in 1686 began the

series of explorations, four by sea from Vera Cruz and five by

land from Monterrey and Monclova, in search, not of the French

alone, but (1) of the French, (2) the Bay of Espiritu Santo, and

(3) the country of the Texas, which had not yet been reached.^

The events of this period have been so well told by Clark and

Garrison that they need no more than the merest summary here.

But from what has gone before, some of them will now take on a

new meaning. In 1689, on the fourth of these land expeditions, De

Leon and Father Massanet found the remains of the French set-

tlement on Matagorda Bay, to which the name of Espiritu Santo

thenceforth became attached for a reason which is now obvious.

During the same expedition De Leon and Massanet went as far

east as the Colorado River, where they were met by the chief of

the Nabedache, the westernmost of the Hasinai, or Texas, tribes.

After a short conference they arranged to return in the following

year to found a mission for his people.^

^"Memorial del Maestre de Campo Juan Domfnguez de Mendoza," in

Duro; 74-77.

^Note the emphasis put by Father Massanet on the discovery of the Bay
of Espiritu Santo as well as the search for the French. Lretter to Siguenza,

ir. The Quarterly, II, 281-312.

^"Derrotero de la Jornado que hizo el General Alonzo de Le6n para el

lescubrimiento de la Bahta del Espiritu Santo, y Poblacion de Franceses:
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Again the country of the Texas had been approached but not

reached, and again was recorded a description of that promised

but unseen land. On the basis of this conference, preconceived

notions, and the reports made by some rescued Frenchmen who

had been farther east, De Leon wrote in May, 1689, as follows:

The Texas . . . are a very well governed (poUtica) people,

and plant large quantities of maize, beans, calabashes, cantaloupes,

and watermelons. They say that they have nine settlements, I

mean towns (puehlos)^ the largest one being fifteen leagues long

and eight or ten wide. It must contain eight hundred heads of

families (vecinos), each one having a large wooden house plastered

with clay and roofed with lime, a door attached to the house, and

its crops. In this way they follow one after another

They are very familiar with the fact that there is only one true

Grod, that he is in Heaven, and that he was bom of the Holy
Virgin. They perform many Christian rites, and the Indian gov-

ernor asked me for ministers to instruct them, [saying] that many
years ago a woman went inland to instruct them, but that she has

not been there for a long time; and certainly it is a pity that peo-

ple so rational, who plant crops and know that there is a God
should have no one to teach them the Gospel, especially when the

province of Texas is so large and so fertile and has so fine a
climate.^

To this argument for occupying the Texas country, De Leon added

the report of a rumor that there was another French settlement

farther inland, in the region which he had not explored.

True to their promise, and with the co-operation of the govern-

ment in Mexico, in the following year, 1690, De Leon and Mas-

sanet returned east with a party, reached the westernmost village

of the Texas (Hasinai)^ confederacy, near the Neches Eiver, and

founded there the first establishments in Spanish Texas.^ This

Ano de 1689." Memorias de Nueva Espana, XXVII, fol. 1, et seq.; Bol-
ton, "The Native Tribes About the East Texas Missions," in The Quar-
terly, XI, 263-266.

^"Carta en que se da notieia de un viaje hecho a la bahfa de Esplritu
Santo, y de la poblaci6n que tenian ahi los franceses." In Buckingham
Smith, Documentos para la historia de la Florida.

^For a discussion of the meaning and usages of the words Texas and
Hasinai, see Bolton, "The Native Tribes about the East Texas Missions,"
in The Quarterly, XI, 249-276.

*E1 Paso being in what was then New Mexico.
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event, it is now plain, was not merely the result of the La Salle

expedition, but was the logical culmination of the long series of

expeditions made to the eastward from New Mexico and of the

expansion of the Nuevo Leon-Coahuila frontier, and more espe-

cially of the quest, begun as far back as the time of Castillo and

Martin, for the "great kingdom of the Texas.'^ This is the principal

explanation to be offered for the fact that the first Spanish out-

post in eastern Texas was placed, not on the Bay of Espiritu Santo,

where the French menace had occured, but several hundred miles

to the eastward. It was put among the Indians whom the Span-

iards so long had hoped to reach.
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KENTUCKY AND THE INDEPENDENCE OF TEXAS^

JAMES E. WINSTON

In all the wars in which their country has been engaged, Ken-

tuckians have ever been found in the vanguard of those who have

gone forth when the call to arms has sounded. They have been

prodigal of their blood on many a hard-fought field since the time

when Kentucky was first numbered among the states of the Union.

In the wars waged with the Indians, both within and beyond the

borders of their state; in the war of 1812; in the Mexican war;

and, above all, in the four years' strife when Kentuckian was

arrayed against Kentuckian, the men of Kentucky have never

failed to respond to the call of duty and of honor. In one strug-

gle, however, in which thousands of their fellow-countrymen were

engaged, the achievements of Kentuckians and their share in the

movement which led to the wresting of a fair domain from the

control of the Spaniard, have not been sufficiently emphasized,

—

namely, the war of Texas independence which resulted in the

establishment of the republic of Texas in 1836.

In this paper an attempt will be made to record some of the

names and, so far as possible, the deeds of those Kentuckians who

shared in the glorious exploits associated with the names of San

Antonio de Bexar, Goliad, and San Jacinto. Necessarily the rec-

ord is an incomplete one; and for that reason the names of many
men have in all probability been omitted whose deeds and sacrifices

a more detailed knowledge of the period might richly entitle to

^The main sources which have been relied upon in the preparation of

this article are contemporary newspapers, and the Muster Rolls lin the
Land Office at Austin, which are not the original rolls, however. Owing
to the fact that natives of other States enlisted in companies commanded
by Kentuckians, while Kentucky volunteers joined companies raised in

different States, it will be seen that dt is impossible to make a roster of
the volunteers of any one State that will be entirely accurate and com-
plete. Inaccuracies and omissions can, in a measure, be eliminated as the
history of the movement in the successive States is examined. This in-

vestigation lit is the intention of the writer to make; but owing to the
widely scattered nature of the material, tlie process will ni^cessarily be a
slow and tedious one. Correcti ons nnd n.d cliMin''^ wJ* ^'f* tliankfully re-

c'i'ived.
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honorable mention. At any rate, what we know of Kentucky's

share in the liberation of Texas from the tyranny of Mexico is

worth narrating.

One of the most interesting things in connection with the Texan

struggle for independence is the large number^ comparatively speak-

ing, of states and foreign countries from which volunteers flocked

to Texas.^ On the one hand the province of Texas was invaded

by bands of Mexicans bent upon establishing a centralized despot-

ism; upon the other, it was invaded from one motive or another

by those of a dozen different nationalities equally determined to

expel the enemies of the country. As an illustration of this fact

it is interesting to note the composition of Company E, First Regi-

ment of Texas Infantry, Permanent Volunteers. This company

comprised some sixty-odd members from the following regions

:

fourteen from Pennsylvania; four from Kentucky; two from

Maine; eight from Virginia; three from Indiana; one from Mis-

sissippi; one from Delaware; three from Tennessee; one from

North Carolina; one from Missouri; two from Germany; four

from England; one from Scotland; one from South Carolina; and

three from Maryland. In the company of Captain Pettus, the

^For the different states and climes represented by the early colonists

of Texas, see Fulmore, "Annexation of Texas and Mexican War," in The
Quarterly, V, 32-33.

The Anglo-Americans who settled. Texas were of the same stock as those
who a generation before had crossed the Alleghanies and planted new set-

tlements in what are now the states of Kentucky and Tennessee. Further
south and west flowed the tide of emigrants, winning from the wilderness
new areas destined to become powerful states of the American Union.
Says one who should have known: "The people of Texas were generally

unpretending farmers and planters from the middle walks of life." (Whar-
ton to Austin, December 11, 1836; Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 152.) Says
another: "The society to be found there is composed of men of intelligence

and republican habits, and if men of different description are to be found
there, they bear as small a proportion to the whole number as bad men
do in any other part of the globe." {The Evening Post [New York], No-
vember 6, 1835.) Cf. also Benton, Thirty Years' View, I, 674,; Smith, The
Annexation of Texas, 24, and Kennedy, Texas, I, 333, as to the character
of the early colonists of Texas. To dispose of them, as some writers do,

by branding the settlers as "lawless adventurers" or "criminal outcasts"

is entirely without warrant. Schouler, History of the United States, IV,

253, refers, not entirely with justification, to the "covert process of colon-

ization." See Garrison, Texas, 148. Austin considered the stipulation im-

posed upon the colonists of becoming Roman Catholics merely a "formal
and unessential requisition." (Austin to Wharton, November 18, 1836,

Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 134.) Kennedy {Texas, I, 339) says this

requirement of the colonization law was unscrupulously evaded.
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"New Orleans Greys," were representatives of six foreign coun-

tries, besides volunteers who came from states as widely separated

as Connecticut and Louisiana. As showing the character of the

men who helped to achieve the independence of Texas, it may be

observed that the above companies were composed of carpenters,

tailors, painters, masons, clerks, farmers, school-teachers, physi-

cians, cotton-spinners, stone-cutters, and the like.^ That is, the

independence of Texas was wrought in part by men who came from

the plough, the counting-room, the shop, by those from the hum-

bler walks of life. The foundations of the new state were thus

laid on a democratic basis which has endured to this day. The

struggles of the Texan s appealed to those of a wide range of

sympathies, professional soldiers being conspicuous by their

absence.

The chief recruiting stations for these and other volunteers

were Louisville, Cincinnati, and New Orleans. Most of the com-

pany referred to above enlisted in the summer and fall of 1835,

arriving in Texas in November of the same year. The mere re-

cital of the different sections of the United States and of the dif-

ferent foreign countries from which Texas emigrants came, shows

conclusively that the slavery question in regard to Texas had not

arisen at this time. It was to be expected that the struggle going

on in Texas should have appealed most strongly to that section of

our country most closely allied by ties of blood and interest to

those who had settled Texas; but, as we have seen, interest in the

region between the Sabine and the Rio Grande was by no means

confined to any single group of states or section.^

From 1803 to the treaty of De Onis, in 1819, both Spain and

^See Muster Rolls, pp. 238-239. Of course it is not intended to convey
the impression that in every instance companies were as heterogeneous
in character as this one. At the same time it is a well-known fact that
those who were instrumental in shaping the destinies of the new republic
came from widely separated sections of the United States.

^Says the 'New Orleans Bee, January 4, 1835: "Volunteers are rushing
into Texas from every section of this Union." In June, 1836, Judge Catron
wrote to Webster from Tennessee that the spirit was abroad through the
whole Mississippi Valley to march to Texas. Another observer predicted
that "numerous Kentuckians—young men, ambitious of fame and seeking
fortune—will even go from Illinois, where they had previously emigrated"
(Lundy, War in Texas, 51). Wherever the Texas commissioners to the

United States stopped, they found evidence of the deepest interest among
all classes in regard to the affairs of Texas.
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the United States claimed tlie territx^ry known as Texas. The

above treaty settled the controversy by making the Sabine the

boundary. But many of the citizens of the United States were

dissatisfied with this arrangement. For instance, an editorial in

the NeiD Orleans Bee of July 3, 1835, pronounced the treat}- of

1819 unconstitutional in that it alienated the acquired purchase or

possession of Texas. ^ In the issue of July 20th of the same year

this paper asserted that the claims of Spain as against those of

France were based on perfidy.

It was perfectly natural that the rumor of war in Texas should

have aroused the keenest interest in Kentucky. The enterprise

was such a one as would naturally appeal to a high-spirited people,

accustomed to the use of arms. In a letter of General Houston

to General Dunlap, Houston concludes with these words: "The

path of fame and wealth in Texas is open to the patriot and

chivalrous."^ Just as adventurers flocked to the standard of

William of Xormandy, impelled by motives of adventure and the

desire of gain, so the news of the struggle going on in Texas drew

thither thousands actuated by various motives.^ Tlie eagerness to

take up arms is shown by the readiness with which the call for

volunteers to re-enforce General Gaines on the Sabine was re-

sponded to, and great was the chagrin of young Kentuckians when

the call was countermanded by the President. As the Texan war

progressed and it was learned what atrocities the Anglo-Ameri-

cans were suffering at the hands of the relentless Mexicans^ the

war assumed sometJiing of the aspect of a crusade, and men felt it

to be their Christian duty to drive the Mexican from the land

desecrated by his presence. In addition to this, rich rewards in

the way of land were offered to those who risked life and limb in

such a worthy enterprise. At the advice of Dr. Archer, the Con-

sultation, at the very outset, provided for rewarding volunteers

with grants of land.* Indeed it was recognized by the leaders of

^Professor Ficklen has shown that the State of Texas can not be re-

garded as a part of the territory purchased from France in 1803. See his

article, "The Louisiana Purchase vs. Texas," in Publications of the South-

ern History Association for September, 1901. Cf. Smith, The Annexation

of Texas, 5-7.

^Kentucky Gazette, July 18, 1836.

'See Smith, The Annexation of Texds, 29, as to the reason for the in-

terest felt by the South in Texas.

*The Quabterly, IX, 242-43.
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the revolutionary movement that without help from the United

States their cause was doomed.^ The General Council therefore

upon the outbreak of hostilities made an impassioned appeal to

the people of the United States which contained the following

statement: "We invite you to our country—we have land in

abundance, and it shall be liberally bestowed on you. We have

the finest country on the face of the glohe. . . . Every volun-

teer in our cause shall not only justly but generously be re-

warded."^ And the government of Texas was as good as its word^

and richly rewarded those who risked life and limb in the cause

of Texas independence. The amount of land offered for the dif-

ferent periods of service was printed in the newspapers of the

time and undoubtedly this was a powerful motive in inducing

citizens of the United States to cast in their lot with the revolting

Texans.^

To those who looked upon the revolt against Mexico as a "Texas

Conspiracy," who regarded the leaders in the movement as "fo-

menters of an insurrection," it was a most gratuitous piece of pre-

sumption to refer to those going from the United Staes as "volun-

teer emigrants,"—rather they were "land-pirates/' "free-booters,"

greedy for a "fertile paradisiacal piece of Texian lands, a mile

sqvxire." But the widespread enthusiasm on the part of the citi-

zens of the United States in the fortunes of the revolted Texans,

can not be explained on any such hypothesis; for the desire for

land was only one of several motives which influenced the volun-

^The General Council was prevailed upon to postpone the appointment of
officers to the regular army, since every inducement was to be held out to
volunteers, and if all the offices were filled, many ambitious young men of

the United States would be prevented from coming to the aid of Texas
(Smith, "Quarrel Between Governor Smith and the Provisional Govern-
ment of the Republic," in The Quarterly, V, 310; cf. ihid., IX, 231).
Later Houston wrote to General Dunlap of Tennessee: "/or a portion of
this force we must look to the Umted States. It can not reach us too
soon." Houston himself was advised by Carson to fall back to the Sabine
in order to await the arrival of volunteers from the United States. On
Mardi 13, 1836, however, Houston wrote the chairman of the military
committee: "our own people, if they would act, are enough to expel every
Mexican from Texas." William H. Jack, the Texan Secretary of State,

referred to the United States as the "rock of our salvation."

^Barker, "Journal of the Permanent Council," in The Quarterly, VII,
271-273.

'See Lexington Intelligencer, April 26, 1836.
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ieer emigrants^ and in many instances the pecuniary interest was a

minor consideration.^

Austin felt that the certainty that real danger threatened

Texas would send thousands to its aid who would not go if they

thought they were not needed.^

Moreover interest in Texas affairs was stimulated by descrip-

tive articles upon Texas which appeared in the public press, some

of which were written by Wharton and others for the purpose of

arousing enthusiasm for their country in the time of its need. On
the other hand it should be remarked that the cause of the Texas

revolutionists was prejudiced by articles hostile to Texas, which

appeared in the press of different states.

In the late summer of 1835 disconcerting news from Texas

reached Kentucky. An interesting account of Magee's raid con-

tributed by Judge H. M. Brackenridge to the Philadelphian Even-

ing Star of October 30, 1835, concludes with this statement:

^^I should not be surprised if the war of Texas should end in the

City of Mexico/'^—a statement which was destined to be fulfilled

under different circumstances a decade later. In ISTovember of

this year the people of Kentucky read in their papers that the

dogs of war had been let loose in Texas.* Under the caption

"Foreign Intelligence^^ occur head-lines such as this: "Important

from Texas—War I
!" Circulars and letters were published signed

by those in authority in the revolted province. Among these is

the letter of Houston to Isaac Parker, dated San Augustine, Oc-

tober 5, 1835, which appeared in the Lexington Observer and Ken-

tucky Reporter of November 4, 1835. A portion of it reads as

follows : "War in defence of our Eights, our Oaths, and our Con-

stitution is inevitable in Texas. If Volunteers from the United

^The reader should consult, in this connection, Barker, "Land Speculation
as a Cause of the Texas Revolution," in The Quarterly, X, 79-95. Says
the Virginia Herald of June 29, 1836, quoting the New Orleans Bee, June
10, 1836 : "speculation produced war, and will follow peace." Cf. Morning
Courier and "New York Enquirer, October 28, 31, 1835; TSfew York Evening
Post, January 17, 1836.

^Austin, Archer, and Wharton to Smith, February 16, 1836. Garrison,

Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 69.

^Cf. the Commonwealth, November 28, 1835. This paper was published

in Frankfort, Ky. In the Richmond Enquirer, May 3, 1836, the writer ex-

plains what he meant by these words.

*See the Frankfort Argu^, November 5, 11, 25, 1835.
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States will join their brethren in this section, they will receive

liberal bounties of land. We have millions of acres of our best

lands nnchosen and unappropriated. Let each man come with a

good rifle and one hundred rounds of ammunition and come soon.

Our war-cry is 'Liberty or Death.' Our principles are to support

the constitution, and down with the usurper ! As will be seen,

the appeal of Houston did not fall upon deaf ears. Now and

then a paper is found which expresses the opinion that tranquillity

will soon be restored, or betrays an indifferent attitude upon the

Texas question.^ On the other hand the Evening Star of Phila-

delphia asserted that "Texas sooner or later from its position must

become the property of the United States,"^ a sentiment which no

doubt found a ready response in the minds of many.

Kentuckians were not slow to respond to the appeal of Houston

and of Ai^stin. At once meetings were held by the citizens of Lex-

ington and of Fayette county, at which measures were devised for

the purpose of assisting those who desired to volunteer their serv-

ices in behalf of Texas.* In December the first emigrants from

Kentucky reached Texas: among these were thirty-six riflemen

from Louisville, under the command of Captain James Tarleton,

of Scott county,^ who has left a vivid account of the battle of San

Jacinto. It was probably about this time that Captain Sidney

Sherman conducted a body of fifty-two volunteers, of whom some

^Cf. also the Commonwealth, November 7, 1835.

^The New Orleans Bee of June 30, 1835, says resignedly: "Texas be-

longs to the Mexican government, not to the American—and perhaps it is

better so."

^Quoted by the Commonwealth, November 14, 1835. Several newspapers
easily disposed of the Texas question by printing statements to the effect

that Texas had been ceded to the United States by Mexico by treaty. The
boundary line was unsettled, but for a certain money payment by the
United States it was agreed the Rio del Norte was to be the dividing line.

Cf. Courier and Enquirer, March 2, 1836.

^Kentucky Gazette, November 7, 1835; ihid., November 13, 1835.

V&irf., January 16, 1836. The Frankfort Argus, December 9, 1835. A
correspondent of a Philadelphia paper writing at this time remarks that
"as regards volunteers, there are too many from the United States in the
country already. We have men enough of our own that can whip all the

Spaniards that can march into the courttry." Philadelphia Saturday
Courier, January 9, 1836. Cf., however, the Richmond Enquirer, Decem-
ber 31, 1835, which prints a letter signed by C. A. Parker written from
Nacogdoches; in this he says the volunteers are received with open arms
by the people.
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were from Newport and some from Covington, to join the Texan

army.^

Among those who took part in the storming of San Antonio

was one native at least of Kentucky, who rendered gallant services

on this occasion,—namely, Milam. His career is too well known

to need dwelling on here. Milam was a native of Franklin county,

where he was reared from infancy to manhood ; he was pronounced

one of the finest-looking men Kentucky ever produced.^ Another

participant in the reduction of San Antonio was Captain John

Ingram,^ who performed a gallant feat of heroism on this occa-

sion; he also took part in the campaign of ^36. Accoiding to one

account Major Green B. Jamison of Kentucky was killed in the

storming of San Antonio.* On March 6th the Alamo fell, and

with its fall perished the following Kentuckians: J. P. Bailey,

Wm. H. Furtleroy and D. W. Cloud,—a native of Lexington, and

a warm partisan of Texas, who is said to have been "a most in-

trepid soldier^^ and to have died "fighting like a wounded tiger'^"

—

W. W. Frazier, Charles Frazier,^ J. M. Thruston,—a native of

Louisville,'^ Harriss,^ Robert B. Moore and William Ross,

—

both of whom were privates in the company of Captain Thomas

H. Breece,^ Sewell, Worlen, and Robbins.^*^

^Virginia Herald, January 9, 1836.

^For something of his adventurous career see Bancroft, North Mexican-
States and Texas, II, 184, note. An account of his death is given in The
QuAETEKLY, V, 90, note 2. A correspondent of the New Orleans Bulletin
put these words into the mouth of Colonel Milam at the time of the cap-
ture of Bexar: "I assisted Mexico to gain her independence; I have spent
more than twenty years of my life, I have endured heat and cold, hunger
and thirst, I have borne losses and suffered persecutions, I have been a
tenant of every prison between this and Mexico—but the events of this

night have compensated me for all my losses and all my sufferings."

^See The Quarterly, V, 320, 329, 330.

^Arkan^as Gazette, April 12, 1836. He really died in the Alamo the

following March.

^Kentucky Gazette, April 23, 1836. "It is probable that these arrived

at San Antonio about the same time as Crockett, having travelled from
Nacogdoches in twenty-five days, marching over the 'old San Antonio
road.'" The Quarterly, XIV, 321-322.

^Muster Rolls, p. 10.

'Appointed second lieutenant in the cavalry by the general council.

^Muster Rolls, p. 5.

mid., pp. 4, 37.

^"Cf. The Commonwealth, May 4, 1836. There were no doubt other Ken-
tuckians besides these who lost their lives at this time.
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In November, 1835, Captain B. H. Duval's company known as

the "Mustangs/^ and destined to acquire renown as a part of Fan-

nin's command, set out from Bardstown, Kentucky, fifty-four in

number, and proceeded by way of Tx>uisville to New Orleans.^

From this point the men sailed to Velasco, landing at Quintana,

and from thence made their way by Copano and Refugio to Goliad,

where they joined the force under the command of Colonel J. W.

Fannin. The whole of the auxiliary volunteers in Texas at this

time is said not to have greatly exceeded 400 men, chiefly under

Fannin.2 Be that as it may, there is no question of the gallant

account given of themselves by these volunteers in the disaster

which wiped out their band, many of whom, it is said, were naked

and barefoot.^ The Mustangs occupied the rear, forming one side

of a square when Fannin was surrounded. They repulsed Urrea,

leading a cavalry charge. Never did soldiers find themselves in

a more helpless predicament, whatever may have been the cause,

than did the members of this devoted band. Yet they sold their

lives dearly and only laid down their arms when further resistance

was useless. In the fighting which took place prior to the sur-

render, the American loss was not heavy, most of the casualties,

according to one account, being inflicted by Indian sharp-shooters.

Practically the whole of Captain Duval's company was later mas-

sacred. In addition to these, twenty-six members of the Louisville

^Kentucky Gazette, February 20, 1836, For an account of this com-
pany, see Duval, Early Times in Texas. The volunteers from Lexington, it

seems, were placed in the Huntsville (Ala.) company under the command
of Captain Wyatt and Lieutenant Benjamin T, Bradford, a native of
Louisville.

'^Kennedy, Texas, II, 199. "Fannin's force of about 300 men was com-
posed almost exclusively of volunteers from the United States." Smith,
"The Quarrel Between Governor Smith and the Council," in The Quar-
terly, V, 343. Cf., however, as to number with Fannin, Bancroft, North
Mexican States and Texas, II, 219, 222. On the indifference of the Texans,
see Barker, "The Texan Revolutionary Army," in The Quarterly, IX,
238-239, and Bancroft, II, 198. Captain B. H. Duval, writing to his father,

says: "Not a Texian was in the field, nor has even one yet made his ap-

pearance at this post." The Quarterly, I, 49. A recent writer thinks

that without the help of the volunteers Texas could not have defeated

Mexico. The statement, however, that most of them returned to their

homes after the war is probably erroneous. Bassett, L'fe of Andrew Jack-

son, II, 679.

^A letter from an officer to the editors of the Journal of Commerce (New
York) alludes to the malignant form party spirit had taken. "We have

had no bread for several days. I am nearly naked, without shoes and
without money; we suffer much." Evening Post, April 19, 1836.
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Volunteers, Captain Wyatt, perished at the same time.^ Thus the

'iDrunt of the first onsets was home by hundreds of brave men

who had left their homes in the United States to fight for Texas,

and whose blood was poured upon her soil." Among these were

some three-score or more Kentuckians whose lives were sacrificed

in consequence of the quarrel between the governor and the coun-

cil and the lack of co-operation among the military authorities,

the result being the paralyzing of all efiective and concentrated

efforts against the enemy. Between twenty-five and thirty escaped

out of the more than three hundred who were led out to execution.

^

Among these were the following Kentuckians: John C. Duval,

who saved his life by swimming a river and taking refuge in a

dense thicket upon the other side f Sharpe, John and S. Van
Bibber; Captain Benjamin T. Bradford;* Daniel Murphy, who was

slightly wounded in the knee; Charles B. Shain,^ of Louisville,

who suffered greatly in his feet by reason of having lost his shoes

and being compelled to make his way through "prickly pears,

briars, and grass stubble," before he was found by spies and car-

ried to camp. Another Kentuckian, whose life was spared, was

Benjamin F. Hughes, only sixteen years old. In addition to the

above, these are also said to have escaped: J. D. Bains, fourth

sergeant in Captain Wyatt^s company; Bennett Butler, Perry

Davis, H. Gr. Hudson—the last two escaping, it seems, on the re-

treat of Ward—and John Lumpkin, whose life was spared.^ The

^Captain Wyatt was absent upon leave at the time of Fannin's disaster.

His company, which, with Duval's, formed part of the second or Lafayette
battalion, is said to have been under the command of his first lieutenant,

Benjamin T. Bradford, who, apparently effected his escape during Ward's
retreat, and hence was not present at Goliad at the time of the massacre.

-Cf. Foote, Texas and Texans, II, 207.

^See Corner, "John Crittenden Duval," in The Quaetbbly, I, 46-67
; pp.

59-60 give his itinerary between November, 1835, and May, 1836.

^Kentucky Gazette, May 23, 1836. Captain Bradford was one of those

who were engaged in the action at Refugio Mission. A company styled

the "Paducah Volunteers." some twenty or thereabouts in number, under

Captain King, was also engaged on this occasion. Yoakum, History of

Texas, II, 455. Cf. Kentucky Gazette, June 2, 1836, and Lexington Intel-

ligencer, May 20, 1836.

'^See The Quaetebly, IX, 203-204. The account here cited states er-

roneously that only some half-dozen of Fannin's command escaped.

^Baker's Texas Scrap Book, 572.

I
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following letter, written by one of the survivors, gives an account

of the massacre of his comrades :^

Dear Father:—I take this opportunity of writing a few lines to

let you know that I am still in existence. I suppose you will

have heard before this reaches you that I was either taken prisoner

or killed. I was taken prisoner on the 20th of last month, and
kept a week, when all of us were ordered out to be shot, but I,

with six others, out of 521, escaped. Before we were taken. Col.

Fannin's party had a battle with the Mexicans in a large prairie,

and killed and wounded, as the Mexicans themselves said, 300 of

them; but one of the Mexicans, who was a prisoner at the time,

says that it took them all the night of the 19th to bury their dead,

and that we must have killed and wounded something like 800

or a thousand. Their force was 1900 strong,—ours 250.

The circumstances under which we were taken were these. We
were completely surrounded, without any provisions or water, and
in such a situation that we could not use our cannon; in conse-

quence of which we thought it best to surrender on the terms

offered to us—which were, to treat us [as] prisoners of war, and ac-

cording to the rules of Christian warfare. But how sadly we
were deceived, the sequel will show: after starving us for a week,

they ordered us out, saying we were going after beef, but when
we had marched about half a mile from the fort" we were ordered

to halt. The Mexicans marched all on one side of us, and took

deliberate aim at us, but I, as you have seen, was fortunate enough
to escape. I have however had monstrous hard times, having noth-

ing to eat for five successive days and nights, but at length arrived

safely here this morning, after a travel of two weeks through
prairies and dangers during which time I had some narrow escapes,

especially the night before last on the line of the picket guards of

the Mexican force, I was nearly killed or taken.

San Felip is taken. The Mexicans are in Texas, but I think I

shall live to see her free notwithstanding. We have near 1500
men in camp, and expect to attack the enemy in a few days.

I am well with the exception of very sore feet occasioned by
walking through the prairies barefooted. Tomorrow I shall go

over the river to a farm to stay until I get entirely well, when I

will try to avenge the death of some of my brave friends. All

of my company were killed.

Your affectionate son,

Chas. B. Shain
Apr 11th, Groce's Crossing on Brazos.

^Printed in the Lexington Intelligencer, May 17, 1836.
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Detailed accounts of the murder of Fannin and his men ap-

peared in the newspapers of the United States and naturally ex-

cited the deepest indigation.^ They served the further purpose of

arousing renewed interest in the affairs of Texas and of the rais-

ing of men and funds on a widespread scale for the purpose of

avenging those who had been so cruelly done to death at Goliad.^

Governor William P. Duval^ thinking both his sons had perished,

wrote a vigorous letter to General George Chambers^ asking his

co-operation in raising sixteen hundred mounted volunteers with

which to drive the Mexicans beyond the Eio Grande.^ The citi-

zens of Bardstown resolved to erect a monument to the memory

of those Kentuckians who had perished at the command of Santa

Anna. It was now felt that the great law of humanity justified

aid to the struggling Texans. Among other influences which were

instrumental in securing help for their cause in Kentucky and

elsewhere, must be included the services of Austin, Wharton, and

Archer, the three commissioners sent to the United States in the

beginning of 1836. One of the duties of the commissioners was

to "agitate" the United States, but as we have seen, the people of

the south and west were already agitated. In February the com-

missioners wrote of the "universal and enthusiastic interest which

'One of the most complete accounts of the massacre is that by Benja-
min H, Holland, captain of artillery, w*hich appeared in the Lexington
Intelligencer, June 3, 1836; cf. also iljid., May 3, 1836, for a circumstan-

tial account sent from Natchitoches, La. The Kentucky Gazette for April

5, 1836, contains a communication from John M. Ross giving an account

of the butchery of Colonel Fannin's regiment. "There can hardly be a
doubt that all or nearly all of the volunteers who joined the first expedi-

tion from Kentucky fell in that fiendish massacre." The 'New Orleans

Bulletin of April 28, 1836, contains an anonymous account dated Harris-

burg, Texas, April 7th. As might be expected, highly sensational accounts

of the death of Fannin were sent back to the states by those purporting

to be eye-witnesses. Of such a character is the one last mentioned.

^"The moral effect in preventing other volunteers from coming from the

United States is incalculable." Smith, in The Quarteely, V, 344. A
more accurate statement would be that some volunteers were deterred

from going by news of the massacre. There were many who felt as did

General Dunlap, who avers that the bloody massacre of the Alamo de-

termined him to go. Dunlap to Carson, May 31, 1836. Garrison, Dip.

Cor. Tex., I, 95. Cf. Smith, The Annexation of Texas, 31-33, 53, for an

account of the indignation excited by Santa Anna's cruelties. Says the

Evening Post, April 26, 1836: "His [Santa Anna's] barbarities have

made the ultimate independence of Texas more certain, and will hasten

the termination of the contest,"

»See The Commonwealth, July 13, 1836.

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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pervades all ranks and classes of society in every part of this coun-

try in favor of the emancipation of Texas."^ One most important

service rendered by the commissioners was in the matter of secur-

ing a loan for their government.^ They were also authorized by

the provisional government to receive donations for the cause of

Texas.

On March 7th, General Austin delivered a masterly address

upon Texas in the Second Presbyterian Church in Louisville.^ A
few days later he was in Lexington seeking to create interest in

his adopted country. Oeneral T. J. Chambers entered into an

arrangement with the Texan government for sending volunteers

from the United States.* Other commissioners who were active

in Kentucky were Colonel Lewis and Colonel Hayden Edwards,

the latter of whom was requested by the committee of vigilance

and safety to solicit donations for the purpose of raising a bat-

talion to be known as the "Ladies Battalion" or "Regiment."^

During the spring and summer meetings of Texan sympathizers

were held at the principal towns of Kentucky. Upon these occa-

sions volunteers enrolled themselves as emigrants, money was

freely subscribed, resolutions were adopted expressing sympathy

with the Texans, correspondence committees were appointed to

further the cause of Texas, and invariably the government of the

United States was memorialized to recognize the Texan republic

as free, sovereign, and independent. The most prominent city in

^Austin, Archer, and Wharton to Smith, February 16, 1836. Garrison,
Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 66. Cf. Austin to Owings, February 12, 1836. Ihid., I,

70. "All was emthusiasm in our cause," wrote Wharton to Austin, April
6, 1836. Ihid., 1, 81. In April Childress wrote: "So far as I can see the
South and West are kindling into a blaze upon the subject." Childress to
Burnett, April 18, 1836. lUd., I, 55.

^Of the first loan, three Kentuckians subscribed $25,000; of the second,

two Kentuckians subscribed $7000. See Barker, "Texas Revolutionary
Finances," in Polit. Sci. Quart., XIX, 630. Cf. also Gouge, Fiscal History

of Texas, 50-53. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 58.

^The address was printed in the Kentucky Gazette, April 9, 1836. It

was afterwards published in pamphlet form.

*For the services of General Chambers in sending men and munitions
of war to Texas see Barker, "The Texan Revolutionary Army," in The
Quarterly, IX, 235, 240. For an eulogy of Chambers's services by Whar-
ton, see Wharton to Austin, December 11, 1836. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tew.,

I, 154. For the authority of Chambers to raise an "Army of Reserve for

Protection of Liberties of Texas," see Ordinances and decrees of the con-

sultation, provisional government of Texas, and the convention, 123-125.

^Lexington Intelligencer, April 8, 1836.
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this respect was Lexington, which gave generously of its citizens

and means for the cause of Texas. Between the end of March and

the middle of June, 1836, more than a dozen meetings of this

nature were held in Lexington.^ On these occasions the sum of

$3500 was subscribed and something like one hundred and eighty

citizens of Lexington and Fayette county volunteered to emigrate

to Texas. A committee of the Lexington Fayette Volunteers is-

sued a stirring appeal to the patriotic young men of Kentucky

calling upon them to enlist in the sacred cause of Texas inde-

pendence and to be ready to start by May 20th.

^

It was likewise resolved at the same meeting to appoint a com-

mittee of ladies to arrange to equip a corps to be raised in the

city and county to be called the "Ladies Legion of the City of

Lexington.^'^

The Lexington Typographical Society appropriated the sum of

twenty dollars to enable persons to emigrate to Texas.*

Among those who were foremost in their devotion to the cause

of Texas was Mrs. M. A. Holley, the accomplished widow of Dr.

Holley of " Lexington, whose history of Texas was published in

the summer of 1836. The following appeal signed by Mrs. Holley

appeared in the Lexington Intelligencer of April 26, 1836

:

"Those ladies who are disposed to devote a portion of their time,

and their needles, to the holy cause of Texas, will please to call

at the house of the subscriber, where may be found materials for

this sacred charity." Accordingly a sewing party of ladies met at

the house of Mrs. Holley twice-a-week for some time until a quan-

tity of clothes were made. Her two nieces, the Misses Austin,

were prominent in the work, the material being contributed by

^The Kentucky Gazette and the Lexington Intelligencer contain full ac-

counts of these meetings.

^The appeal was signed by Robert A, Ferguson, Benjamin F. Gause,

Sam. D. Woolley, P. H. Harris, and 0. L. Shivers.

^Kentucky Gazette, May 9, 1836. Among those who volunteered on this

occasion to go to Texas were the following: William Burke, D. H. Weigert,

William C. Murphy, H. W. Davis, Archibald Dunlop, W. Bell, Albert Page,

John Davis, George D. Courcey, Franklin George, Benjamin F. Downing,
John Downing; at an adjourned meeting the folloAving volunteered to emi-

grate: Colonel Edw. J. Wilson, William Pagan, John Beard, John W.
Smith, John Burch, Charles Brown, James White, Major Horatio Grooms,

James Vanderpool, Francis Fry, Henry Harris, John S. Vaughn, Stephen

P. Terry, and Newton Fisher.

^Lexington Intelligencer, May 3, 1836.
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Lexington gentlemen. The result of their labors were: "18 shirts,

24 pocket handkerchiefs, 6 collars, 8 black shirts, 12 shirt bosoms,

3 roundabouts, 9 hunting shirts, 1 mosquito bar."^

But Lexington, though the foremost, was only one of a number

of places in Kentucky, whose citizens made sacrifices for the

cause of Texas independence. At Winchester a meeting of citi-

zens was held at which $188.75 in cash was collected and almost

$200 worth of fire-arms and clothing contributed; some ten or a

dozen young men expressed a desire to volunteer as emigrants.^

At a meeting of the ladies and gentlemen of Woodford county at

Versailles on May 4, Congress was urged to recognize the inde-

pendence of Texas; the gathering listened to a stirring address

by Charlton Hunt, Esq., of Lexington; the sum of $336.50 was

subscribed by fifty-three of those present ; and to crown the whole,

Colonel William P. Hart generously donated one three-year-old

mule for one volunteer to ride.^ A group of citizens of Anderson

county assembled at Lawrenceburg, drew up a set of resolutions

expressing sympathy with Texas, and raised $59.* Between fifty

and sixty emigrants from Georgetown expressed a willingness to

go to Texas. The same place contributed the sum of $600.^ At

EusselPs Cave on May 10, $212.25 was subscribed by a number of

gentlemen, fifteen volunteering their services.^ A meeting of the

citizens of Bourbon county was held at Paris on Saturday, May
14, at which a collection was taken up, and fifteen volunteers,

headed by Mayor Pease, enrolled their names. The meeting rec-

ommended a central committee at Lexington to appoint a day for

meetings in every county in Kentucky for the purpose of enroll-

ing names and receiving subscriptions."^ At a Texas meeting in

^Lexington Intelligencer, June 10, 1836. Mrs. HoUey also expended $30
for work and materials for a silk flag designed by General Austin which
was presented to the Ladies Legion by Mrs. HoUey's niece, Miss Henrietta
Austin, on June 3.

'Kentucky Gazette, May 12, 1836.

^Lexington Intelligencer, May 6, 1836.

*The Commonwealth, May 18, 1836.

^Lexington Intelligencer, May 10, 1836.

^Kentucky Gazette, May 16, 1836. These were Simon Gregg, W. Hughy,
John Connaly, J. E,. Wallace, E. Bowie, C. Wallace, John Simpey, J. G.
Gorham, Robert McMeans, Robert Innes, T. E. Ritter, John McLean, John
Roy, Asa Lawrence, James Maddox.

''Kentucky Gazette, May 19, 1836.
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Mt. Sterling on the evening of May 3, stirring resolutions, pref-

aced by a preamble in the style of French and American revolu-

tionary declarations,, were adopted, and the sum of $154.25 sub-

scribed.^ The ladies of Bardstown held a fair for the benefit of

Texas, and raised, with other subscriptions, the sum of $516; at

the same place twenty young men volunteered their services.^ The

citizens of Nicholasville and of Harrodsburg likewise showed their

zeal for the cause of Texas by raising funds and enrolling volun-

teers.^ The citizens of Harrison county subscribed $260 in aid of

the Texan cause and furnished several volunteers.* At Louisville

steps were taken for the purpose of raising and equipping a corps

to be styled the "Ladies Cavalry.^^^ A committee in Lexington

acknowledged donations from various points in. Kentucky to the

amount of $776. This sum was secured through the instrumen-

tality of Major E. A. Ferguson.^ The counties of Scott, Clark,

Mercer and Montgomery are said to have contributed freely of

their men and means. On the eve of his departure. Colonel Wil-

son was presented by Mr. Isaac Cunningham, of Clark, with a

horse for which he paid $200. Another horse of about the same

value was presented Colonel Wilson by a citizen of Lexington.®

Judge Bledsoe, of Kentucky, addressed large meetings in Natchez

and New Orleans, in advocacy of the Texan cause.^ It is thus

seen that hundreds of volunteers and several thousand dollars were

raised in Kentucky in furtherance of the cause of Texas liberty.

Of these emigrants about forty under Captain Wigginton left

Louisville for Texas April 19th. Between sixty and seventy

under the command of Captain Shannon, of Mt. Sterling, left the

'^Lexington Intelligencer, May 24, 1836.

UUd., June 17, 1836.

HUd., May 10, 1836; Kentucky Gazette, May 19, 1836.

^Lexington Intelligencer, May 24, 1836.

UUd.
'^Kentucky Gazette, May 23, 1836. A commattee of seven citizens of

Shelbyville and Shelby county exonerated Major Ferguson from reports

prejudicial to him in reference to money collected by him for the Texan
cause. Lexington Intelligencer, June 14, 1836.

UUd., May 20, 1836.

^Lexington Intelligencer, June 10, 1836.

""Richmond Enquirer, April 22, June 26, 1836.

^°Lexington Intelligencer, April 26, 1836.
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morning of June 2d "in the steam car" for the same destination.^

The most considerable number of them, however,—between three

and four hundred, started under the command of Colonel Edw.

J. Wilson and Captain Gr. Lewis Postlethwaite this same month.

Of these about two hundred left Lexington the first week in June,

reaching Louisville on Monday, June 6. At Shelbyville, on Sun-

day, each of the officers of the "Ladies Legion" was presented with

epaulettes by a young lady—Miss Buckner—of Louisville.^ On
Saturday, June 11, the Texas Volunteers to the number of some

three hundred under the command of Colonel Wilson left Louis-

ville in the steamer Fort Adams.^ One of the Lexington papers

prints a letter from Colonel Wilson in which he says, "the peo-

ple of Louisville, with a few exceptions, have been as cold as

icicles, and but for the magnanimous Thomas Smith of New
Castle, our trip would have stopped here. Mr. Smith furnished

all the meat and tendered six months^ provisions and takes the

Texas G-ovemment for it [that is, accepts drafts on the govern-

ment]."* The volunteers proceeded on their way down the Ohio

some fifty miles when the boat sprung a leak. It was accord-

ingly run ashore and the emigrants landed. Messrs. Postlethwaite

and Woolley returned to Louisville, procured another boat,^ and

once more the volunteers embarked. Some whose hearts had grown

faint abandoned the enterprise.^

Another body of Texas emigrants, under the command of Col-

onel Charles L. Harrison, of Louisville, left that city on the even-

ing of July 1 in the HeroineJ On June 14 the Kentucky volun-

teers under Colonel Wilson reached New Orleans, from which

^Lexington Intelligencer, June 3, 1836.

^Ihid., June 10, 1836; Kentucky Gazette, June 6, 1836. In addition to
Fayette, the counties of Clarke and Montgomery were represented among
these emigrants. Frankfort Argus, June 8, 1836.

^Kentucky Gazette, June 16, 1836. Another account says they left Sun-
day in the Adriatic.

*This Mr. Smith was a "colonel," and is furthermore styled "a gentle-
man of fortune."

^The new boat was probably the Tuskina. See Senate Docs., 24 Cong.,
2 Sess., I, No. 1, p. 40.

''Kentucky Gazette, June 20, 1836.

''Lexington Intelligencer, June 1, 1836. According to the Richmond
Whig, July 22, 1836, ninety-four volunteers left this month commanded by
Captain Earl, of Louisville.
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point it was said they would depart immediately for Texas—"to

plant corn or fight"; as the sequel will show, not a few were

destined to engage in the former more prosaic, though not less

profitable enterprise.^ It may be interesting at this point to quote

an extract from a letter written by Major P. H. Harris, of the

"Ladies Legion of Texian Volunteers," dated New Orleans, June

27, 1836:2

Dear Sir:

. . . You have no doubt heard of our embarkation at Louis-

ville and being landed on the bank of the Ohio river, where we
were detained five days. We finally succeeded in efiecting a re-

embarkation on board the Franhlin, a very splendid boat: but

lamentable to relate, while in camp lost by desertion about 30

men. . . . Such men would only tarnish the fame which Ken-
tucky has acquired in deeds of noble daring. ... In five days

we shall be on Texian soil. We are to land and equip at Galves-

ton, and march by way of Copano and from thence 20 miles to

Houston's camp. . . . We will have to contend against 8000

motley and degraded hirelings, and I pledge my life that the

Ladies Legion of Lexington will give a good account of itself and
old KentucF will be faithfully and honorably represented.

We remain under the same organization as when we left Lex-

ington with but few exceptions. Our men are entirely healthy and
in high spirits—some 20 or 30 will join us from this city.

Colonel Wilson, with a portion of the volunteers, was detained

at New Orleans certainly until July 7 and probably later. Captain

Postlethwaite with one hundred and fifty men having departed

for Texas a few days before.^ About the middle of July, Colonel

Wilson with his command reached Velasco. A letter from this

point, dated August 5, announced that he was about to start to

join the Texan army."* But unfortunately for the fame of the

^Kentucky Gazette, July 7, 1836. The same paper a few days later as-

serted that it was doubtful if their service would be wanted.

^This letter is copied from the Kentucky Gazette, July 11, 1836.

^Kentucky Gazette, July 28, 1836. On July 1 a meeting was held in

New Orleans for the purpose of raising means to transport the Kentucky
volunteers to Texas. Virginia Herald, July 23, 1836.

*Kentucky Gazette, August 18, 1836. Colonel Wilson arrived in Texas

by July 24. Ihid., August 25, 1836. Some of the command of Wilson
probably remained in New Orleans until August, for one account mentions

the departure of Kentucky volunteers during this month for Texas in the

schooner Julius Caesar. Virginia Herald, August 27, 1836, quoting the

New Orleans True American, August 9, 1836.
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"Ladies Legion" which had set forth under such bright prospects,

the start was never made. And great was the surprise of those at

home to learn, at the end of August, that Wilson and Postle-

thwaite with about one-half of their command had returned to

Kentucky. The first intimation which the people of Lexington

had of this extraordinary procedure was when they read in the

Kentuchj Gazette of August 29 that the two above-named gentle-

men and a part of the emigrants had returned to New Orleans

and would be on home in a few days. The reason assigned was

that they had not arrived in Texas by the time prescribed by the

government, namely, July 1, and had been assured of only $8.00

a month. Moreover, according to the correspondent, matters in

Texas were in a very unsettled state. According to another re-

port, no immediate danger was to be apprehended from Mexico.

Furthermore, the lands promised emigrants by the government of

Texas had been refused, the law allowing bounty lands having ex-

pired by the above-named date.^

Peeling that public opinion demanded an explanation of their

course of action, Wilson and Postlethwaite published a lengthy

article in the newspapers in which they set forth their reasons for

abandoning the cause of Texas. In the expose of the motives

which impelled their return, they declare the unhappy civil and

political condition of Texas render her totally unworthy of aid

or sympathy. Professing agents secured volunteers by means of

false promises. The cause for the long delay at New Orleans was

due to the President and Cabinet wanting no more volunteers,

believing the war at an end. In consequence of a rumor of a

Mexican invasion. Captain Postlethwaite advanced with one hun-

dred troops about July 2. Colonel Wilson got off on July 10,

arriving at Galveston seven days later. The former went to

Velasco, the seat of government, where he was treated with great

rudeness by President Burnet, who was also guilty of incivility

to Colonel Wilson. In conclusion they declared that the present

population of Texas was incapable of a just idea of civil or

political liberty; the mass of people were animated by a desire of

plunder; no stable government of any kind existed; the army was

defiant; the Cabinet corrupt and imbecile; the only stimulus of

^The Commonwealth, August 31, 1836.
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the soldiers was a hope of plunder—in a word, the condition of

affairs in Texas was miserable.^

Such were the reasons assigned by these men for returning

home, and it requires only a casual knowledge of Texas affairs at

this time to see that the report constituted a slander upon Texas

and its people.

General T. Jefferson Chambers, who was the object of the at-

tack in the report of Wilson and Postlethwaite, replied to his

opponents through the Louisville Journal, his rejoinder taking up

six columns of that paper. According to his side of the story, the

battalion from Lexington was to have been attached to the army

of reserve under his command. Colonel Wilson refused to accept

the commissions tendered him on the ground that Colonel Har-

rison would take rank over him. His chagrin at the court of

Velasco was due to the fact that he had not been asked to take

a seat by President Burnet. He was denied the rank and land he

coveted. General Chambers included in his reply letters from

Lieutenants Combs and Brashear of Captain Price's company con-

firmatory of the facts he sought to establish. Only thirty or forty

of three hundred emigrants returned, according to General Cham-

bers; a letter of Dr. Read of the Texas army, which he printed as

further confirming his statements, asserts that eighty men re-

turned out of some two hundred.

Having thus paid their respects to each other in the columns

of the press. Colonel Wilson, after the fashion of the time, chal-

lenged General Chambers. The difficulty, however, was referred

to a board of honor which finally proposed a compromise that

was accepted by both parties.^

"See the Kentucky Gazette, September 13, 1836, for a detailed state-

ment of their grievances. Their article was also published in the Frank-
fort Argus, September 21, 1836.

Reports of a similar nature found their way into the newspapers, and
naturally had the effect of deterring volunteers from going to Texas.

Cf. the Virginia- Herald, March 23, 1836. The Evening Post, March 23,

1836, copies from the Randolph (Tenn.) Recorder a dismal account of

the situation in TexEis.

"^Kentucky Gazette, October 31, 1836. It is gratifying to note that

General Chambers was completely exonerated by the government of

Texas for his share in sending volunteers to Texas. On June 12, 1837,

the Texas Congress passed a resolution tendering Chambers their thanks
for the zeal and ability displayed by him in defending the cause of Texas,
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Wliile the state of affairs in Texas no doubt justified the deter-

mination of Wilson and Postlethwaite to return with their men,

yet their presence in the country only a few days and at a single

point rendered it impossible for them to form a just judgment of

the situation. No immediate danger, it is true, was to be appre-

hended from Mexico at this time. The ordinance of March 16

diminished the quantity of bounty lands to soldiers who entered

between that time and July 1, and left the quantity for those

enlisting after that period undefined and to be determined by

Congress. In addition to this, differences existed between those in

authority in the government, and it would have been a miracle

had no land speculators found their way to Texas. ^ In view of

these things the determination of the volunteers to return may be

excused, but no excuse can be offered for the groundless accusa-

tions which their leaders were instrumental in spreading to the

injury of Texas. But the presence or the absence of the Ken-

tucky volunteers at this time did not affect the important ques-

tion of the independence of Texas, for that had been settled by

the decisive victory of San Jacinto.

The news of the battle of San Jacinto had been received with

the greatest enthusiasm in Kentucky. In a number of places the

victory of Houston and his men was celebrated with peals of artil-

lery and bonfires, while the city of Louisville was brilliantly il-

luminated in honor of the capture of Santa Anna and his men.^

While more than three-fourths of the victors of San Jacinto were

citizens proper of Texas, yet side by side with these were to be

found volunteers from Kentucky and from other states who, on

and for the efficient manner in which he had discharged the duties of his
commission in sending men and arms to Texas. Gammel, Laivs of Texas,
I, 1328.

^Cf. Barker, "Land Speculation as a Cause of the Texas Revolution,"
in The Quarterly, X, 79-95. The Richmond Enquirer of March 26,

1836, quotes the Charleston Patriot of March 14th to this effect: "The
gallant corps of Volunteer Greys from New Orleans has generally re-

turned disgusted with the service, saying that they would no longer fight

to enrich a few land speculators." Cf. Courier and Enquirer, October

31, 1835.

^Lexington Intelligencer, May 14, 20, 1836; Kentucky Gazette, May 16,

23, 26, 1836. The Intelligencer of May 17 published official confirmation

of the defeat of Santa Anna copied from the New Orleans paper of some
two weeks earlier.
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that memoralDle day. rendered yaliant service in the cause of Texas

independence.^

The following account of the battle of San Jacinto was writ-

ten by Captain James Tarleton. captain of the company of Texas

volunteers that first went from Louisville:^

. . . At last, at 3 1 2 p.m. we were ordered to prepare for

battle, which was soon done : and then commenced a conflict, the

parallel of which. I presume, cannot be found on record. To see

a mere handful of raw undisciplined volunteers, just taken from
their ploughs and thrown together with rifles without bayonets,

no two perhaps of the same calibre, and circled by only two pieces

of artillery. 6 pounders, and a few musketeers, some with and
some without bayonets, and some or 50 men on horseback to

meet the trained bands of the heroes of so many victories—to see

them, with trailed arms, marching to within 60 or TO yards of

such an army at least double in number and entrenched too behind

a breastwork impregnable to small arms and protected by a long

brass 9 pounder—^to see them. I say, do all this, fearless, and
determined to save their country and their country's liberty or

to dJe in the effort was no ordinarv occurrence. Yet such was
their conduct, and so irresistible was the Spartan phalanx, that it

was not more than from 15 to 20 minutes from our first fire until a

'^Ricliard Eoman. of Kentucky, commanded a company in the fight.

Muster Rolls, p. 208. The Second Regiment of Texas Volunteers was
commanded by Colonel Sidney Sherman, another Kentuckian. who,, with a

Kentucky regiment gallantly led the left wing at the battle of San
Jacinto. ' The Quaeteblt. XFT. 213. Cf.. also, Barker. '-'The San Jacinto

Campaign.'" in Itid.. TT. 262-336 p<i-ssim, for allusions to Colonel Sher-

man's activity in the San Jax?into campaign. For services rendered the

government by him and for money expended for the same. Colonel Sher-

man was allowed by the Texan Congress the sum of $3973.17. G-ammel,

Laics of Texas, 1. 1491.

'Tt is susceptible of almost positive proof.'" says one writer, "that

ninety-eight per cent of those who fought at San Jacinto were already

settled in Texas or remained in the Republic after the Revolution." Ful-

more. "The Annexation of Texas and the Mexican War." in The Qttab-

TEBET. V. 29, note 2. At the same time it is asserted by others that

Texas "''could never have recovered from the severe blows received in the

Alamo and Goliad had it not been for the active help of friends in the

United States."" Smith. ''The Quarrel Between Gkivernor Smith and the

Council." in The QrABXEBEY. V. 345. Cf.. also. Hid.. IX. 260.

=This letter, which is of considerable lensrth. is taken from the Louis-

iana Jovrnal. and is printed in the Cornrnoiurealth of June 8. 1836, and

in the Franhfort Argus of June 15. 1836. Only those portions relating

to the battle of San Jacinto are reproduced. An extended account of the

battle asreeing in the main with Contain Tarleton's description, wa*

contributed by Colonel George W. Hockley to the Louisiana Advertiser

of May 23< 1836. and is copied in the Tirginiu Herald. May 25, 1836.
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complete rout of the enemy was effected, and such slaughter on

the one side and such almost miraculous preservation on the other

have never been heard of since the invention of gunpowder. The
commencement of the attack was accompanied by the watch words,

"Remember the Alamo, Labade [La Bahia], and Tampico," at

the ver}^ top of our voices, and in some 10 minutes, we were in

the full possession of the enemy's encampment, cannon, and all

things else, whilst his veterans were in the greatest possible dis-

order attempting to save their lives by flight. I happened to be

so placed in the regiment to which I was attached, that I was
enabled to be the third man, who entered the entrenchment, which

I soon left in company with the balance of the regiment in pur-

suit of the defeated enemies of Texian liberty. I feel confident

that I do not exaggerate, when I state their loss in killed as nearly

if not quite equal to the whole of our number engaged ; whilst we
had only 6 killed on the spot and some 12 or 15 wounded, two of

whom have since died, one of them Dr. Motley,^ of Kentucky, a

relative of Mr. Shapley Owen, and who died to-night since I

commenced writing this letter. The number of their prisoners

has not yet been officially announced, but I should suppose it is

nearly if not quite 600, many of whom are wounded. . . .

Though the battle of San Jacinto practically secured the inde-

pendence of Texas, yet for months rumors of renewed attempts on

the part of Mexico to subjugate Texas continued to be printed in

the Kentucky newspapers with the result, as we have seen, of the

enlistment of volunteers in the summer of 1836. These rumors

were of a most contradictory nature, so that it was impossible for

those remote from the scene of action to determine the true state

3f affairs. For instance, it was announced in August that it

would be impossible for the Mexican army to begin a campaign

against Texas for two or three months; in October people read

that General Bravo was threatening Texas with an army of

eighteen thousand men ; a few days later and this army had vanished

into thin air.^ Some of these newspaper reports were absurd in

^Dr. William Motley was a member of Houston's staff and a brave
soldier. Foote, Texas and Texans, II, 311, relates this incident: "When
Motley was asked if he was hurt, he replied, 'Yes, I believe I am
mortally wounded.' 'Doctor, I will get some one to take care of you,'
replied his questioner. 'No,' answered Motley, 'if you whip them, send
back a man to assist me, but if you do not, I shall need no assistance.' "

^Cf. Lexington Intelligencer, November 18, 1836; December 6, 23, 1836.

Such contradictory rumors continued to be printed throughout the spring
of 1837. See Kentucly Gazette, January 12, 1837; February 7, 1837;
April 13, 1837; May 11, 18. 1837.
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the extreme and remind one of the inflammatory despatches which

emanate from the imagination of war-correspondents in these

days; for instance, it was asserted on one occasion that the Mexi-

cans were pouring into Texas, their intention being to make war

upon the United States^ to sack and bum New Orleans. This

rumor, it was averred, was confirmed by official reports of the

presence of Mexicans in Texas in large numbers.^ There can be

little doubt that General Gaines and the troops under his com-

mand would have eagerly welcomed the advent of the Mexicans

upon American soil.^

It may be observed that apprehension of a Mexican invasion

continued to be shared by the Texan authorities. In June, 1836,

Thomas J. Green, brigadier general of the Texan army, wrote

urging soldiers to come to Texas immediately." A few weeks later

it was given out at New Orleans that the Texas Agency at that

point did not desire, on account of a lack of provisions, any fur-

ther emigration save those who would become permanent culti-

vators of the soil.* In November we find Wharton writing to Aus-

tin from New Orleans: "No one here anticipates another in-

vasion of Texas. We should, however, act as if we thought dif-

ferently.^^'^ When Wharton reached Washington, he seems to have

given more credence to the rumors of a renewed invasion.®

^Lexington Intelligencer, July 19, 1836.

-Cf. Barker, "The San Jacinto Campaign," in The Quabteely, 255

:

"That he [i. e. Gen. Gaines] was in eager sympathy with the Texans
and was possessed of an almost feverish desire to help them is certain."

^Cf. Kentucky Gazette, August 8, 1836. In this same month, however,

Grayson wrot^ Jack that it was likely the invasion of Texas would
for a time be suspended. Grayson to Jack, August 11, 1836. Garrison,

Dip. Car. Tex., I, 121.

^Kentucky Gazette, July 11, 1836. In November Thomas J. Rusk, the

Secretary of War, was summoning the able-bodied men of Texas to arms.

In December there was rumor of an invasion by land and sea. Austin
to Wharton. December 10, 1836. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 150. On
December 22. 18"36, a joint resolution was passed by the Texas Congress

authorizing the president to receive into service 40.000 volunteers. Gam-
mel. Laws of Texas. I, 1285. Perhaps this is a misprint for 4000.

^Wharton to Austin. November 30, 1836. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex.,

I, 148.

^Wharton to Austin, December 22. 28. 31. 1836. Ihid., I, 167. On
January 11. 1837. Senator Walker, of Mississinpi, stated in the Senate

that he had information to the effect that the projected invasion of

Texas had been abandoned. Cf.. however, Catlett to Henderson, April

14, 1837. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 207.
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Finally, an order was issued from New Orleans on March 10,

1837, signed by A. S. Thrnston, commissary general of Texas, to

the eifect that recruiting service for the present was suspended;

those who had already entered for two years or during the war

and were ready to leave for Texas equipped, would be enrolled and

furnished transportation from ISTew Orleans.^ It is not surpris-

ing, in view of the conflicting rumors of a renewed invasion of

Texas which obtained currency in the United States, that volun-

teers should have continued to present themselves for enrollment

in the armies of Texas.

A word may be said about the organization of those who went

as volunteers from Kentucky and from other states.^ Most of

these belonged to the Auxiliary Volunteer Corps, those from Ken-

tucky enlisting for the more part for a period of six months,

fewer enlisting for three months, and still fewer for the duration

of the war.^ Provision was made for tMs body in accordance with

an ordinance passed by the Council December 5, 1835. By the

terms of this act each platoon should not contain less than twenty-

eight men, rank and file; each company was to consist of two

platoons of fifty-six men, rank and file; each battalion, five com-

panies, or two hundred and eighty men, rank and file; each regi-

ment two battalions, or five hundred and sixty men, rank and

file: each platoon might be officered by one first lieutenant, each

company by one captain, one first lieutenant and one second

lieutenant; each battalion, one major; each regiment one colonel,

^Kentucky Gazette, April 13, 1837. Cf., however, Catlett to Henderson,
May 7, 1837. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 217. According to Yoakum,
History of Texas, II, 209, only those volunteers would be passed by
Colonel Thruston who should furnish themselves with good arms, six

months' clothing, and two months' rations.

-Upon this subject, see Barker, "The Texan Revolutionary Army," in

The Quarterly, IX, 227-261.

^See Muster Rolls for period of enlistment. The following oath was taken
by the volunteers : "Know all men by these presents that I have this

day enrolled myself an the Volunteer Auxiliary Corps for and during
the term of six months. And I do solemnly swear that I will bear true

allegiance to the Provisional Government of Texas or any future Gov-
ernment that may be hereafter declared and that I will serve her hon-
estly and faithfully against all her enemies whatsoever and observe and
obey the Governor of Texas, the orders and decrees of the President and
future authorities, and the orders of the officers over me, according to

rules and articles for the Government of the Army of Texas. So Help
Me God," Muster Rolls, p. 115. As a rule, tlie volunteers hesitated to

enlist for any definite period. Cf. Yoakum, History of Texas, IT, 456.
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and one major.^ Shortly after the passage of this act, another

ordinance was adopted empowering the commander-in-chief to ac-

cept the services of five thousand auxiliary volunteers-^

Those who enlisted for the duration of the war received the

same pay, clothing, and wages as was allowed by the United States

in the war of 1812, besides bounties in money and valuable tracts

of rich land. The auxiliaries from the United States, it may be

noted, were also permitted to choose their own company officers.

By the decree of December 5 a bounty of six hundred and forty

acres was promised those who served throughout the war; those

enlisting for three months received a bounty of three hundred and

twenty acres; those enlisting for a shorter period received no

bounty, otherwise their status was similar to that of the perma-

nent volunteers.^ Later an ordinance of March 10 increased the

bounty of those serving twelve months or during the war to twelve

hundred and eighty acres ; those serving nine months received nine

hundred and sixty acres; while six hundred and forty acres were

received for six months' service, and three hundred and twenty

acres for three months' military service.* Those entering the

service of Texas after July 1 were to receive a quantity of land in

proportion to their services.^

At the suggestion of Fannin provision was made by the Council

for a battalion of cavalry to consist of three hundred and eighty-

four men, rank and file, divided into six companies : arms and

uniforms were also prescribed. The members of this force were

to receive the same pay as cavalry in the service of the United

States and a bounty of six hundred and forty acres of land.^

Attention has already been called to the services of General

Chambers in recruiting volunteers for his '^Army of Reserve";

^Ordinances and Decrees, 48.

UUd., 85.

'Cf. The Quarterly, IX, 233, note 3. President Burnet, in his first

message to the Texan Congress, October 4, 1836, recommended the pro-

priety of withholding all inducements to enlistments for short periods

of time. The message is printed in Niles' Register, LI, 189-191. The
correspondent of the Courier and Enquirer, November 21, 1836, wrote

from New Orleans that treasury bills of volunteers could be cashed in

that city only in small quantities and at an enormous discount.

^Ordinances and Decrees, 92.

^Proceedings of Convention, 74-75.

"The Quarterly, IX, 234.
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these received the same pay and bounty as the other auxiliaries.^

Of course when volunteers from the United States enlisted in

branches of the service other than those mentioned ahove, they

became entitled to the rewards pertaining to the particular serv-

ice in which they engaged. For instance, members of the Regular

Army received the same pay and emoluments, rations, and cloth-

ing as those belonging to the corresponding branch of service of

the United States. In addition, they received a bounty of eight

hundred acres of land and $24.^ To each of the volunteers in the

Army of the People of Texas was given a bounty of six hundred

and forty acres of land.^ Soldiers who came to Texas after March

2 and prior to August 1, 1836, received one league (4428 acres)

and one labor (177 acres), if the head of a family; and one-

third of a league (1476 acres) if a single man.* Lawful heirs of

all such volunteers were to be entitled to the quantity of land

due the deceased; said heirs to receive an addition in the way of

a bounty—640 acres as decreed by the Council, December 11,

1835.^ A donation of six hundred and forty acres was given to

those engaged in the battle of San Jacinto, to those entering

Bexar between the morning of the 5 and the 10 of December,

1835, and taking part in the reduction of the same; to those in the

action of March 19, 1836, under Fannin and Ward and to their

heirs ; and to the heirs of those who fell in the Alamo. The heirs or

legal representatives of those who fell with Fannin, Ward, Travis,

Grant, and Johnson received a league and a labor or one-third of

a league, according as the soldier was the head of a family or a

single man, and to each one was given an additional bounty of

six hundred and forty acres.^ The pay of volunteers from the

United States, according to a resolution passed by the Texan Con-

gress November 23 and 24, 1836, was to commence from the time

of their embodying and leaving home, provided said time did not

exceed sixty days prior to their being mustered into the service of

the republic of Texas. At the same time it was determined that

^The Quaeterly, IX, 235, and above, p. 46, note 2.

'Ordinances and Decrees, 22, 87.

Uhid., 79.

*Gammel, Laics of Texas, I, 1414.

"Ihid., 1, 894-895.

«Cf., Ibid., I, 1450-1451.
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all volunteers who had entered the service of the republic since

July 1 last should be entitled to the same pay and bounties of

land as those entering prior to that time.^ According to a law

of December 18, 1837, all those permanently disabled while in the

service of Texas by loss of eye, arm or limb, or other bodily injury

so as to be incapacitated for bodily labor, received one league of

land.2

This matter of the land bounties has been dwelt upon somewhat

at length for two reasons: first of all, the inducement thus

held out to volunteers a compelling motive in causing hundreds

from the United States to enlist in the service of the Texan gov-

ernment
;
and, secondly, many of those who rendered such service

would naturally, at the close of hostilities, settle down perma-

nently in the region between the Sabine and the Eio Grande. It

may be observed that Austin while acting as commissioner to the

United States wrote back to the government of Texas in regard to

offers of land to volunteers at variance with those of the govern-

ment, which offers, he said, did much harm. The offer referred

to was one made by Major William P. Miller, of Nashville, prom-

ising eight hundred acres and $24 bounty. The decree increasing

the bounty of" soldiers in the regular army by one hundred and

sixty acres and $24 was passed December 14, and had not come

to the notice of Austin.^

Touching the question of neutrality, Kentuckians like the vol-

unteers from other states, did not feel themselves called upon to

pay any more heed to the laws upon the subject than did anti-

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, I, 1094.

UUd., I, 1436.

^Austin, Archer and Wharton to Smith, February 16, 1836; Austin
to Owings, February 12, 1836; Austin and Archer to the Governor of

Texas, March 3, 1836. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 68-69, 70, 73. Cf.,

however. The Quarterly, IX, 233, note 3. The Kentucky Gazette, De-
cember 12, 1836, prints an offer signed by Miller promising twelve hun-
dred acres of land and $24 bounty; promises are held out of a law
raising the bounty to two thousand acres. According to a joint resolu-

tion passed by the Texas Congress November 30, 1836, those introduc-

ing by January 10 for the duration of the war as many as twenty men
were to receive a second lieutenant's commission; thirty, a first lieuten-

ant's; fifty-six, a captain's; two hundred and eighty, a major's; four

hundred, a lieutenant-colonel's; five hundred and sixty, a colonel's, and
eleven hundred and twenty, a brigadier-general's. Gammel, Laws of

Texas, I, 1112. Cf., also, Lexington Intelligencer, April 26, 1836, and
Kentucky Gazette, July 20, 1837.
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slavery sympathizers of a later time feel called upon to give their

support to laws compelling the rendition of fugitive slaves. In

the one case as in the other, the law of the land fell practically

flat because the existing state of public opinion rendered federal

statutes incapable of enforcement. Add to this the fact, to which

attention has already been called, that no adequate means were

provided for securing the enforcement of the Act of 1818, which

authorized the President to employ the military and naval forces

of the United States for the purpose of preventing violations of

our neutrality.^

At the very outbreak of hostilities between Texas and Mexico,

the President, whatever may have been his views in regard to the

cession of Texas in 1819,- proclaimed the neutrality of the United

States in no equivocal terms, and from time to time as occasion

arose, reiterated his intention not only faithfully to maintain our

neutrality, but to discountenance anything that might be calcu-

lated to expose our conduct to misconstruction in the eyes of the

world.^ And this attitude Jackson maintained till the close of

his administration. When Wharton and Hunt besought him to

recognize the independence of Texas, the President declined to in-

^See Barker, "President Jack&on and the Texas Revolution," in Ameri-
can Historical Revieto for July, 1907. Cf., also, Miss Ethel Z. Rather,
"Recognition of the Republic of Texas by the United States," in The
Quarterly, XIII, No. 3.

^Benton, Thirty Years' View, I, 15, 16.

^Richardson, Messages and Papers, I, 151, III, 237-238. On August
5, 1836, President Jackson wrote Governor Cannon, of Tennessee, as

follows: "The obligations of our treaty with Mexico . . . require

us to maintain a strict neutrality in the contest which now agitates a
part of that republic . . . any act on the part of the government
of the United States that would tend to foster a spirit of resistance to

her Government and laws . . . would be unauthorized and highly
improper. A scrupulous sense of these obligations has prevented me
thus far from doing anything whic'h can authorize the suspicion that our
Government is unmindful of them, and I hope to be equally cautious and
circumspect in all my future conduct." Sen. Docs., 24 Cong., 2 Sess.,

I, No. 31. Practically the same sentiments were expressed somewhat
over a year later by Forsyth in a letter to General Memucan Hunt.
Cf., also. Sen. Docs., 24 Cong., 2 Sess., I, No. 31. One of the Kentucky
papers noted that the Governor of Louisiana, had issued a proclnmation
calling attention to the Act of 1818. Leooington Observer and Kentucky
Reporter, December 16, 1835. The editor of the Philadelphia Saturday
Courier expressed surprise that the President had not issued a procla-

mation announcintr neutrality, inasmuch as sucli a step was certainly

sanctioned by custom.
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terfere.^ To Austin's earnest appeal for the recognition of Texas,

Jackson replied intimating that the Texans should have taken into

consideration the consequences of their act in beginning the revo-

lution, concluding with the statement repeatedly expressed: "Our

neutrality must be faithfully maintained."^

That Jackson was sincere in thus proclaiming his intention to

enforce the neutrality laws of the United States will hardly admit

of question; for he was a man of conscience and of honor, stead-

fastly devoted to the performance of his duty as he saw it. When
complaints therefore of the violations of neutrality were from time

to time addressed to the department of state by Gorostiza, Castillo,

and Monasterio,^ the reply was that "all measures enjoined and

warranted by law have been and will continue to be taken to en-

force respect by citizens of the United States within their juris-

diction to the neutrality of their Government."* Accordingly the

district attorneys in the leading cities of the Union were author-

ized to prosecute without discrimination all violations of laws of

the United States which had been enacted for the purpose of pre-

serving peace or which fulfilled treaty obligations with foreign

powers.^

^Wharton and Hunt to Rusk, February 20, 1837. Dip. Cor. Tex., I,

196, 197. Cf. Rather, "Recognition of the Republic of Texas by the

United States," in The Quarterly, XIII, 246-247. The writer, after a
careful study of the question, reaches the conclusion that so far as Jack-

son's personal attitude toward Texas was concerned, he was consistent

throughout.

^Bassett, Life of Andrew Jackson, II, 680. "The writer does not re-

flect that we have a treaty with Mexico, and our national faith is pledged

to support it. . . . [The rebellion] was a rash and a premature act,

our neutrality must be faithfully maintained." This is precisely the

attitude taken in his message of December 22, 1836. Richardson, Mes-

sages and Papers, III, 266,

^House Exec. Docs., 24 Cong., 2 Sess., VI, No. 256; 25 Cong., 2 Sess.,

VII, No. 190; 25 Cong., 2 Sess., XII, No. 351; Sen. Docs., 24 Cong., 2

Sess., I, No. 1.

^House Exec. Docs., 24 Cong., 1 Sess., VI, No. 256.

^These orders were addressed by Secretary Forsyth to the district at-

torneys at Boston, New York, Philadelphia, Baltimore, Mobile, Richmond,

Nashville, Frankfort, Natchez, and St. Martinsville, La. Lewis Sanders,

the district attorney at Frankfort, in his reply to Forsyth, declared his

intention of enforcing the laws against all offenders. In his letter to

Dickens he disclaims knowledge of any movement calculated to disturb

our neutral relations with Mexico. In similar manner Addison who was

acting as district attorney at Natchez assured Forsyth that vigilance

would be used to prevent any infraction of neutrality within his district.
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But convictions were not forthcoming for several reasons. First

of all, it was no easy matter to determine just what constituted a

violation of the act in question, for it must b€ remembered that

it was

not a crime or offence against the United States under the neu-

trality laws of this country for individuals to leave the country

with intent to enlist in foreign military service, nor an offence to

transport such persons out of this country and to land them in

foreign countries when such persons had an intent to list; nor an
offence to transport arms, ammunition, and munitions of war
from this country; nor an offence to transport persons with intent

to enlist and munitions on the same trip.^

To constitute an offence within the meaning of the act in ques-

tion, there must be combination and organization on the soil of

the United States, with the intention of going abroad to enlist.^

To avoid violating the neutrality laws therefore, Austin counselled

that volunteers should not be recognized until they had presented

themselves to the governor of Texas or commander-in-chief of the

Texan army.^

The United States district attorney at New York assured the Mexican
consul of his earnest wish to render every aid in his power to preserve
an entire neutrality as regards the Texas revolution. See Senate Docs.,

24 Cong., 2 Sess., VI, Nos. 25, 37, 42. Cf., also, House Exec. Docs., 24
Cong., 1 Sess., VI, No. 256; 25 Cong., 2 Sess., Ill, No. 74.

^Moore, Inter. Law Digest, VII, 912. It was held that acceptance of

a commissiion might be regarded as contrary at least to the spirit of

the Act of Congress of April 20, 1818. Ihid., VII, 872. By some papers
it was charged that high officers of the United States government were
taking part with the Texans; this was denied, however. The author of

the War of Texas, p. 43, gives credence to the rumor that some two hun-
dred of Gaines's force had joined the Texan army. On the other hand
an officer writing from Fort Jesup under date of October 24 refers to the

'''high and dignified course in the cause of neutrality and national faith

which is responded to by almost every officer in this army—much is due
to Mexico; and the United States owe it to themselves to be strictly

neutral." Virginia Herald, December 7, 1836. It may be observed that
a contract between citizens of the United States and an inhabitant of

Texas to enable him to raise men and procure arms to carry on the war
with Mexico could not be specifically enforced by a court of the United
States. Moore, Inter. Law Digest, VII, 909.

*Cf. Wheaton's Inter. Law (Boyd), Third Edition, p. 584.

'Austin, Archer and Wharton to Smith, January 10, 1836. Garrison,

Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 56. "To undertake to receive them [i. e. troops]

here, and pay their way to Texas, is now impossible. We have not the

means, and it is an open violation of the laws of this country, than
which nothing could more effectually injure our cause."
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That open violations of the act occurred it will not be denied;

and in one instance at least the district attorney seems to have

treats the law as a joke as the following extract from a letter of

Carson to Burnet will show

:

Seventy men are now ready to leave under Captain Grundy who
is the prosecuting Atty. for the United States for this District,

and has formal orders to arrest and prosecute every man who may
take up arms in the cause of Texas or in any way Violate the

ISTeutrality of the U. S. He says he will prosecute any man under
his command who will take up arms here and he will accompany
them to the boundary line of the U. S. to see that they shall rwt

violate her Neutrality and when there, if the boys think proper

to step over the line as peaceable eraigrants his authorit}- in Gov't

will cease and he thinks it highly probably that he will take a

peepe at Texas himself.^

On the whole, it would seem that Jackson, so far as lay within

his power, complied fully with the formal requirements of the law.

With the sentiment of the South and West what it was, to have

removed delinquent officials and put others in their place would

have accomplished nothing.

We may next glance at Jackson's attitude toward the asserted

violation of our neutrality by General Gaines's crossing the fron-

tier. While there existed no doubt whatever in the mind of the

President and of his Secretary of State Forsyth as to the right of

General Gaines to cross any supposed or imaginary boundary,

they impressed upon him '"the duty of the United States to remain

entirely neutral"'; yet considering the existing tension between

Mexico and this countr}', and the eagerness of Gaines to take a

hand in the struggle across the border, Jackson may perhaps incur

the reproach of having failed to take all reasonable precautions to

prevent General Gaines from exercising with undue haste the dis-

cretion which was necessarily entrusted to him.^

^Carson to Burnet, June 1, 1836. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., I, 93.

^Jackson complained of "those who, indifferent to principle themselves
and prone to suspect the want of it in others, charge us with ambitious
designs and perfidious policy." Richardson, Messages and Papers, III,

237-238. Those who saw in the Texas question only evidences of a dark
plot to wrest a large domain from Mexico for the purpose of adding five

or six more slave States to the Union, charged the ''combination" with
sending "volunteers" to the frontier, through the agency and at the ex-
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At the same time it should ho borne in mind that though to

Jackson's mind a sufficiency of causes assigned for the advance of

our troops b}^ General Gaines was seriously doubted by him, there

existed no doubt whatever in the minds of the Texan authorities

of the urgent need of United States troops at or near Nacogdoches

for the purpose of protecting the inhabitants on the west side of

the Sabine, noi* did there exist the slightest doubt in their minds

of their being entitled to such protection in accordance with the

treaty of 1831. The evidence upon this point is decisive.^ We

pense of the government. Lundy, War in Texas, p. 42. In May, 1836,
Webster wrote: "I have no faith in Gaines's prudence, or, indeed, in

his purposes." Writings and Speeches, XVIII, 19 (Boston, 1903). We
find the ISfew Orleans Bee, April 23, 1836, protesting that "if Gaines en-

ters Texas with his forces, he exceeds his authority, no matter on what
pretext." Von Hoist {History of the United States, II, 573-583) con-

cludes a ten-page fulmdnation against the administration with the state-

ment, "a more shameless comedy of neutrality was never played." It is

more surprising to find MacDonald {Jacksonian Democracy, The Ameri-
can Nation, XV, 215) asserting that "Jackson's defence of his course
was utterly specious." On the other hand, see Barker, "President Jack-
son and the Texas Revolution," in American Historical Review for July,

1907, and cf. Garrison, Westward Exten^^ion {American Nation, XVII),
87-89. A friend of the administration has this to say: "Duty and in-

terest prescribed to the United States a rigorous neutrality; and this

condition she has faithfully fulfilled. Our young men have gone to Texas
to fight; but they have gone without the sanction of the laws, and
against the orders of the government . . . Prosecutions have been
ordered against violators of law ... if parties and individuals still

go to Texas to fight, the act is particular, not national. . . . The
conduct of the administration has been strictly neutral." Benton, Thirty

Years' Vieio, I, 671. Cf., also, Bassett, Li^e of Andrew Jackson, II, 673-

681, and especially Smith, The Annexation of Texas, 23-25, et seq. This
writer can find on the whole nothing to censure in the conduct of Jack-

son or of the administration touching the question of our neutrality.

According to the Courier and Advertiser, October 24, 1836, the United
States government in advancing its troops to Nacogdoches was only per-

forming a duty due the inhabitants who it might appear were American
citizens and whom the government claiming jurisdiction over them with
us could no longer protect in their persons and property.

The Evening Post, May 12, 1836, in an editorial defending Gaines and
the administration, held that the former's instr'.ictions were as guarded
as they could well be. This journal protested vigorously against a pre-

mature recognition of the independence of Texas by the United States

government.

^On the danger from the Indians, son Carson to Burnet, April 14,

1836. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., T, 83: for roport of an alliance between
the Cherokees and General Urrea and on thr^ rijyiit of Toxas to he pro-

tected in accordance witli th.e treaty, sec Burnet to Collinsworth and
Grayson. August 10, 1836, Ihid., T, 119. Tho N<nv Orleans correspond-

ent of the Courier and Enquirer, Mardi 19. 1830, truces the rumor of

such an alliance to the Donaldson (La.) Eagl e of j'ebrua ry 13.
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find Austin vriting to Wharton that he had been assured that

the Cherokee?, Caddos. Comanches, and other tribes had entered

into a combination to join the Atexicans and were prepared to

do .-0 when thev heard of the defeat at San Jacinto. A-Qstin was

convinced that it was of vital importance to the tranquillity of the

United Sta.tes that American troops should continue at Xaxsog-

doches, and that the number should be increased rather than

diminished.^ In January. 1837. Wharton wrote Forsyth that the

Caddos within the United States were meditating an invasion

of the Republic of Texas and asked that the United States

troons should continue at Xacogdoches or at some other point

near the frontier.^ Ten days later Henderson was urging upon

"lATiarton and Hunt to point out to the Government of the United

States the necessity of stationing troops immediately at or near

Xacogdoches for the purpose of keeping the tribes in subjection.

He too was certain the Cherokees had formed a treaty during the

summer with the Mexicans at Atatarnoros with the intent to attack

the people of Texas.''

When ruDjors of Indian atta-cks and alliances were thus flying

back and forth across the border, is it to be wondered at that Gen-

eral Gaines felt it incumbent upon him to take up an advanced

position across the Sabine?*

On the whoie it is difficult to see how a President could have

been animated by a more scrupulous regard for the proper oljserv-

ance of our neutral relations on the part both of the government

and of the |X;op]e than characterized Jackson's attitude during the

'AuHtin V> U hart/jn, ^)wm\)C.r 10, 18.36. Garrison, Dip. Cor, Tex., I, 1.56.

'I'hH Virginifi Jfernld of Aurnrst 20, 18.36, prints a letter dated New Or-
)(:ari.s, July 20. in '.v}iich thf; writer seeks Uj sliow that the story of the
visit of thf; Cherokee chiefs U> Matamoros for the purpose of making a
treaty with the Mexicans was "entirely a fabrication."

HVharton U> Forsvth, January 11, 1837. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex., 1,

]7o. Cf. I hi'}.. I. ]'87, 195, 20.3 et seq.

'^ffenderson to Whart^jn and Hunt, January 21, 1837. lUd., I, 177-178.

'General Gaines, as is fvidf-nt from his letter to Governor Cannon, of

7<'nnf'ssef', attfjched sli,L''l')t importance to crossing a "little muddy branch
of i))<- Sabine bay," inasmuch as he was "impressed with the belief that

wl-iole of the front if-r would })e involved in an Indian war as soon

as t^)reaten'•f) lio -t i I i t i"- v<-<-ri our neighbors on the West are renewed."
V(ir an extf-nd^d nriri unfjtvorable comment upon the proposed action of

()<'r)crH.] G;iines in ;) d v ;i D^in^ to "ohl Fort XacfJL'doches." see the National
/nteUif/eru;er, March iO, 18.36. Cf. fhid., September 9, 18.36.
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last two years of his administration. And equally scrupulous it

may be said was the government as to its obligations as a neutral

touching the question of annexation.*

To the cause of Texas independence, Kentucky gave of her sons

and means unstintedly. General Felix Huston writing from

Natchez in the spring of 1836 has this to say: "I wish to get

some men from Kentucky. There is no difficulty in getting as

many as I want there, but more difficulty in rejecting those I do

not want."^ With one exception no trace has been found of any

opposition being offered by Kentuckians to the annexation of Texas.

In the Lexington Intelligencer of July 12, 1836, appeared an in-

teresting article in which the writer urges the people of Texas to

avoid any connection with the Southern States; to forbid the im-

migration of slaves or slaveholders, and pictures all the benefits

which w^ould flow from a population of free men.^ But as events

were destined to show, his was a voice crying in the wilderness, and

his arguments fell upon deaf ears. In this connection it is to be

remarked that in all the resolutions which were drawn up in Ken-

tuck}^ calling upon the United States government to recognize the

independence of Texas, there is no suggestion whatever of the

benefits that would accrue to the South by the possible acquisition

of new territory being opened up to slavery. According to one of

the leading Kentucky journals, six newspapers in the State were

opposed to the annexation of Texas, but the names of these are

not given.* The attitude of the press of the State as a whole is

no doubt more faithfully reflected in a quotation found in the

Kentucky Gazette of July 7, 1836, which is copied from the New

'See Smith, The Annexation of Texas, Chapter 3.

^Richmond Enquirer, May 3, 1836. A "Citizen of the West" writing
on Texas in this paper September 2, 1836, remarks that there are
"enough volunteers from Kentucky to go to Mexico if Texas had funds
to pay the expenses of transportation, and to support them until they
reached camp."

^Cf. Wharton to Austin, December 11, 1836. Garrison, Dip. Cor. Tex.,

I, 152. The writer refers to the annexation of Texas being opposed by
some in Kentucky and in other States on the ground that a brighter

destiny awaited Texas as an independent State.

*0n the other hand, the more influential portion of the press of Ken-
tucky sided heartily with Texas. When news of the fall of Bexar
reached the State, editorials appeared calling upon the citizens of Ken-
tucky to aid the struggling Texans not only with sympathy but with
men and money. See Frankfort Argus, April 20, 1836.
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Orleans Bee: "But for Presidents Monroe and Adams, Texas

would long have been what she should be a State of the American

Union/'

T^^iile urging the propriety of a recognition of the independ-

ence of Texas bv the United States in the Senate of Kentucky, one

of the members used these words: "Kentucky has been to Texas

what France was to the British Colonies—she has furnished her

with soldiers and money and advocated her cause in the face of

the world/'^ A correspondent of the Louisville Public Advertiser

of June 2 writes : "'Kentucky may claim a large portion of the

glory acquired in the late decisive victory over Santa Anna on

the San Jacinto. We have felt and bled for the safety of our

brethren in Texas.

Both of these statements, though exaggerated, nevertheless, con-

tain an element of truth. Kentucky afforded the struggling

Texans moral and material assistance at a time when such aid was

urgently needed. With justice she might lay claim to no small

share of the "generous sympathy so abundantly manifested by the

people of the United States."-'^

^The Commonv:ealth, February 1, 1837. As for instance when the

lower house of the Kentucky Legislature passed a resolution instruct-

ing her representatives in Congress to vote in favor of recognition. It

may be noted that Clay was chairman of the Senate committee which
on June 18 reported in favor of the conditional acknowledgment of the

independence of Texas. Cf. Rather, "Recognition of the Republic of Texas
by the United States." in The Quartebly, XIII, 218.

"Kentiicly Gazette. June 6^ 1836.

^Burnet to Collinsworth and G-iayson. August 10, 1836. Garrison,

D'p. Cor. Tex., I. 210.
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THE APPEOACHES TO CALIFORNIA

FREDERICK J. TEGGART

The paramount interest of California history lies, not in the

vicissitudes of settlers in the country, but in the search for a

road thither. Tliere neither was nor is any short or easy way

of reaching El Dorado; and^ from the days of the conqueror of

Mexico to the present, the wrecks of lives and reputations have

been strewn along the many paths by which men have essayed to

reach this land.

In contrast with the coast of California—by which was once

designated the whole stretch from Cape San Lucas to Unalaska

—

the Atlantic seaboard of North America lies open to Europe. To

it there was but one line of approach for an expanding western

civilization, and the problem of this approach was solved once and

for all by Columbus and Cabot. Henceforward the nations

—

Spanish, Portuguese, English, French, or Dutch—might come,

for the way lay open and direct.

To the Pacific Coast, on the other hand, no direct approach

was possible. Between western Europe and California there lie,

not the oceans merely, but the great land masses of the globe.

These obstacles are the primary consideration in her history, which

assumes ever new aspects with the opening of new routes. The

history of the Spanish period is the record of land expeditions

from the south and of hazardous voyages on difficult and un-

charted coasts. The short period of Mexican domination wit-

nessed the coming of the Americans from the eastward overland

through the wilderness, and of new ventures on the coast by Amer-

ican ships. The conquest in 1846 was but the prelude to the

coming of the Argonauts by sea and land, over routes new and

old. The conditions created by this mad influx had scarcely been

reduced to order when a new chapter was opened with the comple-

tion of the first transcontinental railroad. Such, moreover, is the

recognition of the importance of these approaches that, in spreading

out the unwritten page for a newer chapter, the people of California

are preparing to mark its importance with the frontispiece of a

great international pageant.
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The history of the one hundred and forty years since the first

Europeans settled in California turns thus upon the approaches

by which men have reached her shores. Back of this period there

lie two and a quarter centuries of similar endeavor so that the

entire scope of European activity on the coast is unified by one

special interest.

To appreciate the significance of these endeavors it is necessary

to disabuse one's mind of the idea, expressed in its accepted form

by Bishop Berkeley, that the expansion of the nations follows the

path of the setting sun. This is an idea evidently born of the

movement across the Atlantic; and is one that could not possibly

have originated on the western side of the continent. From the

standpoint of the Pacific Ocean the question is not merely of

Spaniards and Englishmen crossing the Atlantic Ocean and the

American continent, but of Eussians making their way eastward

across Asia and leaving us a memorial of their ambitions in the

name of the Russian Eiver; and. further, of the hitherward over-

flowing of oriental nations that has created in perpetuitv the prob-

lem of Asiatic exclusion. i;\lien the time comes for a new inter-

pretation of the movements of expansion the old conception of a

western line of advance may give place to the idea that civiliza-

tion, spreading out from an original focus in eastern Asia, after

traversing equal distances to the east and to the west, is draw-

ing to a new focus on this spot which is opposite the first but on

the other side of the world.

It is unnecessary to dwell upon the fact that the earlier ex-

plorations of giTat land masses were, of necessity, made in ships.

The world of ancient history was confined to the shores of the

Mediterranean Sea : and even today, with all the modern facilities

for overland travel, the seaboards of the world are infinitely bet-

ter kn.own than the inland parts of the continents. Theoretically,

in. order to reach California from Europe, it was necessary, at the

beginning, to pass round either one or other of the two great land

masses of the globe. ' There were thus four possible approaches

:

the explorer might sail eastward to the north of Europe or to the

south of Africa; or he might sail westward to the north or to the

south of the American continent. One only of these four has been

used as a route to the Pacific Coast, though each of them has in

turn been tried. The northern routes are ice-bound, while that
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by "The Cape" presents no advantages over the South American

route to compensate for the greater length of the voyage it entails.

The route by Cape Horn was itself so long and hazardous that the

search for an available alternative was eagerly pursued. After

centuries of effort the only possible alternative—one first proposed

in 1523—is now being made ready by the government of the

United States.

The first explorations of the California coast were not depend-

ent, however, on the use of the long sea routes. They were the

inevitable sequel to the conquest of Mexico. The efforts of Cortes

disclosed no such wonders, however, as had been described by

Ordonez de Montalvo, and can scarcely be called successful from

any point of view. The two ships he sent out in 1532 never re-

turned. In 1533 the Concepcion and San Ldzaro discovered the

extremity of the peninsula, but were otherwise unfortunate. The

expedition of 1535, led by Cortes himself, landed at the bay of

Santa Cruz, possibly La Paz, but failed in the purpose of estab-

lishing a colony. Finally, the expedition under Francisco de

Ulloa, in 1539^ which was the supreme effort of Cortes, succeeded

in exploring the Gulf of California to its head and the outer coast

to about the latitude of 28°.

The viceroy, Antonio de Mendoza, next took up the burden of

northward exploration. To co-operate with Coronado in the search

for the famous Seven Cities of Cibola he sent Hernando d'Alarcon,

in 1540, by sea to the head of the gulf. Mendoza had no better

fortune than Cortes in discovering fabulous lands and cities, but

by his next venture, the expedition under Cabrillo and Ferrelo,

in 1542, the California coast was explored to 40° 26'. The return

of Ferrelo marks the conclusion of the first period of California

exploration—when next the scene opens interests of quite another

character are disclosed.

In 1566 Urdaneta crossed the Pacific Ocean from the Philippine

Islands to Mexico and demonstrated the practicability of this voy-

age. The route thus marked out brought the returning galleons

to the American coast in the vicinity of Cape Mendocino, and fur-

ther examination of the coast thus became a matter of necessity.

It required, however, the stimulus of Francis Drake to bring the

Spanish government to the point of ordering this exploration to

be made.
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Considering the great extent and complexity of Spanish inter-

ests in the old world and the new, it is scarcely just to attrihute

delay in any one particular undertaking to mere negligence. The

difference between the Spanish and English methods of colonizing

lay primarily in the fact that while England availed herself of th'*

initiative of her subjects and stepped in to take advantages of

their enterprise, Spain insisted that active initiative might come

only from the government. Thus it happened on this coast that,

time after time, the Spanish crown neglected to take important

steps that had been urgently recommended by officials in America,

until forced to do so by the energ}^ of the subjects of other powers.

WTiatever the policy of Spain may have been at any time in regard

to the north Pacific Coast, her activities may be traced in practi-

cally every instance to the movements of foreigners. Even the ex-

plorations of Cortes, inevitable as they would appear, were influ-

enced by his discovery in 1524 that a ship—presumably Portu-

guese from India—had been wrecked upon the Jalisco coast.

In was the voyage of Drake in 1579, followed by that of Ca-

vendish in 1588, that impelled the Spanish government to act

upon the recommendations that had been made for a fuller ex-

ploration of the California coast. The position of Spain in regard

to the coast might be described by saying that the possession of

Mexico gave her the advantage of interior lines of communication.

Drake, on the other hand, may be said to have turned the flank of

the Spanish position by demonstrating the feasibility of the long

detour round South America. The Pacific Ocean was henceforth

open to all Europeans, notwithstanding the strategic position oc-

cupied by the Spanish power. The attack made by Drake, partic-

ularly as it was followed up by Cavendish, was disconcerting, and

the more so as it was believed that he had actually found a North-

west passage back to England. Drake was in fact the precursor

of Cook in the search for such a passage from the Pacific side,

but he returned from his great venture by way of the Cape of

Good Hope. Of greatest interest, perhaps, is the fact that his

was the first voyage to California made directly from Europe, and,

in that sense, he opened the only approach generally available to

Europeans for nearly three centuries.

The voyages of Sebastian Vizcaino in 1596 and 1602 were the

Spanish reply to these English incursions into the Pacific Ocean.
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Vizcaino was directed to search for such a harbor as would be

suitable for Philippine ships to visit on the returning voyage

from Manila; and to discover, if possible, the strait to the At-

lantic. The highest point reached by the second expedition was

in the vicinity of Cape Blanco—42° or 43°. The ports of San

Diego and Monterey were visited and described, but nearly one

hundred and seventy years were to elapse before another Drake

could induce the Spanish government to act upon Vizcaino's re-

commendations.

It was not until the year 1768 that the Spanish authorities

took up the subject of colonizing Alta California where it had

been dropped in 1603. During this interval some progress had

been made towards establishing land routes northward through

the peninsula and by way of Pimeria Alta. These results were

due almost exclusively to the devotion of the Jesuit missionaries

—

particularly Father Kino. Exploration of the exterior coast there

had been none, though the sailing-directions of Gonzalez Cabrera

Bueno, published in Manila in 1734, show a very considerable

advance in knowledge. English seamen had touched the coast of

Lower California, especially in the earlier years of the eighteenth

century—William Dampier (1686, 1704, 1709), Woodes Eogers

(1709), George Shelvocke (1721)—but they had been more sin-

cerely interested in the movements of the Manila ships than in

making contributions to geographical knowledge.

When the Spanish government awakened ultimately to the need

of occupying Upper California the preparations were conducted

with so much vigor and determination as to indicate reasons of

the utmost urgency for the step. The reasons were, in brief, that

other nations were actively engaged in opening up approaches to

California. In 1768 the council that determined upon the imme-

diate occupation of San Diego and Monterey founded its opinion

in regard to the necessity of this undertaking upon the advances

that other nations were making towards this unoccupied territory.

The pressure thus exerted came from the four quarters of the

globe and California appears as the objective point towards which

not only Spain, but England, Russia, France, and Holland were

moving. The council referred specifically to the discoveries that

had been made eastward by Russia; to the efforts that France had

made westward from Canada, and which, since 1763, were being
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conTinued by England: to the search for the Xorthwest passage

conducted bv England not only from the Atlantic but from the

Pacific Ocean : to the intimate knowledge of the Pacific Coast that

had been acquired, on the one hand by Lord Anson, and on the

other by the Dutch coming from the East Indies.

The decision having been made, the risitador-general. Don

Joseph Galvez. took charge of despatching the California expedi-

tion of which Don Gaspar de Portola was appointed commander.

The force at Portola's disposal was divided into four parts—two

goiQg by land and two by sea. The divisions assembled at San

Diego, and. on the 14th of June, set out from that place in search

of the port of AI:n:erry. The expedition reached San Francisco

Bay in the first days of November, having been unable to identify

Alonierev from the descriptions of Vizcaino and Gonzalez Cabrera

Bueno. It was not. therefore, until the month of June. ITTO,

that a post was established at the latter port.

The founding of presidios and missions at San Diego and Mon-

terey did not wholly relieve the anxiety of the authorities in Mex-

ico, and. even before the additional explorations of the coast dur-

ing which Juan Manuel de Ayala sailed the San Carlos into San

Francisco Bay in 1^^D. it was c-onsidered necessary to send out a

ship to investigate the Piussian settlement* to the north. Accord-

ingly Juan Perez, in lTT-±, made a voyag-e in the Santiago to 54°

40', the southern extremity of Alaska. This was the first of a

very notable series of exploring exp^editions made with the pur-

pose of validating the Spanish claims to the entire c-oast. In

1"?5, Heceta an-i Bodega: in ITT'h. Arteaga and Bodega: m 17S8,

Martinez and Haro; in 1T90. E'isa, Fidalgo, and Quimper, com-

manded ships that reached the Alaska coast. The years 1TS9 and

1790 were full of activity on ac-count of the Xootka Sound con-

troversy: but before the actual conclusion of the incident, which

terminated Spain's interests north of California, Alejandro Mala-

spina, with the Descubierto. and Atrerid-a, had visited Xootka in

1791 during his voyage round the world, while Galiano and

Yaldes, in the SutU and Mexicana, made the last, and the best

known, of these expeditions in IT 92.

As a result of these voyages Spain is entitled to the honor of

having made the first explorations of the Pacific Coast as far

north, at least, as Queen Charlotte Island. Owing, unfortunately.
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to the secrecy of the Spanish government the records of the voy-

ages were not published—in fact have not yet been published

—

and the names given by the earliest explorers have not been re-

tained. From the point of view of Spanish territorial interests

these activities on the Northwest coast can only be regarded as

aggressive measures designed to protect the settlements in Cali-

fornia from the approach of other powers. In this they were en-

tirely successful—it was not until 1812, when the Spanish power

in America was nearing its end, that the Eussians founded the

colony in California that had been a subject of apprehension to

Galvez in 1768.

Of the four possible approaches to California, two, as I have

said, would naturally be sought eastward by the north of Europe

and westward by the north of America. The best energies of the

seafaring nations have been expended in the search for the North-

east and Northwest passages, and it has only been after demon-

stration beyond question of their impracticability that the neces-

sity of accepting overland substitutes has been admitted.

As early as 1553, and again in 1580, English ships were sent

out to search for a Northeast route to the Pacific Ocean. These

were followed by Dutch expeditions in 1594, 1595, and 1596 ;
but,

though many attempts were made, the accomplishment of the voy-

age was reserved for Nordenskjold in 1879.

The opening of the corresponding land route across Asia was

the step preliminary to Eussian activities in Northwestern Amer-

ica. The transcontinental advance beyond the Ural Mountains is

dated as beginning in 1578, and Okhotsk was reached in 1639,

"thus completing the march across the continent of Asia, in its

broadest part, in about sixty years." By 1706 the Eussians had

penetrated to the southern extremity of the peninsula of Kam-
chatka, and ten years later the Okhotsk Sea was crossed for the

first time.

The navigations in which we are more directly interested date

from 1728 when, by order of Peter the Great, Vitus Bering ex-

plored the eastern extremity of Asia. The second Eussian expedi-

tion was sent out by the empress Elizabeth. Six years were re-

quired to convey the men and materials across Siberia, so that it

was June 1741 before Bering and Chirikof sailed from Avatcha

Bay. The two vessels composing the expedition soon lost sight of
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each other with the result that the continent of America was dis-

covered independently by each ship. Chirikof made land at Bu-

careli Bay on July 15, while Bering reached the vicinity of Copper

River on July 20. The misfortunes and sufferings of the crews

were extreme, but while Chirikof succeeded in returning to Kam-
chatka, Bering died, December 8, 1741, on the island which now
bears his name.

The fur trade had led the Russians across Asia, and adventur-

ous spirits were at once attracted by it to the shores of Alaska, so

it came about that fur hunters played the same part of explorers

and pioneers on these northern coasts as in the western parts of

the United States. While it is unnecessary for my present pur-

pose to follow the exploration of the Alaska coast in detail, the

secret expedition of Krenitzen and Levashef, in 1768-69, may be

mentioned for the reason that it was contemporary with the Span-

ish expedition that resulted in the settlement of California. As

the undertaking had been set on foot by the empress Catherine in

1764 there is no improbability in supposing that information in

regard to it had been communicaed to his own government by the

Spanish ambassador in St. Petersburg.

There can, it seems to me, be no reasonable doubt that Russia,

at the beginning of the nineteenth century, cherished designs of

a far-reaching character in regard to the North Pacific Ocean.

Her interest was by no means confined to Alaska. Explorations

were systematically made on the Asiatic coast as far south as

Japan, and on the American coast as far south as Lower Cali-

fornia. Under Baranof, one of the most striking figures in Amer-

ican history, two positions were occupied in the Hawaiian Islands^

a fortified post was established in California—first at Bodega

Head, and later at Fort Ross—and hunting stations were main-

tained on the Faralones outside San Francisco Bay, and on the

islands ofl' Santa Barbara. Whatever projects there were, and

Russian commanders of the time in the Pacific speak with confi-

dence, the foothold in California was abandoned in 1841 ;
by 1854

proposals had been made to the United States for the cession of

Alaska, and the Russian empire in America came to an end in

1867. Thus the eastward yielded to the westward advance.

The search for the Northwest passage continued from 1497,

when John Cabot discovered the entrance to Hudson Strait, until
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1907, when Amundsen completed his four years' voyage by sailing

into San Francisco Bay. It is an interesting illustration of the

view here set forth that the ship in which the navigation of the

Northwest passage was finally accomplished now floats nnon a pond

in Golden Gate Park.

Up to the beginning of the eighteenth century so little had

been done towards elucidating the geography of the north and

northwest of America that it would be unsuitable, in the present

instance, to go into details respecting the earlier explorations.

The activity shown by Peter the Great in sending out Bering was

not confined to Eussia, the commercial ambitions of other Euro-

pean nations, particularly England and France, led, at the same

period, to world-wide explorations looking to the development of

foreign trade. As one of the great unexplored areas of the globe

was the Pacific Ocean, it was inevitable that the search for a North-

west passage would be taken up again with renewed vigor. The

new advocate of the quest was Arthur Dobbs, and owing to his

persistence three expeditions were sent out before the middle of

the century. The Hudson's Bay Company equipped two ships

which sailed in 1737 but never returned. The English govern-

ment detailed two ships in 1741 which did not get beyond the

confines of Hudson's Bay. Finally, Dobbs succeeded in raising

sufficient money by public subscription to send out two ships more

in 1746. One of these Dobbs named the California, thus indicat-

ing the further object of the undertaking; and it is of interest to

know that the scheme for which Dobbs could obtain such gen-

erous support contemplated that "if a discovery should be made

of this passage, ... a considerable settlement should be made

in California ; . . . that settlement should be made the rendez-

vous for all ships going from or returning to Europe, . . . and

should be the head settlement, as Batavia is to the Dutch in India,

and from hence the trade m.ight spread to Asia, India, Mexico,

and Peru; and from this place the islands in the great South Sea

might be discovered, and a commerce be begun with them."

The exploration of the South Sea did not wait upon the chart-

ing of a Northwest passage. After Anson's voyage (1740). B^Ton

(1764), Wallis and Carteret (1766), and Captain Cook (1768,

1772, 1776) continued the work he had commenced of exploring

the Pacific Ocean—and of alarming the Spanish authorities in
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regard to the safety of their possessions. Cook^s third vo3^age was

made for the purpose of examining the northwest coast for a pas-

sage or strait to the Atlantic ; this was not found, but the indirect

result of the voyage was the beginning of the fur trade on the

northwest coast by English and American ships. The opposition

of the Spanish authorities in Mexico to this trade led to the Nootka

Sound controversy which gave world-wide prominence to the north-

west coast and terminated Spain's claims to sovereignty north of

California. Before the Nootka affair had been finally settled be-

tween England and Spain the United States had acquired a first

footing on the Pacific through the discovery of the Columbia

Eiver by Captain Gray on May 11, 1792. The next year, more-

over, the continent was crossed for the first time.

The progress of the French across the continent that gave con-

cern to Galvez and the junta of 1768 in the city of Mexico, reached

its farthest point west in La Yerendrye's discovery of the Eocky

Mountains in January, 1743. Years elapsed, however, before this

discovery was followed up, and then it was by English fur traders.

In 1769 Samuel Hearne was sent out by the Hudson's Bay Com-

pany and before his return in 1772 had reached the Arctic Ocean

at the mouth of the Coppermine Eiver. In 1789 Alexander Mac-

kenzie, a member of the Northwest Company, explored to its

mouth the river that bears his name; four years later he crossed

the Canadian Eockies and reached the Pacific Ocean opposite

Queen Charlotte Island on the 22d of July, 1793.

It was not Mackenzie's route, however, but that of Lewis and

Clark that proved to be the long-sought substitute for the north-

westerly route to California. The line of approach in the latter

case was by the Missouri Eiver, which had previously been ex-

plored as far as the Mandan nation in North Dakota by the sub-

jects of Spain in Upper Louisiana. Lewis and Clark made the

overland journey from St. Louis to the mouth of the Columbia

Eiver and return between 1804 and 1806. In reality the Ameri-

can approach to California involves the entire history of the "west-

ward movement" from ocean to ocean. By this expedition, joined

with the purchase of Louisiana in 1803, it was advanced to the

Pacific Ocean. With the acquisition of Louisiana fur traders and

trappers overran the new territory and penetrated again beyond

the contiguous Spanish frontier. So by the end of the third de-
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cade of the nineteenth century the first beginnings of the over-

land stream of American immigration appear in California in the

persons of Jedediah Smith (1826) and the two Patties (1828).

The contrast between the Spanish and English methods of col-

onization are nowhere more apparent than in the respective ap-

proaches of the Spaniard and American to California. Not so

much as an adventurer had penetrated to Alta California from the

southward when in 1769, an expedition under the direct auspices

of a minister of the crown, led by an officer in the Spanish army,

accompanied by friars duly appointed as missionaries, set out for

the purpose of establishing a government at Monterey and San

Diego, l^ot until the machinery was installed did the authorities

in Mexico turn their attention to promoting settlement.

On the American side a period of conflict with Spanish neigh-

bors across the Mississippi was ended suddenly by the Louisiana

purchase. American frontiersmen and traders instantly crossed

the river to exploit the new land, and within a quarter of a cen-

tury had opened paths into every part of it. Where these adven-

turers led the American government followed—^tardily. So in

Oregon there arose the curious anomaly of a joint occupancy, while

the American settlers in Texas had erected and maintained an in-

dependent government before their own extended its protection

over them. The American approach to California was begun by

individuals making their way there by sea round the Horn and

overland across the continent; it was made effective by the estab-

lishment of American government in Oregon and Texas. When
this had been accomplished it was obvious that a continued hold

by Mexico on this territory was strategically impossible.

Nevertheless a great barrier of mountains, chasms, and deserts

lay between California and the country east of the Kocky Moun-

tains and it is not at all certain that a Pacific Republic would not

have arisen if the railroad had not provided a new approach.

In the long run, however, it has been realized that something

more than a railroad is necessary—a country can not be colonized

effectively on the basis of the expenditure incidental to trans-

continental travel. Hence it is that the discovery of a route by

water has lost none of its importance with time. We go back

now in the twentieth century to create the route dreamed of in the

sixteenth century, and utilized in anticipation, one might say, by
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the buccaneers of the seventeenth. The canal at Panama has

many justifications but principally is it important^ in the eyes of

a Californian, because it brings Europe as near as is physically

possible to his own shores.

I have now indicated the lines of approach that have been fol-

lowed by Europeans in reaching the remote coast of California.

With the other half of the subject, the lines of approach by which

the peoples of Asia have reached the same place, it is not a present

intention to speak further than to say that the expansion of ori-

ental nations has more than once brought European civilization

to the test, and that the brunt of a great oriental expansion con-

fronts this western outpost of European civilization. It can not

be supposed that laws of our own promulgation will of themselves

afford us protection when the dense masses of China, for example,

discover that the barrier of the ocean is no longer impassable.
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COREESPONDENCE FROM THE BRITISH ARCHIVES
CONCERNING TEXAS, 1837-1846

EDITED BY EPHRAIM DOUGLASS ADAMS

III

ABEEDEEN TO ELLIOT^

No 17. Foreign Office

November 3d. 1842.

Sir,

With reference to my Despatch No 15 of the 3d. ultimo upon

the subject of the Relations between Mexico and Texas, I inclose

to you, for your information Copies of a communication which I

have received from Mr Ashbel Smith, and of a correspondence

which I have held with Her Majesty^s Ambassador at Paris, hav-

ing reference to that subject.^

Aberdeen.

Captain Elliot. R. N.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 18.

^This corresipondence treats of the project of joint mediation between
Mexico and Texas, by England, France, and the United States. Aberdeen
decMned to join in this, stating England's preference to act alone. The
enclosures were:

(1) Smith to Aberdeen, August 19, 1842. (In Garrison, Diplomatic
Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, III, 1011, in Am. Hist. Assoc.
Report, 1908, II,—but the date there given is "August 15 (?)." In this

was enclosed copy of Smith to Guizot, August 15, 1842. (In Idem., Ill,

1387.)

(2) Aberdeen to Cowley, No. 147, October 15, 1842. Aberdeen here
stated that England, carrying out the plan of her treaties with Texas,

had already offered mediation, but had met with no encouragement, and
that since Mexico was at the moment angry at an alleged violation of

neutrality by the United States, more miglit probably be accomplished

by similar individual action, than by joint action. He enclosed to Cow-
ley correspondence to show that there was little present prospect of

Mexican acquiescence in the proposed mediation. These letters were:

Aberdeen to Pakenham, No. 21, July 1, 1842; and No. 24, July 15, 1842;

Pakenham to Aberdeen, No. 80 (September?), 1842.

(3) Cowley to Aberdeen, No. 349, October 24, 1842. For comment on
the proposed tripartite mediation, see Adams, British Interests and Ac-

timties in Texas, 117-119.
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ELLIOT TO ADDIXGTOX^

Private. Galveston. Xovember loth. 1842

My Dear Sir^

I have to acknowledge and thank yon for Yonr Xote of the 3d

Ultimo.^ The President is General Houston of your acquaintance,

and I am sure that your friendly recollection of him will afford

him great pleasure. His career during too large an interval be-

tween that time and this, has been strange and wild. Defiance of.

and expulsion from a branch of the Legislature of which he was

a ^Member, a domestic tempest of desperate violence, and calam-

itous consequences, habitual drunkeness. a residence of several

years amongst the Cherokee Indians, ruling amongst them as a

Chieftain, and begetting sons and daughters, a sudden reappear-

ance on this Stage with better hopes and purpases, and commen-

surate success, but still with unreclaimed habits.

Finally however, a new Connexion with a young and gentle

woman brought up in the fear of God: conquered no doubt as

women have been from the beginning and will be to the end by

a glosing tongue, but in good revenge making conquest of his

habits of tremendous cursing, and passionate love of drink. What-

ever General Houston has been, it is plain that He is the fi.ttest

man in this Countr}- for his present station. His educ-ation has

been imperfect, but he possesses great sagacity and penetration,

surprising tact in his management of men trained as men are in

these parts, is perfectly pure handed and moved in the main by

the inspiring motive of desiring to connect his name with a

Xation's rise. Adverting to his general safe and reasonable pol-

icy with respect to Mexico, it must certainly be admined that

He sometimes says and writes what appears to be capricious and

contradictory.

But the truth is that He knows his own people thoroughly, and

when He seems to be running with them. He is probably satisfied

-F. 0., Texas, Vol. 4.

-Xot found. Presiimablv a private letter, but apparently in response

Elliot began the series of unofficial letters to Addington, which convey

his personal impressions and opinions in regard to Texan matters. He
no doubt understood that these letters were to reach the foreign office,

and in fact they were filed with the formal, official despatches addressed

to Aberdeen.
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that opposition would only provoke their precipitate purposes.

With hard fare at the point of assembly, skilful delays on the part

of the President, and an abundant measure of mutual laudation,

the fit passes away innocently enough.

—

You desire me to remark that the release of the "Montezuma,"

and the disallowance of the Blockade are not to be taken as evi-

dences of ill will to Texas or partiality to Mexico There will be

no difficulty in making the President understand this because his

conceptions are founded upon larger notions of direct motives, and

straight proceedings than those of most men in this Eepublic. In

regard to the public, the case is different. The suspiciousness of

the United States races, and absurd imputation of the policy and

conduct of our Government to recondite Motives, and perfidious

purposes, afford unhappily the most convincing and distressing

proof of their own twistiness and unfriendly feeling. They can-

not believe in open or fair dealing, because, speaking generally,

they are without the ideas or impulses which makes such conduct

intelligible. The consequence of this moral and blundering blind-

ness is manifesting itself just now amongst the good folks of

Texas in a pretty general belief that Her Majesty's Government

are sitting early and late in London, debating to and fro, how to

compass the strangulation of this young Hercules, and it is prob-

able that we shall have some songs to that tune during the ap-

proaching Session of Congress.

Driven away by some of those springs of local politics, feuds

and jealousies, which run into such long streams of talk and

knavis [h] ness, on this side of the Atlantic, and are so insignifi-

cent and unintelligible every where else, the President has con-

vened Congress to assemble at Washington on the Brazos, where

there are 12 or 13 Wooden shanties, and to which place there are

no means of getting except in an ox train, or on a Bat horse. My
worthy American Colleague Mr. Eve, who is suffering from indis-

position, has requested me to wait till He is well enough to accom-

pany me, for the sake of Company, and better protection against

Indians, or Mexicans, or wild beasts, and we are then to set forth

to this Legislature in the Provinces with such appointments to do

Honor to our respective Countries, as may find place in two pair

of Sriddle Bags.—The President writes to me in a private Note

a few days since, that He finds things at Washington rather raw
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and as He has been accustomed to the elaborate comforts and lux-

uries of an Indian Wigwam, I presume he must l^e living in a

commodious excavation.

Meditating on the situation and prospect of this Country, and

other interests connected with it, I cannot help lamenting more

and more that free labor has not been its foundation Stone. The

advantages to the Country itself would have been vast indeed, not

merely on the results springing from Men's sense that they were

laboring for their own and their Childrens' advantage, not merely

in beginning upon sound, instead of rotten principles, not merely

in drav.'ing to the land much larger proportions of the orderly and

enterprizing settlers from the free States of the American Union

rather than the reckless people of the South, but because imme-

diately considered it would have left Texas cle^r of a very dan-

gerous state of circumstances, if the Mexicans do invade the Coun-

try, and indeed I cannot but think that to have made Texas a fine

State, would have been at once to disarm the hostility of Mexico

against it's consolidation, and advancement.

Texas, with a free population would of course have been an

object of great dislike and suspicion to the South Western States

of America, and therefore an effectual barrier between them and

Mexico. And it is manifestly the permanent interest of this

Country to cultivate more intimate and friendly relations with the

people and things Westward of the Eio Grande, than with those

East of the Sabine. If wise Councils could be heard here, I think

they point to a course which it may not yet be too late to pursue,

and which I do fairly believe would be attended with vast advan-

tages to this Country, to our own substantial concernment, and to

the great interests of humanity. My scheme supposes another

Convention in this Country. Slavery to be abolished, the entire

abolition of political disabilities upon people of Colour, perfectly

free trade to be declared to be a fundamental principle; the right

of voting to depend upon a knowledge of reading and writing, and

a pretty high money contribution to the State, with the payment

charge to be made in advance, Congress to have power to lower

the rate from time to time according to the state of the public

necessities; stringent legislation against squatting, in the form of

a land tax and otherwise, improvements upon the well established
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failure and folly of a yearly elected Legislature and other liberal-

ity of the rhodomontade school.

It seems to be scarcely doubtful that the Northern and North

Eastern part of Mexico, from Tampico on the East Coast, to San

Bias on the West, (involving the most important parts of the

Country) would soon find it their interest to join a State founded

upon such principles, or at all events constrain their own Govern-

ment with the adoption of an equally liberal scheme of Commer-

cial policy.

Foreign Merchants, foreign Capital, and foreign enterprize and

principles would soon find their way into those great and rich

regions by peaceful means, and the power of the United States

on this Continent would be gradually balanced, and yet v/ithout

motive for collision; Indeed it seems possible enough that the

North Eastern States would not be disturbed to see the power of

the South and West effectually limited, and a bound marked, be-

yond which Slavery could not advance. In all such speculation

the question immediately presents itself how it is reasonable to

expect that a Legislature of Slave Holders will ever consent to

make a present sacrifice for a prospective and remote advantage.

I have had much experience of such bodies and I know that they

talk violently of holding on to their property to the last gasp, of

the lawfulness of the System, of the sanction of it in the Bible,

Abraham's Slaves. J. L.' and then there are always many hard

words about Irish Slaves and press gangs and the like. But in

the main, their circumstances make them a timid and needy people,

and ready enough to compound reasonably for a monied consid-

eration

Neither do I doubt that a sufficient loan could be readily raised

in England to enable this Government to compensate the present

Slave Holders, upon the frank and full adoption of such a system

as I have spoken of. I attach great importance to the entire

abolition of disability upon people of Colour. Such a Stipulation

would at once bring into this Eepublic tens of thousands of most

abused and intelligent people from the United States, and would

he exceedingly agreeable to a very influential and wealthy party

^Meaning uncertain. Possibly should be read V. L., meaning vide

.locum; or I. L., meaning in loco.
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in our own Country. The present conjuncture is particularly

favorable for the Commercial part of the scheme, by reason of the

late foolish tariff in the United States.^ Your kind note has

enabled me to trouble you with new thoughts, inadequately ex-

pressed, and clumsily thrown together, but I beg you to believe

not hastily adopted. In a former part of my Official career I had
much reason to think upon the subject of Slavery, and to watch

it's effects, and I have long since formed the opinion that bad as

it is to the enslaved, it is ten times worse to the enslaver, and to

the Country in which it obtains. It is a rot at the heart of

society, debasing the Master Classes more and more, robbing pros-

perity of all sense of security, and frightfully aggravating the

calamities and the risks of adversity.

I am perfectly sensible that it does not consist with the prin-

ciples or policy of Her Majesty's Government to interfere with

the Institutions of other Countries, and I feel I need scarcely say

to you that situated as I am I should guardedly abstain from

offering any opinion here upon this Subject. If I were approached

upon it, and you are perfectly aware that it is just one of those

topics upon which the motives and purposes of H. M. Govemt.

are so absurdly misconceived about, I should say, that Her Maj-

esty's Government would of course expect a faithful fulfilment of

the Slave treaty with this or any other Country, that the abhor-

rence of the British Nation to the system of Slavery in The

Queen's Dominions, had been manifested before the whole world

by a costly sacrifice, but that nothing could be further from the

intentions of Her Majesty's Government than to interfere with

the Institutions of other Countries. It has occurred to me that

it might be useful if Lord Aberdeen would be pleased to give me
authority to pay a visit to Mexico on leave of absence, if I saw

reason to think that my representations on that question might

smooth away some of the difficulty in the adjustment of this mis-

chevious contest, but in making this remark I take the liberty to

say that I have no personal wishes upon the subject, and have

merely mentioned it because I consider it my duty to declare what-

ever I think may be of advantage to the public Service. I feel

assured that you will accept this declaration literally.

^The tariff of August, 1842, which raised duties above twenty per cent.
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It is the bare tnith that personally speaking I am weary of

going and coming, and would think it my greatest blessing if I

had when [been] invitted to sit down (upon the most modest foot-

ing) for the rest of my days very far off from public life or poli-

tics of any kind. I hope you will not consider this tedious letter

to be an intrusion, that the conjuncture with respect to this

Country is so important that I conclude you will be content to

hear [more] advice upon the subject, than might be the case, if

it had passed through it's troubles.

Charles Elliot.

To H. U". Addington, Esqr. etc.

P. S. If any North American Mails should come to you after

the arrival of this one conveying these letters without communica-

tions from me, perhaps you will be so good as to ascribe the omis-

sion to my absence at Washington. Communications between that

place and the Coast are quite uncertain.—May I beg you to offer

my best respects to Lord Aberdeen and Lord Canning

Charles Elliot

KEITNEDY TO BIDWELL^

Liverpool, November 16th, 1842.

Sir.

I beg to inform you that I shall embark today at Liverpool for

New Orleans, on my way to my post at Galveston.

William Kennedy.

John Bidwell, Esq. etc.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

Secret. Galveston November 16th. 1842.

My Lord,

A private letter from the President of which the inclosed is a

copy has this moment reached me, and as the Steam Boat is

upon the point of sailing to New Orleans, I have no time to offer

any observations upon the Subject ; but it must be unnecessary to

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 3.

''F. O., Texas, Vol. 4.
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say to Your Lordship that I am prepared for any Service which,

may be committed to me.

The indisposition of my Colleague Mr. Eve has detained me
here at his request till He should be well enough to accompanv

me to Washington, where however we siiall pr-x-eed in the coiu'sc

of a day or two.

Affairs remain in the Situation reported in my last despatches.

Charity EUi.^t.

To the Eight Honorable.

The Earl of Aberdeen^ K. T. et€.

ROUSTOX TO ELLIOT^

[Enclosure.]

Private. Washington 5th. Xovember 1842

My Dear Sir.

I am about to present a suggestion to You. and I hope it will

claim your indulgent c-onsideration. It is quit^ novel in irs char-

acter and would to one, not perfectly acquainted with my direct

way of business, require some apology.

You are aware of my intense anxiety for peace with Mexico.

To obtain it I do not care to pursue formal means. I know

of no Gentleman, whose agency in my estimation would go farther

in the attainment of the objec-t than your own were it possible to

obtain vour personal Services. Should it be agreeable for you

to be so employed I am well aware that the permission of Your

Government (of Her Majesty The Queen) will be necessary. This

you could do, if you may deem it proper, and the sacrifice is not

too great upon your part. I can claim nothing on behaK of My
Country or myself individually of Captain Elliot, but I desire to

hope evervrhing for Texas.

I had the pleasure to peruse your despatch to the State Depart-

ment, and regret the bearing which attached to a portion of the

protest. It will be rec-tified forthwith. It vras owing as I pre-

sume to a misapprehension of the revocation of the Blockade on

the part of the Acting Secretary of State-, as I feel pretty well

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 4.
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assured;, that as the Archives had not arrived, that He could not

refer to the Proclamation, and I am not certain, as He had been

absent that He had ever seen it; as we had no Mails to the East-

ward, where He was at the time it was promulgated.

N"othing conclusive has been heard of the treaty with the In-

dians, but as usual I hope for the best.

As Congress is called to convene on the 14th Inst, it will afford

me great pleasure to see Her Majesty's Charge d'Affaires. It will

be of much importance to Texas if you could be here one or two

days previous to the 14th.

Mrs. H. as well as myself have been quite indisposed for some

ten or fifteen days, but are now pretty well with a hope of better

health.

It will afford me much pleasure to hear from you by Mr. Scott

on his return. I have many thanks to render you for past favors.

And beseech you to regard me as faithfully Thine.

Sam. Houston.

The Honble. Charles Elliot, etc.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN 1

No. 15.2 Houston. November 24th. 1842.

My Lord.

In reply to Your Lordship's despatch No. 16 of the 18th Ultimo,

I have now the honor to transmit the requested information, and

I remain.

Charles Elliot.

To the Right Honorable

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T. etc.

^F. O., Texas, Vol. 4.

^No. 14, Elliot to Aberdeen, acknowledging receipt of dispatches, is

omitted.
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The whole force came out under American Colours, as Mer-

chant Vessels, bringing freight and Passengers; But with their

Armament in their respective holds, completely fitted, and ready

to go into their places; Powder, shot, stores, and provisions, for

six Months.

With the exception of the Steamer "Zavala" the whole Squad-

ron was supnlied by the firm of "Wm. Dawson & Co. of Balti-

more"; British Subjects by birth, but I am una,ble to say whether

they have not assumed the privileges of Citizens of the United

States.

The Steam Vessel Zavala was supplied by Samuel Hamilton of

Charleston

Charles Elliot.

Houston Novr. 24th. 1842.

ABERDEEN TO ELLIOT^

Draft. F. 0. Deer. 3. 1842.

Captn. Elliot.

No. 19.

Sir,

I have to acquaint You in reply to Your Despatch No. 5 of the

1st of September, addressed to Mr. Addington, that under the

circumstances therein stated, H. M's Govt, approve of Your resid-

ing "usually at G-alveston, instead of Austin; And in the present

"unsettled state of the Country, I leave it to your discretion to

reside, according to circumstances, wherever You may consider

Your presence most conducive to the Interests intrusted to Your

Charge.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

Private. Galveston. December 11th, 1842.

My Dear Sir.

Since I had the pleasure of writing to you on the 15th Ultimo,

I have been to Washington, but my stay there was shortened by

the necessity of returning for advice and care on account of a bad

^F. O., Texas, Vol. 4. The letter is unsigned.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 4.
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accident which befell me on the way up—The Steam boat in which

we were going to Houston struck the ground at night, and the

tarpaulin leaven within me moved me to go out, and watch the peo-

ple heaving her off. A hatch had been carelessly left open, and I

stepped down into the hold; a friendly bale of cotton bringing

me up with just jerk enough to dislocate a rib.

For the first day or two I did not feel the pain very acutely, and

being anxious to see the President, I thought that with fast brac-

ing, and lacing, and gentle riding I might bear the stress of the

journey, but I find now that it would have been more prudent to

take the Doctor^s urgent advice, and abide at Houston. At least

50 Miles of the way was through a quick sandy bog, and rough

riding, and a Blanket on the plank (which last retirement I pre-

ferred to half Judge his bed!!) have not helped me. However I

am one of the best practised men of my time to strange accidents,

and hard nibs of all kinds, and I hope to come straight enough

again, for all that is come and gone.

I found as I anticipated that the President needed no explana-

tion respecting the release of the "Montezuna" and the disallow-

ance of the blockade. He said he would detail to me what he

understood to be the Motives of Her Majesty's Government, and

He had certainly perfectly apprehended them. Being upon the

topic. He requested me to present his Compliments to Lord Aber-

deen, and say that the tone of Mr. Ashbell Smith's correspondence

relating to the release of the "]\Iontezuna" had been a Subject of

much concern to him. That Gentleman's natural and laudable

anxiety for the interests of his Country had rather hurried and

misled him, but He owed it to him to state that his subsequent

communications to Texas had frankly and fully admitted his own

error.^ The President for his own part knew the British Govern-

ment never meant any thing else than it said, and never performed

less than it promised. He had the most abiding confidence in the

Neutral professions, and very friendly dispositions of Her Maj-

estys Government.

^No evidence has been found that Smith made such an admission, but

Houston did mildly state his disapproval of Smith's vigor in the affair

of the Montezuma and Gioadalupe (Terrell to Smith, December 7, 1842.

Garrison, Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, III, 1057;

in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report, 1908, II.)
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He then took occasion to place in my hand a letter marked

"Private and Confidontiar^ from General Hamilton dated at

Washington in the United States sometime in the Month of Octo-

her.^ That Gentleman stated that He had recently had some Con-

versation with General Almonte, the Mexican Minister in the

United States, upon the subject of the difficulties between Mexico

and Texas, and thought He was reasonably disposed, rather

than otherwise. General Hamilton concludes with the offer to

be useful through that Channel, in any way that the President

might suggest. The President wished it to be said to Lord Aber-

deen that He entirely disclaimed this interference upon the part

of General Hamilton. He [Houston] had direct official relations

with this Government, [Great Britain] disposed to be helpful to

Texas, and He considered it particularly due to Lord Aberdeen

and to himself, to disavow all proceedings of the kind. He would

employ no other channels of Communication than Official and

responsible, and General Hamilton's proposal was the contrary of

suitable or agreeable to him. As nearly as I can remember that

was General Houston's express language, and He particularly

requested that it should be conveyed to Lord Aberdeen as soon as

convenient. I mentioned to him (with reference to his private

letter to me forwarded in my Second Despatch to Lord Aberdeen

of the 16th Ultimo) that I had sent it to England, and was of

course ready for any course Her Majesty's Government might

sanction.

He expressed himself very obligingly to me, and said that He
had a belief that my visit to Mexico would be productive of ad-

vantage to this Country, and further the purposes of Her Maj-

esty's Government. Whilst I was at Washington I spoke both to

the President and the Attorney General upon the absolute neces-

sity of adjusting the long delayed claims for the "Eliza Eussell"

and "Little Pen." They both assured me that the tirst should be

settled as soon as the Governt. could lay its hand upon a few dol-

lars, which I must know they had not done since my arrival in

the Countr}^ With respect to the second, Mr. Terrell shewed me
an opinion He had given just before my arrival upon a claim pre-

^See two letters from Hamilton to Houston, November 6 and 25, 1842,

in Garrison, Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, I, 638-

640; in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report, 1907, II.
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ferred by the Agents of Mesr. F. Lizardi, and Co., and excused

himself and the Secy, of State for not acknowledging my note

upon the subject, upon the plea of absence from the Seat of Gov-

ernment, and the removal of the papers from Houston. He did

not say so, but I have otherwise reason to believe that they hoped

to have been able to settle the claim for the "Eliza Russell" before

this, and I presumed that they were averse to write till they could

promise payment upon that account.

The case of the "Little Pen" is not free of difficulty, but it will

be my duty to communicate upon this Subject Officially by the

next opportunity, and therefore I say no more at present. These

despatches cany you the President's Message to Congress.^ He
did me the favor to read it to me before it was submitted, and

asked me what I thought of his finance scheme. I told him I was

a very inadequate judge of such matters, but I must frankly admit

that I could not think it would be efficacious. It appeared to me
that the Cherokee land was no sufficient basis for the support of

the Exchequer Bills in the Market. In the present state of this

Country there was no raising funds upon the best improved land

in the Republic; with the best titles, and in the least disturbed

parts of it and therefore, casting no disparagement upon the Cher-

okee lands, it certainly seemed to me that their value was of rather

too prospective a nature to serve as a solid foundation for an

actual paper issue. So far as I could judge from all I had seen,

or read, the single course for a Governt. and Country in the Sit-

uation of Texas was to be as economical as possible, to adhere

with unfailing honesty to the declaration, and determination to

pay their debts whenever they could, and to promote trade and

industry by every means of encouragement.

In this view I had much hoped that the President would advise

Congress to repeal the dishonest Bill of the July Session,^ which

would have the eifect of making the Exchequer Notes receivable

for Customs Imposts at their full value, then I thought that with

resolutions of Congress forbidding the issue of another Dollar

^President Houston's message is dated December 1, 1842. {Journals of

the House of Representatives of the Seventh Congress of the RepuUic of

Texas, 10-28.)

—

Editors of The Quartebly.

=The bill referred to by Elliot is "An act to regulate the collection of

impost duties," approved July 23, 1842. (Gammel, Laws of Texas, II,

812.)

—

Editors of The Quarterly.
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until the whole amount in circulation fell within such an amount

as would be absorbed by the duties within a period of three Months,

and future monthly publicity of the amount issued, and the

amount absorbed, He might expect to keep up the value within

some reasonable distance of a specie value. I had also hoped to

see a recommendation to sweep away the ton-nage duty, which was

no more than a device to prevent ships from coming to Texas, and

to enhance the value of imports to a people that could ill enough

afford to pay for them at the minimum price, at which they could

be supplied. The tariff too at it's present rate (an average of at

least 25 per Cent over the general mass of imports) might be low-

ered more than 50 per Cent, with great advantage to the revenue,

and to the Consumer—And I could not fhelp] thinking it, would

be worthy of his general wise course of policy to advise Congress

to declare that it was expedient to lower the tariff to such a point

as would serve to pay the expence of noting exports and imports

for Statistical purposes and no more, as soon as the people had

the common sense to pay their land and direct taxes, so that the

Government mJght be supported in the way best suited to them

on weU understood interests.

The President required that the Custom duties at their present

high rate should be paid in Gold and Silver, but I could not per-

ceive how the Merchants were to get their Gold and Silver. They

could only purchase it by bringing in less goods, and He must

excuse me for saying (seeing that I was weak of stomach, and

could not easily digest the modification of Sawdust, which they

call "Corn bread", that is bread made of Indian Corn) that flour,

and coffee, and sugar, and clothes, were to the full as useful as

Gold and Silver. The Merchants were already obliged to wait

nearly two years for the produce returns for the goods they sup-

plied to the Planters, and if those goods was to be charged with

25 per Cent more in the price, which would be at least necessary

to cover the cost of the Gold and Silver duty payment, it seemed

to me that they would all find a remedy for the mischief, by keep-

ing the whole trade of the Country the wrong side of the Custom

Houses.

The President answered this with a form of expression which

He often uses
—"My dear Commodore as soon as I have hung a
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dozen of these Smugglers, we will have no more of it; only let

me execute them^ Sir, and we shall get onr revenues quite stead-

ily/^ I said that I did not pretend to dispute that hanging might

be a very good thing in it's way, but I remarked that a very vener-

able Sovereign in whose Dominions I had passed several years

of my life, and where the Laws were generally respected to the

full as energetically as they are disregarded in other places, had

tried the experiment of hanging, drawing and quartering for this

peccadillo, wholly without effect. I believe He would be disposed

to admit on reflection that the history of the whole world had

found that Smuggling had always beat various fiscal systems, after

immense loss, and great mischief of other kinds to the Govern-

ments and people where they had obtained. He shook his head

at this, and was not prepared to agree with me—the truth is that

General Houston has two sides to his understanding, one very

clear indeed, and the other impenetrably dark. Let him speak of

men, on public affairs, or the tone and temper of other Govern-

ments, and no one can see farther, or more clearly. The moment

He turns to finance or fiscal arrangements, you find that he has

been groping on the dark side of his mind.

I feel that I should offer you an excuse for troubling you so

long upon this topic, but I cannot but think that it is an object

of very considerable importance that this Country (situated as

it is), should be launched upon sound principles in this respect.

With Mexico upon one side, and the United States upon the other,

it is much to be wished they should establish their own Commercial

footing upon a sound basis.—A subject upon which General Hous-

ton's policy and personal feeling is particularly honorable and wise

is the treatment of the Indians. He has adverted to it with his

usual liberality on this occasion, and I cannot help thinking that

it would fortify him in such purpose, and be attended with good

general consequences, if Lord Aberdeen would notice that point

in any manner that might seem suitable to His Lordship.—The

most tremendous crime of these modern times is the treatment of

the Indians on this Continent. Bobbers and Murderers pronounce

IJiat the civilized man cannot live in peace with the Indian, and

the whole Christian world accepts the precious falsehood, as one

of the undeniable and inscrutable truths of God's way upon Earth.

In at least eight cases out of ten, the first perfidy as well as the
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first rapine is on the side of the Civilized savage, and then of

course, there is nothing for it but to kill these poor wretches, or

to be killed by them.

I am cordially for the President's favorite remedy in the case

of outrage to Indians. You will judge by the general tone of His

Message that we are in a sorry, and very inflamed condition, but

they do not appear to be in a much sounder state in Mexico, and

sure I am that Texian means of defence are more to be depended

upon, than Mexican means of offence.-—But it would be a wise and

a great policy to put peace between them, starting this Country

upon principles that would gradually detach her from the United

States connexion, and bind her to the Countries South West of

Her, enduringly—Eeflection strengthens me in the persuasion that

such a combination is practicable,—and I hope I am not stepping

beyond my place in expressing the opinion, that it is a policy rec-

ommended by very high considerations.

Free labor, and a steady Government at this point, would make

it a station of great interest, on a theatre of great and growing

importance. I am almost ashamed to forward you this letter, but

with a hard hand at the best, I would add, that it is painful to

me . . much just now, and I write with more difficulty

than usual. Eequesting your excuse

—

And begging you to present my respects to Lord Aberdeen, and

Lord Canning.

Charles Elliot.

H. U. Addington, Esqre. etc.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

No. 18. Galveston December. 14th. 1842

My Lord,

During my recent visit to Washington I took an opportunity to

call Mr. Terrell's attention to the note which I had addressed to

this Government on the 26th September upon the subject of the

^Illegible.

-F. 0., Texas, Vol. 4. No. 16, Elliot to Aberdeen, enclosing Hoiisiton's

Message of December 1, 1842; and No. 17, enclosing copy of letter Terrell

to Elliot, October 16, 1842, are omitted.
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claims for the "Eliza RusselF' and "Little Pen/'^ He requested

that the removal of the Government from Houston, and Mr.

Jones's and his own absence on other service might excuse the

want of reply to that communication, but I was assured both by

the President and himself that there was great anxiety to adjust

the claim for the "Eliza EusselF' and that the destitute condition

of the Treasury was the sole obstacle in that respect. Mr. Terrell

then shewed me an opinion which he had given as Attorney Gen-

eral upon the claim of the "Little Pen" submitted by Messrs.

Lizardi and Cos. Agents, some short time before I arrived in the

Country, and the Inclosed is a copy of a note which I have sub-

sequently addressed to him.^

In the shape that the case had assumed I felt it incumbent upon

myself to enter into it at length, and to endeavour to explain the

grounds upon which it must now be considered and adjusted

I shall continue to press the arrangement of both these claims

with the urgency prescribed in Your Lordship's Instructions; but

there can be no doubt of the disposition of this Government to

settle the first as soon as it is in a situation to do so, and I hope

that the exposition I have now submitted may have the effect of

removing all difficulty respecting the other.

Charles Elliot.

The Right Honorable.

The Earl of Aberdeen K. T. etc.

ELLIOT TO ADDIXGTOX-^

Private. Galveston December 16th. 1842

My Dear Sir.

In the situation of affairs here I conjecture that you will always

be glad to hear at the latest date that there is no change for the

worse—if none for the better. And I will only say upon my own

part, that it is no love of long letter writing which has disposed

me to trouble you at what I am afraid you may consider an uncon-

scionable length upon the topics of my present correspondence, but

^See Garrison, Diplomatic Correspondence of the Repuhlic of Texas, III,

1022-1023; in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report, 1908, II.

Uhid., Ill, 1058-1062. Elliot to Terrell, December 13. 1842.

^F. 0.; Texas, Vol. 4.
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on very serious impression that the subject is of much moment,

and that the crisis for it's conchisive and advantageous treatment

is at hand, and may soon pass away.

Thus impressed I use the freedom to say that it was pleasant

to me to find that Lord Aberdeen had declined the proposal of a

triple Mediation.^ In my poor judgment there is no advantage

to be derived from any association with the Government of the

United States in that matter.

They are ill liked by the Mexicans, and there seems reason to

doubt tlieir own earnestness, or sincerity upon the subject of a

recognition of Texian independence by Mexico. The E. and

free States probably believe that the Independence and progress

of Texas upon the present footing with respect to Slavery, would

be the next most inconvenient thing (so far as their weight in

the Union is considered) to it's formal annexation. The S. W.

States have always frankly desired it's annexation.

The people of Texas are gasping for peace, and the best bidder.

I believe that the only safe solution would be a formal offer upon

the part of Her Majesty's Government to Texas, to secure the close

of this contest upon the basis of It's consenting to place Itself in

a position of real Independence, by an immediate and thorough

organization of It's social, political and Commercial Institutions

and policy upon sound, and independent principles; an[d] further

offering every reasonable facility to England to negociate such a

loan as would be necessary to accomplish the proposed objects.

So far as I can see there is no choice between this, and the vir-

tual, early, and permanent lapse of Texas within the sphere of

United States influence, and policy ; and I cannot help adding

here, that I do not believe that the Government and people of the

United States have just or Moderate purposes with respect to

Mexico. To put Texas between them with a steadily constituted

^Ashbel Smith, on instructions from Anson Jones, had proposed to

France in July, 1842, that she join with Great Britain and the United

States in urging Mexico to make peace with Texas. Guizot approved the

plan and suggested it to Aberdeen, but the latter preferred to have

Great Britain act separately, and declined the overture in October, 1842.

(Adams, British Interests and Activities in Texas, 117-119.) On De-

cember 7, 1842, Elliot, in a private letter to Houston, stated Aberdeen's

refusal, and transmitted the substance of the correspondence between

England and France. (Garrison. Diplomatic Correspondence of the Re-

public of Texas, I, 637, in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report, 1007, IT.)
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Governt. upon a non Slavery principle, with a considerable Col-

oured population, perfectly free of political disabilities, and a Com-
mercial policy of the most liberal description is the best barrier

that I believe the nature of circumstances offers against conse-

quences and encroachments in my mind deliberately intended, and

which may be much nearer than they appear to be.

The chance of the permanent re-establishment of Mexican Au-

thority in Texas is gone, but another effort in that sense upon the

part of Mexico, in the utterly depressed condition of this Country

will possibly throw it back upon the United States, and that is

the end which would probably best please the present Cabinet at

Washington, and most assuredly the whole of the S. W. part of

the Union.

But Texas, differently established would put an end to all com-

bination of that kind, and be a very helpful weight in the preserva-

tion of peace, and a just balance of power on this Continent. I

cannot help thinking that money lent to put an end to Slavery

in a South West direction in America; and to give a place and a

voice to the Coloured races, would render as profitable returns as

money spent for fortresses and Military works on the Northern

frontier of the United States. We should have those Mens hearts

with us beyond the third and fourth generation.

Texas would be effectually separated from the United States of

the Union, and a liberal Commercial policy would as effectually

detach it from the N. E. States infected by a spirit of Commercial

hostility to Great Britain, and this last principle efficaciously

worked out would soon relax the self injurious fiscal system of

Mexico.

Charles Elliot.

To H. U. Addington, Esqr. etc.

P. S.

I have this moment heard from Houston that a small party of

our Texian levies have advanced to the Rio Grande, and I can

have no doubt that they will do no manner of good there. The

President has done what He could to prevent this folly, but it

needs otlier checks there than that, and I think it is safe to proph-

ecy that it will find them. This report has reached us with more

solidity than most we have had from that quarter, upon the same
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subject, arjcl eventually, it may be entirely false. There is not

much truth running about our natural roads in Texas.

ELLIOT TO ADDINGTON^

Private. Galveston Deer. 28th. 1842

My Dear Sir,

Since I had the pleasure of writing to you last, we have received

President Tyler's Message to the Congress of the United States.

I collect from that document that their difficulties with Mexico are

in course of adjustment, and by the bye either my solitary life is

cheating my imagination, or that Message is a very noticeable in-

strument, both in point of significancy, and the time of the appear-

ance of such matter. The President closes his paragraph concern-

ing the general relations with European Powers with an observa-

tion, which I cannot help thinking might have more frankly found

it's place at the head of the succeeding Section of the Message.

It has a tang of Texas and Mexico, and is certainly worthy of

attention both for coolness of purpose, and dryness of expression

—

"Carefully abstaining from all interference in question [s] exclu-

sively referring themselves to the political interests of Europe, we

may be permitted to hope an equal exemption from the interfer-

ence of European Governments in what relates to the States of the

American Continent/'^

Bolting the bran, I presume this means that United States poli-

ticians and financiers mislike disturbance on the little Island, form-

ing the Continent of North and South America. But it is pos-

sible that this pretension of United States policy may not be

equally acceptable to all "the States of the American Continent."

There is room to suspect that some of the States of the American

Continent have no particular confidence in Washington purposes,

and no desire to cast off all other friendship in peace, or alliances

in War. Be that as it may, it is pleasant to observe how consid-

erately Mr. Tyler has blended the Civil with the decided in this

"Bon Soir" to European influence in this quarter of the globe.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 4.

^President Tyler's message to Congress, December 7, 1842. (Rieliard-

son, Messages and Papers of the Presidents, IV, 197.) Elliot's quota-

tion is slightly inaccurate^

^
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His self permission to hope for "an equal exemption from the inter-

ference of European Governments in what relates to the States of

the American Continent" is a fine instance of the Multum in parvo

in comprehensive political discussion.

Washington on the Potomac is the place of places in President

Houston^s emphatic language "A God's Earth/' for great strokes

of this kind—Washington on the Brazos has it's promise too, but

we are giving and they get. When T read this announcement

drumming us all off this Continent, from the Artie to the Antartic,

I could not but pull back to what had been said some distance up

the stream of small print. There we had been instructed ^Hhat

the question of peace or v/ar between the United States and Great

Britain is a question of the deepest interest, not only to themselves,

but to the Civilized world, since it is scarcely possible that the

War could exist between them without endangering the peace of

Christendom''

It seems then that there is no objection to as much of United

States influence on the Continent of Europe, as may serve to draw

one half of it upon our backs in that contingency of deepest in-

terest,—war between the United States and Great Britain; but

Great Britain must pretend to no influence on the Continent of

America.

This is plain American, if not plain English, on the occasion of

the earliest possible formal declaration after the publication of the

late Treaty/ that the Oregon territory is an open question, and

^Treaty of Washington, signed at Washington, August 9, 1842.

pari passu with marked approbation of General Ca=s for volun-

teering to trip up arrangements at Paris, known to be agreeable to

the British Government and Nation.^ Living I may almost say

in the United States, and with my attention constantly fixed upon

a subject in which United States feeling and assistance are exer-

^On December 20, 1841, the Quintuple treaty for the suppression of the

African slave trade had been signed at London by Ensrland, France,

Prussia, Austria, and Russia. The treaty gave to each nation a right to

search vessels of the other nations signing the treaty. Lewis Cass, Amer-
ican representative at Paris, protested against this, wrote a pamphlet

upon the matter of right of search, and appealed to France with such

effect that the French government refused to ratify the treaty. For the

treaty, see British and Foreign State Papers, XXX, 269.
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cising so powerful an effect, I hope to be excused for these re-

flections

There is no thinking or writing of Texas without adverting to

United States politics, and impulses, and I must frankly say that

so far as 1 can judge the late Treaty with Great Britain is gen-

erally considered in the United States to be no more than a truce

into which it has been convenient for them to enter till our hands

are full in other parts of the World, and their own credit and

finances have recovered themselves. The Government no doubt

has more honest purposes than the general body of the people. As

the Government of the United States is the creation of a great

majority. In fact, the land, through it's whole length and breadth

is infected with the plague of party politics, and electioneering.

It is not principles that are a question in that great republic, but

the monstrously exaggerated virtues and wisdom of Henry, John,

or Thomas, a.nd the still more hideously exaggerated views and

folly of Martin, James or Peter. Upon those themes, and for the

sake of party success, the Country is in a perpetual ferment, and

nothing steady or just can be depended upon at the hands of the

Government

Weighing all the circumstances within my reach of judgment,

and particularly the undoubted temper of our neighbours East of

the Sabine, I certainly do think it is an object of considerable

moment to Her Majesty's Government that this Texas question

should be firmly and steadily settled, and I lean to the opinion

that it is in the power of Her Majesty's Government (so far as

Texas is concerned) to effect an eligible arrangement Monsieur

de Cremiel^ the new French Charge d'Affaires to our Court arrived

here a week since. He told me it was generally reported at New
Orleans in respectable circles that the British Govnt. had refused

to take part in the Mediation proposed by Mr. Ashbell Smith,^

and asked if this were so. Finding that He had received no de-

spatches since He left France, and that He was going up to see

the President (of Texas) at Washington, probably under mistaken

impressions, I begged him to peruse Lord Aberdeen's correspond-

^Vicomte Jules de Cramayel, French charge d'affaires in Texas, 1842-

1844.

^See note, page 93.
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ence with Lord Cowley^ iipoii that subject, which would not only

explain to him the feelings of Her Majesty^s Government, but of

his own too; and enable him to judge how little credit was to be

attached to ^s'ew Orleans reports.

Congress is still in Session, or I should say, in confusion, for

the Members from Western Texas, angry at the removal of the cap-

ital from Austin have seceded. And there is just a quorum, and

that is all, without them. In the present disturbed condition of the

Country, it seems to nie to be wished that they should all go home,

as soon as possible. We have no tidings from the force that has

advanced to the Eio Grande but no good can come of such folly

as that, and it will be matter of surprize if one half of them get

back, that is to say, supposing they do cross the Eio Grande.

My continued concern for these tedious letters must be the co-

herent tediousness of the subject, and the belief that you will

desire to hear more about it, in it's present posture than you could

do, or should do from me, if it were better settled. Eequesting

you to offer my respects to Lord Aberdeen and Lord Canning.

Charles Elliot.

To H. L^. Addington, £sqr. etc.

By the news from Washington this morning, I find amongst

other notices of business before Congress. A resolution (in the

H. of Eepresentatives) ''to instruct the Committee of Foreign re-

lations to enquire into the expediency of annexing the Eepublic of

Texas to the Ud. States. It is not proposed by one of our great

men, and nothing has been done upon it yet : If there be, I

shall of course make the Subject a matter of official communication

to Lord Aberdeen. I suppose it is only put forward as a feeler.

Charles EUiot

^Henry Wellesley, Baron Cowley (1773-1847), British ambassador at

Paris, 1841-1846. (Stephen, Diction<iry of National Biography.)

-On December 20th, R. Scurry introduced the resolution referred to by

Elliot. (Journals of the House of Representatives of the Seventh Con-

gress of the Republic of Texas, 89.)

—

Editors of The QrAETERLY.
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EEVIEWS AND NOTICES

The Leading Facts of New Mexican History.^ By Kalph Emerson

Twitchell. Volume T. (Cedar Kapids, Iowa: The Torch Press.

1911. Pp. xxi, 506.)

With its elaborate footnotes, bibliographies, and facsimiles of

manuscripts, this beautifully printed and bound book conveys at

first sight the impression that it is the result of much original in-

vestigation, and as such it has been represented by uncritical review-

ers. But closer examination shows that it is nothing of the sort.

The book is, as a matter of fact, purely a compilation, and of the

simpler kind, most of the text being either a close paraphrase or

a direct copy of two works. If the borrowing had been duly ac-

knowledged, the book would have been welcomed and judged on its

merits as a compilation; but it is unfortunately the case that the

compiler, while making much show of citation and quotation of

supplementary matter in the footnotes, has, either in igorance or

flagrant disregard of literary ethics, in the main concealed the

sources from which he copied or paraphrased the text, and much
of the footnote matter as well, thus creating an impression of

independent work which he did not perform. Nor is he relieved

of this charge in any important measure by his prefatory remark

that "a great deal of the work . . . may best be termed edit-

ing," or by an occasional observance of the proprieties, which only

serves to further mislead.

Such a statement as this can not be made without at least an in-

dication of the evidence on which it rests, and to this end most of

my space will be devoted. Chapters II, III and IV of the book in

question deal with the early Spanish exploration of New Mexico.

Oi] reading the footnotes and bibliographies one misses references

to Lowery's very pertinent work, The Spanish Settlements within

the Present Limits of the United States, 1513-1561. A more
careful reading, however, shows that Mr. Twitchell has by no

means overlooked it. Indeed, the greater portion of the text of

•the one hundred ninety-nine pages comprised in these chapters is

taken almost bodily from Book II, Chapters III, V and VI of

'Reprinted from The American Historical Review, April, 1912.
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that book, but absolutely without credit, for neither the name of

Lowery nor of his book receives mention in the work. The order

of presentation is identical, with few exceptions, through para-

graph after paragraph, page after page, while there are hundreds,

if not thousands, of identical phrases, sentences, and even large

portions of paragraphs, without a single acknowledgment. Chap-

ter III, for example, on Fray Marcos de Xiza, is a paraphrase of

Lowery's Chapter Y. By actual count one hundred fifty-nine

identical phrases or sentences were found in identical connections,

although the chapter contains only about ten full pages of text;

nor does this statement give an adequate impression of the close-

ness of the paraphrasing. Ver\^ clearly Mr. Twitchell regards

Lowery as a reliable translator as well as a safe historian, for the

identity extends to numerous extracts translated from the Spanish.

In these cases Mr. Twitchell generally cites the same originals as

Lowery (except occasionally, as where Lowery's reference to Mota

Padilla III somehow becomes "Mota Padilla, 3"), but Lowery

never.

Ix)wery's book reaches only to 1561, and Mr. TwitchelPs anchor

for the remainder of his text is Bancroft's Arizona and New Mex-

ico. In this case the compiler's shortage of quotation marks is

less obvious, because due credit is given here and there for por-

tions borrowed—in the very paragraphs, indeed, where much

greater portions are taken without credit.

Less attention has been paid by the reviewer to Chapter I, deal-

ing with ancient I^ew Mexico, but a casual examination shows that

most of pages 4-7 and 42-50 were taken almost verbatim and al-

together without credit from Hodge's Handhooh of American In-

dians (part I, pp. 171-172, 305-309, 108-109, 327).

As has already been intimated, the method above described ex-

tends in liberal measure to the footnotes, also ; and this applies not

merely to citations, but to comments and important conclusions ais

well. For example, more than seventy of the notes in the last one

hundred fifty pages were traced directly to Bancroft's Arizona

and New Mexico^ though no credit is given to that work. An in-

stance, which could be paralleled by others, is note 362, where

eighty-seven lines, consisting of a summary based on Vetancourt,

are taken verbatim from Bancroft, pages 172-173, although the

citation is to the original Spanish work. The only other explana-
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tion possible would be that two independent writers could give

identical summaries of a lengthy passage in a foreign language.

Again, on pages 344-412 at least twenty-three notes which pur-

port to be the result of independent work in the sources were

traced directly to Bandelier's Final Reqwrt, parts I and II.

Another remarkable feature of the work is the citation of rare

manuscripts. From the frequency of these citations and the ex-

tended comment on manuscript sources in the Prefatory Note, the

reader would infer that Mr. Twitch ell had really used a great deal

of this class of material, in addition to printed works. But ap-

pearances are misleading here also. To begin with, many of the

first-hand citations are to manuscripts in the private collection

made by Mr. H. H. Bancroft, to which, we know, Mr. Twitchell

never had access. In these cases, naturally, the citations can all

be traced directly to Bancroft's Arizona and Neiv Mexico. If

space permitted, it would be easy to demonstrate by the pagina-

tion and titles of the manuscripts cited that such is the case with

his references to the "Pinart Collection," notes 346, 355, 413, 445,

446; to "N. Mex. Doc./' notes 375, 461, 462, 465, 470, 474, 475;

to Otermin's "Extractos,'"' notes 349, 375, 376; to Bonilla's

"Apuntes,'' note 465; to Morfi's "Desordenes," note 482; to Men-

chero's "Declaracion," note 465; and to "Moqui, Noticias,' note 437.

Mr. Twitchell evidently did not know that many of these citations

refer to Bancroft's personal note-books, and not to the pagination

of the documents in any archive; or that some of the titles are

designations given to documents by Bancroft, and are applicable

only to his own collection.

Again, on the period of the Pueblo revolt and the reconquest by

Vargas, Twitchell not only cites first-hand but gives extensive ex-

tracts from the manuscripts entitled "Ynterrogatoria de Pre-

guntas,'' "Parecer del Fiscal/' "Diario del Sitio," "Diario de la

Eetirada," "Protesta a Don Diego de Vargas," "Carta al Padre
Morfi," "Memoria del Descubrimiento," "Peticion de los Vecinos

de Albuquerque al Cabildo de Santa Fe/' "Certificacion de los

Huezos del Venerable Fray Juan de Jesus," "Estado de la Mision

de San Lorenzo el Real," "Autos del Ano de 1694," "Relacion

Sumaria de las Operaciones Militares del Ano de 1694," Esca-

lante, "Relacion del Nuevo Mexico," and "Autos de Guerra, 1696."

These extracts, with references directly to the manuscripts, should
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create the presumption that Mr. Twitchell had used a consider-

able hodv of fundamental manuscript sources for this period.

But the impression is modified when vre learn that in every one

of the twenty-five cases in which the quotations were tested the

identical extracts, with the identical references to the manuscripts,

and usually with the identical notes and comments, were found in

Bandelier's Final Beport. parts I and II, though no reference is

made to that scholar's work. Mr. Twitchell may have had access

to these documents, but no evidence has been found that he made

any independent use of them.

Such a method of appropriating the results of the work of

others can be regarded in only one light by scholars ; and it is due

to scholars that a protest be made against its emplo}Trient by

those who know better, and that books produced by it by those who

do not, be represented in their true light. Hence this review.

After the above statement of the sources and workmanship of

Mr. Twitcheirs book, it hardly need be said that, although it is

a useful compilation, it adds little to our knowledge of the history

of !N"ew Mexico.

Heebeet E. Boltox.

The Life of An-dr&w JaHsan. By John Spencer Bassett, Ph. D.,

Professor of History. Smith College. In two volumes. (Xew

York: Doubleday, Page, and Company. 1911. Pp. xiii, 371;

375-766.)

This is a comprehensive study of Andrew Jackson in relation

to the history of his period. Xaturally, where Parton and Sum-

ner and Brown, and Yon Hoist, McMaster, MacDonald, and Cat-

terall have reaped before there must be much winnowing of old

straw, Bui the book is abundantly justified by the contribution

which it makes to our appreciation of Jackson's influence upon

his age and of its influence upon him.

Sixteen chapters, covering three hundred and twenty pages, are

devoted to Jackson's life prior to the presidential campaign of

1824: three additional chapters are needed to bring him to the

presidency in 1829: and only fourteen remain—less than three
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hundred and fifty pages—for the important work of his two ad-

ministrations and the interesting years from 1837 to 1845. Of

these one is devoted to the inauguration and the choice of the

first cabinet, one to an excellent discussion of the spoils system,

one—somewhat unnecessarily, it seems,—to Jackson's champion-

ship of Mrs. Eaton, one each to his policy toward internal im-

provements, his quarrel with Calhoun, the reorganization of the

cabinet in 1831, and to his attitude toward nullification, three to

the war on the United States Bank, one to foreign policy, one to

minor problems of the administration—the Cherokees in Georgia,

the distribution of the surplus, and the specie circular—and one

each to "Personal Characteristics" and "Closing Years." Not-

withstanding the fact that to the earlier years belong the Creek

War, the battle of New Orleans, the Seminole War, and the gov-

ernorship of Florida, it is questionable whether a truer propor-

tion would not have given less space to the period before Jackson

became the exponent, and to some extent the creator, of a great

national party. And, considering the importance of our foreign

relations under Jackson and the still too common misapprehen-

sion of his policy toward Mexico and Texas, more attention might

profitably have been devoted to this phase of the subject. In re-

gard to the charge that Jackson aided the revolutionists in Texas,

Professor Bassett thinks that the evidence shows "pretty clearly

that he proposed to preserve neutrality, at least outwardly, which,

in view of American feeling, was about all that could be expected."

And he thinks that Jackson was really lukewarm on the subject of

Texan recognition during the winter of 1836-1837, though his at-

titude in this particular may have been influenced in some degree

by his desire to avoid embarrassing Van Buren, many of whose

partisans were opposed to recognition.

Professor Bassett offers on page 249 a plausible solution for

the puzzle of the Rhea letter, in which, as Jackson always con-

tended, Monroe authorized the invasion of Florida in 1818. It

saves the veracity of both Jackson and Monroe, and is perhaps

as near the truth as we are likely to come. He mildly defends

Jackson's execution of Arbuthnot and Ambrister (pages 254-260).

And he shows (pages 369-371) that Jackson had reasonable

ground for suspecting that there was an understanding between

Adams and Clay in 1825 when the former through the help of
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the latter won the election in the house of representatives. This

is not to say, however, that the understanding was a corrupt one.

Van Buren fares better than one is wont to expect, appearing as

a sincere and devoted friend of Jackson, who frequentl}^ advanced

his policies by frankness and their own worth and not by the

craft of the sycophant. Calhoun appears less favorably.

Of Jackson a few brief characterizations and summaries will

show the writer^s estimate: "There is no record that Jackson

ever changed an opinion once formed, whatever the proof offered

him." His nature was "frank to the point of rashness." "He

was apt to speak his mind clearly, although he could on occa-

sion . . . be as diplomatic as a delicate case demanded."

In his use of the patronage he but reflected "the forces which

ruled public life at the time. Any man who could have been an

exponent of the democratic movement would probably have be-

lieved as Jackson believed in regard to appointments." He was

"probably stronger through his forceful personality than any other

American since Washington. He was no economist, no financier,

no intelligent seeker after wise and just ideals, and his temper

and judgment were bad;. but his will was the coherent force of a

party organization more complicated, and yet better adjusted, than

existed before that time in our government. Courage, knowledge

of the people, simplicity of manner, the common man's ideal of

honesty and patriotism, and a willingness to discipline his sub-

ordinates when necessary were the qualities which kept the party

organization effective." "The secret of his power was his adjust-

ment to the period in which he lived. Other men excelled him in

experience, wisdom, and balanced judgment; but the American

Democrats of the day admired neither of these qualities. They

honored courage, strength, and directness. They could tolerate

ignorance but not hesitancy. Jackson was the best embodiment of

their desires from the beginning of the national government to his

o^\Ti day."

The book is based chiefly on the Jackson and the Van Buren

Manuscripts in the Library of Congress, and is documented with

numerous extracts from Jackson's letters which have not before

been printed.

Eugene C. Barkee.



Revietvs and Notices 105

.4 School History of Texas. By Eugene C. Barker, Charles S.

Potts, and Charles W. Kamsdell. ( Chicago : Row, Peterson

and Company. 1912. Pp. xvi, 384.)

The characteristic feature of this book is the success with which

it conforms to the newer ideas in history writing. The authors

have performed their best service to the State of Texas in sup-

plying to the school children a text-book in history that recog-

nizes throughout the true nature of historical material. The

book under review exhibits on every page the inner life of the

people of Texas in the process of unfolding. It keeps vividly

before the mind the whole life of the people as a growing organ-

ism, and at the end leaves the reader in possession of a delight-

ful fund of information possessing organic relation. This fea-

ture of the book impresses itself upon the reader with the first

chapter, and is especially emphasized in the treatment of the

periods of republic and statehood. The old method of using

gubernatorial administrations as the basis of organization has been

discarded, and. in its place the authors have followed, as an or-

ganizing principle, the laws of growth as expressed in the social

and institutional life of the people. To the reviewer, it seems

that this has been done with unusual success, considering that

the book is intended for children. The authors state in the

preface that they have aimed "to bring it within the grasp of

fifth and sixth grade pupils.'^ They have not missed their aim;

and yet the reader is nowhere allowed to wander away from the

proper viewpoint of the whole subject. So far as the reviewer

knows, in all the historical literature of the grammar grades,

there is no text-book that so skillfully impresses the correct phi-

losophy of history and at the same time keeps so well within the

capacity of those for whom it is written.

Another feature of the book which appeals to all lovers of

tmth is its spirit of fairness and accuracy. This is illustrated

in the discussion of the general causes of the revolution. On
page 83, it is stated that "the causes of the revolution spread

through the whole ten years, between 1825 and 1835, but at the

very bottom of them all was the fact that the Mexicans and the

colonists never really got acquainted and learned to trust each

other. . . . The colonists felt a sort of contempt for the
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Mexicans. . . . The Mexicans soon observed this and began

to snspect that the colonists would some day try to take Texas

away from them." This same spirit of fairness is exemplified on

pages 127 to 128, relative to Fannin's surrender at Coleto. "The

first article of this document [the capitulation] declares that the

Texans agreed to surrender unconditionally, while the third says

that they surrendered as prisoners of war subject to the disposi-

tion of the supreme government of Mexico." This in no way

seeks to justify the Goliad massacre which followed the agreement,

but it does Santa Anna the justice of giving him technical, legal

right in the matter.

Again, the part of Texas in the Civil War is developed with

unusual clearness and fairness, while the period of reconstruc-

tion is dealt with in the same broad spirit. Xear the close of the

book is a profitable discussion of the recent material and educa-

tional growth of the State.

It is another stated purpose of the authors '"^to make it a thor-

oughly useful tool in the hands of the teacher." In pursuance of

this aim an unusual amount of ^^elps" is given. For example,

in Appendix II, suggestions are made to the teacher as to the

presentation of each separate chapter and a well chosen bibli-

ography for each chapter is included in the same appendix. In

Appendix III is a complete outline of the book by the authors

tliemselves. Appendix IV consists of a list of Presidents and

Governors, with the dates of their administration. Finally, in

this connection, each chapter is concluded with a summary, a list

of wholesome questions, and a suitable bibliography for children.

It is difficult to pass fair judgment upon a text-book without

having put it to actual test in the class room, but if the accepted

characteristics of successful history writing are sound, then this

book ought to have generous treatment at the hands of the school

public. J. A. Hill.

Texas . . . by Milam . . . From several references in

the Lamar papers and from internal evidence it appears that Texas

. . . hy Milam . . . (Philadelphia, 1839) was written

by Henry Thompson, a lawyer of Houston, who had early in

Lamar's administration been the President's private secretar}\
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On August 18, 1839, Thompson writes Lamar from New York:

^'I send no's 1 and 2 of a series of chapters on Texas, they have

taken very well, and are re-printed in the Balto and N York

papers, they are intended to be correct pictures of T The 3d

no' is of more inport than the rest which are rather preparatory-

chapters— . . . The Boston papers have the chapters with

quite a compliment to the Author"; on September 19, from Phila-

delphia: "I am publishing a little work on Texas small—^^with a

map. Chapters &c—it will be out in one month" ; on December 28,

from Houston : "2000 copies of Teccas by Milam sold in the North

2d Edition in press—Good !. at last."

The author of the book is evidently a lawyer, as appears from

his familiarity with legal terms and procedure and from his use

of the phrase "my brethren of the bar" (p. 49). He is a partisan

of the Lamar administration : he gives merely a perfunctory notice

of General Houston (pp. 70-71), since "the victor of Santa Anna;

and the Hero of San Jacinto, must not be omitted in these pages";

of Lamar (pp. 18-20) and Handy (pp. 87-88) he speaks with per-

sonal knowledge and enthusiasm. His style resembles Thompson's

in his letters to Lamar. Moreover, in the letter of September 19,

noted above, the same objection is made to the bonding system of

Texas in relation to the depreciation of the currency as is urged

on pp. 63 and 64.

The map referred to in the letter of September 19 does not

appeal in the State Library copy, one of the first edition, the only

copy to which I have had access; and there is no sign of its ever

having been included.

Elizabeth H. West.

In "Polk and the Oregon Compromise of 1846," Political

Science Quarterly, September, 1911, Dr. R. L. Schuyler of Colum-

bia University acquits Polk of sharp practice in connection with

the settlement of the Oregon Question. "Because Polk refused

to assume the responsibility of war with Great Britain, for the

disruption of his party and for the failure of his administration

—

and these apparently would have been the result of rejecting the

British offer—we need not infer that he had been playing a double
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game." The paper is based chiefly upon Polk's Diary and the

'Worl's of Buchanan, both of which have but recently been pub-

lished.

In Political Science Quarterly. March, 1912, Professor William

A. Dunning reviews in a thoroughly interesting way the Dian/ of

Gideon Welles (three volumes), recently published by Houghton,

Mifflin and Company. "The value of these volumes as a source

for the history of the times depends chiefly," says Professor Dun-

ning, "upon two factors: first, the candor and sincerity of the

writer, and. second, the accuracy and completeness with which his

record has been reproduced in print. In both respects the value

of the Diary is unimpeachable." Seward, Stanton, Chase, Sumner

and Grant are heavily scored in the Diary^ but Andrew Johnson is

in general staunchly defended.

In the June number of Political Science Quarterly. Professor L.

S. Eowe has a discerning analysis of the causes of the recent Mex-

ican revolution.

The Lewis Publishing Company. Chicago, has published the fol-

lowing works relating to Texas. These volumes have not been ex-

amined sufiiciently to form a critical estimate of their worth, but

are mentioned for the benefit of students who may be interested

in the sections to which they relate:

A Twentieth Century History and Biographical Record of Xorth

and West Texas. Captain B. B. Paddock, Editor. 1906. Two
volumes.

A Twentieth Century History of Southwest Texas. 1907. Two
volumes.

A History of Greater Dallas and Vicinity. 1909. Two vol-

umes. Volume I is by Philip Lindsley: volume II is edited by

L. B. Hill, and has for its subtitle "Selected Biography and

Memoirs."

Historical Review of Southeast Texas and the Founders, Lead-

ers and Representative Men of Its Commerce, Industry and Civic

Affairs. Dermot H. Hardy and Ingham S. Eoberts, Associate

Editors. 1910, Two volumes.
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A History of Central and Western Texas, compiled from his-

torical data supplied by commercial clubs, individuals, and other

authentic sources, under the editorial supervision of Captain B. B.

Paddock. 1911. Two volumes.

The Los Angeles Examiner recently published a volume entitled

"Press Eeference Library, Notables of the Southwest, being the

portraits and biographies of progressive men of the Southwest,

who have helped in the development and history-making of this

wonderful country. Los Angeles, California, 1912." 4to. Pp.

500. The work relates almost exclusively to California, particu-

larly Los Angeles; only eleven Texans are included. The work

is an excellent piece of printing.

The Proceedings of the Navarro County Bar Association, held

at the Carnegie Library, Corsicana, Sunday, September 24, 1911,

in memory of Colonel Eoger Q. Mills, have been published in a

pamphlet of 32 pages. Not only the addresses delivered on the

date named, but the tributes paid Colonel Mills by his friends

far and near by the Texas press are included.

In The Numismatist (Brooklyn) for April, 1912, Mr. K. C.

Crane has an illustrated article on the paper money of the Repub-

lic of Texas.
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NEWS ITEMS

Mr. Charles "Wilson Hackett will return to the University of

California to study Southwestern History next year.

Professor E. D. Adams, of the History Department of Stanford

University, is lecturing at Harvard University this summer.

Professor Eugene I. McCormac, of the History Department of

the University of California, is lecturing in the Summer Session

of the University of Illinois.

Professor C. H. Van Tyne, head of the Department of History

in the University of Michigan, is lecturing in the Summer Session

of the University of California.

Mr. John W. Curd, Principal of the High School at El Paso,

will become a graduate student in Southwestern History at the

University of California next fall.

Miss Anne Hughes took her Master's degree in History at the

University of California in May, was awarded a fellowship in His-

tory in the same University, for the following year, and hopes to

return to continue her work.

Mr. William E. Dunn. B. A., the University of Texas. 1909;

M. A., Stanford University, 1910, who held a fellowship in His-

tory at Columbia during the past year, will hold a similar position

at the University of California next year. He is spending the

summer in the ^lexican archives at Saltillo and the City of Mexico.

Mr. Charles E. Chapman, teaching fellow in History in the Uni-

versity of California, was awarded the Traveling Fellowship

founded by the [N'ative Sons of the Golden West, and has sailed for

Spain, where he will spend next year working in the historical

archives.

At the June Commencement of the University of Texas, Messrs.

William S. Brandenberger and Stuart H. Condron took the M. A.

degree in Histor}-. Mr. Brandenbergers thesis was "The Admin-

istrative System of Texas, 1821-1835''; and Mr. Condron's was

^The First Texas Agency in New Orleans in 1836"—a study of
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the assistance rendered by William Bryan and TOward Hall, of

N'ew Orleans, to the Texas Eevolution.

Professor William R. Manning of the University of Texas ex-

pects to spend the latter part of the summer gathering material

from the Mexican archives for the show lectures on diplomatic

history which he will deliver next year at Johns Hopkins Uni-

versity.

A summer session of the School of American Archaeology will

be held this summer at Santa Fe and the ruins in El Eito de los

Frijoles from August ] to 30, inclusive. Lectures will be given

and research conducted by the regular staff of the school on the

distribution and culture of the peoples in the southwestern part

of the United States and Xorthern Mexico in prehistoric times ;

on the development of design in ancient Pueblo art ; on the Indian

cultures of the Southwest ; on the civilizations of ancient Mexico

and Central America; on the native languages, and methods of

recording and studying them ; and upon the hieroglyphic writings

of the Ancient Mayas. In connection with these courses there

will be excursions to such important sites as Pecos and Puye, and

to neighboring Pueblos still occupied. Besides the regular staff

of the school, lectures will be given by Dr. Harry T.angford Wil-

son, of Johns Hopkins University, anrl Professor D. A. Cockerell,

of the University of Colorado.

"Through the kindness of Mr. and Mrs. W. T. Wroe, the Wil-

liam Barrett Travis Chapter of the Daughters of the Republic was

presented on April 4th with a life-size portrait of James S. Lester.

. . . Judge Lester represented the counties of Fayette and Bas-

trop in the Congress of [the Republic of] Texas. He gave to

Fayette county its name; also named the town of La Orange; was

one of the heroes of San Jacinto and was the first countv judge of

Fayette county. ... He died in December, 1879.''

—

Austin

Statesman, April 7, 1912.

"Dr. Ferdinand HeriT, for nior-e than two generations t1ie lead-

ing physician in San ATitonio, and famed botli in Europe and

America for his skill as a daring, yet siicressful surgeon, die<.l

[May 18. 1912] at the Herff homestead, 308 East Houston Street,

which he built in 1853. and in which he resided ever since. Had
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he lived until November 29, Dr. Herff would have been 92 years

old."

—

San Antonio Express, May 19, 1912.

The Express gives in this issue more than three columns to a

sketch of Dr. Herff's remarkable career, and editorially comments

on his qualities as a citizen. An incident in the early life of Dr.

Herff as a member of the "Communistic colony of Bettina" is nar-

rated in The Quarterly, III, 33-40.

Captain M. B. Davis died at Waco on June 18. He was bora

in Virginia in 184-i, was educated at the Virginia Military In-

stitute, and served in a Virginia regiment in the Army of North-

ern Virginia during the Civil War. In 1873 he entered the news-

paper business in Waco. From 187.") to 1878 he served as a Texas

ranger, hut at the expiration of that time re-entered newspaper

work. For a number of years before his death lie was Texas rep-

resentative of the National Audubon Society.— (From a sketch in

The Dallas News. June 19, 1912.)

On June 21 Colonel Andrew J. Baker, of San Angelo, died

while on a visit to Los Angeles. California. He was born in

Grenada count}', Mississippi, in 18-12, was educated at the Uni-

versity of ]\rississippi, and served in a ^lississippi regiment in the

Army of Northern Virginia durmg the Civil War. After the war

he practiced law at Oxford, Mississippi, and was a member of the

Legislature which closed the period of Reconstruction in that State.

He moved to Texas in 1884, was a member of the Twenty-second

Legislature, served as Commissioner of the General Land Office

of Texns frciti 1894 to 1898.— (From a sketch in The Dallas Neivs,

June 22, 1912.)





SAM HOUSTON

(Marble bust by John O'Brien, who was born in Cork about 1826, and

died at Galveston in 1903. The bust was acquired

by the State in 1891.)
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KECOLLECTIONS OF GENERAL SAM HOUSTON

A. W. TERRELL

General Sam Houston will always be conspicuous in history

as one of ijie most remarkable men of the past generation. Much

has been written about him that is misleading. This was natural,

for his career was marked by fierce antagonisms, and men generally

regarded him either from the standpoint of partiality or prejudice.

I who knew him intimately in his later years now comply with

the request of friends in giving my recollections of him, with

incidents of his strange career, many of which I had from his

own lips in social converse from time to time while he was gov-

ernor of Texas and I a young district judge, meeting him almost

daily in Austin. I know of no other living man who knew him

well, and a natural curiosity is felt by this generation to know more

of his appearance, his disposition, his habits, incidents illustrating

his character, and the peculiarities that distinguished him from

other men.

His Early Life.—On the forty-third anniversary of his birth

(March 2d, 1836) he signed the Declaration of Texas Independ-

ence. When left an orphan at a tender age by his father^s death,

his mother crossed the mountains from Virginia with him and

her other children, and settled in Maryville, Blount county, Ten-

nessee. The family was poor, and after working on a small farm

and obtaining such common school education as a new country

*Volumes I-XV published as The Quarterly of the Texas State His-
torical Association.
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afforded he was placed by his older brother in the store of a Mr.

Sheffy to clerk. He was not satisfied there^ and went to the

tribe of Cherokee Indians, whose lands were just across the Hols-

ton River, and bnt a few miles distant. With them he remained

for nearly two years, fishing, hunting, participating in their ball

games and other amusements. His adventurous and ardent nature

rejoiced in the wild freedom of the forest and in the companion-

ship of the Cherokees, whose language he learned to speak fiuently.

The Indians made him a sub-chief and named him Co-lon-neh/

the raven. He lived in the home of Oo-loo-tee-kah, known by

Americans as John Jolly, who became the principal chief of the

western fragment of the Cherokees after their removal by treaty

west of the Mississippi Eiver. Thus early he heeded the "call of

the wild" by disregarding the authority of his older brother, and

evinced that impatience of control that marked all his future life.

After leaving the Cherokees he was for a short time a student

in the academy at Maryville, until the declaration of war with

England, when he enlisted as a private soldier in his twentieth

year, and was commissioned as an ensign by President Madison.

His Personal Appearance.—Joseph Guild of Gallatin, Tennes-

see, states in his Old Times in Tennessee that Houston was six

feet six inches high. Guild greatly admired Houston and some

allowance must be made for his error, for Houston's height in

his prime of life was six feet two inches ; he once told me so, and

though men shrink in stature when old he could never have been

so tall as Mr. Guild describes him. I will describe him as I re-

member him, though it is difficult to write a picture of any one.

His bearing was always dignified and erect; his form indicated

great strength and activity ; his face and head were large and sym-

metrical ; his voice deep toned, manly and firm ; his speech whether

in conversation or addressing an audience deliberate and distinct;

and his eyes large and deep blue.

He was a little eccentric in his dress, was occasionally seen with

a vest made of leopard's skin, and wore in all seasons a soft,

broad brimmed, fur hat. In winter he sometimes wore a Mexican

^The Cherokee word ''Co-lon-neh" is properly Ka-la-nu, signifying

"raven," a common Cherokee word and hereditary personal name.

—

F. W. Hodge.
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blanket, but in other respects was usually clothed in the fashion

of the time. His gestures were graceful and his manners refined,

especially when with ladies, with whom he was a great favorite.

He was an inveterate whittler, and one of his San Jacinto captains

once told me that he always found him whittling when he visited

his headquarters. I will be excused for remembering that I often

thought of General Houston's appearance during the four years

I lived in Europe when I met often in the audience chamber of

the Sultan of Turkey and at social functions the ambassadors of

other powers, bedecked with the medals and gewgaws of rank. On
such occasions I have wished that I could show them Sam Houston,

a man commissioned for leadership by God, who needed no artificial

decorations, and whose appearance attested his nobility.

A fine marble bust of Houston may be seen in the State Library

room in Austin which represents him as he looked in 1859.^ An
excellent portrait of him belonging to the Hon. Edwin B. Parker

of Houston shows how he appeared in 1863, and another portrait

painted in the Cherokee nation now hangs in my hall, and will

be given to Texas. Another portrait made at the same time in

the Cherokee nation belongs to the State of Tennessee.^ They rep-

resent him naked with only a blanket thrown around his waist.

He told the artist to paint him as "Marius among the ruins of

Carthage," and so he stands among broken columns with but a

few remaining standing, as if to indicate that hope was left.

I quite agreed with the Hon. John H. Eeagan, Major W. M.

Walton, Governor liUbbock and others that the marble statue of

Houston in the National capitol, a replica of which is near the

south entrance of our State House, does not convey a correct idea

of the man. They are the conceptions of a distinguished artist

^See frontispiece.

portrait of Sam Houston very closely resembling the one described

in the above paragraph was some years ago offered to the Tennessee His-
torical Society: the Society did not accept it. Concerning the history of

this proffered portrait the secretary of the Society states that it "was
painted in or near the city of "TSTashville, Tenn., by Washington Cooper,
. . . I knew the artist well for many years. In speaking of this por-
ti-ait he said that Governor Houston was very proud of his physical
development. 'He came to my studio one day and asked me to paint
him as a Roman senator^ which I consented to do.'

"

The Tennessee Historical Society has two portraits of Governor Hous-
ton by Cooper,

—

The Editors.
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who never saw him, and who has represented him clothed with a

fringed hunting shirt, cavalry boots and wearing a sabre. The

marble bust in the State Library would have given the artist a

better idea of his face.

I first saw him in 1855 after he had joined the ISTative American

or Know-Nothing Party, but did not then form his acquaintance.

He was mounted on a splendid gray horse and rode at the head

of a procession of his admirers on Congress Avenue in Austin,

going up to the old Capitol building, from the steps of which he

spoke to the multitude. He was a fine horseman, and as with un-

covered head he bov/ed to the people who with shouts were saluting

him, I thought I had never seen a more attractive figure. He
visited Austin again in 1857, and I then heard him speak in a

beautiful grove on the very ground where now stands the State

University, just north of w^hich a barbecue was prepared. I did

not then know him personally, being opposed to his political course.

My acquaintance began in the autumn of 1857 after his defeat

for governor under circumstances to which I will refer presently,

and which marked the beginning of a mutual friendship.

History tells us of his daring at the battle of the Horseshoe, of

his being elected to Congress when on account of his age he was

barely eligible, of his re-election, and of his then being elected

Governor of Tennessee. Also of his marriage to Miss Eliza Allen

(who was a first cousin of Mrs. E. H. Mitchell, my mother-in-law),

and of his separation from that wife. Ever}^ schoolboy knows of

Houston^s career in the Texas revolution and of his victory at

San Jacinto. That battle he once at my request described to me ;

and some sidelights upon that victory, thus obtained, will be found

in my printed address to the San Jacinto veterans at their annual

reunion in Houston in 1893.

The music for the Texan troops at San Jacinto was made by

a fife and a kettle drum. The soldiers, remembering the recent

massacre of Fannin^s men after tlieir surrender, and the butchery

at the Alamo, were eager for revenge. Houston knew that their

courage had hardened into desperation, and he ordered the inusi-

cians to play as the army moved to battle the old love song "Will

you come to the bower I have shaded for you," and to change the

tune to "Yankee Doodle" v/hen in close rifle range. The Greeks

indulged in the pyrrhic dance before battle, but Houston's army
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at San Jacinto was the only one that ever charged to the music

of a love song, except when General TTavelock marched to the

relief of Lncknow to the music of "Annie Laurie."

Separated From His First Wife.—Houston's separation from his

first wife is a mystery which I presume will never be solved. He
and his wife were regarded as the finest looking couple in Ten-

nessee. They were married in January, 1829, he being then gov-

ernor. His canvass for a second term opened the following April.

A few days afterwards he resigned his office and, a few hours later,

before the citizens of Nashville knew it, he was going down the

river in disguise on a steamboat. When his friends next heard of

him he was with the Cherokees west of the Mississippi Eiver. They

sent a small stock of goods to him suited to the Cherokee trade,

and without his previous knowledge, for they knew his indifference

to money. They also sent an artist to paint his portrait.

Henry Sublett, who took my place in the law firm of Hamilton

and Terrell in 1857 and whose older brother Phil Sublett had

been Houston's friend in boyhood, once told me that he was

present when Houston resented the efforts of that brother to dis-

cover the cause of his separation from his wife. Phil Sublett lived

in eastern Texas and in 1839 Houston often stopped at his house.

He was then much given to dissipation and one stormy night rode

up to the house out of a cold rain quite intoxicated. After he

had thrown himself on the floor, Phil got down by his side and

said: "Sara, you know you can trust me. Why did you quit

Eliza ?" Henry told me that Houston was sober in an instant, and

rising up said : "Sir, you violate the laws of hospitality by seeking

to tear from my bosom its secret," and mounting his horse he went

forth in the stormy night, rejecting all Sublett's efforts to detain

him.

The conduct of his divorced wife who afterwards married Dr.

Douglas was equally strange. She never mentioned Houston's

name, but, without speaking, would resent every harsh reference

to him by promptly leaving the presence of the speaker, and she

is said to have read with avidity every notice of his subsequent

career. What effect the deep grief that drove Houston into exile

had in changing his nature can only be surmised ; but certain it is

that he is the only man I ever knew who having a keen sense of

humor never indulged in boisterous laughter. When his anecdotes
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or droll sarcasm excited those around him to merriment, he would

remain with features unmoved and only show his enjoyment of

the pleasantry bv opening his large blue eyes as if in astonishment.

Among the Cherokees.—Wliile with the Cherokees he resumed

his name of Co-lon-neh, or the raven, and always wore the garb of

a Cherokee. His intimate friends were Oo-loo-tee-kah and Apoth-

la-a-hoo-lah. neither of whom spoke English. Within a year after

separating from his wife he married a beautiful half-breed woman,

Tiana Eodgers. who was said by those who had seen her to have

been yeiy tall and graceful and devoted to Houston. With her

he lived in a log cabin on the banks of the Grand Eiver nearly oppo-

site Ft. Gibson. Judge W. S. Oldham, my first law partner in Texas,

and a former supreme judge in Arkansas, had known Houston

in Tennessee and sometimes saw him in Ft. Gibson dressed like a

Cherokee. He would never then speak Enn-lish to anyone and a

deep melancholy caused him to avoid all intercourse with white

men. Such periods would be followed by intoxication, though

his former habits in that respect had been exemplary. Often he

was seen armed only with the bow and arrows with which he had

become dexterous when a boy. He was always a friend of the

Indians, and as president and governor did much to preserve peace

on the frontier of Texas.

His Method of Campaigning in lSo7.—The canvass for governor

of Texas in 1857 was marked by great bitterness. Houston had

made himself obnoxious bv his vote on the compromise slavery

measures and was opposing Eunnels, who was the Democratic nom-

inee for governor. Wigfall and W. E. Scurry canvassed against

him east of the Trinity and Judge W. S. Oldham west of that

stream. Though I had never taken an active part in politics,

the State convention at Waco made me one of the central executive

committee, and afterward I had announced as a candidate for dis-

trict judge of the five counties embracing the capital. The Hon. John

A. Green, son of Chief Justice Xathan Green of Tennessee, was my
competitor and he was related either by consanguinity, affinir\', or

partnership connection with ten other lawyers including a federal

judge and John Hancock, a former district judge, all of whom
lived in Austin. This alarmed the lawyers who were not in the

connection, and they persuaded me to oppose Green. Houston's

course in his canvass of the State was defiant ; he refused to speak
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from the same stand with anyone opposing him. Wigfall he called

"Wiggletail," and denounced him everywhere as a murderer. At

Tyler he closed his speech by telling his audience that a murderer

named "Wiggletail" would follow him, and he advised them not

to hear him "unless they were fond of lies.^^ After speaking he

sat in the porch of a hotel near the courthouse and when the crowd

left at the close of WigfalFs speech, he rose and met them with

uplifted hands and shouted, "Did I not tell you that you would

hear nothing but lies?"

His Speech at LockJiart.—He spoke at Lockhart one sultry

afternoon in 1857 from a long platform erected in a grove near

Storey's spring. A large portion of his audience was composed

of his San Jacinto soldiers and their kindred. He was clothed in

a long coarse linen duster that reached to within a foot of his

ankles, loose pants of the same material, no vest, low quartered

shoes, and his shirt collar opened until the audience could see the

grizzled hair on his breast a foot below his chin, and as thick as a

buft'alo mop. I had never before heard him speak when thus

attired, but his erect bearing, the majesty of his appearance, his

deep-toned, commanding voice, impressive gestures, and perfect

composure made a lasting impression upon me. That impression

was deepened when he denounced the executive committee, of

which I was a member.

While Houston was speaking. Judge Oldham rode up. Oldham
took from a large pair of saddlebags two volumes of the Con-

gressional Globe. When the audience in front from curiosity

began to move, Houston said, "Be still, my friends, be still, I will

report the cause of this commotion.^' Then, taking a step to the

rear of the platform and looking over, he turned and said : "It's

Oldham, only Oldham, I'll tell you what he is doing." After

looking to the rear again he faced the audience and said in a loud

voice: "He is opening some books, but they are not the bank

books he stole and sunk in White Eiver, Arkansas."

I was standing by Oldham's side. He bit in two the cigar he

was smoking and said : "He wants to provoke an attack and have

me assassinated." Oldham knew the devotion of Houston's friends

and how a personal difficulty would terminate.

Eeferring again to Oldham, Houston said that his name was
attached to a paper issued by the Democratic executive committee
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of the State appointed by "some conspirators at Waco" in which it

is said they intend "to handle me without gloves." He paused

a moment^ and took deliberately from the pocket of his duster a

pair of heavy buckskin gauntlets and with mock gravity drew

them on, staying "that paper is too dirty for me to handle without

gloves." Then drawing the paper from his pocket he read that

portion which declared that all traitors should be defeated, and

in the defeat of Houston "add to theirs a name of fear that traitor

knaves shall quake to hear." Throwing the paper to the floor with

quick impatient gesture, he exclaimed: "What! I a traitor to

Texas ! I who in defense of her soil moistened it with my blood ?"

Then he took several steps, limping on his leg that was wounded

at San Jacinto, and continued: "Was it for this that I bared my
bosom to the hail of battle at the Horseshoe^—to be branded in my
old age as a traitor?"

The effect can hardly be described. A wave of sympathy swept

over the audience, and red bandana handkerchiefs were wiping

tears of indignation from the eyes of his old soldiers. Then he

stooped down and after picking up the paper said: "Let me read

you the names of that executive committee." He read : "Wil-

liamson S. Oldham—though he stole and sunk those bank books

in White Eiver and ran away to Texas, he is not yet in the peni-

tentiary."

"J. M. Steiner—a murderer. He murdered Major Arnold."^

"John Marshall—a vegetarian; he won't eat meat; one drop

of his blood would freeze a frog."

"A. W. Terrell—he used to be a Whig in Missouri. They tell

me that the young scapegrace wants to be your judge, A pretty

looking judge he would make, this slanderer of a man old enough

to be his father."

I have heard all the great orators of the Republic and State of

Texas, except Lamar and the Whartons. Houston as an orator

before a frontier audience excelled them all. His voice was clear

as a bugle, and his thorough knowledge of the impulses and habits

of thought of the fearless men who made Texas enabled him to

exercise a wonderful influence when addressing them. He was one

^Dr. steiner was a cultured gentleman who slew in self-defense, and was
acquitted by a jury.
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of tliem, and his knowledge of human nature enabled him to im-

press and juove them with consummate skill. Of course, their

admiration of the man and his strange career had their influences.

He was the product of strange environments which have disap-

peared in the progress of society, and for that reason we will not

see his like again.

The election resulted in the defeat of Houston for governor, and

in m}^ election as district judge. After the election I published

in the Sdate Gazette a note in which I declared that my name had

been placed on the address of the commiittee without consulting

me and, while I endorsed all its political reasons for the defeat

of General Houston, I would never have signed the address which

called him a "traitor knave," for his services to the country as a

patriot were known to all men. I sent the article to General

Houston in a letter, stating that I had delayed making the cor-

rection until I was elected, so my motive could not now be ques-

tioned. He answered by saying that in a long and eventful career

he had never received anything from a political opponent that

pleased him more, and he hoped soon to know me personally.

From that time I date a friendship between us that lasted until

his death. Two years after that canvass he was elected governor,

and then I met him almost daily. He and his amiable wife be-

longed to the Baptist church, of which Mrs. Terrell was a member,

and my wife^s last sacrament was taken at our home one hot

afternoon two miles south of Austin, as she lay on her cot under

a spreading live oak tree, when General Houston and wife and

nearly all the members of her church partook with her of the cup.

As a Christian.—I have seen two autograph letters, one from

General Jackson and one from Houston in answer thereto. Gen-

eral Jackson wrote to him soon after he joined the Cherokees, ex-

pressing his sympathy and astonishment. Jackson had reformed

and become a Presbyterian; he advised Houston to become a mis-

sionary among the Indians; the latter replied, after expressing

his pleasure in knowing that he still had the confidence of his old

commander, that to be a missionary to the Indians was an em-

ployment "neither suited to his inclinations nor capacity." After

Houston's marriage to Miss Margaret Lea in 1840, a lady of

strong intellect, a noble wife and mother and devout Christian,

she exercised a wonderful influence on his habits of drinking and
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using profane language. He was baptized near Brenham, Texas,

by the Eev. Eufus Burleson ; but long established habit is a terrible

tyrant^ and the Hon. John H. Eeagan has more than once related

to me an incident in Houston's life that illustrates this aphorism.

He was riding with Houston and a Baptist preacher in eastern

Texas when Houston's horse stumbled and threw the General upon

his neck. When Houston exclaimed, "God d— a stumbling horse

the preacher said: "Oh! brother Houston, do you still swear?"

'^ell, what must I do?" asked the General. "Ask God to for-

give you." "I'll do it. Hold my bridle rein/' and then he dis-

mounted and walking to a fence near the wayside kneeled down

under a hot sun and prayed.

Once when he came to church lat^ I saw him take a seat near

the door at a place where negro slaves usually sat, and kneel

d.o\Mi in prayer by the side of a little negro boy.

"Whether he ever felt in full measure the Christian virtue of lov-

ing his enemies may well be questioned, for while he no doubt felt a

desire for the salvation of their souls after death he was always

much given to plain speaking about what scoundrels they were in

the flesh. He was continually attacked by ambitious men who

exasperated him by assailing him through the press. His very

last speech in the United States Senate was made in answer to a

bitter attack of a personal enemy who charged him with cowardice

at San Jacinto.

Only a few weeks before his death I witnessed a touching evi-

dence of how time and the influence of religion had softened his

imperious nature. I met him in Houston near the old Fannin

Hotel one summer morning in 1863 and at once disclaimed al-

lusion to him in an address I had made at the Capitol; for it

had been charged by an Austin newspaper that I had made a

covert attack upon him. His answer was, "I know. Judge, I know

you did not refer to me, and if you had it would only have exciteid

regret. I feel that my time is short and I have not a root of

bitterness here," touching his bosom with his hand, "towards any

human being that breathes."

That night I met him by invitation at the house of Major E.

W. Cave, his former secretary of state. After some conversa-

tion he asked my opinion about Texas sending all her young men

to distant battlefields across the Mississippi Eiver and said: "We
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will soon have no one in Texas but old men and boys to defend

our homes/' The waste of life seemed to him wicked and un-

necessary. He asked my opinion as to how our people would

feel in Texas about unfurling the Lone Star flag and calling the

boys home, saying to the North and South "hands off." I de-

clared my belief that it would cause the sacrifice of any man

who proposed it. The subject was then dropped. It was agreed

between Major Cave and myself that the conversation should be

kept secret for obvious reasons. Six years ago shortly before

Major Cave died, he was still averse to making public the con-

versation for reasons that did not appeal to me. The idea of a

separate republic for Texas was naturally dear to General Hous-

ton, but he failed to realize that such a move as he proposed dur-

ing the madness of the hour would be regarded as treachery to

t?ie other Southern States, and would be treated as an act of

treason.

Caning Stanherry,—The caning of Congressman Stanberry,

from Cincinnati, Ohio, and events connected with and following

it, constitute a most remarkable chapter in the life of Houston.

The difficulty had its remote origin in Houston's activity in try-

ing to check the systematic plunder of the Cherokees by govern-

ment contractors during the great excitement caused by Jackson's

veto of the United States Bank charter. In the fall of 1859 I

heard his version of the difficulty and his subsequent trial, which

I will now relate. It was a long time ago, but I afterwards made

full notes of the conversation, and those who know me will bear

witness to the tenacity of my memory.

After General Houston's election as Governor in 1859, he

brought his young son Sam to Bastrop, where I was then hold-

ing a session of the district court, to place him in the military

academy of Colonel Allen. Governor Sayers, now living in Aus-

tin, was captain of the cadets when Houston with uncovered head

inspected his company during that visit, handling every gun.

General Houston for several days lodged at the house of Jimmy
Nicholson where Jack Hamilton, John Hancock, George W.
Paschal and myself were boarding during court. Houston having

just been elected governor was in a cheerful mood, and being in

the company of gentlemen, all of whom except myself had can-

vassed for him, entertained us until midnight with interesting
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events of his career. I had not then read the histor}^ of his trial

contained in the eleventh volume of the Abridgment of Debates

in Congress, but Hamilton had, and requested the General to tell

US of it. The air was balmy and the full moon was shining from

a cloudless sky as we sat on Xicholson's porch and listened until

late at night. Williams's Life of Houston places him in Washing-

ton in March, 1832, when Stanberry iirst made his offensive re-

mark. This is an error. Houston told ns that Stanberry went

out of his way to assail his conduct, and that a friend sent a

newspaper clipping to the Indian nation to inform him. This

fact did not appear in the trial, nor did Houston refer to it in

his speech, for it was not in the record. He told us that he wrote

at once to Stanberry demanding a public retraction of his re-

marks and sent his letter by a Cherokee Indian to be mailed at

Ft. Gibson. After waiting a reasonable time for an answer, he

resolved to go to Washington and demand in person a retraction.

He borrowed from a Cherokee friend named Apoth-la-a-hoo-lah

his fringed buckskin hunting shirt with a beaver skin collar, and

armed only with a Bowie knife and hickory cane that General

Jackson once gave him, he started for Washington.

There were then no railroads west of the Alleghanies and the

journey was tedious. On his arrival in the spring of 1832 he

w^ent directly to the hall of the old House of Eepresentatives, for

having been a member he had the privilege of the floor. While

standing behind the speakers stand and hidden from view he was

conversing with Bailey Peyton, Felix Grundy and James K. Polk,

when Stanberry (who perhaps knew of his presence) got the floor

and again indulged in an insulting reference to Houston and

spoke of him as one of General Jackson's ^'hullies." The General

told us that he could with difficulty restrain himself, but was in-

fluenced by his friends to leave the House.^

He then found his old friend Eeverdy Johnson and requested

him to bear a note to Stanbern'. Fearing that Stanberr}' would

^Many years after this conversation Colonel Bailey Peyton, then over
eighty years old, was in Austin and confirmed Houst-on's statement while
conversing one night with some friends and myself. He said that Hous-
ton remarked when Stanberry made the insulting statement: "I right
such wrongs where they are given, were it in the sight of heaven," and
bis friends had much difficulty in preventing a scene.
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refuse to recognize him on the ground that he was a voluntary

exile from civilization, Houston made Eeverdy Johnson promise

that in such an event he would not pursue the course required by

the dueling code and assume the quarrel himself. Stanberr}'

having refused to notice Houston's note, except by denying his

right to question him, was just at dark crossing Pennsylvania

Avenue in front of the National Hotel when he approached where

Houston was standing and conversing on the opposite pavement

with Senator Buckner of Missouri. Houston said: "Is this

Mr. Stanberry?" The answer according to General Houston was

the snapping of a flint-lock pistol close to Houston's breast. Be-

fore he could draw again Houston had knocked him down with a

cane and then wrenched the pistol from his grasp.

The testimony before the congressional committee makes no

mention of the snapping of a pistol but does of Houston's wrench-

ing some object from Stanberry's hands. It was dark; percus-

sion caps were not then in use; and the pistol being a flint-lock

and making no flash Buckner did not see it. Knowing the calm-

ness of Houston in danger, there can be no question that it oc-

curred as he stated it.

With his foot on Stanberry's prostrate body he was chastizing

him with his hickory cane when the police appeared. The General

told us that he then drew his knife and told them to stand ofl,

that he was "whipping a scoundrel who had insulted him, but

(lid not intend to kill him."

The journals show that Stanberry, who for some days was con-

fined to his bed, complained to the House in a note published in

the debates. A committee was at once named to investigate, evi-

dence was taken^ and a long debate followed. He claim.ed in his

defense that he had caned Stanberry for the second offense;

namely, for publishing libelous matter in the press, and not on.

account of the insulting language in debate. The case dragged

along for nearly a month, but General Houston told us that his

friends had counted noses and knew that no degrading sentence

would be pronounced. He had kept away from the White House

until a few days before the date when he would be heard in his

own defense at the bar of the House, when one night he received

a note from President Jackson as follows: "Sam, come to the

White House. I want to see you." He told us that, dressed
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in his buckskin suit (for he had no money to buy clothes), he

obeyed at once the summons and found G-eneral Jackson pacing

the floor in great excitement. His features portrayed his rage,

and with the look of an angry tiger he said: "Ifs not you they

are after, Sam; those thieves, those infernal bank thieves, they

wish to injure your old commander/^

^^ever before had he seen Jackson in such a rage, and General

Houston told us that he did not believe that anyone could then

have looked on his face without a tremor. The President told

him that he must prepare for his defense before the House and

dress himself like a gentleman, at the same time taking a long

silk purse filled with gold pieces from a drawer and tendering it.

Houston^s pride rebelled, and at first he declined to receive it,

saying he had no means of repaying it, but Jackson insisted until

he took the purse, for he said : "Sam, you must take this money

find when you make your defense tell those infernal bank thieves,

who talk about privileges, that when an American citizen is in-

sulted by one of them^ he also has some privileges."

The next day Houston ordered a fine suit of clothes, a silk

hat, and boots, which were delivered the afternoon before he was

to speak. That night he had as his invited guests at his room

Stephenson the Speaker of the House of Eepresentatives who was

an old friend, Senator Felix Grrundy of Tennessee, James K. Polk

and Bailey Peyton, and I now quote verbatim his language:

"Gentlemen, we sat late and you may guess how we drank when

I tell you that Stephenson at midnight was sleeping on a lounge

in the room. Bailey Peyton was out of commission and had gone

to his room, and Felix Grundy had ceased to be interesting. Polk

rarely indulged and left us early. Though I drank deeply I could

not feel intoxicated, and ordered a bellboy to wake up a barber

and bring him. When he came I told him to bring me a cup of

coffee at sunrise and his ^shaving traps.' Opening a drawer, I

said, do you see this purse of gold and this pistol? ' If the coffee

does not stick when I drink it, take the pistol and shoot me and

the gold is yours.'' He said that he was at the very bottom

round of the ladder and that he had rather have died than to have

made a failure in his speech, which would occur if the coffee sick-

ened him. The next morning the coffee agreed with him, and
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being dressed for the occasion he appeared at the bar of the House

in custody of the sergeant-at-arms at the appointed time.

The excitement in the city was great, and the gallery was

packed with the intellect and beauty of Washington. He gave

us the outline of his defense substantially as published in the

Abridgment of the Debates^ except for an incident during his

speech which was omitted, for what cause one can only surmise;

but Col. Bailey Peyton many years afterward assured me that the

incident occurred. Houston told us that during the debate the

anti-Jackson men had made such a wanton attack on his domestic

relations that he was tempted to seek higher game than Stan-

berry, referring to which he said as it appears in the speech: "I

ask no sympathy nor need. The thorns which I have reaped are

of the tree I planted. They tear me and I bleed.^^ He said,

"That man Stanberry has slandered me through, the columns of

a newspaper, and refused even to answer a polite note, and I

chastized him as I would a dog, and I will visit the same punish-

ment on the shoulders of anyone who insults me, even though it

be one of you who now sit in judgment on my conduct." When
the thunder of applause that greeted this remark had ceased the

silence that followed was broken by a voice clear as a flute; it

was a woman's voice that could be heard all over the chamber.

A reigning belle of Washington had risen from her seat in the

gallery just above where Houston stood and said: "I had rather

be Sam Houston in a dungeon than Stanberry on a throne," and

threw a bouquet of flowers at his feet. He told us that when he

stooped down to take the flowers and looking up bowed his thanks

to the fair lady he felt a thrill of joy like that he experienced in

the flush of victory at San Jacinto.

Four days after his speech the House decided by a vote of 106

to 89 that Houston had been guilty of a breach of privilege.

Then, on motion of Henry Clay, a vote was taken on the proposi-

tion that Houston should be brought to the bar of the House and

there reprimanded by the Speaker for contempt. Henry Clay

opposed any penalty except that of a reprimand: the motion was

adopted by a vote of 106 to 89. Then a motion to exclude Hous-

ton from the privileges of the House was lost by a vote of 90

yeas to 101 nays: Clay, Broadhead, Cave Johnson and James K.

Polk voting in the negative.
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The curious reader will find in Volume XII of the Abridg-

ment of Debates the censure of the Speaker which reads more like

a compliment than a reproof. Houston was fined by the local

authorities $500 for assault, which was remitted by President

Jackson, "for divers good and sufficient reasons moving thereto.'*

His Duel With General William White.—In his long conversa-

tion that night in Bastrop in 1859 Houston told us of his duel

with General White and its origin. It occurred soon after his

return to I^ashville after his first term in Congress. He had

denounced a postmaster, who threatened to hold him personally

responsible, and it was generally believed by his friends that Jno.

T. Smith, a noted duelist, would bear a challenge from the of-

fended party, and that Colonel McGregor, whose grandson now

resides in Austin, would act as Houston^s friend. Smith lived in

Missouri; he had killed six men in duels and was known as Jack

Smith T. He bore a challenge from the angry postmaster and

attempted to deliver it to McGregor, who, without reading it, tore

the paper and threw it on the ground, saying, "I'll neither read

nor deliver to Houston anything brought by you, sir.'' Xo fight

followed between Smith and McGregor, but General White, who

was near, remarked that he did not think Smith had been prop-

erly treated. When Houston heard of the remark he told Gen-

eral White that if he was not satisfied he would give him any sat-

isfaction he desired. It was reported that White had backed down,

and this caused WTiite to resent the imputation by challenging

Houston, who accepted it.

Houston went at once to General Jackson's home at the Her-

mitage to borrow his pistols and practice under his eye. The

dueling code required the antagonists to stand with their backs to

each other and after answering to the question "Are you ready,

gentlemen?" to fire between the words "fire" and "1, 2, 3, stop."

Jackson told Houston to clamp some substance firmly between his

teeth to steady his nerve, and also to so place his feet that with-

out turning he could make a quarter turn of his body and thus

gain a fraction of time after the word "fire." Houston and White

fought across the State line in Kentucky. Houston escaped, but

White was shot through the body, though not killed.

In answer to a question as to what Houston would have done

if insulted by Smith T., he told us that it was then thought in
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Nashville that his enemies had brought Smith there to provoke a

challenge from him. Smith was a dead-shot who after killing

his victim always walked up to him to see if he had shot him in

the eye. General Houston told us that it was believed that Smith

wore a shirt of mail, and he said that he had prepared himself

with a double-edged dagger and if Smith had insulted him by

treading on his foot or otherwise, he intended to seize him and

kill him by driving the knife down above the collar bone, for,

said he, "Smith was a heartless butcher, and if insulted, I in-

tended to slay him as I would a dog.^'

Houston never fought another duel, though his bitter tongue

when speaking of his enemies provoked many challenges. He was

challenged by General Albert Sidney Johnston, President Lamar,

Commodore Moore, President Burnet, and others. He once handed

to his secretary the paper containing a challenge, saying, "This

is number twenty-four. The angry gentleman must wait his

turn.''

It may seem strange that his reputation for courage was not

aSected, especially when the manner in which he sometimes

avoided a fight is considered, for once he said, "Tell him that

I won^t fight him, for I never fight downhill'^; but there was a

general feeling amongst the colonists, except on the upper Colo-

rado, that the safety of the republic depended on his services, and

that many who aspired to leadership wanted him out of the way;

therefore the people did not blame him for refusing to risk his

life in personal combats.

Among the most prominent men then in Texas was William

H. Wharton who was a brilliant orator and a leading spirit in

stirring up the colonists to revolt. Governor Frank Lubbock once

told me that after Houston had declined a challenge from Whar-

ton he, with others, was present when they met in the shed room

of the house on White Oak Bayou near Houston, where on some

festive occasion the gentlemen had retired to mix their toddies.

Wharton made an insulting remark to Houston and at the same

time placed his hand on the handle of his Bowie knife, when
Houston instantly lifted up both his open hands above his own
head at arm^s length and exclaimed: "Draw—draw if you dare!

Lift your hand against the Majesty of Texas and the Almighty

God would blast you where you stand." Such was the strange
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influence of Houston's Yoice and gesture that Wliarton^ whom all

knew to be a brave man^ left the room.

I witnessed in 1S59 the wonderful influence that Houston ex-

erised over a desperate man when both were seated opposite each

other at the dining table of Nicholson's Hotel in Bastrop. Ham
White had during his early life been a Texas ranger, and had

sworn he would kill Houston on sight, because he had said during

the "Archive War" after the Mexican invasion of Vasquez that

the people of the upper Colorado were horse thieves. White's

threat was known, and Houston had been warned. While seated

opposite each other at the dining table White made a very insult-

ing remark intended for the G-eneral. All heard it and expected

trouble; no answer was made, but Houston after laying down his

knife and fork straightened up in his chair and looked with defiant

gaze straight at Ham White who dropped his head and continued

eating. Not a word was spoken, but anyone who has seen a pow-

erful mastiff cow with a look a barking dog can understand the

scene.

Strange Renewal of Friendship.—One of my nearest neighbors

and valued friends from 1852 to 1860 was Captain James M.

Swisher. He commaaided a company at San Jacinto, and was a

staunch friend of Houston until the latter attempted to remove

the archives of the Eepublic from Austin, and at the same time

indulged in harsh criticisms of Austin's colonists on the Colorado.

For this Swisher openly threatened to hold Houston responsible.

They never met, however, until 1857 when Houston, while making

a speech, discovered Swisher in the audience. After a patriotic

tribute to the bravery of the Texan soldiers at San Jacinto, the

General said: "Yes, I see many of my old boys before me, and

yonder sits Captain Jim Swisher, the bravest of the brave." After

the speaking Swisher embraced Houston and weeping, laid his head

on Houston's breast. Swisher was a good hater, a stern, vindictive

man; but the memory of mutual dangers in the past and former

friendship drove every thought of resentment from his breast.

Houston's Solicitude for Long John.—In the winter of 1838

when the seat of government was at Houston a few of Houston's

Cherokee friends went there to see him, expecting, of course, to

get presents of powder, lead and blankets. Houston was poor;

indeed his only property consisted of two negroes Tom and Esau,



Recollections of General Sam Houston 131

and his saddle horse. Under such conditions his Indian visitors

could not have given the General much pleasure. One cold, rainy

night while the Cherokees were in town Dr. Ashbel Smith, Surgeon-

General of the army of Texas, received an unexpected visit from

Houston, who standing at the door without entering Smith's

cabin said: "Dr. Ashbel, have you with you your pill bags?''

When he answered "yes" the General said : "Then get them quick

and follow me to see a sick friend." He led the way over the

muddy streets through the dark and the cold rain until he stopped

at the open door of a large cabin built of pine slabs that stood in

the rear of the Capitol. At the door Houston removed his hat

and stood with bowed head until an Indian medicine man had

finished his incantations over a kettle that was placed on a fire

on a dirt floor in the middle of the room. Then the General,

who had not spoken a word, motioned to the Doctor and pointed

to two goods boxes on which Smith saw by the flickering firelight

the form of a stalwart Indian. Houston motioned to Smith to

approach the man, but still without speaking. The Doctor felt his

wrist; he had no pulse. "Your friend, Mr. President, is quite

sick," he said. Houston bowed his head, but said nothing. The

Doctor put his ear over the region of the heart; it had ceased to

beat, and the Indian's glazed eyes were fixed on vacancy. The

Doctor wished to break gently the patient's condition to the Presi-

dent, so he said : "Mr. President, your friend is really in articulo

mortis/' Houston bowed his head, but said nothing. "I must be

plain. Your friend is dead." The Doctor told me that Houston

bowed his head for an instant, and then lifting high his hands

exclaimed : "My God, is Long John dead ? I thought Long John

was too d— a rascal ever to die."

His Dislike for General W. R. Scurry.—General William R.

Scurry, who was killed at the battle of the Saline during our Civil

War, was one of the eloquent men of Texas. He opposed Houston

from the stump in 1859 and incurred his enmity. Scurry, who

was often careless in his attire, was nicknamed by Houston "Dirty-

Shirt Bill." His hatred of Scurry found expression in a peculiar

manner. After the inauguration of General Houston in 1860, A.

J. Hamilton and G. W. Paschal, desiring to retain Professor

Shumard as State Geologist, introduced him to the Governor who

was quite busy, but being introduced Houston laid down his pen
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and said :
"0 yes, glad to see you, Professor. Few men in Texas

are qualified for your office. You call rocks the bones of the earth

and tell how old it is by inspecting them. Yes, yes, a rare sort of

learning ! I wish a test of your skill. Find out and report to me
the composition of the dirt on Bill Scurry^s neck. If the report

satisfies me I may keep you.'' Then rising up, he said: "Good
afternoon, Professor, good afternoon," and with a lordly gesture

bowed him to the door.

Soon afterwards I met Hamilton coming from the Capitol who
told me that he had just inquired about Shumard's appointment,

and the Governor had said: "He is a remarkable man, sir. He
reports that he has found six distinct strata of filth on Bill Scurry's

neck, and in the lower strata next to the hide he has discovered

the fossil remains of animalculae."

His Views of Education.—When he brought his young son, Sam
Houston, to Allen's Military School at Bastrop, he then gave to

the Hon. A. J. Hamilton and myself his views of education. He
wanted his son to bo well grounded in the history and constitu-

tion of the United States, to continue his study of English gram-

mar, and to have daily practice in writing until he could write

well ; to cypher to the "single rule of three," and learn how to cal-

culate interest so as to protect himself in business, and did not

wish him to "waste time" on Greek and Latin, nor keep him at

school for years to learn the higher branches of mathematics. "For

what profit," he asked, "is there in learning to tell how long it will

take a ray of light from some distant star to reach our planet?"

He wished to take Sam from school before he was twenty years

old and place him in a clerk's office, or store, to come in contact

with men and learn the "great book of human nature." He said

that if Sam was kept at school until he was older in order to

study Greek, Latin, and advanced mathematics he would return

home "a graduated fool."

It may well be doubted whether a university education would

have better qualified General Houston to lead the rugged men who

drifted to the frontier of civilization or to hold his own when

surrounded by the turbulent spirits who often opposed him.

His Bird of Destiny.—General Houston once told Dr. Ashbel

Smith that a raven, his bird of destiny, fluttered before him in the

dust in the road when he was going to Colonel Allen's (his father-
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in-law) liouse the afternoon of his first marriage, and its peculiar

cry of distress seemed a note of warning. General Houston gave

to Major Goree, who grew up in Texas where the General lived,

and to whom he was nmcli attached, a singular account of his

coming to Texas. He told him that while he lived among the

Cherokees, the raven, whenever he saw that bird, would fly in the

direction of Texas, and he at last determined to follow the course

of his flight.

His Punishment of an Enem,y.—Houston had a great dislike

for General Besser, who lived in Huntsville. When Houston was

Governor of Texas in 1860 he directed that a lean, half-starved,

estray dog that came to the Mansion should not be fed by anyone

but himself. After dinner he would throw him some crusts of

bread, and then while he was eating would beat him with his

staff until he howled, and while beating him would say: "How
do you like that. General Besser ?" Such an act was evidently the

result of his early association with the Indians, who thought they

could injure an enemy by giving his name to some object and

then shooting arrows at it.

One of His Last Speeches.—When he was Governor in 1860 he

spoke one cloudy afternoon in December on the north side of the

Baptist church that stands in front of the Executive Mansion. His

voice was clear and strong, and as he appealed for the union of

the States, he uttered no word of bitter invective. His entire speech

was an address to the reason, while he was depicting the horrors

of civil war and foretelling its progress and result with prophetic

truth; not one word of dissent was heard from the great assembly

that covered the hillside. I have sought in vain for a newspaper

copy of that speech to which I listened, but much of it lingers in

my memory. He warned us that civil war would surely follow

secession, and would result in the destruction of slavery; he said

that at first Southern chivalry would for a time triumph, but our

overthrow would follow; that the prejudices of the civilized world

were against slavery and would prevent help from coming to us

from abroad, while Europe would, if necessary, furnish recruits

for the armies of the ISTorth. He warned the people of the numer-

ical superiority of the Northern States, and that they were in pos-

session of the navy and all the machinery of organized government,

while the South with no previous preparation would soon find its
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seacoast blockaded and its men fighting with, the fear of a servile

insurrection behind them. He predicted that our young men
would be hurried across the ^^^ississippi Eiver.^ and leave Texas

to be protected by old men and boys, and thus fall an easy victim

to the Xonh. He said the Xorth would control the Mississippi

Eirer and cut the Confederacv in two: Xew Orleans would be

captured, and our boys would die on distant fields. Thus with

warning voice he pleaded for peace, and talked like some inspired

prophet of disaster. Xo one answered him, and though Associate

Justice Eoberts and Attorney-General George Flournoy soon after-

wards made able speeches for secession, yet at the election a large

majority of votes cast in Travis county and Austin were against

secession, and it was defeat-ed in every one of the five counties of

my judicial district.

His stem and uncompromising nature provoked antagonism

at every stage of his strange career. As early as 1855^ while he

was a ITnited States senator from Texas, the Texas house of

representatives passed ^'A resolution inviting him 'as former

president of the Eepublic of Texas" to a seat in that House,'" but

it declared that the invitation ^'should not be construed as an en-

dorsement of his vote on the Kansas-Xebraska bill to which this

House is opposed.''

In lSo9 he made no concessions to the secession element and

made but few speeche-s, and yet though he denounced secession

as madness he was elected by 6,000 votes in a voting population

of 63,72T. Two years before that he had been defeated by the

organized Democracy bv a majority of S,92i votes, on account

of his position in opposing the extension of slavery. His majority

in 1859, if it had not been overawed by the defiant and aggressive

methods of the intellectual men who then had the confidence of

the people, might have prevented the secession of Texas.

Lincohr's Letter.—Before the secession convention removed

Houston from his office,- he received a letter from Mr. Lincoln

-This danger was soon realized. On the 12th of ]SIarch. 1S62, I deliv-

ered to Judah P. Benjamin, the Secretary of War of the Confederate

States., the protest of the Texas (Governor against raising any troops

except through the Grovernor's ofl&ce; a promise to &omply vrith the re-

quest was made, but disregarded.

-Governor Houston vra5 deposed on March 16.

—

The Editoes.
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through a confidential messenger about the 28th of March, 1861,

in which he was told that Lincoln was willing to send 50,000 troops

to aid in keeping Texas in the Union. Undoubtedly the effort

already made by Governor Houston to induce General Twiggs to

surrender to him instead of to the Convention the government

arms and stores in San Antonio was known in Washington and

induced Lincoln's letter. Wlien that letter was received, Houston

requested his personal friends David Culberson, James Throck-

morton, Ben Epperson and his cousin, Colonel Eogers (who was

afterwards killed at Corinth), to meet him in the Executive Man-

sion. He there in confidence showed them Lincoln's letter and

asked them to express frankly their opinions. Though all were

at that time opposed to secession, they each advised against re-

sistance to the Convention. Then Houston stepped to the fire and

burned the letter, &a3ring: "Gentlemen, I had resolved to act in

this matter on your advice, but if I was ten years younger I would

not."i

If he ever contemplated resistance to the Secession Convention,

the idea was abandoned for he wrote to Colonel Waite at San

Antonio, saying: "I have received intelligence that you have, or

will soon receive orders to concentrate United States troops under

your command at Indianola, in this State, to sustain me in the

exercise of my ofiicial functions. Allow me most respectfully to

decline any such assistance . . . and to most earnestly protest

against the concentration of troops ... in Texas and to

request that you remove all such troops out of this State."

No Relic in the Texas Capitol.—Texas has no relic as a personal

memento of her most illustrious soldier and statesman; neither

vesture, hat, sword, gun, nor even his walking staff A long gold-

^The above account of what transpired I had in great confidence from
one of the gentlemen consulted. Senator Culberson has referred to it in

an article published some years ago {Scrihner's Magazine, May, 1906, p.

556), and he learned it, presumably, from his father. A letter printed
in the War of the Rebellion (Series I, Vol. 1, pp. 551-552) gives an insight

into a confidential mission of one F. W. Lander, sent by Mr. Lincoln. It

may be that he bore the letter referred to, but my information was that
the bearer of the letter from Mr. Lincoln was Gfeorge Giddings.

^While the articles enumerated by Judge Terrell have not been placed
in the Capitol, the reader may find there a marble bust, a marble statue,

four oil portraits, and the official records of General Houston's admin-
istrations as President and as Governor of Texas.

—

The Editors.
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headed staff with which he walked habitually in his advanced years

was presented to me by his son. Senator Temple Houston, many
years ago to keep as a memorial of the General's personal regard.

It was delivered to me with the request that it should finally go to

the most worthy descendant of the General. Aft-er it had remained

in my hall for many years. Temple Houston wrote me from Okla-

homa requesting that I send it to him. I reminded him that the

State had none of his father's belongings, and wrote requesting

consent that I might chain it to his fathers portrait in the Cap-

itol. He answered saying: '"Send me the staff. Texas thinks

more of Jim Hogg^'s old shoes than of my father's memory.^' I

thought it a harsh reflection on the State, but within a year his

sister, an intellectual and accomplished lady, was defeated for the

oflBce of postmistress of the Senate.

Houston^s inflexible honesty and contempt for the mere money-

maker did much to inspire the confidence of the early colonists.

He opposed all speculative raids on the public domain, and once

proclaimed that he had rather see our treasure emptied into the

Colorado Eiver than give it to any sort of corporation.

A Duty of Texas.—To General Sam Houston, more than to any

man living or dead, Texas owed her independence, and to his wise

statesmanship her preservation against foreign and domestic ene-

mies during the ten years when she was a republic. The prejudice

excited by Texas slave holders against him on account of his oppo-

sition to the extension of slavery, and which has been transmitted

to many of their posterity, is unworthy of our people.

Too long has this State neglected his memory: for not until he

had been dead fort}^-seven years did she do anything to show her

gratitude, and then it was done as an act of tardy justice by erect-

ing a monument over his remains in an obscure graveyard in the

interior of the State.

^

"We are now strong and prosperous, and this State should place

in front of our Capitol his full length bronze statne of heroic size,

on a granite pedestal, with no inscription but his name, Sam

HOUSTOX.

^For a brief notice of tlie unveiling of tMs monument, see The Quae-
TEBLY, XV, 85.
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THE EETREAT OF THE SPANIAEDS FEOM NEW MEX-
ICO IN 1680, AND THE BEGINNINGS OF EL PASO

I

CHARLES WILSON HAOKETT

INTRODUCTORY

In a former paper, published in The Quarterly in October,

1911, an account was given of the revolt of the Pueblo In-

dians of New Mexico in 1680, and of the defensive efforts of

the Spaniards immediately following the revolt. That paper

ended with the decision of the two divisions of refugees, at Santa

Fe and Isleta, to abandon the province. It is now proposed to

give a narrative of their retreat down the Eio Grande, and of

their subsequent settlement at Paso del Norte, subjects on which

practically nothing has been written heretofore.^ The present

paper has been based largely on the sources described in the in-

troduction to the former. Several additional original documents,

however, have been encountered in the Bancroft Collection, and

have been utilized here. A large number of older secondary

works, in which the Bancroft Collection is especially rich, have

also been used. Without essentially changing the story of the

revolt as I have previously written it, this new material will sup-

plement it and throw additional light on certain points not clear

in that narrative.

I. THE RETREAT OF GARCIA's DIVISION TO FRAY CRISTOBAL

As has been pointed out in the account of the revolt, it was on

August 14 that the Spanish refugees in Isleta abandoned that

pueblo and began their long and perilous journey toward Mexico.

The condition of these once prosperous settlers of Rio Abajo was

such, however, that a hasty retreat was impossible. Most of the

^Even Escalante, who wrote an authoritative, though brief account of

the revolt from the archives of Santa Fe, has little to say concerning
the retreat down the Rio del Norte, or concerning the events attending
the settlement of the Spaniards at El Paso.
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refugees^ incliTding hundreds of women and children, were with-

out horses; many of them were barefooted and half-naked; while

all suffered in common from a lack of food.^ It is not surpris-

ing to learn, therefore, that for the first ten days of the retreat

an approximate distance of only twenty-five leagues was covered.

For the details of this stage of the journey there is no adequate

account, the chief source being an auto of Garcia dated August

24, at which time the pueblo of Socorro had been reached. In

that document Garcia unfortunately made mention of only two

important succeeding events, and even neglected to give the date

for one of these.

The place first mentioned as having been passed was Sevilleta,

one of the pueblos of the Piros Indians. There the natives were

found quiet and peaceably disposed toward the Spaniards, as is

shown by the fact that they abandoned their pueblo and moved

on with the refugees into the interior of the Piros nation.-

Sometime between the 14th of August, the day Isleta was aban-

doned, and the 20th of the same month, Garcia and Father Diego

de Mendoza despatched letters to Leiva and Father Ayeta in-

forming them of the revolt and of the fate which at that time

it was supposed had befallen all the settlers north of Sandia."

This news was received by Leiva and Ayeta at El Paso on August

25, at eight o^clock in the morning.* The events attending the

receipt of it will be discussed later.

A second and more important event had been the receipt by

Garcia of definite news concerning Otermin and the northern

refugees at Santa Fe. On August 20, while Garcia and the Kio

Abajo people were halting in the pueblo of El Alto,^ there arrived

from the north Sebastian de Herrera and Fernando de Chavez,

^Auttos tocantes, 28.

'Auto of Garcia, in Auttos tocantes, 21-22.

^"Autto (de Otermin)," in Auttos tocantes, 15.

*"Carta del Padre Visitador a el Exmo. Sr. Virrey," in ^. Hex. Doc, I,

565. I have not had access to the letters of Garcia and Mendoza to Leiva

and Ayeta.

"I can find no other reference to the location of any pueblo by that

name. The document reads, "estando yo con todos los Vezos del Rio en

el puesto del pueblo del alto." I think it possible, however, that Garcia
only meant to designate his stopping place as "el puesto del alto" (the

place of the height), without any intention of referring to a pueblo by
that name.
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the two^ survivors of the jurisdiction of Taos. These men first

gave an account of the revolt at that pueblo. They then told of

their flight for safety, and of passing on the seventh day after the

outbreak of the revolt in sight of Santa Fe, vrhere they were able

to ascertain that a large number of Spaniards were besieged in

the government buildings (casas reales). While viewing the

progress of the siege from a distance, the Indians had been seen

to attack the villa and set fire to houses, the church of San

Miguel, and the living quarters of the governor, situated in the

casas reales^ leaving intact only two small towers of his dwelling.

-

On these towers were seen some people, though it could not be

determined whether they were Indians or Spaniards. A little

later Herrera and Chavez saw the smoke, and heard the dull roar,

as they judged, of the Spanish artillery, after which they saw

the Indians, "who actually were fighting,''^ withdraw to the fields,

setting fire to other houses as they proceeded. Herrera and

Chavez, however, did not wait to see whether the enemy had

withdrawn for good, or returned later to continue the siege.*

This news brought by Herrera and Chavez was Garcia's first

information that any of the northern settlers had survived the

revolt, for, as has been seen, the Indians had led him to believe

that all had perished except those who were able to assemble in

Isleta. Having reason to believe, therefore, that if seven days after

the outbreak the Indians had not conquered the refugees at Santa

Fe, they might even then be alive and still defending themselves

there, Garcia determined, if possible, to learn for a certainty their

fate.^

Such a move at that time, however, was impracticable. First

of all, it was necessary to find a place where the women and chil-

dren might be left with some degree of security,^ for the dreaded

Apaches, who were allied with the Christian revolters, were al-

most constantly in sight of the refugees.'^ Now that there was

"^Auto of Otermln and Herrera in Auttos tocantes, 70.

'Auttos tocantes, 23.

^Auto of Garcia, in Auttos tocantes, 22.

*Auttos tocantes, 23.

^Auto of Garcia, in Auttos tocantes, 22.

^lUd., 23.

''Auttos tocantes, 23 and 24.
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hope that some of the besieged in the villa might still be alive,

the question of the rescue presented even greater difficulties than

when it had come up at Isleta. Some twenty-five more leagues now
lay between him and the villa. The supply of provisions, scanty

in the extreme when Isleta was abandoned, had perceptibly di-

minished. There was no place where they might hope to replen-

ish their food supply, or to refill their almost empty ammunition

pouches.^ Accordingly, the march was resumed from El Alto,

and four days later (August 24) the pueblo of Socorro, near the

center of the friendly Piros nation, was reached.

Upon the arrival at that place several circumstances combined

to influence Garcia to make arrangements at once for returning to

the northern jurisdiction. The inhabitants of Socorro, like those

of Sevilleta, were found quiet and still friendly toward the Span-

iards. When it was learned that the latter were abandoning the

province, the natives of Socorro and Sevilleta expressed their de-

termination to go with them, being afraid, since they had not

been invited to join the revolt, that the northern tribes would

attack and destroy them.^ Feeling a certain sense of security in

Socorro, therefore, Garcia decided to fortify that pueblo as a

means of protection to the women and children, and, after at-

tempting to secure men, arms, ammunition, and provisions from

the supply train which was supposed by that time to be some-

Yv'here near them, to return to Santa Fe.^

The supply train, as was pointed out in the account of the

revolt, consisted of a number of wagon-loads of provisions and

munitions which the government had granted for the support and

protection of the missions of the province. It had left Mexico

the year before in charge of Father Ayeta, the custos and pro-

curator general of New Mexico; and, in order that it might have

safe convoy, Otermin had despatched, some weeks previously, a

troop of thirty men under Pedro de Leiva, to meet it at El Paso

and conduct it up the river.^ It was Garcia's intention, upon the

receipt of these reinforcements from the supply train, to leave a

small garrison at Socorro, and then, with all the force that would

^Auttos tocantes, 23.

'Auto of Garcia, in Auttos tocantes, 21,

*Auttos tocantes, 23, 26.
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follow him, to go to ascertain the fate of the governor, "or lose

his life in the attempt.'"^

An auto setting forth the above plans, together with an order

for their immediate execution, was made public in Socorro on

tlie day of arrival at that pueblo. At the same time Garcia gave

an opportunity for anyone who might not agree to the project,

to so express himself in writing. While the men in camp were

considering the proposals, Garcia, himself, it seems, was making

preparations to carry them out. But he soon found himself in

a "chaos of confusion,'^ on account of the scarcity of arms, am-

munition, and other supplies, either for an offensive or for a de-

fensive campaign. Moreover, signs of hostility on the part of the

Socorro Indians had been discovered. lie therefore decided to.

suspend operations, call a junta of all the men of practical mili-

tary experience, and to decide thereafter what was best.^

On the same day, accordingly, all the soldiers who were at

Socorro met in assembly.^ The first man to speak was Maestro

de Campo Thome Domlnguez de Mendoza, a person who had

held responsible positions in the province both in peace and war.

Mendoza began his remarks by summarizing the events of the

revolt. He told how many citizens of the province had been

killed, and how the Eio Abajo survivors had been able only "by

the very skin of their teeth" to assemble in Isleta. He told how,

after the Spaniards had collected there, the natives of that pueblo

had become warlike, and how the refugees, fearing death, had

held a consultation and decided to retreat toward Mexico until

they should meet the supply-train. But especially did he dwell

upon the present condition of the refugees. Practically defense-

^Auto otf Garcia, in Auttos tocantes, 21-22.

UUd.
^Auttos tocantes, 22. Tlie original sources for the events here re-

corded are a series of autos signed by Garcia and the different men wh.o
expi-essed their opinions concerning his plans. All these autos, with the
exception of tliat of Luis de Granillo, and the last one of Garcfa, were
written "en el pueblo del socorro en Veinte y quatro dias del mes de
agosto de mil y seis cientes y ochenta anos." The last two in question,
however, were written "en este paraje enfrente del pueblo del socorro en
veinte y seis dias del mes de agosto." It thus appears that Garcia did

not record his answer to tlie opinions expressed by his officers until the
second day following the council, at which time the pueblo of Socorro had
already been abandoned.
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less and without munitions, the camp had the dreaded Apaches

ever in sight. Some of the Piros Indians, among whom the Span-

iards then were, and who had hitherto shown no unfriendly dis-

position, were becoming hostile. This was shown by the fact

that when a messenger from the northern rebels had arrived

among them, they had hid him for three days, at the end of

which time he was discovered. The small supply of provisions

with which they had started out from Isleta was almost exhausted,

while a number of refugees, including several of the religious,

were ill. For these reasons, and because the actual condition of

the governor's division could not be ascertained from the report

of Herrera and Chavez, Mendoza was of the opinion that the

force ought not to be divided, but that all should go together to

meet the supply-train and its escort. Having met the train, he

thought, a body of men should be sent to ascertain the fate of

those in Santa Fe, in order that a true report might be sent to

the King. To do otherwise would mean death to both those left

behind and those in the villa. Such, he said, was what he con-

scientiously believed to be "most fitting to the service of God and

the King,'' and in the interest of the safety of the whole body of

people,^

Following Mendoza seventeen other officers spoke. All but one

insisted that their force should not be divided by sending a part

of them to meet the wagons, as Garcia had ordered, since in

their absence the apostates, allied as they were with the Apaches,

might attack the camp, the result of which would be fatal to all.

The only dissenting opinion came from Captain Don Fernando

Duran y Chavez, who said that, leaving the camp guarded, it

would be "fitting to return to the villa of Santa Fe in order to

know for a certainty" whether its inhabitants were dead or alive.^

Two days later (August 26), in "this place opposite the pueblo

of Socorro"—from this it seems that they had already moved out

^Auttos tocantes, 22-23.

-Ihid., 23-27. The names of the men above referred to are herewith

given. The maestre de campo, Juan Dominguez de Mendoza; the sar-

jcnios mayores, Don Pedro Duran y Chavez, Sebastian de Herrera, Don
Fernando '

de Chavez, Cristobal Enriquez, Antonio de Salas ; and the

captains, Felipe Romero, Pedro Marquez, Ignacio Baca, Juan Luis the

elder, Joseph Tellez Xiron, Pedro de Sedillo, Juan Luis the younger,

Diego Dominguez de Mendoza, Antonio de Alvigu, Pedro Varela Xaramillo,

and Don Fernando Duran y Chavez.
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of Socorro—the last man gave his opinion. This was Sarjento

Mayor Liiis de Granillo, also referred to as "Alcalde and coypitan

d gue/i-ra of the jurisdiction of the Xemes and Queres Indians, pro-

curator general of these provinces, and regidor of the villa of

Santa Fe."

The account, given elsewhere, which at that time he made of

the revolt at Jemez, Sia, and in Eio Abajo, is fuller and even

more important than the opinion which he expressed concerning

the question at issue. Suffice it to say here, therefore, that hav-

ing called attention to their lack of supplies, and to the fact that

the majority of the people at Socorro were "naked, on foot, and

barefooted," all of which caused "shudders of horror at the sight

thereof," Granillo emphatically declared that the whole body of

the people ought to go on together to meet the wagons, before the

Indians might advance and destroy them all.^

At the same time that Granillo gave his opinion Garcia him-

self drew up an auto summarizing his reasons for continuing the

retreat. He stated that in the junta, where all the many diffi-

culties that surrounded them had been fully discussed, he had come

to realize that there was nothing else to be done, especially since

they had no suitable place in which to resist the enemy in case of an

attack. Considering, therefore, his obligation to so many de-

fenseless women and children, he deemed it best to reserve all his

efforts until after he had met the wagons containing the royal

alms, concerning which he had lately had occasion to be alarmed,

because of the report that the Indians down the river were allied

in the revolt. (It will be remembered that the northern tribes

told the Spaniards while the revolt was in progress that all who

might escape them would be killed by the Mansos Indians.)

Therefore, having recorded all the autos of the revolt and of the

march, together with all the opinions of the men as expressed at

Socorro, that all might stand as evidence of his reason for such

action, Garcia ordered that the retreat should be continued at

once. 2

On September 4, when next heard of, Garcia and the Rio Abajo

refugees were at a place called Fray Cristobal, described as be-

^Auttos tocantes, 27-28.

^Auto of Garcfa, in Auttos tocantes, 29.
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ing sixteen leagues south of Socorro, six leagues beyond the in-

habited part of the province, nine leagues below the pueblo of

Senecii, and approximately fifty-seven leagues from the pass of

the Rio del Norte.'^ On the details of the retreat from Socorro

thither no light is thrown, nor is it stated when that place was

reached. September 4, at Fray Cristobal, however, proved an

eventful day. At that time, or perhaps earlier, Garcia received a

letter written by Father Ayeta at El Paso on August 28. In this

letter Ayeta notified the lieutenant-general that Leiva would start

on August 30 from El Paso with aid for the Rio Abajo refugees.^

On the same day Father Francisco Farfan and four soldiers

reached Fray Cristobal from the northern division of refugees

with a letter^ and certain instructions from Otermin for Garcia.

Otermin states that he sent orders for the Rio Abajo people to

return to the pueblo of Senecu,^ nine leagues above Fray Cristo-

bal, there to await the arrival of the northern division. Father

Sierra writing at Fray Cristobal on September 4 states that the

Rio Abajo division was instructed to await Otermin's division in

whatever pla.ce his message should be received.^ Whatever the

order, it is certain that either Garcia did not construe it to mean

that he was to return to the pueblo of Senecu, or else ignored it.

^"Autto (de Otermin)," in Auttos tocantes, 31; Auto of Otermin, in

Hid., 12; "Carta del Padre Fr. Francisco de Ayeta escrita al R. P.

Comisario General (Dec. 20, 1680)," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 543; "Autto y
dilijencia," in Auttos tocantes, 43; Vetancur, Chronica de la Provincia

del Santo Evangelio de Mexico, 98. Lummis in his translation of Esca-

lante's "Letter" (Land of Sunshine, XII, 250) calls this place San Cris-

tobal, and in brackets states that the text has it "fray" Cristobal. The
latter is correct, and Lummis is wrong in judging that the halt was made
at San Cristobal, instead O'f Fray Cristobal, for the former was a Tanos
pueblo, south of Galisteo, while the latter was only a designated halt of

the Rio Abajo people in the unsettled part of the province between
Socorro and El Paso.

^"Carta del R. P. Procurador F. Francisco de Ayeta al Exmo. Sr.

Virrey," in N. Mex. Doc, 1, 526.

^I have not had access to this letter but am dependent for the fact

that it was written upon, "Carta del R. P. Procurador Fr. Francisco de

Ayeta al Exmo. Sr. Virrey (Sept. 11, 1680)," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 527;

"Carta del Padre Fr. Antonio de Sierra para el Padre Visitador (Sept. 4,

1680)," in lUd., 522.

*"Mandamto de Prision contra la persona del theniente gel alonso

gargia," in Auttos tocantes, 13.

^"Carta del Padre F. Antonio de Sierra para el Padre Visitador (Sept.

4, 1680)," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 520-21.



Retreat of the Spaninrds from New Mexico in 1680 145

Shortly after receiving this news, accompanied by six men^ he

set out to meet the governor with some horses,^ leaving in com-

mand in his place Maestre de Campo Thome Dominguez de

Mendoza.^

In his letter to Garcia, Otermin had instructed the lieutenant-

general to notify Father Ayeta to send him much needed aid as

soon as possible.* Accordingly, before setting out to meet the

governor, Garcia wrote to Ayeta advising him of the above-men-

tioned facts. At the same time Father Antonio Sierra wrote to

Ayeta giving him more detailed information concerning the ruin

which had befallen his religious order. Both letters were de-

spatched from Fray Cristobal on September 4 by the same mes-

sengers who had brought Ayeta's letter of August 28.^

From this time until the Rio Abajo people were overtaken by

Otermin's division on September 13, very little light is thrown

upon events at Fray Cristobal; what is known can best be dis-

cussed in subsequent pages.

II. THE AREIVAL OF FATHER AYETA WITH AID FROM MEXICO

As was pointed out in the story of the revolt, when Garcia and

his soldiers evacuated Isleta on August 14, it was with the hope

that they would soon meet the wagon train of supplies which

Father Ayeta, the cusiodio and procurador general of New Mexico,

was conducting from Mexico for the missionaries of the province.'^

Later, as we have just seen, Socorro was abandoned for the express

purpose of meeting these wagons so that the immediate wants of

W. Mex. Doc, I, 521.

^Notificasion y Prision—," in Auttos tocantes, 14. Gregg {Commerce
of the Prairies, Vol. I, p. 127) and Davis {The Spanish Conquest of New
Mexico, p. 298) say that Garcfa carried provisions and some carts. I
can find no evidence of his having carried other than Vestias. It
must be remembered that at the time Garcia left Fray Cristobal Leiva
had not reached that place with the aid which he had started out from
El Paso with on August 30. Garcia was therefore in no condition to
furnish Otermin with supplies.

'"Carta (de Otermin a Parraga)," in Auttos tocantes, 31.

*"Carta Del teniente Gral Don Alonso Garcia para el Rdo Padre Pro-
curador (Sept. 4, 1680)," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 519.

^"Carta del R. P. Procurador Fr. Francisco de Ayeta al Exmo. Sr.
Virrey (Sept. 11, 1680)," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 526.

•The Quarterly, XV, 147.
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the refugees might be relieved sooner and that an expedition

might be better equipped and sent to ascertain the fate of the

northern settlers. At that time the train was supposed to be pro-

ceeding np the river at no great distance below Socorro, safely

escorted by Pedro de Leiva and some soldiers whom Otermin had

previously despatched to meet them. In this, however, the

refugees were mistaken, for at that time the train was still at

Guadalupe del Paso, over seventy leagues south of Socorro, and

it was not until August 25 that Father Ayeta and Leiva at that

place received news of the revolt. From that time on the activi-

ties of Father Ayeta, who was to become the real savior of the

New Mexican refugees, are both interesting and important, for it

was he who was to furnish supplies for the actual wants of the

people, and who was also to go in person to Mexico City to report

on the condition of affairs following the revolt and the things

needed for a reconquest of the province.

Before discussing the efforts put forth after August 25 by

Father Ayeta and Leiva at El Paso for succoring Garcla's division,

which then was supposed to contain all the survivors of the re-

volt, it is necessary at this point to correct some of the misleading

statements that have been made concerning the supply-train which

Ayeta had in his charge at that time. Bancroft,^ for instance,

says in substance that in 1676 the condition in Xew Mexico was

such that a reenforcement of forty or fifty men was needed at once

if the province was to be saved; that Father Ayeta, having gone

to Mexico for succor, was preparing to start with a wagon train of

supplies for the missionaries ; that he made an earnest appeal for

fifty men and one thousand horses to accompany the train; that

the junta approved the measure on September 9th, perhaps of

1677 ;^ that the viceroy reported to the king his resolution to send

aid on January 13, 1678; that the king approved on June 18th;

and finally, that after an unaccountable delay, the train started

from the city of Mexico on the 29th or 30th of September, 1679.

^Arizona and New Mexico, 171.

^The copy which I have used of the proceedings of the Junta Grcneral

herein referred to reads, "Mexico nuebe de Septiembre de mil seyssientos

y settenta j seys anos" (see "Autos tocantes a socorros del Nuebo Mexco.
," 4), while Bancroft's own copy reads, "9 de Setiembre de 1676 anos"

(see N. Hex. Doc. MS., I, p. 509).
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From these statements it can readily be seen that Bancroft sup-

posed that only one supply-train was sent from Mexico City, in

charge of Ayeta, for the succor of the northern provinces between

1677 and 1680, when, as a matter of fact, there were two. For a

clear understanding of the whole situation a brief summary of the

facts is pertinent.

It was the policy at that time for the king to grant every three

years, for the support of the religious order in New Mexico, the

sum of 61,440 pesos, paid at his command by the Eeal Hacienda

of Mexico.^ In 1676 Father Ayeta went to Mexico City to col-

lect this triennial gift, which he planned to transport to New
Mexico in twenty-five wagons.^ But besides this commission, he

was entrusted with another. In September of that year Ayeta,

with authority from and in behalf of the governor of New Mexico

and the Cabildo of Santa Fe, presented a formal petition to the

viceroy, Don Payo de Rivera, asking for reenforcements in the form

of men, arms, horses, and ammunition to enable the province to

withstand the continued invasions of the Apaches and their heathen

allies.^ The number of men asked' for was fifty, to be armed and

provided with twelve horses each, and whose duty it should be to

guard the frontiers. In addition, arms for fifty citizens of the prov-

ince, one thousand horses in all, and supplies sufficient to conduct

the same to New Mexico were asked for, all to be provided at an ap-

proximate cost of 14,700 pesos, besides the supplies which were to

be carried to the religious.* To support the petition which he pre-

sented. Father Ayeta included in it transcripts of the royal cedulas

of June 3, 1570, May, 1600, and May 20, 1620, giving the vice-

roys authority to take such measures as might be deemed neces-

sary for the pacification of the Indians of New Spain. Father

Ayeta concluded by urging that the authority thus granted by the

royal cedulas cited be applied in the case of New Mexico before it

should be too late.^

^Report of Ayeta to the Junta General, January 9, 1681, in Auttos
tocantes, 107; Proceedings of the Junta General, January 17, 1681, in

Ibid., 114.

"^Autos tocantes a socorros del Nuebo Mexco ," 1.

mid.
*Ihid.

Uhid., 1-2.
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Besides his own petition, Father Ayeta presented also an opin-

ion {consul ta) from the definitorio of the Franciscan missions of

'New Mexico, and a report (informe) made by the governor of that

province.^ These reports, after they had been presented to the

viceroy, were referred by him to the auditor general de guerra,

Don Francisco Fernandez Marmolejo. On September 2, Mar-

molejo, in a report to the viceroy, favored sending the desired aid

to New Mexico.2 The viceroy next sent the petition of Father

•Ayeta and the accompanying autos to the royal fiscal, Don Martin

Soils de Miranda. That officer in reviewing the conditions in

New Mexico as he found them stated in the autos of the governor

and definitorio of the province, pointed out in substance that the

invasions of the Apaches and their allies had been so disastrous

that five settlements had been totally destroyed; that churches had

been burned, and their furnishings, including an image of Nuestra

Senora, carried off by the apostates to be made use of in their

dances and sacrileges; that on October 7, 1672, Father Pedro de

Ayala, minister of the pueblo of Ajusco, had been killed, and like-

wise that on January 23, 1675, the same fate had befallen Father

Alonso Oil de Avila,^ minister of the pueblo of Senecii; that the

^"Autos tocantes a socorros del Nuebo Mexco 2. I have not had
access to the original documents referred to above, but the latter are

mentioned and summarized in the autos of the viceroy and the other offi-

cials contained in "Autos tocantes a socorros del Nuebo Mexco ."

-"Autos tocantes a socorros del Nuebo Mexco 2.

^Bancroft mentions this occurrence in his Arizona and New Mexico, p.

171. The copy of the source cited by him reads, "y al Padre Fr. Alonso
Gril de Avila Ministro del pueblo del Renecuey el dia 23 de Enero del

ano pasado de 1675," The copy which I have used reads, "y al Padre
fray Alonso Gil de Abila ministro del Pueblo de Zenectl en el dia Veinte

y Tres de henero del ano passado de seyssientos y settenta y cinco." On
page 182 op. cit., Bancroft cites Arlegui [Chronica de la Provinda d^
8. Francisco de Zacatecas, ed. 1737) for his authority in stating that

"a P. Alonzo Gil , in this revolt (1680) or some other, appeared at

the window of the church where the Christians had taken refuge, and
wag shot while trying to appease the rebels." In this connection Ban-
croft fails to note that beyond all reasonable doubt the Father Alonso
Gil de Avila mentioned in his copy of the source cited is identical

with the Father Alonso Gil mentioned by Arlegui in the passage cited.

According to that author (Chronica, etc., p. 250, ed. 1737), Father Gil

and some Spaniards were besieged in the church (at Senucu). The
priest, on appearing at the window with a crucifix in his hand in the
attempt to pacify the natives, was shot in the breast with an arrow,
from the effects of which he died shortly afterward at the foot of the

crucifix in the altar. The other Spaniards in the church were soon after-

ward aided by some soldiers and all escaped.
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natives had lost their respect and reverence for the missionaries;

that the defensive force in the frontier settlements amounted to

only five soldiers; that Santa Fe itself had only ten such defend-

ers, while many of the citizens of the villa had neither arms nor

horses, since they had been carried off by the Indians.^ Accord-

ingly it was stated that if the request was not granted the danger

was imminent not only that all the settlements of New Mexico,

but even those of Nueva Vizcaya, would be destroyed.^

For all the above reasons, the fiscal stated in his report to the

viceroy on September 5, 1676, that he thought it would be inex-

cusable not to grant the aid asked for by the governor and the

definitorio of New Mexico, pointing out that royal authority was

not lacking, as the cfdulas cited by Father Ayeta showed. At the

same time he recommended that the viceroy refer the matter to

the Junta General de Hacienda.^ This was done, and on Septem-

ber 9, 1676,* it was resolved by that body that the viceroy should

order the officials of the royal treasury to aid "this time only and

no more" the province of New Mexico, with the people, arms,

horses, and munitions asked for.^ Accordingly, the treasury offi-

cials were instructed to provide all the necessaries and entrust

them to Father Ayeta, who was to conduct them to New Mexico

in the twenty-five wagons in which he was also to carry the sup-

plies for the missionaries.^

On September 22, 1676, the treasury officials, with the help of

Father Ayeta, compiled a detailed estimate of what should be

bought, together with an itemized account of the cost. Money

was allowed for the following: fifty soldiers to guard the fron-

tiers; eight women to accompany the train to make tortillas and

cook for the men; one thousand horses (to be bought in Guadiana,

now Durango), twelve being allowed to each frontier guardsman;

twelve men to drive the horses; supplies for the caravan sufficient

to last six months, the usual time required to make such a journey

^"Autos tocantes a socorros del Nuebo Mexco ," 2-3.

Uhid., 3.

'Ibid., 3.

*See note 2, page 146.

"^"Autos tocantes k socorros del Nuebo Mexco 3.

*Ibid., 3.
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from Mexico City to Santa Fe ; and other miscellaneous provisions.

The total cost was 14,700 pesos.^

The aid thus granted by the Junta General and collected and

paid for by the treasury officials, was sent to New Mexico in 1677.

Proof of this is shown by the following facts. In a royal

cedula^ of June 18, 1678, the king stated that on January 13

of the same year the viceroy wrote to him giving an account of

the appeal for aid which had been received from New Mexico, and

informing him that after the matter had been deliberated upon in

the Junta General, that body had made provision for the aid in

men, arms, horses, and munitions asked for,^ before referring the

matter to him, since the total cost of the supplies did not amount

to more than 14,700 pesos. The king concluded the cedula by

adding that he approved all that had been done for the support

of New Mexico, and asked that he be kept informed as to the

condition of affairs there and the results which might follow the

grant of supplies. Again, in a cedula of June 25, 1680, the

king mentioned the fact that on June 18, 1678, he approved the

aid of people, arms, and horses which the viceroy "sent to the

provinces of New Mexico in 1677."* This is conclusive proof

that the supply-train which left Mexico in 1679 was not identical,

as Bancroft supposed,^ with the one which Ayeta asked for in

1676 and received in 1677.

Concerning the supply-train that left Mexico in 1679, some

facts are known. In the early part of that year Father Ayeta re-

turned to Mexico to receive the triennial gift of 61,440 pesos.^ At

the same time he represented to the authorities in Mexico in a

letter directed to them and dated May 28, 1679, the advantages

and benefits that had resulted from the aid that had been sent in

^"Autos tocantes a socorros del Nuebo Mexco 5-8.

"In Nuevo Mexico Cedulas (Bancroft Collection), folio 9-11.

^"y consultandolo vos con la Junta Gral de la Hazienda dispusisteis

el socorro qe. se resolvio tie cinqta. hombres," etc. N. Mex. Ced., 10.

^Cedula of June '25, 1680, in Auttos tocanies, 94. " que por zedula

de Diez y ocho de Junio de mil seiscientos j setenta y ocho le aprove el

socorro de gente Armas y cavallos que el ano de seisoientos y setenta y
siete remitio a las Provas del nuevo Mexico."

^Arizona and New Mexico, 171.

"Report of Ayeta to the Junta General, January 9, 1681, in Auttos
tocantes, 107. Proceedings of the Junt^ General, January 17, 16S1, in

Ihid., 114.
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1677, and asked, for the greater security of those provinces, that

fifty more soldiers be provided for a period of ten years, so that

a presidio might be established/ The matter was taken under

advisement by the fiscal of the Audiencia in Mexico City, but that

official recommended that the matter of sending further aid to

the secular authorities of New Mexico be suspended for the

present,^ thereby causing the plan to fall through. On June 19,

1679, the viceroy wrote to the king informing him of the facts

stated, and at the same time enclosed affidavits of the correspond-

ence between Ayeta and the Mexican authorities.^ In reply the

king issued a cedula of June 25, 1680, in which he stated that,

because of the benefits that had resulted from the former aid that

had been sent to New Mexico, proof of which was contained in the

letter of Father Ayeta of May 28, 1679, he ordered the viceroy to

apply all the means possible for supplying New Mexico with such

aid and defence as might be deemed useful and necessary. He con-

cluded by stating that "you know this [the conversion of the In-

dians of New Mexico] is my principal care and desire"; and by

requesting that he be informed on every occasion offered concern-

ing the state of affairs in that turbulent province. By the time

this cedula reached New Spain, however, the ruin which Father

Ayeta had asserted to be imminent, had already befalien unfor-

tunate New Mexico.

Having failed in his efforts to secure aid for the secular au-

thorities in the province, Ayeta started from Mexico City on Sat-

urday, September 30, 1679,* with twenty-eight wagon loads of

provisions for the missionaries, though at the start two of the

^Cedula of June 25, 1680, in Auttos tocantes, 94.

'Ihid.

^1 have not had access to the letter of June 19, 1079, from the viceroy
to the king, nor to the letter of May 28, 1679, from Father Ayeta to the
viceroy. They are both mentioned and summarized, however, in the royal
cedula of June 25, 1680, in Auttos tocantes, 94-5.

*Robles, "Diario de los Afios 1665 a 1703," in Doc. Hist Mex., 1st

series, volume 2, page 289. Notwithstanding that this is the same au-
thority cited for his statement, Bancroft says that the train left Mexico
on the 29th or 30th of September. {Arizona and New Mevcico, 171.) I

can find no authority in the sources used by Bancroft for his further state-

ment that with the wagons went some troops {Ihid., 172), and, as I

have already pointed out, the sources which 1 have used state plainly
that the request for troops in 1679 was not granted.
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wagons broke down.^ According to Ayeta^s own statement, be-

sides the alms which he was carrying to the missionaries of x^ew

Mexico, he also carried 14,000 pesos' worth of supplies for other

northern settlers and missionaries which he had asked for and re-

ceived. Of this amount 8000 pesos' worth belonged to Captain

Joseph de Eetes for citizens of his province, while the other

6000 pesos' worth consisted of clothing for the missionaries of the

same district.^ It is thus seen that there was no "unaccountable

delay" in the departure of the 1679 supply-train, as Bancroft has

stated.^

The progress of the wagons from Mexico had been slow, and

although six months was the time usually required for such a trip

to Santa Fe, by August 25, 1680, they had not passed beyond the

monastery of Guadalupe, near the pass of the Eio del isTorte.*

When the wagons reached that place I do not know, yet it is pos-

sible that they had been there for some time. The river was on a

rise, due to the melting of the snow on the mountains, which

usually begins earlier in the summer, and this may account for

the caravan's not having continued further. With the wagons at

this time were the soldiers under the command of Pedro de Leiya,

who had been despatched by Otermin to meet them at El Paso and

conduct them up the river. This fact should be noted, for had

there been any troops with the wagons that set out from Mexico

in September, 1679, as Bancroft supposed, it would have been un-

necessary for Otermin to send his own much-needed soldiers to

meet and escort them.

It was from these wagons and the escort that was with them

that Garcia was expecting to secure aid. On September 4, how-

ever, at which time he set out from Fray Cristobal to meet

Otermin, Garcia had not heard anything in reply to the letters

which he and Father Diego de Mendoza had sent to Leiva and

Father Ayeta previous to August 20, the day that Herrera and

Chavez overtook the Rio Abajo division with news which seemed to

^Robles, "Diario," etc., p. 289. It will be remembered that Ayeta car-

ried twenty-five wagons in 1677.

^Eeport of Ayeta to the Junta General, January 9, 1681, in Auttos
tocantes, 107.

^Bancroft, Arizona and New Mexico, 171.

^Carta de Ayeta a el Virey, in N. Mex. Doc, I, 565.
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indicate that some of the northern settlers had survived in Santa

Fe. These letters of Garcia and Father Mendoza were received

by Leiva and Father Ayeta at El Paso on August 25, at eight

o'clock in the morning. Immediately Leiva and his men assem-

bled to confer upon the bad news which they contained, while the

religions repaired to the monastery of G-uadalupe for a season of

prayer. It was finally decided to prepare and start aid to Garcia

by August 28. Accordingly the 26th and 27th were spent in

unloading the wagons, and in making necessary preparations.

On the night of the 27th, as Father Ayeta affirms, the full

danger surrounding all was realized. The departure of the sup-

plies was delayed, and on August 28, instead of despatching them

as intended,^ Ayeta sent a letter to Garcia by Indian runners, in-

forming him that aid would be started on August 30, and sug-

gesting that in the interim he should halt in some convenient

place, attempt to fortify it, and then send messengers to guide

the train, which would by that time be on the way. Ayeta re-

quested this because, as he stated, they were all badly confused on

account of the m.eager reports which at that time they had re-

ceived.^ At El Paso the 28th and 29th were spent in arming and

equipping the servants (mosos) whom Leiva's escort of twenty-

seven^ men had with them when they came from New Mexico,

that they might accompany the aid sent to the refugees further up

the river. It was found that in all there were seventy-eight arque-

buses in first-class condition, and with these fifty-one more men
were armed..'' Before starting Ayeta insisted upon the selection

^"Carta del Padre Visitador a el Exmo. Sr. Virrey (Aug. 31, 1680),"
in N. Mex. Doc, 1, 569-71.

have not had access to the letter of August 28 from Ayeta to

Garcia, but the above information is summarized in the "Carta del R.
P. Procurador Fr. Francisco de Ayeta al Exmo. Sr. Virrey (September
11, 1680)," lin N. Mex. Doc, I, p. 526.

*Ayeta speaks as though Leiva had only twenty-seven men under his

command at the pass, though Otermin states that he had despatched
Leiva with thirty men to meet the wagons. "Autto (de Otermin)," in

Auttos tocantes, 15.

*"Carta del Padre Visitador a el Exmo. Sr. Virrey (August 31, 1680),"
in A"^. Mex. Doc, I, p. 571. Don Juan Villagutierre y Soto-mayor, who
published in 1701 his Historia de la Gonquista y Redvcciones de lo9

Itzaex y Lacandones en la America Septentrional, and who was, there-
fore, practically speaking, contemporary with the revolt, has a fairly-

good, though brief account of the Indian uprising in New Mex)ico in

1680, notwithstanding a number of manifest errors. In Book III, Chap.
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of Leiva as provisional governor, Ayeta himself conducting the

election; for, having reason to believe that Otermin was dead,

he objected to their setting out without an authorized leader.

Thereby, Ayeta stated, all the inconveniences that might arise, in

case of Otermin's death, from the rivalry for leadership, were

averted. On the 30th the cavalcade, consisting of seventy-eight

soldiers and four missionaries, set out under Leiva's command.

Of these, the twenty-seven men who had come from New Mexico,

Ayeta remarked, formed the bulwark of strength. ^ Among the

things mentioned by Ayeta as having been carried by Leiva and

his men were eWen complete outfits for horses ;2 coats of mail,

helmets, etc., which Ayeta had for the protection of the men con-

ducting the wagons; four pounds of powder and a hundred bullets

in each pouch; 4000 bales of provisions (balas de refaccion) ; and

two cases of powder.^ It is thus seen that Leiva was better prepared

to furnish means of defense to the refugees than to succor their

bodily wants. And, as we shall see, the supplies which he carried

proved wholly insufficient for the 2500 persons whom he met later.

Ayeta instructed Leiva that as soon as he should meet the refugees,

he should send the women and children to El Paso, since Leiva and

his men were fully determined to continue as far as Santa Fe for

the purpose of aiding the governor if possible, or at least of learn-

ing the northern settlers' fate, so that a true and accurate report

XI, p. 206, for instance, he states that Leiva had one hundred men when
he started out from the pass, and that he carried an abundance of all

that was necessary for the refugees. The letter which I have cited as

the source for my statement was written by Father Ayeta the day after

Leiva and his party left El Paso. In this letter Ayeta definitely settles

the question by stating that seventy-eight soldiers and four religious formed
the relief party. Moreover, while Ayeta does not give a detailed in-

ventory of all that these men carried, we know that there was not an
abundance of all that was necessary for the refugees, as Villagutierre

has stated. This is shown by the fact, as will be pointed out more
fully later on, that the day after Leiva met the northern division near
Alamillo, Otermin, realizing the impossibility of proceeding to El Paso
without additional supplies, despatched urgent requests to Ayeta for fur-

ther aid, and, as we shall see, before this reached them they were in the

direst necessity. (See Auto of Otermm, in Auttos tocantes, 31. In this

connection it may also be stated that Francisco de Thoma in his His-

toria Popular de Nuevo Mexico makes the mistake of saying that Leiva
set out from the pass with thirty men. Op. cit., p. 93.)

W. Mex. Doc., I, 572-3.

^Once ternos de armas enteras de caballos.

^N. Mex. Doc, I, 573-4.
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might be sent to the king.^ It was Father Ayeta's purpose to

send back with a second consignment of supplies the men whom
Leiva might detail to accompany the women and children to the

pass, together with as many other men as he could spare from the

train guard, as well as some men who were with a pack train

which he had despatched to Casas Grandes for aid. In order

to hasten these arrangements, Ayeta himself remained at El Paso,

engaged, as he himself states, in making meal, hardtack, cocinas,

and bullets.^

As we have already seen, the letter which Ayeta sent to Garcia

on August 28 had been received by him at Fray Cristobal by Sep-

tember 4. On the same day he and Father Sierra sent other let-

ters to Father Ayeta briefly informing him of some of the events

that had taken place in the northern jurisdictions, of the retreat

of the survivors of those jurisdictions, and of Otermln^s re-

quest that aid be sent him at once. The messengers bearing

these letters set out from Fray Cristobal on the morning of Sep-

tember 4z, but through fear of the enemy they soon deviated from

the camino real. That evening, toward sundowTi, while resting on

a mountain, they descried Leiva proceeding up the river. The

runners, by signals, informed him that the lower camp of refu-

gees was only nine leagues further on. The messengers then con-

tinued their journey, reaching El Paso prior to the 8th of Sep-

tember.^ The news which they carried was Ayeta's first infor-

mation that the governor and the northern settlers were not all

dead. From the fact that at sundown on September 4 Leiva with

his supplies was only nine leagues from Fray Cristobal, Ayeta

judged that he must have reached the Eio Abajo people by Sep-

tember 5, and that from there he had proceeded with succor for

Otermin.* More will be said on this point in connection with

Otermin's retreat, which will now be considered.

^"Autto (de Otermln)," in Auttos tocantes, 15.

''"Carta del Padre Visitador a el Exmo. Sr. Virrey (August 31, 1680),"
in N. Mex. Doc, I, 575.

'Letter of Ayeta to Otermin, September 8, 1680, in Auttos tocantes, 41.

*"Carta del R. P. Procurador Fr. Francisco de Ayeta al Exmo. Sr.
Virrey (September 11, 1680)," in N. Mex. Doc., I, p. 526-28.
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III. THE RETREAT OF OTERMIN^S DIVISION TO FRAY CRISTOBAL

On August 21, as previously noted, Governor Otermin and the

survivors of the siege of Santa Fe decided to evacuate that place.

It was their purpose in so doing to unite with the Eio Abajo
refugees, who, as they thought, were in Isleta, but who, as we have

just seen, had already begun to retreat a week previously, and were

at that time nearing the pueblo of Socorro, twenty-five leagues fur-

ther south. The events of the retreat of Otermin's division are

much more fully recorded than are those connected with the re-

treat of Garcia's division, and from the governor's autos we can

get a very good account of his movements up to the time when

the Eio Abajo division was overtaken.

The first halt mentioned after the abandonment of Santa Fe

was made near the pueblo of San Marcos on August 23. On
that day while the army was resting at an arroyo near that

place, the sarjento mayor^ Bernabe Marquez, and eight other sol-

diers, brought into camp a captive Tewa Indian named Antonio.

Otermin thereupon took the opportunity, as he ever afterward

did when a rebel was captured, to examine the prisoner concern-

ing his knowledge of the revolt, and his reasons for taking part

in it. According to his own testimony, Antonio had been a serv-

ant of Marquez, and, as such, had been with him in the casas

rtales during the progress of the siege. However, because he be-

lieved that the Spaniards would either be destroyed or else forced

to leave the country, and not wishing to go with them in the

latter case, he decided to desert his master. The day after mak-

ing his escape he learned that the Spaniards had abandoned Santa

Fe. Thereupon he returned thither, where he found a great many
Indians ransacking the caso.s reales and carrying out what prop-

erty the Spaniards had been unable to take with them. Among
those taking part in this pillage, Antonio recognized a large num-

ber of Indians from Taos and Picuris, though there were also

natives from every part of the province. A Tesuque Indian, named

Roque, in commenting upon the number of dead Indians to be

seen in the houses, streets, and plaza, had told him that the rebels

did not regard their loss any greater than that of the Spaniards;

and further, that it did not make any difference if the latter had
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gone away;^ since the Indians could live as they wished and where

they pleased. Eoque also told Antonio that the rebels were talk-

ing of uniting in a narrow pass near the house of Cristobal de

Anaya, for the purpose of again attacking the Spaniards when

they should pass that place.^ On the next day Antonio left Santa

Fe, where pillage had not yet ended, and went back to the estancia

of his former master. There he was found hiding in a field when

captured and carried before the governor.^

The next day the army had proceeded about a league from San

Marcos, when two divisions of Indians were seen on some rocks

and mesas, making smoke signals to their allies. There was no

offer of battle, however, and soon afterward the army reached

Santo Domingo. There were found the dead bodies of the priests

and of the other residents of the pueblo. The church, convent,

and sacristy had been practically unharmed, and in them were

found the images and other furnishings, all of which were col-

lected and turned over to Father Francisco Gomez de la Cadena.

Passing Santo Domingo the march was continued until sundown,

no more Indians being seen that day.

The next morning a ruse of the enemy came near costing the

Spaniards the lives of some of their men. While the army was

preparing to break camp, a small number of Indians was noticed

on the other side of the river with some horses ranging at large,

evidently to induce the Spaniards to attempt to take them. One

of the soldiers, Juan Eamos, however, on going down to the river,

discovered that a large body of the enemy was in ambush on the

other bank. As soon as they became aware that they were de-

tected, and that their intentions were understood, the Indians

rose up from their hiding place and fired two shots at him.

Many other Indians, on foot and on horseback, now joined those

in ambush on the west bank, where they made hostile demonstra-

tions, though they did not attempt to cross the swollen river.

^He evidently meant that it did not matter much that the Spaniards,
instead of having been killed, had only been driven out.

^This is the only evidence that the Indians had any such inten-

tions. It seems strange that such a plan was not carried out, however,
for the Spaniards would doubtless liave been pii easy prey for the In-
dians had they attacked them in the open.

*Declaracion de un indio alsado," in Autios tocantes, 9.
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Otermin at once gave the order for the army to proceed; after

which a number of Indians swam the stream and followed the

Spaniards at a safe distanse. A little later the Christian Tanos

Indian before-mentioned, Pedro Garcia, closely pursued by the

apostates, was able to join the Spaniards. This Indian, it will be

recalled, was at Galisteo when the revolt began there, but not wish-

ing to take part in it had attempted to escape to the Spaniards with

his wife and an orphan Indian girl. The two women, however,

were captured by the rebels, as Garcia would have been had

not a number of Spanish soldiers gone out to meet and rescue

him. The Indians made no offensive movements, however, and

some time later the pueblo of San Felipe was reached. That

pueblo, like the others, was found entirely deserted. No more In-

dians were seen at all until sundown, when a number were noticed

spying on them from the mesas, though they gave no signs of

hostility.

The next morning at daybreak still other Indians were seen

watching the movements of the Spaniards. Some of these spys,

as soon as the refugees broke camp, swam their horses across the

river and inspected the abandoned camping place of the retreat-

ing army, after which they recrossed the stream. Although some

of the Indians came so close as to be clearly seen by the Span-

iards, no hostilities were begun by either side.

As the Spaniards now approached the narrow pass near the

house of Cristobal de Anaya, Otermin ordered the utmost care

and vigilance to be observed, for it was there, the Indian Antonio

had said, that the natives w^ere to make another attack. To

guard against this, Otermin ordered that the height be covered

with mounted soldiers, and that the people generally prepare them-

selves to resist the enemy in case the necessity should arise. With

these preparations made, the march was continued, unmolested by

the Indians, though a large number of them were seen on the

mesas. A quarter of a league furtlier on the estancia of Pedro

de Cuellar was reached, and a little beyond that, those of Cris-

tobal de Anaya and Agustin de Carbajal. At those places the

murders and atrocities elsewhere noted were ascertained. The

Spaniards by that time had marched more than ten leagues.

Otermin decided to call a halt, therefore, in order that the In-
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dian Pedro Grarcia might give an account of the revolt at Galisteo,

the story of which has been already related.^

Having heard Grarcia's account, the order was given to march,

and later in the day (August 26) the pueblo of Sandia, two and

one-half leagues further on, was reached. There were seen evi-

dences of many outrages committed both in the church and

convent. The doors of the former had been stormed, and the

images, pictures, vases and other ornaments had been taken out.

All of the altars had been desecrated in the most indecent man-

ner, while on the main altar only a wooden image of St Francis,

with its arms broken and otherwise mutilated, remained. The

church, having been filled with straw, was ready to be burned;

in fact, it had been set afire in several places, though the fire

had apparently gone out without having done much damage. In

the convent the porteria was open, while the doors to the cells had

all been torn off, and everything in them had been carried away by

the enemy. All the broken images found in the church and con-

vent were put in the custody of Father Gomez de la Cadena, as

were some other images and pieces of silver found in the houses

of the pueblo. The march was now continued for half a league,

when a large number of Indians, some of them mounted and

others on foot, were seen on the hills, where they had collected a

large herd of cattle. From there the enemy with "much shame-

lessness and daring'' began to harass the Spaniards, shouting and

making hostile demonstrations, even shooting at them with arque-

^For the events of the retreat from San Marcos to the house of Cris-

t6bal de Anaya, see "Auto de marcho y paraxez," in Auttos tocantes,

10. It is apparent from the narrative of the retreat recorded in this

auto that Otermin heard Garcla's testimony on August 26. Proof of this

is as follows: The auto begins, "Despues de lo susodho aviendo salido

deste Paraje marchando el dia Veinte y quatro," etc. Sixteen lines fur-

ther along in the copy which I have used occurs the following, "j otro
dia la manana," etc., which would make the date the 25th. Twenty-ono
lines below this we read, "y otro dia al amaneser," etc., which mani-
festly indicates the 26th. The auto is closed with the order of Otermin
for Pedro Garcia to be examined. The next auto contains this Indian's

testimony, yet it is dated, "En el paxe {sic) de junto ala estangia del

Sarjento mor. xptoval de anaia en beinte y ginco dias del mes de agoato."
Following this document is another auto containing the continued nar-
rative of the retreat. It begins, "de este Paraxe salimos marchando el

dia Veinte y seis," It is thus seen that there is confusion in regard to
the date. Since Otermin does not mention having halted at this time
longer than to hear Garcla's story, I believe that the weight of evidence
points to the 26th as the day that that Indian's testimony was recorded.
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buses. Otermm at once called a halt and sent a squad of fifty

soldiers to dislodge the Indians, who immediately fled to the

mountains, driving their cattle before them. Being relieved from

immediate danger, and seeing that the Indians had set fire to the

church at Sandia, Otermin, in retaliation, ordered the soldiers to

return and burn the whole pueblo. This being done, the retreat

down the river was continued.

After leaving Sandia, the next halt of which there is any men-

tion was made three leagues IdoIow at the estancia of Dona Luisa

de Trujillo. No date is given for this stop. At this place, some

soldiers, on seeing a large number of cattle grazing on the west

bank of the river in the hacienda of the lieutenant-general, Alonso

Garcia, asked permission to swim the river and drive them

across. But as soon as the Indians, who were ever on the alert,

saw this attempt, they came from the mesas on their horses and

drove all the cattle away. From this place the army next marched

four leagues to the hacienda of Los Gomez "without seeing more

of the enemy; and throughout the entire distance thither from

Sandia [seven leagues], ever^'thing was found deserted and robbed

both of cattle and of household goods, many haciendas on either

side of the river being sacked and robbed by the enemy.^' Soon

after leaving Los Gomez, an Indian on horseback was captured

in the road, and from his testimony Otermin learned that Garcia

and all the people who had escaped from Jemez, Sia, and Eio

Abajo had assembled in Isleta on the day following the revolt,

and later had left there in a body.

This was Otermln's first information that the Eio Abajo peo-

ple were not in Isleta. Since learning from the captured In-

dians at Santa Fe of the assembling of the Eio Abajo people at

Isleta, and throughout the entire retreat, the hope of uniting the

two divisions in Isleta had been paramount in the mind of the

governor. There, and there only, did he look for reenforcements

and for the alleviation of the necessities of his foot-sore and half-

starved people. Not knowing of the elTorts that had been made

by Garcia to get in communication with him, nor of the extreme

Avant which had pressed upon the latter^s division, it had never

occurred to Otermin that they would abandon the province and
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leave him and his division to their fate.^ But the governor did

not commit himself on the matter, and at such a time and under

such circumstances this was wise. Sorely disappointed at such

discouraging news, there was only one thing for him to do, and

that was to continue his retreat by forced marches as best he could.

This course was followed, and the day after learning of the

abandonment of Isleta by Garcia, that pueblo was reached by the

northern refugees. 'No dates for the halts made on their retreat

thither can be determined after iVugust 26, at which time the

army, after marching a little over three leagues that day, was a

short distance below Sandia.^ Otermin states, however, that he

reached Isleta more than twenty days after the Eio Abajo people

left it,^ which, according to his own statement, would make it

September 3 or later when he arrived there,* for Garcia left that

pueblo (m August 14. If this be true, Bancroft is wrong in

stating that "Isleta was reached on the 27th; but the refugees

under Captain Garcia had left this pueblo thirteen days before

and gone south to Fray Cristobal."^

Otermin found Isleta absolutely deserted, both by refugees and

native inhabitants. Suffering as he was from scarcity of pro-

visions and horses, he decided to continue the retreat until advice

could be sent to those further down the river, with orders to wait

for him and in the meanwhile to send him, if possible, some

horses and carts to help transport his tired and foot-sore follow-

ers. From the hacienda of Francisco de Valencia,^ according

^"Carta (de Otermin a Parraga)," in Auttos tocantes, 31-32.

^Auto of Otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 12.

UMd. "y aber veinte dias j mas que La jente que seguia al dho
theniente del rio avaxo."

*It should be held in mind that it took from the 21st to the 26th of

August for Otermin to march from Santa Fe to the house of Cristobal
de Anaya, a distance, according to the governor's own statement, of

"more than ten leagues." (See "Auto de marcha y paraxez," in Auttos
tocantes, 10.)

^Arizona and New Mexico, 181. The error is copied by Twitchell,
The Leading Facts of New Mexican History, 364. The notes given by
Twitchell at this point, purporting to come from manuscripts, are ob-
viously taken from Bandelier's Final Report, Part II, 221, and 233. De
Thoma (Historia Popular de Nuevo Mexico, 93) errs in stating that
Leiva had thirty-seven men when he met Otermin.

""Mandamto de Prision contra la persona del theniente gen alonso
gargia ," in Auttos tocantes, 13.
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to Otermin^s own statement, he sent four soldiers, accompanied

by Father Francisco Farfan/ to overtake the Eio Abajo people,

which they did at Fray Cristobal. The letter which these mes-

sengers carried from Otermin to Garcia, of which mention has

been made in connection with Garcia's movements at Fray

Cristobal, was written from the house or place of Tome or of

Bartolome Domingnez,^ thirtv^ leagues above Fray Cristobal,^ and

therefore fourteen leagues above the pueblo of Socorro. The

events attending the arrival of the messengers at Fray Cristobal,

with the news which they brought from the northern refugees,

have already been not-ed.^

On September 6 Otermin's division reached Alamillo, three and

one-half leagues above Socorro. The first recorded act of the

governor after arrival there was to question more fully Don
Pedro ^N'anboa, the Indian who had been captured in the road

further up the river, in order to find out and record what he knew

of the motives that had prompted the Indians to revolt. Parts of

this Indian's testimony have been cited as authority for various

preceding statements, and need not be repeated here.

On the same day. Lieutenant Garcia, who had been overtaken at

Fray Cristobal by the four soldiers of Otermin's division, arrived

in the camp. Otermin at once put Garcia under arrest for hav-

ing abandoned his jurisdiction and having retreated with man\

soldiers from the province, without authority from his superior,

who had expected to find him and his division in Isleta. How-

ever, that the matter might be fairly adjusted, and that it might

be known for what reasons Garcia had gone out, Otermin gave

^"Carta del Padre Fr. Antonio de Sierra para el Padre Visitador (Sep-

tember 4, 1680)," in 2V. Mex. Doc, 1, 522.

^Garcia implies that the letter was written from the house of Bar-
tolom6 Domln^ez. ( See "Carta del teniente Gral Don Alonso Garcia
para el Rdo Padre Procurador," in A'. Mex. Doc., 1, 514.) Ayeta posi-

tively states that the letter was written from the place of Tome Do-
mlnguez. (See "Carta del R. P. Procurador Fr. Francisco de Ayeta al

Exmo. Sr. Virrey," in lUd., 527.)

'"Carta del R. P. Procurador Fr. Francisco de Ayeta al Exmo. Sr.

Virrey (September 11, 1680)," in 2V. Mex. Doc, I, 528.

*For the events of the retreat of Otermin from the estancia of Cris-

t6bal de Anaya, not otherwise referred to, see Auto of Otermin, in Auttos

tocantes, 12.
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him opportunity to clear himself of the charge, but ordered that

until this was done, he should be imprisoned.'^

Garcia had not come unprepared to defend himself, but had

brought with him all the autos which he had drawn up since the

revolt. Before presenting these he stated briefly that on the day

of the revolt the alcalde mayor at Jemez, Luis de Granillo, had

appealed to him for help; told of his efforts all that night and

next day to aid the survivors of his jurisdiction; how having seen

them safely in Isleta, he and his sons had made futile efforts at

their home north of that pueblo to get in communication with

the governor; how the reports of the death of the northern in-

habitants had caused the people at Isleta to become restless and

impatient to leave the country for their own safety; and finally,

how the best possible means, as it seemed, had been adopted at

Isleta for the safety of those under his command. In support of

what he had stated he presented thirteen written folios containing

the record of his movements and the opinions of his men given at

Isleta and at Socorro. He also stated that upon receipt of the

first intelligence that the northern settlers were on their retreat

south of Isleta he had gone to meet them with some horses.

Lastly, he reminded the governor that he was a man who had

served his majesty with one hundred horses, six sons, and all his

goods in the most severe conflicts of the province, frequently taking

part in campaigns in which he had risked his life, and often with

very considerable damage. For all these reasons he begged

Otermln^ to release him and absolve him from all blame and pun-

ishment. The governor did not at once reply to this defense, de-

siring first to read the autos presented by Garcia. He then or-

dered them placed with his own, promising the lieutenant-general

that justice would be done him.^

After these proceedings the march was again resumed. Shortly

afterward, when only about a league below Alamillo, a cloud of

dust was detected in the distance. It was caused, as was soon evi-

dent, by a body or horsemen approaching. This cavalcade, on

coming up, was found to be a party of over forty Spanish soldiers

^"Mandamto de Prision contra la persona theniente gen alonso gargia,"
in Auttos tocantes, 13.

^"Notificasion y Prision ," in Auttos tocantes, 14-15.

'"Autto (de Otermln)," in Auttos tocantes, 15.
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and four religious under the command of Pedro de Leiva. Ban-

croft^ erroneously states that Leiva had only thirty men when he

met Otermin at Alamillo on September 6. The document does

state that when the cavalcade was first seen by Otermin's divi-

sion it was estimated that it contained upwards of thirty men,

and that when it came nearer Leiva, "the leader of thirty men
whom his lordship had despatched" to meet the wagons in charge

of Ayeta, was recognized. ^ A few lines further along in the orig-

inal document, however, it is positively stated that Leiva had

with him forty soldiers and four religious when he and Otermin

met.^ In justice to Bancroft^ it may be stated that the Extractos,

his .source for this matter, contain onh^ the first few lines of the

document dealing with the meeting of Otermin and Leiva, and

consequently fails to record later and much more important state-

ments found in the original. As has been pointed out, on Sep-

tember 4 Leiva was only nine leagues from Fray Cristobal, with

the aid that left El Paso on August 30, and, as Ayeta supposed,

he doubtless reached the former place on September 5. Having

met the Rio Abajo people, and learning that Otermin and his

division were near by, Leiva, it seems, leaving some thirty of his

^Arizona and Xew Mexico, 181.

^"Autto (de Otermm)," in Auttos tocantes, 15. '"Luego Yncontinente

en dlio dia mes y auo dhos yendo marchando sii SSa con el ejergito

al paraje vna legua mas alia del Pueblo del alamillo se descubrio a
trecho vna polvadera en la qual se rreconosio Venir Cantidad de hasta
treinta Personas da acavallo y reconosiendo quienes podian ser se vido

que era el mro de campo Po de leiva cavo y eaudillo de treinta honbres

que su SSa abia despacliado a escoltar y convoiar la hagienda de la^

limosnas," etc.

^"y el dho mro de campo Po de leiva aviendose encontrando con el

ejergito traiendo consigo mas de quarenta soldados y quatro Relijiosos

del border del Seiior Sn franco Reconosiendo a su SSa todos higieron la

salva con mucho regosijo," etc.

*T\vitchell [Leading Facts of New Mexican History, p. 365) has re-

peated the mistake of Bancroft in saying that Leiva had with him thirty

men when he and Otermin met. He states also that "Otermm was also

reenforced by a command of thirty men under the Maestro de Campo,
Pedro de Leyba, who had come with Lieutenant General Garcia from
Fra Cristobal." Leiva, however, did not accompany Garcia from Fray
Cristobal. The latter left there on September 4 ("Carta del Padre Fr.

Antonio de Sierra para el Padre Visitador," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 521;
"Carta Del teniente Gral Don Alonso Garcia para el Rdo Padre Procurador,"
in Ihid., 518), while the former at sundown on that day was nine leagues

below Fray Cristobal ("Carta del R. P. Procurador Fr. Francisco de

Ayeta al Exmo. Sr. Virrey," in Ihid., 527). Moreover, Garcia met
Otermin at Alamillo, and Leiva met him a league below that pueblo.
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men at Fray Cristobal, decided to continue with the rest in his

party until they should meet the governor, as was done the next

day. As soon as the troopers recognized Otermin, overjoyed at

having met him and his division, they saluted him heartily with

a volley.^ For when they left the pass they had thought the

governor and all the northern settlers were dead, and, as Father

Ayeta in his letter to the viceroy written the day after their de-

parture stated, there were not three of the men whom Leiva had

brought with him to the pass who had not lost, as they then sup-

posed, either father, mother, or children, while all had cause for

grief in the loss of more distant relatives and friends."^ It is

needless to comment, therefore, upon the joy of these men at

actually meeting and finding alive a thousand or more of their

countrymen and friends whom they had but lately mourned as

dead. Otermin was so moved by the expressions of generosity and

loyalty of Leiva and his men, who, as they themselves stated, were

determined when they left El Paso to continue until they might

know the governor's fate, whatever the cost, that he ordered his

acknowledgment and appreciation recorded.^

At this point several errors made by well known historians

should be noted. Davis* and Prince*^ both correctly state that

at Alamillo Otermin met Leiva with forty men, yet both err in

saying that Alamillo was above Isleta, and that several days after

meeting Leiva at the former pueblo, Otermin reached Isleta. As

a matter of fact, Alamillo, one of the Piros pueblos, was over

twenty leagues south of Isleta. Alamillo was not reached until

September 6, whereas Otermin had left Isleta several days

eiarlier. Furthermore, Prince states that after meeting Leiva

and before Isleta had been reached, Otermin received four wagon

loads of corn from "Father Ayeta of El Paso,'' while Garcia,

who had already "marched to El Paso . . . responded . . .

with a portion of his own scanty store." In the light of facts

^"Autto (de Otermin)," in Auttos tocantes, 15.

'^"Carta del Padre Visitador a el Exmo. Sr. Virrey," in A^. Mex. Doc.,

I, p. 573.

^"Autto (de Otermin)," No. 2, in Auttos tocantes, 15.

*The Spanish Conquest of New Mexico, 297-8.

'^Historical Sketches of New Mexico, 195.
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already stated it will be seen how incorrect and confused are

these statements of Prince.

By this time Otermin had completed his examination of the

aufos presented by Garcia for his defense. He thereupon de-

clared him a free man, and absolved him from all blame for hav-

ing abandoned the province without superior authoritv. At the

same time, he ordered Francisco Xavier. Juan Lucero de Godoy,

and Luis de Quintana to state to Garcia that he was prompted to

absolve him because the retreat of the Eio Abajo division had not

been with evil intent, but rather had been begun at the request

of all those at Isleta and with the agreement of all that they

ought not to delay in setting out for Mexico, for the reasons ex-

pressed in their autos.^ When notified of the decision of the

governor, Garcia expressed his thanks for the justice and kind-

ness shown him.- With this, the last incident connected with

the arrest and trial of Garcia, which, as far as can be judged, wa.^

more or less a matter of form, was clewed.

The nexi: day (September 7) the northern division reached

Sorocco. There, notwithstanding the supplies Leiva had brought,

Otermin clearly saw the impossibility of continuing to the pass

of the Eio del Xorte without additional supplies, for the route lay

through a country inhabited by hostile Indians and so nearly

desert that it would be impossible to secure any sustenance what-

ever in it. Accordingly, as the only thing left for him to do, he

ordered a company of men to set out at once for El Paso, where

were the wagons of provisions in charge of Ayeta, to conduct them

up the river with all haste for the aid of his suffering and fatigued

people, who had come that far. for the most part, on foot and with

a very limited supply of food.^ Davis errs again by stating that

at Alamillo "a council of war was called by Otermin, when it wa«

decided to continue the march to Salineta there to await a supply

of provisions.*'* Taking the above-cited auio of Otermin as au-

thority, no council of war was held at either Alamillo or Socorro.

On the c-ontrary, Otermin, at the latter pueblo, apparently in-

^"Autto ( de Otermin),"-* in Anttos tocantes, 29.

'Auto of Xavier, in Auttos tocantes, 30.

^Auto of Otermin, in Auttos tocantes. 31.

*The Spanish Conquest of Xeic Mexico, 297.
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dependent of suggestions from anyone,^ decided to send to the

pass for aid. Moreover, La Salineta is not mentioned at all in

this connection, and the error of Davis' statement that they were

to proceed to that place to await provisions is evident when it is

understood that La Salineta was only four leagues above El Paso/^

while Socorro was about seventy-five leagues above La Salineta.^

On the same day that Otermln decided to send this company

of soldiers to meet Father Ayeta he received a letter from Father

Diego de Parraga written at Fray Cristobal, stating that the Rio

Abajo people were in grave necessity, and asking that they either

b( supplied with provisions or else allowed to proceed on their

jowmey in the hope of getting aid sooner. Otermln thought it

strange that he should receive such a letter from Parraga, since

Thome Dominguez de Mendoza had been left in command of the

Rio Abajo refugees by Garcia when the latter started north to

meet the governor. At the same time his own troubles were suffi-

cient m themselves, for by that time the people in his charge had

reached the point where they were living on roasted corn. Wor-

ried at receiving such a letter under those circumstances, Otermln

replied to Parraga the next day as follows:

Reverend Father Preacher Fray Diego de Parraga : Today, the

biii-hday of our lady, I received the letter which your paternity

writes from Fray Cristobal, which it seems to me is the only

letter I have had from you in all the time of your govern-
ment. In it you tell me that that camp contains 1,500 souls,

and, because of having exhausted tJie supplies which were taken out

with them, if they remain there longer a great ruin may be looked

for. On account of this you ask that I supply them, or that I order

them to proceed on their journey until near El Paco, where they

can have aid. In reply let me say that Thome Domlnguez de
Mendoza, in whose care and disposition the camp was left, on
account of the absence of the lieutenant general in coming to fiDd

and to see me, has not written me, nor sent me any message in

regard to this matter [of going to El Paso] nor of the other [the

condition of the Rio Abajo refugees]. In regard to the other, pro-

vided it be thus, as I am sure it is, it is a serious affair in a desert

place like this, and so many leagues from the villa, that supplies

should be asked of one sufficient for the sustenance of more than

^Auto of Otermfn, in Auttos tocantes, 31.

'Autto Y dilijencia," in Auttos tocantes, 43.

'Auto of Otermln, in Auttos tocantes, 31.
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1,500 per>oris—from a man who with 1,000 mouths [to feed], after
lie had seen himself in the dangers so manifest by the many con-
flicts with the Indians, finally had to set out, opening np the road
with arms in the hand, bringing so many people in his charge on
foot and barefooted, without food, not only because there was none,
"but l)ecatise there was nothing on which to bring it. [However
we trusted] in providence and his Divine Majesty has not failed

to pnt before ns a free table in the campaigns, of roasting ears,

squashes, and other grains. And I passed through all this ir

order to bring myself nearer to give aid [to those in Isleta] wher*
I judged I would find your paternity and others in an extremin*

similar to my o^vm After making the enemy retire with sujh

great losses, I could well have remained at home, at least l»ng

enough to make a little rimtaioiaxe for my journey to IsJeta,

vrhich, as I said above, was the place where I judged aU the

people must surely remain until they should learn for a cer-

tainty whether or not the governor with all the people of the villa

were dead. Finally I come here from Isleta, with entrails drag-

ging, as they say. in order to overtake the people of this kingdom,

so that, united, I might see and discuss the best method to be
taken for the preservation of our lives and for the greater service

of both majesties. And now that I am so near to achieving the

purpose which has brought me to unite ourselves here, yotir pater-

nity comes to me for permission to march on to El Paso. If your

paternity wishes to go alone, do what you think best, my father,

but in regard to that camp, such does not comport with the service

of God and his majesty. And if today they are on the point of

suffering ruin on account of fai ling supplies, I say [in reply] that

we are suffering the same ruin here, because we have no orher pro-

visions than a little mutton and beef, and that even with these

arrides your camp is better supplied today. Let the maestre d-e

campc, Pedro de Leiva, return to El Paso with all the people that

he brought, and with the religious that came with him, with

earnest entreaties to the Eeverend Father Fray Francisco de Ayeta

to aid [us] at once in our extreme necessity. I do not doubt that

Ms reverence will do this : and when we find ourselves with that aid

we will strive for what is most fitting to the service of both

majesties. In the meantime I will go little by Httie to join that

camp, in order that, being together, we may be more secure from
Apache invasions, for we are in the middle of their country.

May God guard your paternity many years. Place in front of

Socorro, September 8, 1680. I kiss your Eeverence's hand.

Tour servant.

Don Antonio de Otermin.^

^Carta in Autios tocGtites. 31-2.
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EEPUDIATION OF STATE DEBT IN TEXAS SINCE 1861

E. T. MILLER

On January 28, 1861, at the assembling of the convention which

adopted the ordinance of secession, Texas had no bonded debt. As

early as January, 1860, however, the State treasury had been experi-

encing difficulty because of insufficient taxation, and increased ex-

penditures for frontier defence; and United States bonds were

transferred from the university fund to provide the State revenue

account with cash. But despite this transfer State warrants were

outstanding and there was no cash to pay them. The State was

not responsible for any of the funded debt of the Eepublic of

Texas which may have been outstanding on January 28, 1861, for

though the State assumed at annexation the debt of the Eepublic,

the United States government by the acts of September 9, 1850,

and February 28, ,1855, provided for the payment of all of the

funded debt.

The first official statement of the debt incurred during the war

was made in October, 1865. A. J. Hamilton was appointed pro-

visional governor of Texas by President Johnson on January 17,

1865, and ex-Governor Pease and Swante Palm were appointed by

the provisional governor to report on the finances of the State

since secession. Their report was made under date of October 30,

1865.^ The following analysis of the debt is based on their re-

port and on the State statutes

:

Item I. 8 per cent State Bonds. Authorized by the

Act of March 20, 1861, entitled ''An Act to pro-

vide for the funding of the debt contracted for the

protection of the frontier^ $ 16,000.00

^Executive Record, No. 281, Archives of the State Department of

Texas. The report is abridged and printed as an appendix to the House
Journal, 1866.

"^General Laws, 8th Leg., Ex^tra Session, Chap. 28; repealing Act of

January 11, 1862. General Laws, 9th Leg., Chap. 63.
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Item II. 8 per cent State Bonds. Authorized by

the Act of April 8, 1861, entitled "An Act au-

thorizing a loan and imposing a specific tax to

meet the principal and interest thereof"^ $ 899,000.00*

Item III. 7 per cent State Bonds. Authorized by

the Act of December 10, 1863, entitled "An Act

to raise two millions of dollars, or so much

thereof as may be necessary, by the sale of cotton

bonds, to provide for the defence of the State and

to repel invasion, and for the purchase of ma-

chinery for manufacturing purposes'^^ 211,130.83

Item TV. Treasury Warrants. These were of two

classes, 10 per cent interest warrants and non-

interest warrants. The interest-bearing warrants

were authorized by the Act of February 14, I860.*

The amount of 10 per cent interest warrants out-

standing, including interest, was given to be

about 180,000.00

Non-interest-bearing warrants were authorized by

the Act of January 10, 1862.' The amount of

non-interest warrants outstanding was given

to be 1,888,997.90

Item V. Due soldiers and for supplies. Amount
estimated at 3,150,000.00

Item YI. Due on account of the Eepublic of Texas.

Amount estimated at 110,613.23

^General Laws, Sth Leg., Extra Session, Chap. 51; amendatory Act of
January 11, 1862. General Laws, 9th Leg., Regular Session, Chap, 56;
Act of January 13, 1862. General Laws, 9th Leg., Regular Session,
Chap. 54, Act of March 3, 1863. General Laws, 9th Leg., Extra Session.

Chap. 10.

^There were $917,000 of these bonds issued, but $17,000 were unused
and $1000.00 mutilated, leaving net amount $899,000.

^General Laws, 10th Leg., Chap. 15; supplementarv Act of December
16, 1863, Chap. 44.

*General Laws, 8th Leg., Chap. 82. Repealed by Act of January 10,

1862. General Laws, 9th Leg., Chap. 40. See also the funding Act of

March 20, 1861. General Laws, 8th Leg., Extra Session, Chap. 28, and
the Act of January 11, 1862. General Laics, 9th Leg., Chap. 63.

^General Laws, 9th Leg., Chap. 40. The Act of January 13, 1862,

General Laics, 9th Leg., Chap. 54, authorized funding in 8 per cent loan

bonds. See also Act of May 28, 1864, General Laws, 10th Leg., Called

Session, Chap. 19.
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Item VII. Due school fund, university fund, and

other special funds of the treasury on account of

securities and specie borrowed by the general fund

and on account of treasury warrants and Confed-

erate notes received by such funds '$1,455,913.86

199,176.76Item VIII. Unclassitied debt

Total $8,110,832.58

An account of the objects for which the above debt was in-

curred is essential to an understanding of later legislative action

on it. The 8 per cent bonds of item I were issued to fund treas-

ury warrants on account of liabilities antedating March 2, 1861.

The 8 per cent bonds of item II were issued on account of $92,-

601.67 of liabilities incurred before March 2, 1861, and of $105,-

600.38 of civil and $700,797.95 of military liabilities incurred

after March 2, 1861. The 7 per cent bonds of item III were

issued on account of military expenditures after March 2, 1861. The

outstanding treasury warrants of item IV are not classified as

to use or date of issue, but it is stated that about $1,150,000.00

were drawn after March 2, 1861, for the support of soldiers' fam-

ilies. The claims estimated under item V were obviously of a

war character and dated after March 2, 1861. The amount of

item VI represented an estimate of the unfunded, non-interest-

bearing debt of the Republic of Texas. There existed an appro-

priation for the payment of such of this debt as had been audited.^

Of item VII, the amount due the school fund was $1,137,406.65

and was on account of United States bonds, interest coupons and

specie transferred from that fund, and State bonds and treasury

warrants held by that fund. All of the transactions occurred after

January 28, 1861. The amount due the university fund was

$283,514.22, and was on account of United States bonds, interest

coupons and specie transferred from that fund, and treasury war-

rants and Confederate notes received by that fund. Some of the

debt to this fund was incurred prior to January 28, 1861. The
balance of item VII was due special treasury accounts, such as

escheated estates, county tax funds, etc., and was incurred after

^Comptroller's Report, 1860-1.
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January 28, 1861. Item VIII, or the debt of miscellaneous char-

acter, was not described by the investigators.

The debt as above described was, both as to amount and char-

acter, that which confronted the delegates to the constitutional

convention which convened in Austin on February 7, 1866. This

convention was composed of delegates elected by such citizens only

as had taken the oath of amnesty or had received special pardon

from the President of the United States.

Ordinance N'o. 2, passed by this convention March 15, 1866,

declared all debts created by the State of Texas in the aid of the late

war^ directly or indirectly, to be null and void, and forbade the

Legislature to assume or make any provision for the payment of

any portion of the debts contracted or incurred, or warrants is-

sued by the State between January 28, 1861, and August 5, 1865,

except warrants issued in payment of services rendered, or liabil-

ities incurred, before January 28, 1861.^

Ordinance ISTo. 15 of this convention validated all the warrants

issued for the payment of troops called into the service of the State

by Governor Houston for the protection of the frontier prior to

March 2, 1861.^

Ordinance No. 12 acknowledged the indebtedness of the State

to the school fund only for the United States bonds and interest

coupons transferred from that fund and which were then in pos-

session of the State or which might be recovered by the State. It

also acknowledged the indebtedness of the State to the university

fund for the United States bonds and interest coupons transferred

from that fund in February, 1860. It directed that the Legisla-

ture should issue State bonds to these funds for this indebtedness,

and it ordained that the Legislature should have no authority and

was forbidden to assume or provide by taxation or otherwise, for

the payment of any other claim or pretended liability of the State

to the school and university funds.

^

The debt repudiated by ordinance Xo. 2 included ail the war

debt incurred on account of civil as well as military expenditures.

Some ten members of the convention went on record in protest

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, 887.

Uhid., y, 900.

'Ibid., Y, 899.
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against the repudiation of the debt for civil purposes, on the

ground that it was not required by the President's restoration

policy.'^ The convention appears to have acted, hov^^ever, in ac-

cordance with what it conceived to be the President's restoration

policy. "We have by ordinance declared the entire debt growing

out of. and accruing during, the war null and void, and forbidden

the Legislature assuming or providing for the payment of any

portion of it. In so complete and full a manner as language can

express, we have declared ourselves on these important questions

which have been deemed so vital to sustaining your policy."^

No record has been found of a suggestion by President Johnson

to the provisional governor or to the convention of this repudia-

tive action. He had, however, in the previous year made the sug-

gestion to Provisional Governor Holden of North Carolina that

"Every dollar of the debt created to aid the rebellion against the

United States should be repudiated finally and forever."^

The provisional government of Texas ceased and a restored

State government went into effect August 20, 1866. An act of

November 9, 1866, entitled "An Act to ascertain the amount of,

and adjusting and funding the State debt, and to state any and

all accounts between the State and individuals," created an audi-

torial board "for the purpose of auditing all claims for money

against the State and reauditing all the audited liabilities of the

State not inhibited by the Constitution."* The principal work of

the board consisted in separating from the debt incurred between

January 28, 1861, and August 5, 1865, that part incurred on

account of expenditures authorized before January 28, 1861. The
action of the board ceased December 1, 1867.-'^ An analysis of

its report shows the following:

^Journal of the Convention of 1866, p. 356.

-Report of Select Committee to prepare an address to President Andrew
Johnson, Journal of the Convention of 1866, p. 317.

^W. L. Fleming, Documentary History of Reconstruction, I, 180.

^General Laws, 11th Leg., Chap. 122.

^The report of the board is to be found in the Comptroller's Report,
1868-9, pp. 32-37 ; also in the Reconstruction Convention Journal, 1869,.

Vol. 1, pp. 364-8.
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Item I. 8 per cent bonds of March 20, 1861. Amonnt

issued, $16,000. Amount rejected, $86.04. Amount

of principal recognized or estimated valid, $15,-

913.96; interest, $1319.60. Total, $17,233.56.

Amount audited, $4133.56. Balance outstanding. . .$ 13,100.00

Item II. 8 per cent bonds of April 8, 1861. Amount
issued, $917,000.00.1 Amount rejected, $855,111.95.

Amount of principal recognized or estimated valid,

$61,888.05; interest, $13,909. Total, $75,797.05.

Amount audited, $30,389.88. Balance outstanding

and unaudited 45,407.17

Item III. 10 per cent warrants. Amount issued less

amounts funded and received in the collection of

revenue, $109,988.69. Interest to December 1, 1867,

^69,292.44. Total principal and interest, $179,-

281.12. Amount rejected and estimated to be in-

valid, $30,591.29. Amount audited as valid, $72,-

680.05. Amount outstanding and unaudited and esti-

mated valid, $76,009.79. Total recognized and esti-

mated valid 148,689.84

Item TV. Non-interest notes (warrants). Amount
issued less amounts funded and received in the col-

lection of revenue, $62,942.82. Interest allowed to

December 1, 1867, $27,065.41. Total principal and

interest, $90,008.23. Amount of principal and in-

terest audited, $35,047.61. Amount oustanding, of

which $11,541.72 was estimated as valid, $54,960.62.

Total audited and estimated valid 78,466.51

Item V. Amount of 8 per cent certificates issued in

payment of minute companies under Act of Novem-

ber 12, 1866, and audited, $3570.76. Interest and

amount unaudited, $354.97. Total 3,925.73

Item VI. Unaudited claims. Amount audited, $3,-

323.48. Estimated outstanding, $5,000.00 Total.. 8,323.48

The debt described in items Y and VI appears to have been in-

curred after August 5, 1865.

^This figure includes the $17,000.00 unused and the $1000.00 mutilated.
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Omitting these, therefore, for the time being, the total

of the debt described in items I-IV, was, with in-

terest, $1,217,517.96; total rejected, $897,331; total

valid
*

Adding the total of items Y and VI to the valid, the

$320,186.96

total valid debt was

Audited

Outstanding and unaudited

332,436.17

149,145.34

183,290.83

The act creating the auditorial board authorized the issue of 6

per cent, ten-year bonds, interest payable semi-annually, for which

audited valid claims were exchangeable at the State treasury. The

board issued $149,145.34 certificates of valid claims, and $125,-

100.00 were exchanged for bonds.

The auditorial board confined its action to the debts due indi-

viduals and did not audit those due the special funds, such as the

school and university funds. The indebtedness of the State to

these funds was defined by ordinance No. 12 of the Convention

of 1866. Pursuant to this ordinance, the Legislature by Act of

November 12, 1866, provided for the issue to the school fund of

5 per cent, twelve-year bonds, interest payable semi-annually, in

place of the United States bonds and interest coupons transferred

from that fund since January 28, 1861, and which were then in

the possession of the State or which might be recovered by the

State.^ Bonds of the State to the amount of $82,168.82, bearing

date of January 1, 1867, were accordingly debited to the school

fund.^ This same Act of November 12, 1866, in obedience to the

requirements of ordinance No. 12, provided for the issue of sim-

ilar bonds to the university fund on account of the United States

bonds and interest coupons transferred from that fund in Febru-

ary, 1860, and February, 1861.^ This transfer of the United

States bonds was made under authority of the Acts of January

31, 1860, and February 8, 1861. Bonds of the State, bearing date

of January 1, 1867, to the amount of $134,472.26, were debited

to the university fund in pursuance of the law of 1866. Ordi-

^Oeneral Laws, 11th Leg., Chap. 167.

*Comptroller's Report, 1868-9; General Laws, 18th Leg., Regular Ses-
sion, Chap. 27.

'House Journal, 17th Leg., Called Session, p. 27.
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nance 'Bo. 12 specifically provided that these were the only liabil-

ities of the State to the school and university funds which the

Legislature had any authority to assume or provide for by taxa-

tion or otherwise. Despite this prohibition, however, every Comp-

troller's report from 1866 to 1883 included in the school fund

statement 6 per cent State bonds for $320,367.13, dated May 13,

1865, and in the university fund statement, a Comptroller's cer-

tificate of indebtedness for $10,300.41, dated June 8, 1865. The

6 per cent bonds were issued to the school fund for the purpose of

funding State treasury warrants received by the school fund from

railroad companies in payment of interest on their bonds.^ The

warrants funded were received during the period from August 31,

1863, to June 8, 1865. The certificate of indebtedness held by

the university fund was on account of treasury warrants received

by that fund from land sales which were fundable in the 8 per cent

bonds of April 8, 1861.^ The warrants were received between Feb-

ruary, 1861, and June 8, 1865.

The action on the debt of the State taken by the constitutional

convention of 1866 and by the Legislature of 1866 was not to be

the final one, however; for the civil government which had been

inaugurated on August 13, 1866, and under which an orderly

ascertainment of, and provisions for, the debt had been made, was

short-lived. Under the Eeconstruction Acts of Congress of March

and July, 1867, Texas was held to be unreconstructed, her civil

government was abolished, and a military or provisional govern-

ment again established.^ Another constitutional convention was

ordered and held in Austin from June 1 to August 31, 1868, and

from December 7, 1868, to February 6, 1869. A constitution

Avas framed which was accepted by the people in an election held

from November 30, 1869, to December 3, 1869, and this consti-

tution was ratified by the Congress of the United States on March

30, 1870. Between the date of the amending of the constitution

by the convention of 1866 and that of the framing of the consti-

tution adopted in 1869, the Fourteenth Amendment to the con-

stitution of the United States had been adopted. This amend-

^For acts, see Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 691, 767, 820.

-Ihid., V, 355, 486.

^Ihid., VI, 3-12; for the history of this period, see Texas v. White, 7

Wallace, pp. 700-743.
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ment was proposed on June 16, 1866, and was declared by Con-

gi-ess adopted on July 21, 1868. Section 4 of this amendment

provided that "neither the United States nor any State shall as-

sume or pay any debt or obligation incurred in aid of insurrection

or rebellion against the United States . . . ; but all such debts,

obligations and claims shall be held illegal and void." Accord-

ingly, the Texas constitution of 1869, Article 12, Section 34,

provided

:

(1) That "All debts created by the so-called State of Texas,

from and after the 28th day of January, 1861, and prior to the

5th day of August, 1865, were and are null and void ; and the

Legislature is prohibited from making any provision for the ac-

knowledgment or payment of such debts."

(2) That "All unpaid balances, whether of salary, per diem,

or monthly allowance, due to employes of the State, who were in

the service thereof on the said 28th day of January, 1861, civil

or military, and who gave their aid, countenance, or support to

the rebellion then inaugurated against the government of the

United States, or turned their arms against the said government,

thereby forfeited the sums annually due them."

(3) That "All the 10 per cent warrants issued for military

services and exchanged during the rebellion at the treasury for

non-interest warrants are hereby declared to have been fully paid

and discharged."

(4) "Provided, that any loyal person or his or her heirs or

legal representatives may, by proper legal proceedings, to be com-

menced within two years after the acceptance of this Constitution

by the Congress of the United States, show proof in avoidance of

any contract made, or revise or annul any decree or judgment ren-

dered since the said 28th day of January, when, through fraud

practiced, or threats of violence used towards such persons, no

adequate consideration for the contract has been received ; or when,

through absence from the State of such person, or through politi-

cal prejudice against such person, the decision complained of was

not fair and impartial."^

Nothing was done by the Legislature about the debt until 1871,

when by the Act of May 2, 1871, provision was made for its re-

^The paragraphing is that of the present writer.
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auditing.^ An auditorial board was created by this act whose

dutv it was made to examine the work of the auditorial board of

1866 and to audit all other claims against the State. The act

provided that bonds issued by the board of 1866 for claims void

under the constitution should be considered void and should be

canceled. A comparison of the provisions of 1866 and of 1869 shows

that the onlv claims interdicted by the constitution of 1869 and

not by that of 1866 were: (1) the unpaid balances due those em-

ployes of the State on January 28, 1861, who did not remain loyal

to the government of the United States, and (2) the 10 per cent

warrants issued for military services and exchanged during the

war for non-interest-bearing warrants.

The auditorial board created by the Act of May 2, 1871, made its

first report under date of Sept^ember 1. 1871.^ The report stated

that, "upon a careful examination of the transactions of the board of

1866, we have been unable to discover any error in the auditing with

the exception of $10,283.12 allowed as interest on non-interest war-

rants—, but this is a question about which persons may honestly

differ.*^ In regard to the unpaid balances due disloyal persons on

January 28, 1861, and the 10 per cent interest warrants ex-

changed during the war for non-interest warrants, each of which

was interdicted by the constitution of 1869, the board stated that

the former character of claims would not exceed $10,000, the lat-

ter $78,166.51, and that the board of 1866 had funded about

$40,000 of these claims in 6 per cent bonds. On account of the

higher interest (10 per cent) which the valid portion of the claims

would bear if reaudited as compared with the 6 per cent interest

which the bonds bore, the board estimated that the State would

save only about $25,000 by repudiating the claims. Because of

the comparatively small amount involved and because the holders

of the bonds refused to submit them for cancellation, on the

ground that they were issued in accordance with the constitution

and laws of Texas and of the United States, the board, which

was composed of the Attorney General, the Comptroller, and the

Treasurer of the State, recommended that the action of the board

^General Laics, 12th Leg., 1st Sess., Chap. 66; supplementary act, Chap.
113; supplementary act. General Laws, r2th Leg., 2d Sess., Chap. 32.

^House Journal, 12th Leg., Adjourned Sess., 66.



Repudiation of State Debt in Texas Since 1861 179

of 1866 in regard to these claims be confirmed. The recommenda-

tion of the board in regard to the bonds was adopted by the Leg-

islature and appropriation for the payment of interest on the

claims was made in the Act of November 13, 1871.^

This legislative validation of the action of the board of 1866

extended only to the bonds based upon the certificates of indebted-

ness issued by that board. But for this validating act some $40,-

000.00 of the 6 per cent bonds issued nnder date of January 1,

1867, would have been held null and void, because they repre-

sented either debt to disloyal persons or were on account of an

exchange of interest warrants for non-interest warrants during the

war. It will be remembered that there were some $24,045.34 of

unfunded certificates issued by the board of 1866. The Act of

November 13, 1871, validated these also, subject to the provisions

of the constitution of 1869. The board of 1866 had reported

that the estimated valid portion of the outstanding and unaudited

debt amounted to $183,290.83. These claims were also subject,

in auditing by the boards of 1871 and subsequent years, to the

provisions of the constitution of 1869. It will thus be noted that

the Act of November 13, 1861, observed the distinction between

bonds and unfunded claims. Although some of the bonds issued

during the war and based upon liabilities incurred before the war

would be included in these unfunded claims, their amount was not

known and they could not be properly classed as a part of the

bonded debt of the State until they had been audited. The life

of the auditorial board was extended by the Act of November 13,

1871, to January 1, 1873, and it was also provided that all in-

terest-bearing claims should be presented on or before March 1,

1872, on pain of not bearing interest after that date.

The Act of May 2, 1871, provided for the issue and sale of 6

per cent, twenty-year bonds to secure the money needed to pay the

valid claims ascertained by the auditorial board; it was also pro-

vided that holders of claims might exchange their claims for these

bonds. The claims subject to payment from the proceeds of the

sale of these bonds, or to funding in them, were the valid certificates

of indebtedness issued by the board of 1866 and the other valid

claims of the same period. The Act of November 13, 1871, not

^General Laws, 12th Leg., 2d Sess., Chap. 32.
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only validated the bonds of 1866, amounting to $1-25,100.00, but

also appropriated $40,269.15 to pay the interest npon them from

date of issue. It also appropriated $15,000 to pay the principal

and interest of the bonds issued under the Act of March 20, 1861.

These amounts were drawn durin.s" the fiscal year ending August

31, 1872.^

All of this legislation of the State and all the acts of the

auditorial boards related to the debt of the State to individuals.

The D per cent bonds, amounting to $82,168.82, issued under the

Act of Xovember 12, 1866, to the school fund, and the 5 per cent

bonds, amounting to $134,472.26, is-sued under the same act to

the university fund, were issued to those funds because of trans-

fers made from them, to the State revenue account. Those held

by the school fund were on account of the United States bonds

and interest coupon? transferred under authority of the Act of

Januarv 11, 1862, and which in 1S66 were in the possession of the

State, or which might be recovered by the State.- The Comp-

trollers reports for 18 T 4 and subsequent years err in describing

the State bonds issued to the school fund at this time as indem-

mty for United States bonds used during the war. They were only

transferred from the school fund during the war. but as the or-

dinance of 1866 and the Comptrollers reports of 1866 and 1867

make clear, they were used for general revenue purposes between

August, 1865, and January. 1867. The 5 per cent bonds issued

to the university fund were on account of the United States bonds

and interest coupons transferred from that fund to State revenue

account in February, 1860, and February, 1861. It is highly

questionable whether one should regard the bonds of the State

held by its special funds as binding State obligations, subject,

like the State debt to individuals, to all debt conditions against

non-payment of interesi and failure to pay principal at the con-

tracted date. It is certainly questionable in the case of the State

obligations held at this time by the school and university fimds.

Neither the constitution of 1846 nor the amended constitution of

1861 protected the educational funds against the transfer of the

funds authorized by the acts of January 31, 18 6 u, and January

^Comptroller's Report, 1S72, pp. 29-30.

-For Act of January 11, 1862, see Gammel, Loics of Texas. V, 55. For
Act of Xovember 12,' 1S66, see Ibid., V, 1126.
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11, 1862/ Legislative action alone was responsible for the pos-

session of the 5 per cent United States bonds by these funds and

legislative action was unrestrained by any constitutional provision

against recalling them at any time. But even if they should be

regarded at the time of issue as a binding, bonded obligation, the

failure of the State to acknowledge their validity, as it did the

other debt authorized in 1866, throws doubt on their validity after

the overthrow of civil government in 1867. Neither the Legis-

lature nor the auditorial board of 1871 took any cognizance of

these 5 per cent State bonds, and this appears to have been fatal

to their position, for they were in every Comptroller's report after

1870, except that of 1881-2, classed as doubtful or worthless. The

passage of the Reconstruction Acts of Congress in 1867 and the

consequent overthrow of civil government and the establishment of

military government in Texas, threw the State back exactly to

where it was at the close of the war in 1865. As the bonded debt

due individuals and authorized by the Act of 1866 had to be re-

viewed to be valid, so it would seem any other bonded debt au-

thorized in 1866 should have been reviewed and validated to be a

binding obligation. This was not done for the 5 per cent bonds

held by the school and university funds, and they remained of

doubtful validity, no interest being paid on them and their date

of maturity passing without payment, until 1883. By the Act of

February 23, 1883, they were validated and were ordered paid

with accrued interest.^

The reports of the Comptroller after 1865 carried also among

the debt of doubtful validity the 6 per cent State bonds dated

May 13, 1865, and the Comptroller's certificate of indebtedness

dated June 8, 1865, the bonds being held by the school fund, and

the certifi.cate by the university fund. As has been explained

these were specifically declared void as war debts in 1866, and

they were not validated until 1883. Their validation and pay-

ment under the Act of February 23, 1883, was, so far as legal

obligation was concerned, a pure gift under the guise of payment

of a debt. The failure of the State up to 1883 to pay the inter-

est or the principal of the above obligations held by the school and

^See Article 10 of the Constitution of 184G and the amended Constitu-
tion of 1861, Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 24.

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 321.
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imiversitT funds was therefore legally justifiable in the light of

the history of the obligations.

A question pertinent in the consideration of the charge of re-

pudiation is this: Did the State pay promptly during war time

the interest on the bonded indebtedness which the auditorial boards

of 1866 and 1871 found to be valid? Since the State had no

bonded debt on Januan^ 28, 1861, this question is more specifi-

cally: Did the State during war time pay the interest on the 8

per cent bonds of March 20, 1861, and the 8 per cent bonds of

April 8, 1861 ? It appears from the report of the auditorial board

of 1866 that the interest on the 8 per cent bonds of March 20,

1861, had been paid up to January 1, 1867, and that the interest

on the 8 per cent bonds of April 8, 1861, had been paid up to July

1, 1865. The interest on the bonds of April 8, 1861, was payable

in specie, and evidence of the payment of it in specie is to be

found in the special loan tax accounts.^

Also pertinent is the question: Was the interest on the bonded

indebtedness found to be valid by the auditorial boards of 1866

and 1871 paid after the war? It appears from the report of the

auditorial board of 1866 that interest on the bonds of March 20,

1861, was paid to January 1, 1867, and that no interest was paid

on the bonds of April 8, 1861, from January 1, 1865, to Janu-

ary 1, 1867. Such of this debt as was found to be valid by the

board of 1866 and was funded in the bonds authorized by the Act

of iSTovember 9, 1866, had no interest paid on it until the passage

of the Act of Xovember 13, 1871. The failure to pay interest as

it fell due is not chargeable to the dereliction of the State of Texas

but to the Congress of the United States. If there had been any

bonded debt which antedated the war, there would have been no

question as to the obligation of the State to pay interest on it at

the time stipulated; but all of the bonded debt of the State was

authorized during the war or after January- 28, 1861. Therefore,

the question as to payment of interest on the _valid debt subse-

quent to the war depends on the date of the establishment of the

validit}' of the debt. Bec-ause of the abolition of the civil govern-

ment and the re-establishment of the military government by the

Reconstruction Acts of Congress in March and July of 1867 the

-See Comptroller's ledger. 1861-5,. pp. 437-44-1.
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action of Texas in 1866 providing for its ascertainment was nulli-

fied, and Texas may be said not to have had any known valid debt

until 1871. As soon as the valid debt was determined, payment

of accrued interest was promptly made, and interest thereafter on

it and on all other debt was always promptly paid.

It may be asked, finally: Was the principal of the valid debt

promptly paid at maturity? The bonds issued under the Act of

March 20, 1861, were payable July 1, 1871. Because these bonds

were issued during the war period, though to fund floating liabil-

ities incurred before the war, they were subject to auditing before

their validity could be established. In view of the Reconstruction

Acts of Congress, there was no legally constituted body that could

finally determine their validity until 1871. By the Act of No-

vember 13, 1871, appropriation was made for the audited and

valid portion of this debt. The bonds issued under the Act of

April 8, 1861, were due sixteen years from their date. Such of

these as were valid and were exchanged for the bonds issued in

1866 were paid at maturity; those valid and which were not ex-

changed for the bonds of 1866 were either exchanged for bonds

authorized by the Act of May 2, 1871, or were paid before their

maturity. The principal of the bonds issued under the Act of

November 9, 1866, and which were due January 1, 1877, was also

paid at maturity. Except in the cases described above
;
namely, the

repudiation of the debt incurred in aid of the war, and the delayed

payment of the interest and principal of the bonds authorized in

1866 and of the bonds issued to the school and university funds,

the State of Texas has always since January 1, 1861, either paid

or refunded its bonded debt at maturity, and met the interest

charges on the date stipulated in the bonds.
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COREESPOXDEXCE FROM THE BRITISH ARCHIVES
COXCERXIXG TEXAS, 1837-1846

IV

EDITED BY EPHRAIM DOUGLASS ADAMS

KEXXEDY TO BIDWELL^

Life Cert. Circular. On board the Ship. '^Uen Brooks,"

At Sea. December 31st. 1842

Sir.

I have to report that, from the 16th of Xovember to the present

date, I have been a passenger in the Ship "Ellen Brooks," bound

from Liverpool for Xevr Orleans (U. S.) by way of which city I

am to proceed to Galveston, Texas, there to enter upon the execu-

tion of my duties as Her Britannick Ma-jest}'"s Consul.

William Kennedy.

John Bidwell, Esq., etc.

ELLIOT TO ABEEDEEX-

Xo. 1. Galveston January 5th 1843.

My Lord,

With reference to my despatches Xo. 10 and Xo. 18 of last

year, I have now the honor to transmit to Your Lordship the

copy of a note from Mr. Jones, the Secretary of State upon the

subject of those communications.^ Being aware that certain re-

spectable British Merchants here, have duties to pay into the Cus-

tom-house in the course of a month, I propose to call upon this

Government to let those Gentlemen hold themselves liable to me
for the sum of $3840, presenting my acknowledgement to the

Custom-house in satisfaction of their duties to that extent. I can

hardly doubt that it will be in m\ power to satisfy the Govern-

^-F. 0., Texas, Vol. 3.

-76 ic?.. VoL 6.

^Jones t-o Elliot; December 24, 1842. In Garrison, Diplomatic Corre-

spondence of the Repiihlic of Texas, III, 1063-1064; in Am. Hist. Assoc.
Report, 1908, II.
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ment of the necessity of forthwith adjusting the claim for the

^'Eliza Russell'^ by these reasonable means, and indeed T take the

liberty to submit to Your Lordship that I perceive no risk in the

immediate advance of a sum of £700 to Mr. Joseph RusselP if

Your Lordship shall see fit to recommend such a step to the con-

sideration of the Treasury. The sum of £700 is specified, because

that amount would fall so far within the extent appropriated by

Congress as to leave sufficient room for deficiency from course of

exchange, or by any other mode of remittance that might become

necessary arising from the manner that payment may be made.

It has occurred to me, that Your Lordship, taking into consid-

eration the length of time that Mr. Russell has waited for the

adjustment of his claim, may desire to afford him some relief, and

believing that, that may be safely extended him under the circum-

stances now stated, I have ventured to offer this suggestion

Charles Elliot

To the Right Honorable

The Earl of Aberdeen. K. T.

ELLIOT TO ABEEDEEN^

No. 2. Galveston, January 15th. 1843.

My Lord,

The detention of the steam boat which conveys these despatches

to New Orleans, enables me to forward a note of intelligence this

morning received from Houston. It is much to be wished, that

these confusedly reported accounts may be exaggerated, but there

is certainly reason to apprehend that some sinister event has

occurred.^

I learn that Congress was to separate in the course of the en-

suing week, and that no material alteration of the Tariff had been

carried.

In other particulars affairs remain in the position reported in

my last despatches.

Charles Elliot

To the Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

^Owner of the Eliza Russell.

O., Texas, Vol. 6.

'This refers to the disastrous Mier expedition of December, 1842. A
cutting is enclosed from The Houston Morning Star, January 14, 1843.
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ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

No. 3. Galveston, Jannan^ 23rd. 1843

My Lord,

I have the honor to acknowledge Your Lordship's despatch ISTo.

20 of December 3rd. 1842.

It will be observed in Mr. Jones's note- of the 24th Ultimo

transmitted in my despatch x^o. 1 of this year, that the claim of

certain British subjects for lands in Texas will be presented to

the consideration of Congress by the President

Since I have been in Texas I have deemed it my duty to ex-

amine the nature of these claims, with all the attention in my
power, and I have formed the opinion that the Land Law of this

Country is utterly unsustainable, violating universally received

principles of a general nature, and carried out by Congress beyond

the plain intention and limitations of fundamental authority, that

is, beyond the Constitution of the Republic.^

That instrument declares that "the protection of the public

domain from unjust and fraudulent claims and quieting the peo-

ple in the enjoyment of their lands is one of the great duties of

this convention/''^ and there upon specially provides that a certain

grant made in behalf of John Mason of New York, by the Legis-

lature of Coahuila and Texas in 1834, was "from the beginning

null and void,'' because it was contrary to articles 4th, 12th, and

15th of the laws of 1824 of the General Congress of Mexico, and

because one of the said acts had for that reason by the said Gen-

eral Congress of Mexico been declared '^^null and void"

The special declaration of this case is [in] the Constitution,

the distinct specification of the cause of the defect of that title,

and the inherent character of that defect, prove that the Consti-

tution never intended to concede to Congress a right to violate

titles, and actually disturb possession, lawfully emanating from

the Congress of Mexico. The violation of the possessions of that

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

=*See p. 184, note 3.

general rgsume of the land legislation of Texas is given in Wooten
(editor), A Comprehensive History of Texas, I, 785-848.

*Througliout the quotations given the italics are Elliot's. Errors made
by Elliott are corrected by bracket [] insertions, after comparison with
Poore, Charters and Constitutions, 11, 1760-1763.
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authority, and its special act, were, on the contrary the funda-

mental grounds for the annuhnent of the grant declared to have

been irregularly made to Mason in 1834.

But the Constitution further provides that "with a view to the

simplification of the land system and the protection of the people

and Government from litigation and fraud a General Land Office

shall be established, where all the Land titles of the Republic shall

be registered, and the whole territory of the Republic shall be sec-

tionized in a manner [hereafter] to be prescribed by law, which

shall enable the officers of the Government or any citizen to ascer-

tain with certainty the lands that are vacant, and those lands

which may be covered with valid titles''

I certainly do not find any authority in this provision for the

Constitution to confiscate property lawfully acquired, and partially

possessed, under the provisions of the general law of Mexico,

legally carried out by the legislature of Coahuila and Texas : and

I am satisfied that the special provision of the Constitution in the

case of Mason's grant, and the causes of that provision, plainly

proves, that the subsequent Confiscatory enactments of Congress

were fundamentally illegal.

It may not be misplaced to ohserve here, in further proof of the

intention and limitations of the Constitution that it provided that

"whereas many surveys and titles [to land] have been made,

whilst most of the people of Texas were absent from home serv-

ing in the campaign against Bexar, it is hereby declared that all

the surveys and locations of land made since the Act of the late

consultation 13 Nov. 1835^ closing the Land Offices, and all titles

to Land made since- that time are and shall be null and void."

It was not said or intended that all the contracts, surveys, and

locations made agreeably to law before that act of Consultation

should be null and void, but it is particularly, and justly pro-

vided in the 16th article of the declaration of rights that "no re-

trospective or ex post facto law or laws impairing the obligation

of contracts, shall be made." In the short history of this Country

it is difficult to turn to any advantage achieved, to any evil

averted, or to any mischief foreseen or deprecated, without find-

^Date, "13 Nov. 1835," inserted by Elliot.
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ing General Houston^s name and weight, enlisted upon the side of

conduct, wisdom, and justice.

The original Land Bill and the one which forms the law of the

land were passed in spite of his veto by the Constitutional ma-

jority, and I cannot do better in this brief acknowledgment of

Your Lordship's instructions in the despatch No. 21. than to for-

ward copies of those sound and striking papers.^

I transmit also an abstract of the present Land law in which

Your Lordship will observe that Congress consummated the mani-

fest injustice of their proceedings by shutting out aliens or the

assignees of aliens from the relief provided in the bill, for other

claimants.^

Under all the circumstances of the case I have considered it

adviseable to pause 'till I am in possession of the determination

taken by Congress upon the claim of Messrs. Egerton, Pryor,

O'Gorman, etc.^ and the grounds of it, before I enter at length,

upon the subject of this most important claim, forming the sub-

ject of Your Lordship's present instructions. But reflection leads

me to the opinion that the firm establishment of these unques-

tionable rights of the Queen's subjects might most justly and con-

veniently be made the subject of an express article, in. any treaty

concluded between this Eepublic and Mexico; and I would fur-

ther submit that it might be left optional by that article, with

the claimants, to accept a commutation in other land in this Ee-

public, under special Government patents, or in money, as they

may best like: The amount of Land or money compensation to

be determined by a joint commission of persons named by the

British Government, and by the Government of this Eepublic with

the power of umpire in British hands.

It will be my duty to communicate, with Your Lordship again

at an early date upon this subject.

Charles Elliot.

To The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

^Two letters from Houston to the Land Office, December 21, 1836, and
June 8, 1837.

-Printed copy of Sections 26 and 27 of the General Land Laws.

^These land claims, as well as the more important Beales claim, were
based on grants obtained from Mexico, and in the opinion of Texan offi-

cials were not valid. For the Texan view of the matter, see Jones to

Elliot, September 19, 1843: Garrison, Diplomatic Correspondence of the

RepuUic of Texas, III, 1129-1136, in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report, 1908, IL.
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P. S.

I take this occasion to acknowledge Your Lordship's despatches

Nos. 18 and 19 of Deer. 3. 1842

ELLIOT TO ABEBDEEN^

No. 4. Galveston, January 28th. 1843.

My Lord,

Since the date of my despatch No. 2 of this year (15th Janu-

ary) I am concerned to report, that authentic information has

reached this place from Matamoras via New Orleans, confirming-

the surrender of that portion of the Texian force, under Colonel

Fisher, which had separated itself from the direction of the Officer

appointed by this Government, and continued the movement be-

yond the Rio Grande: a movement to which the disregard of the

authority of the Officer, acting under the orders of Government

has given a character that may be attended with very unhappy

consequences to these prisoners. It appears that this disaster oc-

curred at a small town called "Mier" on the right bank of the

Rio Grande between 20 and 30 leagues above Matamoras.^ I have

not seen the Mexican report, but it can scarcely be necessary to

say to Your Lordship, that the statement of their loss in the

Texian account forwarded in my despatch No. 2, deserves no

credit.

I hear in various quarters that a volunteer expedition of some

extent is preparing in the South Western part of the Union, with

the purpose to make another attempt to penetrate into the North-

ern Provinces of Mexico through Upper Texas, during the approach-

ing spring, strengthening themselves with such reinforcements as-

can be collected in the passage through Texas, and it is also said

that a simultaneous attempt is to be made on Matamoras by sea.

It appears to me to be proper to mention this rumour but I have

no means of judging of it's accuracy. Indeed it is not easy for a

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

^On January 24, 1843, Houston wrote privately to Elliot in regard to
the Mier prisoners. This letter was the ground of the accusations later
made against Houston by General Thompson (Green, Journal of the Texian
Expedition against Mier, Appendix II ) . For extract from the letter, see
Elliot to Aberdeen, Secret, June 8, 1843. Enclosure 2. This will be pub-
lished in a later number of The Quarterly.
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person in public employment in this part of the world to deter-

mine what of rumour ought to be stated, and what may be left

unheeded; for whilst common report is at least as discursive and

venturous here, as elsewhere, it is a material consideration that

Government has less control in the United States, than elsewhere:

And strange projects and hazardous modes of operation with re-

spect to Mexico, seem to be in the fair way of attempt, whenever

they become the subject of general conversation.

Perhaps Your Lordship will give me leave to add to this re-

flection that the increasing white population of the Slave States

(persons engaged in professions, and emigrants from Europe not

ashamed to labor, excepted) is almost entirely without steady occu-

pation. Unscrupulous, fearless, and enterprising, and with exag-

gerated notions of the wealth of Mexico, it is certain that the

project of an incursion into that Eepublic, is highly popular

amongst the people of that part of the Union. I believe that the

least success of one of these chance expeditions to the westward

of the Eio Grande would be the signal for a formidable irruption

into Mexico, of which the first stage, it is quite possible, would

be permanent settlement as far as the mountains.

It may be thought in some degree to sustain these reports that

the Texian Congress during its recent session passed a Law ap-

pointing General Eusk^ to be Major General of the forces of the

Eepublic whenever they should be called into the field, and plac-

ing the appropriation for military purposes at his disposition,

irrespective of any control on the part of the President; known

to be adverse to aggressive war against Mexico. The gentleman

in question is an inhabitant of Eastern Texas, and it is possible

that his nomination was considered likely to be acceptable to vol-

unteers in the United States, preparing for the incursion into

Mexico. The President of course returned this bill without his

approval, but it was passed by the Constitutional Majority.

The movements of Mexico with respect to Texas will probably

be determined by the results in Yucatan, and Your Lordship must

no doubt receive earlier and more trustworthy information upon

that subject, than any that it can be in my power to transmit from

^Thomas J. Rusk, elected by Congress in 1843 to be major-general of

militia.
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this quarter: But in the mean time I regret to say that this

country is bereft of resource, and the counsels best suited to its

situation have been disregarded with disastrous consequences.

Upon the whole, so far as I can judge, it seems clear that the

eager party in Texas for aggressive war, on the one side, and the

Mexican G-overnment on the other are rapidly accomplishing the

purposes which the Mexican Secretary of State, in the late corre-

spondence with the American Government/ charges to the Cabi-

net at Washington. The chance of the permanent re-establish-

ment of Mexican Authority in Texas is gone^ but this harasing

mode of warfare on the part of Mexico at vast expense and dan-

ger to itself, and this futile response on the part of Texas, present

a high probability of one of two results : Either the Mexicans will

achieve so much of success in Texas, as will induce a complica-

tion, east of the Sabine, or the Texians and their American volun-

teer allies, very eager to visit Mexico, will force their way into

that country, in considerable strength, and with what may be taken

to be, a certainty of drawing on a war with the United States.

In every way that the consequences present themselves to my
mind, it seems next to certain, that, unless a peace between these

two Republics can be accomplished in some brief space of time, on

terms calculated to encourage a good feeling on the part of Texas

to Mexico, Texas will soon be annexed to the United States : And
entertaining that opinion, I join to it the belief, that there is no

earnest disposition at Washington to see the Independence of Texas

acknowledged by Mexico, particular [l]y since it has been supposed

that Her Majesty's Government takes an interest in accomplishing

that result.

I avail myself of this occasion to mention that we have been

recently visited by Her Majesty's Sloop Electra, touching here on

her way from Havana to Vera Cruz, and I have also to report

that Mr Neill, concerning whom I wrote to Your Lordship, has

made his escape from Mexico,^ and is now in Texas.

Carles Elliot

To The Right Honorable

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

^This refers to Webster's offer o.f mediation (1842) and its rejection

by Mexico.

*For an account of the escape of Andrew Neill, see The Quarterly,
XIII, 313-317.
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ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

No. 5. Galveston 4th February 1843.

My Lord,

The inclosure is a letter which I have addressed to the Secre-

tary of State of this Eepuhlic agreeably to Your Lordship's in-

structions of the despatch No. 20 of last year.

Finding from an account of the proceedings of Congress dur-

ing last Session that no steps had been taken, founded upon the

representation I had made to this Government on the 30th Sep-

tember last respecting the claim of Messrs. Egerton, Prior, O'Gor-

man, etc. etc. I have felt it incumbent upon myself to put for-

ward this claim of Mr. Beales without further delay.

Charles Elliot

To The Eight Honorable.

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

ELLIOT TO JONES^

[Enclosure.] Galveston 4th February 1843.

Sir,

Eequesting your reference to a note, which I had the honor to

address to you on the 30th September last, in support of the claim,

of certain British Subjects to Lands in Texas, it is now my duty

to put forward another and more weighty case of the like nature,

recently committed to me by Her Majesty's Government, namely,

that of John Charles Beales, and others Her Majesty's subjects

claiming under Beales.

The Lands comprised in these last claims, are those known as

the "Arkansas grant" the "Milam or Eio Colorado grant," "the Eio

Grande grant," and nine grants in fee simple, of eleven leagues

each containing 438,411 793/1000 acres English, located on the

Eio Nueces.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

Wbid. This letter is listed in the Calendar of Garrison, Diplomatic
Correspondence, etc., but since it was actually printed only in Texas
newspapers of the day, it is included here. In similar cases it is

thought advisable to include important documents unless they have pre-

viously been printed in Garrison's Diplomatic Correspondence, or in other
collections, or files, generally available, such as Niles' Register.
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I am sensible that the limits of these extensive claims and gen-

erally the particulars of the title must be known to the Govern-

ment of the Kepnblic, but for the sake of form, I have considered

it proper to annex the accompanying abstract of the dates and

limits of the grants collected from the "Exhibits" of a memorial

presented to Her Majesty by J. C. Beales, in the course of last

year, on his own behalf and that of others claiming under him.

And in order that the grounds of Mr. Beales' appeal to the Queen,

may be fully known to this Government I also transmit herewith

a copy of his memorial presented to Her Majesty

Since I have been in Texas, it has been incumbent upon me to

consider these claims with all the attention in my power: And

confining the expression of my opinion upon the Land Legisla-

tion of this Eepublic, solely to those provisions which affect the

rights and claims of British subjects, I must declare that the pro-

visions of Law complained of by Mr. Beales and the others, seem

to me to be unjust and untenable. This opinion rests upon the

principles, that the Sovereignty of this Eepublic could succeed only

to the possessions of the former Sovereignty; that private rights

ought to have been secured; that the New Sovereignty is bound

faithfully and fully to carry out the obligations entered into by

the former; and finally that well established rules, with respect to

rights not matured, or with respect to conditions prevented, in-

terrupted or rendered impossible by a circumstance of such over-

ruling force as the breaking out of the War of Independence in

1835, and its continuance to this period, have been violated by the

Confiscatory Enactments of Congress, in the particulars set forth

by these British subjects. But beyond this, it seems plain, to my
judgment that the Constitution inhibits Legislation of the nature

here complained of, by clear general reservation and by implica-

tion, unavoidably deducible from its own provisions respecting de-

fective titles, said to emanate from the former Sovereignty.

"No aliens" says the 10th Section of the General Provision of

the Constitution shall hold lands in Texas except '^y titles

emanating directly from the Government of this Republic." This

exception certainly appears to involve a ratification of all titles

emanating directly from the Government of which this Govern-

ment is the successor, and to the obligations of which it is law-

fully and justly bound: In other words it appears to have been
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the purpose of this provision to place this Grovemment for the

maintenance of the public faith, and for objects of policy, in the

exact situation of the former Government. There can be no

warrant in this provision of the Constitution to distrust what has

been legally done by the former Sovereignty in behalf of Aliens,

and it certainly remains to seek for that sanction elsewhere.

The Constitution declares that "whereas the protection of the

public domain from unjust and fraudulent Claims, and quieting

the people in the enjoyment of their lands, is one of the great

duties of this Convention, and whereas the Legislature of Coa-

huila and Texas having passed an act in the year 1834, in behalf

of General J. T. Mason of New York and another on the 14th

day of March 1835, under which the enormous amount of eleven

hundred leagues of land has been claimed by sundry individuals,

some of whom reside in foreign countries, and are not Citizens of

the Kepublic, which said acts are contrary to articles fourth,

twelfth, and fifteenth, of the laws of 1824, of the General Con-

gress of Mexico, and one of said acts, for that cause, has by said

General Congress of Mexico, been declared null and void. It is

hereby declared that the said act of 1834 in favor of J. T. Mason,

and of the 14th March 1835 of the said Legislature of Coahuila

and Texas, and each and every grant founded thereon, is, and was

from the beginning, null and void; and all surveys made under

pretence of authority derived from said acts, are hereby declared

to be null and void; and all eleven league claims, located within

twenty leagues of the boundary line between Texas, and the United

States of America which have been located contrary to the Laws of

Mexico, are hereby declared to be null and void."

The specification of the causes of the defects of Mason's title,

and the alledged intrinsic character of that defect, and the annul-

ment of all eleven league claims located within 20 leagues of the

United States of America, said to be located contrary to the Laws

of Mexico, prove; that it was never intended to delegate to Con-

gress, a right to confiscate titles, and disturb actual possession

lawfully emanating from the Congress of Mexico. The declared

violation of the provisions of the authority of the Congress of Mex-

ico, and it's own special act thereupon, were on the contrary, the

fundamental grounds for the annulment of the grants represented

to have been irregularly made to Mason in 1834 and 1835.



British Correspondence Concerning Texas 195

In the saine Session it is declared "with a view to the simplifi-

cation of the Land system, and the protection of the people and

Government from litigation and fraud a General Land Office shall

be established, where all the Land titles of the Eepnblic shall be

registered, and the whole territory of the Republic shall be sec-

tionized, in a manner hereafter to be prescribed by law, which

shall enable the officers of the Government, or any other citizen to

ascertain with certainty, the lands that are vacant, and those lands

which may be covered with valid titles."

The enactments of Congress for the establishment of a Land

Office founded upon this provision, contain the clauses of which

these British subjects complain, but it never can be maintained

that the Constitution granted or intended a sanction for such en-

actments in delegating to Congress, the task of establishing an

Office for the registry of land titles. The Lands now in question

were covered by valid titles; and it assuredly required the prevail-

ing force of a Confiscatory declaration from which there was to

be no appeal, to abrogate those titles.

In further proof of the purpose and limitation of the Consti-

tution, if furtlier proof be necessary, it was declared "that whereas

many surveys and titles to land have been made whilst most of

the people of Texas were absent from home, serving in the Cam-

paign against Bexar it is hereby declared that all the surveys and

titles to land, made since the act of the late consultation closing

the Land Office, and all titles to Land made since that time, are,

and shall be null and void."

This provision (with the provision respecting Mason^s grant,

and the specification of the objects and purposes for which a Land

Office was to be established) appears distinctly to define, and limit

the power delegated to Congress respecting Legislation upon the

subject of titles to Lands.

And mindful of the principle of the Constitution of Texas that

every right not expressly delegated is reserved, it certainly does

seem impossible to claim a tacit sanction for enactments of retro-

spective and confiscatory Legislation, in an instrument of funda-

mental and limitary authority, so express upon the subject of

titles to land, and of which it is a cardinal rule that "no retro-

spective or ex post facto law or laws impairing the obligation of

contracts, shall be made."
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I need scarcely say that the President's messages retnrning the

Land Bills to Congress, without his approval, are known to me;

and bearing as they do, so forcibly upon the subject of these

claims, I have thought it convenient to forward copies of them to

Her Majest\*'s Government.

TTpon the general consequences of that Legislation so clearly

foreseen, and so emphatically deprecated, in those masterly papers,

it is not my province to remark: But speaking of the particular

rights forming the subject of this commimication it is a source of

regret indeed, that the Presidents objections to the Bills was un-

availing

I had hoped that Congress would not separate, without passing

some just and effectual measure of relief for alien claimants, in

the situation of these parties founded upon the representation

which I had the honor to address to this Government on the 30th

September last: That hope, however, has been disappointed, and

it remains for me to state, in obedience to my Instructions, that

unless the facts set forth by these British claimants are refused

or a satisfactory explanation given, The Texian Government must

be aware that Her Majest\''s Goverimient would be fully author-

ised to take the necessary steps for enforcing the just claims of

Her Majest}""s subjects.

I commit these cases, recommended by every consideration of

justice, and I use the freedom to add of sound policy, with the

confident persuasion, that they will have the cordial support of

the President. I cannot but express the sanguine hope too, that

Congress at this more advanced period of the progress of the Re-

public will remedy in the behalf of these claimant-s, the effects of

wrongful Legislation, probably attributable to haste and pressure,

incidental to the early and disturbed state of affairs in which it

was passed.

Charles Elliot

To The Honorable Anson Jones.

]S'. B.

The inclosures adverted to in the letter of which the above is

a copy have not been forwarded to England because, it is under-

stood, that a copy of Mr. Beales' Memorial and of the book from

which the abstract has been drawn up must be in the Department.

Charles Elliot.
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ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

Secret. Galveston February 5th. 1843

My Lord,

The boat from Houston has just brought me a private letter

from the President, of which I beg leave to transmit an Extract.

Your Lordship will no doubt be struck with the importance of these

views, coming from that quarter, and they have certainly strength-

ened me in those opinions which I had felt it my duty to submit in

my despatch No. 4 of this year, written a few days since.

This is the first hint I have ever had of the President's ideas

upon this Subject, drawn from him, I have no doubt, by strong

impression of the direction and force of circumstances, by the

pressure of opposition made to his administration, and mainly by

a feeling of entire confidence in the friendly professions of Her

Majesty's Government.

Your Lordship will be best able to distinguish what there is

of mere advocacy in this Statement of opinion, or what may be

taken to be the result of General Houston's sincere Convictions, or

of actual suggestion from influential quarters in a contiguous

Country

So far as my own judgment in that respect may be consid-

ered worthy of attention, I would say that I have no doubt Gen-

eral Houston has said what He believes, and probably less than

He knows ; neither do I question that the settlement of this Coun-

try upon an independent footing would be most agreeable to his

personal opinion, and ambition.

But He perhaps thinks that there is no choice between very

early settlement on that principle, or very early adhesion to the

growing feeling for annexation

I have thought it my duty to place this letter under cover to

Mr. Fox, with the impression that Your Lordship might desire

the advantage of any views or information from him without loss

of time, and I shall also send a copy to Mr. Pakenham.

Charles Elliot.

To The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.
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HOUSTON TO ELLIOT^

[Enclosure.]

Extract from a Private letter of President Houston to Captain

Elliot dated Washington January 24. 1843.

"There is a subject now mooting in Texas which it seems to

me will appeal directly to Her Majesty^s Government. I mean

that of annexation to the United States

"Some of our Journals are much in favor of the Measure.

Eastern Texas contains but few dissenting voices to the Measure.

I find from the incertitude of our situation that nine tenths of

those who converse with me are in favor of the Measure upon

the ground that it will give> us peace. Upon this point of our

National existence I feel well satisfied that England has the power

to rule ! At this time the Measure has an advocacy in the United

States which has at no former period existed. From the most

authentic sources I have received an appeal on this Subject, and

my co-operation solicited in producing the result of annexation

"It is a political question in the United States, as well as Senti-

mental. I take it that it is a Measure of the democratic party.

The South is in favor of it for various reasons. The West and

North West desire it because of a monopoly of the trade of Santa

Fe, and the Californias. The Yankees "vvill not be blind to the

trade which such a Union will open to them in disposing of their

Manufactures

"The relations which such a Union would create in the Pacific,

and then the Bay of San Francisco as [have] a connexion with

the extension of of the Oregon Settlements. If I am not mis-

taken I think you will readily perceive that the probabilities of

the Measure succeeding in the United States are greater than they

have been at any former period. Mr. Tyler is of the South. Mr.

Clay is of the West. Mr. Van Buren and Mr. Webster are of the

North.

"Annexation is to be a question with the political parties and

aspirants in the United States. My own opinion is that both

parties will advocate the policy. To defeat this policy it is only

necessary for Lord Aberdeen to say to Santa Anna, ^Sir, Mexico

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.
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must recognise the Independence of Texas.' Santa Anna would

be glad of snch a pretext. He could then say to the Mexicans

^on see how I am situated. I cannot go to War with England,

our best friend with a probability of War with the United States

and France.'

"This state of things would be desirable with him, in my
opinion, as it would leave him free to establish his power and

dynasty ! The Texian Subject has answered the use of 'a. tub for

the whale' long enough, and He w^ould like to get rid of all ex-

ternal troubles. But for this He requires a pretext, and He has

incurred so many voluntary committals, that to get out of diffi-

culty He must seem to act under constraint. This He could ren-

der as a satisfactory reason to the people, and even acquire favor

by the course. In all these matters I may be mistaken, but I am
honest in my convictions, that Texas and England would both be

beneficiaries by this course. Time will tell the tale."

N. B.

The chief portion of the remainder of the letter is upon the

subject of the General's anxiety respecting the persons lately

Captured West of the Eio Grande.^ And requesting that Mr.

Pakenham may be moved to do what He can to avert dangerous

consequences from them. The General grants that the disorderly

action of their separation from the Officer acting under the orders of

this Government is of highly serious consequence to them, but presses

upon the fact that there was a Capitulation, and that the Mexican

Government is bound to respect it. I am endeavouring to write

to Mr. Pakenham upon the subject agreeably to the request, by

this opportunity.

Charles Elliot

[Endorsed] In letter from Capn. Elliot marked "Secret" of

Feb. 5. 1843.

^For a quotation from this portion of the letter, see Elliot to Aberdeen,
Secret, June 8, 1843, enclosure 2. This will be published in a later
number of The Quarterly.
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KEXXEDT 10 ABESDEEX^

Xo. 1. G-alvesTon. Texas.

Febrnarv 11th. 1843.

AIv L-:Td.

I have the honor to inform Your Lordship that I arrived at

Galveston on the 5th Instant, and immediately reported Aly ar-

rival to Captain Elliot, E. X. Her Alajestrs Consul General and

Charge d'Affaires in Texas.

In accordance with My Instrnctions, I have placed Her Maj-

esty"? Commission appointing Me Her Majesty's Consul at this

port in the hands of Captain Elliot^ by whom it has been trans-

mitted to the Government of the Eepnblic with an application for

the necessary exequatur.

Permit Me to remark that the Communication I have had the

honor to hold with Captain Elliot leads me to look forward to

future Cooperation with that gentleman in the public Service as a

very agreeable duty.

William Kennedy.

The Earl ot Aberdeen, K. T.

ELLIOT TO AL>DINGTO>'-

Private. Galveston. March 26th. 1843.

My Dear Sir.

I had hoped that the last Steam Boat from Xew Orleans would

have brought me acknowledgments to the communications for-

warded from here to the 16th Deer, but I have been disappointed,

and I hear accounts of the rather careless modes O'f conveying the

Mails from Xew Orleans to the Xorthward, particularly in the

Southern part of the route, which leave me uneasy till I hear from

England that my letters have been duly received.

It has occurred to me, however, that Her Majesty's Govern-

ment may prefer to forward some of the communications by the

way of the West Indies, and that consideranon tends to reassure

me. The last despatch in the diplomatic series which has been

acknowledged in England is dated here on the 2d November.

-F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.

'md., Vol. 6.
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In outward appearances affairs in this quarter remain much

as they did when I wrote to you last^ in the past Month, but T

cannot help believing that this sameness is apparent rather than

real, and that in point of fact we are hastening forwards to ma-

terial changes. So far as the aggressive power or purposes of

Mexico be considered, in respect to this Country, you must no doubt

have better means of judging than I can furnish, but it seems rea-

sonable to suppose that the protraction of the Struggle in Yucatan

must be shaking General Santa Anna's influence, and exhausting

the crippled and severely collected resources of the Grovernment.

We hear here, too, (but all our information concerning Mexi-

can affairs comes to us through the United States, and must be

received with great reserve) that another Federal movement i^.

ripening, and that it will be supported by some leading Military

Chieftains. Leaving these reports out of question, it may still be

thought to be a reasonable calculation that any existing condition

of things in Mexico will be replaced by another, within three or

four years from ifs Establishment, and if I am not mistaken the

last final Settlement has already reached that measure of venerable

duration.

We learn from New Orleans, that the two Texian Vessels of

War at that place are at last preparing for Sea, (assisted by funds

from Yucatan) and that they will get out in the course of a

week or ten days. I am not able to judge of the well founded-

ness of these statements, but would observe generally of all man-

ner of reports in these parts that they should be received as Dr.

Johnson recommended of Short's Stories; Not too easily believed,

for the very great probability is that they are false, not entirely

disregarded for they may be true. What with my Ultra Malayan

and Trans Atlantic drilling, it will be no wonder if I fall into an

obstinate Pyrrhonism.

I have heard so little truth, and experienced so much injustice,

that doubt and distrust is my way of being. The Treaty^ be-

tween this Country and the United States has not yet been rati-

fied by the Senate of the last, as it is alleged I am told, upon

the ground that its provisions would lead to demands for conces-

treaty of commerce. The United States Senate refused ratification
in certain essentials.
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sions of a similar nature upon the part of the other South Ameri-

can Republics (and the Foreign powers having possessions in the

West Indies with which the United States have Commercial

treaties) thus disturbing the protective effect of their own tariff,

upon their own South Western produce.

But it may be that there are other motives for declining to

ratify the treaty. The IST. Eastern interest would perhaps feel

that relaxation of the contemplated nature in favor of Texian

produce would gratify the demands from the opposite points of

the Union for a general relaxation of the tariff. "You have let

in Texian produce," they would reason "to our detriment/' "Ad-

mit foreign articles of our Consumption, for our relief." Again

mindful of the extremely pressed condition of this Country, and

sensible of the difficulty of carrying the formal annexation of

Texas by Legislative means, the S. W. party may think that the

next best thing would be to leave affairs in such a state that the

same result might virtually be achieved by a treaty of Commerce,

and hence perhaps an unwillingness to conclude any treaty with

this Country (it is most remarkable that there never yet has

been one) till affairs are in their agony, from which they do not

seem to be far removed.

Another topic deserving particular attention at this conjunc-

ture is a Movement by an Anti Slavery party here. I always

knew that such sentiments existed amongst some of the Settlers

from the Free States, and a few of the most respected Citizens,

but an Englishman who has just returned from travelling through

a great part of the Republic assures me that there is a much

more general and strengthening feeling in favor of such a course

than he had conceived possible. I think he is mistaken in respect

[to] the actual state of feeling, and a considerable degree of ex-

citement here last v/eek ending in the sudden dismissal of a Mr.

Andrews from this Island (a Lawyer of talent and respectability

of Houston who had come down to Galveston to test the state of

opinion here) is a proof that in this Island at least there is in

[no ?] readiness for the immediate entertainment of such views.

Upon the whole, however, I believe that sound opinions upon this

topic are gaining strength and these South Western people are so

exciteable, and so ready to jump from extreme to extreme, when-

ever they perceive the advantage of the leap, that it would never
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surprize me to find the subject thrown upon favorable public at-

tention by the very event of M. Andrew's forced departure/

First conies violence, and then come reflection and sympathy,

and indeed it is manifest that the advantages of abolition would

be so immediate and so momentous, that they only need to be

calmly thought of to make their way in the public mind. I am
waiting in much anxiety for the next arrivals from New Orleans

with the hope that it will bring me some acknowledgment of my
despatches and letters as far down as the 27th Deer.

The "G-reat Western" I observe she was to sail from England

on the 10th February. As soon as the Boat arrives I am going

up to pay a short visit to the President at Washington [on the

Brazos] which I have been prevented from doing for some weeks,

by the extraordinary floods of the Eivers. The Mischief of ex-

tensive inundation has added itself to all the other troubles that

have plagued this poor Country for the last 12 Months.

The people are rough and wild, but their constancy and cour-

age are admirable. I hardly know any more painful and indeed

humiliatory subject of reflection than the comparative helpless-

ness of our own poor English people, when one finds them thrown

amongst these scheming, enterprising, and it is most distressing

io add, almost invariably much better informed persons than

themselves. The truth is that the poorer Classes of English peo-

ple are broken in, or I should say broken down to do but one

thing in this world, and then accustomed to all the conveniences

and facilities of locomotion etc. etc. in our Country, they make
but sorry work of it in taming the wilds, compared with the

American races.

The training of our social and political mechanism (and my
experience has taught me, military too) unfits men for rough

uses and reverses. It must all work together perfectly smoothly

and successfully^ or it will scarcely work at all. These strange

people jolt and jar terrifically in their progress but on they do

get, and prosper too under circumstances where our people would

^Stephen Pearl Andrews, a lawyer of New Orleans; later of Galveston.
After urging a plan of abolition in Texas, he went to England in 1843
seeking the aid of British Anti-Slavery Societies. His later life was
spent in Boston and in New York, where he gained reputation as a
scholar and writer. (Appleton, Cyclopedia of Amer. Biog., I, 76.)
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starre and die. I am sure it vould be a wise and a right conrse

to put forward some authoritative recommendation to the Queen's

Subjects to direct their Emigration to parts of the British Domin-

ions, or at all events not to entirely new Countries on this Con-

tinent.

AVhenever the bom British Emigrant comes into contact with

the American or frontier Stations, you find the first squalid, poor

and a Wreck, and the last making way chiefly upon the Capital

which the others have brought with them.

With my excuses for this long letter and small amount of in-

formation

Charles Elliot.

H. U. Addington, Esqr.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

Private. Galveston [March 29th. 1843.

3^fy Lord,

The delay of the Steam boat for a few hours enables me to

transmit to Your Lordship the accompanying Statement of intel-

ligence from Mexico received here two days since, via Xew Or-

leans.^ I entertain no doubt of the genuineness of their proposals,

but am necessarily without any means of forming an opinion upon

the purposes or situation of the Mexican Government in relation

to them

Upon the face of them, however, it is hard to think that Gen-

eral Santa Ana can entertain a serious hope or wish that they

should be accepted in their present form. Their effect would be

to leave this Country virtually independent of Mexico, with abund-

ance of pretext for further disturbance and pretentions West of

the Eio Grande, as soon as Texas is well strengthened, and Mexico

still further enfeebled by unsuitable institutions, and that state

of intestine trouble, which appears to be almost the usual condi-

tion of the Country.

Indeed it seems to me to be quite unintelligible that this project

T. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

^An unidentified newspaper cutting referring to the proposal of a nego-

tiation for peace, made by Santa Anna through James W. Robinson, a
released prisoner.
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of a Federal scheme of polity as respects Texas, and Central as

respects the remainder of the Eepublic can be seriously put for-

ward or expected to work particularly in the present situation

of parties in Mexico.

It is possible however that these proposals may be no more than

the first approach to some practicable solution of the dispute, and

upon that point Your Lordship will of course have the means of

forming a better judgment by the direct intelligence from Mexico,

than any that can be provided upon information or suggestions

from this quarter.

I do not write officially till this Government has signified it's

course regarding these proposals, but I naturally conjecture that,

they will not openly take notice of them.

I am about to proceed to Washington to pay a short visit to

the President, and shall address Your Lordship again as soon as

I have returned.

My last dates from the Foreign Office are of the 2d February,

but then without, acknowledgments of any despatches from here

beyond those of the 2d November.

Charles Elliot.

To The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

KENNEDY TO ABERDEEN

^

No. 2. British Consulate.

Galveston March 29th 1843

My Lord,

I have the honor to inform Your Lordship that, on the 24th of

February, I received from the Seat of Government, at Washing-

ton on the Brazos, a Note from the Secretary of State of the

Eepublic of Texas accompanying the President's official recogni-

tion of My Commission as Her Majesty's Consul for Galveston

I beg to inclose an extract from the Government naper pub-

lished at Washington,"^ not because of any terms of eulogy ap-

plied to so humble an individual as Myself, but as indicating the

light in which the appointment is Viewed by the President, and

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.

'^The Texian and Brazos Farmer, February 18, 1843.
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the prospect it holds out of My being enabled to promote British

interests in this quarter

William Kennedy.

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

ELLIOT TO ADDINGTON^

Steam Boat "Dayton"

On the Passage from Houston to Galveston

April 15th. 1843.

My Dear Sir,

The inclosure is the Copy of a letter which I have addressed

to Mr. Packenham^ at the request of the President that He should

be moved to make the Communication it contains to General

Santa Ana, and I have added some reflections of my own because

it occurred to me that Mr. Packenham would wish to judge of

any views of mine upon the effect of these propositions on the

Government and people of this Country.

I took occasion to mention to the President that I was with-

out any other Instructions than had already been made known to

him respecting the feelings and purposes of Her Majesty^s Gov-

ernment upon the subject of the close of the Contest, but I was

persuaded they had in no degree relaxed. He assured me, and

begged the assurance might be particularly conveyed to Lord

Aberdeen that He continued to place implicit confidence in the

friendly declaration of Her Majesty's Government, and it was in

that spirit, and that trust, that He had felt himself bound to

communicate to me what He had done respecting the condition of

feeling concerning annexation to the United States.

I must feel that in the state of this Country it was no wonder

that merL['s] minds should turn that way, and it might be de-

pended upon that the feeling was growing and gaining strength

both here, and in the United States. I thanked him for what I

was sure was the motive of this frank exposition of his views upon

this subject; but it was one of great importance, and I could only

say that I had lost no time in forwarding to England what He
had been so good as to write to me on that Matter.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6. This despatch is not numbered.

^Pakenham. Elliot at times misspells the name.
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My letter to Mr. Packenham contains the general substance of

the President's remarks, and I must hope that indisposition will

be my excuse to you for these few lines by the present occasion.

Perhaps a few days rest at Galveston in the comparative comfort,

(and at all events the cleanliness) of my own Cabin, will restore

me, but the truth is that my health is shattered, and I do not

look to make good weather of it through the ensuing hot season,

60 far to the South as this Country.

Charles Elliot.

To H. U. Addington, Esqr.

ELLIOT TO PAKENHAM^

Private. Houston April 14th. 1843

My Dear Sir,

The last Boat from New Orleans has brought here a Citizen

of this Republic of the name of Robinson who was captured at

San Antonio on the occasion of it's Surprize by General Woll in

September last, and the accompanying paper will place you in

possession of his own account of the circumstances, and purposes of

his release by General Santa Ana.

I was upon the point of starting to Washington to pay the

President a short visit when these strange, and vaguely^ promul-

gated tidings reached Galveston, and I was with General Houston

when Mr. Robinson arrived at Washington. The President placed

in my hand the original of the paper General Santa Ana had

delivered to Mr. Robinson, but except that it developed the par-

ticularity that New proposals were drawn from him by an approach

from Mr. Robinson, I did not detect that that Gentleman had

more to communicate to General Houston than had already been

made known to him through the medium of his Newspaper.

In fact General Houston explicitly told me that Mr. Robinson

brought him nothing but the papers in question ; the substance

of which you have here before you.

He observed that although this approach had found it's way
before the Public, and came to him in a strange and informal

manner indeed, still He would [state] his belief that it evinced a

^F. O., Texas, Vol. 6.
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peacefulness of Spirit on the part of the Mexican Government,

and [he was] disposed on his own side to proceed to all proper

lengths for the Establishment of an honorable and desirable paci-

fication, He hoped it might not be incompatible with your posi-

tion to state to General Santa Ana that He was ready to send

Commissioners to Mexico in furtherance of that object. He had

to remark, however, that an armistice would be indispensably

necessary before any proposals of a peaceful Xature could be en-

tertained for without that there would be no deliberating calmly,

or determining wisely on either part. General Houston then con-

versed with me upon the subject of this approach.

He believed that General Santa Ana had long since been con-

vinced that there was no hope of the permanent re-establishment

of Mexican Authority in Texas, and He was equally satisfied that

General Santa Ana^s avowed desire for a close of this futile con-

test was sincerely felt, both upon political considerations of vari-

ous kinds, and pressing moment, and no doubt also for the sake

of putting an end to a fruitless Waste of human life and happi-

ness. He could readily understand the feeling which led General

Santa Ana to shape this approach upon the condition of the ac-

knowledgment of Mexican Sovereignty by Texas, but he could not

suppose there was any deliberate purpose to adhere to that con-

dition.

General Santa Afia^s scheme involved the virtual separation of

this Country from Mexico. They were to elect their own Officers

from the highest to the lowest, there were to be no Mexican troops

in Texas; they were to initiate and prepare their own Laws.

He certainly could no[t] understand to what extent or by what

means this Sovereignty was to be enjoyed or exercised. It would

be a shadowy Sovereignty indeed, but it was plain to his mind

that the renewed difficulties and complications to which it would

give rise would be very substantial answers. He could not but

hope that calm consideration, and the voice of great powers, equally

friendly to both Nations would lead them both to some safe resting

place.

I told the President I should not fail to communicate what

He had said to you, and living amongst these people I hope it

may be unnecessary to offer you any excuse for some reflections

of my own upon the same Subject.
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It is certainly in no great spirit of disparagement of the peo-

ple of Texas. In many respects, on the contrary I think them

worthy of high admiration, for example in the spirit of daring

adventnre, and disregard of every kind of difficulty and hard-

ship, I know not by whom they can be surpassed. It is certainly,

then, I would repeat in no spirit of general disrespect, but purely

of dispassionate observation of their variable and excitable politi-

cal humour that I would remark I have never lived amongst any

people more likely to abandon their solemn declaration of separa-

tion to any plausible exhibition of what was best for their imme-

diate interests. Joined to this expansiveness of political consist-

ency, you will scarcely need to be reminded of their actually

pressed condition, and of the absence of those impulses which pro-

duce what we understand by patriotism; not to be looked for in-

deed amongst a people strange to the soil, and compounded for the

most part of wandering and restless Emigrants, from the S. W.
States of the neighbouring Union.

Speaking then of things as they actually are here, and of the

people now living in this Country it would certainly not surprize

me to find this project, temporarily favored, and perhaps it would

not be hard for its advocates to shew them that General Santa

Ana^s scheme would be as profitable an arrangement for Texas

and the United States as I am sure it would be a mischeivous one

for Mexico.

The President, I confidently believe, will act only upon large

and honorable views of what is due to his Country and to him-

self. But whilst He is sincerely and wisely averse to aggressive

War in Mexico, I am persuaded that He is steadily anxious to

secure the Independence of the Country, and I do not doubt that

He is secretly preparing to resort to that course as vigorously as

He can if the interference of Foreign powers shall not otherwise

and promptly close this combat. There seems good reason to be-

lieve that He will succeed in establishing treaties with most of the

Border Indians and when that is accomplished He will be in a

better situation to turn to other projects.

General Santa Aria will be greatly mistaken indeed if He
thought that Houston's real influence in this Country is weaken-

ing, or wished that it should, for He is very moderately disposed

towards Mexico, and will strive hard to reach some safe and



210 The Southwestem Historical Quarterly

creditable conclusion. But if he once raises his voice in the

opposite way He will be followed by twenty thousand riflemen

from the Western States of the Union, in less than 6 Months.

To return however to G-eneral Santa Ana^s scheme, I think you

will concur with me that there is no soundness in a System, flim-

sily pretending to be of one kind, but essentially of a diametri-

cally repugnant description. And of all the people and Govern-

ments on the Earth to select for this experiment of resting con-

tented under a scheme of policy, declaratorily masterful, and

really powerless, these reckless and enterprizing races that have

found their way to this region, and the scantily scrupulous Gov-

ernment of the United States would assuredly be the most certain

to shiver the fragile Machinery to atoms, at their first convenience

That the Government and people of the United States, moved

under different motives, are perfectly agreed upon one point in

this affair of Texas and Mexico, I make no doubt, and that is a

disinclination to the recognition of ifs Independence by Mexico.

The adoption of General Santa Ana's present scheme would prob-

ably suit them all much better. It would effectually sponge out

all that has been done in that way, and leave things as they were

in 1836 (when they never expected Foreign Powers would recog-

nize the Independence of Texas) with leisure to all parties, and

full convenience to strengthen this Country, and open out renewed

troubles and pretensions in a Westerly direction. I believe that

that Government has no more settled purpose than to stretch itself

Westward, and I think the present Cabinet at Washington is of

the mind that Texas upon an independent footing would be a

serious and growing obstacle in their progress thitherwards.

It appears to be reasoned that independent Texas with a very

liberal commercial policy would adhere steadily to a balancing

system, for it would leave Her a great emporium between Coun-

tries with high tariffs, and eager dispositions, and ready facili-

ties to set them at nought. There is reason too in the suggestion

(it has been put forward by leading people in America) that the

influx of foreign Capital and principles to this Eepublic from

other parts of the world, particularly from England, would pretty

rapidly modify present sympathies. Men, they think, would soon

begin to feel Texian, as well as to call themselves, Tfexians. In-
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deed it is more true of the United States races, than of any other

in the World that their first best Country ever is at home.

Tliey will live friendly or fight with any people for profits

sake. Long before I heard of this proposal of General Santa

Aiia's the irapression was gaining strength in my mind that some

intrigue was ripening at Washington (on the Potomac) for I had

good reason to believe that there had been personal Communica-

tions between General Almonte, General Hamilton, Mr. Tyler and

Mr. Calhoun, during last Autumn. Revolving the probable sub-

ject of that intercourse in my mind, it has sometimes occurred

to me (and there is nothing in this proposal to disturb the sur-

mize) that a formal and temporary reannexation of Texas to

Mexico might be one of the proposed devices, and thereupon after

some decent length of time, a renewal of General Jackson's Nego-

ciation for the purchase of Texas from Mexico.

That might be a convenient mode enough of adjusting United

States Claims on Mexico, without any transfer of funds, and per-

haps it might be made more palatable to Mexico by proposing to

pay a few more Million than General Jackson had offered. The

Mexicans would perhaps be instructed by such advisers that this

course would save appearances, and give them a handsome Sal-

vage out of what was lost to them for ever, and their own aver-

sion to have a Neighbour with a liberal Conmiercial policy would

possibly help at the scheme. You are a much better judge of

the probability of these speculations than myself, but entertain-

ing no doubt at all of the answers of the Cabinet at Washington

on the subject, I have thought it convenient to submit them to

you. Considering the shape that this Matter has now assumed,

(from the point of view that I regard it, and with such means

and opportunities of forming a judgment as are within my reach)

I cannot help thinking that Her Majestj^'s Government would

regard a renewal of this futile Contest, always pregnant with

more risk of inconvenient complication with the United States

than there are any safe means of estimating. With great dissatis-

faction General Santa Aha has now proposed a concession of

all practical hold over the Country, and it will scarcely be agree-

able to Her Majesty's Government to learn that a straggle has

been reopened for a matter of form.

On the other hand you will know much better than how the
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intelligence would be received in London that affairs here had

been adjusted upon General Santa Ana's present scheme; a

scheme effectually breaking up existing arrangements, and leav-

ing behind the certainty of renewed and more serious complica--

tions. By late papers from England I observe that Her Majesty's

and the French Governments have recently joined in a Note to

the Eepublic of Monte Video, and Buenos Ayres saying in effect,

that they might suit their own convenience about making a peace,

but that it was necessary they should keep the peace. And I

hope you will pardon me for expressing the wish that you may
now think yourself in a situation to request the Mexican Govern-

ment to suspend hostilities, and recommend me to say the like

to this Government for such a length of time as might enable

you to learn the pleasure of Her Majesty's Government upon this

turn of affairs.

In my mind it is a scheme amounting, in few words, to noth-

ing less than a swamping of this Countr/s Independence. And
all the military and other arrangements, present and prospective,

depending upon it, for the better convenience of the United States.

They would be what General Houston calls the "beneficiaries" of

such a solution. It is of course impossible that General Santa

Ana can have any such thought or purpose as this last, but with

deference, it seems hard to reconcile his entire earnestness in

these proposals with any moderate degree of knowledge of char-

acter of these people, or of the circumstances connected with their

situation

In every way that I regard this subject, looking at it from

here, (but your point of view and experience will at once enable

you to arrest any misconception into which I have fallen) it cer-

tainly seems to me important that there should be a complete

pause^ till you can receive Notice of the views of Her Majesty's

Government. After the present turn of affairs shall be known in

that quarter

We learn here that the two Texian Men of War are to get to

Sea immediately from New Orleans, but the President privately

assured me that the Commodore had orders to give up the Com-

mand of the Squadron for repeated disobedience of Instructions,

and for a most unwarrantable interference in the affairs of Yuca-

tan and Mexico. He shewed me his Messages to Congress upon
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that subject, and they were strongly averse to the least interfer-

ence of this Country in that struggle.

I have to make an excuse for my hard hand writing, but bad

as it always is, I write with some considerable discomfort from

sickness, in the hot room of a Houston Boarding House which

is a manner of existence that I would not wish to my worst

unfriends, and I have had bitter. The Steam Boat is to leave for

New Orleans tomorrow, and having no time or convenience to

write a despatch from here.—I shall take the liberty of enclosing

a copy of this letter to Mr. Addington. I should add that the

President wished the Communication to you to be made in a

private form.

Charles Elliot.

His Excellency Eichard Packenham, Esqr.

Copy.

C. E.

[Endorsed] In letter from Captain Elliot of April 15. 1843.
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KEVIEAVS AND NOTICES

American Colonial Government, 1696-1765. A Study of the Brit-

ish Board of Trade in its Relation to the American Colonies

—

Political, Industrial, Administrative. By Oliver Morton Dick-

erson, Ph. D. (Cleveland: The Arthur H. Clark Company.

1912. Pp. 366.)

The Relations of Pennsylvania with the British Government, 1696-

1765. By Winfred Trexler Eoot, Ph. D. (New York: Publi-

cations of the University of Pennsylvania, B. Appleton and

Company, Agents, 1912. Pp. iv, 396.)

It is only within the last twenty years that scholars have begnn

to study the American colonies as parts of a great empire and to

examine from that point of view their relations to the economic

and administrative system of G-reat Britain. In this field Osgood,

Andrews, and Beer have been the pioneers, but most of their work

has been confined to the seventeenth century. The highly impor-

tant period from the establishment of the Board of Trade in 1696

to the Revolution has been traversed only by the occasional mono-

graph and yet awaits comprehensive treatment. The two books

here reviewed are the most important recent contributions to this

hitherto neglected division of the subject.

In his American Colonial Government Professor Dickerson gives

us the first adequate account of that very important subject, the

British Board of Trade, which has been neglected hitherto largely

because its importance has not been fully appreciated. Here at

last is presented a careful and somewhat detailed account of the

organization, nature, and personnel of the Board, its relations to

the other organs of the British government, and its relations to

the colonies.

The chief duties of the Board were the care and fostering of

English trade in general and the supervision of colonial admin-

istration to that end. But it was never able to fulfill all the

purposes of its creation. Subordinated on the one side to the

Priv}^ Council, on the other to the secretary of state for the south-

em department and excluded from direct control over the enforce-

ment of the Acts of Trade, after a few years of efficiency it passed
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from the control of the Crown to that of the Parliamentary chiefs,

fell into the hands of Whig spoilsmen—of whom Newcastle as

secretary of state for the southern department exercised the most

"pernicious interference"—and sank gradually into such a con-

dition of helplessness that its only function was to gather occa-

sional information. Indeed, one is led to believe that, if Professor

Dickerson's view be correct, Newcastle was more responsible than

any other man for the conditions which brought about the revolt

of the colonies—so lax had become the administration and control

of imperial interests, and so many new powers had the colonial

assemblies been allowed to assume. During the presidency of the

energetic and ambitious Halifax, 1748-1761, there was not only a

revival of the original powers of the Board but an extension of

them. But the mischief had already been done; the colonies were

already beyond the control of the administrative organs of the im-

perial government. The problems were passed up to Parliament

with what results we know.

The reader is likely to feel that the space given to such a topic

as the personnel of the Board could have been reduced without

serious loss and more given with profit to the explanation of the

rise of the assemblies and the weakening of the colonial executive

;

but the author probably felt that the excellent work of Professor

Evarts B. Greene in this field had made an extended discussion of

those subjects less necessary. Though sometimes too brief, the

account of the Board's efforts to retain imperial control over the

colonial judiciary, to bolster up the waning powers of the royal

governor, and to lop off by the weapon of royal disallowance the

unconstitutional extensions of the powers of the assemblies is very

illuminating. likewise clear is the story of how the work of the

Board was hampered by wretched means of communication^ of

how the frequent wars and the urgent need of supplies placed the

governors at the mercy of the assemblies, and of the failure of the

ministers to bring Parliament to the support of the royal officials.

Professor Dickerson has seemingly exhausted the sources of the

subject, the chief of which are the manuscript records of the Board

of Trade itself. If one is inclined to criticise the proportion of

the book, he must, nevertheless, praise the clarity of style and

treatment. The title, however, is entirely too broad,—the subtitle

is a more accurate indication of the contents of the book.
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Dr. Root's book has a peculiar interest, not only in that it

deals with one of the most important colonies, but because it

affords an excellent example of the futile reaction of imperial

laws npon a charter-protected colony and of the anomalous position

of such a colony in a well-ordered imperial system. The treatise

is admirably arranged. Beginning with a brief examination of

Penn's charter and the relation of his colony to the crown, the

real point of departure is in the second chapter, which deals with

the central institutions of colonial control—that is, the Crown,

Privy Council, the great officers of state, treasur}- and admiralty,

the Board of Trade, and finally Parliament. There follow chap-

ters on the administration of the acts of trade, the Court of Ad-

miralty, royal disallowance, judicial system, finance, religious ques-

tions, imperial defense and imperial centralization. In these chap-

ters Dr. Root clearly sets forth the helplessness of the Board of

Trade because of its subordinate powers, the la<ik of thorough co-

ordination in the administrative system, the poor type of royal

official frequently sent out by English politicians and the wretched

fee system which rendered corrupt officials more corrupt, the skill-

ful evasion by the colonists of the royal veto, the quarrel over

paper money, the failure of certain colonies, especially Pennsyl-

vania, to respond to the needs of imperial defense, the utter futil-

ity of the system of requisitions—which we remember Franklin

was not ashamed to praise when opposing a general tax—and the

necessity for a general reorganization of the empire after the close

of the French and Indian war. The author shows a full sym-

pathy for and understanding of the conditions of colonial life

which led to the most strenuous assertion of the right of local

self-government and distrust of centralized control from across

the sea; but the reader is led irresistibly to the conclusion that

the empire needed reorganization and that from the point of view

of the imperial officials the abrogation of the remaining colonial

charters, the grouping of the colonies and the raising of a general

revenue for better defense, and the stricter enforcement of the

laws of trade were matter of prime necessity. How far is this

from the notions that high school and even college students still

imbibe from their text-books that the measures of the British gov-

ernment were the acts of a wicked and stupid despotism ! One

must regret that the style is somewhat hard to follow and that
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the diction is often careless. Perhaps it is this carelessness that

leads the author to say (p. 43) that by 1765 the colonies had

"autonomous governments with parliaments of their own co-ordinate

with the British Parliament/' a statement which is contradicted

on pages 202, 311, and 395, where it is variously explained that

the Parliament was legally supreme "over both realm and colonies."

There is much to praise and little to find fault with in this

volume. Dr. Eoot has searched widely through the sources with

the utmost care, and he has made a solid and notable contribution

to little known period. Chas. W. Eamsdell.

An Artillery Officer in the Mexican War, 18^6-7. L-etters of

Eobert Anderson, Captain 3d Artillery, TJ. S. A. With a Pref-

atory Word by his daughter, Eba Anderson Lawton. (ISTew

York: G. P. Putnam's Sons. 1911. Pp. xvi, 339.)

This is a volume of the letters of Captain Robert Anderson to

his wife. The first letter is dated at Fort Brook, Florida,

December 28, 1846, and the last from Mexico City, October

28, 1847. The writer participated in the capture of Vera Cruz,

the battle of Cerro Gordo, and the battle of Molino del Rey,

and was with the army at the battle of Churubusco, but was kept

out of that engagement by a severe attack of malaria. He was

disabled in the battle of Molino del Rey, and was invalided home

in October. Covering as they do practically the whole of the

southern campaign, one expects these letters to cast valuable side

lights on General Scott's invasion of Mexico, but the expectation

is disappointed. They are interesting human documents, and in-

spire abundant respect for the character of the writer; they occa-

sionally contain excellent descriptions of the towns along the route

from Vera Cruz to Mexico ; but they are singularly devoid of ma-

terial for the historian. The reason for this is partly explained

by the writer: "The newspapers give you so regularly and con-

stantly the last news from the Army, that it is hardly worth while

for me to chronicle events as they transpire, or to detail rumors

as they fly." Again, "I, from my position, am deban-ed from all

knowledge of the secret plans (if they have any) of our Com-

manders." Trist is mentioned in several of the letters, but never

a word is said of his relations with General Scott. Captain An-
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derson Ava? a personal friend of Scott's, and had great admiration

for his militar}^ qualities. The book is without an index, but this

is less serious than would be the case if the letters were of greater

historical importance. E. C. B.

The Sto7'y of My Life, or More Than Half a Century as I Have
Lived it and Seen it Lived. By G. C. Eankin, D. D. (Dallas:

1912. 12mo, Pp. 356, Vol. I.)

This volume covers the life of Dr. Eankin down to the time of

liis election as editor of the Texas Christian Advocate, fourteen

years ago. Previous to that election he had spent four years at

Shearn Church. Houston, and two years at First Church, Dallas.

The volume, therefore, covers only a small portion of his activity

in Texas. The author promises another volume, the material for

which has already been accumulated but is too warm to hand out.

"In that second and final volume there will be something racy

and rare in the literature of the Lone Star State.''

The present volume "is not technicallv an autobiography, for

it deals with many persons and incidents outside of myself." "I

have grouped certain periods and certain incidents around myself

and told the simple story without much accuracy of chronology."

These sentences indicate somewhat the plan of the book. The first

half of the volume is superior to the second half both as regards

choice of subject matter and treatment. The story of his child-

hood, the courage with which the fatherless boy faced the world,

the privations he endured to obtain an education—the account of

his kind grandmother, of his own mother's fortitude, of the help-

fulness of friends—the pictures of life in his native community,

of the scenery of East Tennessee and of the character and orig-

inality of the leaders in that region—all these are well told and

will win the sympathy and admiration of his readers, young

and old.

The second half of the volume is different. The plan of the

book is not adapted to the subject matter treated; as a result, the

narrative is fragmentary; the style becomes repetitive, digressive,

and perfunctory. The author's statements in the Foreword, "I

owe nothing to fortune, to kindred or good luck" and "I have had

to become, from sheer necessity, the architect of my own position
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and character in the world," must have found their origin in writ-

ing this portion of the book. However, they are amply refuted by

the narrative itself.

The volume is illustrated with reproductions of the photo-

graphs of the author, his mother, and members of his family, and

of Professor and Mrs. M. H. B. Burkett, Eevs. W. E. Munsey,

Jno. H. Brunner and Abe Mulkey and Gov. W. G. Brownlow.

A few crude pen sketches are also included.

E. W. Winkler.

A Thumh-Nail History of the City of Houston, Texas, from its.

founding in 1836 to the year 1912. By Dr. S. 0. Young.

(Houston: 1912. 8vo, Pp. 184.
)

This book was written, the author says, "more for my own
pleasure than for an5^thing else." He waives all claim to literary

ability, but assures the reader that "every precaution has been

taken to guard against error. Wherever possible, I have consulted

original documents and newspapers."

The subject matter is divided into twelve chapters, each devoted

to some phase of the city's activities and tracing its history from

the inception of that interest to the present. Chapter 1 (Pp.

7-43) gives an account of the founding of Houston and outlines

its municipal history; Chapter 2 (44-62) tells of the building

activities, private and public, at different periods, and of the or-

ganization of fire companies; Chapter 3 (63-84) does the same

for railroad building, and gives some notes on the lawyers and

doctors; Chapter 4 (85-93), newspapers; Chapter 5 (94-108),

banks and trust companies; Chapter 6 (109-119), churches; Chap-

ter 7 (120-130), military companies; Chapter 8 (131-138), man-

ufacturing; Chapter 9 (139-150), literary clubs, public library

and organized labor; Chapter 10 (151-169), cotton, lumber, oil,

rice and insurance; Chapter 11 (170-175), telegraph lines, tele-

phones, and electric lighting; Chapter 12 (176-184), William M.

Rice and the Rice Institute.

The book is far from being a complete history of Houston. K
large portion of the text is devoted to a description of the city

and its business institutions in 1912. There is enough history,

however, to indicate the leading role Houston has played in the
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business enterprise of the State, and the wonderful transformation

within the hist few years of the old Houston into a modern city.

The absence of any notice of the schools, street railway, hos-

pitals and other charities is remarkable. On page 85 the state-

ment is made that, prior to the establishment of the Telegraph in

1S35, Texas had no publication worthy of being called a news-

paper. Coming from one who has been connected with news-

papers, this remark is all the more surprising. Further down the

page it is stated that the Telegraph was begun at Columbia, while

as a matter of fact it was begun at San Felipe. It is also stated

that its tirst number appeared on October 10, 1835, "the very day

that the Texans, under Fannin, stormed and took G-oliad." Fan-

nin was not at Groliad on that date. On page 88 the statement

is made that the tri-weekly Morning Star was begun "in the early

fifties.'' This is. perhaps, a misprint, for "'in the early forties,"

for the Morning Star was begun in April, 1839.

The illustrations include Sam Houston, after whom the city was

named, the Aliens, founders of the city, W. J. Hutchins, T. W.

House, Sr., Charles Stewart, Paul Bremond. William E. Baker and

others, prominent in the city's development.

The volume has neither table of contents nor index.

E. W. WlXKLER.

Revised Civil Statutes of the State of Texas, adopted at the

Regular Session of the Thirt\'-second Legislature, 1911. Pub-

lished by authority of the State of Texas. Austin, 1912, 8vo,

Pp. 90+1996. After much delay, these statutes were delivered

about the end of July.

'^Geographic Influences in the Development of Texas" is the

title of an article published by Dr. Frederic W. Simonds in the

May number of Tlte Journal of Geographij (University of Wis-

consin).

Letter eeo:m a Bexar Prisoxer.—The San Antonio Express

of September 15. 1912, contains a letter from S. A. ^laverick to

General Waddy Thompson, dated "Castle de Perote Deer 5,
"13"

and reproduces the first page in facsimile. The letter contains
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some interesting passages. The date, however, is incorrect; in all

probability the correct date is January 5, 1843. The Diary of

Judge Hutchinson, a fellow prisoner, printed in The Quarterly,

XIII, 294-313, furnishes several reasons for this conjecture.

E. W. W.

The growing interest in the late 0. Henry is shown by the re-

cent appearance of the following articles by Harry P. Steger:

"Some of 0. Henry's letters and the Plunkville Patriot '' in the

Independent, September 5, 1912, p. 543-47.; "0. Henry—New Facts

About the Great Author," in the Cosmopolitan, October, 1912, p.

955-57. "Eecollections of 0. Henr/' by George P. Warner ap-

peared in The Texas Magazine, August, 1912, p. 322.

A Family of Millers and Stewarts. By Dr. Eobert F. Miller.

Printed privately, 1909. Folio, Pp. 64. This volume contains a

good biographical sketch of the Rev. James Weston Miller, D. D.,

a nestor of the Presbyterian Church in Texas. The sermon

preached by Dr. Miller at the twenty-fifth anniversary of the Synod

of Texas, in November, 1876, is reproduced.

The Call of the New South. Edited by James E. McCulloch.

Nashville: Southern Sociological Congress, 1912. 8vo, Pp. 387.

The above title has been given to the addresses delivered at the

initial meeting of the Southern Sociological Congress, held at

Nashville, May 7-10, 1912.

The following articles have recently appeared in The Texas Mag-
azine (Houston) : The Bohemian Farmers of Texas, by LeRoy
Hodges (June) ; The Texas Overland Mail, by Mrs. Lipscomb
Norvell (July)

;
Japanese Farmers in Texas, by W. Jett Lauck

(September)

.
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XEWS ITEMS

The Dallas News of July 7 describes the presentation of a

dramatized version of the career of General Sam Houston by the

Senior Clas- of the Sam Houston Xormal College at their last

Commencement. The play was written by the students, and was

staged in the open at the old Houston homestead.

Eev. W. S. Eed, of Mexia, is engaged in preparing a Ijistor}-

of the Texas Presbytery, to be published under the auspices of

the Presbyter}^ Associated with him in the work are Eev. F. E.

Fincher of Houston, and Fred S. Eobbins of Bay Cit;\\

W. L. McGaughey, former Land Commissioner of Texas, died

at his home, Tolar, Texas, on March 28, 1912. He was born at

Mount Hope. Alabama, Februar}- 27, 1836; became colonel of the

Sixteenth Alabama Eegiment during the Civil War; he removed

to Texas in 1872. A sketch of his life is printed in the Dallas

Xews of March 29.

Bryan Callaghan, mayor of San Antonio, died on July 8, 1912.

He was a native of that city; bom April 1, 1852; he studied law

at the University of Virginia, and then spent some time studying

in France. He was mayor for many years. The San Antonio

Express of July 8 and 9 has a full sketch of his life.

Carl Urbantke, whose autobiography was noted in The Quar-

terly^ 256-57, died at his home in Brenham, July 12, 1912.

Eichard M. Wynne, Superintendent of the Confederate Home
at Austin, died July 15, 1912. He was born in Hawood county,

Tennessee, June 2, 18-14, but came to Texas in his early boy-

hood. During the Civil War he served as an officer in the Tenth

Texas Eegiment. In 1880 he was elected to the Texas Senate,

and in this position helped to frame the law which established

the University of Texas. A brief sketch of his life is contained

in The Dallas News of July 18, 1912.
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John H. James, Chief Justice of the Fourth Court of Civil

Appeals, died at his summer home near Comfort, Texas, on July

17, 1912. He was born in San Antonio sixty years ago, was

trained in law at Harvard, and had been on the bench of the

Fourth Court of Civil Appeals continuously since its organization

in 1893. A brief sketch of his career is printed in the San An-

tonio Express of July 19.

T. S. Miller, of Dallas, died at Petosky, Michigan, August 3.

He was bom at Jackson, Louisiana, in 1850. From 1895 to 1897

he was Professor of Law in the University of Texas, being for

one year Chairman of the Faculty and Dean of the Law Depart-

ment. A brief sketch of his life is in The Dallas News of August

4, 1912.

Dr. Sylvester Primer, Professor of Germanic Languages in the

University of Texas, died at his home in Austin, August 13, 1912.

He was born at Geneva, Wisconsin, December 14, 1842. He
served through the Civil War in two J^ew York regiments, the

108th Infantry and the 15th Cavalry. After the War he gradu-

ated at Harvard, and studied at various German universities, tak-

ing the Ph. D. degree from Strassburg. He had been at the Uni-

versity of Texas since 1891. A brief sketch of his life can be

found in Who's Who ifi America for 1912-1913.

Judge A. W. Terrell, President of the Texas State Historical

Association, died at Mineral Wells (Texas) on September 8, 1912.

A sketch of his life will be published in a later number of The
Quarterly.

The annual reunion of the United Confederate Veterans of

Texas will be held at Cleburne on October 3 and 4.

The Harris County Bar Association recently placed in the court-

house portraits of Andrew Briscoe, first chief justice of Harris

county; J. W. Henderson, an ex-Govemor of Texas, and Charles

Stewart, former Congressman. Among the rules governing the

admission of portraits one provides that the subject must have

made a distinct contribution to the history of the bar of Harris
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county; another provides that he must have been dead at least

fifteen years prior to admission.

A monument to commemorate the bravery of Colonel William

P. Eogers, of the Second Texas Infantry, was unveiled at Corinth,

Mississippi, August 15, by a committee of citizens of Victoria,

Texas, assisted by the Corinth U. D. C. Colonel Eogers was

killed in the battle of Corinth, October 4, 1862, while leading a

charge at Fort Eobinett.

—

Austin Statesman, August 16, 1912.

Miss Elizabeth H. West, archivist in the Texas State Library,

has been in the City of Mexico since the first week in August.

She is supervising the copying of historical manuscripts in the

Archivo General of the Secretaria de Fomento, relating to the

colonization of Texas from 1820 to 1836.



A CORRECTION

A line was omitted from Dr. Bolton's article in the July Quar-

terly at the bottom of page 16. The sentences there affected

should read: "This account of the Texas is of special interest

as being the earliest extant, so far as is known, although, as we

have seen, reports of them had reached New Mexico as early as

1650. One of the objective points of the Spaniards both of New
Mexico and Coahuila was thenceforth the Kingdom of the Texas.'^
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1. The Boundary under Spain and Mexico

California apparently had no established eastern boundary un-

der the Spanish government.^ The explorations of Garces through

southern Nevada as shown on Padre Font's map of 1777;,^ and of

Dominguez and Escalante through Utah and southeastern Ne-

vada^ had doubtless given the Spanish officials a vague notion of

the interior basin of upper California, as it was called, and the

decrees of the viceroys, according to Halleck, included that re-

gion in the judicial district of the California territory.*

Even when Mexico became independent of Spain, the boundaries

of her northern provinces, California and New Mexico, were not

established with any great degree of precision. There were, for

instance, two maps of Upper California published in 1837. Rosa's

map, published by order of the Mexican Congress, shows the south-

*Volumes I-XV published as The Quarterly of the Texas State His-
torical Association.

'^Bancroft, History of Arizotia and New Mexico, 345, says: "California,
however, while no boundary was ever fixed officially, was not generally
'nonsidered to extend east of the Rio Colorado."

^Bancroft, History of Nevada, Colorado and Wyoming, 28 et seq.

Hhid., 36, and History of Utah, 7 et seq.

^Browne, Report of the Debates in the Convention of California, ISJfO.

451-452.
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ern boundary by a line running south of west from the mouth of

the G-ila river to the vicinity of latitude thirty degrees and thirty

minutes on the Pacific coast. The eastern boundary begins at the

mouth of the Gila river and runs northeast, joining the 42d parallel

at the 108th meridian. The Dufour map. of the same year,

Indicates no boundan^ between Upper and Lower California. The

eastern boundary, beginning near the 33d parallel, runs northward

between 112 and 113 degrees of longitude west from Greenwich,

to the vicinity of the 36th parallel of latitude, then turns west of

Dorth and joins the 42d degree of north latitude on longitude 116

west. The northern boundary of Upper California, according to

Eosa's map, extends from longitude 108, west from G-reenwich,

westward along the 42d parallel to the Pacific, while on Dufour*s,

the same boundary includes only the territory' along the 42d parallel

between 116 degrees west longitude and the Pacific ocean.

Tanners Map of the United States of Mexico, published in

1846, and Mitchell's Map of Mexico including Yucatan and Upper

California, published in the same year, give California similar

eastern boundaries but boundaries which differ coDsiderably from

the maps published in 1837. The eastern line runs rather irregu-

larly between 30 degrees and 31 degrees 30 minutes of longitude

west from Washington from about the 32d to the 42d parallels of

latitude. Another map drawn by Charles Preuss from the surveys

of John C. Fremont and other authorities (Washington, 1848)—the

one which seems to have been used more frequently than any other

by the California Convention of 1849,—indicates still different

boundaries.^ The southern line, beginning on the Pacific coast,

£ibout one marine league south of San Diego-, runs almost directly

east and west to the Gila river, and along that stream to the vi-

•cinity of the present Tempe, Arizona, near the 112th degree of

longitude west from Greenwich. The eastern line extends northward

through Utah, just west of Bear Lake, to the 42d parallel north

latitude. The map used by the United States and Mexico in es-

tablishing the boundaries in 1848 was DisturnelFs Mapa de los

Estados Unidos de Mejico (California, Xew York, 1847). The

>edition of this map used by the writer, which seems to have indi-

eated the same boundaries for California as the one just cited, was

^For this map see California Message and Correspondence (1850).

'^Comptlation of Treaties in Force (Washington, 1904).
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published in 1850. On it the eastern line begins near latitude

32 degrees 30 minutes north, and longitude 31 degrees west from

Washington, and extends northward, at one place coming near

longitude 33 degrees, finally joining the 42d parallel near longi-

tude 31 degrees west from Washington. The map accompanying

the President's Message to the two Houses of Congress, De-

cember 5, 1848, is very similar to the Disturnell map, except that

the former follows the Suanca branch of the Gila river instead of

the middle branch, thus including in California more territory in

the southeast than the latter. The Disturnell map also extends the

northwestern boundary of New Mexico slightly more than does the

map accompanyirig the President's message. These maps pub-

lished at different periods all agree in making the 42d parallel the-

northern boundary of California,—the line estalblished by United

States and Spain in the treaty of 1819—^but that is about all they

have in common. As we have seen, they show the eastern boundary

at the north touching the 42d parallel anywhere between longitude

116 west from Greenwich as indicated on Dufour's map, and 108'

as shown by Eosa.

2. Boundaries proposed in the Convention

General Eiley's proclamation calling a constitutional convention-

was issued on the third of June, 1849. The eastern boundary of

the ten districts into which California was divided by that docu-

ment was described as formed by the Colorado river and the "Coast""

and Sierra Nevada ranges of mountains. Among a majority

of the delegates,'^ however, there was a general feeling that the-

state which they were forming need not be confined to these limits.

The Convention, therefore, on September 12, authorized the Pres-

ident to appoint a committee whose duty it should be to propose

satisfactory boundaries for the new commonwealth. The members

chosen were men supposed to be familiar with the geography of

^Historians have generally asserted that the management of the con-
vention was in the hands of the southern minority (see Bancroft, History
of California, VI, 286; Royce, California, 262 et seq.). A recent writer
goes a step farther and asserts that "more than half the delegates had'
originated in States below the Mason and Dixon line." (Coman, Econoynic
Beginnings of the Far West, II, 248.) An examination of the table of
delegates as given in Browne, Debates, 478-79, will show that only 15^

out of 48 were from southern states.
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California as it existed imder Mexico. They were Hastings and

Sutter of Sacramento, Eodriguez of Monterey, La Guerra of Santa

Barbara, and Eeid of Lo? Angeles.^

On Tuesday, September 18, Hastings submitted for the commit-

tee the following report

:

Yonr Committee are of the opinion that the present boundary
of California comprehends a tract of country entirely too exten-

sive for one state and that there are various other forcible reasons

why that boundary' should not be adopted by this Convention. The
area of the tract of country included within the present boundary
is estimated to be four hundred and forty-eight thousand, six hun-
dred and ninety-one (448,691) square miles, which is nearly equal

to that of all the non-slaveholding states of the Union, and which,

deducting the area of Iowa, is greater than that of the residue of

the non-slaveholding states.

Your Committee are of the opinion that a country like this,

extending along the coast nearly a thousand miles and more than
twelve hundred miles into the interior, cannot be conveniently

or fairly represented in a state legislature here, especially as a

greater part of the interior is entirely citt off from the country

on the coast by the Sierra Xevada, a continuous chain of lofty

mountains, which is covered with snow, and is wholly impassable

nearly nine months in the year.

Your Committee are also of the opinion that the country in-

cluded within the boundaries of this territory as now established,

must ultimately be divided and sub-divided into several different

states, which divisions and sub-divisions (should the present

boundary be adopted) vrould be very likely to divest the state of

California of a valuable portion of her sea coast. Your Com-
mittee are therefore of the opinion that a boundary should now be

fixed upon which will entirely preclude the possibility of such a

result in the future. Another important reason which has aided

very much in producing the conclusion to which your Committee
has arrived, is predicated upon the fact that there is already a

vast settlement [the Mormons in Utah] in a remote portion of

this territory, the population of which is variously estimated to be

from fifteen to thirty thousand human souls, who are not repre-

sented in this Convention, and who, perhaps, do not desire to be

represented here.

The religious peculiarities of these people, and the very fact

of their having selected that remote and isolated region as a per-

manent home, would seem to warrant a conclusion that they de-

sire no direct political connection with us, ^ind it is possible, and

^Browne, Debates. 54.
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highl}^ probable, in the opinion of your Committee, that measures

have been or are now being taken by these people for the estab-

lishment of a Territorial Government for themselves.

For the above and foregoing reasons, your Committee are of the

opinion that the following should constitute the boundary of the

state of California, viz

:

Commencing at the northeast corner of the state at the inter-

section of the parallel of latitude forty-two degrees north with

the parallel of longitude one hundred and sixteen west; thence

south, upon and along that parallel of longitude to the boundary

line between the United States and Mexico, established by the

treaty of peace ratified by the said governments at Queretaro, on

the thirtieth day of May, 1848 ; thence west, upon and along said

boundary line, to the Pacific ocean; thence in a northerly direc-

tion, following the course of the Pacific coast, to the said parallel

of forty-two degrees north latitude, extending one marine league

into the sea from the southern to the northern boundary, and in-

cluding all the bays, harbors and islands adjacent to the said

coast; and thence, east from the said coast, at latitude forty-two

degrees north, upon and along that parallel of latitude to the

place of beginning,^

Immediately after hearing this report the House adjourned, and

although the Convention held daily sessions during the interval,

the subject of the boundary did not come up again until four days

later, the twenty-second of September.^ McDougal warned the

Convention that numerous proposals would be submitted for the

establishment of a satisfactory eastern boundary, and suggested that

all who intended to place proposals before the House for consider-

ation should do so at once. He did not himself agree with the

Committee, but without attempting to explain the one which he

considered the proper boundary he would simply offer his amend-

ment, namely:

That the boundary of the state of California shall include all

that tract of country from the 105th degree of longitude west from
Greenwich to the Pacific coast, and from the 32d to the 42d
degree of north latitude, known as the territory of California ; also

the harbors, islands and bays adjacent and along the Pacific coast;

.also, to extend three English miles into said Pacific ocean and
along the coast thereof from the 32d to the 42d degrees of lati-

tude north; but if Congress should not grant or adopt the bound-

^Browne, Delates, 123-124.

UUd., 167.
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ary herein set forth, then the boundary to be as follows, viz:

Commencing at the point of intersection of the 42d degree of'

north latitude, and of the 120th degree of longitude west from
Greenwich, and running south on the line of the said 120th de-

gree of west longitude until it intersects the 38th degree of north
latitude; thence running in a straight line in a southeasterly di-

rection to the boundary line between the United States and Mexico-

as established by the treaty of May 30, 1848, and at a point where
the 116th degree of west longitude intersects said boundary line;

thence running west and along said boundary line to the Pacific

ocean, and extending therein three English miles; thence running
in a northeasterly direction and following the direction of the-

Pacific coast to the 42d degree of north latitude, to the place of
beginning; also all the islands, harbors, and bays along and ad-

jacent to the Pacific coast.

^

Semple of Sonoma said that he considered the problem of es-

tablishing a satisfactory eastern boundary, if the line did not ex-

tend west of the Sierra Nevada mountains, a subject of secondary

importance. He thought, therefore, it would be well for the Con-

vention to fix definite boundaries north and south and leave the-

eastern line to be determined by Congress. Personally he felt that

the only portion of the territory which should be included within,

the boundaries of the new state was that part west of the Sierra

Nevada mountains, but that if Congress wished to include the-

whole of Spanish California, he thought it would be better to ac-

cept the desire of that body rather than risk having to remain%

out of the Union for three or four years. It was ^^ighly desirable,^^

he thought, to have a regularly organized government, and this-

could be dbtained more quickly by omitting everything from their

constitution which would tend to stir up sectional prejudices in-

Congress.^

Following the suggestion, made by McDougaJ, of getting the-

various proposals before the House as soon as possible, so that each

member could understand the different eastern boundaries proposed^

before beginning the discussion, Gwin of San Francisco submitted

the following amendment to the amendment

:

The boundary of California shall be as follows: beginning at

the point on the Pacific ocean south of San Diego, to be estab-

^Browne, Debates, 168.

Ubid,
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lished by the Commissioners of the United States and Mexico,

appointed under the treaty of the 2d of February, 1848, for run-

ning the boundary line between the territory of the United States

and Mexico, and thence running in an easterly direction on the

line fixed by said Commissioners as the boundary to the territory

of New Mexico: thence northerly on the boundary line between

New Mexico and California, as laid down on the Map of Oregon
and Upper California from the survey of John C. Fremont, and
other authorities, drawn bv Charles Preuss, under the order of the

Senate of the United States, Washington City, 1848, to the 42d
degree of north latitude ; thence due west, on the boundary line be-

tween Oregon and California, to the Pacific ocean ; thence southerly

along the coast of the Pacific ocean, including the islands and bays

belonging to California, to the place of beginning.^

Halleck of Monterey offered and Gwin accepted the following

proviso clause as a part of the amendment which the latter had

submitted

:

But the Legislature shall have power by the votes of two-thirds

of both Houses^ to accede to such proposals as may be made by
the Congress of the United States, upon the admission of the

state of California into the national confederacy and Union (if

they shall be deemed just and reasonable), to limit the eastern

boundaries of the state to the Sierra Nevada, and a line drawn
from some point in that range to some point of the Colorado or

Gila rivers, and to organize, by Congress, a territorial govern-

ment for that portion of California east of these boundaries, or

to admit it into the Union as a distinct and separate state. And
the Legislature shall make declaration of such assent by law.^

G-win said that, believing that many difficulties would arise in

connection with the establishment of a satisfactory eastern boun-

dary, he had devoted a good deal of time to a careful study of the

subject. He had maps which he had submitted to citizens of

California "who were well versed in the matter, and they had in-

formed him that the boundary which he proposed^' was the one

recognized by the government of Mexico. It had already been

recognized by the United States, he said, in official documents and

^Browne, Debates, 169.

^This was later changed to a majority vote of the Legislature. See
Browne, Deflates, 175.

^Browne, Debates, 169.
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maps pu'blisbed by order of Congress. It was quite essential to state

a definite boundary in the constitution, '^ut as this was a fair sub-

ject of negotiation between the two high contracting parties, and

as Congress had a right to determine what our boundary should

be, . . . then it was fair for Congress and the Legislature, under

this proviso, to change it by their joint action."^ It was true that

his proposition included an immense territory, but the people of

California could divide it later into several states if they so desired.

Shannon of Sacramento believed that none of the boundaries

proposed would be satisfactory. The line which he would suggest

would, he thought, offer many advantages over anything yet sub-

mitted to the Convention. It would include every point which

was of any real value to the state, taking in the Colorado Eiver,

which would be of great importance as a southern "port of entry

and depot for trade" between the interior provinces of Mexico and

California, and would give the new st^te a uniform width and

bring it within reasonable limits. He therefore recommended as

the eastern boundary the 120th degree of west longitude from the

42d to the 38th parallel of north latitude, thence southeast to the

point of intersection of the 35th parallel of north latitude with the

Colorado river, thence south along the eastern bank of that stream

to the boundary line established between the United States and

Mexico by the treaty of 1848.^

About two weeks later, October 8, after the discussion of the

above proposals and after the Gwin-Halleck proposal had been

accepted, Ellis moved that the report of the Committee of the Whole

on the Boundary be taken up, and Hastings of Sacramento imme-

diately offered the following as a substitute for the line adopted:^

Eesolved, that the boundary of the state of California be as

follows : Commencing at the intersection of the 42d parallel of

north latitude and the 118th meridian line; thence south upon
the said meridian to the point where it intersects the 38th par-

allel of north latitude; thence southeasterly in a direct line,

to the point where the 114th meridian line intersects the Eio Col-

orado; thence southerly down the said river following the main
channel thereof to the boundary line between the United States

^Browne, Debates, 169.

mid., 170.

mid., 417.
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and Mexico, as established Ly the treaty of peace, ratified by the

t^aid ,2"overnments at Qiieretaro on the 30th day of May, A. D.,

1848; thence west upon said boundary line to the Pacific ocean;

thence northerly, bounded by the said ocean, to the said 43d
parallel of north latitude, including all the bays, harbors and
islands adjacent to, and in the vicinity of the said coast; and

thence east upon the said 42d parallel of north latitude to the

place of beginning.^

An attempt was made to discuss the proposal, but Botts inter-

rupted by saying there was an understanding that a vote was to be

taken upon the question without debating it.^ He wanted either

no debate or a full discussion of the subject. This demand led to

an immediate vote which resulted in the adoption of the substitute

offered by Hastings.

But objections were raised immediately. McDougal m.oved that

the article on the boundary be reconsidered, while Sherwood made

a long speech favoring such action.^ Speeches were made by others,

and on the following day Hastings's proposal was jejected by a ma-

jority of ten in a total vote of forty-four.* Shannon then submit-

ted the proposal which he had formerly read, and it was also re-

jected. The question then reverted to the Grwin-Halleck proposal,

which was adopted for the second time.^

The announcement of this vote led to the only scene of dis-

order that occurred during the entire session of the Convention.

"A dozen members jumped up, speaking and shouting in the most

confused and disorderly manner. Some rushed out of the room;

others moved an adjournment; others again protested they would

sign no constitution embodying such a provision."^ Again the

subject was reconsidered and various proposals were suggested, only

two of which received serious consideration. These were offered in

a spirit of compromise by Jones of San Joaquin and Hill of San

Diego.

Jones believed that every member of the Convention wanted to

avoid raising any question in Congress which might delay the ad-

^Browne, Debates, 417.

UUd., 418.

mid., 418-420.

mid., 433.

mid., 440-441.

^Taylor, Eldorado, 153-154. See also Browne, Debates, 441.
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mission of California, and he thought there was also a general feel-

ing that the Sierra Nevada would be the most natural houndar}'.

But there were some who insisted on fixing that as the definite

boundary, making no provision for any difficult}^ in Congress;

while others wanted to add a proviso clause so that if Congress did

not accept the Sierra Xevada line, they would still have an oppor-

tunity to gain admission to statehood w^ithout experiencing serious

delay. Why not compromise? Why not adopt the Sierra Nevada

line with, a proviso? That is, why not make it quite clear to

Congress that the people of California much prefer the Sierra

Nevada line for their eastern boundar}^, but if Congress should

refuse to admit the state into the Union with that line, "if it should

prove an insuperable barrier to our admission," then "we will take

a larger/*^ He then suggested practically the same eastern limit

as offered by McDougal and Shannon: the 120th degree of west

longitude beginning at the 42d parallel and extending to the 39th,

thence in a straight line southeast to the intersection of the 35th

degi-ee of north latitude and the Colorado river, thence down the

middle of the channel of that river to the boundary line between

the United States and Mexico. But if Congress would not ac-

cept that line, he suggested as a substitute the eastern limit as in-

dicated on the Preuss 21av of Oregon and Upper California} It

was the first part of Jones's pi'oposal that was finally adopted by the

Convention.

Botts was willing to compromise, but Jones's proposal involved a

principle on which he could not yield. He would strenuously op-

pose any boundary that included the Mormon settlements, because

these people had no representatives in the Convention.^

To meet this objection and to satisfy those who insisted that a

single, definite boundary be adopted. Hill submitted as the eastern

limit a line following the Colorado from the mouth of the Gila to

the 35th parallel, thence north to the 42d degree of north lati-

tude.* Jones's proposal was rejected by a vote of thirty-one to

thirteen, and Hill's was adopted by a vote of twentv-four to

twent3^-two.'°' The subject was again reconsidered, however, and

^Browne, Delates, 441-443.

UUd., 443.

UUd., 447.

*Ihid., 454.

Uhid., 456-457.
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for the third time the Convention voted on the Gwin-Halleck pro-

posal. It was voted down by a majority of six in a total of forty-

two votes. ^ Jones then offered the first part of his proposal and it

was accepted as a final settlement of the boundary question by a

vote of thirty-two to seven. ^ Th.e boundary line thus established

was as follows

:

Commencing at the point of intersection of the 42d degree of

north latitude with the 120th degree of longitude west from
Greenwich and running south on the line of said 120th degree

of west longitude until it intersects the 39th degree of north lati-

tude; thence running in a straight line in a southeasterly direc-

tion to the river Colorado at a point- where it intersects the 35th

degree of north latitude; thence down the middle of the chan-

nel of said river to the boundary line between the United States

and Mexico, as established by the treaty of May 30, 1848; thence

running west and along said boundary line to the Pacific ocean

and extending therein three English miles; thence running in a

northerly direction and following the direction of the Pacific

coast to the 42d degree of north latitude; thence on the line of

said 42d degree of north latitude to the place of beginning; also

all the islands, harbors and bays along and adjacent to the Pacific

coast. ^

3. The discussion of the Proposals

The arguments made by the proponents of the different boun-

daries have already been given. It is now in order to indicate the

nature of the discussions which the proposals aroused.

The first part of McDougaPs proposal, suggesting the 105th de-

gree of west longitude as the extreme eastern limit for the new
state, seems to have been given little or no consideration. The
party which favored the adoption of the eastern boundary of Cali-

fornia recognized by Mexico urged the acceptance of the Gwin-

Halleck proposition, thus declaring themselves in favor of the line

laid down on the Preuss map of 1848. The other party wanted to

prescribe narrow limits, but at first they could not agree on a sat-

isfactory line. Some spoke in favor of the proposal submitted by

the Committee,—the 116th degree of west longitude,—and others

for contracting the boundary still more.* The principal points of

^Browne, Debates, 458.

mid., 458 and 461.

UUd., 443.

^Johns Hopkins University Studies, XIII, 405.
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the argument were very similar on iDoth sides: immediate ad-

mission to statehood, slavery, the right of the Convention to fix

any other eastern boundary than that recognized by Mexico, and

the question of including or excluding the Mormon settlements

around Salt Lake. The small state party also expressed the fear

of division of California by an east and west line. Throughout

the entire discussion, both sides were actuated more than all else

by a desire to gain quick admission into the Union. The majority

of those favoring the extreme eastern boundary seem to have

believed that Congress would accej)t them immediately with that

line. The opposition was just as certain that immediate admission

could be secured only by bringing the territory of the state within

reasonable limits.^

McCarver of Sacramento said the important thing was to do

nothing that would delay their admission into the Union. "We
want our two senators in the senate chamber to maintain the in-

terests and supply the wants of California; we w^ant our repre-

sentatives in Congress'^ as soon as we can get them there. To ac-

complish this it was absolutely necessary to fix definite and perma-

nent boundaries north, south, east and west. They should leave no

boundary open; they should leave no question open that would be

the means of keeping them out of the Union. Furthermore he

would like to arrange it so that the Legislature would entertain

no proposal from Congress for fixing a boundary. He was afraid

Congress might cut the state in two by running a line east and

west if the Convention adopted the Gwin-Halleck proposal.^

^See Willey, Transition Period of California, 108.

-Browne, Debates, 170, 177. Other members expressed similar fears re-

garding the division cf the State east and west.

Polk, in his message of December 5, 1848, had recommended the extension
of the Missouri Compromise line to the Pacific as a means of settling the
slavery controversy, and the Senate attempted to get such a measure
through Congress, but the House would not accept it. (Rhodes, History of the

United States, 1, 96 and 97.) Later Southern men in Congress attempted
to save a portion of the newly acquired territory for slavery in another
way. On August 1, 1850, when the bill for the admission of California was
under discussion in the Senate, Foote of Mississippi offered an amendment
to an amendment which had been proposed by Douglass, the latter being
in relation to the disposal of public lands in California. Foote's amend-
ment was as follows : "And that the said state of California shall never
hereafter claim as within her boundaries, nor attempt to exercise juris-

diction 'over, any portion of the territory at present claimed by her, except

that which is embodied within the following boundaries, towit: Com-
mencing in the Pacific Ocean, three English miles from the shore, at the
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Price of San Francisco also asserted that the first object the Con-

vention wished to accomplish was to gain immediate admission into

the Union. Could they do it by adopting the extreme eastern boun-

dary offered in the Gwin-Halleck proposition? He did not think

so. The southern representatives in Congress would not accept it.

He came from a northern state (New Jersey) but he was broad

enough to see the injustice of such a measure in so far as it affected

the South.i

Semple wanted to do everything possible to secure the imme-

diate admission of California into the Union^ and Halleck believed

his proviso clause would insure immediate admission to statehood.

Semple seems to have felt that Gwin's proposal alone might not

be accepted by Congress^ but with his provision added to it, he

thought there could be no question. He believed Congress would

accept it unhesitatingly.^ Sherwood of Sacramento thought Cali-

fornia could not be admitted to statehood very soon if she refused

to adopt the extreme eastern limits. To establish the Sierra Nevada

or a line of longitude near those mountains as the eastern boundary

of the new state would result in one of two things : they would

either be left without a government from Congress, or they would

42d degree of north latitude; thence with the southern boundary line

of the territory of Oregon to the summit of the Sierra Nevada; thence
along the crest m th.it mountain to tlie point where it intersects the
parallel of latitude of 35 degrees 30 minutes; thence with the said parallel

of latitude to a point in the Pacific ocean three English miles from the
shore, and thenco to the beginning, including all the bays, harbors and
islands adjacent to or included within the limits hereby assigned to said

state. And a new tejritory is hereby established, to be called Colorado,
to consist of the residue of the territory embraced within the limits of

the said state of California, specified in the constitution heretofore adopted
by the people of California; for the government of which territory-, so
established, all the proTisicns of this act relating to the territory of Utah,
except tlie name and boimflaries tlierein specified, are hereby declared to

be in force in said territory of Colorado, from and after the day when
the consent of the state of California shall have been expressed in some
formal manner to the modification of her boundaries." Congressional
(jlobe, 3Lst Congress, Ist session, Appendix II, page 1485.

In commenting on this, Butler of South Carolina said: "Thirty-six

degrees and thirty minutes is tliat which has been often indicated as tlie

line; this is arbitraiy, and if it becomes a point of honor, I will insist

upon it. This proposition, 35 degrees 30 minutes," has eternal boundaries

to indicate it, and for that reason, lie said, he would accept it. Ibid., 1489.

^Browne, Debates, 429-430.

"-Ibid., 168.

'Ibid., 175.
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have to form a government for themselves independent of Con-

gress.^

On the other hand Botts of Monterey could hardly keep cool

when the subject was broached. He did not believe they stood any

chance whatever of becoming a state with the Eocky Momitains as

their eastern line. "The gentleman who has last taken his seat

(Mr. Sherwood), has made his strongest appeal in behalf of this

extreme eastern boundary; that it will be the only means of get-

ting you into the Union. Sir, I can tell you this will not be the

means of your admission; you will never get into the Union with

this boundary. If you do, it will be only to sit among its ruins,

like Marius among the ruins of Carthage.^^^

Halleck did not believe the joint proposal was understood, and

wanted to explain it. The first part, that offered by Gwin, in-

cluded what had always been recognized as Upper California. The
object of extending the boundaries of the new state to the extreme

limits, was to settle the slavery question in that vast area forever.

Another reason was to extend the jurisdiction of the courts of the

state to that region for the purpose of protecting the immigrants

who were coming from the East in such great numbers. He did

not believe it would be possible to get a government for the terri-

tory between the Sierra Nevada and Eocky mountains for the

next five years if the question of slavery was left unsettled there.

Probably a half dozen or a dozen murders had been committed in

that section during the past year ; where could justice be meted out

to the guilty, and to others who would be guilty of similar crimes

in the future, if the eastern boundary of California did not in-

clude that region? These were the reasons urged for fixing an

extreme eastern boundary. But some members had asserted, and

perhaps truly, that Congress would not admit California with this

boundary. His proviso clause was to meet just that difiSculty.

If objections were made to admitting a state which included so

much territory, the Constitution carried with it provisions for

establishing a new eastern boundary anywhere between the Sierra

^NTevada and the Eocky mountains, the exact location to be deter-

mined by Congress and by the Legislature of California. Thus the

new state would gain immediate admission with the extreme eastern

^Browne, Debates, 181 and 418-420.

Ubid.^ 420.
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limit, and if these limits were to be restricted, Congress and the

State Legislature could fix a new line later.^

Botts had been inclined to leave the settlement of the eastern

boundary to Congress, but, he said, since a member of the ^^new

firm of Gwin and Halleck" had explained the motives which

actuated them in offering the proposal before the House, he had had

just and sufficient reasons for changing his mind. Did the gentle-

man (referring to Halleck) suppose southern men were asleep?

Why did he not, upon the same principle, attempt to settle the

question for Congress and for the southern people over a still greater

extent of territory? Why not indirectly settle it by extending the

eastern boundary of California to the Mississippi river? Why not

include the island of Cuba, "a future acquisition of territor\^

which we may one day or other attain, and forever settle this

question by our action here/^

Slavery, he continued, was a great evil, and for that reason he

wanted it excluded from the state in which he lived, but the terri-

tory of that state should be confined within "proper'^ limits. He
believed the people of a territory had a perfect right to form a

state government and exclude the institution of slavery from their

midst ; and he was willing to vote for the Rocky mountains as the

eastern limit of California if gentlemen could show him that that

was the proper boundary for the new state. "But when gentlemen

urge upon me as an argument, to adopt that boundary because it

excludes slavery from an immense extent of territory; not be-

cause it is the proper boundary of California, not because it is de-

sirable to the state of California, but because it will settle the

slavery question for the whole of the southern people and that

against the will of the inhabitants of that portion of the Union who
are not represented here,—the millions of people there v/ho desire

to have the institution of slavery amongst them,—when we are

told that this may be, and that we here now may adopt that

boundary and prevent the people of the South who may come

here from exercising their rights and determining the question

for themselves—when I am urged to do this, sir, I cannot give

my consent."^

Sherwood thought the crest of the Sierra Nevada or some line

^Browne, Debates, 175.

Uhid., 178-179.
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of longitude near it should be the future boundary of the state;

and if that were the only question before the House, he would not

hesitate to vote for the proposition which established such a

boundary. But there were other things which should influence the

action of members of the Convention. The most important of

these was the slavery question. The fact that Congress had failed

to provide a territorial government for California during its last

session was due entirely to the controversy over the subject of

slavery. That subject, so far as it affected the territory to be in-

cluded within the new state, had been settled by a unanimous vote

of the Convention. Why not complete the good work by extending

their eastern boundary to include the whole of California? If

this were not done, the discussion of the same question would be

open in regard to that portion of California excluded from the

limits of the new state. ^ As friends of the Union he appealed to

members of the Convention to settle the question for the whole ter-

ritory and thus relieve Congress of the responsibility. If they did

not several years might elapse before a government could be or-

ganized in California.

Sherwood then spoke at length upon the excitement which the

subject of slavery had created in the eastern states during the

preceding year, especially in his native state, Xew York. In that

state opinion had been divided as to whether Congress should pass

a proviso prohibiting slavery in all the territory acquired from

Mexico. A large party there believed that Congress had no right

^It will be remembered that the treaty which closed the Mexican War
was signed February 2, 1848. On July 13 following, a special committee
of eight members, representing equalhv^ the Xorth and the South, was
appointed by the Senate, and that part of President Polk's message relating

to California, Oregon, and Xew Mexico was referred to them. On July 19,

Clayton of Delaware introduced a bill in the name of the committee. In his

introductory report, he informed the Senate that the principle of the

extension of the idea of the Missouri Compromise to the whole territory

had been approved by a vote of 5 to 3 in the committee, but that a motion
to treat the part of the newly acquired territory lying south of 36 degrees

30 minutes, as far as related to slavery, in the same way that Louisiana

territory had been treated, was lost by 4 to 4. All hope of a compromise
disappeared and the committee decided to make only general provisions

for the territories and leave the slavery question to itself. Its recommen-
dations were as follows : First, to recognize the provisional laws of

Oregon until a law of the territorial legislature should either allow or

prohibit slavery, second, to organize California and Xew Mexico as terri-

tories, but to withhold from the territorial legislatures the right to make
any decision with regard to slavery. See Von Hoist, Political and Consti-

tutional History of the United States, III, 385-386.
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to pass such a measure. It was a subject, they said, which the peo-

ple of each territory should determine for themselves. The other

party declared that Congress had a. right to settle the slavery ques-

tion for territories. A candidate had been nominated for the

Presidency there with the distinct understanding that he would

favor the Wilmot proviso.^ The great excitement which had be-

gun during the presidential election of the preceding year would

continue unless members of that Convention settled the slavery

question for the whole of the territory of California by extending

their eastern boundary to the Rocky mountains.^

The attitude of the administration and of Congress on the sub-

ject, Semple thought, might be of interest to members of the Con-

vention. He was in a position to give this in so far as he could

get it from a conversation which he had had with Thomas Butler

King, a member of Congress and President Taylor's confidential

agent to California. He had asked King what Congress would

have them do, and had told him that the people of California

did not want to extend their eastern boundary beyond the Sierra

Nevada, that they would prefer to exclude from their limits all that

desert waste east of the mountains. "For God's sake," King had

replied, "leave us no territory to legislate upon in Congress.'' King

"went on to state then that the great object in our formation of a

state government was to avoid further legislation. There could be

no question as to our admission by adopting this course; and that

all subjects of minor importance could afterward be settled."^

^This was Van Buren. The Democratic party of New York split into-

two factions—the Barnburners and the Hunl^ers. In the presidential elec-

tion of 1848, the former declared for the Wilmot proviso, the latter against
it. Van Buren was nominated by the Barnburners, and later by the Free
Soil party. See Stanwood, History of the Presidency, Chapter XVIII.

^Browne, Debates, 180-182.

Wbid., 184. In his message to the House of Representatives, January
24, 1850, President Taylor said that while he had recommended
the formation of state constitutions and application for admission into

the Union in the case of both California and New Mexico, he had not
in any way attempted to influence them in the formation of their domestic
institutions. "On the contrary, the instructions given by my orders were
that all measures of domestic policy adopted by the people of California

must originate solely with themselves." Richardson, Messages and Papers
of the Presidents, 1789-1807, Vol. V. In spite of this message, however,
there is some reason to believe that President Taylor's wishes and those

of his cabinet were expressed by King in his conversation with Semple,
«ven more than were the wishes of Congress. In Whitney's History of
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Shannon claimed that the dignity of the new state would not

permit it to receive dictation of this character from Thomas Butler

King or from any one else. What right had King to tell the mem-
bers of that Convention that if they adopted such and such bounda-

ries they would be admitted into the Union; if they did not, they

would fail to become a sovereign state? He considered it not only

an insult but a threat, and he called upon the Convention to have

enough regard for their own dignity and for the dignity of the state

of California to reject such an offer immediately. He did not be-

lieve for a single moment that King expressed the sentiments of the

Congress of the United States. No single individual could do

that. The truth of the matter was, he thought, that the cabinet was

in difficulty over the Wilmot proviso, and that King—perhaps

others—was sent there to influence the people of California, first to

establish a state government, and second to include the entire terri-

tory within their limits. There was a political quarrel at home
into which the President and his cabinet wished to bring the new
state of California. For his own part he wished to keep as far

Utah (I, page 408) is a letter written at Great Salt Lake City and dated
September 6, 1849. It is addressed to Brother Amasa Lyman and signed
by Brigham Young, Heber C. Kimball, Willard Richards. It is in part
as follows:

"On the 20th of August, General Wilson arrived here, on his way to

California, as general Indian agent, etc. We had an interview with him
and gathered from him the following particulars: That the President
and Council of the United States are friendly disposed to us, and that he
(General Wilson) is commissioned by General Taylor to inform us that

he fully appreciates our situation," etc,

"The main point of the matter, however, is this: The President has
his ends to subserve, and as he knows we have been favorable to his elec-

tion, he wishes further to appeal to our patriotism (so says General
Wilson) to help him to carry out another measure, which will deliver him,
the cabinet and the nation from a difficulty in which he thinks they are

likely to be involved.

"The subject of slavery has become more embarrassing than it ever has
been before. The addition of the extensive territories of New Mexico and
Upper California increases that difficulty. . . . The subject will be first,

probably, broached in Congress, and if some active measures are not adopted,

they (the President and Cabinet) fear it will be the last and only question.

If it should be made into territories, it will be under the direction of the

United States, and the question of slavery will annoy and distract all

parties, and General Wilson says they fear will have a tendency to break

up the Union.
"To prevent this they have proposed a plan of making the whole territory

into one state, leaving it to the power of the people to say whether it

shall be a free or a slave state, and thus taking the bone from the Congress

of the United States, and leaving them to pursue their course, 'peaceably

if they can,' undisturbed by this exciting question. They think it ought
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from such "rocks and breakers" as possible.^ The letter given

above will show that probablv Shannon was not far from the truth.

There were others besides Shannon who seemed to think that the

question before the House should not be connected with national

affairs. Eegardless of slavery and regardless of the opinion held by

President Taylor's confidential agent, did the Convention have a

right to fix boundaries for the new state of California other than

those recognized by Mexico as the limits of the territory while it

was a part of that government? Norton of San Francisco be-

lieved not. He held as a first principle that the Convention was not

at liberty "either to take one acre of land more than now belongs

to California or to yield one acre that now belongs to it." !No au-

thority had been delegated to them and they had no right to as-

sume power to give up any territory which had been included

within the established limits of California. If they were there to

form, a constitution for California, they were there to form a con-

to be made into two states, but that the sparseness of the population at
the present time would preclude the possibility of an act of that kind
passing.

"The cabinet think that all parties 'would agree to a measure of this

kind if it should become a free state, and even General Wilson, the Presi-

dent, and other slave holders are anxious that it should take this turn and
are willing to make a sacrifice for the public good. He supposes that even
southern members would go in for it, but without our help, they think
it could not be accomplished. They think that there would be a strong
southern influence used on the coast, calculated to place the matter in an
embarrassing situation to them and the eastern population on the coast
combined, but that by our influence we should be able to counterbalance
that of the slave holders, and thus settle the troublesome question. It is

therefore their policy to seek our influence, and we need not add it is our
policy to use theirs.

"In our communications with General Wilson, we at first rejected alto-

gether the idea of any amalgamation whatever with the government on
the coast, but on tlie subject being presented in another form, we have
agreed to the following:

"We are to have a general constitution for two states. The boundaries
of the one mentioned by us, before referred to, is our state, the other
boundaries to be defined by the people on the coast, to be agreed upon in

a general convention ; the two states to be consolidated into one and named
as the convention shall think proper, but to be dissolved at the commence-
ment of the year 1851, each one having its own constitution, and each
becoming a free, sovereign, independent state, without any further action

of Congress.

"You will act as our delegate, in conjunction with General Wilson.

Brother Pickett is also a delegate."

That is, they were to serve as delegates to a constitutional convention

to be held on the coast. Lyman was instructed to block any attempt to

unite Deseret and California on terms other than the ones specified above.

^Browne, Debates, 191.
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stimtion for the whole of it, not a part. "1 insist, sir. that we have

no right to say that California is not the California we took her to

he when she became part and parcel of the United States.'^ He
thonght it might be possible later, if Halleclrs proviso were ac-

cepted, to divide the territory : but this would have to be done by a

joint action of Congress and the State Legislarare.—the Convention

could not do it.^

Such arguments were absurd, McCarver exclaimed. Suppose the

convention T^hich formed the constitution for Louisiana had. for

similar reasons, attempted to include the whole of the Louisiana

territory within the limits of the state. The two countries,

Louisiana and California, stood upon the same footing. Both had

been obtained by treaty, one from France and the other from Mex-

ico. Both c-ontained territory enough for several states, ^ould it

not have been a "'monsttous doctrine"' for Louisiana to insist that

the whole of that vast territory belonged to them, therefore they

would include it ail within the boundaries of their state ? ''IVe oc-

cupy a simil ar position here, "^e have a tract of country purchased

either by the blo^od or tteasure of the United States, known as

California.'-' To imagine that Congress would permit them to in-

clude all of it within the boundaries of their state was the most ab-

surd of ab^surdities.-

Furthermore, the eastern boundary had already been designate-d.

Botts urged. '*General Eiley proclaimed the eastern boundary

of California in his proclamation, and the people said amen. I say

that he, in his proclamation, called upon the people of California in

pursuance of instructions, if you please,—California as laid down

in certain described lines—to form this Convention, and they,

through their representatives, have excluded slavery for themselves;

and is it for you, sir, now to reverse that decision?'" He did not

believe the Convention could do it. Most assuredly the people liv-

ing within certain limits had no right to make rules for people be-

yond those limits. Such an act would violate every republican

principle of justice : "'Wliy, sir, is it necessary at this day, in this

enlightened country, to stand here and argue and prove that peo-

-Browne. Debates, 1S5-1S7

'Ihid., 1S7.
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pie can make laws only for themselves ? I am ashamed of the po-

sition that I am compelled to occupy."^

Lippitt of San Francisco also felt strongly on the subject. The

Convention, he said, had no right to extend their government over

the inhabitants of the Salt Lake region, comprising some thirty or

forty thousand Mormons who had never been consulted in making

the constitution.^

It was a new doctrine, said Gwin, that every man must be rep-

resented within the borders of a new state, a doctrine which he be-

lieved had never been preached before. Great stress had been laid

upon the fact that the Mormons were not represented. There was

no proposition to force the Mormons to become a part of the govern-

ment of California. He did not propose to extend the laws of the

state nor of any district in the state to the Mormons. He did not

propose to send tax collectors or government officers there. He
favored awaiting their own action in the matter. If they wanted

the benefit of the government which was being established, they

should send a petition to have representatives allotted to them.

"^^If they desire the protection of our laws, let them send to us, and

it will then be a matter of inquiry on the part of our state govern-

ment." But he thought the Mormons would have no right to

complain. The people whose representatives composed the Conven-

tion, were the majority, and the majority of the inhabitants of any

state had a right to make rules for the minority. As a matter of

fact, thousands of immigrants had reached California since dele-

gates were elected to the Convention. They, too, had no represen-

tation in that body, but as a minority they were bound to submit

to the will of the majority. Would not these people have as much
right to complain as the Mormons?^

Shannon thought not. He did not see how the fact that the Mor-

mons were in the minority would prevent them from offering legit-

imate objections to being included within the new state. They

could justly claim that they had no part in making the constitution

which that Convention was framing. But even if they should ac-

cept the work of the Convention, he did not think they should be

^Browne, Debates, 422-423 and 447.

mid., 448.

HUd., 194-196.
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included because of their peculiar religious beliefs.^ And there

was another objection even more serious, said Hastings, The Mor-

mons had already applied to Congress for a territorial govern-

ment. Suppose both applications should be brought before Con-

gress at the same time—'^Ve apply for a state government and

they for a territorial government'"—both petitions coming from the

same territory. Would it be possible for California to be ad-

mitted into the Union claiming the same territory at the same time

the Mormons were asking for a territorial government over it?

Most assuredly not.-

-4- The Mormons and the Botindury

In the meantime the Mormons had not been idle. A convention

was summoned in Utah early in 1849, and the inhabitants of that

part of Upper California lying east of the Sierra Xevada were

urged to send representatives.^ On the fourth of March the dele-

gates assembled at Salt Lake City. A committee was appointed to

draw up a constitution under which the people might govern them-

selves until Congress should provide a government for them* ^'loy

admitting them into the union."^ The name of the new state was

to be Deseret/ and its ]x)undaries were to be as follows

:

Commencing at the 33rd degree of north latitude, where it

crosses the lOSth degree of longitude, west from G-reenwich; thence

running south and west to the northern boundary of Mexico;

thence west to and down the main channel of the Gila river (on

the northern line of Mexico), and on the northern boundary of

Lower California to the Pacific Ocean; thence along the coast

northwesterly to 118 degrees, 30 minutes of west longitude; thence

north to where said line intersects the dividing ridge of the Sierra

Xevada mountains; thence north along the summit of the Sierra

Xevada mountains, to the dividing range of mountains that sepa-

rate the waters flowing into the Columbia river from the waters

running into the Great Basin; thence easterly along the dividing

^Browne, Delates, 170-171.

Ubid., 173.

^Bancroft, History of Vtah, 440.

'Ibid.

'^Journals of California Legislature, 1st Session, 1850, page 443.

"Ibid.
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range of mountains that separate said waters flowing into the Co-

lumbia river on the north from the waters flowing into the Great

Basin on the south, to the summit of the Wind river chain of

mountains; thence southeast and south by the dividing range of

mountains that separate the waters flowing into the Gulf of

Mexico from the waters flowing into the Gulf of California, to

the place of beginning, as set forth in the map drawn by Charles

Preuss, and published by the order of the United States in 1848.^

On the 5th of July, Almon Babbitt was elected delegate to

Congress and three days later a memorial asking for admission

into the Union as a state was adopted by both houses of the leg-

islature. ^ On the 6th of September, by order of President Taylor,

General John Wilson, United States Indian agent, held a consulta-

tion with Brigham Yonng, Heber Kimball, Willard Richards and

other Mormons to see if some arrangements could be made for

temporarily uniting the whole of the California territory under

one government for the purpose of keeping the slavery question out

of Congress."" At the beginning of 1851 the union was to be dis-

solved and Deseret and California were to become separate states.*

As a result of the conference^ John Wilson and Amasa Lyman were

sent as delegates to California. On the 8th of January, 1850, they

addressed a communication from San Francisco to Governor Bur-

nett in which they informed him that they had been appointed by

the people of the Great Salt Lake Valley and Basin, as representa-

tives to any convention which might assemble in California, west

of the Sierra Nevada, to form a constitution.^ "Our constituents

will regret to learn that before their delegates did or could arrive

here, the Convention had met, concluded their labors, and ad-

journed, thereby closing all opportunity, for the time, for their

delegates to enter upon the discharge of their duty.^' They were

communicating with the governor, they said, and through him with

the legislature, to see if arrangements could be made for calling

another convention in which the delegates of Eastern California

'^Journals of California Legislature, 1850, 1st Session, 443-444.

^Bancroft, Utah, 444.

^For an account of this conversation see Young's letter given above, page
244, note.

^Bancroft, Utah, 446.

'Jhid.

^Journals of the California Legislature, 1850, 1st Session, 436.
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might be admitted. The purpose of the second convention would be

to form, for the present^ a single state out of the territory of

California, at the same time to agree on the boundary lines which

should ultimately separate California and Deseret, when the lat-

ter had sufficient population to form a separate state.^

The people of Deseret, they continued, would insist on the "sum-

mit of the Sierra Nevada as a proper and natural boundary" as far

as it went. Some complaint had been made because, by extending

their boundary to the Pacific, a large area of country had been in-

cluded within the limits of Deseret without the consent of the peo-

ple living in that territory. Deseret was willing to leave this to a

vote of the people inhabiting the territory in question. If they

should object to coming into the state of Deseret, then a compro-

mise line, excluding those settlements, could be drawn. Deseret

especially desired that the boundaries agreed upon should be

clearly indicated in the constitution. Upon these terms, and with

a most earnest desire to settle all excitement in the Union, and

to harmonize the interests of the people on both sides of the Sierra

Kevada, Deseret's representatives proposed to the Legislature of

California to ask the people to assemble in their election districts

and vote for delegates to a new convention. They also added that

in case the Convention was called they would cast their vote

against slavery.^

The governor transmitted this communication to the Senate and

Assembly the following February, accompanied by a message to

both Houses strongly recommending the rejection of the proposal.^

As a result, the Legislature took no action in the matter. This

ended the attempt to establish common boundaries for the two

states.

5. Non-sectional character of the Contest

During the discussion of the boundary question the following ac-

cusation was made by McDougal against the framers and support-

ers of the Gwin-Halleck proposal

:

If, therefore, we adopt this line I am very sure it will be sent

back to us. We will have to call another convention and adopt

^Journals of the CaUforma Legislature, 1850, 1st Session, 440.

Uhid., 441.

3/6id., 429-435, and Bancroft, History of Utah, 446-447.
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other lines to suit the views of Congress. In the meantime we
have no law. . . . And that is the very thing, Mr. Chairman,

if the secret was known, which I apprehend the}^ want to do.

They want a constitution presented to Congress so objectionable

that it will be thrown back for another Convention. Gentlemen

have risen on this floor and stated that they had received letters

from the South; and that they knew of many others who want to

bring their slaves here, and work them a short period in the mines

and then emxancipate them. If this Constitution is thrown back

upon us for reconsideration, it leaves them the opportunity of

bringing their slaves here. It is what they desire to do; to create

some strongly objectionable feature in the Constitution in order

that they may bring their slaves here and work them three

months.^

More than two weeks later Jones made the following reply to

McDougal,—the only notice that seems to have been taken of his

charge.

It has been said by a gentleman—I don't know to what wing
he belongs^—that we are favoring the admission of slavery here.

How are we doing it? By creating difficulties, says this gentle-

man, which will prevent our admission by Congress as a state

into the Union, for some two or three years to come, and thereby

give to the South a chance, while we are a territory, to bring their

slaves. How is it then that this proposition [of the extreme east-

ern boundary] is supported by the North as well as by the South ?

The argument is not worthy of consideration.^

Was Jones right or was McDougal's charge true ? The latter has

been the generally accepted view.*

^Browne, Delates, 180.

^At the time McDougal made his speech he had a iproposal before the
House, the first clause of which included more territory than the Gwin-
Halleck proposition, and later submitted a second which also provided more
extensive boundaries. See Debates, 168 and 437.

^Browne, Debates, 442.

*Taylor's Eldorado was published in 1850, the year after the convention
was held. He was present during the discussion of the boundary question,
and devotes considerable space to it, but there is no indication of a struggle
between the Old North and the Old South in the controversy as he gives it.

Tuthill says, "there is no doubt that the most comprehensive boundaries
were advocated with the hope that the action of the convention would be
taken as final, and relieve the administration" of the slavery question
(History of California, 274), but he makes no comment on the aim of
southern men in the controversy. Hittell, in his brief account of the
subject, expresses no opinion as to the aims of those men favoring the
extreme eastern boundary. (History of Califorwia, II, 766-767.)
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Eoyce, in his California (1886), says the men from southern

states formed a separate party under the leadership of Gwin.

"Their undoubted object was not so much to give over any part of

California at once to slaver}*, since this hurrying life of the gold-

seekers wholly forbade any present consideration of such a plan,

but to prepare the way for a future overthrow of the now para-

mount Xorthern influence in the territory, and so to make possi-

ble an ultimiate division of the State, in c-ase the southern part

should prove to be adapted to slave labor.'"^

A similar opinion is expressed by Bancroft. Giving what he con-

siders to be the views of southern men in the Convention he says,

"Let Xorthern California be a free state; out of the remainder of

the territory acquired from Mexico half a dozen slave states might

be made.''- A little further on he quotes from McDougal's speech,^

the part given above,—and says what it "lacked in grammar and

rhetoric it supplied in facts.''^

In 1890, the Century Magazine requested Francis Lippitt, who

had been a member of the Convention, to contribute any new infor-

mation he could on the organization of the state government in

California. He wrote an article for the September number on

The California Boundary Question of lS'Jf-9. He was informed

after the Convention, he said, that the extreme eastern boundary

had been supported by men "from the southern states with the

view to a subsequent division of California by an east and west line

into two large states, each having its share of the Pacific coast ; and

further, to the future organization of the southern of these two

states as a slave state—an event that would be quite certain, in as

much as most of the settlers in that part of California had come

and would continue to come from the South and Southwest. Thus

the new free state would be offset by a new slave state.^'

An article in the Overland Monthly for the same month and

year, on the Beginnings of California, by F. I. Yassault, contains

the following : "The fact behind this animated dispute about the

location of the eastern boundary was that the pro-slavery mem-

bers of the Convention hoped that by making the state so large as to

include the whole of the Mexican cession it would be necessary later

^Royce, California, 262.

^Bancroft, History of California, VI, 291.

mid., 293-294.

*Ihid., 295.
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to divide the state, and a line running east and west might give

one state to the South and the other to the North. Extreme bitter-

ness was shown during the discussion, for the slavery element was

fighting in the last ditch/^

Dr. Roclcwell D. Hunt, in "The Genesis of California's First

Constitution,"^ says, "The design was to make a state so large that

division would be necessary," and the southern part would come in

later as a slave state. "It is not surprising . . . that friends of

slavery fought with utmost vigor for such vast territory as would

necessitate division."

There was published at San Francisco in 1901, however, a little

volume entitled The Transition Period of California -^Titten by Dr.

Samuel H. Willey, which gives a different view. Dr. Willey lived

at Monterey during the eventful year of 1849, was personally in-

terested in the formation of a state governm^ent and was Chaplain

of the Convention during its entire session. On page 104 of his

work occurs the following : "Just here may be as good a place as

any to say that nothing whatever was said in the debate indicating

that there was a purpose or expectation on the part of the Southern

members that the adoption of the larger boundary would result in

the introduction of slavery into any part of the territory. Nor was

there any appearance, in or out of the Convention, of any secret

understanding on the part of any upon the subject. Most of the

men who advocated the larger boundary were thorough and pro-

nounced Northern men."

An examination of the positions of northern and southern men
in the Convention as indicated by the leading speakers and espe-

cially by the actual votes cast will show that the last writer quoted

was correct.

It has been stated already that the extreme eastern limit over

which the discussion took place was that indicated in the Gwin-

Hallec'k proposition, proposing practically the 112th degree of west

longitude as the boundary. The leading speakers for and against

that boundary have been given, together with their arguments. We
have seen that Gwin, Sherwood, Halleck and Norton were the

principal supporters of the proposal on the floor of the House.

Among these Gwin was tht only southern man; the other three

were from the North. Norton was born in Vermont and emi-

^Johns Hopkins University Studies, Vol. XIII.
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grated to California from Xew York. Halleck and Sherwood,

—

the former the author of the proviso clause in the Gwin-Halleck

proposal and a strenuous supporter of the extreme eastern boun-

dary—were both born and raised in Xew York. Of the seven sup-

porters of the small state who have been quoted above. Price, Shan-

non. McDougal and Lippitt were from the northern states, while

Semple,^ McCarver and Botts were from the South. Xo man in

the Convention more earnestly urged the narrow boundarv than

Botts.

The usual supposition has been that the extreme eastern ]x)und-

Sltj was supported by pro-slavery men for the purpose of making

California so large that a subsequent di\usion, by an east-and-west

line, would result in the establishment of two large states on the

Pacific, one to be dedicated to freedom and the other to slavery.-

This view, however, is not substantiated by facts. On six diuerent

occasions members of the Convention expressed fear that such a

division might occur. The first was by the Committee on the

Boundary, which was made up of one northern man, two foreigners

and two natives.^ The sec-ond expression of fear of such a division

was by McCarver, a native of Kentucky :^ the third by Semple,

also a native of that state the fourth by Snyder of Pennsylvania^.^

the fifth by Sherwood of Xew York,' and the last by Gwin.^. The

last named has usually been c-onsidered the arch-villain in the

southern plot. Tlius three southerners, three northerners, two

foreigners and two native delegates clearly expressed a fear of

such an event.

But the votes taken on the drfferent proposals show even more

clearly that there was no attempt on the part of delegates from

-Semple. the president of the convention, did not speak very often on the

subject. The speech made bv him quoting King might lead one to think
he favored the extreme boundary, but an examination of the votes east will

shovr that he supported the more coTitracted limits on every occasion.

-Bancroft. History of California, VI. 291 and 294-5; Royce. California,

264-66: Hunt, Genesis of California's first Constitution, 49: Coman. Eco-
v.orn':c Beninnings of the Far West, II. 24S. The last named author also

implies that the native delegates were assisting southern men in bring-

ing about such a result.

^Browue. Delates. 123.

'Hid.. 170.

Uhid.. 176.

mid.. 1S2-S;3.

Uhid.. 1S2 and 1S4.

^id.. 445.
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Southern states to unite against members from the North for the

purpose of forcing the extreme eastern boundary on the House.

There were nine votes taken on proposed boundaries in which the

names of the voters are recorded. In the case of the first, the Gwin-

Halleck proposal, we know that it was adopted by nineteen to

four, but we have no way to determine the influence of North

and South in that particular case.^ The substitute offered for

that proposal when the subject came up for reconsideration two^

weeks later, was presented by Hastings. This suggested the 118th

degree of west longitude as the eastern limit. Of the twenty-three

votes cast in favor of the proposal, fourteen were from northern,

eight from southern states and one from Switzerland.^ Twenty-

one votes were registered against the measure, of which nine were

northern, seven were native and five from southern states.^ On
the following day a motion was made to reconsider the boundary

question and Hastings's proposal was again before the House. Of

the seventeen votes cast in its favor on this occasion, eight were

by southern men (the same who had supported it on the preceding

day), eight by northern and one was by a foreigner. Twenty-seven

votes were registered against it, of which fourteen were cast by men
from northern states, eight by native delegates and five by men
from the South.*

Shannon's proposal recommending a boundary very much like

the one finally adopted was the next to come before the Convention.

Nineteen votes were registered in its favor. Eleven of these were

cast by men from northern states, seven by men from the Souths

and one from a foreign country (Sutter). Of the eight southern

delegates who voted for the narrow boundary formerly, all but one^

Hoppe, voted for Shannon's proposition, and Hoppe evidently was

not present, as his vote is not recorded. Of the twenty-five regis-

tered against it, thirteen were cast by men from northern states,^

eight by native delegates and four by men from the South.

^

McDougal withdrew Ihe first clause of his proposal, thus leaving

it very similar to Shannon's,—the 120th degree of west longitude."'*

^Browne, Debates, 200.

'Ibid., 418.

HUd.
'Ihid., 431.

'Ibid., 443.

''Ibid, 440.
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Thirteen of the twenty-two votes cast in favor of the proposal were

by men from northern states, eight by men from southern, and one

from a foreign country. Eleven men from northern states, eight

native delegates and five men from the. South,—twenty-four in all

-—^voted against it.^

Another vote was then taken on the boundary drawn up by

Gwin and Haileck, and it was adopted for the second time.

Twenty-four votes were cast in favor of it. Eleven northerners,

eight natives and five southerners voted for the measure; thirteen

Gortherners, eight southerners and one foreigner voted against it.^

A vote was then taken on Joneses proposal, which it will he remem-

bered contained two parts—the first recommending the 120th

degree of west longitude, and the second, if Congress would not ac-

cept that, offering the 112th degree as the eastern boundar}^ There

were thirteen votes for the proposition and thirty-one against it.

Among the former, eight were cast by northern and five by southern

men; among the latter, sixteen were cast hy northerners, seven by

natives, seven by southerners and one by a foreigner.^ Hill's pro-

posal, making the 115th degree of west longitude the eastern limit,

received twenty-four votes in its favor and twenty-two against it.

Of the former, ten were cast by northerners, nine by southerners,

four by natives and one by a foreigner. Against it were fifteen

northerners, four southerners and three natives.*

One more attempt was made to have the Gwin-Halleck, or ex-

treme eastern boundary adopted, but it was rejected. Of the

eighteen votes in favor of it, eight were cast by northern men, six

by natives and four by southerners. Fourteen northerners, eight

southerners, one native and one foreigner opposed the measure.

The final vote was then taken on the first clause of Jones's pro-

posal, recommending the boundary as it was finally established. It

was adopted by thirty-two to seven. Eighteen northerners, ten

southerners, three natives and one foreigner voted for it. Three

northerners, two southerners and two natives voted against it.^

-Browne, Debates.

lUd., 440-441.

Uhid., 456.

'Ibid., 457.

Ubid., 458.
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7. Concln^ion

It will thus be seen that in every vote cast tlie majority of the

southern delegates favored the smaller boundary. In the first

case,—the Hastings proposal, ofFei'ing the 118th degree of west

longitude,—eight voted for, and five against it. The same proposal

when it came up the next day received the vote of the eight south-

ern delegates who had formeily supported it, and was opposed by

the same southerners, five, who had formerly voted against it.

Shannon's proposal was supported by seven southerners and was

opposed by four from that section. Practically the same eastern

boundary,—the 120th degree of west longitude,—offered by Mc-

Dougal was supported by eight southerners while five from the

South rejected it. The second vote on the Gwin-Halleck proposal

had resulted in five for and eight against it. Five were cast for

and seven against the double proposal offered by Jones. Up to this

point the five southern delegates who had stood out for the ex-

treme eastern boundary were Gwin, Hobson, HoUingsworth, Jones

and Moore. Moore did not vote on Shannon's proposition. Jones's

proposal, however, was rejected by Gwin. Hoppe, a southern dele-

gate who had voted for the more contracted boundary, supported

the proposition. Hill's proposal,—the 115th degree of west longi-

tude,—was supported by nine southern delegates and rejected by

four. Gwin voted against it and Jones for it. In the third vote

on the Gwin-Halleck proposition four southerners were for it and

eight against it. The first clause of Jones's proposal was supported

by ten southern votes. The tv/o southerners wiio voted against it

were Hill and Hobson. Hill had formerly voted for the contracted

boundary; Hobson, however, had consistently opposed it.

This evidence seems to show conclusively that the debate and the

votes had no sectional character. The majority of the delegates who
had immigrated to California from southern states were not only

not fighting to have the Convention adopt boundaries so extensive

tliat the constitution would be rejected by Congress, but they

were actually contending against that very thing. Every time they

had a chance to express themselves by their votes—with the possible

but not probable exception of the first vote taken on tl^e Gwin-

Halleck proposal, where the names of the voters were not given—the

majority of them opposed the extreme eastern boundary. Even
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when Jones submitted his double proposition making the 112th

degree of west longitude a proviso clause to be considered by Con-

gress only in case that body should absolutely refuse to accept the

new state with contracted limits, the majority of the delegates from

southern states voted against it. And the motive which seems to

have actuated them, as the rest, was a desire to obtain immediate

admission to statehood.
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THE EETEEAT OF THE SPANIARDS FROM NEW MEX-
ICO IN 1680, AND THE BEGINNINGS OF EL PASO

II

CHARLES WILSON HACKETT

IV. THE RETREAT OF THE TWO DIVISIONS TO LA SALINETA

Having despatched the above letter to Parraga with orders for

the Rio Abajo people to wait for him, no other autos were drawn

np by Otermin and no further communication passed between the

two divisions until the northern refugees joined those at Fray

Cristobal on September 13. With all the survivors of the prov-

ince united in one bod}-, Otermin determined to call a council of

all the officers and men of experience and prestige in his camp,

that they might help to decide what ought to be done in the light

of present conditions."* Accordingly, on the same day this de-

cision of the governor was made public in the camp by voice of

the public crier.^ After the meeting was assembled, the first to

avail themselves of the opportunity which Otermin gave for all

to express their opinions, v/ere eight of the missionaries. They

stated briefl}^, though characteristically, that as "liege vassals of

his majesty, and as his ministers in those parts for the adminis-

tration of the Holy Sacramicnt, and for instructing in the Holy

Faith both Spaniards and natives" they were willing "without

any repugnance to follow the person of his Excellency and the

royal standard in whatever resolution or determination he and the

other persons might agree upon.'-^

Following the religious a joint statement was made and

signed by the maestres do campo, Francisco Gomez Robledo,

Thome Dominguez de Mendoza, Juan Dominguez de Mendoza,

^"Autto (de Otermfn)," in Auttos tocantes, 32-33,

^Auto of Xavier, in Auttos tocantes, 33.

^Auto of the Religious at Fray Cristobal, in Auttos tocantes, 34. This
anto was signed by the following: Father Nicolas Hurtado, Father
Gomez de la Cadena, Fatlier Antonio de Sierra, Father Thomas de
Tobalina, Father Francisco Miinoz, Father Juan de Zaballeta, Father
Joseph de Bonillo, Father Andres Duran.
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Diego de Tnijillo, and the lieutenant-general, Alonso Garcia.

After summarizing the events of the retreat, they agreed that

because of the miserable condition of all, and especially of so

many women and children, and since there was little prospect of

any alleviation of their hunger, or any way to avenge or restrain

the taunts of the enemy in that desert place, the retreat should be

continued; and that after the defenseless ones had been estab-

lished in a place of safety, a reconquest should be attempted,

though they feared this would be difficult, since the enemy was

in possession of a great many firearms and other weapons.^ This

opinion having been read, it w^as agreed to by sixteen sarjentos

maijores, captains and soldiers.^ Lastly, in much the same tone,

the Cabildo of Santa Fe went on record as conforming with the

decision expressed by the maestres de campo.^ The main reasons

stated by this body had all been stressed by others who had pre-

ceded them. But the Cabildo in addition emphasized the fact

that for the 2500 persons in the camp, of whom only one hundred

were soldiers, there were less than twenty fanegas of corn; and

it was pointed out that it would be necessary to send to the

jurisdictions of the ^lansos Indians to secure provisions, because

the enemy was possessed of all the sources of supply within a

radius of forty leagues from the camp where it then was. For

these and other manifest reasons they were in favor of proceeding

to a place of safety. After reaching such a place, they thought,

the viceroy should be asked for reenforcements so that the recon-

quest of the province could be attempted.

Having heard the opinions thus expressed by the principal men

in the army, being in great need of supplies, '''in a place where

the earth was so parched and notched" that no pasture could be

found for the cattle, and for many other reasons, Otermin would

doubtless have ordered the army to proceed at once but for a let-

ter which he received from Father Ayeta. This letter was writ-

ten from the "Passo" on September 8."^ From it Otermin learned

^Auto of the maestres de campo at Fray Cristobal, in Auttos tocantes,

34 35.

-Auto of the sarjentos mayores and others at Fray Cristobal, in Auttos

tceantes, 35-36.

^'Taraser del Cavdo (de Santa Fe)," in Auttos tocantes, 37-38.

*Ayeta mentions having learned through a letter written to him by
Garcia of Otermin's escape. This was evidently the letter of September
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tJiat Ayeta.^ who had not had time to receive his message of Sep-

tember 7 from Soroceo, was in doubt regarding the needs of the

refugees, notwithstanding the request for aid which had been

sent him through Garcia's letter of September 4. The following

is an extract from the letter addressed by Ayeta to the governor

:

And I say Sir, that I find myself confused on account of hav-

ing had no notice of your Excellency's intentions. In order to

learn what I should do, and in order to relieve myself of that

doubt, I send the bearers in all haste, advising that there be no
more delay than what your Excellency may cause. I now have
everything ready, and the wagons prepared to move. If your Ex-
cellency should decide to rem^ain there, fortifying yourself in some
spot, I beg that, protecting your person, you come here in order

that we may consult on certain matters pertaining to the service

of both majesties, and in order to hasten by some time the joy of

seeing you, because I am determined, according as it may be
proper, to go in person to give notice of what has happened to the

viceroy, since all can not be said by writing.

After stating further that he had sent new^s of the burning

of Santa Fe and of the governor's wound to Mexico by Father

Nicholas Lopez, Ayeta concluded with the injunction and hope

that Otermln would join him at El Paso at once.^

Immediately upon the receipt of the letter, in order that the

least possible delay might follow this already unfortunate doubt,

Otermln decided to postpone his decision in regard to the opin-

ions just expressed in the junta, and instead ordered that twelve

soldiers should be equipped to go with him on the journey to see

Father Ayeta. In company with these, Ayeta's secretary, who
had come with Leiva and his men,^ and another religious, Otermln

set out soon afterward, leaving in command in his place the

maestres de campo, Francisco Oomez and Alonzo Garcia.*

Otermin proceeded with all haste down the river, and on Sep-

tember 18* met Father Ayeta at the place called La Salineta. four

4 written by the lieutenant-general just after he learned tliat Oternun
was relatively near.

'Letter of Ayeta to Otermln, September 8, 1680, in Auttos tocantes, 41.

'^"Carta del Padre Fr. Francisco de Ayeta escrita al R. P. Comisario
General (December 20, 1680)," in N. Mex. Doc., I, 543.

^"Autto (de Otermln)," in Auttos tocantes, 39.

*De Thoma {Historia Popular de Nuevo Mexico, 93) erroneously states

that all the New Mexican refugees reached La Salineta on September 18.
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leagues above the monastery of Guadalupe del Paso. Ayeta, it

seems, in the interval since he had written to Otermi'n on Sep-

tember 8 asking him to come to the pass of the Eio del Norte,

had received the latter's commimication sent from Socorro on

September 7, asking that the supply wagons be started to meet

the refugees at once. Accordingly Father Ayeta upon the receipt

of this request had started from the pass with twenty-four

wagons^ of provisions, raiment, and munitions. He had ap-

parently been unable to cross the river at El Paso, the usual

fording place, and so had continued up the west side of the river.

The progress of the wagons had been slow, however, for the heavy

rains and the melting snow on the mountains had caused the

stream to overflow, so that it covered the roads and all the ad-

jacent meadows and lateral valleys (ancones). After proceeding

about four leagues from Guadalupe under such difficulties, Ayeta

had decided on the morning of September 18, at about 8 o'clock,

to brave the dangers involved in an attempt to cross the swollen

river. Accordingly six^ spans of mules were hitched to the first

wagon, and Ayeta himself accompanied by a number of skilled

Indian swimmers, drove into the river. The water was higher

and more dangerous, however, than had been supposed. It rose

more than a vara above the bed of the wagon, not only damaging

the contents, but endangering Father Ayeta's life. Finally the

mules after much difficulty were able to reach a higher place where

they secured footing^ but the wagon remained fast in the middle

of the stream. Seeing the impossibility of proceeding, Ayeta cut

loose the half-drowned mules from the wagon. At this juncture

Otermin and his escort from Fray Cristobal arrived opposite the

wagon on the east bank of the river. Otermin's men, taking in

^Ayeta ("Carta del Padre Fr. Francisco de Ayeta escrita al R. P.

Comisario General," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 541) and Otermin ("x\ntto Y
dilijencia," in Auttos tocantes, 43) both state that Ayeta had twenty-
four wagons when he reached La Salineta. There is, apparently, no foun-
dation for Davis's statement {The Spanish Conquest of New Mexico, 298)

that he set out from El Paso with four wagons.

-Otermin, who wrote on the same day the fording of the river was at-

tempted but who was not an eye-witness, says, "el qual carro abiendolo

puesto quatro andanas de mulas le arroxaron al Rio." (In "Autto Y dili-

jencia," in Auttos tocantes, 43.) Ayeta, writing three months later of the

same occurrence, says, "y alentando mi gente puse al carro Capitan seis

andanas de acemilas." In "Carta del Padre Fr. Francisco de Ayeta
escrita al R. P. Comisario General," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 542.)
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the situation, and realizing Father Ayeta's danger, hastened to his

assistance, and bore him on their shoulders to a place of safety on

the east bank. After much difficulty the w^agon was extricated

at about six o'clock in the evening, some four hours after Otermln's

arrival. As soon as convenient Otermin and Ayeta entered into a

consultation as to what should be done, and it was decided, since

it was impossible to proceed further with the wagons, to have men

swim their horses and transport supplies across the river, so that

they might be sent to {;he needy ones that night. This was done,

and the next day still another pack-train of supplies was started,

both of which in due time reached their destination. These sup-

plies, consisting of corn, hardtack, flour, chocolate, and sugar, the

officers were instructed to distribute freely to all the people in both

divisions, after which they were to continue the retreat south.

^

Otermin did not accompany the soldiers who went along to

guard the supply trains, but at Ayeta's request stayed behind and

-crossed the river to make an inventory of the provisions in the

wagons, as well as of the supplies that had been left at the

monastery of Guadalupe, so that in case these should be found

to be insufficient, others might be secured before the people ar-

rived. Four days later, after having registered the amount of

provisions in the wagons, and having returned from the monastery

of G-uadalupe where he had gone for the same purpose, Otermin

drew up a report to the effect that in those two places there were

400 bushels of shelled com and 400 head of cattle and sheep, all

of which Father Ayeta said might be distributed to the people

when they should arrive. But that the supply might not run

short, Otermin sent out foraging parties to Casas Grandes, to

Taraumares, eighty leagues distant, and to other places, to buy all

the corn and meat possible and bring them to El Paso.-

This was on September 22 ; nothing more is recorded of the

movements either of those at La Salineta or of the main body of

refugees until September 29. On that day, however, all the peo-

ple had ]-eached La Salineta, as is evidenced by an auto drawn up

^For the events attending the attempted fording of the river by Ajeta
and the subsequent occurrences .see "Autto Y dilijencia," in Auttos tocantes,

43; "Carta del Padre Fr. Francisco de Ayeta escrdta al R. P. Comisario
General," in N. Mex. Doc, I, 541-4.

^"Autto y dilijencia," in Auttos tocantes, 44.
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bv Otermin^ on that day ordering a general review of the camp.

By this time, practically speaking, Xew Mexico had been aban-

doned by the Spaniards. We now come to the story of their set-

tlement in the vicinit}- of modern El Paso.

V. THE TEMPOR-IRY CAMP AT LA SALIXETA

(i) The General ^Luster.—Having assembled at La Salineta,

a place within the present limits of Texas, all the survivors of

the revolt, Avith the exception of those who had fled across the

Eio Grande, and with their actual needs provided, for through the

generosity of Father Ayeta, it was now necessar}- for Otennin to-

form some permanent plan for the future. Hitherto the con-

dition of the refugees had been such that only the most pressing-

needs could be considered and only tentative plans formulated.

In fact, the situation had been such that time had not been taken

to determine accurately their actual numbers and strength. Ac-

cordingly, in order that he might be guided in his decision by

definite information regarding the number, quality, and equipment

of the men capable of militar\- service, and at the same time that a

report might be made both of 'the survivors and those lost in the re-

volt, Orermin first of all ordered a review of all the people , at La

Salineta.^ The order was proc-laimed on the 29th of September^

and on the same day the review began. As each man passed be-

fore the governor, he was accompanied by all the members of his

family, and carried with him his personal property, including

arms, ammunition, and provisions, a complete inventory being

taken down and attested to by the man himself. These muster

rolls fill some twelve folios of written matter (making twenty-six

typewritten pages), hence it would be impracticable to record

them all here. In order that their general character and the

pitiful condition of the refu_gees may be seen, however, a few of

the individual records have been -elected at random and translated

below

^Whether or not Ot-ermln went to meet Gomez and Garcia is not stated,

though such seem to have been his original intentions.

-"Auto Para pasar nuestra resena de arma^ cavallos y otras cosas,'' in

Auttos tocantes, 45; Auto of Otermln, Ihid.. 57.

^For the complete muster rolls from which these are taken, see Auttos-

tocantes, 45-55; and 58-60.
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At once, after the promulgation of the proclamation, the

maestre de campo Francisco Xavier, alcalde ordinario of the first

vote, passed muster as follows: with six very lean horses, useless

for service; a sword; a dagger; a skin jacket; an arquebus; and
a shield. He had been robbed by the enemy of all his goods. In
witness whereof he signed it and declared that lie had with him
a family of four daughters, two sons, and a female servant.

Francisco Xavier.

Alcalde Ordinario. (rubric.)

The maestre de campo Pedro de Leiva, now serving in that

capacity for the kingdom passed muster, as well as three sons,

all cf whom serve his majesty, all with their personal arms, and
amongst them twenty-five horses, some of them in good condition

and some lean. The enemy killed Leiva's wife, two young lady

daughters, and two sons, soldiers in the pueblo of Galisteo, three

grandsons, and a daughter-in-law. And of thirty servants which
he had the enemy left him three, and robbed him and his sons of

all their property. And he signed it.

Pedro de Leiva. (rubric.)

Pedro de Cuellar passed muster with four lean horses, a royal

arquebuse and its equipment, and a boy who served him. The
enemy killed his wife and daughter in the revolt, and robbed him,
poor as he was. And he signed it.

Pedro de Cuellar. (rubric.)

Captain Francisco de Anaya passed muster on foot; personal

arms; robbed by the enemy. They killed his wife and three

[other] persons, children, relatives, and servants. Nothing was
left him but that which he has on his back. And he signed it.

Francisco de Anaya. (rubric.)

The sarjento mmjor Juan Lucero de Godoy, alcalde ordinario

of the second vote, showed a sword, a dagger and an arquebuse;

a lean horse; four sons, young men capable of bearing arms, all

naked and without weapons; four daughters, young women; and
five servants; state, married. And he signed it.

Juan Lucero de Godoy. (rubric.)

The maestre de campo Alonso Garcia, lieutenant of government
and war, and captain general of the jurisdictions of Eio Abajo,

—

state, married—,
passed muster with eighty horses and five mules,

all of the latter lean, suffering from lock-jaw, and worn out by
sendee. He has three sons, two sons-in-law, all with their per-
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sonal arms. They are supplied by the lieutenant-general. Two
sons and his two sons-in-law are married and have twelve persons

in their families, twenty-two servants, and another young man
capable of bearing arms. He carries a royal arquebuse and has

been robbed by the enemy. And he signed it.

Alonso Garcia, (rubric.)

The sarjento mayor Luis de Quintana passed muster with four

very lean horses ; all his personal arms ; an infant daughter ; four

servants; robbed of house and goods by the enemy. And he

signed it.

Luis de Quintana. (rubric.)

Felipe Montoya, married, passed muster on foot, naked, very

poor, with one tired horse and four sons. And he signed it.

Felipe Montoya. (rubric.)

Captain Eoque de Madrid passed muster with three lean horses,

two lean and tired mules, all his personal arms, his wife, and four

small children. His house was robbed by the enemy, and [he is]

extremely poor. And he signed it.

Eoque de Madrid, (rubric.)

This muster was continued without interruption for three days

when on October 1 a temporary halt was occasioned by a num-

ber of the people having gone without permission to the monastery

of Guadalupe, whence they were scattering into Nueva Vizcaya.

As soon as he learned of this, in order that the muster rolls might

be completed, and that further delay might not be occasioned in

completing the reports that were to be sent to the viceroy, Otermin,

on October 1, sent Francisco Xavier to El Paso with a message to

Joseph Lopez de Gracia^ (the lieutenant of Andres Lopez de Gracia,

alcalde mayor of the valley of San Antonio de Casas Grandes),-

who was at that time at Guadalupe, ordering him or any other

officer of Nueva Vizcaya., to arrest and send back to La Salineta

any person, no matter what his rank, character, or condition, who

might attempt to cross the river into that province. Gracia

promptly promised to put the order into effect, and requested

Otermin to make this fact publicly known.^

^Auto of Xavier, in Auttos tocantes, 58; Auto of Joseph Lopez de
Gracia, in Ihid., 79-80.

^"Mandamto del Gober, or y Cappan gel del p, 1," in Auttos tocantes, 79.

^Auto of Otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 55; Ibid., 57-58.
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Tn thus complying with Otormin's demand, Gracia was acting

in liarmony with his own governor, Bartolome de Estrada. Be-

fore the main body of refugees reached La Salineta, Otermin had

writteii to Estrada, at Parral, that he feared that when the

refugees should reach La Salineta they would be inclined to scat-

ter to Casas Grande, Carretas, and other parts of Nueva Vizcaya,

as well as into Sonora, whereas they should all be required to

settle together in some designated place until assistance could be

secured from the viceroy. Upon the receipt of this letter Estrada

at once (September 24, 1680) ordered Captain Andres Lopez de

Gracia, or in case of his absence or incapacity. Captain Alonso

Perez Granillo, alcalde mayor of Carretas y Janos, to go at once

to El Paso to prevent any person from crossing into Nueva Yiscaya

without Otermin's permission, under threat of the death penalty.

If any person had already so crossed, and arranged to settle, his

arrangements were to be annulled, on the authority of Estrada.

Gracia was to leave his lieutenant at El Paso to carry out the

order, and any laxity or lack of vigilance on the part of the officers

was punishable by a fine of $10,000.^

It is not recorded when Joseph Lopez de Gracia received

Estrada's order, or whether Andres Lopez de Gracia went to El

Paso at all. On October 5, however, Joseph Lopez de Gracia pub-

lished it ^^en el Pueblo de nra Senora de Guadalupe de passo

Jurisdicion de la nueva Bizcaya,'' in the presence of "many peo-

ple of the pueblo as well as of the provinces of New Mexico.

As we have seen, Gracia had already agreed four days previously

to carry out like instructions at Otermin's demand, for on that

day Francisco Xavier returned to the Spanish camp at La Sali-

neta with this information.'^ Whether Lopez de Garcia had at

that time received Estrada's order I am unable to say, though I

presume that he had. Otermin had already threatened with severe

punishment any who should be guilty of desertion in the future.^

Thereby, together with the co-operation of Lopez de Gracia at

^Mandamto del Gober, or y Cappan gel del p, 1," in Auttos tocantes,

79-80. I am dependent on this order .for tlie fact that Otermin wrote to

Estrado from La Salineta on this subject.

^Auto of Joseph Lopez de Garcia, in Auttos tocantes, 79-80.

^Aiito of Xavier, in Auttos tocantes, 58.

*Auto of Otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 55; Ibid., 57.
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the pass, the dispersion of the people at La Salineta was checked

and the review was continned without further recorded inter-

ruption.

The total number of persons who passed this muster, including

soldiers, servants, women, children, and Indian allies, was, accord-

ing to the sworn statement of Otermln, 1946. During the retreat

to La Salineta, Otermin, Garcia, and others frequently stated that

there were 2500 refugees in the two divisions. Of these it was

estimated that there were 1500 in Garcia's di\dsion and 1000 in

Otermin's.^ Taking these estimates as being approxim.ately cor-

rect, it is seen that at least several hundred of the refugees

crossed into Xueva Yizcaya without having been listed at La

Salineta. Of the total number of the 1946, only 155 were

men capable of bearing arms. The number of horses was 471,

though, as the muster rolls showed, these were for the most

part so poor and weak that they were unfit for military service.

There was only one horse for every fourth person, even if we

assume that none of the horses were used to transport the few

pro^dsions and other things which the refugees brought with

them. The supplies are not listed, but the statement is made

that the people were provided with meat, corn, and munitions.

For this reason, notwithstanding the fact that a number of the

guns were broken and practically useless, and although a great

manv of the men were entirely destitute of both weapons and

horses, Otermin recorded his belief that his force was sufficiently

strong to settle at that place, or some more convenient one near by,

with a fair degree of safety.^

The Indian allies who passed in review before the governor were

inhabitants of the four Piros pueblos of Senecu, Socorro, Alamillo,

and Sevilleta, and numbered 317 persons in all.^ These Indians,

many of whom had already abandoned their pueblos before

the revolt because of the ravages of their Apache neighbors,^ had

^"Autto (de otermin) : Salieron el dia 22," in Auttos tocantes, 8; "Carta

(de Otermin a Parraga)," in Ihid., 31; "Pareser del Cavdo (de Santa

Fe)/' in Ihid., 37.

^"Autto de Junta de guerra," in Auttos tocantes, 61.

^Muster rolls, in Auttos tocantes, 60.

'Letter of the Cabildo of Santa Fe to the viceroy, October 16, 1680, in

Auttos tocantes, 98.
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followed tlic Spaniards, to whom they had at least outwardly re-

mained friendly, as far as La Salineta.

{2) The Decision to Settle at El Paso.—With the women and

children in a place of safety, and with the peoj^le and equipment

listed,, Otermin was brought at last face to face with the ques-

tion as to whether or not an attempt should be made to recon-

quer New Mexico. This was no new question. At Isleta it had

arisen for Garcia and his advisers to decide in the negative,

for such an attempt in their condition, believing as they did that

the governor and inhabitants of Santa Fe were all dead, could

not be thought of. When Socorro was reached and the testimony

of Herrera and Chavez tended to indicate that the inhabitants of

Santa Fe were still alive, the question had again come up, but it

w^as almost unanimously agreed that in their weak condition the

first thing to consider was the protection of the many women and

children with them, hence it was decided to go on to meet the sup-

ply-train before even attempting to ascertain the fate of the north-

ern inhahitants. When Otermin himself left Santa Fe, he did so

as quickly as possible in order that he might unite his forces with

those whom he thought to be at Isleta, there to decide on a plan

for subduing the rebellion. How^ever, the two divisions were not

joined till Fray Cristobal was reached, and there the question of

a return was again discussed but was tabled until the women and

children should be put in a place of safety. Now this had been

accomplished, and the fighting strength of the survivors determined.

It behooved all, therefore, "as loyal vassals of his majesty" to con-

sider seriously the question of a return to Santa Fe. For this

purpose Otermin called a council, composed of the members of the

Cabildo of Santa Fe, the military officers, the friars, and all

others who might wdsh to attend, in order that they might help

him decide the grave matter, touching as it did both the spiritual

and the temporal welfare of the province.^

This order was published on October 2, and shortly afterward,

all the men having assem-bled in the p'laza de armas, the discus-

sion was opened by Father Ayeta. He did not express his opin-

ion as to whether or not an attempt at reconquest should be made,

stating that since he had no experience in military matters such a

^"Autto de Junta de guerra," in Auttos tocantes, 62.
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question would have to be decided by the sohliers. If. however,

they should decide that their strength was sufficient, then in his

opinion the reduction of the apostates should be attempted. In

this matter he spoke for the whole body of religious, who were

willing to abide by the decision of the council and to assist in

whatever was agreed upon. If it was decided to reconquer the

province, he would aid the troops with the necessary provisions

and munitions, though he could not furnish them with horses.

For the use of the soldiers he offered twenty breastplates, four

dozen stirrups, fifty bridles, and other necessities, as hats, shoes,

and two hundred vara^ of linen for shiits; he would see that the

women and children and the guard left behind were also provided

with necessities; in case the council should decide that their

means were not sufficient to attempt this reconquest, he would

supply the camp in whatever place they might decide to locate it,

with ten head of cattle and eight fanegas of corn daily; he called

attention to the fact that provisions had to be secured eighty

leagues away, and that the v/agons should be started as soon as

possible after more, so that the supply might not fail; he con-

cluded by stating that he agreed to furnish the refugees with sup-

plies only until the viceroy might be informed of their condition

and aid them.^ After Ayeta had spoken, several of the other re-

ligious expressed themselves as agreeing with him, some offering

to lose their lives should the attempt to reconquer the province be

made.

2

Following the religious, a large number of officers and soldiers

went on record as either favoring or opposing an attempt at im-

mediate reconquest. Those who favored it were Thome Dominguez

de Mendoza and Juan Dominguez de Mendoza, the former a man
of long experience and great influence. Both advised accepting

the aid proffered by Father Ayeta, and removing the camp to La

Toma del Eio del JSTorte, whence they might inform the vice-

roy of events in New Mexico and ask him for provisions, equip-

ment, and a presidio; while awaiting the reply of the viceroy

they favored sending a body of troops to New Mexico to capture

Mw/o of Otermin and Ayeta, in Auttos tocantes, 62-G3.

^Autos of Otermin and the religious at La Salineta, in Auttos to-

cantes, 63-64.
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as many rebels as possible, in order to use them as peace emis-

saries to the revolted tribes. Juan Dominguez, however, made the

proposed entrada conditional on the volition of the men and

better equipment for both men and horses.'^ Eight sarjentos

mayores, captains^ and soldiers supported the arguments of the

Mendozas, some on the condition that the people at El Paso were

left wdth sufficient protection and provisions; others on condition

that the choicest horses available in the surrounding region be

given the soldiers.

The chief opponents of an immediate reconquest were Francisco

Gomez Eobledo^ Alonso Garcia, and Pedro Duran y Chavez. All

three based their opposition on the jaded condition of the men
and horses and lack of equipment; and favored appealing to the

viceroy for aid. Eobledo feared the unrest of the Mansos, Sumas,

and Sonora Indians; Garcia regarded the building of huts to pro-

tect the ill-clad citizens of first importance; Chavez wanted one

hundred men for garrison duty and one hundred as settlers before

undertaking the conquest. The cabildo of Santa Fe, which sup-

ported this faction, also regarded soldiers, arms^ and supplies to

establish a garrison, as prerequisites to the undertaking. Cap-

tain Pedro Marquez, Sebastian de Herrera, and four other officers

cast the weight of their opinion against immediate action.^

{3) Fears in the Neighboring Provinces.—Just at the con-

clusion of the junta de guerra Otermin received two letters from

friends at San Juan Bautista in Sonora, which are especially in-

teresting in this connection, since they illustrate how fears spread

as a result of the revolt in New Mexico to other provinces, since

they contained much the same ideas as had already been expressed

by the majority of those at La Salineta, and since they exerted

considerable influence upon Otermin in helping him reach his

decision, and later influenced the authorities in ]\Iexico when they

were considering the plans that should be adopted for the recon-

quest of New Mexico. One of the letters in question was from Don
Francisco de Agramontes, former governor ad interim of Nueva

Vizcaya, a person of much experience in the northern provinces,

^Auto of otermin and Mendoza, in Auttos tocantes, 64-65.

^Autos of Otermin and others at La Salineta, in Auttos tocantes, 66-70..

Auto of Otermin and Garcia, Ihid., 71.



27? The Southwestern Historical Quarterly

and well informed in Indian matters.^ The writer stated that

the day before (September 15) he had received news of the revolt

of the Indians^ of the governor's wound^ and of A3'eta having sent

eighty musketeers (seventy-eight is the correct number) and sup-

plies for their aid. After consoling Otermin for the loss of his

province he suggested that it would be well to form a plaza de

armas at El Paso and then send Father Ayeta to Mexico to repre-

sent the whole situation to the viceroy. In his opinion at least three

himdred men^ fully armed and able to fortify themselves in the

villa of Santa Fe, should be sent to reconquer the province. By
this means the Indians could be reduced and kept in subjection.

The matter as he saw it was a serious one, for the province of

Nueva Vizcaya was very liable to experience a similar misfortune

should the N'ew Mexican rebels be unpunished and the province

abandoned, since the Janos^ Yumas. and other natives of Xueva

Vizcaya, seeing the success of their neighbors, would also revolt,

and in this way make the ruin in the northern provinces of Xew
Spain complete.^

It is thus seen that Agramontes viewed the revolt and apostasy

of the New Mexican Indians with great misgivings for the secur-

ity of the northern frontiers, and likewise that he recognized the

necessity of maintaining the refugees in some fortified and . con-

tiguous place until the province should be reconquered. The same

conclusions had been reached even earlier than this and independ-

ently by Father Ayeta, than whom there was doubtless no man
better qualified to speak with judgment concerning the affairs in

northern New Spain. On August 31, when Ayeta was under the

impression tliat only the Eio Abajo refugees had escaped from

New Mexico, he had notified the viceroy that he had had Pedro de

Leiva elected provisional governor in Otermin's place, whom he

supposed to be dead, in order that the refugees might be made to

halt at El Paso when they should arrive there. For, as he

stated, not to do so would mean that Parral vrould be lost. More-

over, he pointed out that El Paso was a suitable place for estab-

lishing a base of operations for the purpose of subduing the

natives, possessing suitable sites for a large settlement, and an

^Auto of otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 80.

^Letter of Agramontes to Otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 81.
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•abundant water supply.^ He further stated that he had written

to Governor Estrada asking .him for certain supplies (uno docena

de leperuscos)^ but that he knew Estrada would not be able to

send them even if he wished, because there was danger of his

own province experiencing a similar revolt. He judged this be-

cause he had learned that the Indians in that vicinity had stated

that they were going to devastate the valley of San Bartolome

and kill all the Spaniards there. He added that he inferred they

would be able to succeed in doing so, because so far as he could

judge the Indians were united as one, in view of which fact

Estrada's forty soldiers would be insignificant.^

The other letter which Otermin received was from Juan de

Escorsa, sarjento mayor in Sonora. The writer expressed his

sorrow for the misfortunes that had befallen the province of New
Mexico, unexampled in all 'New Spain, and of ill omen for other

provinces. He stated that on September 10 reports of the revolt

were received in those parts, but were taken lightly. On Septem-

ber 15 the early reports were confirmed by letters from El Paso

and from Casas G-randes, among them being one from Father

Ayeta to a certain Andres. After consoling Otermin for his mis-

fortunes and reminding him of the afflictions and tribulations of

Job, Escorsa assured him that after the barbarians had arranged

such a plan as that which they had executed, it might be well

counted miraculous that a single man escaped.^

(Jf) Decision to Delay the Reconguest.—On October 5, before

Otermin announced his decision as to whether or not he would

attempt the reconquest of New Mexico before hearing from the

viceroy, the sarjento mayor, Luis de Granillo, appeared before him

and in behalf of all the people in the camp presented a petition

asking that, because of the many dangers and inconveniences which

^"Carta del Padre Visitador a el Exmo. Sr. Virrey," in N. Hex. Doc,
I, 564.

mid., 575-576.

^Letter of Escorsa to Otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 83-84. Escorsa very
cordially invited Otermin to visit him in his home at the mines of

Nacatovori, saying that his liacienda some distance away was not fin-

ished because lumber, which cost almost its weight in silver, was so
hard to secure. He concluded by stating tliat although he was deeply
in debt, having lately spent more than 25,000 pesos, he expected to have
his home ready for entertaining Otermin before the end of the year, "so
that you may have much pleasure and recreation in it."
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beset them at La Salineta, the whole camp be allowed to move to

a place on the opposite side of the river near the monastery of

Guadalupe. There, it was stated, pasture could be secured for the

cattle, and huts built for the protection of the people. Otermin

in reply assured the petitioners that the request would be granted.^

The next day the governor formally announced his decision

concerning the question of attempting the reconquest of the prov-

ince at that time. In an auto summarizing the opinions ex-

pressed in the junta de guerra of October 2, he stated that

he agreed with the Cabildo of Santa Fe and the majority of the

other experienced men, and that an expedition would not be sent to

reconquer the revolted province until further aid could be secured

from the viceroy. In giving this decision the governor empha-

sized the fact that winter was approaching and that there was no

shelter for the people. ^Moreover, because of the two letters which

he had received from San Juan Bautista, he felt that it was more

imperative to make a stand in that place than to attempt to make

an entrada with his weakened forces. Since they could be fur-

nished with necessary supplies through the liberality of Father

Ayeta until royal aid might be received, he thought it best that

his soldiers should not be separated until that time. Accord-

ingly, he ordered the autos to be arranged preparatory to sending

them to the viceroy.^

Having reached this decision Otermin instructed Alcalde Ordi-

nario Juan Lucero de Godoy, and Sarjento Mayor Diego Lopez,

to notify Ayeta of this decision and in behalf of himself and of

all the other people in the cam]) to thank the Reverend Father

formally for what he had already done and for the proposition

which he had made to continue to aid them. This was done, and

in reply Father Ayeta sent Otermin notice that he was able by

that time to increase the daily allowance of corn from eight to

ten fanegas because he had bought since the day he began to

succor the people, six hundred more fanegas, while two wagons were

to be sent out on the 18th on a similar purchasing expedition,

^'loreover, he stated that only that day he had bought and paid for

1640 head of cattle in the Jurisdiction of Casas Grandes, all of

which he freely gave, asking that it be distributed among the people

'^Auto of Otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 77.
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most needing it. In conclusion he supplicated the people to be

patient, promising to send to Parral for wool to clothe them, and

stating that he wonld reserve for himself an.l his order nothing

more than the insignia of his patron San Francisco, and would

sacrifice all for their welfare and comfort until royal aid could be

secured.^

VI. THE SETTLEMENT OF THE REFUGEES AT EL PASO

{!) Early History of the El Paso District.—At the time the

retreating settlers of New Mexico determined to make El Paso

their base of operations in the reconquest of the revolted provinces,

there were already established at that place a mission group ad-

ministering to the Mansos, Sumas, and the outlying Janos In-

dians, and a small nucleus of Spanish settlers about the missions.

In 1659 priests from N'ew Mexico had founded Nuestra Senora

de Guadalupe at the pass, and between 1659 and 1680 two other

missions were founded in the vicinity, one called San Francisco,

twelve leagues below, on the Rio del Norte, and another called

La Soledad, among the Janos Indians, seventy leagues to the

southwest of Guadalupe. All three appear to have been within

the ecclesiastical jurisdiction of New Mexico, and directly gov-

erned from that center. Evidence points to a civil organization

of the settlers in the neighborhood as early as 1659, but the de-

tails concerning this phase of the Spanish activities in the El Paso

region are more fragmentary than those relating to religious

matters.

(2) The Settlement at El Paso.—It has already been shown

that on October 6 Otermin made public his determination to en-

camp at El Paso, on the right bank of the Rio del Norte.

By the 9th the camp appears to have been moved to the new site.

The people were placed in three camps at intervals of two leagues.

The governor and the Cabildo occupied the Real de San Lorenzo,

and with them were five religious; all were sheltered in rude

wooden huts. The Real de San Pedro de Alcantara was the

second camp; it was administered by four religious. Tlie third

camp was Iieal del Santisimo Sacrameuio, in which dwelt Fatlier

^Auto of Otermin, in Auttos tocantes, 85-SG.
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Alvaro de Zavaleta and other religious. The arrangements were

probably completed by October 20, when Otermin wrote to the

viceroy: "I am bivouacked and fortified on this Eio del ISTorte,

waiting Your Excellency's order as to what ought to be done."^

(3) Provision of a Presidio.—As far as the documents now
available indicate, the paramount interest of Otermin and the

Cabildo, during the next twelve months, was the question of a

presidio of El Paso. In compliance with the recommendations

of the governor, the central authorities took the matter under ad-

visement in January, 1681, and in the same month decided to

grant it, empowering the governor to carry out the plans. Whether

or not Otermin attempted to found the presidio is not clear from

the documents, but he appears to have formed some kind of guard

to protect the citizens during his absence on the entrada made in

November, 1681, with the intention of reconquering New Mexico.

While it is not purposed at the present time to continue the

history of the El Paso settlements further than the departure of

Otermln's army from El Paso for New Mexico on November 5,

1681, a few words will not be out of place here on subsequent events

there. As has already been noted the presidio and the settle-

ment at El Paso were not meant to be permanent. However,

when Otermin returned in the winter of 1681-2 from his unsuc-

cessful attempt to reconquer the province, it was realized by the

authorities that several expeditions might have to be made before

the people at El Paso could re-enter New Mexico. Accordingly,

the Spaniards were required to settle in several pueblos and to

make preparations for planting crops to maintain themselves there

indefijiitely. In this way the plans for settlements were given a

sort of permanence. Events of the next few years, as will be

shown later, served to make them entirely permanent.^

^Letter of Oterirun, in Auttos tocantes, 102.

^The summary given above is based on material gathered from the four

expedientes : Auttos tocantes, Autos Pertenecientes, Auttos sohre los

Socorros, and an expediente without a title. For aid in the revision of

the last few paragraphs of this paper, acknowledgments are due to Miss
Anne Hughes.
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VIEGINIA AND THE INDEPENDENCE OF TEXAS

JAMES E. WINSTON

Virginians have ever been prone to seek distinction and fortune

beyond the bounds of their native state. What the New England

states have been by way of a nursery from which home-seekers

have gone to settle the middle West, that Virginia has been to the

states of the South and the Southwest. The best blood of the

Old Dominion has gone forth to enrich the citizenship of many

a sister-state. It would require several volumes to narrate the

history of all those Virginians whose enterprise, bravery, and skill

have contributed to the upbuilding and prosperity of their adopted

homes. In every war in which the national honor has been at

stake, the sons of Virginia, have given their services with readi-

ness and loyalty, and have acquitted themselves upon the field of

battle with honor to themselves and credit to their native state.

It is not the purpose of this paper, however, to vaunt the deeds of

Virginians in the wars in which this country has been engaged.

Without attempting a task so pretentious, the writer has confined

himself to the effort of recording the names and services of those

Virginians who had a part in accomplishing the separation of

Texas from Mexico, and who helped to erect a stable government

within the bounds of the mighty state whose limits are the Sabine

and the Eio Grande. The story is not a long one, for Virginia

was too remote from the scene of hostilities for the struggle be-

tween the Texans and their oppressors to arouse the same degree

of interest and enthusiasm that was felt by the citizens south of

the Ohio and east of the Mississippi. Then, too, the ardor of the

Virginians may have been dampened somewhat by the unfavorable

accounts of Texas which appeared in the Virginia newspapers.^

^^ee Richmond Enquirer, July 4, 1837. The Virginia Herald for March
23, 1836, quoting the Randolph (Tenn.) Recorder of March, has this to say:
"Volunteers are returning and reporting very dipcouragingly of the inhabi-
tants of Texas. The inhabitants are poor^ and care not a fig under what
government they live. The principal object of the majority of the inhabi-
tants that fight is plunder and pillage," It was, moreover, stated that
armed emigrants going from the United States for the purpose of inter-

fering in the war would not be permitted to enter Texas. Virginia Heraldy
April 30, 1836.
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Be this as it may, however, what Virginians lacked in the way of

numbers, they made np for by the }iigh quality of the service ren-

dered the young republic. Xo braver or m^ore loyal spirit gave

his life in behalf of Texas independence than John Sowers Brooks,^

of Augusta county, Virginia; another Virginian who rendered the

cause of Texas distinguished services as a soldier was Colonel

William G-. Cooke,^'of Fredericksburg. Among the more conspic-

uous builders of the new state the names of Branch T. Archer and

Peter Hansborough BelP deservedly have a high place. Another

Virginian w^ho rendered his adopted home valuable services both

as a civilian and as a soldier was Judge Edwin Waller.* Both

Austin and Houston were natives of Virginia, while among the

feigners of the Texas Declaration of Independence^ eleven were

either natives or former residents of Virginia.

Eumblings of the storm about to break in Texas reached Vir-

ginia in the summer of 1835. In July and August the Richmond

papers printed reports of the projected invasion of Texas by the

Mexicans and of the determination of the colonists to resist.^ The

Richmond Enquirer of July 17, 1835, copied from the New YorJc

Caurier the following extract which correctly summed up the sit-

uation at this time:

Each succeeding day is rendering Texas of more importance to

the United States from the fact that it is rapidly being settled by
our own people, and the very probable supposition that in a few

years it will constitute a portion of our Union. In settling the

boundary line between Texas and the United States, the Rio

Grande should be, and in all probabilit}-, will be fixed upon as the

dividing line, and thus the thousands of American citizens who
are now settling what is yet a foreign country, will once more find

themselves enjoying the blessings and protection of our liberal

laws.

^See The Quaetebly, IX. 157-209, for an account of this gallant though
ill-fated young officer.

Ihid., IX, 210-219.

^See Coyner's article on "Peter Hansborough Bell' in The Quabtekly,
III, 49-53. G-overnor Bell, at the age of twenty-six, left his native state

to engage in the war of Texas independence, and rendered valiant service

on the field of San Jacinto as a member of the cavalry corps.

'See Peareson, "Reminiscences of Judge Edwin ^Yaller," in The Quar-
terly, IV, 39-53. See Thrall, 540, 570, for accounts of James Gaines and
I'rank W. Johnson, who filled important civil and military positions.

''Richmond Enquirer, July 17, 1835; August 4, 1835.
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Among those who took part in the stonninc^ of San Antonio, in

December, 1835, was Nathaniel E. Brister of the '^'Ncw Orleans

Greys/' commanded by Captain Samuel 0. Pettus, himself a Vir-

ginian. Brister was promoted from the position of sergeant-

major to that of adjutant in this company about the middle of

February, 1836.^ According to one account a Captain Blair of

Conway county and a Dr. Mitcherson, both from Virginia, were

killed in the storming of San Antonio.

^

Virginia had her representatives at the Alamo, the following

Virginians being killed there : John J. Baugh, first lieutenant in

Captain Thomas H. Breece's company of Texas Volunteers, and

later a captain f and a soldier by the name of R. L. Stockton, who

an'ived at San Antonio about the same time as Crockett.* Other

Virginians who were members of Captain Pettus' company were

Allen O'Kinney (or Kenney) and William L. Hunter; the former

is said to have been massacred at Goliad, while the latter is one

of the few who efl^ected a thrilling escape after being left there for

^dead upon the field of slaughter.'^ Other A^irginians killed at the

time of Fannin's massacre were Henry W. Dovmman, James Batts,

and James Kemp, all of Duval's company.^

In the Zanesville Volunteer Eifle Company were the following

Virginians: James Perry, first sergeant, from Norfolk; Henry

Sikes, of the same place; John Fisher, of Shenandoah; John A.

Davis, of Surrey county; and John Snelling, of Augusta county.'^

Company E, First Regiment of Texas Infantry, Permanent Vol-

^Muster Rolls, General Land Office of Texas, pages 25, 37. Colonel Wil-
liam G. Cooke was also at one time captain of the same company.

^Arkansas Gazette, April 12, 1836.

^Muster Rolls, page 37. See The Quarterly, IX, 237.

*The Quarterly, IX, 4, 117, and XIV, 321-322. The Virginia Herald
of May 4, 1836, contains a list of the names of those who fell at the capture
of San Antonio.

^See Duval, Early Times in Texas, 59.

^Kentucky Gazette, July 7, 1836. The Virginia Herald of June 1, 1836,
copies from the New Orleans Bee, March 25, 1836, an account of Fannin's
massacre written by a Mexican general. In the Herald of June 18, 1836,
is a detailed account of the massacre of Goliad by Z. S. Brooks, one of those
who escaped. The same issue contains a list of the "Red Rovers" who were
put to death on this occasion. In tlie same journal for August 6, 1836, is

what purports to be an account of an eye-witness of the death of Fannin,
written by Joseph H. Sphon, of New Orleans, who escaped.

^Muster Rolls, page 230. Perry and Davis were shoemakers; Fisher, a
chair-maker; and Snelling, a paper-maker.
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unteers, contained these soldiers from Virginia: David Balfour^

of Norfolk; John H. P. Brent, of Fauquier county; James Dunn,
of Wheeling; Silas A. Gordon, of Augusta county; John M.
Hooper, of Hanover; John T. Morehead, of Rockbridge county;

Benjamin Smith, of Frederick; and L. C. Toncray, of Washing-

ton.^ With General Houston at San Jacinto were Oscar Farish,

of Fredericksburg, a private in Captain Mclntyre's company ;2

Washington Anderson, a member of Company C, First Eegiment,

Texas Volunteers, who was wounded; James Montgomery, and

Crittenden. In addition these Virginians saw service in the

Texan cause: John Claiborne, John 0. Knox, J. C. Osbum^
M. D., E. R. Goodloe, J. W. Massey, Hugh G. Pannell, Lemuel

Smith, A, M. Tandey, Peter C. Riigsdale, Nicholas Herron, Dr.

A. M. Levy, John P. T. Fitzhugh, T. R. Striff, and Jesse Benton,,

the last-nan:ied hailing, it is believed, from Richmond.^

In the Richmond Whig of April 15, 1836, is found this letter-

from him:

Near Nacogdoches
22d Feb. 1836

Dear Sir:—

-

. . . Official information -has just reached us that Santa
Anna has crossed the Rio Grande and is marching against us with

a large army for the purpose of exterminating us. I will place

myself in the Infantry as a private soldier, and if he pass our

bayonets, I will be deceived. Nearly all our troops are riflemen;

no body of infantry to lodge on to form squares or rush on with

and crush the enemy. We will die hard, for it will be truly vic-

tory or death with us. Our volunteers have consumed our pro-

visions and a great many have left us—just what I expected..

General Cos and his troops we are informed have broken their-

parole and are returning against us. The country on the Rio

Grande is given up tc a brutal soldiery. . . . If we cannot

defend the country in any other way, we can do it effectually by
adopting the Russian mode of defence against Napoleon in 1812.

A Virginian who rendered the new republic of Texas substan-

^Muster Rolls, pages 237, 239. A Virginian by the name of E,. S. Neigh-
bors is said to have joined the Texan army in 1837.

Wirgima Herald, June 15, 1836. In the issue of June 1 of this paper is

an account of the battle of San Jacinto, copied from the MoMle (Ala.)

Advertiser, May 13, 1836.

^LeiQcington Intelligencer, September 13, 1836 ; Richmond Enquirer, No-
vember 6, 1836; and Muster Rolls, page 115. Herron, Levy, and Striff

are said to have been members of the "New Orleans Greys.'*
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tial aid was Thomas Jefferson Chambers who agreed to loan

$10,000 of the funds necessary for the purpose of recruiting a

force in the United States, and to reciniit the force himself. This

he did in a highly successful manner, sending a large force of men
and quantities of war materials to Texas.^

Horatio Chriesman, the chief surveyor of Austin's colony dur-

ing its entire existence, was a native of Virginia, though going to

Texas from Missouri in 1822.^ Among those under sentence

of death at Tampico December 14, 1835, was a Virginian, William

H. Mackay, aged twenty.^ According to the Virginia Herald,

September 24, 1836, about thirty young men from Petersburg

went to Norfolk with the intention of embarking for Texas. No
doubt the companies which went from other southern states to

Texas contained Virginians, though mention of this fact does not

occur in the records.

Mason, of Virginia, on July 4, 1836, reported in the House from

the committee on foreign affairs in favor of recognizing the inde-

pendence of Texas as soon as satisfactory information was received

that Texas had in successful operation a civil government.*

Humors of a renewed invasion of Texas by the Mexicans ap-

peared from time to time in the Virginia newspapers.^

Of those who never lost faith in Texas and in her future was

Branch T. Archer, already alluded to. On Tuesday evening, April

12, he addressed a crow^ded assemblage in Richmond, at the capi-

tol, on the affairs of Texas.^ Dr. Archer resembled Stephen F.

Austin in his enthusiasm for the Texan oause, and upon a second

visit to Eiclimond the following year declared Mexico was in

greater danger from Texas, than Texas was from Mexico.'^

^See Barker, "The Texas Revolutionary Army," in The Quartebly, IX,
235, 240. In this connection, it may be noted that two Virginians, William
F. Gray and James McCulloch, subscribed $10,000 each of the first loan

of $200,000 raised by Texas commissioners to the United States; of the

second loan, William F. Ritchie subscribed $8500, Howard F. Thornton
$1000, and Jeremiah Morton, $3000. Barker, "The Finances of the Texas
Revolution," in Political Science Qtuirterly, XIX, 630.

"The Quarterly, VI, 236. Brown, History of Texas, I, 116, note, wrongly
gives the date 1823.

^New Orlea/ns Bee, December 25, 1835.

*Reports of Committees, 24 Cong., 1 sess.. Ill, No. 854.

'See Virginia Herald, July 9, 16, 20, 1836; August 17, 1836.

^Richmond WMg, April 15, 1836.

''Richmond Enquirer, August 29, 1837. Cf. the suggestion made by Justice
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In conclufeion^ it may be interesting to compare, on the Texan

question, the attitude of two of the leading Virginia papers which

have been cited above. The Richmond Enquirer while suggesting

impracticable schemes for the incorporation of Texas with the

United States was opposed to the purchase of Texas by our gov-

ernment.^ On the other hand, the Richmond Whig was convinced

that Texas must be purchased by the United States government

and carved into two or more slave-holding states.^To this paper

a war for absolute independence was quite premature and im-

politic.^ There was little doubt in the mind of the editor of the

Whig that our government would gladly catch at the slightest

pretext for a quarrel with Mexico, if for no other reason than to

divert the people from a scrutiny of domestic affairs.* One of the

few articles friendly to Mexico which has been observed during

this time is to be found in the columns of the Whig of July 22,

1836. The editor seeks to justify Mexico in defending the in-

tegrity of her territory and contends that the existing treaty with

Mexico was binding upon citizens of the United States. In this

same issue is a letter from Isaac T. Preston written to the New
Orleans Courier of July 2 in which the writer deplores the fact

that the treaty between the United States and Mexico had been

violated.

Touching a proper boundary line, the Enquirer was an ardent

expansionist. Quoting the New Orleuns Bee of March 19, 1836,

it says : "Let the independence of Texas be recognized by the

United States. Let its bounds be extended to the Eio Grande and

to California and the Pacific Ocean and we shall have easy access

to Asia.''^

Catron of Tennessee as to the possibility of American volunteers invading
Mexico from Texas. Smith, The Annexation of Texas, 53.

^See Richmond Enquirer, October 27, 30, 1835; December 19, 1835.

^Richmond Whig, April 15, 1836.

UUd., April 29, 1836.

*Ihid., May 20, 1836. Wharton, writing to Austin, alluded to the impru-
dent attitude of the Whig touching the annexation of Texas by using
language calculated to irritate the North. Wharton to Austin, December
11, 1836. Garrison, Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas,

I, 152.

''See Wharton to Rusk, February 16, 1837. "Grenl Jackson say that

Texas must claim the Californias on the Pacific in order to paralyze the

opposition of the North and East to annexation." Garrison, Diplomatic
Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, 1, 193.
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The Texas question is tersely dealt with in the following state-

ment: "It is impossible for Texas to remain long under the

dominion of Mexico/' The character of the "Texonians/' it con-

tinued, "is essentially different from that of the Mexicans, they

know too much of the principles of republicanism, are too much
attached to the free institutions they have been taught from

childhood."^

Animated by the spirit of a love of liberty and of hatred of

oppression such as characterized their forefathers, Virginians went

to Texas and wielded their swords and pens in behalf of the cause

of Texas independence.

^Richmond Enquirer, August 7, 1837, quoting the New Orleans True
American of July 17.
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DUGALD McFAELANE

ADELE B. LOOSCAN"

About the year 1829 or 1830 there came to Texas, from the stat^

of Alabama, a Scotchman named Dugald McFarlane. He left his

native land when a boy of eighteen years or less, and settled first

in South Carolina. After a few years he removed to Alabama,

where he married Miss Eliza ^f. Davenport, and lived at or near

the town of Tuscaloosa. He was about thirty-three years old when,

following in the footsteps of many worthy sons of the South, he,

together with his wife and children, emigrated to Texas.

The family traveled overland by private conveyance, and ex-

perienced the usual hardships attending a long journey over an

unsettled country. Arriving at San Felipe, the seat of govern-

mental authority for Austin's colony, the head of the family

selected Matagorda as their future home, and located his head-

right on the Colorado river, eight miles above the town. He
identified himself with the interests of the settlers about him, and

became a m.ost useful citizen. His only surviving child, Mrs.

Eureka M. Tlieall^ is living at Bay City, at the home of her

daughter, Arie Davenport (Mrs. B. F. Sweeney, Sr.), and from

her recollections the leading incidents of his life have been

obtained. At the time of the immigration to Texas she was a

little toddler, just old enough, as she afterw^ard told, to slip her

father's pocket knife into a water jug, which was carried along

for the use of the family during a day's journey. She recalls

the days of her childhood at Matagorda, when the Indians roamed

about the neighborhood, and, as they were Carankawas and reputed

cannibals, their visits were greatly dreaded. At that early period

the Mexicans traded extensively with the Texans, and their trains

of burros loaded with silver dollars to be exchanged for tobacco

and other comm.odities were frequently seen and always welcomed

at Matagorda. Mrs. Theall says that, although her parents o"s\Tied

slaves, they were left in Alabama in the care of an uncle, since

the laws of Mexico were such that they would have been free on

Texas soil. The first servants her parents had in Texas were
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Scotch, a man and a woman, who lived witli them for two or

three years. Many were the hardships for a long time endured

bv her mother and others who, like her, had been tenderly reared

and were now reduced to tlie hard necessities which life in Texas

at that period involved. At one time, as the Colorado river afforded

almost the only water supply, the women of Matagorda made its

banks their common laundry. Soiled clothing, tubs, etc., were

hauled in an ox-cart to the landing; as there were no washboards,

the clothes were soaked, well soaped and placed on a strong bench

called a "battle-board," designed for the purpose, and thoroughly

beaten with a heavy paddle. They were dried on the bushes.

In this primitive fashion were the w^omen obliged to carry on one

of the most important branches of their household economy.

The first two-story house erected on the bay shore of Matagorda,

known as the Bluffy was built by Dugald McFarlane, and was for

many years the home of himself and family. It was so tall that

it served as a kind of a landmark for the ships at sea, and the

sailors kept a lookout for "McFarlane's Castle," as they were wont

to call it. Colonel S. E. Fisher owned the only other house on

the Bluff in the early Colonial days.

Dugald McFarlane was a Eoyal Arch Mason of the thirty-third

degree. "By dispensation of the Grand Lodge" of South Carolina,

he was sent to Alabama to establish Masonic lodges. His daughter

has the Masonic chart issued to him by the Grand Lodge of South

Carolina. It is of vellum and is inscribed v»'ith the autographs

of the officers of the lodge. This chart was carried by its owner

throughout the Texas revolution, and it was twice captured by

the Mexicans, but each time was returned to its owner by order

of Santa Anna, who was himself a Mason. This valuable Masonic

chart possesses a double value to its owner from the fact that it

was filled in by her mother. Her fathei^'s great interest in Masonry

induced him to v,^rite a "History of Freemasonry," which is incom-

plete, but has been carefully preserved by her, together with other

records by his hand. His nam.e occurs in Masonic records as

occupying such honorable positions a.s Grand Lecturer, and District

Deputy Grand Master of District No. 2, which was the district

of Matagorda. One of the early lodges at San Augustine bore

the name McFarlane No. 3.

Mrs. Theall is of the opinion that there was a lodge at San
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Antonio established by her father, but I could find no record of

it in the "Proceedings of the Grand Lodge of Texas/' mentioned

in a succeeding note.

When, in 1835, the oppression of the Mexican government

became unbearable to the Texas colonists and a revolution was

their only recourse, Dugald McFarlane enlisted in the volunteer

army as a private.

History relates that, on N'ovember 21, 1835, as a member of

Captain Philip Dimmit's company at Goliad, he was one of a

committee of five elected to prepare a preamble and resolutions

expressive of their confidence in their captain, and their belief in

their right, "under existing regulations—or, rather, during the

want of all regulations," to elect their company officers. This was

simply the assertion of their privilege and right as citizen volunteer

soldiers to elect their immediate commander, and was a vigorous

protest against an order from headquarters at San Antonio to

Captain Dimmit to deliver tlie comm.and of the fort and town

to Captain George M. Collin sworth.^ The same history relates

that on December 20, 1835, Dugald MicFarlane's name was enrolled

among the ninety-two men, many of them members of Captain

Dimmit's company of volunteers, who signed and published what

is known as the "Goliad Declaration of Independence." Brown

says^ that fully a third of these signers "maintained their pledges

with their lives, largely as members of Fannin's command."

During the revolution Dugald McFarlane rose to the rank of

captain of artillery, and at one time had from four to six cannon

under his orders. His daughter related that, while in command

of this company, he was so closely pursued by the Mexicans that,

to prevent his guns from falling into their hands, he sank tAVO

of them into the Brazos river at Brazoria. The following letter

from her gives an account of this interesting episode:

He was on his way to San Jacinto, had crossed the Brazos

river and was marching toward the scene of conflict
; they were

near enough to hear the booming of artilleiy and the shouts of

the soldiers, but suddenly they saw approaching a large body of

Mexicans, who had discovered my father's cannon, and about the

same time they started in pursuit of his company. There w^as

^See Brown, History of Texas, 1, 376-7. The daughter of George M.

Collinsworth, Mrs. Rebecca Turner, is living at Angleton, Brazoria county..

^History of Texas, I, 432.
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nothing left for him to do but order a retreat, which he did, the

Mexicans in pursuit. He reached the Brazos and embarked some
of the guns, carriages, and men ; the ferryboat was not nearly

large enough to cross all at one trip, time was too precious to

waste, so they could not wait to load the other guns, as the river

was on a boom at the time, and the current very strong. It would
have jeopardized the lives of the soldiers too much to risk the

loading of the other guns, so my father ordered them sunk in

the muddy, turbid stream, where they were completely lost in

the mud. The Brazos resembles the Mississippi in the turbidity

of its waters during a freshet, as the mud boils up from the

bottom. So it was not when General Urrea invested Brazoria that

the cannon were sunk, but it may have been at this time that the

Masons had to meet under a liveoak tree, as they had no lodge

room.^

Dugald McFarlane seems to have continued in the army after

the battle of San Jacinto, which, by giving victory to the Texans,

had caused many soldiers to feel that they were justified in return-

ing to their homes. His name occurs as captain of artillery in

the list of appointments sent by President Sam Houston to the

Senate for approval on May 10, 1837, and, in the Secret Journals

of the Senate of the Republic of Texas^ these names are printed

under the heading, "^A List of Officers actually in the Service of

the Army of the Eepublic of Texas."^

In 1842 McFarlane returned to civic life, and we find him
representing Matagorda county in the Congress of the Republic

of Texas during 1842-43. At this time he was known as Colonel

McFarlane, and when the war between the United States and

Mexico broke out in 1846, he again enlisted in military service.

His son also entered the service of the United States at this time

and was adjutant of a New York regiment during the Mexican

War.

^In a reminiscence of Masonry in Texas written by a distinguished
member of the order the following words were used: "In March (1836)
Brazoria was abandoned. Urrea soon took possession of the place at
the head of a detachment of the Mexican army, and the records, books,
jewels and everything else belonging to the lodge were utterly destroyed
by them and our members scattered in every direction. See Proceedings
of the Grand Lodge of Texas. o837-5853, Vol. I, page 7.

According to the Diary kept by General Urrea, he occupied Columbia
and its Port at four o'clock on the afternoon of April 21, 1836, and on
the 22d marched to Bra/.oria, which he reached at 10 a. m. of the same
day. "See pp. 25 and 26 Diario Militar del General Jose Urrea Durante

La Primera Gampana de Texas, 25-26."

-See the Journals just cited, pages 44-45.
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Dugald ^IcFarlane was about five feet ten irches in height, well

proportioned and strongly built, of fair complexion, light blue eves,

light brown hair tending toward auburn: his habitual expression

indicated firmness of purpose, tempered by tenderness and kind-

ness. He was perfectly erect, had a military bearing, was dignified

but genial in manner, ver}- strict as to morals, veracit}- and all

good conduct. He was a bom commander, whose men were drawn

to him by the strong ties of confidence aud friendship. His latter

years were parsed at Brazoria, where he had many friends, and

there, in March, 1861. at the age of sixty-four, he breathed his

last. Thirty-one year? of his eventful life had been given to Texas,

and this period was just completed on the eve of another eventful

era in the history of his adopted land.

Dugald McFarlane was not onlv a colonist of Texas, a soldier

and officer in her armies, and a law-giver of the Republic, but he

was also a thoroughly successful teacher, a man of letters, and

a pioneer journalist—a man of versatile talents, such as go to

make an ideal citizen. He kept a diary, and therein were recorded

details of thrilling historical events in which he had borne a part.

His participation in the revolutionary war of 1836 and again in

the war between the United States and Mexico caused writers of

histor}- to consult him when preparing their records. He corre-

sponded with Brown and with Eobinson on these subjects. He
wa-s intensely interested in all public matters, and contributed to

newspapers and magazines, especially to papers published at Mata-

gorda and Brazoria. Among these were The Democrat and The

Planter, and the consolidated Democrat and Planter. In the

CoJurn'bia Democrat, published every Tuesday by E. H. Gushing,

may be found a '"Chronological Index of Texas HistorAV' the

careful work of his hand, signed "Hugald.'"^

In partnership v,T.th his son-in-law, Joseph Theall, he published

at Matagorda The Chronicle of the Times. His interest in

Masonry induced him to contribute to The Masonic Sign-et and

Journal. Among his contributions to The Chronicle of the Times

was a series of sketehes called "Eumpled Rc<;-ords of a Buckskin

Budget,"' which were copied from that paper bv The Democrat.

The name suggests adventure, sport, pioneer life in plent\', and

would no doubt reveal pen pictures of the times and tell us much

^From an undated clipping.
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of the life of him who gave them their euphonious title and signed

himself '^Dugald." Are they in existence? Probably stored away

in some attic, or packed away in some chest Avhose original owner

has long since died, these records of an interesting past may be

brought to light.

^

Dugald McFarlane left two children, a boy and a girl. When
the former, William Wallace, was about fourteen years old, as he

was of delicate constitution, through the advice of the physicians

who recommended a long sea voyage, he entered the service of the

Texas navy. Captain Taylor, who was a friend of the family,

selected the lad as one of his aides. In naval records of a later

date his name appears as a midshipman, on board the Austin,

flagship of Commodore Edwin W. Moore. When, after many
trying experiences, this branch of the service of the Eepublic of

Texas was finally disbanded, he was qualified to enter the service

of the United States with the rank of captain. For a long time

he served as quartermaster at Tampa Bay, Florida, and was then

transferred to San Antonio, Texas, where he remained about four

years. He then went north again, and was sent to sea, making

trips for the government to the Guano Islands, and was in com-

mand of a ship to the Mediterranean. After engaging for a while

in the oil refining business in 'New York, he again entered the

government service and held positions in the postoffice depart-

ment in New York City and Springfield, Massachusetts. During

the Mexican War (1846-48) he served as adjutant in a New York

regiment. He died several years ago,^ survived by his widow and

a son and daughter. Recent letters announce the death of the

widow at the age of seventy.

Mrs. Theall, the surviving daughter of Dugald McFarlane,

inherited much of her father's talent; she was sent to school in

Kentucky, where she received a liberal education, which fitted

her for the vicissitudes of a long life full of good deeds. Her
husband, Joseph Theall, served in the Confederate army in

Captain Lewis Strohle's cavalry, and afterward in the commissary

department under Captain William McMaster at Columbia, Texas.

^Mrs. Theall says she had a small box containing her father's manu-
script, which was nailed up and put in a crib or loft of her house at
Columbia (probably the oldest house in the country), which is now
occupied by one of her grandsons.

''See Dienst, "The Navy of the Republic of Texas," The Quarterly,
XIII, 19.
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Exposure in the service injured his health. He was for many
years an invalid. After the war Mrs. Theall opened a school at

Brazoria; she also taught at Columbia, and was for seven years

postmistress at the latter place. Her acquaintance in Brazoria

county was large, and the many pupils who profited by her

instruction regard her with affection and gratitude. She is

familiar with the historic localities of that section, and numbers

among her former friends prominent citizens of the early days^

who have passed away. While she contributed to the press from

time to time, her pen was used chiefly as a recreation, and she

preserved none of her writings. She was the mother of two sons

and two daughters, and the care of her family and household filled

her life. But one of her children survives, the daughter with whom
she makes her home, and whose family are all settled in Bay City

and Brazoria and Matagorda counties. While the weight of eighty-

odd years has impaired her physical strength, her mental grasp

is vigorous, and her fine memory summons at will varied and

interesting pictures drav/n horn her many eventful years in Texas..
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COEEESPONDEXCE FEOM THE BRITISH ARCHIVES
CONCERNING TEXAS, 1837-1846

\^

EDITED BY EPHRAIM DOUGLASS ADAMS

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

No. 6. Galveston April 25. 1843.

My Lord,

I have the honor to report that the two Texian Vessels of War
'^Austin" and "Wharton" sailed from the N. E. Pass of the Mis-

sissipi on the 19th Instant, destined as it is generally supposed,

to the Coast of Yucatan. It is certain that this step has been

taken by the Commander of the Vessels in spite of repeated posi-

tive orders of this Government to return direct to this Port. And

I am in a situation to inform Yonr Lordship that the arrange-

ments between that Officer and the persons in authority in Yuca-

tan were made without the sanction of this Government, and have

been disavowed and disapproved in the most unequivocal language

by the President of Texas.^

The embarrassments of this Government upon the subject must

no doubt be much increased, if a report which has recently been

circulated in this place be well founded, and I am disposed to

attach credit to it. That statement is that the Government of

the United States has directed it's Agent here to call upon this

Government to desist from any further pursuit of the unsustain-

able character of Warfare which has been waged between this Re-

public and Mexico for some time past, and has further notified

that Instructions to the same effect will be transmitted to their

Minister at Mexico. I should perhaps mention that I have not

heard that these last instructions direct General Thompson to

press the point of the acknowledgment of the Independence of

Texas on the Mexican Government but merely the cessation of the

objectionable description of Warfare. Neither do I hear or ob-

^F. 0., Texas, VoL 6.

^For additional facts concerning the course pursued by Commodore E.
W. Moore, see The Quarterly, XIII, 113ff.



292 The Southwestern Historical Quarterly

serve any thing disposing me to modify the opinion that there is

no earnestness upon that subject at Washington on the Potomac.

The Texian Vessels are said to be incompletely manned, with

crews of a mixed character: I make no doubt, however, that they

will be handled with becoming behaviour if any opportunity of

collision presents itself, but I am afraid that there is no room to

expect that this unauthorized proceeding can produce any other

than injurious consequences. If there be success, and the Officer

is sustained by the people here it will be a triumph over the Au-

thority of the Government and the Law, and in other respects

probably not very remote, of extremely unfortunate tendency.

And if there be a reverse the consequences will of course be

very serious. Tn the mean time the state of the fact is, that these

Vessels are sailing the Seas without due warrant from any con-

stituted Authority. And I have had enough of experience of

Naval Affairs to offer the opinion that the power of the Officer

in Command to maintain any more control over their movements

than may be agreeable to the general will of the Crews, will dis-

appear as soon as it is generally known that He is himself acting

in violation of the orders of his Government

I must not close this despatch without once more assuring

Your Lordship that there is not the least doubt that the step

this Officer has taken is entirely upon his own responsibility, and

contrary to his knowledge of the desire of the Government that

He should repair direct to this Port. I shall consider it my
duty to forward extracts of as much of this despatch to the

Senior Officer of Her Majesty's Ships in the Gulph of Mexico,

as may place him in possession of the circumstances under which

these Vessels are operating, with a suggestion that their move-

ments should be reported to the Commander in Chief, to Her

Majesty's Minister at Mexico, and in the event of any proceeding

of consequence, by any direct means which may present them-

selves to England.

Charles Elliot.

The Eight Honorable

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.
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ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

No. 7. Galveston April 29th. 1843.

My L-ord,

The accompanying Newspaper^ contains a letter from Mr. Van

Zandt, Charge d' Affaires of this Eepublic near the Government

of the United States to the Address of Mr. Archer, Chairman of

the Committee on Foreign Eelations in the Senate of the United

States^ in support of the proposed treaty between the two Eepub-

lics. It will be observed that the treaty was not ratified by the

Senate of the United States; but Containing the principles of the

arrangement as assented to by the two Governments, I have con-

sidered it proper to submit Mr. Van Zandfs letter for Your Lord-

ship^s information.

The refusal of the Senate of the United States to ratify the

treaty with this Country has led the President to direct the en-

forcement of the provision of the tariff Laws of Texas, levying a

duty of 5 per Cent ad valorum on Imports in Vessels of Coun-

tries, not having treaties with this Eepublic.

Charles Elliot.

To The Eight Honorable.

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

ELLIOT TO ABEEDBEN^

No. 9.* Galveston, May 9th, 1843.

My Lord,

The Inclosure No. 1 is the copy of a despatch from Her Maj-

esty's Charge d' Affaires at Mexico covering copies of a Communi-
cation addressed to him under date 19th April by Senor de Bo-

rangra, ° and of his own reply dated on the same day, but as these

last will have no doubt already reached Your Lordship direct from

Mexico I do not transmit them through this Channel. I have

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

^The Texian and Brazos Farmer, April 15, 1843.

^F. O., Texas, Vol. 6.

*No. 8, Elliot to Aberdeen, acknowledging receipt of despatches, is
omitted.

''Josg Maria de Bocanegra.
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also the honor to forward the Copy of my own reply to Mr.

Doyle.i

There seems less reason to think that these declarations of the

Mexican Government are the forerunners of any serious attempt

to recover it's Authority over this Country than to discourage

[emigration?] to it, and prevent it's settlement. But continued

hostilities of this partial nature, (particularly if they be preceded,

as the last were, by fallacious proclamations that the advancing

parties were the Van Guards of invading Armies, and now by a

declaration of a very unsustainable description as regards the

rights of Neutral Governments and their Subjects) will probably

attract the serious attention of Powers having treaty relations with

Texas.

It may be added too that their object of preventing the Settle-

ment of the Countr}^ seems to be ill-considered both as respects

the hope of fulfilment, and the consequences of the mode of oper-

ation. For though it is quite true that the Mexican Government

has succeeded in obstructing the settlement of the Western Coun-

try by steady and respectable people disposed to cultivate the Soil

in peace, and particularly by European Emigrants whom the Cli-

mate and advantages of that portion of the Eepublic w^ould other-

wise attract, it is no less true that that Section of Texas is be-

coming the resort of Men from all parts of the World ready for,

and equal to desperate enterprize of any description.

If General Santa Ana cannot be promptly arrested in this bad

policy I am afraid it will soon be found that He is doing no more

than securing the rapid organization of advanced bands of what

will accumulate into a formidable irruptionary Movement.

Your Lordship will be enabled to judge in some degree from the

inclosed proclamation- how disquietingly the actual State of West-

ern Texas sustains this reasoning, and it is my duty to add that

^Percy Doyle, British charge d'affaires at Mexico in 1843, after Paken-
ham's return to England, and until Bankhead's arrival in Mexico in

March, 1844.

-Proclamation of the president, April 27, 1843. It declared martial
law in the territory between the Rio Frio and Nueces Rivers and the Rio
Grande, and ordered all armed parties upon the western frontiers, claiming
to act under authority of the government, except Major John C. Hays,
to disperse, and not further to molest the citizens of the frontier by acts

of lawlessness {Telegraph and Texas Register, May 17, 1843).

—

Editors
OF The Quarterly.
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with wise and honorable dispositions on the part of the Govern-

ment of Texas, It is wholly without power to regulate or control

the course of events in the particulars now drawn under the at-

tention of Her Majesty's Government.

There is much reason to fear that the Mexican Government has

suffered itself to be precipitated into the dismal Measure of deci-

mating the Texian prisoner's taken at Mier, and lately recaptured

after a successful rise against their guard. It is impossible to

ascribe such extraordinary ignorance of the character of these peo-

ple to General Santa Aha, as to suppose that He could think

after a moment's reflection that such Measures were calcu-

lated to intimidate them, and hasty 'orders upon a subject of so

much moment, and such very serious consequences can not be

too deeply deplored. If these proceedings have had place they will

influence these people to the highest degree, and in other respects

cast increased difficulty upon the Mexican Government that there

Tvas much need for more prudent Conduct.

It will probably be declared here that some of the prisoners

put to Death by these undistinguishing orders were amongst those

who used their best efforts to prevent outrage, and absolutely

risked their lives, in the attempt, and the Mexican Government

has unhappily deprived itself of conclusive means of refuting

such allegations. But beyond this I am sure it will be felt by

Her Majesty's Government that the Mexican Government was

bound by the conditions of the Capitulation assented to by their

Commanding Officer at Mier, and the act of successful rise of a

body of prisoners against their guard is no warrant for any other

Measures than those of more effectual precaution, if they should

be retaken.

If particular outrage was charged against them, enquiry should

have been had in a regular Military Way, however summarily, and

no blame could have attached to the Mexican Government for any

proceedings it might have seen fit to take after investigation by

responsible Officers. I anxiously hope that General Santa Ana,

will upon more mature reflection have dispatched orders of a more

suitable nature tlian those in question here, and that they will

have arrived in time to prevent a shocking event.
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H. M. S. Spartan sailed again for Vera Cruz this day with my
reply to Mr. Doyle.

Charles Elliot.

To The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

DOYLE TO ELLIOT^

[Enclosure] Copy. Mexico, 20 April 1843.

Charles Elliot.

Sir,

I have the honor to inform You of my arrival in Mexico, hav-

ing been accredited in the Character of Charge d^ Affaires of this

Government.

I take the earliest opportunity of communicating to you a note

which I have this day received from the Mexican Government, in-

timating that on the entry of their troops into the Territory of

Texas, they will acknowledge no right, whether as respects their

persons or their property, in such individuals as may be found

established in that Country, and who may be taken prisoners,

nor will they reply to any representations addressed to them in

favour of such prisoners,—that they will treat all who may be

found in Texas as actual invaders and enemies of the Republic>

and will cause them to be punished according to the laws of

Mexico. They also protest that they will not acknowledge any

right in foreign Consuls found in that Territory to be treated

otherwise than as Neutral Foreigners, intimating that such char-

acter even will not be respected in case they oppose, either directly

or indirectly the right, in its full extent, whereby Mexico is en-

deavouring to recover possession of her Territory.

I have the honour to transmit to you a copy of the reply which

I have thought it my duty to return to this Communication of

the Mexican Government.

I have requested the Honble. Captain Elliot^ of Her Majesty's

Ship "Spartan" to proceed to Galveston as soon as he may con-

sider it compatible with the interests of Her Majesty's Service, in

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

^George Elliot, in command of H. M. S. Spartan until June 27, 1843^

when he was promoted to the command of the Eurydice. (British Ses-

sional Papers, 1844—Commons—Vol. 33. Return of Naval Appointments,
from October 1, 1841, to March 1, 1844, p. 3.)



British Correspondence Concerning Texas 297

order that you may be enabled to take such Steps as may seem

expedient to you for the protection of British Subjects and their

interests under the extraordinary circumstances of this crisis, but

as it is necessary that the "Spartan" should return without delay

to the Mexican Ports for the purpose of conveying specie to our

Colonies, I trust you will not find it necessary to detain her long.

I have been informed that it is the intention of the Mexican

Government, as soon as they shall have brought the Department

of Yucatan back to its allegiance, to direct the Squadron, to-

gether with a considerable land force, upon Texas, and as intelli-

gence has just reached Mexico of the submission of Merida the

Capital of Yucatan, and the adherence of Genl Yuran,^ a person

of considerable influence among the aboriginals, who constitute a

majority of the population, it is probable that the whole force

now employed in that quarter may shortly be disposable for any

operations which the present Government of this Eepublic may
think fit to undertake.

I shall also write to Admiral Sir Charles Adam,^ to inform him
of what has occured, in order that he may take whatever steps

he may think necessary on this occasion

Percy W. Doyle

Captain Charles Elliot.

[Endorsed] Inclosure No. 1 in Captn. Elliot's Despatch to

Lord Aberdeen. No. 9. May 9th. 1843.

EI.LIOT TO DOYLE^

[Enclosure] Copy. Galveston May 7th. 1843.

Charles Elliot

Sir,

I have the honor to acknowledge your letter of the 20th Ultimo,

with its Inclosures.

It is to be wished that your note of the same date (20th April)

to Senr. de Bocanegra may have reminded the Mexican Govern-

ment of the grave character of any hostile movement against this

^Santiago Iman.
'^Cominander in Chief in the West Indies, 1841-1845. (Stephen, Diet.

Nat. Biog., I, 85.)

«F. O., Texas, Vol. 6.
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Country preceded by a plain declaration of the determination to

disregard treaty engagements between other Powers and this Re-

public, practically denying to the Governments of great and friendly

Countries, any right to clothe their servants with a public char-

acter in Texas, and further giving special warning that the Mexican

Government will only consider these Officers to be neutral foreign-

ers, and separate them from the classification of real invaders, and

enemies of Mexico into which all other foreigners found in this

Country are to be cast, and from punishment as such according

to the laws of Mexico, upon the express condition that they neither

directly or indirectly oppose themselves to the full exercise of the

rights of Mexico to recover its authority over Texas, as expounded

by the Mexican Government, and exercised by Mexican Military

Officers

In the event of the entrance of a Mexican force into this Coun-

try Her Majesty's Officers here will regulate their proceedings, by

the rules of public law, for the government of neutrals in such

Cases.

And if such a circumstance should take place before I can receive

instructions from Her Majesty's Government, I shall consider

it incumbent upon myself formally to declare and assert the privi-

leges and immunities of Her Majesty's Officers in this Eepublic

as well as the rights and liabilities of all Her Majesty's other sub-

jects resident or trading here

I shall also hold it to be my duty to protest against the conse-

quences of any hostile movement founded upon the purposes or

principals declared in Senr. de Bocanagrar's note of the 20th Ulto.

or to be undertaken till those principles and purposes shall have

been authentically disclaimed and disavowed, so far as they menace

the rights and safety of Her Majesty's Officers and Subjects resident

or trading here.

Charles Elliot.

Percy Doyle, Esq. Her Majesty's Charge d' Affaires Mexico.

[Endorsed] Inclosure No. 2 in Captn. Elliot's Despatch to

Lord Aberdeen. No. 9. 9th May. 1843.
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ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

Private. New Orleans, May 12th 1843

My Lord

On my arrival here whither I have taken the liberty to come on

my way to Havanna to meet Mrs. Elliot I find that accounts have

reached this place which do not seem to be doubted by persons

competent to Judge, though they are certainly entirely at variance

with those that reached us at Galveston by H. M. S. "Spartan"

coming direct from Mexico. The last tidings, however, are neces-

sarily much later, and I should presume more trustworthy. By

them it appears that a divsion of the Mexican force moving upon

Merida, and said to consist of nearly 2000 Men, found themselves

compelled to surrender by Capitulation, from want of secure com-

munications with their Squadron, and failure of Supplies.

Agreeably to the reported terms of the Capitulation the surren-

dering force was to depart for Mexico in 8 days, with their Arms,

but their Artillery and Materiel to be held by the Yucantanese till

affairs are finally adjusted between the contending parties. This

event is said to have taken place on the 24:th Ultimo. It is also

reported that Commodore Moore with his two Texian Vessels of

War have been partially engaged with the Mexican Steam Ships

and succeeded in checking them.

I use the freedom of this mode of communication to mention

to Your Lordship that I am troubled with an Ague contracted

in a long and painful Service in hot Countries, and I should con-

sider it a favor if Your Lordship would sanction my passing the

Months of July, August, and September in the Mountains of Ken-

tucky where I have been advised as there are Springs of great

virtue for Complaints of that kind. I have the less reluctance in

proffering this request, as I can always be at my post within two

weeks from that Situation, and be in the constant receipt of tidings

from Texas of ten days or a fortnight's date. It may also be added

that Congress in Texas does not meet till December, and the Offi-

cers of the Texian Oovernment usually disperse during the hot

Season.

Charles Elliot.

Tlie Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.
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KENNEDY TO ABEEDEEX^

Separate. British Consulate

Galveston, May loth. 1843.

My Lord.

In the absence of Captain Elliot^ Her Majesty^s Charge d'

Affaires in Texas, who left Galveston last week for Ne\^ Orleans,

I have the honor to transmit Copies of three documents which

have emanated from the Government of this Country, relative to

the position of the Texian Xavy now at Sea, and the steps taken

by the P]xecutive ^dth regard to it's Commander, Commodore

Moore: namely,

Xo, 1. Copy of a Proclamation by the President; dated March

23rd. 1843.^

No. 2. Copy of a desptach to Commodore Moore from the

department of War and Marine; dated March 21st. 1843.

jVo. S. Copy of Instructions issued by the Executive to Com-

missioners James Morgan and William Bryan Esquires, dated

March 23rd. 1843

In addition to the above, I have the honor to inclose the Copy

of a despatch to Captain Elliott, and the Copy of a letter to the

Collector of Customs at this port (as the intermediate agent of

the President) in explanation of the Circumstances under which

I have deemed it my duty to communicate to Your Lordship the

papers herewith sent.

J shall fox-ward to Captain Elliott, under Cover to the British

Consul at Xew Orleans, by the same Conveyance that bears this,

the whole of the documents addressed by President Houston to

Her Majesty's Charge d' Affaires

The President, writing to Captain Elliot, states that "All that

has been done by Commodore Moore since the 5th Ultimo, has

been in violation of orders, and under suspension and arrest."

"On the 5th April," he adds "the order of the Department of

War and Marine was placed in his (the Commodore's) hands."

It seems to be the hope and wish of the President that Her

Majesty's Government may receive the Proclamation and collateral

documents as evidence of the sincere and anxious desire of his

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.

^Tlie proclamation is printed in The Quaeteely, XIII, 110-111.
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Government to prevent aggressive Action against Mexico^ unless

offensive operations should be rendered necessary by the Conduct

of that Country towards Texas.

William Kennedy,

H. B. M. Consul at Galveston

May 16th. The Steamer for New Orleans has delayed its de-

parture until today, which gives me the opportunity of forward-

ing a published letter from Commodore Moore that has just ap-

peared.^ W. K.

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

HAMILTON TO MOORE.

^

Copy. Department of War and Marine

Washington 21st March, 1843.

To Post Capt. E. W. Moore. T. N.

New Orleans.

Sir.

Your Communication of the 10th inst. has just been received

;

by which the Department is advised of the receipt by you, of

orders dated 22nd Jany. last requiring your immediate presence

at the Seat of Government, and notified at the same time, that

you decline the execution of the same.—Alleging as a reason for

thus disregarding the plain and positive Commands of the Presi-

dent, that you have been placed ''in Command by the Constituted

authorities of the Country, and acting under orders from the

Department, from which source alone you look for orders (which

have never been rescinded or countermanded'").

Notwithstanding the orders to you of 29th October, reiterated

on the 5th and 16th November, to report with the vessels under

your Command, at Galveston; which orders you acknowledge to

have received, and which were repeated again on the 2nd Deer,

with the additional injunction to report in person to the Depart-

ment; and renewed on the 2nd of January^—wliich last you have

also received, as allusion is made to it in your Communication.

^Page 307 below.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.

*The order of January 2, 1843, is printed in Secret Journals of the

.Senate, Republic of Texas, 265.
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The "Sealed Orders" to which you refer were issued under the

belief that you could, with the means placed in your hands by the

Govt, prepare the Squadron for sea, and on that condition alone.

You failed to do so, rendered the orders null; and hence your

orders to proceed to Galveston and report; which, in the opinion

of the Department, countermanded your previous orders to cruize

upon the Gulf. That you may distinctly understand the wishes of

the Department, however, the '"Scaled orders'' of 15th Sept 18^2,

together with all others, not in accordance with this, are herehij

revolved.

Any negociations which may have been concluded, or may now be

in progress with the Commissioners of the Government of Yucatan,

have been entered into without the Authority or sanction, or even

knowledge of the Government, and will not be recognized by it.

In consequence of your repeated disobedience of orders, and

failure to keep the Department advised of your operations and

proceedings, and to settle your accounts at the Treasury within

three, or at most in six months from, the receipt of the Mpney

which has been disbursed as the laws require, and as you were

recently ordered to do. You are hereby suspended from all Com-

mand, and will report forthwith in An^est, to the Department, in

person.

Any interference on your part with the Command, or with those

who have been directed to assume 'it, will be regarded by the Gov-

ernment as Mutiny and Sedition, and punished accordingly.

By Order of the President.

M. C. Hamilton

Actg. : Sec : War and Marine

[Endorsed.] No 2. In Mr Consul Kennedy's despatch marked

"Separate" of May 15th 1843.

HOUSTON TO MORGAN AND BRYAN^

Copy. Executive Department

To James Morgan. Washington, Texas,

and Wm. Bryan, Esquires. March 23d/43.

Gentlemen,

Your report of the 10th inst. with the accompanying papers, has.

^F. O., Texas, Vol. 7.
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been laid before me, by the acting head of the War and Marine

Department. In full contemplation of all the subjects involved in

the transaction, I must now render my orders, touching the at-

tainment of the design of Congress, in passing the Secret act for

the disposition of the Navy.^

Col. William Bryan, Consul of Texas, and Naval Commissioner,

will immediately proceed to New Orleans, and in connection with

Col. James Morgan, also Naval Commissioner, employ all proper

and legal means to get possession of the National vessels, the Ship

Austin and Brig Wharton, likewise all the public Stores, arms,

equipments, and public property, of every description, belong-

ing to the Kepublic; holding the same subject to the future orders

of the Government of Texas. Should any resistance be made to

the orders of this Government, by any officer of the Navy, or by

other persons, you will apply, in the name of this Government, to

the Federal or other proper Authorities of the United States, and

demand of the same, such aid, as may be compatible with the rela-

tions of the two Countries, and the Laws of Nations

Post Captain E. W. Moore has had no authority from this Gov-

ernment, to Ship Men, appoint officers, enlist marines, or do any

other act, or thing, but to sail to the port of Galveston, and report,

or turn over the Command of the Navy to the Senior officer next

in rank present, and report in person to the Department. Since

the 29th October 1842, lie has had no Authority to enter into any

arrangements with Yucatan, nor could do so, without contumacy

to his superiors, or treason to his Country. The fact of his shipping

]nen, or enlisting or receiving, volunteer marines, with an inten-

tion of going out to Sea, without the orders, or sanction of his

Government, or contrary to order, on armed vessels, will clearly

render it a case cognizaijle by the Government Authorities of the

United States. His setting ^t "defiance the laws of his own Coun-

try'' to which he owes allegiance, is clearly treason.—When the

orders under which he received his "Sealed Orders" were suspended,

by the order for him to repair to Galveston, the "Sealed Orders"

were of no avail, and it is his duty to return them "Sealed" to the

Department: as the event authorizing the Seal to he broken has

not transpired, and can not now occur, under the Sanction of his

^The secret act to provide for the sale of the navy of Texas is printed
in Secret Journals of tJve Senate, Republic of Texas, 316.
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Grovemment.—His existence as an officer is derived from the organs

and functionaries, under the Constitution and Laws of Texas,

and he is bound to know and obey them. Not to obey, is "Unofficer-

like" to "resist'' them is "Mutiny,^' and to "defy" them is "trea-

son." For him to persist would he ''Piracy."

Should Post Captain E. W. Moore not forthwith render obedience

to the orders of the Department, with which you are furnished,

you will have published, in one or more Newspapers, in the City

of New Orleans my Proclamation, and forward one authentic

Cop^ with which you are furnished to the Hon. Ashbel Smith,

Charge d' Affaires of Texas, to France, at Paris, and also a Copy

to our Charge d' Affaires to the United States, the Hon. Isaac Van
Zandt. at Washington City.

It is deplorable for a Nation to be reduced to the dilemma of

either exposing the Shameless delinquencies, and most flagrant

crimes of her officers, or suifer herself to become the object of

contempt, or the victim, of insubordination and anarchy.

Our national humiliation is attributable to a few disorganizing

men, who seek power without Merit, and a few incendiary presses,

which are supported by such men, with the avowed design, of pros-

trating the Constitutional Officers, by Revolution. They shall fail.

—I suggest these facts, that you may meet and counteract their in-

fluence for the Nation's sake, and honor. I beseech you to intermit

nothing, until you have accomplished, the objects of the law, for

the prompt execution of which you were appointed

Should sickness, or any other cause, prevent the Commissioners,

from acting jointly, they, or either of them, may act in all things,

separately and singly, but not adversely.

Sam. Houston

[Endorsed.] No 3. In Mr Consul Kennedy's despatch marked

"Separate" of May 15th 1843.

KENNEDY TO ELLIOT^

Copif. British Consulate.

Galveston, May 15th 1843.

Sir,

Major Cocke, Collector of Customs at this port, called upon

me yesterday Morning, bearing a packet from President Houston,

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.
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•addressed to you, which I was given to understand the President

was desirous I should open, in the event of your absence.—Packets

containing similar enclosures—Major Cocke informed me—had

been simultaneously transmitted to the Ministers of France and of

the United States, resident at this place.

Permit me to refer you, for explanation of the course I deemed

it best to pursue, to the enclosed Copy of a letter to Major Cocke,

acknowledging the receipt of the packet and its enclosures

I beg to assure you, Sir, that it was with reluctance, I opened a

Communication addressed to you, notwithstanding the intimation

oi Major Cocke, who was aware of its contents. On this occasion,

however, the persuasion that I should be acting as you would wish

me to act under the circumstances, and that I should thereby

best consult the interests of the service, induced me to waive

my scruples,—More especially as the packet bore not the slightest

intimation of being other than of a purely public character.

William Kennedy

Captain Chas. Elliot. E. N.

[Endorsed.] No 4. In Mr Consul Kennedy's despatch marked

Separate of May 15. 1843.

KENNEDY TO COCKE^

Copy. British Consulate.

Galveston, May 15th 1843.

Sir.

I beg to acknowledge the receipt, through your hands, on yester-

day, of a packet transmitted by the President, General Sam Hous-

ton, to Captain Elliot, E. N., Her Britannic Majesty's Charge d'

Affaires in Texas, and, which in consonance with your suggestion,

—

as being agreeable to the wishes of the President, and otherwise ex-

pedient,—I opened in your presence.—The said packet contained

the following documents, viz:

—

No. 1. Copy of a Proclamation by the President of the Eepub-

lic, respecting Commodore Moore and the Texian Navy; dated

March 23rd 1843.

No. 2. Copy of a Despatch to Commodore Moore, from the De-

partment of War and Marine dated. March 21st 1843.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.
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So 3. Copy of Instr^LLctions issued by the President to the

Commissioners. James ]\I organ and AVilliam Bryan^ Esquires, dated

March 23rcl 1843.

Xos. 4. and 5. Two letters from the President to Captain El-

liot.^

By the return of the Hon, Anson Jones Secty of State, to the

Seat of Government, the President will have been apprized of the

absence of Captain Elliot from Galveston, he having proceeded

ro Xew Orleans, for the purpose of meeting his lady at Havannah.

on her way from England. Under the circumstances, and being in

the rec-eipt of no specific instructions, I shall feel it my duty forth-

^ith to transmit the several documents heretofore named and

ennumerated under cover to the British Consul at Xew Orleans,

for Captain Elliot ; and to forward, at the same time, copies of the

President's Proclamation, the Despatch to Commodore Moore, and

the Instructions to the Commissioners, Messrs. Morgan and Bryan,

to Her Majesty's Principal Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs.

Do me the favour to convey to the President the assurance of my
profound respect

William Kennedy.

H. B. M. Cousul at Galveston

Major Coc-ke, Collector of Customs.

P. S. Should Captain Elliot be in Xew Orleans on the arrival of

the Xew York Steamer,
( by which I shall forward the communica-

tions addressed to him by the President. ) it will not, of course, be

necessar}- for my Agent to transmit the documents I have men-

tioned to Her Majesty's Secretary of State.

[Endorsed.]. Xo. 5. In ^Ir Consul Kennedy's despatch, marked

'•'Separate'' of May loth. 1843.

'-For the first of these letters, see Elliot to Aberdeen, Xo. 10, May 29,

1843. The second is presiimablv Houston's letter of Mav 13. enclosed in.

Elliot to Aberdeen, Secret, June's, 1843. Pp. 311-312, 318-321.
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MOORE TO THE TEXAS TIMES^

Texas Sloop of War Austin,

Outside N". E. Pass, Miss.

April 19th, 1843.

]\Ir. F. Pinckard, Editor of the Texas Times,

Galveston, Texas.

In the event of my being declared by proelfTuiation by the Presi-

dent as a Pirate, or outlaw; you will please state over my signature

that I go down to attack the Mexican Squadron, with the consent

and full concurrence of Col. James Morgan, who is on board tMs

Ship as one of the Commissioners to carry into effect the secret act

of Congi'ess, in relation to the Navy, and who is going with me,

believing as he does that it is the best thing that could be done

for the country.

This Ship and the brig have excellent men on board, and the offi-

cers and men are all eager for the contest.—We go to make one

desperate struggle to turn the tide of ill luck that has so long been

running against Texas.

You shall hear from me again as soon as possible.

E. W. Moore.

ABERDEEN TO ELLIOT-

Draft. Foreign Office

Captain Elliot. May IStb. 1843.

2^0. 5.'^

Sir,

I have received your Letter of the 29th of March, in which you

inform me that a Texian Citizen named Kobinson had arrived in

Texas bearing to the President of Texas from General Santa Anna
Propositions of a peculiar but pacific character for the adjustment

of the Differences between the Two Countries

Those Propositions although calculated and perhaps intended to

iQuated by The Morning Star, May 18, 1843.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6. The concluding phrase of the last paragraph
only has been printed in Garrison, Diplomatic Correspondence of the lie-
puhlic of Texas, III, 1096; in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report, 1908, II.

^Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4 Aberdeen to Elliot have been omitted. No. 1 trans-
mitted correspondence with Ashbel Smitli on the Guadalupe and Monte-
zuma. No. 2 was an inquiry as to the fate of a Mr. Orr, and No. 3 in
legnrd to a Mr. J. Dickswn. No. 4 transmitted a despatch from Pakeii-
hani, descriptive of the war between Mexico and Texas.
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afFord an opening for further ISTegotiations, do not appear to Her

Majesty's Government to be of a very practical description, nor

fitted in their present shape to create more than a faint hope of a

satisfactory Settlement of those differences. But as Her Majesty's

Oovemment have received no Accounts from Mexico respecting

those Propositions, and are therefore unable to judge of the Mo-

tives which gave rise to them, or of the probable course which the

Mexican Government intend to pursue in furtherance of them, or

even of the authenticity of the Propositions themselves, which yet

appear uncertain, it is unnecessary, in the present stage of the

business, to indulge in any speculations respecting this Matter.

With regard to the project for the annexation of Texas to the

United States, which has formed the subject of some of your re-

cent communications to this Office, Her Majesty's Government do

not think it necessary to give you any Instructions at the present

moment on that subject, further than to desire that you will as-

sure the President of the continued interest which the British Gov-

ernment takes in the prosperity and independence of the State of

Texas ; and of their full determination to persevere in employing

their endeavours, whenever they see a reasonable hope of success,

to bring about an adjustment of the differences still existing be-

tween Mexico, and Texas, of which they so much lament the con-

tinuance.

KENNEDY TO ABERDEEN^

1^0. 3. British Consulate

Galveston, May 22nd. 1843.

My Lord,

I have the honor to enclose a return in duplicate of the prices of

Agricultural produce^ within the limits of the Galveston Con-

sulate, for the Quarter ending 31st March, 1843, together with a

Memorandum, in reference thereto, also in duplicate. Although I

was not empowered to enter upon the duties of My office until the

24th of February last, I have deemed it best to Commence these

periodical Eeturns, which will be continued in regular succession,

with the beginning of the year.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.

''Returns of corn and grain prices were frequently made by Kennedy,

but they are not printed here as they were merely copies of current prices

quoted in newspapers.
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From the observations in the ^'Memorandum/' it will be seen

that there is, at present, no export of Corn or Grain from this

Port, and that the Return, as a register of the prices of this Class

of domestic products, is almost valueless. Convenient lines of

Communication must be opened and adequate means of transport

provided before Galveston can possess a Corn Market worthy of the

name.

In conformity with the terms of Paragraph 14 of my "Instruc-

tions," I have given the prices for each week of the quarter ; at the

same time, I am inclined to think that, under the circumstances of

price and Supply, a Quarterly, or Monthly, average of Com and

Grain would be clear and more practically useful.

When in London during the Autumn of last year, I had the

pleasure of presenting to the Hydrographic Office, at the Ad-

miralty, some documents illustrative of the geography of Texas.

And it was suggested that I should endeavour to obtain for the

Department, a Copy of the Chart of the Coast used in the Texian

Navy, and drawn up from the observation of its Commodore. Since

my arrival at my post, I have endeavoured, not only to meet this

particular suggestion, but to collect such additional Materials as

might elucidate the general aspect and character of the Coast and

limitary lines of the Republic. On the 8th of this Month, I had the

satisfaction to transmit to Captain. Beaufort, by Her Majesty's Ship

of War Spartan, then lying olf Galveston, the following documents ;

viz:

—

1. General Chart of the Coast line of Texas, Compiled from

the Observations of the Texian Commodore, and from the Bound-

ary Survey made under the direction of the Commissioners of

Texas and the United States.

3. Tracings of the Boundary line between Texas and the United

States.

3. Large Plan of Galveston Island and Sketch.

4. Government Survey of the entrance to Galveston, recently

made.

5. Survey of the Entrance to Matagorda Bay, by the Texian

Commodore.

6. Running Survey of Corpus Christi and Aransas Bays.

7. Survey of the Rio Grande, from the Mouth to the Mexican

town of Mier.
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I hope to render these Materials, the Collection and Arrangement
of which have entailed no expense upon the Admiralt}', still

more complete, bnt I have reason to believe that the information

they embrace is nearly as ample and as reliable as can well be ob-

tained, until it shall please Her Majesty's Government to employ

a Vessel in Surveying the Coast.

William Kennedy.

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

Memorandum accompanying the Return of Corn and Grain

from the Port of Galveston, Texas, for the Quarter

ending March 31st. ISJ^S."-

Galveston. May 20th. 18-13.

The Com and Grain trade of Galveston is, at present, alto-

gether unimportant in a Commercial point of View.

The only kind of grain yet produced, in noticeable quantities,

throughout the lower section, or rich Cotton-growing region of

Texas, indeed throughout the limits of the Eepublic—is Maize or

Indian Corn
;
And, in consequence of the imperfect State of Com-

munication with the interior, but little of that finds its way into

the Galveston Market. N'early all the Com, and grain consumed

on the Island is imported from I^ew Orleans; whence, also, are

received Supplies of flour and potatoes, and even hay, oats, poultry

and pork.—Thus although Texas is one of the most fertile Coun-

tries on the American Continent, the cost of living is higher at

Galveston than in the United States or England.

Texas, admirably adapted to the raising of Stock, and the Culti-

vation of some of the more profitable products of tropical Agricul-

ture, will, in all probability, never rank as a Corn-exporting Coun-

try; as it is likely to prove sounder economy for the farmers to

exchange the great Staples of the Eepublic for the flour and small

grains of the Western States of the neighbouring Union, than to

incur the outlay of erecting an independent Supply.

There is no stock of Corn or grain in granary at Galveston.

From Xew Orleans the importation is regular, being graduated by

the wants of the population. Freight from New Orleans to Gal-

veston is twenty Cents per bushel, for Corn, and fifteen Cents per

bushel, for Oats.

F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.
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The only restriction on the grain trade is an import duty Amount-

ing to twenty Cents per bushel on Indian Corn and fifteen Cents

per bushel on Oats, with fifteen per Cent ad valorem on other

grains. In common with other Articles of import, subjected to tax-

ation, grain introduced from Countries with which Texas has no

Commercial Treaty, is liable to an additional duty of five per

Cent ad valorem. This duty is at present levied on imports from

tiie United States, owing to the non-renewal of the Treaty between

the two Eepublics.

Freights to England is three fourths of a penny per pound for

Cotton, hj which freights generally are governed.

Exchanges at Galveston are ruled by the New Orleans rates. For

the quarter ending March 31st. 1843, they ranged as follows, viz :

—

On the Dollar.

January 10th. 1843 101^ to 102^ Premium

25th 103J to 104.

February 14th 101| to 102i.

25th lOOi to lOOf

March lOth lOOJ to lOU.

24th 102 to 1021.

[Endorsed] No 2. In Mr Consul Kennedy's despatch of May 22d

1843.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

No. 10. New Orleans. May 29th. 1843.

My Lord.

Mr Consul Kennedy's Despatch and its Inclosures will have

placed Yonr Lordship in possession of the course taken by the Gov-

ernment of Texas with respect to Commodore Moore in command
of the Texian Vessels of War "Austin" and "Wharton" off the

coast of Yucatan ; and I beg to add to the papers forwarded on that

occasion the copy of a private letter from the President,^ the sub-

stance of which your Lordship will observe He has desired should

be communicated to tier Majesty's Government.

^F. 0., TexaS; Vol. 6.

^Houston to Elliot, May 6, 1843, in Garrison, Diplomatic Correspond-
ence of the Republic of Texas, III, 1089; in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report,

1908, II.
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The inclosiire No. 2 is a Newspaper^ containing accounts of an

affair between the Mexican Squadron and the Texian Vessels of

War on the 16th Inst, off Campeche. These reports are said to be

made by the Commodore, and his Brother acting as his Secretary,,

and I perceive no ground to question their genuineness

It is proper to draw Your Lordship's attention to the details

reported in these notes respecting the display of the English Ensign

at the main of the Mexican Steam Ship "Guadaloupe" previous to

the commencement of the action, and the immediate hoisting of the

English and American Ensigns at the fore of the Texian Ship

"Austin." JSTo further particulars concerning this feature of these

transactions are stated: I may add however, that I shall lose no-

time in forwarding a copy of this despatch to the Commander in

Chief on this Station, to whom I have already communicated the

movements, and situation of the Texian Vessels of War.

The recent proceedings of the ^lexican Government towards the

retaJven Texian prisoners, joined to these accounts from the Coast

of Yucatan and the measures of the President of Texas with re-

spect to Commodore Moore, are said to be occasioning considerable-

excitement in this City, and probably more or less, throughout the

whole Southern part of the Union.

Charles Elliot.

To the Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

ABEEDEEN TO KENNEDY"

Slave Trade No. 1. Foreign Office

Draft to Mr. Wm. Kennedy. May 30. 1843.

Sir,

I have to desire that you will do your utmost to obtain for the

Information of H. M's Govt answers to the following queries.

1. What is at present the amount of the Population of the State

in which you reside, and what the number of whites, and of col-

oured people forming that Population, distinguishing Males from

^Unidentified cutting.

^F. 0., Slave Trade, V"ol. 479. This instruction and Kennedy's answers
(September 5 and 6, 1843) have been printed in British Sessional Papers,
1844, Slave Trade Correspondence, Class C, but are here inserted as of un-
usual interest, Kennedy's reply of September 5, 1843, will be printed later

in its chronological order.
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Females, and Free People from Slaves:—What was the amount

of the population in the same State in the year 1832, and what

was the amount in the year 1837, distinguishing the particulars as

in the case of the present time ?

2. Is it supposed that any Slaves have been imported into the

Country within the last ten years, either direct from Africa or

from other quarters; if so, how many in each year?

3. Is the Slave protected by Law equally with a free man in

criminal cases?

4. What protection is there by Law to a Slave against ill-con-

duct on the part of his Master ?

5. Is the evidence of a Slave received in a Court of Law ?

6. Is the Slave well or ill-fed^ well or ill-treated ?

7. Is the Slave considered generally to enjoy as good health and

to live as long as a free person?

8. Is the Slave population considered to be on the increase, or

decrease, and from what causes?

9. Is the manumission of Slaves of common occurrence?

10. Have the Laws and Eegulations in respect to Slaves become

more or less favourable to them,, within the last ten years ?

11. Is there in the State in which you reside a party favourable

to the Abolition of Slavery? and what is the extent and Influence

of such party ? And is such Party on the increase or otherwise ?

12. Is there any difference in the eye of the Law between a free

white and free coloured man ?

13. Are free coloured men ever admitted to Offices of the State?

14. You will state whether you have drawn your answers from

Public Documents, or from private Information ; and you will state

whether any Periodical Census is taken of the Population within

the district of your Consulate, and what was the last period at

which it was taken.

You will be careful to make your reply to each question as concise

as possible.

I am, etc.

Aberdeen
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ABERDEEN TO ELLIOT^

Draft. Foreign Office

June 3, 1843.Captain Elliot.

No. 6.

Sir,

With reference to your Letter dated the 29th of March, inclosing

a printed Copy of the Propositions conveyed from General Santa

Anna to the President of Texas, by the medium of Mr Eobinson,

to which Letter I made a brief reply by my Despatch No. 5, of the

18th Ultimo, I have now to communicate to you a Copy of a

Despatch from Mr. Pakenham, dated the 23d of March/ relative

to those Propositions. They appear to have been made by Genl.

Santa Anna in the full hope, and even expectation, that they would

1)6 accepted by the Government of Texas as the basis of an adjust-

ment between Texas and Mexico.

You will perceive from that Despatch that General Santa Anna

has expressed his anxiety that Her Majesty^s Government would

employ their good offices in order to promote an arrangement be-

tween Mexico and Texas on the footing laid down in those Proposi-

tions.

Although Her Majesty^s Government do not intend to make

'themselves in any way a Party to this Transaction or to incur any

responsibility respecting it, they are nevertheless perfectly willing

to employ their good offices, in an entirely neutral and impartial

sense, in order to bring about a peaceful and equitable adjustment

of the differences existing between Texas and Mexico.

It appears to Her Majesty's Government that the propositions of

General Santa Anna go far to establish the virtual independence

t>f Texas, although by the first of those Propositions Texas is

required to acknowledge the Sovereignty of Mexico

Her Majesty's Government might have supposed that this latter

demand had been put forward pro forma, and, to save appearances,

were it not that they have learnt from Mr Pakenham, since his

arrival in England, that he does not consider it at all probable that

General Santa Anna will recede from this Demand, since, even

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6. The letter is unsigned.

^F. O., Mexico, 161, No. 21. This despatch was written by Pakenham
in Mexico, but carried in person to England. Doyle, as charge, was now
Jt\ie British diplomat at Mexico.
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were he personally disposed to do so, which he does not seem to be,

public opinion would effectually oppose him in carrying out that in-

clination.

It may therefore be taken for granted that the demand for the

recognition of the Sovereignty of Mexico will be adhered to by the

Mexican Government.

Under these circumstances it will be for the Grovernment of

Texas to determine whether the virtual independence of Texas

W'ould, in their opinion, be too dearly purchased at the price of the

nominal concession required of them, or whether it may not be well

to admit that concession, and to look to the future for the means

of removing that sole remaining badge of their dependence.

By adopting this course peace would be immediately secured, and

with peace, commerce and agriculture would flourish, and the

foundations of daily en creasing wealth and power would be at

once laid.

Difficulties will undoubtedly stand in the way of giving practical

effect to the propositions submitted to Texas by Mexico; and it

is very obvious that various Modifications will be required in those

Propositions before they can be carried into execution. But if both

Parties enter upon the task of endeavouring to bring about an ad-

justment with good faith, and prosecute that task with temper and

a full determination to bring it to a satisfactory issue. Her Maj-

esty's Government do not perceive in the terms of accommodation

proposed by Mexico any insurmountable obstacle to the conclusion

of an agreement on equitable grounds between the Parties.

Her Majesty's Government are not prepared to offer any advice

to the Government of Texas in this matter; but I repeat that they

will very readily lend their good offices, whenever called upon, in

order to facilitate the termination of the existing Dispute.

ABERDEEN TO ELLIOT^

Draft. F. 0. June 3d 1843.

Captain Elliot.

No. 7.

Sir.

I transmit to you herewith for your information, a Copy of a

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6. The letter is unsigned.
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despatch from H. M. Minister in Mexico^ respecting the recapture

of a Body of Texians who had been made prisoners in an "unsuc-

cessful attempt to penetrate into Mexico and had overpowered the

escort in charge of them, and also respecting the measures adopted

by Genl Santa Anna with regard to those prisoners.

The following information which I have received, when taken in

connexion with the general character of the relations subsisting be-

tween the United States and Texas, and the Critical Situation of

the latter, appears to be of a sufficient importance to warrant the

formality of a despatch. My informant, whose name I am not at

liberty to mention is, I believe, quite worthy of trust, besides being

a person of intelligence, and experience in the affairs of this Coun-

try.—I give his statement from a Minute which I took at the time.

"General Murphy"^— (says my informant)—^^the new Minister

from the United States to this Eepublic, has but lately returned

from a diplomatic Mission to the Republic of Colombia. He is

now entrusted with a Special Mission to Texas * * *

"The object of his present Mission is to submit Certain proposi-

tions, with a view to some agreement between the United States

and Texas. The ^^Tature of these propositions, or agreement, is not

specified. The only known ground of surmise is included in the

following observations, which dropped from him in conversation

with the Mayor and a deputation of Citizens, this Morning, be-

tween eleven and twelve o'clock.

"Texas"—General Murphy remarked—"was virtually independ-

ent, and the bombast of Mexico, like that of Spain, anticipated

Matters that could never be accomplished. The border Warfare

between Mexico and Texas was an evil which the United States

would stop; and, in so doing, they would act in accordance with

the sentiments of every other Civilized Nation. Texas should be,

^F. 0., Mexico, 161, No. 11, March 22, 1843.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 10. The letter is here placed in correct chronolog-

ical order, though transmitted by Kennedy to Aberdeen, May 8, 1844.

^W. S. Murphy.

KENNEDY TO ELLIOT^

[Enclosure]

Copy.

British Consulate

Galveston, June 5th 1843.

Sir.
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and, indeed, was independent, and all that could now be desired

was a Security to emigrants to people the Country. The inhabit-

ants of Texas wanted emigrants like themselves—and no others

—

Men speaking their own language, and subject to their own Cus-

toms and laws—'Security would be given to such emigrants.—Our

friends on the other side of the Water might be ''much irritated

and disappointed" (these latter, says my informant, are not the ex-

act words, but, in meaning, they are substantially the same)—
^^ai the Matter, hut what do ive care for that? As a Virginian

Member of Congress observed, in one of his Speeches at a former

day—"For what reason should we ask for independence, when we

are actually independent—what care we for that puny little Isle

I examined my informant as to the exact impression made upon

him by the Minister's tone and style of expression, when alluding

to Great Britain:—his decided feeling, (he replied) was that they

were unfriendly.

When, with this information is coupled the recent introduction of

a South Carolina politician (Mr. Legare)^ into the Cabinet of

the United States, in the room of Mr Webster, and the attempt to

displace Mr. Everett as American Minister to England,- I am led

to infer, Sir, that the observations of General Murphy, as reported

to me, may not be wholly unworthy of your consideration.

General M. has, I understand, announced his intention to pro-

ceed to Washing-ton on the Brazos, by way of Virginia Point, to-

morrow. William Kennedy.

Captain Elliot. E. N.

Her Majesty's Charge d' Affaires (at Galveston)

Copy. British Consulate

Galveston June 7th. 1843.

Sir,

In reference to my Communication (No 3) of the 5th Inst., I

beg to state that, according to information, more recently received.

General Murphy was accredited to Guatemala, instead of Colombia

^Hugh Swinton Legare, a prominent lawyer, writer and politician of

South Carolina. He was attorney-general of the United States under
President Tyler and on Webster's resignation of the Secretaryship of

State, conducted the duties lof that office for a short period in 1843.

{Appleton, Cyclopedia of Amer. Biog., Ill, 677.)

^It was planned to have Webster replace Everett, but the latter clung

to his position.
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I have been further informed that he is an able engineer, much
trusted by his Government, and that, during his Southern Mission,

he made a Survey of the Country bordering on the river San Juan
and the lake of Xicaragua. with a view to connect the Atlantic and

Pacific Oceans bv Cleans of a Canal Communication.

William Kennedy
Captain Elliot. E. X.

[Endorsed]. Enclosure Xo. 2. In Mr Consul Kennedy's despatch

Xo. 7, dated Mav Sth, 1844.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEX^

Secret. Galveston

June Sth. 18-13.

My L-ord.

The Inclosure Xo 1 is the Copy of a private letter addressed to

me by General Houston, wliich it is proper that I should transmit

for the information of Her Majestrs Government. In his posi-

tion, he necessarily could not request nor directly authorize me to

forward this communication of his private views to Your Lordship.

But the subject of the letter is entirely political, and whilst I am
sensible that these opinions have been communicated to me in the

confidence of friendship, I am also persuaded that General Houston

must have felt that they would be made known to Your Lordship,

and I am equally satisfied that it would be unnecessar}' and unsuit-

able on my part to do more than mention my own earnest request

that they should only be used for the private information of Her

MajestA^^'s Government. Your Lordship will readily conceive that

in the state of feeling in tliis and the neighbouring Country, on

such topics, they could not be publicly adverted to, without conse-

quences of the highest inconvenience.

It will be noticed that General Houston has alluded to some

Xewspaper attacks to which He has been exposed both in this

Country- and the United States with respect to sec-ret engagements

^rith the British Government. And I should mention that the last

time I conversed with him He touched upon these observations and

strictnres, at least as to the feelings of. Her Majest}'^"s Government

upon the existence of Slavery in Texas, for it had been alleged

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.
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amongst other things that Her Majesty's Government had required

the abolition of Slavery in one of the South American Kepublics as

the price of it's Mediatorial Offices ^'ith another; And it was

thence argued that the same Concession was required from Texas^-

I told General Houston that the sincere desire of Her Majesty's-

Government to put an end to the Contest between Mexico and this>

Country had been frequently declared; that I was sure He would.^

understand that no conditions were intended^ which were not ex-

pressed; and that the subject of Slavery in Texas had never been-'

mentioned to me in any despatch from Her Majesty's Govemmenty.

or by Avord of mouth. As to the feelings of the British Government,

and Nation upon the Subject of Slavery, abstractly considered^

which seemed to be the foundation of these speculations of the

press, they were well known to the whole World, and it was quite

unnecessary to enter upon that topic; But as He had alluded to this

Institution in Texas, I could not help expressing my own opinion

that it's existence was a Subject of deep regret.

General Houston did not conceal his own opinions to the same
effect, and added, that unless the propitious Moment of a Settle-

ment of the difficulties with Mexico should be taken for devising

some mode of getting rid of the Mischief, He foresaw that Texas
would sooner or later become the "impound'' of the Black and
Coloured population of the United States, to the incalculable in-
jury of it's well understood interests and happiness.

Another point which will require a few words of comment is-tfie

allusion to the case of the Prisoners taken at Mier in whose, behalf
I wrote to Mr Packenham at General Houston's request. I for-
warded Mr Packenham an extract from General Houston's letter

to me upon the Subject, in which I understood him to reason that
the Prisoners were entitled to the benefit of the Capitulation with
the Mexican Commanding Officer, though He did not deny that the
movement beyond the Pio Grande had been made upon their own:
responsibility.

It seemed to me that his purpose in saying that was to free him-
self from the imputation of using language of aversion to irregular
incursionary Warfare in his Communications with foreign Govern-
ments, whilst He sanctioned it in his orders to his own officers:
But I certainly never supposed that General Houston intended or •
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wished that any representations of that kind should be made to

General Santa. Aiia.

The accompanying extract from General Honston^s letter upon

the Subject will probably convince Your Lordship that his reason-

ing was addressed to me for representation to Her Majesty's Min-

ister at Mexico^ and I am sure that it will be a source of great sur-

prise and concern to Mr Packenham, and entirely contrary to the

[his?] wishes, that any other use has been made of it. General

Houston's present remarks are founded upon declarations nnade by

Prisoners recently released through the good offices of the American

Minister at Mexico which have found their way into the public

press, to the effect that General Thompson shewed them the Copy

of General Houston's letter to me communicated to him in confi-

dence by Mr. Packenham. It appears very probable that Mr. Pack-

enham conferred with General Thompson upon the cause of these

unfortunate people, but it is .quite unnecessarv^ to say that I am
certain He never authorized the exhibition of General Houston's

letter to these Texian Prisoners, or much less, gave the least room

for the extremely unjust and injurious insinuation that General

Houston wished to prejudice these prisoners in the sight of the

Mexican Government.

Mr. Packenham's whole course in Mexico, with respect to the

Government of Texas, and any Citizens of the Eepublic who fell

into the hands of the Mexicans was marked by unvarying Consid-

eration, and kindness, often too, as it is well known at considerable

pecuniary Sacrifice, and it may be depended upon that any com-

munication He might have had with General Thompson upon this

subject, was made in a spirit of perfect appreciation of General

Houston's Motives, and of a cordial disposition to meet his wishes.

I shall take occasion to say this to the President, and to add that

I find it easier to believe that these released prisoner's misconceived

General Thompson, than that He afforded them any ground to mis-

represent General Houston's plain and kind purposes on their be-

half. It remains to be hoped that there has been some mistake as

to the representation that General Thompson shewed any of these

released prisoners a Communication He had received from Mr
Packenham in a confidential way.

I have taken the liberty of forwarding the original of General

Houston's private letter to me, because it does not appear to me to
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be desirable to retain it in this Country, in case of accident to my

papers.

Charles Elliot.

I abstain from offering any opinion upon the probable turn of

affairs as respects this Country, in the present crisis, because with

all things in a deplorable and helpless condition here, it is plain

that results must depend chiefly on events, or E'egociations beyond

my sphere of observation

Charles Elliot

The Eight Honorable

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

HOUSTON TO ELLIOT^

[Enclosure.] Washington May 13th 1843.

(Private.)

My Dear Captain

We are much excluded here from important intelligence, among

which may be reckoned the thrilling events passing in your Com-

munity of Galveston. We occasionally receive papers from the

United States, and from them learn that they are taking a very

deep interest in the Welfare of Texas—so far at least as the pa-

triotic effusions of editors go. I may be mistaken, but I think the

course pursued there is not difficult of comprehension.

For Texas not to be completely subservient to the United States,

is regarded by them as rebellious and ungrateful. Their political

parties have not yet determined what capital is to be made out of

us; and the Southern section at least, with a hope of ultimate an-

nexation, is unwilling that any change from our present attitude

should take place. They perceive that, if a pacification is brought

about between Texas and Mexico, by England, we must know that

it will result more from generous feeling than from a hope of

pecuniary gain, and will necessarily inspire, on the part of Texas,

feelings of kindness arising from a sense of obligation. The quid

pro quo of five Millions cannot be the desideratum with England

now, for the time for that has passed by^

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

^This refers to the plan whereby Texas was to assume five millions of

the Mexican debt if Great Britain was instrumental in securing recognition
of Texas by Mexico.
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If England produces a pacification between this Country and

Mexico, she will thereby secure a friend on the gulf whose con-

tiguity to the United States, in the event of a War, would not be

desirable to that country. All movements on the part of the U.

States would seem to indicate that they have an eye to a rupture

at some period not remote. But I need not suggest this to a

gentleman of your observation. The genius as well as the excitabil-

ity of that people, united to a bold and generous daring, impel

them to war. Their love of Dominion, and the extension of their

territorial limits, also, is equal to that of Eome in the last ages

of the Commonwealth and the first of the Caesars.

The Continent of North America is regarded by the people of

the U. States as their birth-right—to be secured by policy, if they

can, by force if they must. Heretofore Texas has been looked upon

as an appendage to the U. States. They cannot realise that we
now form two Nations. Therefore every act done in reference to

us by any power of which they are jealous, or for which they do

not cherish kind national feelings, is regarded as an unauthorized

interference and necessarily provokes their denunciation.

This is the case at present in relation to England, British in-

fluence and every ridiculous humbug which their crazed imagina-

tions can start, are conjured up and marshalled in fearful array

for the purpose of alarming Texas, exciting disorder, producing

disrespect towards England, and compelling us to look to the U.

States as our only hope of political salvation. They are willing

to see Texas tantalized by every annoyance until, in a fit of despair,

she is compelled to identify herself with them, and by some act of

good fortune become incorporated with them—though they cannot

precisely point out the means.

In support of this opinion, the rejection of the late treaty with

us, by the U. States Senate, to my mind, was not at all an equiv-

ocal expression of the notions of that Country in relation to Texas.

It was assigned as a reason, though not in debate, that the Condi-

tion of Texas was such as to render them reluctant to form closer

connexions with us than those already established by their recog-

nition of our independence, and such provisions as they could maJce

in our favor by Law. Such reasons, I presume, have never been

uttered concerning any other nation, since the establishment of

Hayti. The humility of our condition, however, compels us to
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pocket this; as the U. States regard us, from their expressions,

nothing more than a pocket attached to their outer robe.

I shall look with amusing interest to the journals of the TJ.

States for a formal denunciation of the Executive for having en-

forced the law requiring a discriminating duty upon articles im-

ported from countries not in treaty with us. It will not be the

law or people of Texas, I apprehend, that will be blamed, but the

Executive for having the audacity to enforce the law against them.

But so long as Texas does exist, I am determined, that if I should

not be so fortunate as to conciliate good opinion, I will at least

evince to the world that, so far as any merit may attach to the

execution of her laws, so far as I have the power, I shall be en-

titled to it.

Texas has once evinced a willingness, amounting to unexampled

unanimity, to become annexed to the United States, AVe sought

the boon with humble supplications. In this posture we remained

in the outer porch of their Capital for many months. Our solici-

tations were heard with apathy. Our urgency was responded to

with politic indifference. Apprised of this, I directed our Minister

to withdraw the proposition. This I did from a sense of national

dignity. Since that time Texas has not renewed the proposition;

and the United States now, in order to get it into an attitude be-

fore them that would be creditable to them, desire no doubt that

Texas should again come forward soliciting the boon. They have

not as yet received such indications as they desire. If it were the

case, it would place the subject before the poli[ti]cal parties of the

U. States, in a position different from that in which it now rests.

In that event there would be but one question to ask: Shall the

x4.nnexation of Texas to the U. States take place ? As it is, there

are two: First, Is Texas willing to be annexed? Second, in that

case, shall it be annexed ? This renders the matter more compli-

cated and produces feelings of excitement and irritibility that in-

duce the leading journals of certain sections in that Country to

traduce and vilify the authorities of Texas in a very unbecoming

manner. This I presume is done by [way?] of whipping prom-

inent Men into the list of petitioners.

Again, if war between the U. States and England should take

place, and the independence of Texas not be recognized by Mexico,

or not annexed to the U. States, under the excitement and commo-



324 The Southwestern Historical Quarterly

tion which would exist in a state of war, the contiguity of a

situation united with kindred inhabitants, would, without form of

law\ amalgamate us with the U. States. If however the independ-

ence of Texas should be recognized through the medium of English

influence, such a result could never take place. If the U. States

upon the Gulf can maintain a parallel influence to that which they

may establish on the Pacific, Texas will become a cantonment for

the pioneers in the van of that mighty advance whose political

power will not halt short of the isthmus of Darien. If Texas is

sustained as an independent N'ation, it will necessarily retard the

consummation of schemes which, though now but in embryo, will

at some future period be developed by much human suffering.

It is not selfishness in me to say that I desire to see Texas occupy

an independent position among the Nation's of the earth, to which

she is justly entitled by her enterprise, daring, sufferings and pri-

vations. The blood of her martyrs has been sufficient to give

cement to the foundation of a great nation, and if her independence

be steadily [speedily?] recognized by Mexico, heaven will direct

and carry out her destiny to a glorious consummation. Every -day

that it is delayed affords to demagogues a theatre for mischief, and

when repose should refresh her, factious political incendiaries are

marching about with their torches of discord. I am wear}^ of this

state of things. All that Texas requires, to make her healthy and

vigorous is a respite from execution.

I cannot believe that all this fustian about British influence and

abolition in Texas, has its origin with the Government of the U.

States. But in a Country where the Chief of it is elective in ninety

nine cases out of one hundred, I presume the Administration de-

rives complexion from the Clamours, or what is supposed to be

the feelings, of the people. If so, as far as Southern influence can

be exercised upon the Administration of that Govt, it is highly

probable that the Agency of England, exercised in behalf of this

Country would not receive a hearty cooperation from all the agents

which that Government may have employed. Of Mr Tyler my
opinion is too exalted to think that he would sanction a course so

much at war with the avowed wishes of that Government—its nat-

ural Character and the rights of humanity.

If the prisoners who have been released by Santa Anna have

reported truly the conduct of Genl. Tliompson in Mexico, he could
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have had but one object in view, and that was, by the return of

those gentlemen to create a strong prejudice against the representa-

tive of Her Britannic Majesty in Texas, as well as the Executive,

who was understood to be on terms of personal friendship with him

and entertaining at the same time for his character and capacity

the highest respect. If Gen. Thompson really has stated, as repre-

sented, confidentially, to every prisoner with whom he conversed,

that Mr Pakenham, enjoining secrecy, had shown him a letter from

yourself, stating that I had written to you desiring your interfer-

ence—representing that the Mier prisoners had gone into the

enemy's territory in violation of My orders, and that I hoped that

Santa Anna would show them mercy etc. and if Gen. Thompson

gave these things such a coloring as represented, the object is too

plain. If Mr. Pakenham showed to Gen. Thompson any letter, it

must certainly have been showTi under, as he himself declared,

injunctions of secrecy, and by violating these injunctions he acted

in bad faith. Again—If its facts had been as represented by Gen.

Thompson, they could not have prevented Mr Pakenham, as a

gentleman, from exercising any influence in behalf of humanity:

which, as an individual, he might possess. I regret that Gen.

Thompson has placed himself in the attitude he occupies. By his

o^vn showing he was unauthorised, and I much fear that neither the

act nor the motives will find a justification in truth. Mr. Paken-

ham will certainly regard it as an act of discourtesy on the part

of Gen Thompson, if not one of faithlessness; Being fortified as

I am, and being assured, from your intelligence, and feelings, that

you would pursue no course, but one induced by the highest princi-

ples of honor and generosity, I am very much at ease.

I regret that our friends in the U. States should have any un-

easiness on the Subject of Santa Anna's propositions. If we were

to judge from the Newspapers, as well as from the private Corre-

spondence which I receive, we might conclude that there was dan-

ger of my being favorable to retrocession to Mexico; and as for the

subject of Texas becoming a British Colony and abolition in Texas,

and all that, they have been exclusively confined, so far as I can

learn, to Galveston^ and Houston. I have never understood that

they have been discussed in any other sections of the Eepublic. So

I can neither sympathize with the distresses of our friends, nor can

I entertain commiseration for their ridiculous credulity.
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From our Charge d' Affaires in Europe, we have had no recent

advices. I am exceedingly anxious to hear what course Her

Majesty's Government has taken on the subject of the Protest, as

well as the course of the French Governmt.

I would be very happy to hear from you by every safe opportu-

nity; and, if any thing important, by express

I hope you have had a very satisfactory interview with Doctor

Jones, Secretary of State, relative to the consistent policy of this

Government.

Sam. Houston

Captain Charles Elliot.

[Endorsed.] Inclosure No 1 in Captain Elliot's despatch "Secret"

to the Earl of Aberdeen. Galveston June 8. 1843.

HOUSTON TO ELLIOT^

[Enclosure]. Extract of a letter from General Houston to Captain

Elliot marked "Private" and dated at.

Washington Jany. 24th. 1843.

^

"In relation to this Subject I am constrained to solicit the

kindness of you should it not be out of the line of your official

Action, that you would address Her Majesty's Minister at Mexico,

and bad as matters are, make this representation.

"It is true that the Men went without orders ; And so far as that

was concerned the Government of Texas was not responsible, and

the Men thereby placed themselves out of the protection of the rules

of War. This much is granted. But the Mexican Officers by pro-

posing terms of Capitulation to the Men relieved them from the

responsibility which they had incurred, and the moment that the

Men surrendered in accordance with the proposals of Capitulation

they became prisoners of War, and were entitled to all immunities

as such. Upon this view of the Subject I base my hopes of their

Salvation, if it should be speedily presented, thro' the agency of

Her Majesty's Minister to the Mexican Government. Should it be

proper to do so I feel assured that your kind offices will not be

wanting in an early application upon the Subject.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 6.

^See The Quarteely, XVI, 789, note 2.
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Tliis view of the Subject seems to me the only feasible one which

lias presented itself to my mind"

Copy.

Charles Elliot.

{Endorsed.] Inclosure Xo 2 in Captain Elliot's despatch "Se-

cret" to the Earl of Aberdeen. Galveston. June 8th. 1843.
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NOTES AND FRAGMENTS

The Whereabouts or Sam Houston ix 1834.—Historians

and biographers have been puzzled as to the whereabouts of Hous-

ton in 1834. Lester in The Life of Sam Houston^ which appeared

anonymously in 1855, gives no events in his life between the con-

vention at San Felipe de Austin in 1833 and the militarv^ affairs

of 1835; pp. 65-70 cover the period. Yoakum, History of Texas

(1856), I, 311, discusses the part he played in the San Felipe

meeting; nothing farther is given until events in 1835; see I,

328, 350. Crane, Life and Select Literary Remains of Sam Hous-

ton of Texas (1885), I, 49-54, shows the same deficiency, as does

Bruce, Life of General Houston (1901), 85-93. Williams, Sam
Houston and the War of Independence in Texas (1895), 92-93,

does worse than the rest for he garbles the story by placing events

of 1835 in 1834. Garrison, Texas (1903), 195-196, makes this

guarded statement, "Sam Houston, who seems to have left Texas

soon after the convention of 1833, and to have returned just

previous to the consultation [1835], and who was a delegate from

Nacogdoches, offered a resolution instructing the. committee to

declare in favor of the constitution of 1824." Barker, Jackson

and the Texas Revolution in The American Historical Review, XII,

802-803, says: "He did attend the Convention of April, 1833^

and the Constitution there adopted for the proposed state of Texas

. . . was largely his work. But his life is a blank to history

for the next two years, and it is not till past the middle of 1835,

when the revolution was well under way, that we find him at

Nacogdoches, speaking at a public meeting. . . . The writer

has examined hundreds of letters and public documents, both

Texan and Mexican, on the development of the revolution, has

collected with, few exceptions the proceedings of all the public-

meetings and revolutionary committees, and has found nowhere a

single reference to General Houston.''

The last writer who has added his testimony is Justin H..

Smith, The Annexation of Texas, which work appeared in 1911.

On page 28 he says, "Let us look now at Houston. He first be-

came prominent in Texan Affairs at the head of a committee

appointed to draw a State Constitution, the acceptance of which
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by Mexico would have prevented the rehellion that soon occurred.

In October, 1835, he wrote, ^Our principles are to support the

Constitution (of 1824) and down with the usurper!!' Not he,

but Anson Jones, appears to have set the ball of independence

rolling. In fact no trace of him is to be discovered for more than

two years during the critical stage of the budding revolution, and

when he reappears, it is not at the principal seat of the movement.

Hundreds of Texan and Mexican documents bearing on the gene-

sis of the rebellion have been searched for his name without suc-

cess.'' In this the author has but followed Barker's article.

The mystery of Houston's whereabouts in 1834 is dispelled by

Mrs. Jefferson Davis in the life of her husband. The exact title

is Jefferson Davis, ex-President of the^ Confederate States of

America, A Memoir hy his Wife. It was copyrighted in 1890.

In I, 156-157, this passage occurs, "Horace and Hannibal Bonney,

twin brothers, who enlisted in the First Dragoons in 1833, marched

to Jefferson Barracks, which was then an outpost on the extreme

frontier. After a winter spent there the troops were ordered to

Fort Gibson, Ark., and on their arrival were welcomed by a body

of five hundred or more Indian Warriors in the full glory of their

native costumes. At their head rode a man, over six feet in

height, dressed all in buckskin, and when Horace Bonney inquired

who this white warrior was, with all these red men, he was in-

formed that it was the redoubtable Captain Sam Houston,"

Thomas Maitland Marshall.

The Texas Republican.—Two notes on the Texas Republican

have previously appeared in The Quarterly.^ The interest that

attaches to this pioneer among newspapers in Texas and the in-

formation contained in the extracts below will, perhaps, excuse

this additional note. These extracts add to our information con-

cerning the issues for August 14, 21 and 28, 1819, and throw

some light on the condition of Texas at that time, the motives that

animated Dr. Long and the kind of appeal he made for help.

The Mississippi Republican (Natchez) of August 31, 1819,

says "We have just received the first number of the Texas Repub-

lican, from which a few extracts are given in this day's paper."

^The Quarterly, VI, 162-5; VII, 242-3.
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Army of Texas.

Camp Freeman, June 22, 1819.

On taking the command of the army of the Eepnblic, which has

been vested in him by the voice of the representatives of the peo-

ple, the Commander-in-Chief cannot refrain from expressing his

sensibility to so distinguished a token of public confidence. Aware
of the responsibility which this important station imposes, it is

with diffidence of his own abilities, but with no distrust of the

goodness of the cause in which these troops are levied, nor with

any doubt of its ultimate success, that he enters upon its duties:

he pledges himself to fulfill them to the utmost of his power.

From his comrades in arms he expects a ready co-operation in

those measures which he may deem it expedient to adopt to bring

the approaching contest to a happy issue. It is not necessary for

him to appeal to a patriotism which has already evinced itself in

rallying round the standard of Independence, or to add stimu-

lants to a zeal which shrinks from no sacrifice, and which no
danger can appal. He trusts that no individual under his com-

mand will tarnish the character of a soldier by the commission

of any act which may call for his animadversion; but he owes

it to himself, to his country, and to the reputation of the army,

to declare his determination rigidly to punish every violation of

the rules and articles of war. The very existence of an army, not

less than the well-being of the country whose banner it upholds,

and whose rights it professes to vindicate, imperiously requires the

strictest preservation of discipline. Under this conviction, the

Commander-in-Chief will feel himself compelled to inflict the full

measure of justice on every offender. The rewards which await

those who faithfully persevere to the end, conjoined with that sense

of honor which should be cherished in every soldier^s bosom, will

operate as a sufficient incentive to all who are capable of appre-

ciating their own interests, or who have at heart their country's

welfare, to pursue with undeviating step the path of duty.

James Long, Commander-in-Chief.

General Order.

Head-Quarters, Nacogdoches,

June 25, 1819.

All officers of the army of the Eepubiic of Texas who are not

otherwise ordered, will, without delay, repair to Head-quarters.

Those failing to comply will be stricken from the rolls of the army.

James Long, Commonder-in-Chief.

^

^The "General Order" was followed by the article from the Tecoas Repub-
lican printed in The Quarteely, VI, 163-5.
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The Port Gibson Correspondent of September 25, 1819, con-

tained the following "from the Texas Republican, Aug. 21":

On the 19th inst. the detachment under the command of Gen.

Long met a Spanish woman 40 miles west of Nacogdoches, by the

name of M'aria El Garma Freminia. She was found in a state of

starration, and comparatively naked. She states that she left

Labadie a few weeks ago in company with two men, both soldiers

in the service of the king of Spain, and not knowing the road,

they wandered about in the woods for many days in search of pro-

vision, but without finding any. One of the men turned off by
himself to look for water, but he never returned to them, and they

supposed that he must have died. The other man and this woman
journeyed on but a short distance when he died for want of pro-

vision, and she began to expect the same fate; however, she finally

fell into the main road leading from Labadie to this place, and
subsisted on a pole cat in the woods until she met with general

Long's detachment, from whence she has been sent to this place.

She also adds, that when she left Labadie, that place was in a

very unpleasant situation—that garrison being in a state of total

defection, having in it not more than twenty soldiers at the time

of her leaving the place, the most of whom watched only for an
opportunity to run away ; that they are not well supplied with pro-

visions; that the Comanche Indians, their eternal enemies, harrass

them and keep them continually annoyed on every side, so that

they cannot go more than one mile in safety from the place. The
commandant of St. Antonio cannot assist them.

In the issue of September 18th, the Port Gibson Correspondent

published the extract from the Texas Republican, printed in The
Quarterly, VII, 242-3, and credited it, and the notice "To Set-

tlers" below, to the Texas Republican of August 28th:

To Settlers.

The army being now on a march to the Brasses, and a fort con-
templated to be erected at that place, it will give the utmost se-

curity to families wishing to settle in this country. From the
great facility of getting lands, the quality of which cannot be ex-
celled, as well as the mildness of the climate, it holds forth the
greatest inducements at this time to persons to settle; and as the
army will always be one hundred miles at least in advance of the
settlements, it will give them the fullest protection.
Now is the time, as the first settlers will certainly have the

most choice lands, in greater abundance, and on much better
terms, than those who wait to see our troubles over without shew-
ing a disposition to effect the settlement of the country or con-
tributing in any manner to advance the cause.

E. W. Winkler.
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BOOK REVIEWS

Statesmen of the Old South, or From Radicalism to Conservative

Revolt. By William E. Dodd, Ph. D., Professor of American

History in the University of Chicago. (New York: The Mac-

millan Company, 1911. Pp., 235.)

The substance of these studies of Jefferson, Calhonn, and Davis

was originally presented, the author tells us, in the form of popular

lectures. The sub-title indicates the general trend of the book.

Jefferson, the idealist, the organizer of a political party which

refused to adopt his political philosophy, except in part, was

succeeded by Calhoun, the nationalist, who was forced by circum-

stances into a particularist attitude; and Calhoun, in turn, was

succeeded by Jefferson Davis, who was identified by earliest

environment with the cotton planting and slavery interests of the

lower South. These interests were now on the defensive, and

therefore gathered about them all the forces of social and consti-

tutional conservatism, just as the great corporate interests of our

own day have done.

The author constantly keeps in view the influence of the West,

of the frontier, of which in a sense all three men were products,

and his comments on this influence are always illuminating. We
cannot always agree with his conclusions, as, for instance, those

on the nature of the development of pro-slavery sentiment during

the twenty years following Jefferson's retirement from the presi-

dency. It would seem, in this case, that Professor Dodd does not

sufficiently appreciate the powerful economic forces that impelled

the South to the extension of cotton planting and its accompani-

ment, negro slavery. The author points out that the breakdown

of the early alliance between the South and West, due partly to

Clay's "American system," partly to Jackson's dickering for

eastern support after his break with Calhoun, was what first forced

the South into a particularist attitude. Calhoun's rupture with

Jackson he regards as a fatal thing both for the great South

Carolinian and for the South; for it drove Calhoun, who in the

nullification episode had been striving to hold his state in check,

back u.pon the necessity of consolidating the South upon the pro-
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slavery basis. Professor Dodd believes that "the injustice and

bad faith of a personal and despotic party leader^' (Jackson) was

responsible for Calhoun's particularistic attitude, and that had

tlie latter^s ambition to become president been gratified, secession

and civil war might not have come. A similar fatality overtook

Jefferson Davis, who, though a secessionist in 1850, had changed

his views and remained a nationalist until Mississippi seceded;

for his imperialistic scheme of a southern railroad to the Pacific

and the acquisition of Cuba, Panama, and a route to the Orient

was blocked by Douglas in the interest of the northwestern rail-

ways ; the Kansas bill followed, reopening the slavery question,

divorcing the two wings of the Democratic party and hastening

the revolt of the South in 1860-61.

Though not entirely immune from criticism, these brief and

sympathetic studies sum up in a clear and attractive fashion the

principal forces which carried the South and the Democratic

party along its course from radical leadership in 1800 to con-

servative reaction in 1860. Chas. W, Eamsdell.

Winning the Southwest: A Story of Conquest. By Glenn D.

Bradley. (McClurg. Chicago, 1912. 12mo; Pp. 225; ill.)

Under the above title the author groups sketches of Kit Carson,

Ptobert F. Stockton, "Uncle Dick" Wootton, Sam Houston, Stephen

W. Kearny, George A. Custer and John C. Fremont with a view of

weaving "about their lives in a somewhat coherent manner some

of the conspicuous facts of the struggle in which the Southwest

was won for the Union'' (preface). The fragmentary character

of the treatment of the subject is further emphasized by the absence

of any grouping of the sketches. The treatment is popular in style,

and the principal service the book can render will be to introduce

the heroes to readers who have not yet made their acquaintance

from larger works.

In the sketch of Sam Houston the author has committed a

number of regrettable errors. Passing by misspellings and minor

inaccuracies in the statement of historical facts, one cannot over-

look the wholesale condemnation of Mexican government in Texas

(113, 116) ; nor the statement that the convention which assembled
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at San Felipe on April 1, 1833, was "the first deliberative body

of Anglo-Saxons that ever assembled within the limits of the

ancient Spanish-American empire" (114) ; nor that Stephen F.

Austin suffered "several months of loathsome imprisonment" only

(116) ; nor that Houston had anything to do with restraining the

anger of the colonists because of Austin^s imprisonment (116)

;

nor that "Houston alone appears to have been able to foresee

[December, 1835] that the fight for independence had only begun"

(120) ; nor that Houston's statesmanship saved the honor of his

government (141). Travis's famous letter is emasculated by

omitting, without any indication of the fact, the sentence which

Travis underscored, namely, "'"T shall never surrender or retreat"

(123). And the following inscription from the Alamo monument,

"Thermopylae had her messenger of defeat, but the Alamo had

none," is marred by the omission of the words "of defeat" (124).

The account of the battle of San Jacinto is embellished with a

number of ominous sayings attributed to General Houston (133,

134, 135) ; and the apochryphal story of the destruction of Vince's

bridge is made the key to the strategy of the fight (135, 136).

Finally, the author's imagination supplied the Texan soldiers with

revolvers (137). , E. W. Winkler.

Guide to the Study and Reading of American History. By

Edward Channing, Albert Bushnell Hart, and Frederick J. Turner,,

professors in Harvard University. (Boston and London: Ginn

& Co., 1912. Pp., xvi, 650. The present volume is a great im-

provement over the first edition, which was published in 1896.

It has been brought down to date; it gives references to more

available books; and it enlarges the sections on social, economic,

and industrial history, making them especially valuable. Professor

Turner, who was not connected with the earlier edition, has con-

tributed many valuable references to wTitings on Western history.

The whole work, however, has been done over, and will be found

very helpful to students and teachers in every field of American

history.

Chas. W. Eamsdell.
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NEWS ITEMS

For seyeral years historical scholars and patriotic societies have

been try-ing to induce Consr^^ss to erect a fireproof building for

housing the national archives. At present the archives are scat-

tered in the different government buildings in Washington and

elscAvhere. They are frequently difficult of access, and are in some

cases far from safely housed. It seems probable that the present

session of Congress can be persuaded to act. Readers of The
Quarterly can aid in this measure by writing to their local

representatives and endorsing the plan. Hon. Morris Sheppard

is chairman of the Committee on Buildings and Grounds. Dr.

Waldo G. Leland published in the October (1912) number of

the American Historical R-eview an article discussing the import-

ance of the proper care of our national archives. There is an

article on the same subject by Eosa Pendleton Chiles in the Feb-

ruary (1912) American Review of Reviews.

"The History and G-eography of Texas as Told in County

ISTames," by Judge Z. T. Fulmore, is running in the Saturday

issue of the Dallas-Galveston News and in the Tuesday issue of

the Semi-Weekly Farm Neivs. The first chapter appeared on

December 7. Since many counties of the state are named for

individuals, this work will be particularly valuable for its additions

to Texas biography.

The University of Texas has issued, as Bulletin No. 246, "A
Reconnaissance Report on the Geology of the Oil and Gas Fields

of Wichita and Clay Counties/' by J. A. Udden, assisted by Drury

McN. Phillips, xiv and 308 pages, with numerous plates and

charts. Copies can be had of Dr. William B. Phillips, Director

of the Bureau of Economic Geology and Technology of the Uni-

versity of Texas.

"Our Governors' Wives," by Mrs. J. A. Jackson, began in the

San Antonio Express of November 3 and is appearing serially in

the Sunday edition of that paper.

The following articles recently appem'ed in The Texas Magazine

(Houston) : "The King's Highway," by Mrs. Lipscomb Nor veil
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(November) ; "Old Fort Coii<?ho/' by Paul B. Sturgis (Novem-

ber) ;
"Along the San Antonio Trail/' by J. H. Cosgrove (Novem-

ber) ; "The Poles of Texas/' by LeRoy Hodges (December).

The Texas Division of the United Daughters of the Confederacy

was in session at Fort Worth from December 3 to 7.

A monument to the memory of those who wore the gray, erected

t)y the local chapter, United Daughters of the Confederacy, was

unveiled at Waxahachie November 2, 1912. The monument stands

on the courthouse lawn. The State Superintendent of Buildings

and Grounds reports the completion of the monument to Governor

George T. Wood at Point Black, San Jacinto county, and of that

over the grave of Elizabeth Crockett, wife of David Crockett, at

Acton, Hood county. The Thirty-second Legislature authorized

ihe erection of the last two monuments and made the necessary

appropriations for the purpose,

Mrs. J. A. Jackson of Austin reports the acquisition of an

interesting contemporary picture of Austin in 1839. It is de-

scribed in the Austin Statesman for October 23, 1912.
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AFFAIRS OF THE ASSOCIATION

RESOLUTIONvS.

To all the news of the sudden death of Judge Alexander W.
Terrell came as a great shock. Notwithstanding his venerable age

and his great usefulness in the pa-st, one felt that there was much,

that he could yet do. No one feels this more keenly than the

members of the Texas State Historical Association, whose pre-

siding officer he was. His varied public career, his extensive

acquaintance with the public men of three generations, his remark-

able memory, his keen analysis of personal motive and character,

and his unusual gifts as a conversationalist had given him an

extraordinary fund of knowledge and personal reminiscence. For

a long time addresses on patriotic or memorial occasions alone

served to make drafts on these riches, but during late years, in

response to the insistent demands of his friends, he agreed to

write his memoirs. It is hoped that he had made much progress

in this undertaking, but the fact that the task was far from com-

plete is quite certain. His election to the presidency of the State

Historical Association on March 2, 1908, and his re-election and

the exercises that marked the annual meetings since had helped

to draw his attention to this kind of work. To the October

Quarterly, 1910, he contributed an article on "The City of Austin

from 1839 to 1865"; to the January Quarterly, 1911, he con-

tributed a revision of his memorial address on "Stephen F. Austin,"

and among the last things to engage his attention was an article

now in press and to appear in the October Quarterly, entitled

"Eeminiscences of General Sam Houston." These were, however,

only the beginning of many similar articles that he had planned,

some of which he had almost completed.

In the death of Judge Terrell the Texas State Historical Asso-

ciation has lost a distinguished member and a faithful and efficient

officer, and the state has lost a citizen whose richly endowed mind

could have contributed much to recovering the unwritten history

of its stirring past.

E. W. Winkler,

Z. T. Fulmore,

E. C. Barker,

September 15, 1912. Committee.
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Tlie annual meeting of the Texas State Historical Association

will be held at the University of Texas on March 2, 1913. Mem-
herw« wil! receive further announcements and copies of the program

during February.
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SPANISH ACTIVITIES ON THE LOWER TRINITY
RIVER, 1746-17711

HERBERT E. BOLTON

FRENCH ENCROACHMENTS AND OROBIO BAZTERRA^S EXPLORING EX-

PEDITION, 1745-1746

The activities of the Spanish government in Texas were from first

to last inspired largely by fears of foreigm aggression. When these

fears slept, Texas was left pretty much to itself, so far as the gov-

ernment was concerned, but when serious rumors of encroaching

strangers reached the official ears, there was likely to be vigorous

proceedings for a time. The occupation of the lower Trinity

River in the middle of the eighteenth century was no exception

to this rule. Although settlements had been founded in eastern

Texas as early as 1690, the authorities in Mexico, and even in the

province of Texas itself, seem to have been almost entirely igno-

*Volumes I-XV published as The Quaeterly of the Texas State His-
torical Association.

^This paper is based entirely upon manuscript original sources. The
older works in English which mention the subject are entirely valueless;

the treatments given by modern writers in English are so brief as to be
very unsatisfactory. The only printed account by an early Spanish his-

torian is that of Bonilla. in his Breve Compendio (translated by West in

The Quarterly, VIII, 1-78), which, although written by a contemporary
who was in a position to know, contains numerous fundamental errors.

At best Bonilla's account is very brief and incomplete, as he devotes only
about a page to the matter. The manuscript materials on which this study
is based are records in the Bexar Archives, the Lamar Papers, and the

Nacogdoches Archives, and transcripts in my personal collection from the

archives of Mexico and Spain. What is presented here was practically



340 The Southwestern Historical Quarterly

rant of the geography of the lower Trinity and the adjacent coun-

try nntil 1745, when they were called into it by tales of a French

establishment somewhere on the coast. One previous official ex-

pedition to the locality had been made in 1727/ it is true, but it

had led to no further steps toward occupation, and given no per-

manent knowledge of the topography or of the natives of the

region.

What stirr-ed the authorities to action in 1745 was a letter re-

porting the rumors alluded to above, written in July^ to the

viceroy by Don Joaquin de Orobio Bazterra, captain of the pre-

sidio of Bahia del Espiritu Santo, but for the time being in

Coahuila. In reply to this communication the viceroy ordered

Captain Orobio to proceed in all haste to learn the truth about

the French settlement, where and when it had been established,

if at all, and what and how many Indians there were in the vicin-

ity. If he should find Frenchmen established or intending to

settle, he was to order them to leave forthwith.^

The prevailing ignorance of and lack of communication with

the coast country between the Guadalupe and the Trinity rivers

at this time is amply illustrated by Orobio's difficulties and un-

certainty in getting from La Bahia to his destination. His first

efforts were directed toward ascertaining whether the investigation

completed several years ago. Subsequently my manuscripts were put at
the disposal of Miss Elise Brown, a graduate student in the University
of Texas, as material for a master's thesis. This was written under my
direction with the title, "The History of the Spanish Settlements at

Orcoquisac, 1746-1772." Though the two accounts are quite different in

general, and at variance at some points, I have made some use of Miss
Brown's valuable work, and hereby make acknowledgment. In the cita-

tions which follow, B. A. stands for Bexar Archives, L. P. for Lamar
Papers, N. A. for Nacogdoches Archives, and B. MSS. for Bolton Manu-
scripts, the title by which my collection is designated.

^In 1727, when Rivera inspected the northern establishments of New
Spain, he sent Engineer Francisco Alvarez Barreyto from La Bahia east-

ward with a detachment of twenty soldiers to examine the coast country

as far as the Neches. Barreyto spent thirty-five days on the expedition

and traveled 363 leagues, but what he recorded in his reports I cannot

say, as I have not s^n them, though I do know of their whereabouts, and

have taken steps toward securing them. See Rivera, Diario, 1727, leg.

2466.)

^July 2.

^The viceroy's order was dated July 18 {Diligendas Practicadas por

Dn. Joaquin de Orohia Capn. de la Bahia Sohre estahlecimiento de Fran-

ceses. B. A. ) . Orobio signed his name as above, but, other Spanish

officials frequently wrote it "Orobio y Basterra." The brief form of his

name is usually given as Orobio.
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could be made on terra firma by way of Matagorda Bay and the

coast. To determine this point he went in October with a squad

of men down the banks of the Guadalupe; but, because of high

\vater and the roughness of the country, he decided to build a

fleet of canoes and take thirty men on a two months' expedition

by water, down the river and along the coast. Kew discourage-

ments and difficulties led him finally to decide to take the Adaes

road to the crossing of the Trinity, a hundred miles or more above

its mouth, and descend to the coast from that point.^ Such an

expedition made it necessary to send to San Antonio and Presidio

del Rio Grande for more soldiers, in order that La Bahia might

not be left unprotected. As a consequence of this and other de-

lays, it was late in December before Orobio was ready to start.^

From Orobio's diary, which has not hitherto been used, we are

able to follow his movements in detail. Setting out on Decem-

ber 20 with twenty-one soldiers, he marched over the camino real

to the Trinity, where he arrived on January 9. Failing to learn

from the Indians of this locality what he wished to know regard-

ing the country below, he again changed his plan and continued

northeast to San Pedro, the Nabedache village near the N'eches.

Here he saw in the firearms, clothing, and trinkets possessed by

the natives—the sight was no new one at San Pedro—abundant

signs of French influence. But these things, he was told, had

all come from the French of Natchitoches ("Los Canos"), by way
of the Cadodacho, and not from the coast. The rumors of the

French settlement on the Gulf, however, were confirmed and re-

peated with exaggeration. But Orobio was informed that the

place could be reached only from N'acogdoches, by way of the

Bidai trail, "a path which the Vidias have made in going to

i^acogdoches.^'

Acting on this information, Orobio went on to Nacogdoches.

Here a report by the veteran missionary. Father Joseph Calahorra

y Saenz, to the effect that fifteen shipwrecked Frenchmen had re-

cently passed that way from the coast, caused him to go on to Los

Adaes to consult with the governor, Garcia Larios, before plung-

^Lieut. Miguel de Olivares investigated the possibilities of the proposed
expedition by water, and reported that the river was obstructed, and,
besides, that suitable boats could not be built. Report by Olivares to
Orobio, ihid., 2.)

'Order of Orobio, Oct. 22, 1745; Orobio to Urrutia, Dec. 7, ibid., 2, 4,
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ing into the unknown south country. The conference over, Orobio

returned to Nacogdoches, where he arrived on February 4, and

where he secured an Indian guide to conduct him over the Bidai

trail to the coast.^

Since his diary gives us our first intimate account of a large

stretch of country and of the earliest Spanish contact with a dis-

tinct group of natives in their own home, its contents have unique

historical interest^ and will, therefore, be still further drawn upon.

Leaving ^Nacogdoches on February 7 and going southwest, on

March 6 Orobio was near the Trinity at a place which he called

Santa Eosa de Viterbo. Here he found a settlement of Bidai

Indians living in seven rancherias^ of bearskin tents, their regular

winter habitations. The presence of Spaniards here, which, we

are informed, "had never occurred before," aroused much interest

and comment among the natives, as can be well understood. With

the chief Orobio held a long conference, but that over, his stay

was brief.

Taking a Bidai guide, he set out across the Trinity, and on

March 15 was at Puesto de San Eafael, so-named by himself,

thirty leagues west-southwest from Santa Rosa de Viterbo. It

will appear later on that San Eafael was in all probability on

Spring Creek, west of the San Jacinto River. Here were two

Orcoquiza villages, near which Orobio camped. The surprise of

these Indians at seeing "Yegsa," as they called the Spaniards,

whom, we are told, they had heard of but never seen, was even

greater than that of the Bidai.

Among both the Bidai and the Orcoquiza the rumors of French-

men on the coast were confirmed with circumstantial detail.

Orobio was informed that men who lived among the Pachina

near the Mississippi had for six years been coming by land to the

Orcoquiza, while others came annually by water, entering the

Xeches, Trinity, and Brazos rivers, the implication being that

they regularly visited the Bidai as well as the Orcoquiza. As yet

there was no regular settlement of Frenchmen, but one had been

promised. In the past summer those coming by sea had even

chosen a site, and had sent the Orcoquiza to notify the Bidai,

^Diligencias Practicadas, 4-9.

-It is sometimes difficult to determine whether a rancheria was a small
village or a single dwelling. This is one of those eases.
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Doxsas (Deadoses), and Texas to come next season to this place

with their buckskins (gammas) and buffalo hides, which the

French were accustomed to buy.^ The site designated for the set-

tlement was described as some distance from the mouth of a river

between the Trinity and the Brazos, but a tributary of neither.

The stream was obviously the San Jacinto, an inference which is

supported by positive evidence which will appear later on.^ Among

the Orcoquiza Orobio learned that some Frenchmen had been lost

among the Cujanes, to the southwest, and that the shipwrecked

crew who had passed through Nacogdoches were apparently a

party who had been to rescue them.

Going toward the coast a distance of fifteen leagues, Orobio

reached the place on the San Jacinto designated by the Orcoquiza

as the site chosen by the French. The stream Orobio named

]^uestra Senora de Aranzazu. Finding no signs of a habitation,

and recording the opinion that there was little likelihood that one

would be established,^ since the site was ill fitted for settlement,

he struck northwestward to the camino real leading from Nacog-

doches, and returned to La Bahla, where he arrived on April 6.

On June 25 he sent a report of his reconnaisance to Governor

Larios.

THE ORCOQUIZA TRIBE^

This visit of Orobio to the Orcoquiza Indians was the begin-

ning of a quarter of a century of Spanish activity in their coun-

try. While among them Orobio talked to them of missions. In

a short while, apparently in the same year, he made them another

visit and went again to the San Jacinto to look for Frenchmen,

though we have not the details of this second expedition. To

counteract French influence, one of the Orcoquiza chief? was hon-

^Diligencias Practicadas, 11-12.

^See pages 344-345, post.

found no habitation whatever, but such a scarcity of lands that in
case of wishing to establish a presidio, there are facilities for supporting
only five or six families for a short time, because of the small amount of

timber and the entire lack of stone on the margin of the river," Ihid., 12.

*The form of this word adopted by the Bureau of American Ethnology
is "Arkokisa," but it seems better, historically considered, to use in this

article the spelling common in the contemporary sources. If this were
not to be done, ethnologists would not get from the article the historical

aid which it ought to afford. The usual form of the place where the

•Orcoquiza tribe lived is "El Orcoquisac" or "Orcoquisac."
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ored by being made a "captain," and during the next few years

Spanish agents, in the guise of traders, were regularly sent among

both the Oreoquiza and the Bidai. Finally, further encroach-

ments of the French, as we shall see, led to the occupation of the

Oreoquiza country by a presidio and a mission. In the course of

this contact, a large fund of knowledge regarding the tribe,

whose early history has been strangely unknown, was acquired.

It was not till 1755-1757 that this information, precious to the

ethnologist and the historian, was extensively recorded in the doc-

uments at our command, but it will facilitate the remainder of

the narrative if these later documents are drawn upon somewhat

in advance for a general sketch of the Oreoquiza tribe, who, with

their territory, form the chief center of interest in the story.

It was learned by these traders, explorers, soldiers, and mis-

sionaries that the Oreoquiza lived in four (or five) rancherias, or

scattered villages, near the lower Trinity and the San Jacinto

rivers. The center of their population was a western branch of

the San Jacinto, usually called in the eighteenth century the

Arroyo de Santa Rosa de Alcazar (the San Rafael of Orobio),

which, after a careful study of the evidence, appears to be the Spring

Creek of today.^ Near the junction of the San Jacinto and the

^This conclusion was reached, after careful study of the documents, be-

fore the whereabouts of Miranda's map of April 18, 1757, was learned.

The map bears it out. The following are some of the data on which the
conclusion was reached independently. Miranda tells us that going ten
leagues nearly eastward from the Springs of Santa Rosa, one comes to

the San Jacinto; and that from the San Jacinto to the site of El Or-

coquisac, just across the Trinity, it was not more than six leagues, by im-

plication in the same general direction. Now, a direct line west from
El Orcoquisac would fall between Buffalo Bayou and Spring Creek, while

both of these streams run for a stretch of ten leagues almost east into

the San Jacinto, leaving little to choose between them, as the claimant
to being the Santa Rosa. (Miranda, report of survey, April 26, 1757.)

According to the same authority the three western Oreoquiza villages were
ranged along the Santa Rosa. But the southernmost village visited by
Orobio in 1746 became a landmark in the later descriptions. Orobio tells

us that after leaving the two Oreoquiza villages at San Rafael, which,

we have positive evidence, was Santa Rosa (N. A., doc. 488, fol. 22), he

went fifteen leagues southward to the place designated as that where the

French were expected to settle, which was some distance from the mouth
of a river called Aranzazu, the stream subsequently called San Jacinto

{Diligencias Practicadas, 13-14). The two villages at San Rafael must,

therefore, have been at least fifteen leagues or more northward from the

mouth of the San Jacinto. In August, 1756, Joseph Valentin testified

that he had gone "down the bank of the San Jacinto River to the place

reached by Dn. Joaquin de Orobio Basterra," and that "from this place

he returned up the said river to its crossing, near which it joins the
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Santa Eosa, and witliin a gunshot of the latter, was the village

which became known as that of chief Canos, so-called because of

his leaning toward the French. Farther np the Santa Kosa some

twenty miles, perhaps, at the junction of two small branches, was

the village of El Gordo (the Fat), while "above" this point, per-

haps northwest, was that of Mateo. East of the Trinity and

some ten or fifteen miles from its mouth was another village,

known for a long time as that of Calzones Colorados (Eed

Breeches). There is some indication that there was another vil-

lage under the authority of this chief, but just where it was lo-

cated is not clear. These statements, which rest on unquestioned

sources, make it appear that the Orcoquiza lived rather more to

the westward than has been supposed, as is true also of the Atta-

capa. On the east the Orcoquiza divided the country between the

Trinity and the Neches with the latter tribe, who had two vil-

lages on opposite sides of the ISTeches near modern Beaumont; on

the north the neighbors of the Orcoquiza were the Bidai, and,

apparently, the Deadoses (Agdocas, Doxses) ; on the west, the

Cocos; on the west and the southwest, the Carancaguases and the

spring (or arroyo) of Santa Rosa." (N. A., doc. 488, ff. 7-8.) Marcos
Rmz gave almost the same testimony. Domingo del Rio, who a year
before had passed from the Bidai on Bidai Creek to the western Orcoquiza
village, now testified that this arroyo of Santa Rosa appeared to be the
same as that which rose near the village of the Bidai chief, Tom^s.
{Ihid., fol. 3.) This testimony, combined with that of Orobio, seems to

make it clear that Santa Rosa could not be Buffalo Bayou. One state-

ment made by Miranda was puzzling until I saw his map. He states that
he went west from El Orcoquisac for some twelve leagues, till he reached
the San Jacinto, thence south about fifteen leagues to the point reached
by Orobio, thence between south and west along the bed of the San Jacinto
to its junction with the Santa Rosa. This testimony taken alone would
point to Buffalo Bayou as the Santa Rosa, but it directly contradicts the

statement of Valentm and Orobio. By changing Miranda's south to north,

his statement would agree with the others. The difficulty is partly cleared

up by the fact that on his map his south is west and his west north.

{Ihid., 10.) The country about the Santa Rosa was described as being
marked by beautiful prairies, forest, oak, walnut, pine, cedar, and many
lakes. In this season, which was dry, the creek had two inches of water.
There was lack of stone for a dam, and the bed of the stream was deep,

but irrigation was hardly necessary, for the Indians had fine corn, al-

though the season had been dry. (Ibid., 12.) Miranda's map does not
completely clear up the difficulty of deciding between Buffalo Bayou and
Spring Creek, but it points in the same direction as the rest of the data.

The map is reproduced in Hamilton's Colonization of the South, opposite

p. 241.
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Cujanes.* With all of these tribes, except the Carancaguases, the

Oreoquiza were generally on good terms, but racially they seem to

have been quite distinct from all but the Attacapa, with whom
they were considerably mixed.^

Although they went periodically back and forth, with the

changes of seasons, between the coast and the interior, the Orco-

quiza lived in relatively fixed villages. If they were like the

Bidai, they remained inland during the winter. They practiced

agriculture to some extent, raising what was called by Bernardo

de Miranda "superfine maize." But this article seems to have

been a minor feature of their subsistence, for they lived to a

large extent on a fish diet, supplemented by sylvan fruits and

game, among which deer and bear were prominent. It was trade

in the skins and the fat of these animals that chiefly attracted

the French intruders.

An indication that the tribal organization of the Orcoquiza was

loose is the fact that during the clash between the French and

the Spaniards in the region, the tribe was divided in its alle-

giance, Canos, particularly, leaning toward the French. An-

other indication is the conflicting contemporary statements by

different witnesses as to which of the chiefs was "capitan grande,"

or head chief of the group. Had there been a conspicuous, tribal

headship, such a conflict of opinion would not have been likely

to o€cur. At first Canos appears in this light, and is the one to

whom Governor Barrios gave the title of captain some time be-

fore October, 1754. Indeed, there are some reasons for thinking

that he had the best claim to this distinction, but it was assigned

also to Mateo and to Calzones Colorados.^ The last named chief

became the one best known to the Spaniards.

Although our data on this point are conflicting, the tribe was

evidently small in numbers, even at this early date. Orobio, after

his second visit, reported that it was composed of five villages,

containing three hundred families, or perhaps twelve hundred

^The Bidai told Orobio that the Orcoquiza occupied the country from
the Neches to a point half way between the Trinity and the Brazos. See
Miranda's report, N. A., doc, 488.

^The present writer has shown, in another study, that the Bidai, Or-
coquiza, and Deadoses all belonged to the same linguistic group {Hand-
took of American Indians, II, under "San Francisco Xavier de Horca-
Bitas.")

Wilijens. Practicadas, 1755, 3, 4, 7 (L. P. No. 25) ; N. A., doc. 488, fol. 3.
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souls. It was later claimed that Captain Pacheco "reduced" two

villages of four hundred persons each. But compared with other

estimates, these numbers appear to be too large. Bernardo de

Miranda, for example, on being asked in 1756 what was their

number, could not say definitely, but declared that he had seen

at the village of Canos more than twenty warriors and their fam-

ilies. If this was the entire village, and if it was representative,

the total of the tribe would not have exceeded one hundred men,

or five or six hundred persons. An official estimate made in 1778,

after a period of great general decrease in the native population

of Texas, it is true, put the Orcoquiza fighting strength at only

fifty men.i It was not, therefore, in any case, a very large In-

dian population for which the French and the Spaniards were

contending. To either party, the territory involved was far more

important.

SPANISH TRADE V^ITH THE BIDAI AND ORCOQUIZA TRIBES

Soon after the visit of Orobio, it has already been noted, Span-

ish traders from Los Adaes began to operate in the Indian vil-

lages of the lower Trinity. The exact circumstances under which

this trade was established are not clear, but it is evident that it

flourished after 1751, and that its chief beneficiary was Governor

Jacinto de Barrios y Jauregui, who went to Texas in that year.

The evidence regarding this trade, which was regarded as con-

traband, came out in a special investigation made in 1760, after

Barrios had departed, and it may well be that it is not altogether

trustworthy; but the main allegations seem well established.

From the testimony given during the inquiry we learn that be-

tween 1751 and 1759 Governor Barrios engaged pretty regularly

in commerce with the Bidai, Orcoquiza, and other tribes. The
trade was kept a strict monopoly in his hands and carried on by

his personal agents, among whom were Marcos Euiz, Domingo del

Rio, Juan Antonio Maldonado, and Jacinto de Leon. Goods were

carried to the tribes in pack-trains, convoyed by small guards of

soldiers. The merchandise was procured by the governor at

Natchitoches, in open defiance of the law. Among the articles

^Orobio to the viceroy, Jan. 29, 1748, B. A., Miscellaneous, 1742-1793;
N. A., doc. 488, f. 11; estimate by the junta de guerra, Dec. 5, 1778, in

Cabello, Informe, 1784.
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taken to the Indians were French knives, scissors, tobacco, combs,

and even firearms, though it was a serions offense to furnish

weapons or ammunition to the natives. In exchange the Indians

gave horses (stolen usually from the Spanish settlements and mis-

sions), corn, and hides of deer and buffalo. The corn and horses

were used by the governor at the presidio of Los Adaes; the skins

were either sold at N'atchitoches, likewise an unlawful proceeding,

or were sent to Saltillo. This trade, conducted at first from Los

Adaes, was later continued from the presidio of San Agustin, at

the mouth of the Trinity,^

THE ARREST OF BLANCPAIN, 1754

The interest in the lower Trinity aroused by Orobio's visit

was crystallized by the arrest in October, 1754, of some French-

man, caught by Marcos Kuiz among the Orcoquiza Indians. The

leader of the French party was Joseph Blancpain, whose name

sometimes appears as Lanpen. With him were captured two other

Frenchmen, Elias George, and Antonio de la Fars, besides two

negroes. Their goods were confiscated and divided among the

captors, their huts given to chief Calzones Colorados, their boat

left stranded on the river bank^ and they, after being questioned

as to their purpose, sent to the City of Mexico and imprisoned.

According to Blancpain's own statement he had long been an

Indian interpreter in the employ of the government of Louisiana,

and had a trading establishment at Natchitoches, but lived on his

plantation near the Mississippi, twenty-two leagues from New
Orleans. He claimed that, at the time of his arrest, which oc-

curred east of the Trinity at the village of Calzones Colorados, he

had been trading for two months with the Attacapa, with whom
he had dealt for more than a quarter of a century. The list of

goods confiscated by his captors shows that, among other things,

he was furnishing the Indians of the locality with a goodly sup-

^The facts recorded above are drawn mainly from the records of the

investigation entitled Testimonio practicado sohre si D. Jacinto de Barrios
tuvo comercio con muniziones de Guerra con los Indios Barharos de Esta
Prova. y fuera de ella, etc. In the residencia of the governor held a few
weeks before the investigation, the same witnesses testified solemnly that

Barrios had not engaged in illegal trade, but later explained the discrep-

ancy on the ground of a technicality in the meaning of contraband trade.

Autos de la Residencia. . . . de Barrios y Jauregui.
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ply of firearms, a pi'oceeding wliicli the Spanish government had

always strenuously opposed. He had in his possession a license

from the governor of Louisiana authorizing him to go among the

x^ttacapa to trade for horses, as well as instructions to keep a

diary, and, if he encountered any strange Indian village, to make

friends of the inhabitants and take the chiefs to see the governor

at New Orleans. Until shortly before his arrest he had been ac-

companied by a considerable party.

These instructions the Spaniards regarded as evidence that

Blancpain was acting as a government agent to extend French

authority over the Indians living in Spanish territory. It was

charged against him that he had taken away the Spanish commis-

sion of chief Canos and given him a French one. More than this,

Barrios reported to the viceroy, on the testimony of the soldiers

who made the arrest and who claimed to have their information

from the Indians and from Blancpain himself, that the Orcoquiza

were expecting from New Orleans fifty families of settlers and a

minister, to plant a colony and a mission at El Orcoquizac. But

later, when his examination occurred at Mexico in February, 1755,

Blancpain w^ith great hardihood it would seem, considering the

circumstances, denied having had anything to do with the Orco-

quiza or Bidai, and, with greater truthfulness, perhaps, claimed

not to know of any plans for a mission or a settlement.

Blancpain died in prison at Mexico, and, after a yearns incar-

ceration, his companions, according to the then customary deal-

ing with intruders in Mexico, were deported in La America to

Spain, to be disposed of by the Casa de Contrataeion. Their case

brought forth a royal order requiring that if any more French-

men should ]je caught on Spanish territory without license they

should be sent to Acapulco and thence to South America, there to

be kept on the Isle of San Fernandez or at the Presidio of

Valdivia.^

^The account of the arrest of Blancpain is gathered mainly from an
expediente called Dilicoensias sohre Lanpen, dated Feb. 19, 1755 (B. A.,
Provincias Internas, 1755-1793). See also a communication of the viceroy
to the King, March 14, 1756; royal cedula directed to the viceroy, July
19, 1757; statement by Valcarcel, in Testimonio del Diciamen dada por
el Senor Don Domingo de Valcarcel del Gonsejo de Su Magd su oydor en
la Rl Auda de esta Nucha Espana en los autos fechos a consulta de Don
Jazinto de Barrios y Jauregui Oovernador de la Provincia de Texas de
que da quenta el comandante frances de el Presidio del Nachitos se pre-
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EL ORCOQUISAC GAREISONED, 1755

As soon as Ruiz, the captor of Blancpain, returned to Los

Adaes, Governor Barrios held a council, in which testimony was

given to show that the French were clearly intending to establish

a colony on the Trinity. In consequence, Barrios reported the

danger to the viceroy, and at the same time took measures to

provide temporary defense. ]n his account of the Blancpain affair

sent to the viceroy on November 30, 1754, Barrios proposed guard-

ing El Orcoquisac against further intrusion by establishing a pre-

sidio and a mission and also a civil settlement strong enough to

exist after a few years without the protection of a garrison, sug-

gesting that the families be recruited from Adaes and that they be

given the government subsidy usually granted to new colonies.^

This initiation by Barrios of a plan to colonize the lower Trinity

country should be kept in mind for consideration in connection

with the governor's later conduct.

With respect to the temporary defense of El Orcoquisac, the junta

recommended sending to the Trinity ten soldiers and ten armed

settlers. Failing to find this number of men available at Los

Adaes, Barrios at once corresponded with the captains at San

Antonio, Bahia, and San Xavier, asking for eighteen men to add

to the ten which he proposed to detach from his post ; but he

did not at first meet with success.- Meanwhile Domingo del Rio

was sent among the Bidai and Orcoquiza to learn, as Barrios put

it, how they reacted toward the arrest of Blancpain. He returned

in April bearing a new rumor that the French had settled and for-

tified El Orcoquisac, Thereupon the governor dispatched him with

a squad of soldiers to make another investigation and to bring back

a careful report. To strengthen the Spanish hold upon the In-

dians, Del Rio's party were supplied with abundant merchandise

for gifts and for "cambalache,'' or barter. In view of the defec-

tion of chief Canos to the French, they took for Mateo a commis-

hino que los yndios de aquella Dominacion intentaban saltar el Presidio.
Dated Oct. 11, 1755. The title is incorrect. The document is a recom-
mendation of the auditor concerning the proposed garrisoning of the mouth
of the Trinity. B. MSS.; report of the junta de guerra held at Los Adaes,
Oct. 23, 1754. B. A., San Augustin de xlhumada.

^The viceroy to Barrios, Feb. 12, 1756; Test, del Dictamen, Oct. 11,

1755, fol. 7.

-Dilijens Practicadas, p. 19. L. P., doc. 25.
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sion as captain, a cane, symbol of authority, a jacket, a sombrero,

and a shirt, while for Tomas, chief of the Bidai, who already had

a commission as captain, they carried a like outfit. When they re-

turned from this journey, which included a visit to the Nabedache,

to the Bidai villages of Antonio and Tomas, and to the Orcoquiza

village of El Gordo, they were accompanied by Mateo, Tomas and

a band of braves, who were duly entertained by the governor,

and who repeated former requests for missions.^

Del Eio had found no French settlement, but he had heard

from the Indians, who, as was to be expected, told a good story,

that subsequently to the arrest of Blancpain some Frenchmen had

been among them, that Mateo and his people (loyal to the Span-

iards, of course!) had withdrawn from the coast, but that Canos,

Blancpain's proseh^te, had been to New Orleans, and, on his re-

turn, all decked out in French garb and laden with presents, had

tried to win the rest of his tribe to the French cause.

This report evidently caused Barrios to act. Del Rio's return

was early in June. Sometime between this date and August 27

—

probably at least a month before this—the governor sent twenty-

eight soldiers recruited from San Xavier, San Antonio, La Bahla,

and Adaes, to garrison El Orcoquisac until permanent arrange-

ments should be made by the superior government.^ The post-

ing of this garrison marks the beginning of the Spanish occupa-

tion of El Orcoquisac.

PRESIDIO, MISSION, AND VILLA AUTHORIZED, 1756

The examination of Blancpain in the royal hall of confessions

had occurred in February, 1755. For a year after this nothing

was done by the superior government in Mexico but to discuss and

refer, a process all too well known to the special student of Span-

ish-American history. To follow the details of this correspond-

^Dilijens Practicadas, 1755. L. P. no. 25. The details of this expe-
dition are given in the declarations of the soldiers who accompanied Del
Rio. {Ihid.) Miss Brown makes no mention of Del Rio's journey between
October and April.

^Test. del Dictamen, Oct. 11, 1755. The date, Aug. 25, is fixed by Val-
carcel's statement that on this day the fiscal had suggested that part of

the temporary garrison sent by Barrios should remain. Ibid. Miss Brown
concluded that this garrison was not sent. My inference is drawn from
Valcarcel's Dictamen.
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ence would be profitless except as a study in Spanish provincial

administration. Viewed from this standpoint, however, it is in-

teresting, as it furnishes a typical example of procedure in the

matter of frontier defense, and a suggestion of the baneful effect

of long distance legislation upon the missions and colonies, as well

as insight into Spanish governmental methods.

A question within this field once brought to the attention of the

viceroy ordinarily went from him to the fiscal of the royal Hacienda.

If necessary, it went also the auditor of the war department and

to a junta de guerra y hacienda^ composed of officials from these

two branches of the service. On the basis of these opinions of

the fiscal and auditor, and the resolution of the junta, the viceroy

issued his decrees. To one who studies intimately the viceroy's

administration of the provinces it is noticeable how completely he

followed the advice of these officials, particularly of the fiscal.

According to this customary routine, Barrios's proposal con-

cerning the defense of the Trinity went, during the spring and

summer of 1755, to the auditor, the fiscal, and a junta de guerra

y hacienda. But there was so little agreement of opinion that

the viceroy could reach no decision. Nominally, the difference

was upon the size of the garrison and the question as to whether

the proposed settlement should be subsidized or not. One gets the

impression, however, that the real reason for delay was lack of

interest. The fiscal recommended retaining at El Orcoquisac

twenty of the soldiers already placed there by Barrios, and favored

establishing one or more missions for the Orcoquiza. But he op-

posed Barrios's proposal of a subsidized colony, recommending, in-

stead, dependence upon settlers who should be attracted to the

vicinity by lands alone. The six officials of the junta which was

called could agree neither wdth the fiscal nor with each other.

AVhile all were of the opinion that El Orcoquisac should be gar-

risoned, two voted for twenty soldiers aided by the Indians of the

locality, two for a larger number of soldiers, and two for ten sol-

diers and ten citizens.

After receiving Barrios's letter of September 6, 1755, which

reported not only that Frenchmen had again been seen on the

Trinity, but also that the governor of Louisiana had set up a

claim to the territory which he garrisoned, the viceroy asked for a

new opinion of the auditor.
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Valcarcel, adopting the views that had been expressed by Alta-

mira in his famous dictamen in 1744, and of Escandon, frequently

voiced during his long struggle to people the country between the

San Antonio Kivcr and Tampico, had in his mind the germs of a

colonizing policy which might have been successful if really car-

ried out. Reporting on October 11, he opposed the tiscal's plan

for an unsubsidized settlement, on the ground that it would be

more expensive to maintain a garrison for the long time that

would be necessary under that plan, since there was little chance

of a pueblo formed without special inducements to settlers, than

to equip at once fifty families, withdrawing the garrison within a

definite time. Citing Altamira's opinion, he argued with some

logic that, in time of peace, on the one hand, good citizens would

be more useful than soldiers as agents in winning the Indians,

since presidial soldiers were proverbially low characters, and al-

ways making trouble; while, in time of war, on the other hand,

twenty soldiers would be virtually useless. He advised, therefore,

selecting fifty families of good character, attracting them not only

by the lands, but also by the usual subsidy given to new col-

onists, putting them under a governor of their own number, and

suppressing the presidio as soon as the civil settlement should be

established.

He also made recommendations concerning the choice of a site.

First a good location should be selected. He doubted the fitness

of El Orcoquisac for the settlement, for lack of wood, and because

of the marshiness of the country. Agreeing with the fiscal in this,

he recommended ordering the governor to take the president of

the eastern Texas missions, go to the Trinity country, and select

a site for a town and missions. The town site must be so chosen

that it would serve to protect the missions, control the Indians,

and keep the French from among them. He advised, also, requir-

ing Barrios to report the necessary supplies to be furnished the

families at government expense.

But still the matter dragged on. Further delay was caused by

a change of viceroys, and when the new one, the Marques de las

Amarillas, arrived in Mexico, he found the defense of the Trinity

one of the questions first demanding attention. Accordingly, on

February 4, 1756, he called a junta, whose resolutions, supplemented

by the viceroy's decree of February 12, brought the matter to a head.
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The provisions thus jointly made for the lower Trinity were as

follows: (1) For the present a garrison of thirty soldiers and

a mission were to be established precisely on the site of Blanc-

pain's arrest. (2) As soon as a suitable permanent site could

be selected—it being conceded that El Orcoquisac was unhealth-

ful—a villa of fifty families was to be founded, and to this site

the mission and presidio were to be removed. Of these families

twenty-five were to be Spaniards and twenty-five Tlascaltecan In-

dians, both classes to be recruited mainly from Saltillo. and to be

aided by a single gcveinment subsidy sufficient to transport them

and provide them with an outfit for agriculture, the sum to be

determined by Barrios. (3) At the end of six years the presidio

was to be suppressed, the soldiers becoming citizen colonists. For

this reason, as well as for the immediate benefit of the Indians,

married men of good character were to be preferred in the selec-

tion of the garrison. (4) The mission was to be conducted by

two friars from the college of Guadalupe de Zacatecas, on a stipend

of four hundred pesos each. (5) Barrios was ordered to report

the funds necessary for the subsidy, to proceed at once to estab-

lish the presidio and mission on the temporary site, and, assisted

by two friars and by men acquainted with the country, to choose

the site for the villa.

^

Bonilla and Bancroft have made it appear that the colony of

fifty families provided for was to be identical with the presidio,

but from the above it is clear that such was not the case. Morfi

states that a presidio of thirty men was at first provided for; that

because Barrios reported the original site unsuitable, the gar-

rison was moved to the Springs of Santa Eosa de Alcazar, and

that on February 4, 1T51", a junta in Mexico decided to establish

a new presidio and a colony of fifty Spanish and fifty Tlascaltecan

families. The date of the junta was February' 4. 1T56: it pro-

vided for a colony of only fifty families, as has been stated above.

^The proceedings in Mexico are recorded in a report of the junta de
giierra of Feb. 4. 1756 (B. A. San Agustln de Ahumada) ; Testimonio del

dictamen de Yalcarcel. Oct. 11. 1755. B. MSS. : the viceroy to Barrios,

Feb. 12, 1756. B. MSS.; the viceroy to the king. March 14. 1756. B.

MSS.; royal cedula. Aug. 20, 1756. B. MSS. The ^auditor, Valcarcel, gave
his opinion on Feb. Il,"l755, the fiscal on Aug. 27. The date of the first

junta has not been ascertained. Xote Bancroft's error in saying that all

the families were to be Tlascaltecans.
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It will be seen from what follows that the first garrison was not

moved to the Springs of Santa Rosa.'^

This provision regarding the sending of Tlascaltecan families

to the Texas frontier is an illustration of the interesting part

pla3^ed by the Tlascaltecan tribe during the whole period of Span-

ish expansion in New Spain. After their spirited fight with

Cortes, resulting in an alliance, they became the most trusted sup-

porters of the Spaniards. After playing an important part in the

conquest of the valley of Mexico, they became a regular factor in

the extension of Spanish rule over the north country. Thus,

when San Luis Potosi and Saltillo had been conquered, colonies

of Tlascaltecans were sent to teach the more barbarous Indians of

these places both loyalty to the Spaniards and the elements of

civilization. In Saltillo a large colony of Tlascaltecans was estab-

lished by Urdinola at the end of the sixteenth century, and be-

came the nursery from which numerous offshoots were planted

at the new missions and villages further north. At one time one

hundred families of Tlascaltecans were ordered sent to Pensa-

cola; we see them figure now in the plans for a colony on the

Trinity River; and a few years later it was suggested that a

settlement, with these people as a nucleus, be established far to

the north, on the upper Red River, among the Taovayas Indians.

PRESIDIO AND MISSION ESTABLISHED, 1756-1757

8an Agustin de Ahumada

Barrios promptly set about establishing the presidio, which was

evidently founded late in May or June, 1756.2 It was certainly

established by July 14. In compliment to the viceroy, the name
given it, San Agust'm de Ahumada, like that of the presidio of

San Liuis de las Amarillas, established a year later at San Saba,

was borrowed from that official's generous title. ^ The site was

^Bonilla, Breve Compendio, 57 ; Bancroft, North Mexican States and
Texas, I, 625; Bonilla, Memorias para la historia de Texas (MS.), 345.

^On March 14 Barrios ordered Ruiz to enlist recruits. On May 16 Cris-

tobal de Cordoba issued supplies to tliose who went to establish the pre-

sidio. This, probably, may be taken as the day when they set out for

the new establishment. (Declaration of Cordoba, Oct. 10, 1757; Barrios
to the viceroy, July 14.)

^This was Don Agustin de Ahumada Villabon Mendoza y Narviiez, Mar-
ques de las Amarillas.
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fixed accordiEg to the instructions, at El Orcoquisac, the place

where Blancpain had been arrested. This was near a lagoon a

short distance east of the left bank of the Trinity some two

leagues from the head of the Bay, or near the north line of

present Chambers county.^ It is easy to explain Bancroft's mis-

take of supposing that El Orcoquisac and L-os Horconsitos. whicli

will appear later in the narrative, were identical, but it is difficult

to understand how he came to place San Agustin de Ahumada on

his map more than one hundred miles up the river instead of near

its mouth. 2 Marcos Euiz was mxade recruiting officer for the gar-

rison; Domingo del Eio's skill as an Indian agent was recognized

by his appointment as lieutenant ad interim in command, while

Cristobal de Cordoba was made sergeant. On June 12^ 1757^ it

was reported that the presidio, church, granary and corrals were

all completed, and thiit fields and gardens had been prepared.

We learn little about the structure of the presidio except that it

was good. It was undoubtedly an unpretentious affair, and per-

haps not very different from that soon ordered substituted for it

when a change of site was being planned. The latter was to be a

wooden stockade, triangular in shape, with three bulwarks, six

curtains, one gate near the barracks, and a plaza de armas in the

center. As a temporary part of the equipment of the presidio,

two swivel guns were sent from Los Adaes, to remain until other

provisions could be made.^

The new establishment on the Trinity served to keep Barrios in

Texas nearly three additional years. On August 21, 1756, by

royal order, he was appointed governor of Coahuila and Don
Angel Martos y Xavarrete named in his place. But in view of the

Orcoquisac enterprise just begun, the viceroy requested that Martos

he sent temporarily to Coahuila in Barrios's place. The request

was granted, and Barrios continued in office until 1759.*

^This conclusion, based upon an independent study of the sources, is

l)orne out by Miranda's map, which I did not see till long after the above
had been written.

^North Mexican States and Texas, I, 615, 643.

^Order to survey the Trinity, N. A., doc. 488. f. 2 ; Barrios to the vice-

roy, July 14, 1756; Barrios to the viceroy. June 12, 1757; Appeal of the

Father, N. A., doc. 487; the viceroy to Barrios, May 26, 1757. Miss
Brown implies that Ruiz led the garrison to El Orcoquisac.

*BrowTi, "The History of the Spanish Settlements at Orcoquisac, 1746-

1772," MS.; the viceroy to the king, April 19, 1757; autos of the resi-



Spanish Activities on Lower Trinltji River, 1746-1771 357

Nucstra Senora de la Luz

The mission established in the neighborhood of San Agustln

was called Nuestra Seiiora de la Lnz (Our Lady of Light), with

the addition, sometimes of "del Orcoqnisac." Before the arrival

of the regular missionaries, Father Romero, of the Ais mission,-

went among the Orcoqniza and secured promises that they would

receive instruction, with the result that, in July, 1756, Barrios was

able to report that even Canos, the French partisan, had become

"reduced" to mission life, whatever this may have meant, in the

absence of a mission. He had probably consented to enter one.

At this time Barrios talked hopefully of even three missions in-

stead of one.^

The first missionaries sent were Fr. Bruno Chavira and Fr.

Marcos Satereyn. Just when they arrived is not clear, but it was

evidently after August, 1756, and certainly before the end of Jan-

uary, 1757.^ Barrios soon complained that these missionaries were

unsuited for their task, one because he was very youngs and the

other, Fr. Chavira, because he was old and violent in his manner.

Moreover, he said, though the Indians were docile and anxious to

live at the mission, the padres had brought nothing to support

them. He carried his complaint to President Vallejo, who prom-

ised to have the College recall these two missionaries and send

others.^

Chavira's removal, however, was by a more powerful hand, for

on June 27, he succumbed to the unhealthfulness of the country

and died. Fr. Chavira^s companion remained for some time and

was approved by the governor.*

In January, 1757, as we shall see, the viceroy ordered the mis-

sionaries to transfer their mission to Santa Eosa, and to "reduce'^

dencia of Barrios. B. A., Adaes, 1756-1766. Martos began his adminis-
tration on Feb. 6, 1759.

^The viceroy to Arriaga, citing Barrios's opinion, April 18, 1757. At
this point Miss Brown's thesis follows my findings and my language.

-They are not mentioned in the Diligencias of August, 1756, but Barrios
wrote of their being there in January, 1757 (Letter to the viceroy, June
12, 1757)". From his statement it is inferred that January was the month
of their arrival, although this is not certain. See the statement that the
viceroy was sending letters by the missionaries, Jan, 19, 1757. These
might be new missionaries. (Historia 91, expedienie 2.)

''The viceroy to Arriaga, April 18, 1757.

76id, postscript.
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there at El Gordo's village, all four of the Orcoquiza bands and the

Bidai tribe as well. This plan does not exactly harmonize with

the decision of the junta of March 3 that efforts should be made
to keep the different bands hostile toward each other. The In-

dians, however, opposed the transfer, and, to meet this difficulty,

Barrios suggested dividing the missionary forces, leaving one friar

at El Orcoquisac, with a small guard of soldiers, the other going to

Santa Eosa.^

As was usually the case in the initial stages of founding a

mission, the Orcoquiza (especially the band of Calzones Colo-

rados) were at first very tractable and friendly. They professed

anxiety to enter upon mission life, built a house for the mis-

sionaries, and the first spring planted for them six almudes of

corn, something "never before seen in these natives."^

The church, reported by Barrios as already complete in June,

was evidently a very temporary structure, which was supplanted

afterwards by a somewhat better one, itself miserable enough. A
complaint made two years later by Fr. Abad de Jesus Maria, who

was then head minister at the place, to the effect that he could

not get help from the soldiers to complete the mission, reveals to

us the site and the nature of the newer building. He writes:

"Fearful of what might result, I had to set about the mentioned

material establishment. . . . The two ministers, having ex-

plored and examined the territory with all care and exactitude, we

did not find any place more suitable or nearer the presidio than a

hill, something less than a fourth of a league's distance to the

east from the latter and on the same bank of the lagoon. This

place. Excellent Sir, because of its elevation, commands a view of

the whole site of the presidio and of a circumference to the west

and south, where this Kiver Trinity turns, as far as the eye can

reach. Towards the east the land is a little less elevated. At a

distance of a league enough corn might be planted to supply a

large population. . . . All these advantages being seen, the

mission was erected on this site. It is made of wood, all hewn

(labrada), and beaten clay mixed with moss, and has four arched

portals (portales en circulo). This building, because of its

^Viceroy's decree, January 19, 1757; Barrios to the viceroy, June 12,

1757.

^The viceroy to Arriaga, April 18 ,1757.
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strength and arrangement, is the most pleasing in all those lands

of the Spanish and the French—or it would be if your Excellency

should be pleased to have completed its construction, which for the

present has been suspended/'^

Such are some of the glimpses which we are able to get of the

new mission and presidio.

PLANS FOR A VILLA AT SANTA ROSA, 1756-1757

To select a site for the colony, Barrios commissioned Lieu-

tenant Del Rio and Don Bernardo de Miranda, the latter known

for his recent explorations of the Los Almagres mineral vein,

each to make an independent survey, which they did in the mid-

summer of 1756. When, on August 26, 1756, they and their as-

sistants gave their reports before Governor Barrios and Father

Eomero, all agreed as to the most desirable location. Above the

presidio, within a space of six leagues, they reported three arroyos,

on the middle one of which was the village of Calzones Colorados.

These arroyos, they thought, would afford moderate facilities for a

town site. But much better was the country along the arroyo of

Santa Rosa del Alcazar, mentioned before as in the center of the

Orcoquiza tribe.^

Pleased with the glowing description of Santa Rosa, as it

came to be called commonly, Barrios next had it surveyed by two

surveyors named Morales^ and Hernandez. In October these men
reported favorably upon three sites, but most favorably on that

near El Gordo's village at the junction of two small branches

joining the Santa Rosa, about ten leagues or perhaps twenty miles

west of the San Jacinto—apparently Mill Creek and Spring Creek.*

^Father Abad to the viceroy, November 27, 1759.

^Order for the survey of the banks of the Trinity. N. A., doc. 488,

2, 8, 9.

^Miss Brown gives his name as Morelos.

*Orders for the survey. N. A., doc. 488, 14-22. The survey was begun
early in September, 1756, Barrios going with the party. He returned to

Los Adaes on September 6, leaving Miranda in charge, and with orders to

go up the Santa Rosa to three arroyos that had been mentioned before.

On the 13th the survey was resumed, the first ojo examined being one
about three leagues west of the San Jacinto; within three leagues of this

two others were examined. Going up stream to the village of El Gordo
they found a larger stream, carrying two hands of water {hueyes) , and
dividing at a short distance into two smaller streams, one coming from
the northwest and one from the south. This was regarded as the best
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Barrios required the surveyors to prepare estimates of the cost

of building the necessary dams and acequias, and in November

reported to the viceroy in favor of Santa Rosa (as Miranda

had already done in October), recommending three missions in-

stead of one. On January 7 this site was approved by a junta

de guerra y hacienda, and shortly afterward the viceroy ordered

the presidio moved thither, with the condition that each week a

squad of soldiers must be sent to reconnoiter El Orcoquisac to look

for Frenchmen.

The missionaries were required, likewise, to transfer the mission

witli the people of Calzones Colorados and Canos (assumed by

the authorities, from previous reports, to be in the mission), to

El Gordo's village, and to strive to attract thither the people of

Mateo and also those of the Bidai tribe. Thus was it planned

to gather all of the Orcoquiza and Bidai into one settlement.^

In March and April the central government proceeded in good

faith to provide 30,000 pesos, the sum asked for by Barrios, for

equipping and transporting the settlers, and ordered three swivel

guns to San Agustin, to take the place of the cannon brought

from Eos Adaes. The details of recruiting the families were left

to Barrios, but he was ordered to take from Saltillo fifty saddle

horses, fifty brood mares, twent3r-tive cows, nine thousand one hun-

dred and twenty-five sheep, and six yoke of oxen. Other neces-

sary stock was to be purchased in Los Adaes. Each family was

to be supplied with a limited outfit for engaging in agriculture,

and a gun and a sabre for defence, while, during the journey,

each member of the Spanish families was to be allowed three reals

a day, and each member of the Tlascaltecan families two reals.

The actual work of recruiting, equipping and transporting the

families was entrusted by Barrios, some time later, to a French-

man named Diego Giraud.^

place for the site, and is the place marked on Miranda's map as Santa
Rosa. It was apparently about where Hufsmith now is; if not, then at

Houston.

^Barrios to the viceroy, November 8, 1756; the viceroy to the governor,

January 7, 1757; decree of the viceroy, January 19, 1757; the viceroy to

the missionaries, March 23, 1757.

^Action of the junta of March 3, and a supplementary decree of April 3;

viceroy's decrees of March 3 and March 8; viceroy to Arriaga, April 18,.

1757; Appeal of the Father, 9 (N. A. doc. 487).
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EFFORTS TO MOVE THE PRESIDIO AND THE MISSION; FAILURE OF

THE PROJECT FOR A VILLA

To this point prospects seemed good for the beginning in Texas

of a new civil settlement, the element most lacking, and want of

which meant ultimate failure. But now ensued a period of dis-

heartening inactivity, flimsy excuse-making, and pernicious quar-

reling, that shatters the reader^s patience, and that resulted in kill-

ing the projected settlement.

The plan for a colony had originated with Barrios, and hith-

erto he had acted with reasonable promptitude in carrying it out.

As late as June, 1757, his attitude was favorable, for then, when

reporting that the Indians at El Orcoquisac might oppose moving

to Santa Eosa, he had suggested that this difficulty might be

overcome by leaving one missionary at El Orcoquisac, protected by

a small garrison, and establishing the other at Santa Rosa.'* But

from now on he seems to have entirely changed his mind. It may

have been sincere conviction that there was no suitable site—he

could not foresee the building in the vicinity of a great city like

Houston—or. it may have been some unexplained influence that

caused him to positively oppose the town. A suggestion of jeal-

ousy of Miranda appears in the documents, but one is not war-

ranted in accepting this suggestion as conclusive.

Whatever the cause, his subsequent conduct is most exasperat-

ing. In October he reported that he had been deceived by

Miranda^s report and that a personal examination made in Octo-

ber by himself and President Vallejo proved that Santa Eosa was

unfit for a settlement,^ but that a place called "El Atascosito" or

"El Atascoso y Los Tranquillos'^ on the Trinity, some nineteen

leagues above the presidio, was a suitable location.^

While the viceroy was putting Barrios's suggestion through the

usual deliberate legislative routine,* the governor was forced into

^Barrios to the viceroy, June 12, 1757.

-This report is missing, but it seems from references to it that his
objection was the difficulty of making an acequia. (See Appeal of the
Father; viceroy to Barrios, March 3, 1758.)

^Dictamen fiscal, February 5, 1760. With this report he seems to have
sent autos of his examination of El Atascosito.

^On March 13, 1758, he ordered Barrios to make another report so that
the government could decide whether or not to accept El Atascosito as a

substitute for Santa Rosa. Barrios either ignored or failed to get this

order. (The viceroy to Barrios, March 13, 1758.)
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temporary activity by the missionary then at Nnestra Senora

de la Luz, Fray Joseph Francisco Caro. This friar wrote in Feb-

ruary, 1758, to his superior at Adaes, Father Vallejo, a mournful

tale about the physical miseries of life at his swampy, malarial,

mosquito-infested post. Father Chavira had died, he said, from

the unhealthfulness of the place; his companion. Fray Marcos

Satereyn, and all the soldiers, were sick from dysentery, due to

bad water, excessive humidity, and putrid lagoons nearby. He
requested, therefore, that the presidio and mission be moved at

once to another site, preferably El Atascosito. If this could not be

done, he begged leave either to move the mission with a small

guard of soldiers to the place designated or to abandon his post.

Vallejo reported the complaint to Barrios and requested that one

of the alternatives be granted, preferably that looking to the trans-

fer of the presidio as well as the mission to El Atascosito; he

closed with a threat that unless something were done, he would

order Father Caro to retire and, acting in the name of his College,

would renounce the mission.^

In response to this threat Barrios went in April to San

Agustin, selected a site within two gunshots of El Atascosito,

ordered crops -sown, and instructed Lieut. Del Eio, as soon as

the sowing should be completed, to build there a new triangular

stockade, and to transfer the garrison and the mission. ^ To off-

set this apparent compliance, however. Barrios gave the idea of

a colony a serious blow by declaring that neither El Atascosito,

the place he had himself proposed as a substitute for Santa Eosa,

nor any of the several others that had been considered, would

support a settlement of fifty families, and recommended accord-

ingly that Giraud, his agent sent to Saltillo to recruit families,

should be repaid for his trouble and expense, and, it is inferred,

relieved of his commission.^

^Appeal of the Father at the Mission of Nuestra Senora de la Luz de
Orcoquiza for permission to abandon that mission on account of the in-

sufferable plague of mosquitoes and ants and of the unhealthfulness of the

locality (MS., N. A. doc. 487), 4.

^Barrios replied on Marcli 13 that as soon as the weather would permit
he would attend to removing the presidio to El Atascosito. While at

Nacogdoches, early in April, on his way to San Agustm, he received news
of the destruction of the San Saba Mission. Only high rivers prevented

him from going to San Antonio and leaving the affairs of San Agustin to

his lieutenants. Appeal of the Father.

^Appeal of the Father, 9. Barrios had denounced El Orcoquisac and



Spanish Activities on Lower Trinity River, 17Jf.6-1771 363

On March 4, 1758, and again on March 13, Barrios was or-

dered to make another search for a town site, or at least a site to

which the mission might be removed. But after all the delays

and failures recounted above, one will hardl}^ be surprised that

these renewed orders were not obeyed. The reason, if the reader

were to require a specific one, does not appear, for it happens that

in our sources there is a gap, so far as events in Texas go, between

x^pril, 1758, and October, 1759. Before that time Governor Bar-

rios had gone to his new post in Coahuila, leaving half done the

task to accomplish which, because of his supposed special fitness

for it, his transfer had been indefinitely suspended. His suc-

cessor proved to be no more efficient than he, so far as our present

interest is concerned.

When the curtain again rises after the year and a half of

darkness the tables are turned. The mission and presidio arc

still at El Orcoquisac, but the new missionary. Fray Joseph Abad

de Jesus Maria, is in dispute with the new governor, Don Angel

Martos y Navarrete, over the question of removal to a new site,

Los Horconsitos, three or four leagues up the river. But this time

it is the missionary who opposes the transfer.

Don Angel began his administration on February 6, 1759,^ and

after attending to matters of most pressing moment he took up

the question of locating the proposed villa and transferring the

mission and presidio from El Orcoquisac. In October he visited

Santa Eosa and decided against it.- On November 4, in company

with Del Eio and Father Abad, he visited El Atascosito, and de-

cided against it also. But farther south he found a place called

Los Horconsitos (Little Forks) three and one-half leagues above

El Orcoquisac, and a league north of this, a juniper covered

arroyo called Los Pielagos, either of which he regarded suitable

for a town, as well as for the presidio and mission.^

But Father Abad opposed the governor's suggestion. He argued,

and with reason, that the trouble with the presidio and the mission

the San Jacinto site in August, 1756; Santa Tlosa in October, 1757, and
now he declared agaJnst El Atascosito and, by implication, against the
whole plan.

^Autos de Residencia de Barrios, B. A,, Adaes, 1756-1766.

^Martos to the viceroy, December 6, 1759. B. A., 8an Agustin de
Ahumada.

^Martos to the viceroy, December 6, 1759. B. A., San Agustin de Ahu-
mada; Informe by Father Abad, November 27, 1759.
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was one of la^^iness rather than one of faults of the site; that Del

Eio, being a common soldier, was unfit to be a commander; that

the Indians objected to leaving their native soil ; that the buildings

and crops, secured at the cost of great labor, should not be aban-

doned; and that new rumors of the French made removal unwise.

In spite of Father Abad's opinion, on December 12 Martos re-

ported favorably on Los Horconsitos, and on March 15 the viceroy

ordered the removal made to that point. But instead of complying

^vith the order, in May Martos took more testimony, which added

a "Place on the Trinity'^ to the list of sites suitable for a town

and for the transfer in question, but declared against El Atascosito

and El Orcoquisac.^ After recommending to the viceroy, on May
30, the three places named, Martos inquired of Father Vallejo if

the removal was imperative. First referring the matter to Father

Romero, the missionary from Los Adaes who had been at San

Agustin, the president replied in the affirmative, and with em-

phasis.- Thus Father Abad was now opposed by Fathers Vallejo

and Romero, while the governor stood between them.

Meanwhile Martos had added his opposition to the project of

a villa. On December 16, ten days after recommending El Atas-

cosito and Los Pielagos as suitable for such a purpose, he asked

the viceroy to relieve him of responsibility for founding the town.

What his reason was is not clear, but it may have been his unwill-

ingness to oppose Father Abad.^ At any rate, on March 6, 1760.

his request was granted provisionally, until the site should be de-

termined. As this never occurred, the plan for the villa was never

again taken up in Mexico, and it never was founded."*

If it were not for the fact that Bonilla, and those w^ho have

followed him, had made the fundamental error of saying that the

presidio and mission Avere moved one or more times, finally to Los

Horconsitos (which Bancroft confuses with Orcoquisac), the reader

\-\bad to the viceroy, November 27, 1759; dictamen fiscal, February 5,

1760; Interrogatorio, ]May 20, 1760. B. A., San Agustm de Ahumada.

-Martos to the viceroy, May 30, 1760. in Abad's Informe ; Martos to

Vallejo, June 10, ihid.; Romero to Vallejo, June 12, ihid.; Vallejo to

Martos, June 13, ihid.

^Abad, Informe, B. A., San Agustin de Ahumada, ff. 9-10.

^A recent writer makes the error of stating that the colony was actually

founded, and this in 1755 (Coman, Economic Beginnings of the Far West,.

I, 99 ) . In view of the fact that the colony was never established, her

comments on the laziness of the colonists seem gratuitous.
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might bo s])are(l the pain of following furtlier siicli frivolous excuse-

making and disgusting inactivity. Since, however, such errors

have been nuide. it is necessary to show that, excepting, perhaps, a

removal to a. site a quarter of a league away, the transfer had not

been eiTected dow^n to 1767, when steps for final abandonment of

the place were begun, and after which, of course, no further effort

was likely to be made.^

A year and a half passed after the events related above had oc-

curred, when a junta de guerra held in Mexico December 9^ 1762,

again approved Los Horconsitos, and, on. December 22, Martos was

again ordered to move the presidio and mission thither and to do

it at once. It is clear from what follows, however, that the order

was not carried out.

In November, 1763, the presidio was put under the command of

a captain, Don Eafa.el Martinez Pacheco, whereupon Martos, resent-

ing the change, became anxious to do what for five years he had

neglected. In June, 1764, therefore, he went to the presidio in com-

pany with Father Calahorra to effect the transfer, but the Indians,

bribed by Pacheco, as it later appeared, opposed the change, and,

though the governor remained on the ground a month, the object

was not accomplished.^ Martos reported his failure to the viceroy,

and on August 12, 1764, the command to remove the establishment

to Los Horconsitos was repeated." In the course of the ensuing

trouble with Pacheco the presidio w^as partially burned. Subse-

quently, in the administration of Afan de Bivera, temporary repairs

were made on the partly destroyed establishment, which indicates

that no removal had been made. In 1766 a storm damaged the

presidio and mission, and a new clamor was made for a transfer,

there being some evidence that the presidio was moved in conse-

quence to higher ground a quarter of a league away.* Finally, in

October, 1767, when the Marques de Kubi inspected the place, he

^Bonilla, Breve Conipendio, The Quarterly, VIII, 57.

^Tlie viceroy to Martos, December 22, 1762; Martos to the viceroy,

December 14, 1763; the viceroy to Martos, August 12, 1764; Martos to

the viceroy, December 14, 1763. Testimony was given on January 2, 1765,

to the effect that Pacheco had bribed the Indians. What his motives were
does not appear. Declaration of Calzones Colorados before Marcos Ruiz,
January 2, 1765. L. P., no. 25.

^The viceroy to Martos, August 12, 1764.

*The viceroy to Rivera, November 17, 1766; dictamen fiscal, November
17, 1766.
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found the presidio at or near the original site, for in his diary

describing the journey to the coast La Fora records passing El

Atascosita and Los Horconsitos, and proceeding south from this

point to the presidio. His entry makes it clear that the presidio

and mission were still at El Orcoquisac. He says: "We trav-

eled . . . four leagues to a small ranch at the place called

El Atascoso, where we camped." On the next day "we traveled

ten leagues, generally south, although the road forms a semicircle,

to escape the lagoon formed by the Rio de la Trinidad, which

during the whole day we kept at our right and two leagues

away. After going four leagues over level country ... we

crossed the Arroyo de Calzones, which runs west and empties

into the Trinity, and leaving behind the Paraje de los Horcon-

sitos we forded that of El Pie! ago, . . . which flows in the

same direction and, like that of Calzones^ empties into said river,

both overflowing in rainy seasons and flooding the six leagues

between this place [evidently Los Horconsitos] and the Presidio

of San Luis de Ahumada, commonly called El Orcoquisac."^

It is clear, then, tbat down to October, 1767, no material change

of site had been made. Eubi recommended that the establishment,

like the rest of those in eastern Texas, be abandoned. This sug-

gestion was soon acted upon, and if any transfer was ever effected

(of which there is no evidence), it was between 1767 and 1771,

a period Avhen the affairs of the place were going from bad to worse.

RELATIONS WITH THE FRENCH

The arrest of Blancpain brought forth a protest from Kerlerec,

the new governor of Louisiana, who claimed that the trader had

been arrested on French territory.- He added that only with diffi-

culty had he been able to restrain the Attacapa Indians from de-

stroying the Spanish establishment, on account of their anger lit

the expulsion of the French. On September 11, 1756, he pro-

posed to Barrios that a joint commission be appointed to examine

the site of San Agustin to determine the question of ownership,

^Relacion del Viaje que de orden del Excelentisimo Senor Virrey Mar-
ques de Cruillas Hizo el Capiian de Ingenieros Dn, Nicolas de la Fora,

entries for October 8 and 9.

^Kerlerec protested on January 12, 1755, and again on April 7. (Report

of the junta de guerra of February 6, 1756.)
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and named Athanase de Mezieres to serve as the French represent-

ative. Ban-ios refused the proffered aid and expressed to his gov-

ernment the fear that Kerlerec intended to found a presidio near

that of San Agustin.

In spite of the arrest and the harsh treatment of Blancpain and

his party, fear of the Spaniards was not so great as to keep away

all Frenchmen. Domingo del Eio reported in the summer of

1755, after his visit to El Orcoqnisac, that since the arrest of

Blancpain four Frenchmen had been there on horseback. Scarcely

had the new presidio been established when a Frenchman pre-

sented a petition to the viceroy through Barrios asking permission

to settle at El Orcoquisac. The petitioner, M. Masse, a stock

raiser who lived in the Attacapa region, was evidently well known

to Governor Barrios, for when the latter went to establish the pre-

sidio he asked permission to go by way of M. Masse's hacienda

among the Attacapa, but his request was refused. In his petition

Masse enlarged upon his distinguished birth and his attainments,

and explained that he was led to make the request by his desire

to emancipate his slaves, which was not possible in Louisiana.

As arguments in his favor, he referred to his large herds of stock,

which would be at the disposal of the new establishment; to the

increase of population which would result from the settlement of

his numerous slaves; and to the important service he would be

able to perform among the Indians. In this connection, he prom-

ised to secure the allegiance of the Attacapa, as well as the friend-

ship of the northern nations, the Taovayases, the "Letas" (Co-

manche) "Patoca" (Comanche) the "Icara" and the "Pares^^

(Panis). He did not speak for himself alone, but also for his

partner, the Abbe Disdier, whose loyalty he was ready to guar-

antee. On July 22, Governor Barrios forwarded the petition,

and added the information that Masse was a chancellor of

Grenoble, of good standing among the French, absolute master of

the Attacapa and the northern Indians, owner of twenty negroes^

seven hundred head of cattle, and one hundred horses, all of which

he was willing to contribute to the support of the town. "When

we learn that for many years after this date Monsieur Masse was

a contraband trader on the Gulf Coast, and that Barrios also was

engaged in this enterprise, we are inclined to suspect something be-

sides generosity in Masse's request.
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The viceroy in Mexico regarded the petition as a part of a

plan to establish a French settlement on soil claimed by Spain,

and the answer was the only one which could be expected. Bar-

rios was instructed to inform Masse and Disdier that it would be

contrary to law for them to even enter the Spanish province, and

that if they did so their goods would be confiscated and they sent

prisoners to Spain. He was further instructed to ascertain why

the Frenchmen had wished to settle in Texas; and to find out if

the Abbe, during his stay at Los Adaes, had caused any desertions.

In the course of the correspondence which ensued it was stated

that Disdier had come to Xew Orleans as chaplain of a vessel;

had been made chaplain of a seminary in New Orleans; had been

ejected by Kerlerec because of trouble with the boys; had gone to

the establishment of M. Masse, thence to Xatchitoches, and thence

to Los Adaes, where he had served for two months as tutor for

the governor's sons. Eegarding Masse it was stated that he was

a military officer who had been engaged in secret trade among the

Attacapa. In June, 1757, Barrios reported that Disdier had left

Texas on the pretext of going to Mexico to visit the shrine of the

Virgin of Guadalupe, but instead had gone to El Orcoquisac to

persuade the missionaries there to desert to Lousiana and Europe.

Barrios professed to refuse to believe that he was a priest, but re-

garded him as a fraud, and mentioned a correspondence that he

had carried on with De Mezieres.^

Kerlerec did not confine his protests to those made to Barrios,

but wrote to his home government on the matter, addressing his

complaint to the Minister of Marine. This correspondence was

reported to the viceroy of Mexico on March 9, 1757, by the gov-

ernor of Havana. Writing of the matter to the king on April 18,

the viceroy suggested the erection of a presidio on the bank of the

Mississippi Eiver opposite New Orleans "to protect the bound-

aries" and so that this establishment, the new presidio of San

Agustin, and that of La Bahia, might defend the coast "and in

future prevent any introduction whatever." With the dispatch he

sent a map made by Bernardo de Miranda, the surveyor of Santa

Eosa, who happened to be in Mexico, and a report on the French

^Miranda to the viceroy, April 26, 1757; petition of Masse, July 19,

1756; Barrios to the viceroy, July 22, 1756; the viceroy to the king,

September 14, 1756; royal cedula, June 10, 1757; Barrios to the viceroy,

June 16,. 1757; the viceroy to Barrios, 1757, draft.
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border by the same individnal. The map which, as the viceroy

remarked, is not ^'subject to the rules of geography," shows Texas

as extending to the Mississippi.^

Frenchmen continued to operate among the Indians in the

neighborhood of San Agnstin, and to cause trouble for the small

garrison. Sometime in 1759, for example, two Frenchmen en-

tered the Orcoquiza country with a band of one hundred Indians

and were expelled by Del Rio and ten soldiers, after some show of

resistance. It later was charged that they were connected with a

plot to destroy the Spanish settlement. In November of the same

year eight Spanish soldiers were sent to the Brazos to reconnoiter a

place where Frenchmen had encamped among the Karankawa,

promising to return to build a town.^

x411usion has just been made to a French plot to destroy the

settlement at San Agustin. In January, 1760, Del Eio wrote to

Governor Martos that Luis de St. Denis (son of the famous Luis

Juchereau de St. Denis so long commander of Natchitoches) had

sent an Adaes Indian among the Orcoquiza and Bidai tribes to

bribe them to destroy the presidio of San Agustin. Barrios at

once protested to Governor Kerlerec, and added that he believed

that the destruction of San Saba in the preceding year had been

accomplished by French weapons. Kerlerec replied on March 13

in great indignation, demanding that Martos produce evidence to

support the charge against St. Denis, and threatening to complain

to the Spanish king.^ Martos sent his correspondence with Del

Rio and Kerlerec to Mexico, whereupon a secret investigation of

the charges was ordered, and special care enjoined to discover,

whenever an Indian outbreak should occur, whether it was due to

French intrigue.^

The testimony presented in the investigation which followed

was not altogether conclusive, but was nevertheless significant.

Calzones Colorados testified that early in 1760 two Bidai Indians

had brought a message from St. Denis, inviting his tribe to go to

^The viceroy to Arriaga, April 18, 1757.

^Declaration of Miguel Ramos and others, April 17-20, 1761.

'Kerlerec to Martos, March 13, 1760, in Testimonio practicado sohre
si Dn. Jasinto de Barrios tuvo comersio, etc. B. A,, 1756-1766.

"Dictamen fiscal, August 26, 1760; viceroy's decree, August 27, 1760;
dictamen del auditor, September 1, 1760; decree of the viceroy, September
3, 1760; the viceroy to Martos, September 8, 1760.
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Natchitoches to secure ammunition with which to return and kill

all the Spaniards at El Oreoquisac; that he had refused to listen

(of course) ; that the emissaries had gone to make the same pro-

posal to Canos and Tomas; and that later one of them had re-

turned saying that the offer had been made by St. Denis merely

to test their loyalty to the Spaniards.

Canos, well known to be a partisan of the French, as his name

implied, could not be secured as a witness, for he had escaped

to the Attacapa: El Gordo denied having been offered bribes, but

declared that during a visit to Calzones Colorados he had heard

of the proposal. Tamages, another chief, corroborated the story

as told by Calzones Colorados; Boca Floja, another, testified that

the two Frenchmen who had been expelled by Del Rio had come

with one hundred Attacapa to induce them to aid in killing all

the Spaniards and running off the stock. The conference had been

broken up by the opportune arrival of Del Eio and ten soldiers.

The Bidai chiefs, on the other hand, claimed that, so far as they

were concerned, no bribes had been offered them.^

This testimony, considering the circumstances under which it

was given, is not conclusive, but taken in connection with Ker-

lerec's avowed design of encroaching upon western Texas, his pro-

tests against the settlement at San Agustin, his recent proposal

of a joint commission, and the contemporary Indian attack on San

Saba, in which French influence was clearly seen, the evidence is

not to be rejected altogether.

Again in November, 1763, after the Louisiana cession, but be-

fore it was generally known in Texas and Louisiana, a lively

dispute over boundaries arose between Governor Martos and Cava-

lier Macarty, commander at Natchitoches. The precise point at

issue was not the ownership of the lower Trinity, but in the course

of the correspondence Macarty laid claim, on the basis of La

Salle's colon}^, to the Bay of Esplritu Santo, saying: ^'^This be-

^The whole investigation is recorded in the documents called Testimonio
sohre si Dn. Jasinto de Barrios tuvo comersio con Muniziones de Guerra
con las Yndios Barharos de Esta Prova y fuera de ella, etc. B. A., Adaes,
1756-1766, Martos sent the correspondence on March 16; on August 26

the fiscal gave his opinion ; the auditor his on September 1 ; the viceroy-

approved their opinions on September 3, and on September 5 issued his

instructions to Barrios. Martos received the instructions on January 17,

1761, and on the 22d began the investigation. The investigation at San
Agustin was conducted by Del Rio and Juan Prieto.
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ing granted you cannot fail to be convinced both of our rights to

the Bay of San Lnis (Espiritu Santo), and that if from there we

draw a line running straight north, the lands lying to the east

thereof belong to the ^lost Christian dominions."^

After the occupation of Lonisana by Spain the question of

the boundary ceased to have political significance, and troubles

arising over the French contraband traders on the border were

matters of internal concern only.

MISSION PROGRESS, 1759-1771.

Eegarding progress and events at the mission of Xuestra Sefiora

de la Luz, which had the misfortune to be placed amidst a multi-

tude of discordant and hostile elements, natural, moral, and po-

litical^ we have only incomplete data. Xevertheless, here and there

we get glimpses of occurrences and personalities.

Father Chavira's place was filled by Fray Francisco Caro, for-

merly of the mission of Xuestra Sefiora de los Dolores de los Ais,

who was at the Trinity mission in February, 1758. The most

notable event recorded of his administration was his denunciation

of the climate, swamps, and insect pests at the site, and his

strenuous fight to have the mission removed to El Atascosito. In

1759 and 1760, as we have already seen, the superior of the mission

was Father Abad de Jesus Maria. He opposed the removal of the

mission as strenuously as Father Caro had favored it. It is from

him that we get the description already given of the second church,

which was being built in 1759.

The Indians of the place were not always docile, and there is

little evidence that they actually entered the mission and submitted

to its discipline. In 1759, during some trouble, the Attacapa

joined the Orcoquiza in an outbreak, and in order to pacify them

it was necessary to shoot a soldier. The trouble was evidently

caused by one of the ever recurring instances of misconduct on the

part of the presidial guards.

^

Slight as is our information before 1760, we have even less for

the period between that time and the coming of Captain Pacheco,

^Macarty to Martos, November 17, 1763.

^Vallejo to Barrios, February 27, 1758; Father Abad to the governor,
November 27, 1759.
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in 1764. But the occurrences at the time of his advent indicate

that few Indians were living in the mission before that date, and

that the mission building was in a state of decay when he arrived.

The coming of Captain Pacheco was followed by a temporary

revival at the mission under Fathers Salvino and Aristorena,

aided by the new captain. Pacheco arrived on May 13, 1764, and

on the next day he began his reforms. Calling an assembly of the

one hundred and fifty Orcoquiza living about the place, he passed

them in review, and addressed them in the presence of the mission-

aries, urging them to settle in the mission at once. A peace pipe

was passed, dances were performed, and the Indians declared them-

selves eager to enter a mission for which they had waited three

years. Del Eio, the interpreter, informed them of the duties of

neophytes, telling them that they must obey the king, his officers,

and the missionaries, throw away their idols, attend prayers,

work in the field for the fathers, remain always in the mission

enclosure, and defend the place against the French or hostile tribes.

In return^ Del Rio assured them of four rations of food a week

and clothing when necessary.^ The Orcoquiza agreed. G-ifts and

feasting followed, and the next day the heathen idols and orna-

ments were solemnly turned over to the missionaries.

The new zeal extended to other villages besides that of Calzones.

On May 31, Chief Canos and his band, now mainly of Attacapa,

it seems, came, flying a French flag, to consider entering the

mission. The same ceremony was performed, and after a day's

deliberation Canos declared himself willing to part with the French

emblem and the native idols, and to enter a mission, providing

it were separate from that of Calzones. On June 6 the Bidai

chief, Tomas, came with forty-eight of his tribe, participated in

the same ceremonies, and promised to enter a mission if it were

established in his own country—his people had already tried one

in foreign lands, at San Xavier—and also to persuade the northern

tribes to do likewise.

On June 14, Captain Pacheco sent to Mexico an account of all

that had been done, and requested funds to rebuild the mission

and the presidio, both of which were in a state of decay ; to furnish

supplies for the Indians; and to found missions for the villages

^Pacheco to Solis, May 26, 1764. Papeles pertenecimtes al Orcoquisa.
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of Tomas and Canos. He asked, besides, for permission to go with

Chief Tomas on a missionary and diplomatic trip among the

northern tribes. Pacheco assisted further in the missionary work

by furnishing supplies, and within a short time he was reported

to have furnished the Indians with clothing to the value of 1079

pesos, and with tools and implements for agriculture. Calzones'

village was supplied with two beeves and five fanegas of corn a

week, and that of Canos with half as much.^

This, however, was but a temporary wave of enthusiasm, lasting

but a few months. The scandalous quarrel which ensued before

the year was over, between Pacheco and Governor Barrios, resulting

in the flight of the former and his absence during the next five

years, removed the best support of the missionaries, and there was

a recurrence of former conditions at IsTuestra Senora de la Luz,

which the Marques de Rubl, after a visit in 1767, referred to as

''an imaginars^ mission."^

Nevertheless, the missionaries continued their work, and in the

course of the next six years effected the "perfect conversion" of

thirty Indians, mainly adults. Pacheco was welcomed back in the

fall of 1769 by both missionaries and Indians, and his return was

followed by another revival. The missionaries whose names appear

are Fathers Luis Salvino and Bernardino Aristorena, in 1764-1766;

Fray Bernardo de Silva (?), 1766; Fray Joseph Marenti, 1767;

Fray Ignacio Maria Laba, 1768-1771; Fray Anselmo Garcia, 1770;

and Fray Joseph del Rosario Soto, 1770. Presidents Vallejo and

Calahorra each visited the place once in the course of its existence,

but Father Soils, who in 1766 came all the way from Zacatocas to

visit the missions, slighted this one, and caused complaint thereby.

Missionary supplies were continued with some regularity during

the administration of Afan de Rivera at San Agustin, between

1765 and 1769, who spent for the Indians 2724: pesos; and Pacheco,

during his stay of a year after he returned in the fall of 1769,

spent 2496 pesos for the Orcoquiza, Attacapa, Bidai, and "Asinaio,"

tribes "resident on this frontier." The Asinai had by this time

acquired the custom of coming to the post for regalos. At least

^Papeles pertenecientes al Orcoquisa. B. MSS. (This collection gives

an account of Pacheco's assistance to the missionaries.) ; Pacheco to

Cruillas, July 22 and July 29, 1764, ihid.

^Rubf, Dictamen, paragraphs 24-25.
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one missionary expedition was made by a padre among the Bidai,

and in all probability more than one. And after the garrison of

the presidio was removed in 1771, the missionaries, Fray Ignacio

Laba and his companion, were the last to leave the place.^

SCANDALS IN THE ADMINISTRATION

Up to 1764 the presidio of San Agiistin was commanded b_y

Domingo del Rio, who was responsible to Governor Miartos. But

in 1763 Del Rio wrote to the viceroy complaining of the lack of

flour and clothing, and even of ammunition, charging Governor

Martos with neglect, and recommending that the post be taken

out of the governor's hands and put under the command of a

captain directly responsible to the viceroy. On November 23, the

viceroy acted upon this recommendation (though it seems that the

change was already under contemplation) and appointed to the new

office Rafael Martinez Pacheco.^ The first result of the change

was the promising wave of missionary activity and general prosper-

ity which we have already recounted. But this was soon followed

by one of the disgraceful quarrels which so often marred the success

of frontier Spanish administration.

Pacheco was charged by his troops with arrogance, ill temper,

harshness, and avarice. By June 34 his soldiers had planned a

general mutiny, which was temporarily checked by a visit of Gov-

ernor Martos and President Calahorra, who came to attend to

moving the presidio and mission. The governor's stay of a month

did not help matters—perhaps the contrary—and in a short time

the plan to desert was carried out. One by one the garrison slipped

away to Natchitoches, and before August, eighteen had sought

French protection, while two took refuge at the Mission of San

Miguel, only five, among whom was Domingo del Rio, remaining

at the presidio.

Hearing of the event, Governor Martos sent a squad of soldiers

to the provincial boundary to overtake the deserters, if possible.

In this he failed, and a few days later Periere, commander at

^Testimonio del expediente, formado d instancia de la parte del Capitan
Don Rafael Marttinz. Pacheco, 138.

-Order of the viceroy. Papeles pertenecientes at Orcoquiza, November 23,

1763.
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Natchitoches, forwarded to Martos a petition of the deserters, who

told of their wrongs, but professed a willingness to return if they

were put under another commander.^

Martos proceeded, in the usual way, to take depositions, and in

consequence, on September 12, he formally suspended Pacheco and

promised the deserters pardon. He then sent Marcos Eulz at the

head of the band of twenty deserters to arrest Pacheco and to

restore peace and order, two entirely incompatible aims, it proved.

Ariiving there on October 7, Ruiz proceeded to arrest Pacheco,

But this doughty warrior barricaded himself and a handful of

servants and adherents in his presidio^ trained two cannon on the

arresting party, and opened fire.

Withdrawing to a safe distance, Ruiz laid siege to the strong-

hold. For three days the combined effort of' Del Rio, Fray Sal-

vino, chief Calzones, and a maiden named Rosa Guerra to com-

municate with Pacheco proved without avail. At the end of these

three days the chief with his braves, who had been neutral or wav-

ering, gave allegiance to Ruiz, and on the 11th the presidio was

set on fire, to drive the captain out. In the attendant light blood

was shed and Pacheco, with one faithful adherent, Brioso, escaped

through a secret door. Hiding till night in a nearby tule patch,

the fugitives crossed the river and fled toward San Antonio.

Two days later they were met by teamsters from San Antonio

twelve leagues down the road, at Caramanchel. Reaching La

Bahia, the captain hid for a day and two nights in the house of

Capt. Ramirez de la Pizcina. Going thence to the mission of

San Jose on a horse loaned him by Ramirez and aided by Father

Cambaros, he took refuge at the mission, but was arrested by Cap-

tain Manchaca in virtue of a proclamation issued by Ruiz. But

in December he was freed, after an attack on one of his guards,

and thereafter lived at liberty for several months at the mission

of San Jose, going to San Antonio with entire freedom. ^ Later

on he went to Mexico, where he was imprisoned and tried.

^Testimonio de los Autos fhos por el Govor de Provincia de Tex{is

contra Rafael Martinez Pacheco, Ano de 1764. B. A,, Adaes, 1756-1766.

This expedientc contains the evidence regarding the trouble at San Agustfn.

"^Testimonio de los Autos; Testimonio de Dilixencias comenzadas en San
Augustin de Aumada y continuadas en este Preso. de los Adaes por el

Govor de esta Prova de Texas contra el Gapitan Don Rafael Martinez
Pacheco. Ano de 1765. B. A., Bexar, 1751-1769.
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After the escape of Pacheco, Euiz, aided by Fray Salvino, man-

aged affairs at San Agustln for a time in peace, writing reports

of the damage done to the presidio and of Pacheco's misdeeds,

and making new attempts to reduce the Indians to mission life.

It now came out that Calzones had been bribed by Pacheco to

oppose the attempts made by Martos in the preceding summer to

remove the presidio and mission to Los Horconsitos. This dis-

closure involved Del Eio, and hastened the appointment of Afan

de Eivera as commander. In May, 1765, Eivera arrested Del Eio

for his partisanship with Pacheco. In November of the same year

Euiz was arrested by Hugo O'Connor to answer to the charge of

burning the presidio. Another man of some prominence to become

entangled was Manuel de Soto, who to escape arrest fled to Natchi-

toches, and lived there for some years a refugee. Finally, in 1767

Martos himself fell, under the charge of burning the presidio,

and subsequently underwent a trial that lasted fourteen years and

ended with the imposition of a heavy fine upon him.^ Truly an

unfortunate establishment was that of San Agustin.

THE ABANDONMENT OF EL ORCOQUISAC

The remaining five years of the outpost's existence were less

eventful. Afan de Eivera, successor to Marcos Euiz, com-

manded the garrison till the fall of 1769. At that time Captain

Pacheco, who had been tried, exonerated, and reinstated by the

government in Mexico, returned to his post, welcomed by both mis-

sionaries and Indians, with whom he was a favorite.

The monotony of mere existence at the forlorn place was broken

on September 4, 1766, by one of those terrible storms which since

the dawn of history there in 1528 have periodically swept the

Texas coast. It damaged the buildings, led to more talk of

^^movings," and, it appears, actually caused the transfer of the

presidio to higher ground a quarter of a league away. In 1767

Marshal E.ubi, the distinguished officer from Spain, honored the

place with an inspection, but not with his good opinion. In 1769

^Testimonio de Autos fhos . . . contra . . . Pacheco. B. A.,

San Agustln de Ahumada; Testimonio de la Declaration que hicieron los

principales Indios de la Nacion Orcoquisa ante Don Marcos Ruiz . . .

1765, L. P. no. 25 ; Testimonio de la Dilixencia practicada por el Sargento
Maior Dn Hugo Oconor sohre la remision del theniente don Marcos Ruiz
al Precidio de los Adaes . . . 1765 B. MSS.
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the monotonjr was again relieved by the passage that way of a band

of shipwrecked Acadians who had been rescued at La Bahia and

sent, after being harshly treated, to their compatriots in Louisiana.

Another event of these latter years was a three day's campaign

against Indian horse thieves.

Eubi had recommended in 1767, since Louisiana no longer be-

longed to France and the eastern Texas missions were failures,

that both the presidios and the missions of that frontier should

be suppressed, a measure which was ordered carried in 1772.

But before the order came El Orcoquisac was already aban-

doned. In June, 1770, the governor of Texas, the Baron de Eip-

perda, made a call for help against the Apaches. In consequence

Captain Pacheco responded in July with a part of his garrison.

In February, 1771, the rest of the soldiers, except three, went to

San Antonio in answer to another call. The three had remained

behind with Father Laba and his companion, whose departure was

opposed by their charges. But within a few weeks the mission-

aries, also, left, and the presidio and mission passed out of

existence.^

^References to the events of the last days of the establishment are made
in Test, del Expediente, 132-134; Thobar to Pacheco, June 12, 1770; cer-

tificate by Ripperda, July 3, 1770, to the effect that Pacheco had aided in
an Indian campaign.
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CAUSES A^'D OEIGIjS' OF THE DECREE OF APRIL
6, 1830^

ALLEINE HOWREN

I. Introduction

1. Mexico, 1823-7833.—To appreciate the significance of any

measnre of the Mexican federal government, with regard to Texas,

during the years 1820-1836 it is necessary to haye a knowledge

of conditions in Mexico during that time, as well as some under-

standing of the feeling of the Mexican people toward their neigh-

bors of the north, the people of the United States. This is possibly

more true of the decree of April 6, 1830, than of any other political

measure passed by the Mexican goyernment, with reference to

Texas, during the whole period of Anglo-American colonization.

Therefore, before taking up a study of the decree, it will be well

to review rapidly the salient facts in Mexico^s history during the

decade 1833-1833.

After a struggle of eleven years, IVIjexico succeeded, in 1821, in

freeing herself from the yoke of Spain. During the next three

years she went through a restless period of governmental experi-

ments, the boldest of which was the adoption in 1824 of a consti-

tution and a republican form of government. It seemed for a

while as if this radical step was to prove successful. The first

president^ Guadalupe Victoria, was a fairly able executive, and

piloted the war-worn nation safely through the first three and a

half years of his administration. But the presidential campaign

of 1828 was a sharp contest between two strong candidates, Gomez

Pedraza and Vicente Guerrero Pedraza was declared elected, but

Guerrero charged unfairness in the election and took up arms in

support of hi? claim. He was a popular military leader and suc-

^The manuscript matorials used in the preparation of this paper are

found in the Austin Papers at the University of Texas, and in the tran-

scripts which the University has made from the Mexican archives. The
transcripts here used are from the Archivo de Guerra y Marina, Opera-

ciones Militares, Fracciofi 1. Each document will be referred to by Legajo
and dat«.
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ceeded in establishing himself in the presidential chair at the

beginning of the new term, April 1, 1829. In the summer of

1829, the nation was thrown into excitement over an attempt of

Spain to invade her former possession with a view to reconquest.

The Spanish troops were easily repelled by Generals Teran and

Santa Anna, but during the crisis President Guerrero had been

invested with dictatorial powers, and his exercise of the extraordi-

nary authority afforded political agitators an opportunity to raise

the cry of tyranny. Anastasio Bustamante, who had been elected

vice-president on the ticket with. Pedraza, easily "assumed the role,

which is always open to the demagogue, of preserver of the consti-

tution and liberator of the people,"^ and incited a revolt against

Guerrero, who fled from the capital, leaving his rival in possession.

Bustamante assumed the chair and held it until he in turn was

driven out by the ambitious Santa Anna in November, 1832.

Pedraza was now installed to fill out his unexpired term, and on

April 1, 1833, Santa Anna himself became president. The turbu-

lent history of the next few years does not directly concern the

subject of the decree of April 6, 1830.

2. The Anglo-American Colonization of Texas.—During the

years while Mexico was effecting the outward metamorphosis into

a full-fledged republic^ she took a step which seemed at the time

not only justifiable but commendably progressive, but one which

shortly proved to have been a serious political blunder. This was

nothing less than the opening of her doors to foreign immigration.

It is true that the first concession in this direction was made under

Spanish authority to Moses Austin of Missouri, in 1821, but the

grant was reaffirmed by the various succeeding governments, and

in August, 1824, the new republic promulgated a general coloni-

zation law^ most generous in its provisions. The intent of the law

seems to have been a deliberate bid for colonization from the

English-speaking states of the north. The reason back of this was

doubtless in some degree an impulsive feeling of fellowship on the

part of the newly born Mexican republic for the strong and success-

ful sister republic whose boundaries touched her own. She was

grateful for the sympathy extended by the people of the United

^Garrison, Texas, 104.

^Dublan y Lozano, Legislacion Meancana, I, 712.
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States during her struggle with Spain, and for the prompt official

recognition of her independent government in 1822. It can be

regarded as but natural if she saw in the future a welding of

interests and population at the inland borders of the two nations.

Mexican statesmen were fully cognizant of the impulse of westward

expansion in the United States, and they gladly threw open before

it the fertile lands of Texas. As before stated, the step seemed

both justifiable and progressive. The mistake lay in the fact that

Mexico was ignorant of the nature of the people whom she was

inviting within her borders. Without imputing blame or making

comparisons disparaging to either people, it may be categorically

stated that amalgamation, or even understanding, was essentially

impossible between the representatives of the two races who came

in contact with each other in Texas. By race, tradition, and edu-

cation the two peoples were separated by an impassable gulf. But

the business of colonizing Texas was undoubtedly taken up in good

faith on both sides; the friction, easily as it developed, was neither

sought nor welcomed by either; it was simply inevitable.

One of the first notes of alarm to sound in Mexico's ears was

the amazing success of her proposition. In three hundred years,

Spain had managed to people Texas with some four thousand

souls,^ while in one decade, 1820-1830, under the new colonization

scheme, the civilized population increased to five times that num-

ber,^ of whom the English-speaking inhabitants were in a large

majority.^ This rapid immigration would possibly have resulted

under any conditions by which Texas might have been opened to

Anglo-American settlement, but it was peculiarly facilitated by

the colonization scheme adopted by the state legislature of Coa-

huila-Texas in 1825.* Under this law, certain persons desig-

nated as emfiresarios could contract with the state government to

settle a number of families on vacant lands in the state, the head

of each family receiving from the government one league of graz-

ing land or one labor of agricultural land, or both,^ and the

^Garrison, Texas, 124.

nUd., 156.

^Teran to Guadalupe Victoria, June 30, 1828. Transcript. Legago 7,

1836.

*Gammel, Laws of Texas, I, 99-106.

mid.. Art. 14.
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empresario receiving five leagues and five labors for each one hun-

dred families introduced through his efforts, provided he did not

receive the premium on more than eight hundred families.^ The

price paid for this land by immigrants was $30 for a league and

$2.50 to $3.50 for a lahor."^ It is at once evident that such offers

to a people imbued with the spirit of land-getting would not lack

takers, if the land were of any value at all, and these lands were

for the most part extraordinarily rich.

Stephen F. Austin was the most successful empresario. He in-

troduced over twelve hundred families. "His colony was the pre-

dominant element of Anglo-American Texas, and he the foremost

figure among the colonists."^ The new population was located

along the lower courses of the rivers between the Sabine and the

.ISTueces, and for the most part south and east of the old San

Antonio Eoad, which connected Bejar with Nacogdoches.

A most significant fact in the colonization of Texas was the

political status of the colonies. Aside from a general oath of

allegiance to the Mexican federal and state governments, required

of every male colonist, each of the colonies was practically inde-

pendent in the management of its local affairs. It is obvious

that this fact off'ered opportunity for serious trouble in case any

race antagonism should develop. Such antagonism did develop,

and, combined with other circumstances, engendered in the minds

of the Mexican people angry suspicions as to the designs of the

United States upon the province. It needs to be noted that the

Mexican statesmen who framed the colonization policy, if not

aware of the inevitableness of such suspicions, were yet bv no

means blind to their possibility, as is evidenced in a clause of the

federal law of August 18, 1814, which reads as follows: "Prior

to the year 1840, the general congress shall not prohibit the in-

troduction of foreigners for the purpose of colonization, unless

imperious circumstances make it necessary to do so with resprct

to the individuals of some particular nation."*

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, I, 102, Art. 12.

mid., Art. 22.

^Garrison, Texas, 157.

*Dublan y Lozano, Legislacidn Mexicana, 1, 712, Art. 7.
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II. Growth of Friction Between Texas and Mexico

1. The Fredonian Rehellion.—It was hardly to have been ex-

pected that all the empresainos who attempted to settle families

in Texas would be men of tact and far-sighted judgment, and it

was to be expected that the empresarios lacking these qualities

would not find trouble avoiding him, since there were earlier set-

tlers scattered throughout the sections chosen for colonization.

Hayden Edwards was the man who first became involved in a

serious difficulty arising from this cause. The story of his mis-

fortune and political disagreements, ending in armed rebellion

against the Mexican government and his final expulsion from the

province, it to well known to need reciting here. The point that

concerns us is the attitude of Edwards's fellow-colonists and that

of the federal authorities toward his movement. Dr. Garrison

says :^

The rising . . . met with little encouragement. It was
only in Edwards's colony that there appeared just then to be any
occasion for it, and the general mass of Anglo-Americans had
little interest in the quarrels of the local factions at Nacogdoches.

In Austin's colony there had been up to this time no serious fric-

tion with the Mexican authorities, and the sentiment of gratitude

and loyalty towards Mexico in that quarter was strong. Had
Austin been moved by this feeling less than he was, it would have

been easy for him, looking at the matter from a business stand-

point, to see that the Fredonian outbreak threatened ruin to the

work of the empresarios. Farther than this, the Fredonians were
in alliance with the Indians, whom he and his colonists had good
reason to dread. His mind, therefore, was quickly made up. He
took strong ground against the insurrection, using his infiuence

to suppress it, and sending a considerable • detachment of militia

from his colony with the Mexican troops who marched to put it

down.

This was accomplished with comparatively little difficulty in

January of 1827, and the Fredonian Eebellion became a thing of

mem.ory only. But the seed of suspicion had beeen sown.

This was the first tangible incident calculated to stimulate

racial distrust. In spite of the fact that the rebellion had been

easily suppressed and the offenders expelled, Mexico might easily

have made the inquiry, "^Tiat of the North Americans who did

^Garrison, Texas, 166-7.
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not join this timef It is not likely that intelligent Mexicans

saw in Austin's loyal attitude more than a shrewd business fore-

sight. Whether or not at that time they regarded the uprising

as inspired from abroad, it is hard to say; but it was not long

until they began to see in it a conspiracy on the part of the

United States to acquired Texas by insidious means. Lieutenant

Tarnava, in a report regarding the Texas question, made at the

instance of General Teran to the Minister of War, in January,

1830, uses the following language:^ "General Teran does not

doubt that the United States will carry out their project of pos-

sessing Texas at the first opportunity, which opportunity will be

as soon as they think we are torn by civil strife—a consideration

which should not be lost sight of for one moment; either they

would incite the American population to revolt, as they tried to

do in 1826 at Nacogdoches,^ or else they would openly use force to

support their pretended claims.''

2. Attempts of the United States to Purchase Texas.—This

suspicion of a conspiracy, however slight it may have been in

1826, was confirmed and increased by the evident desire of the

United States to possess Texas, a desire repeatedly emphasized in

the instructions issued to her diplomatic agents in Mexico during

the administrations of John Quincy Adams and Andrew Jackson,

for the desire had not ceased to exist with the legal adjustment

of the boundary at the Sabine by the Treaty of Onis in 1819.

The relinquishment of Texas at that time was acquiesced in most

reluctantly by Adams, the Secretary of State, and shortly after

he became president in 1825 he began negotiations for the pur-

chase of all or a part of the territory between the Sabine and the

"Rio Grande. Poinsett, the agent of the United States in Mexico,

after feeling the ground, counselled delay. But in 1827 he was

instructed by the state department at Washington to offer Mexico

one million dollars for the territory betweeen the Sabine and the

Eio Grande, extending westward to the Pecos and north to the

Arakansas ; if this much could not be secured, he was to offer five

hundred thousand for a boundary at the Colorado. Mexico not

only had no intention of accepting these offers, but became

alarmed and demanded the recognition of the line of 1819 as

^Tarnava to Ministro de Guerra, January 6, 1830. Transcript. Legajo
14, 1830.

^The italics are the present writers.
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the condition of any commercial treaty between herself and the

United States. The United States acceded to this condition, but

the offers to purchase were not permanently discontinued, Poin-

sett's successor reopening them in 1829-30.

Clay, in his instruction to Poinsett in 1827, had suggested as

a possible argument to be used in the negotiations that the con-

tinued settlement in Mexican territory of Anglo-Americans, who

bore with them the political principles of their own nation, must

inevitably lead to friction. Poinsett was wise enough not to

advance this idea, but it certainly occurred to the Mexican

leaders, and they magnified its significance. The possible trans-

fer of Texas to the United States was being written and spoken

about freely in the North, and Mexico was by no means unin-

formed of what was discussed in the papers of the United States.

The following extracts will serve to indicate the interest the

f?ubject had aroused in the United States. A friend of Austin

wrote from Lexington, Kentucky, in the fall of 1829 :^

I am sorry to perceive that Mexico is again exposed to foreign

war as well as intestine divisions. We are all anxious to purchase

Texas from Mexico and the subject is beginning to excite a great

deal of warm discussion in our public prints. If Mexico will dis-

pose of it on reasonable terms, I believe our government will no
doubt be glad to obtain it. and I am sure it will meet the almost

universal desire of our citizens. The consequences to the holders

of property in Texas would be very important and it would pro-

mote the happiness and prosperity of all the citizens of the prov-

ince. A great many citizens of Kentucky would move to your
settlement instantly if it were under our government.

About the same time a Texas colonist, then on a visit "back

home,'' wrote from N'ashville:^

The prosperity of your colony . . . has now become a lead-

ing topic in conversation and one of the most interesting sub-

jects of discussion in the political papers. A strong and simul-

taneous effort is at this moment making from the one end of the

country to the other to induce this government to purchase it. I

incline to the belief that if the IMexican government will sell this

government will ljuy.

^McCalla to Austin, October 6, 1829. Austin Papers.

-Nicholas to Austin, October 11, 1829. Austin Papers.
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But in December of this same year David G. Burnet wrote from

Cincinnati' tliat newspaper discussion of the purchase of Texas

had abated, since Poinsett^s conduct had made him too unpopu-

lar to negotiate a treaty. This was quite true as to Poinsett's

position in Mexico; in fact, he had already been recalled, to be

succeeded by Colonel Anthony Butler, who, however, as events

proved, was a less fit representative of the United States govern-

ment than Poinsett had been. In January, 1830, John Austin,

a citizen of Texas, but at that time in the United States, wrote

from New York^ that he was assured by ^^credible authorities^'

that purchase was hopeful, that the subject was being discussed

by the English papers, and that Mexico was seemingly disposed

to friendliness with the United States.

All of this interest and discussion were doubtless well known

in Mexico, and when it is remembered that in addition to this the

charge of the United States was broaching the subject at every

opportunity, it is no wonder that Mexico began to see evidence of

a sinister design in the persistent desire of her neighbor to possess

Texas. She feared that what the United States could not obtain

by negotiation she might try to take by force. This fear is re-

peatedly expressed in the letters of General Teran, who was at this

time com.andante general of the Eastern States^ with headquarters

in Tamaulipas. He was in close touch with Texas affairs from

1827 until his death in 1832, and his observations and reports are

the most reliable source of information on the Texas question, as

seen by Mexican eyes, during this period.

But if we are to take Austin at his word, the Texans of intel-

ligence had no desire to see Texas transferred to the United States.

The first expression that I have seen from Austin on this subject

is in a letter to his sister, Mrs. Perry, and her husband, written

in March, 1830. He is urging them to emigrate to Texas at once:"

Pay no attention to rumors and silly reports, but push on as

fast as possible. We have nothing to fear from this govt, nor
from any other quarter except from the United States of the
North. If that Govt, should get hold of us and introduce its

land system, etc., thousands who are now on the move, and have

^Burnet to Austin, December 4, 1829. Austin Papers.

^John Austin to S. F. Austin, January 1-22, 1830. Austin Papers.

^Austin to J. F. and E. M. Perry, March 28, 1830. Austin Papers.
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not yet secured their titles, would be totally ruined. The great-

est misfortune that could befall Texas at this moment would be

a sudden change by which any of the emigrants would be thrown
upon the liberality of the Congress of the United States of the

North. Theirs would he a most forlorn hope. I have no idea

of any change unless it be effected by arbitrary force, and I have
too much confidence in the magnanimity of my native country to

suppose that its Govt, would resort to that mode of extending

its already unwieldy frame over the territory of its friend and
neighbor and sister republic.

On the following day, apparently alarmed by "rumors and silly

reports" of the approach of troops from the Eio Grande—rumors

evidently too well founded of Teran's expedition, then on the way

—Austin was moved to write a lengthy letter to the political chief

at Bejar/ in which he repeated and amplified the views expressed

in the letter to his relatives. He takes up at some length the

unconstitutionality of the sale of Texas by the federal government

of Mexico, declaring that liinder the law of August l.S, 1824

—

The national government cannot give title to one single indi-

vidual for even one vara of public land in the state; how then

can it sell all the lands to a foreign power? . . . One of

the objects of the Government of the North in seeking to ac-

quire Texas is to derive revenue from the sale of our public

lands, and if we should be transferred to that government with-

out the previous necessary guarantees, many individuals who have
received concessions under the old government and under this

would lose their lands under the pretext of not having complied

with each trivial detail of the grant. . . . It is my duty

to inform you as my political chief of the public opinion here

concerning a particular of such grave importance to all the in-

habitants of Texas and of so much interest to the government,

for it is possible that in Mexico they might believe that the new
colonists desire to be transferred to the Government of the North,

and influenced by this mistaken belief, they might perhaps take

some step very injurious to Texas and the true interests of the

State of Coahuila and Texas and all the nation. The new colon-

ists desire no such thing, nor would they in any manner consent

to a transfer to the Government of the North without the great-

est number of previous guarantees.

This letter is particularly interesting as coming at this date,

^Austin to Musquiz, March 29, 1830. Austin Papers.
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since the "injurious step" was, as we shall see, already framed and

was actually passed by the Mexican congress and published less

than ten days after Austin wrote Musquiz. One is led to suspect

that the "rumors and silly reports" had disquieted Austin more

than he felt disposed to admit, and that he wrote to Musquiz, whom
he knew to be politically his friend, in the hope of forestalling the

injurious measure.

3. The Question of Slavery.—Many of the English-speaking

settlers in Texas were slaveholders. Some had been so when they

emigrated to the new country and others found it to their advan-

tage to acquire slaves after arriving in Texas. There were two

reasons for this. Frontier conditions do not furnish a numerous

or cheap wage-earning class^ yet cheap labor is essential at such

a time. Slaves were practically a necessity for the profitable culti-

vation of the land in Texas. In the second place, it is not likely

that Mexican and Indian labor, even had it been available and

cheap, would have been readily adopted by the Anglo-American

settlers. The indolence and sensitive pride of the Mexican consti-

tuted a combination that made him undesirable as a laborer.

However, the Mexican nation early set its stamp of disapproval

on negro slavery, though the existing laws on this subject at the

time when colonization began from the United States were some-

w^hat ambiguous. The state constitution of Coahuila-Texas, adopted

in March, 1827,^ declared that from that date no person could be

born a slave in the state, and that after six months no introduction

of slaves should take place under any pretext whatever. Had this

decree been enforced literally, it would have seriously retarded the

development of Texas. The colonists evaded it by taking advantage

of a law passed May 5, 1828,^ which recognized the legality of

contracts made between master and servant prior to arrival in

Texas. The emigrant settler thus merely took the trouble to make
a practically non-terminable contract with his slaves before he

crossed the Sabine.^ Under this arrangemelit, colonization went

on uninterruptedly, so far as slavery was concerned, for two more

years. In view of Mexico's system of peonage, in some ways un-

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 47-56.

^Bugbee, "Slavery in Early Texas/' in Political Smence Quarterly, XIII,
409.

miles' Register, XXXIV, 334.
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doubtedly worse than avowed slaver}-, it is evident that it was the

name rather than the institution to which she objected. But

whether her attitude was consistent, or mereh' a gross oversight

of the beam in her own eye while looking for the mote in her

neighbor's eye, was a question that did not affect her feelings

toward the actual fact of slavery in Texas. It was a constant

source of irritation to her that, in spite of repeated laws on the

subject, the English-speaking colonists of the northern province

continued to hold their black slaves, and the semblance of legality

afforded by the state law cited served only to deepen the irritation.

General Teran, in a letter to President Guadalupe Alctoria,

written from Nacogdoches in 1828,^ says : "If these laws [abolish-

ing slavery] should be repealed—which God forbid—in a few years

Texas would be a powerful state which could compete in wealth

and productions with Louisiana." General Teran's observations

on the situation in Texas in 1828 are not only keen and intelligent,

hut doubly interesting from the fact that he is inclined to respect,

if not even to admire, tlie Anglo-American colonists as a whole.

In the words just quoted he implies his personal disapproval of

slaverv^ as an institution—a disapproval expressed in no uncertain

terms elsewhere in the letter—but he is at the same time able to

grasp the economic importance of the institution. In another

passage of the same letter he points out two sources of danger

from these slaveholding citizens. He says that they are impatient

of the restraint placed upon the development of Texas by anti-

slaver}' laws, and that they are also annoyed at the efiect of such

legislation on the attitude of the slaves themselves. Just how far

the last obser\'ation may be true—and Teran was but newly arrived

in the province—and how much weight to attach to it if true, are

matters open to question; but that the Mexican leaders saw in the

rigid prohibition of slavery a weapon with which to strike at Anglo-

American immigration and influence is evidenced in the renewed

attack on the institution in 1829.

When Guerrero was invested with dictatorial powers in that year,

those of the Mexican leaders who were especially desirous of seeing

Anglo-American colonization cut short induced him to issue a

^Teran to Guadalupe Victoria, June 28, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 7.

1836.
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decree unequivocally abolishing slavery throughout the republic^

the measure to take effect on the date of publication, September 15,

1829.^ Such radical action naturally stirred up the Texans the

more, since it was evident that it was aimed directly at the Anglo-

American colonists, who alone held slaves in any considerable

number. The decree was never officially published in Texas, and

was withdrawn, so far as that state was concerned, in less than

two months after its passage. Mr. Bugbee, in his article on slavery

in Texas cited above, says that a simultaneous impulse seems to

have moved a number of Texas authorities to protest against the

application of the decree to Texas, and that their efforts through

the governor of Coahuila were sufficient to secure this end in

December, 1829. But while Austin's first knowledge of the decree

seems to have come from the political chief at Bejar in a letter

dated October 29,^ wherein the political chief states that the copy

of the decree has but just arrived, on I^ovember 20 Teran wrote

Austin,^ from Tampico, saying that he had been authorized by

the president to exempt Texas from the decree of September 15,

1829, in all except the importation of slaves, and suggesting that

it would be unnecessary to publish the decree in Texas. Whether

or not this action of the president was in response to remonstrances

already received from the state authorities of Coahuila and Texas

cannot be stated, but if so it was unusually prompt action for

political authorities in Mexico.

There is some ground for believing that Teran himself may have

been instrumental in holding up the measure. Austin in his answer

to Teran's letter thanks him for his offices in securing the favor

from the president. Also, Alaman, in his Iniciativa of February 8,*

1830, says : "Such is the independence enjoyed by the North

American colonists, and to such a point have the privileges awarded

them borne fruit, that when the decree of September 15 of last

year abolishing slavery was issued, in accordance with dictatorial

powers, the commander of the frontier of that state declared that

^Dublan y Lozano, Legislacion Mexicana, II, 163.

^Musquiz to Austin, October 29, 1829. Austin Papers.

^'Ter^n to Austin, November 20, 1829. Ihid.

^Austin to Teran, December 28, 1829. Ihid. Filisola, Memorias para
la Historia de la Guerra de Tejas, I, Appendix.
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he could not hope to see such a decree obeyed unless it should be

enforced by a larger military force than he then had."^

4. The General Character of the Two Races.—There are funda-

mental dilferences between the Mexican and American races which

even today make amicable joint occupation of a territory difficult.

This is true even where cultured and intelligent members of both

nations come in contact. Mutual understanding seems, generally

speaking, to be confined to individual instances, of which the

number is not surprisingly large. On the contrar}^, prejudice on

each side is deeply rooted. In the case of Texas this race antago-

nism developed very shortly after Anglo-American settlement began,

and frontier conditions were calculated to nourish it. Mexico has

never had an emigrant class in the sense in which that term is

applied to the European and Anglo-American. The impulse behind

the emigration of those races is the desire to better conditions of

living and to acquire homes at a cheaper price. Mexican emi-

gration has been of a more casual and purposeless nature. There

were a few Mexicans of the better class in Texas, but they were

for the most part lidng in or near San Antonio de Bejar and

Goliad, ^hile relatively few of the Anglo-Americans who came

to the new colonies were cultured, at least they were generally

honest and industrious and came with the intention of making

homes in the new country. One of the requirements of empresario

contracts was that each colonist should furnish a certificate of good

moral character, and this requirement was fairly well observed.

The attitude of the two races toward law and political insti-

tutions was essentially different through centuries of different

political training. The one race, in all its history, had known only

primitive chief-rule and Spanish military despotism, while the

other was the heir of not only the traditions but the actual results

of political freedom centuries old. The outward form and termi-

nology of the local colonial governments was Mexican, and they

were subject in the higher courts to the legal procedure of the

adopted country, but the spirit of the local administration was the

^It is not certain whether the '•'commander of the frontier of that state"

means Colonel Piedras, who was in command of the local garrison at

Js'acogdoches, or General Terin, who was comandante general of the East-

ern States; these states are often referred to as the states on the frontier.
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spirit of the country which had given these colonists birth. Dr.

Garrison says:^

The crossing of the Sabine had wrought no change in the char-

acter of the Anglo-Americans. They were^ like any band of men
gathered by their own choice to participate in such an enterprise,

the hardiest and most adventurous among the law-abiding ele-

ment of their kind, being especially difficult to govern by any

method which they did not themselves approve. They kept their

own institutions, slavery included; and this they did with the

greater freedom because the centers of superior governmental au-

thority and power were far away, and the forces emanating there-

from were too weak at such a distance either to lead or drive the

Texas settlers along the Mexican way. Free speech, popular elec-

tions, and practical self-government became the rule in Austin^s

colony from the beginning. The merest tyro in history or politi-

cal science should have been able to see in the situation the essen-

tial elements of revolution.

III. General Teran Becomes Connected With the Affairs

OF Texas.

1. The Boundary Commission, 1827-1328.—Mexican leaders

very shortly realized that they had, as Bancroft expressed it,

**^overshot the mark in their liberal policy^' of colonization. The

Predonian Eebellion opened their eyes to the dangers of the situ-

ation, and by the fall of 1827 it was decided to send to Texas a

commissioner to inspect conditions, though this part of his mis-

sion was apparently secret, his ostensible purpose being the loca-

tion of the boundary between the United States and Mexico,

made necessary by a new boundary treaty at that time under

negotiation. The man chosen for this mission was General

Manuel Mier y Teran,^ then one of the ablest men in Mexico.

^Garrison, Texas, 151-152.

^Don Manuel Mier y Teran was one of the most cultured and intelligent

men in Mexico during the years 1820-1832, according to Filisola, Tornel,

and Dr. Mora, the latter Teran's biographer. (See Filisola's Guerra de
Tejas, I, Chapter XXIII and Appendix, and Tornel's Breve Resena, 171-

173.) According to Dr. Mora, Teran was connected with the struggle for

independence from the year 1810, and from that date until his death he
was unswervingly loyal to the cause of Mexico. At the time of his ap-
pointment as chief of the boundary commission, he was head of the School
of Artillery in Mexico City. In 1829 he was made comandante general
of the Eastern States, and Dr. Mora says that had he lived, he instead
of Santa Anna, would have been elected to the presidency in 1832. Tornel
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He was eminently qualified for the task, and from this time until

his death in 1832, every important act of the government in rela-

tion to Texas is directly traceable to him, except the emancipation

decree of September 15, 1829, and, as was shown above, there are

grounds for believing that the immediate withdrawal of that wlas

due to his influence. Consequently, it is necessary to follow in

detail the history of Teran's connection with Texas, beginnings

with his appointment as chief of the boundary commission.

Unfortunately, it has not been possible to find a copy of Teran^s

instructions, and hence the statement that the inspection of the

colonies was a prime object of his mission is inferential. First,

a word as to the need of such an inspection. It was only a few

months since the Fredonian rebellion. In June of 1827 Colonel

Piedras had been stationed at Nacogdoches with three hundred

says: "The efforts of General Teran to save the district of Texas to the

nation were tremendous, and when the military command fell to him,
through the removal of General Bustamante, he disciplined the colonies

with effective vigor. One of our revolutions destroyed the fruit of his

^aliant labors and sent him to his death, to the sorrow of all patriotic

citizens." The revolution referred to wa« that by which Santa Anna
deposed Bustamante, and Tornel is wholly correct in his assertion that it

was this revolution that destroyed Teran's work in Texas.

As to Tera-n's ability and personality, Filisola quotes Dr. Mora as fol-

lows: "Teran was a scholar who was worthy of a distinguished place in

the Paris Academy of Sciences, and furthermore he was a man of the-

highest distinction with regard to integrity of conduct, social qualifica-

tions, polish of manner, and even personal appearance; he fought always
in the cause of independence, and this with honor, purity of purpose,

intelligence and ability, during a period when examples of these virtues

were rare enough, and examples of their opposing vices woefully frequent.

In his political faith he was a progressive. . . . Teran had ambition,

but being honorable enough to realize that such should not be satisfied

at the price of civil war, he abandoned such a field to the vulgarly am-
bitious. But when his country's cause was endangered by Spanish inva-

sion, he hastened to the field of battle, where he won the laurels of a vic-

tory due almost entirely to his efforts and genius. Neither the rebellion

of Acordada, nor that of Jalapa, nor any which followed, gained his ap-
proval ; to all he refused his services, remaining at all times loyal to the
recognized government, firm in the conviction that civil wars, only by
exception, are a means of political progress." I have found nothing in

Teran's public or private correspondence to contradict this estimate of

him. The "recognized government" did not of necessity mean to him
constitutional government, apparently, but there is ample evidence that
he believed in honest, strong government, whether by a strict adherence
to the Constitution of 1824, or by the right of individual capa<3ity. No
other view can be taken of his unswerving support of Bustamante. It has
generally been reported that, in despair over the defeat of his command
by the Santa Anna forces, he died at Padilla by his own hand in July,

1832. Filisola refuses to accept this version, declaring that Teran was-

assassinated by an emissary of Santa Anna.
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troops, a measure which Filisola regards as excellent but inade-

quate, since it served only to alarm the colonists without intimi-

dating them.^ The probability is that Piedras's reports were

disquieting, for he seems to have been personally obnoxious to

the colonists from the beginning of his administration,^ and fric-

tion at that point was frequent. In addition to this, the federal

authorities had little confidence in the state authorities of Coa-

huila-Texas.^ Alaman, in his Iniciativa of February, 1830, says

that the congress of Coahuila-Texas had been so negligent that

"if General Teran had not visited the department in the dis-

charge of the commission to survey the boundary—and to whom
is due practically all the information that has been obtained—we

would have seen Texas unexpectedly wrested from the Mexican

Federation without our even knowing by what means we had

lost it."

Teran received his appointment in September, 1827, evidently

receiving his instructions prior to the tenth, for on that date he

wrote the minister of relations that he should like more specific

instructions on various points, and that in regard to the investi-

gation of colonization contracts held by land companies in the

United States he naturally could not hope to get very accurate

information.* Two days later the minister, in a very brief letter,

furnished a part of the new instructions, and added this para-

graph "Further, the government desires that your excellency in

passing beyond the frontiers which we actually hold, will report

whether or not there is any necessity for fortifying any points

^Filisola, Guerra de Tejas, I, Chapter XI.

^'T. F. McKinney to Austin, September 9, 1829. Austin Papers.

^Filisola says {Guerra de Tejas, I, Chapter XI) that the congress of
Coahuila-Texas wasted the lands of Texas in an outrageous manner, and
that grants were made to any applicant who appeared, regardless of the
requirements of the laW. This doubtless reflects the opinion of federal
officials of the time. Alaman, in the fifth paragraph of the Iniciativa
(in Filisola, Guerra de Tejas, II, 590), says: "The government of Coa-
huila-Texas, which should have seen to the carrying out of its laws and
prevented the immigration of fraudulent colonists, lias not only failed to
do this, but neither has it given notice of certain grave disturbances
[in Texas]." He then gives a list of federal laws which he says were
repeatedly violated, calling particular attention to those requiring all col-

onists to be Catholics and those prohibiting slavery,

"Teran to Minister of Relations, September 10, 1827. Transcript.
Legajo 7. 1836.

''Pedraza to Teran, September 12, 1827. Ihid.
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along the same for the necessity of the interior, once the exact

boundary is established." It is not likely that this refers to the

Sabine boundary, since the paragraph preceding the one quoted

deals with proposed fortifications along "the new division line/'

It seem rather to be a hint to Teran to investigate the need of

new military posts in Texas itself.

The commission left Mexico City on November 14, 1827, and

reached Bejar on March 10, 1828, having passed through Saltillo,

Monterey and Laredo. At the last named place they were met

by General Bustamante, at that time nomandante general of the

Eastern States, and he accompanied them to Bejar.^ This is

worth noting for the reason that it was immediately after Busta-

m ante's installation as president of the republic that Teran's

plans for the "saving of Texas" reached fruition in the Decree of

x4pril 6. From this time until Teran's death in Bustamante's

cause the political and personal friendship of these two men was

of the closest.

From Bejar Teran proceeded with comparative leisure to Nac-

ogdoches, spending some time in Austin's colony, and from that

visit also dates a fairly intimate friendship with Austin that was

apparently sincere on both sides, if allowance is made for the dif-

ference in opinion as to the political needs of Texas.^ It is true

that Teran was far from frank with Austin concerning his recom-

mendations to the government but it must be admitted that as

Teran saw the situation, such frankness would have defeated what

he deemed, so far as Mexico was concerned, an urgent political

necessity.

From Nacogdoches Teran wrote a long personal letter to Presi-

dent Guadalupe Victoria,^ which is here given somewhat fully,

because of the information that it gives concerning social condi-

tions, and because its suggestions influenced the attitude of the

federal government during the next four years and had much to

do with the policy which culminated in the decree of April 6,

1830:

^Filisola, Guerra de Tejas, I, Chapter XII.

^See the Austin Papers of 1829-1832, passim.

^Legajo 7. 1836. The transcript of this letter bears no signature, but
as a report to the minister of war signed by Teran under date of July 7

(Ibid.) contains substantially the same information and recommendations,
frequently couched in the same language, it seems certain that the author

could have been no other than Teran. The letter is dated June 30, 1828.
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. . . As one covers the distance from Bejar to this town,

he will note that Mexican influence is proportionately dimin-

ished until on arriving in this place he will see that it is almost

nothing. And indeed, whence could such influence come ? Hardly

from superior numbers in population, since the ratio of Mexi-

cans to foreigners is one to ten; certainly not from the superior

character of the Mexican population, for exactly the opposite is

true, the Mexicans of this town comprising what in all countries

is called the lowest class—the very poor and very ignorant. The
naturalized North Americans in the town maintain an English

school, and send their children north for further education; the

poor Mexicans not only do not have sufficient means to establish

schools, but they are not of the type that take any thought for

thie improvement of its public institutions or the betterment of its

degraded condition. Neither are there civil authorities or magis-

trates; one insignificant little man—not to say more—who is

called an alcalde, and an ayuntamiento that does not convene

once is a lifetime is the most that we have here at this important

point on our frontier; yet, wherever I have looked^ in the short

time that I have been here, I have witnessed grave occurrences,

both political and judicial. It would cause you the same chagrin

that it has caused me to see the opinion that is held of our

nation by these foreign colonists, since, with the exception of

some few who have journeyed to our capital, they know no other

Mexicans than the inhabitants about here, and excepting the au-

thorities necessary to any form of society, the said inhabitants are

the most ignorant of negroes and Indians, among whom I pass

for a man of culture. Thus, I tell myself that it could not be

otherwise than that from such a state of affairs should arise an
antagonism between the Mexicans and foreigners, which is not the

least of the smoldering fires which I have discovered. Therefore,

I am warning you to take timely measures. Texas could throw
the whole nation into revolution.

The colonists murmur against the political disorganization of

the frontier, and the Mexicans complain of the superiority and
better education of the colonists; the colonists find it unendur-
able that they must go three hundred leagues to lodge a com-
plaint against the petty pickpocketing that they suffer from a

venal and ignorant alcalde, and the Mexicans with no knowledge
of the laws of their own country, nor those regulating coloniza-

tion, set themselves against the foreigners, deliberately setting nets

to deprive them of the right of franchise and to exclude them
from the ayuntamiento. Meanwliile, the incoming stream of new
settlers is unceasing; the first news of these comes by discovering

them on land already under cultivation, where they have been
located for many months; the old inhabitants set up a claim to

the property, basing their titles of doubtful priority, and for
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which, there are no records, on a law of the Spanish government;
and thus arises a lawsuit in which the alcalde has a chance to

come out with some money. In this state of affairs, the town
where there are no magistrates is the one in which lawsuits

abound, andt it is at once evident that in Nacogdoches and its

vicinity, being most distant from the seat of the general govern-

ment, the primitive order of things should take its course, which
is to say that this section is being settled up without the consent

of anybody.

The majority of the ^sTorth Americans established here under
the Spanish government—and these are few—are of two classes.

First, those who are fugitives from our neighbor republic and
bear the unmistakable earmarks of thieves and criminals; these

are located between Nacogdoches and the Sabine, ready to cross

and recross this river as they see the necessity of separating them-
selves from the country in which they have just committed some
crime; however, some of these have reformed and settled down
to an industrious life in the new country. The other class of

early settlers are poor laborers who lack the four or five thousand
dollars necessary to buy a sitio of land in the north, but having
the ambition to becoriie landholders—one of the strong virtues of

our neighbors—have come to Texas. Of such as this latter class

is Austin^s colony composed. They are for the most part indus-

trious and honest, and appreciate this country. Most of them
own at least one or two slaves. Unfortunately the emigration of

such is made under difficulties, because they lack the means of

transportation, and to accomplish this emigration it has become
necessary to do what was not necessary until lately: there are

empresarios of wealth who advance them the means for their

transportation and establishment.

The wealthy Americans of Louisiana and other western states

are anxious to secure land in Texas for speculation, but they are

restrained by the laws prohibiting slavery. If these laws should

be repealed—which God forbid—in a few years Texas would be

a powerful state which could compete in productions and wealth

with Louisiana. The repeal of these laws is a point toward which

the colonists are directing their efforts. They have already suc-

ceeded in getting from the Congress of Coahuila a law very favor-

able to their prosperity: the state government has declared that

it will recognize contracts made v/ith servants before coming to

this country, and the colonists are thus assured of the employ-

ment of ample labor, which can be secured at a very low price in

the United States, This law, according to the explanation made
to me by several, is going to be interpreted as equivalent to per-

mission to introduce slaves.

In spite of the enmity that usually exists between the Mexi-

cans and the foreigners, there is a most evident uniformity of
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opinion on one point, namely the separation of Texas from Coa-

liiiila and its organization into a territory of the federal govern-

ment. This idea, which was conceived by some of the colonists

who are above the average, has become general among the people

and does not fail to cause considerable discussion. In explaining

the reasons assigned by them for this demand, I shall do no more
than relate what I have heard with no addition of my own con-

clusions, and I frankly state that I have been commissioned by

some of the colonists to explain to you their motives, notwith-

standing the fact that I should have done so anyway in the ful-

fillment of my duty.

They claim that Texas in its present condition of a colony is

an expense, since it is not a sufficiently prosperous section to

contribute to the revenues of the state administration; and since

it is such a charge it ought not to be imposed upon a state as

poor as Coahuila, which has not the means of defraying the ex-

penses of the corps of political and judicial officers necessary for

the maintenance of peace and order. Furthermore, it is imprac-

ticable that recourse in all matters should be had to a state capi-

tal so distant and separated from this section by deserts infected

by hostile savages. Again, their interests are very different from
those of the other sections, and because of this they should be

governed by a separate territorial government, having learned

by experience that the mixing of their affairs with those of Coa-
huila brings about friction. The native inhabitants of Texas
add to the above other reasons which indicate an aversion for

the inhabitants of Coahuila; also the authority of the comandante
and the collection of taxes is disputed.

That which most impressed me in view of all these conditions

is the necessity of effective government in Nacogdoches at least,

since it is the frontier with which the Eepublic is most in con-

tact. Every officer of the federal government has immense dis-

tricts under his jurisdiction, and to distribute these effectively it

is necessary to give attention to economy as well as to government
and security. The whole population here is a mixture of strange

and incoherent parts without parallel in our federation : numer-
ous tribes of Indians, now at peace, but armed and at any moment
ready for war, whose steps toward civilization should be taken
under the close supervision of a strong and intelligent govern-
ment; colonists of another people, more progressive and better

informed than the Mexican mhal3itants, but also more shrewd and
unruly; among these foreigners are fugitives from justice, honest
laborers, vagabonds and criminals^ but honorable and dishonor-

able alike travel with their political constitution in their pockets,

demanding the privileges, authority and officers which such a con-
stitution guarantees. The most of them have slaves, and these

slaves are beginning to learn the favorable intent of the Mexican
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law toward their unfortunate condition and are becoming rest-

less under their yoke, and the masters, in the effort to retain them,
are making that yoke even heavier; they extract their teeth, set

on the dogs to tear them in pieces, the most lenient being he who
but flogs his slaves until they are fla3'ed.

In short, the growing population, its unusual class, the pros-

perity and safety of the nation, all seem to me to demand the

placing at this point of a jefe 'politico subordinate to the one at

Bejar, and also a court of appeals. This done, I do not believe

so radical a step as the separation of Texas from Coahuila, now
desired by the inhabitants, would be necessary.

I must ask your forbearance for this long letter, but I desire

to forward to you at once my observations of this country and not

withhold them until the day when I make full report to the gov-

ernment, for fear the time for remedy will be past.

The preliminary report on the boundary had been made on

April 8, 1828."^ On August .2 Teran sent to the governor of Coa-

huila a copy of the Noichitoches Courier containing a refrence to

a recent colonization contract, which, if authentic, he said, Avas a

violatioti of the colonization laws.^ On October l^t he was still

at isTacogdoches and wrote the war department a most urgent re-

quest for supplies for the frontier garrisons, whose miserable con-

dition he declared the minister could not even imagine; he also

declared that this condition was due to the neglect of the federal

government, which had repeatedly been advised of the state of

affairs. He reminded the minister that if the matter were not

attended to before December the roads would be impassible.^

From these citations it will be seen that Teran was acting as a

general inspector of the colonies.

2. Preparations for a Military Occupation of Texas^ 1829-

1S30.—What may have been Teran's activities during the winter

of 1S38-1829 is not shown by the available correspondence. Fili-

sola says that the entire boundary commission left Texas early in

1829, going to ^latamoras;* and from there Teran wrote Austin

^Sanchez to Teran, June 28, 1828. Transcript. Legajo 7. 1836.

^er^n to governor of Coahuila, August 2, 1828. Transcript. Legajo 7.

1836. Terg.n does not indicate the nature of the violation, and I have not
had access to a file of the Courier.

^Teran to Minister of War, October 14, 1828. Transcript. Legajo 7.

1836.

^Filisolaf, Guerra de Tejas, I, Chapter XIII.
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on March 12. 1829/ concerning an exploration of the coast.

Shortly after this he evidently visited Texas again, for on May 29

he wrote Austin from Nacogdoches, saying that he would soon

leave that place for Bejar.^

Just what Teran's plans were in regard to Texas it is hard to

gather from the meager correspondence available; but it seems

clear that the initial step was to be the strengthening of the gar-

risons already in the province. Whatever general plans he may

have formulated were facilitated by events in Mexico during the

fall of 1829. In April Bustamante had become vice-president,

and his place as comandante general of the Eastern States had

been taken by Felipe de la Garza. In September the Spanish in-

vaders landed at Tampico, and General Santa Anna, in com-

mand of the Mexican forces which gathered to oppose them, sent

De la Garza on a special mission to the capital, and promoted

Teran to the latter's place as second in command.^ After the

victory over the Spanish, Teran became officially comandante gen-

eral of the Eastern States. This appointment meant much to his

plans for Texas, and he forthwith set to work to handle the Texas

question. He wrote the war department, recommending the di-

vision of the Eastern States into two military districts, the one

to consist of Tamaulipas and Nuevo Leon, the other of Coahuila-

Texas.* He believed that a center of military control nearer the

settled portion of Texas would enable the comandante to handle

that province much more effectively than was possible under the

existing organization. He renewed this recommendation in Feb-

ruary, 1830, but was then told that the government preferred to

leave the district as it was, with him in charge of all.^ About a

month later, however, the division was apparently made by Con-

gress.'^

The next letter that I find from Teran concerning Texas was

written to the Minister of War on November 14, 1829. His ac-

^MS. Austin Papers.

mid.
^Filisola, Guerra de Tejas, 11, Chapter XIII.

"Teran to Minister of War, October 20, 1829. Transcript. Legajo 14.

1830.

'^Teran to Minister of War, February 27, 1830, and Minister of War to
Teran, March 20, 1830. Transcripts. Legajo 14. 1830.

«Pettit to S. F. Austin, April 5-7, 1830. Austin Papers.



400 The Southwestern Historical Quarterly

qnaintance with Texas since writing to President Victoria in

June, 1828, had made him more suspicious of the aims of the

United States and less confident of the loyalty of the colonists

to Mexico. After setting forth the importance of Texas to the fed-

eral government and the danger to which it was exposed, lying

as it did in the direct path of the westward march of the United

States, he entered into a vehement philippic against the expan-

sion policy of that country

:

Instead of armies, battles, or invasions, which make a great

noise and for the most part are unsuccessful, these men lay hands
on means, which, if considered one by one, would be rejected as

slow, ineffective, and at times palpably absurd. They begin by
assuming rights, as in Texas, which it is impossible to sustain

in a serious discussion, making ridiculous pretensions based on
historical incidents which no one admits—such as the voyage of

La Salle, which was an absurd fiasco, but serves as a basis for

their claim to Texas. Such extravagant claims as these are now
being presented for the first time to the public by dissembling

writers; the efforts that others make to submit proofs and reasons

are by these men employed in reiterations and in enlarging upon
matters of administration in order to attract the attention of their

fellow-countrymen, not to the justice of the claim, but to the profit

to be gained from admitting it. At this stage, it is alleged that

there is a national demand for the step which the government
meditates. In the meantime, the territory against which these

machinations are directed, and which has usually remained un-

settled, begins to be visited by adventurers and empresarios;

some of these take up their residence in the country, pretending

that their location has no bearing upon the question of their gov-

-ernment's claim or the boundary disputes; shortly, some of these

forerunners develop an interest which complicates the political

administration of the coveted territory; complaints, even threats,

begin to be heard, working on the loyalty of the legitimate set-

tlers, discrediting the efficiency of the existing authority and ad-

ministration; and the matter having arrived at this stage—which
is precisely that of Texas at this moment—diplomatic manoeuvres
begin. . . . He who consents to or does not oppose the loss

of Texas is an execrable traitor who ought to be punished with

death. . . .

If war should break out, it would be expedient to suppress it

in a single campaign—a less expensive method than to be always

on the defensive. But even this would be useless until a colony

of one thousand native Mexican families is planted there, an eco-

nomical measure when it is remembered that the funds spent once
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in establishing a colony would be spent many times in maintain-

ing garrisons.

This suggestion for counter-colonization of Texas with Mexican

families will be considered later. Just now we are more con-

cerned with the plans for the military expedition. In this same

letter Teran acknowledged receipt of a "supreme order^' of Octo-

ber 28, concerning "an expedition for the defense of the territory

of Texas"—no doubt against the designs of the United States.^

He accompanied his letter, therefore, by a report of the same date,

marked "very private," showing the military condition of his

comandancia, and indicating what must be done in carrying out

the expedition:

The Twelfth Batallion of infantry contains 150 men. It is on
duty at Nacogdoches, and should be increased to 500 men; to do

this, it will be necessary to mxake use of the contingents of de-

serters from the states of San Luis, Guanaxuato, and Zacatecas,

or else make a levy on the regular troops. It would not be wise

to relieve the Twelfth, for the reason that if another batallion

v/ere sent, even though it should set out with more than the full

enrollment, it would arrive in the same condition as the Twelfth

and have to be re-enforced.

The Ninth Eegiment of cavalry has 250 men fit for duty; its

full complement is urgently needed. The duty of this regiment

is a continuous activity in Tamaulipas and Texas. There are on
hand arms and equipment for the full number. The members
who have survived are acclimated and familiar with the country,

and can be depended upon; wherefore, it would be more prac-

ticable to fill out this body than to send another.

The Eleventh Batallion of infantry, with 100 men, more or

less, remains on guard in the Port of Tampico de Tamaulipas;
if it is not raised to its full number, its effectiveness as a guard
will be of small account, a danger to the safety of one of our
most important seaports. To lessen the utter uselessness of this

body, I have dptained here the Tenth Infantry; l)ut it should be
at the rear, becoming acclimated in Victoria ; for to station it at

once in Tampico will be to lose those still surviving. It has 150
men reported as fit for duty, but the truth is, all are sick.

The town of Matamoras is a most important maritime point;
3^et it lacks the most ordinary defence

;
wherefore, it seems neces-

sary to form a company of coast guards numbering 150 men, who
shall constitute a part of the infantry militia, and in addition to

have not had access to the "Supreme Order."
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this a body of 40 artillen'men of the same class [i. e.^ militia].

These bodies can easily be raised in the department of the north

[Texas]. This matter is so "argent that extraordinary powers
should be conferred upon the president for the purpose of its ex-

ecution. It is wholly in accordance with his plans.

At the same time that the garrison of Nacogdoches and the

regular troops of Bexar and La Bahia are being put in good con-

dition^ there should be placed at Bexar a batallion—which I sug-

gest should be the Ninth or some other of not less than 500,

—

and also a squadron with two field pieces. This unusual reen-

forcement, most urgent at this moment, would yet be sufficient

to cut short all those intrigues by which the Department of Texas

is undeniably agitated. To avoid desertion, the above mentioned

batallion [the Ninth] should embark at A^era Cruz and land at

Matamoras, where I will await it to conduct it to Bexar. It

might be well to make some stir over this movement, letting it

appear that it is an expedition of 500 or 600 men, or more, if

the truth be known, from San Luis and Guanaxuato to Texas;

perhaps by such means the conclusion of the treaty [with the

United States] may be hastened.^

The chief purpose of placing more troops in Texas was, as

Teran expressed it, "to cut short those intrigues by which the de-

partment of Texas is undeniably agitated."

Preparations for the expedition were temporarily interrupted in

December by the revolution that placed Bustamante in the presi-

dential chair; but the ultimate result of this change—after the

new government was settled—was decidedly favorable to the Texas

project. Bustamante, besides being the personal and political

friend of Teran, had but recently himself been comandante gen-

eral of the Eastern States, and he gave Teran his support, as did

the young minister of relations, Lucas Alaman. It was not, how-

ever, until the middle of January, 1830 that the Bustamante gov-

ernment was fullv established in Tamaulipas.^ Additional delay

was occasioned by the opposition of General Felipe de la Garza,

whom Teran had succeeded a few months before. Teran com-

plained that he threw every possible stumbling block in the way

of the expedition, even to the extent of trying to incite the troops

^TerS.n to Minister of War, November 14, 1829. Transcript. Legajo 14.

1830.

^Suarez to Teran, January 1 and 12. 1830, and Teran to Suarez, Jan-
uary 10 and 13, 1830. Transcripts. Legajo 14. 1830. Filisola says
{Guerra de Tejas, I, 101) that the establishment of the new government
in Tamaulipas was effected by TerS.n at the risk of his life.
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to mutiny. 1 The minister of war responded on February 15 with

an order to De la G-arza, whose official position at this time is

not clear, "to do all in his power to encourage the disaffected

troops to be ready to start upon the expedition to Texas" ; and "to

notify the Supreme Government of any difficulty in executing

federal orders, a difficulty that might result in great danger to

the welfare of the Republic."^ But before this was received by

De la Garza Teran had begun his march northward.^ At San

Eernando he was again forced to wait, but before discussing this

delay, it will be necessary to go back a little in the course of

events.

During the winter months of 1829, Teran had been preparing

an exhaustive report on the Texas question, setting forth the ex-

isting conditions and his ideas of the remedy necessary. This

report'' was presented to the government on January 6, 1830, by

Constantino Tarnava, an aide of Teran^s. It embraces military

and political recommendations, and it is with the former that we

are now concerned.

Declaring that "it is as necessary to counteract the influence

of the majority of the population [in Texas] as it is to curb the

claims of our neighbors," and emphasizing the helpless condition

of the province, defended only by the weak and widely separated

garrisons at Nacogdoches, Bejar, and La Bahia, the report presents

a number of recommendations which may be briefly tabulated as

follows

:

(1) The removal to the Nueces of several companies of troops

now on the Rio Grande; (3) the establishment of a strong and
permanent garrison at the main crossing of the Brazos river,

that there may be an intermediate force in the unsettled region

separating Nacogdoches and Bexar; (3) the re-enforcement of

the existing garrisons by troops of infantry properly belonging to

them; (4) the occupation and fortiflcation of some point above

Galveston Bay, and another at the mouth of the Brazos, for the

purpose of controlling the colonists; (5) the organization of a

mobile force, equipped for sudden and rapid marches to a threat-

^Teran to Minister of War, January 22 and 26, 1830. Transcripts,
tegajo 14, 1830.

^Transcript. Legajo 14, 1830.

^Terdn to Minister of War, February 14, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 14.

1830.

*See pages 407-413, post.
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ened point; (6) and finally, the establishment of communications
by sea, such being more prompt and less expensive than by land.

The presentation of this report was opportunely timed. The
Bustamante government, just inaugurated, seized the chance to

popularize itself by vigorous measures against the supposed de-

signs of the United States. Lucas Alaman, the young and zeal-

ous minister of relations, became at once the champion of Teran's

program, and during the next three months pushed it with such

eifect that by the end of the first week in April, Congress had

approved every recommendation that it contained.

On January 30 the minister of war notified Teran that the sup-

plies and recruits that he had requested for the Tenth Infantry

and Ninth Cavalry in the private report of ^^ovember 14 would

be sent at once to Matamoras.^ A week later he was notified that

the governors of Guadalajara, Guanajuato, Zacatecas, and Du-

rango were ordered to send re-enforcements for him immedi-

ately to Monterey.- When they arrived he was to distribute them

as he saw fit among the Eleventh and Twelfth Infantry and the

Ninth Cavalry. At the end of another week, the minister wrote

that the demand on the governors for troops was being repeated,

and "his excellency the vice-president hopes that your known

ability and patriotism will move you to the immediate execution

of your plan to simultaneously occupy the points of Bejar and

La Bahia del Espiritu Santo before the disloyal colonists rise in

revolt and possess themselves of the said points; but at the same

time do not lose sight of the safety of Matamoras, a highly im-

portant point in case the enemy should attempt an invasion by

way of the tributary Santiago."^

On February 16 Alaman asked the minister of war for a state-

ment of the troops destined for Texas, and the minister's reply

of the next day showed a total of 2965 intended for the expedi-

^Department of War to Teran, January 30, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 14.

1830.

^Minister of War to Teran, February 6, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 14,

1830.

"Minister of War to Terdn, February 13, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 14.

1830.
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tion.^ As a matter of fact, however, this numher was never at

Teran's disposal. Most of the States were slow in complying

with the orders, and the governor of Zacatecas refused outright,

declaring that the federal government could not constitutionally

order militia of one state to do service in another.^

At the same time that the governor of Zacatecas was thus pro-

testing, Teran wrote from San Fernando^ that though he haH

learned through private letters of the favorable action of the gov-

ernment upon every recommendation contained in his report of

January 6, he had received no official instructions that would

enable him to order out the reenforcements being gathered at

Monterey, or to provide the necessary funds for the expedition.

He begged that this delinquency be called to the attention of the

vice-president, for, in his own opinion, "not one moment should

now be lost.'^

Some time about the middle of March Teran advanced, to Mata-

moras, where he intended to complete his preparations and get

the troops in condition to be thrown quickly across the Nueces

into Texas. On April 5 he was still at Matamoras, writing

urgent, almost stormy, demands for funds and men with which

to continue his important undertaking. He complained that even

the inadequate sums of money already sent had been intercepted

and partially used by the governor of San Luis Potosi.*

^Transcripts. Legajo 14. 1830. These forces were classified as follows:

Federal Infantry:
The Twelfth Battalion 250

State Troops (Infantry) :

From San Luis Potosi 600
From Zacatecas 400
From Nuevo Leon 300
From Tamaulipas 300
From Coahuita-Texas 200

Federal Cavalry:
The Ninth Regiment 315
The Ninth Company of Presidiales of the Eastern Interior States 300

State Troops (Cavalry) :

From San Luis Potosi 300

Total 2,965

^Governor of Zacatecas to Alaman, February 16, 1830. Transcript.
Legajo 14. 1830.

^Teran to Minister of War, February 14, 1830. Transcript. Legaio 14.

1830.

*Teran to Minister of War, March 15 and April 5, 1830. Transcript.
Legajo 14. 1830.
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The passage of the decree of i^pril 6 placed the expedition in

a somewhat different light, by providing for the permanent mili-

tary occupation of Texas. Teran anticipated a storm of protest

from Texas, and he apparently spent the months of April and

May at Matamoras corresponding with Austin and talking with

Texas colonists whom he encountered there in the hope of par-

tially reconciling them to the decree/ which it is now necessary to

examine.

lY. The Origin of the Decree of April 6, 1830

1. Terdn's Letter of November IJf, 1829.—Historians have

generally credited Alaman with the origination of the Decree of

April 6, 1830,2 study of Teran's correspondence from Novem-

ber, 1829, to April, 1830, shows that he suggested practically every

provision of the decree except the radical eleventh article. The

first suggestion embodied in the decree occurs in the letter of

November 14, 1829, already quoted:

If war should break out, it would be expedient to suppress it

in a single campaign—a less expensive method than to be always

on the defensive. But even this would be useless until a colony

of one thousand native Mexican families is planted there, an eco-

nomical measure when it is remembered that the funds spent once

in establishing a colony would be spent many times in maintain-

ing garrisons.

However, neither this suggeston, nor any other part of the let-

ter of November 14, received immediate attention, probably for

the reason that the Bustamante revolution was brewing, and the

government had no time to devote to Texas. Bustamante was

installed in December, and Teran at once dispatched his lieu-

tenant, Constantino Tarnava, to the capital to submit to the new

government, from which he hoped much, the report already re-

ferred to, setting forth in detail his entire scheme for the preserva-

tion of Texas.

2. Tarnava's Report of January 6, 1830.^—This report al-

^Teran to Austin, April 24, 1830. Austin Papers.

^See, for example, Bancroft, 'North Mexican States and Texas, II, 113;

and Garrison, Texas, 159-160,

^Tarnava to Minster of War, January 6, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 14.

1830.
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though it is of considerable length, is here given in full, because

it is so evidently the document on which the Decree of April 6th

is based, and also because it is so careful an outline of Teran's

observations and policy.

Mexico, January 6, 1830.

Constantino de Tarnava to His Excellency the Minister of War
and Marine.

Esteemed Sir: General Teran, as comandante general of the

Eastern States, and as such entrusted with the oversight and pro-

tection of that part of the Eepublic, and also as chief of the com-

mission for the boundary with the United States of the North,

has several times called the attention of the Supreme Govern-

ment to the urgency of taking prompt steps to prevent the shame-

ful loss of the department of Texas—a loss whose consequences

would vitally affect the safety of the entire nation, because of the

condition which would then exist on the frontier. Chihuahua, New
Mexico, and part of Sonora being exposed to and half surrounded

by our dangerous neighbors, who would thus be at the doors of

our richest states.

Having been placed in command of the troops to be sent to

Texas to re-enforce threatened points, and desiring to contribute

all he can to the preservation of this Eepublic, General Teran
considers this an opportune time to propose certain steps which
are suggested by his knowledge of that country; and to avoid the

delay likely to occur in official correspondence, and to answer

questions which might arise over information received from such

a distance, he has commissioned the undersigned to submit to your

excellency the necessary information regarding this department of

Texas and the urgency of the proposed measures.

However important the other matters which now occupy the

government, General Teran asks that it at once give attention

to the department of Texas, scarcely as yet a part of the Ee-
public. He declares that it is as necessary to counteract the

influence of the majority of the population there as to curb the

claims of our neighbors. Many of the newspapers of the United
States—and particularly those of New Orleans, which have been

sent the government from time to time—have discussed with much
heat this question of the boundary at a time when such discussion

was very suspicious, namely, when Spanish troops had invaded our
country and it was supposed that we were launched upon a strug-

gle which would exclusively absorb all our resources and atten-

tion. All these discussions, which based their pretensions on "just

claims" and "agreements," declared the Eio Bravo del Norte^ to

be the natural boundary between the two countries. General
Teran does not doubt that the United States will carry out its

^The Rio Grande.
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project of possessing Texas at the first opportunity, which to

them will be as soon as they think we are torn by civil strife—

a

consideration which should not be lost sight of for one moment;
either they would incite the American population of Texas to re-

volt, as they tried to do in 1826 at Nacogdoches, or else force

would be openly used to support these pretended claims, which
the North American government certainly has not renounced,

since under specious pretexts it has until this day refused to

ratify the treaty negotiated in Mexico for the outlining of the

boundary in accordance with the stipulations of the Treaty of

Onis. That these pretensions to the ultimate possession of Texas
by the United States may not be lightly regarded, it is sufficient

to consider for a moment the actual conditions existing in that

province: First, the comparative disadvantage in the distribution

of population, the Mexican population being confined to only three

points, while the North Americans are masters of the frontier

posts, of the coast, and of the mouths of the rivers; second, the

number of Mexican inhabitants is insignificant as compared with

the constantly increasing number of settlers from the north, who
everywhere are locating on the fertile lands- of Texas, many of

which they have occupied without any legal right. No one can

fail to see the extremely dangerous influence which these North
American colonists are bound to exercise in the affairs of the

state, since a decree of the state legislature declares citizens all

settlers of five years' residence. As has been stated, the Mexican
population is at a standstill, while the American population is

increasing daily, and the preponderating influence of the latter

will be inevitable unless some extraordinary impulse is given to

the colonization of that territory—a colonization that must be for

the most part Mexican, and which will call for expenditures that

the state of Coahuila, because of its poverty, cannot possibly un-

dertake.^

The only means of control which the government at this time

has at its command are three weak and isolated garrisons for

the whole of this immense territory. These are stationed at

Bejar, La Bahia del Espiritu Santo, and Nacogdoches, points one

hundred and twenty leagues from each other and without any

intervening support.

In view of these conditions, General Teran thinks it indispen-

sable that any political measures adopted by either the Supreme
Government or the state government should agree with the mili-

tary measures which he proposes to take.- . . .

He suggests that the political measures might be as follows:

^Note that Teran suggests counter-colonization of Mexican familiera, not

prohibition of colonization from the United States.

^Here follow the military recommendations already quoted, page 403.
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(1) The removal of the presidiarios^ to Tampico or Soto la

Marina, thence to be transported by sea to the points above men-

tioned, where the}^ may apply themselves to agriculture under the

protection of the enlisted troops;

(2) The encouragement by all legitimate means of the emi-

gration qf Mexican families to Texas;

(3) The colonization of Texas with Swiss and German col-

onists, whose language and customs, being different from those of

our neighbors, will make less dangerous the nearness of the latter:

(4) The encouragement of coast-wise trade, which is the only

means by which close relations can be established between Texas

and the other parts of the Republic, and by which this depart-

ment, now so North American in spirit, may be nationalized.

To carry out the first, or military, measures the following steps

are necessary :
-

In order to advance the frontier, with the double object of

pushing back the savages and placing the troops nearer Texas,

companies of troops must be stationed above the Nueces River,

as before stated. In this vicinity there is not a tree—a dearth

of vegetation which is characteristic of an immense portion of

the country—and consequently it will be necessary to permit the

free importation of frame houses.

In order to re-enforce the garrisons by means of permanent
troops, the Tenth and Eleventh Battalions should be completed,

—

the enlistment of both not now exceeding three hundred and
fifty—as should also the Twelfth, which is stationed at Nacog-
doches. The Ninth has some one hundred and forty on its roll

and must be completed, because the presidio detachments cannot

be drawn off entirely from their original office, namely, the war
with the Indians. Therefore, re-enforcements are requested for

the above mentioned companies.

To hold the points above indicated,^ at this time wholly un-

occupied, it must be certain that the soldiers are to be there, and
that the provisions necessary for their maintenance be collected

beforehand. The precarious dependence on casual remittances,

which a thousand circumstances may delay or intercept, is insuffi-

cient. It is necessary that the portion of the customs receipts

retained by the maritime states, and which is thirty-two per cent

of the receipts, be assigned exclusively to the troops, and that the

free importation of either hardtack or flour be permitted from
Matamoras to Galveston for the support of the above mentioned
troops and for new settlements.

For equipping the force which must move rapidly to any point

^Convict soldiers.

^Some point above Galveston Bay, one at the mouth of the Brazos, and
one at the point where the San Antonio road crossed the Brazos.
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of danger, the suggestions just offered in the foregoing article

should apply. Also this force should be provided with effective

artillery, of which there is none in Texas, and which could not
be brought in time over three hundred leagues of desert after the

need for it arose. It is therefore necessary to place at Bejar
beforehand a detachment of this class, or else to create a mobile
artillery guard of militia, officered by veterans.

As soon as the Government can arrange the matter with finan-

cial ease, it should give its attention to the establishment of a
strong fortress on the frontier for the purpose of collecting ma-
terials of war. It could then carry on war from this as a base of

supplies, something which that distant and unprotected country

lacks entirely.

To establish communication by sea it is necessary to have a

boat set aside for this purpose alone and always available. The
presidio companies are practically decimated on the continual

trips to Nacogdoches; they are invariably left without mounts,

or incapacitated for any service by these long and frequent

marches through regions unhealthy at all seasons of the year;

the freight cannot always be transported; and the losses in mules
is enormous, while the delays from water are intolerable. To
do away with these hardships as much as possible. General Teran
has proposed that a schooner in constant service be placed in war
trim and devoted exclusively to business affecting Texas. It

would be well for this boat to confine its operations to the coast,

which is frequented only by North American ships—^usually smug-
gling vessels. The headquarters of this boat should be Mata-
moras, and supposing a detachment to be in Galveston—an in-

dispensable item, in Teran's judgment—this boat should be em-
ployed to transport money, munitions of war, and passengers to

the abovementioned port and to Nacogdoches.

Nevertheless, these military measures can afford but tempo-
rary security, for the holding of Texas does not depend upon the

raising of one army nor upon the efforts put forth at one par-

ticular time, but upon continuous exertions. It therefore seems

indispensable that in addition to these military measures the po-

litical measures already referred to should be taken, the utility of

which it is not difficult to demonstrate

:

First: Large numbers of the presidiarios who are sent to

Yera Cruz die, principally because of the climate. These same
men, if transported to a more healthy country^ where they would
have no desire to desert into unknown wastes, but being com-
pelled to work for a living and seeing in this work their only

chance of bettering their condition and becoming proprietors of

the land which should be allotted to them, would undoubtedly

take kindly to farming and to the new life generally, and chang-
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ing their old habits, they could become of real value to that so-

ciety which now casts them out.

The lands adjacent to the coast have for the most part been

ceded to the North American colonists, but it is a grave mistake

to give these land up entirely, and to repair this mistake, gar-

risons of Mexican troops and colonies of Mexican families should

1)6 established at the coast points already mentioned, namely Gal-

veston and the mouth of the Brazos. If this and the foregoing

steps are taken, the colonists can be controlled.

For the establishing of a settlement at the mouth of the Brazos,

it will be necessary to alter the contract of the empresario Austin,

to whom the coast leagues which the law reserves to the federal

government were most imprudently ceded, insuring the loss of

Texas when the North Americans should complete their scheme for

possessing themselves of the coast of this department.^ In plan-

ning this settlement and that above Galveston—which regions are

actual wastes in the whole sense of the word—it will be neces-

sary to provide for the expense of barracks and houses, some
farming implements, carpenter's and blacksmith's tools, as well

as for provisions for the first few months. These different settle-

ments will occasion other extraordinary expenditures, and arrange-

ments to meet such must be made by setting aside one hundred
thousand dollars (pesos).

Second: The second measure, the encouragement of the emi-

gration of familes to Texas, should receive the attention of the

Government constantly. It is a fact that Mexicans are little dis-

posed to enterprises of this nature, but it is also a fact that the

state governments have made no attempts in this direction. What-
ever obstacle may be encountered must be overcome, for these

measures involve the safety of the nation and the integrity of our

territory. Indeed, there is no choice of measures in this matter.

Either the government occupies Texas now, or it is lost forever,

for there can be no possibility of a recodquest when our base of

operations would be three hundred leagues distant while our

enemies would be carrying on their struggle close to their base

and in possession of the sea.

To stimulate this settlement of Mexican families, the Govern-

ment should create a loan fund for the assistance of poor labor-

ers, for the purpose of supplying them with agricultural imple-

ments, etc. It might perhaps be possible for Government to pro-

mote among Mexican capitalists some kind of an association for

the development of these lands in Texas.

^It might be inferred from this statement that Teriln did suspect the

Texan s of treacherous disloyalty, but from his letter of the 14th of

November it would appear that he placed the credit for this "scheme"
upon members of the state department and newspaper writers in the
United States rather than upon the settlers themselves.
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As the Mexican settlers will be without slaves—an advantage
enjoyed by the N'orth Americans—the progress which they make
in the cultivation of the soil will necessarily be slower—as much
for this reason as because of their smaller inclination for the arf

of agriculture. Therefore, the Government ought to encourage
them by every means possil)le. The offer of rewards or bounties
to those Mexicans who distinguish themselves in this line would
in part accomplish this result.

Third: Concerning the colonization of Texas by Swiss or Ger-
mans, General Teran is aware that he has submitted a proposition

already offered by Don Carlos Hubde.^ a merchant of Mexico,
but it will perhaps be considered at this time. Here, as in most
of these measures, the Government will encounter obstacles diffi-

cult to overcome, such as it must always encounter in occupying
Texas, if the rights of the state to which it belongs are to be
reconciled with the safety of the nation. It is essential that the

federal government strongly support any measures which have to

be passed by the state for the rapid population of Texas, the

encouragement of which would be far more easy if Texas were a

territory depending solely upon the federal government.
Fourth: Coastwise trade is of the greatest importance in es-

tablishing relations with Texas, since through lack of such it is

today trading only with N'ew Orleans. Cotton, one of the prin-

cipal products of Texas, could be transported to Tampico or Vera
Cruz in boats of Campeachy—almost the only boats engaged in

the coast trade—and thence it can be carried to foreign coun-

tries. The cotton shipped out of Texas is already seeded, owing

to the gins common among the North American colonists; but

since there is no trade with the rest of our ports, it is taken to

New Orleans, where it must pay an import duty as foreign goods.

The seaports north of Maiamoras are not frequented by our coast-

ing vessels. General Teran knows that the shipowners of Cam-
peachy are embarking in no risky speculations on these matters,

but are attracted by the temporary use of money which has no

circulation in their market and can be sold at a discount in New
Orleans.

General Teran thinks it not impossible that the government
of the United States of the North, on perceiving a firm deter-

mination on our part to hold our own and to support and im-

prove Texas, will begin to carry on its work openly; therefore, it

may be expedient to act quickly and place ourselves on the de-

fensive as soon as possible. The ratification of the treaty con-

cluded in Mexico, and designating the boimdary between the two

nations, should afford the time required for the adoption of the

above measures, which have become necessary in order to equal-

^This name is given as in the transcript, but is possibly a misprint.
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ize advantages. It would be possible to conduct this ratification

under the cloak of the projected expedition, the preparations for

which could be extended at will.

General Teran has given to the undersigned the necessary in-

structions to make to your excellency any explanations you may
desire, either verbally or in writing, concerning these points or

any others relative to the same matter.

Contantino Tarnava.

The principal recommendations of this report may be recapitu-

lated as follows

:

(1) Settlement of convict soldiers in Texas;

(2) Encouragement of emigration of Mexican families to

Texas

;

(3) Encouragement of emigration of Swiss and Germans to

Texas

;

(4) Encouragement of coastwise trade;

(5) Free importation of frame houses into Texas;

(6) Appropriation of the portion of the customs receipts

shared by the maritime states to the support of the troops des-

tined for Texas;

(7) Free importation into Texas of food supplies for the

troops

;

(8) Alteration of Austin's contract to give the government

control of the coast leagues;

(9) Establishment of new Mexican settlements, and support

of the same for a certain time at federal expense;

(10) Creation of a loan fund for voluntary colonization of

Mexican families
;

(11) Special rewards or bounties to successful agriculturists

among the Mexican colonists.

3. Alaman's Report of January IJf, 1830.—On January 14

Alaman sent to the president a preliminary report on the above

document.^ In this report he offers nothing new except a sug-

gestion that England be invited to make a declaration against any

design of the United States on Texas, such as the United States

themselves had made against the conquest of Cuba by Mexico

and Colombia. He says that Teran is of the opinion that a Mexi-

^Alaman to the President, January 14, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 7.

1836.
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can consul should be placed at New Orleans, "to keep an eye on

the preparations of our neighbors, now almost our enemies."

Then in a postscript to the report, he suggests that the news-

papers of Mexico should intimate that in case of war any means

would be justifiable against "so perfidious an enemy/^ even to

the stirring up of an insurection of slaves in Louisiana, thus

retaliating with the same measures employed by the Norih Ameri-

cans, who are inciting the colonists and the Cherokee Indians to

revolt in Texas: "Louisiana is an open country, and its exten-

sion along our frontier makes it an easy matter to penetrate it

with a force even smaller than that of the enemy, and by burn-

ing their own homes perhaps diminish the number of those advo-

cating the conquest of Texas."

Jf. Alaman's Iniciativa.—On February 8 Alaman presented to

the cabinet his famous iniciativa or project of the Decree of April

6. In this document he incorporated the recommendations of

Tarnava^s report, and added some important provisions of his

own. On March 2 Alaman inclosed to Teran a copy of the re-

port which the cabinet had laid before Congress—evidently the

iniciativa itself—and called his attention to the fact that it is

nothing more than the selection and co-ordination of various para-

graphs from Teran's own letters and reports.^ Concerning the

status of the matter in Congress Alaman said

:

The joint committee of the two houses which has this impor-
tant business in charge . . . has presented the draft of a law
covering the case—a copy of which is also inclosed—which law
does not differ in substance from what the Government suggested

and your excellency recommended. The specific decree will be

one of the matters which the house will take under consideration

betvv^een the dates which I indicated to you in my abovementioned
communication of February 17th; the ratification which should

follow—for there is ample ground to expect such ratification—will

put you in position to take the necessary steps to remedy the

abuses which that department [Texas] suffers.

This letter is the only document that I have been able to find

relative to the passage of the decree through Congress. It would

be interesting to follow the debates on the subject, but they are

^Alaman to Teran, March 2, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 7. 1836. In
this letter Alaman refers to a letter of February 17 on the same subject,

but this has not been found.
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not available. As passed on April 6 the decree conformed very

closely to Alaman's project:

V. The Decree of April 6, ISSO^

Article 1. Cotton goods excluded in the Law of May 22, 1829,

may be introduced through the ports of the Eepublic until Janu-

ary 1, 1831, and through the ports of the South Sea until June

30^ 1831.2

Article 2. The duties received on the above mentioned goods

shall be used to maintain the integrity of Mexican territory, to

form a reserve fund against the event of Spanish invasion, and

to promote the development of national industries in the branch

of cotton manufacturers.^

Article 3. The government is authorized to name one or more
commissioners who shall visit the colonies of the frontier states

and contract with the legislatures of said states for the purchase,

in behalf of the federal government, of lands deemed suitable for

the establishment of colonies of Mexicans and other nationali-

ties; and the said commissioners shall make with the existing

colonies whatever arrangements seem expedient for the security

of the Republic. The said commissioners shall supervise the in-

troduction of new colonists and the fulfilling of their contracts

for settlement, and shall ascertain to what extent the existing

contracts have been completed.*

Article 4. The chief executive is authorized to take such lands

as are deemed suitable for fortifications or arsenals and for the

new colonies, indemnifying the states for same, in proportion to

their assessments due the federal government.^

Article 5. The government is authorized to transport the con-

vict-soldiers destined for Vera Cruz and other points to the col-

onies, there to establish them as is deemed fit; the government
will furnish free transportation to the families of the soldiers,

should they desire to go.*^

Article 6. The convict-soldiers shall be employed in construct-

ing the fortifications, public works and roads which the commis-
sioners may deem necessary^ and when the time of their imprison-

ment is terminated, if they should desire to remain as colonists,

they shall be given lands and agricultural implements^ and their

^Translated from Dublan y Lozano's Legislacion Mexicana, II, 238-240.

-See summary of Tarnava's report (4).

mid. (6).

*Ihid. (2) and (3).

"lUd. ( 8 )

.

HUd. (1).
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provisions shall be continued through the first year of their col-

onization.'^

Article 7. Mexican families who voluntarily express a desire

to become colonists will be furnished transportation, maintained
for one year, and assigned the best of agricultural lands.^

Article 8. All the individuals above mentioned shall be sub-

ject to both the federal and state colonization laws.

Article 9. The introduction of foreigners across the northern

frontier is prohibited under any pretext whatever, unless the said

foreigners are provided with a passport issued by the agents of

this Republic at the point whence the said foreigners set out.^

Article 10. N'o change shall be made with respect to the

slaves now in the states, but the federal government and the gov-

ernment of each state shall most strictly enforce the colonization

laws and prevent the further introduction of slaves.

Article 11. In accordance with the right reserved by the gen-

eral congress in the seventh article of the Law of August 18,

1824, it is prohibited that emigrants from nations bordering on

this Eepublic shall settle in the states or territory adjacent to

their own nation. Consequently, all contracts not already com-
pleted and not in harmony with this law are suspended.^

Article 12. Coastwise trade shall be free to all foreigners for

the term of four years, with the object of turning colonial trade

to the ports of Matamoras, Tampico, and Vera Cruz.^

Article 13. Frame houses and all classes of foreign food prod-

ucts may be introduced through the ports of Galveston and Mata-

gorda, free of duty, for a period of two years.

^

Article 14. The government is authorized to expend five hun-

dred thousand dollars {pesos) in the construction of fortifica-

tions and settlements on the frontier, in the transportation of

the convict-soldiers and Mexican families to same and their main-

tenance for one year, on agricultural implements, on expenses of

the commissioners, on the transportation of troops, on premiums

to such farmers among the colonists as may distinguish them-

selves in agriculture, and on all the other expedients conducive to

progress and security as set forth in the foregoing articles.'

Article 15. To obtain at once one-half of the above sum, the

government is authorized to negotiate a loan on the customs pro-

ceeds which will be derived from the ordinary classes of cotton

^See summary of Tarnava's report (9).

'Ibid. (2) and (9).

^This article is obviously a necessary complement of Article 11.

*This measure is not found in any of Teran's recommendations.

^See summary of Tarnava's report (4).

«/6id. (5) and (7).

'Ibid. (9), (10), and (11).
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goods, said loan to pa}^ a premium of three per cent monthly,

payable at the expiration of the periods fixed in the tariff

schedule.^

Article 16. One-twentieth of the said customs receipts shall

be used in the promotion of cotton manufactures, such as in the

purchase of machines and looms, small sums being set aside for

the installing of the machinery, and any other purpose that the

government shall deem necessary; the government shall appor-

tion these funds to the states having this form of industry. The
said funds shall be under the control of the Minister of Eelations

for the purpose of promoting industries of such importance.^

Article 17. Also three hundred thousand dollars (pesos) of

the above mentioned customs receipts shall be set aside as a re-

serve fund on deposit in the treasury, under the strict responsi-

bility of the government, which shall have power to use the same
only in case of Spanish invasion.

Article 18. The government shall regulate the establishment

of the new colonies, and shall present to Congress within a year

a record of the emigrants and immigrants established under the

law, with an estimate of the increase of population on the frontier.

VI. Discussions of the Decree

1. Ataman's Additions to the Tarnava Report.—Comparison of

the decree with the summary of the Teran-Tarnava Eeport re-

veals the following additions to Teran's proposals : ( 1 ) In

article 3, the creation of a special inspection for the colonists;

(2) in article 10, the enforcement of existing slave laws; (3)

in articles 9 and 11, prohibition of immigration from the United

States to Texas. Examination of the iniciativa shows these three

additions to have been the work of Alaman,^ and from the point

of view of the Texans they were among the most objectionable

features of the decree. They saw in the first two provisions a

determination to ensure the observance of some laws which they

had habitually evaded; while the third called a halt to the rapid

development of the province and separated the colonists from
friends and relatives in the United States.

2. Teranfs prohahle attitude toivard these additions.—The first

two of Alaman's additions were probably quite in harmony with

^See summary of Tarnava's report (10).

HUd. (4).

^See the iniciativa. Filisola, Ouerra de T^jas, II, 590.
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Teran's ideas. In his letter of Jnne 30, 1828, to President

Guadalupe Victoria he had spoken of the evils of slavery and of

the nndesirability of repealing any of the laws restricting the im-

portation of slaves. Bnt I find no mention of the slave question

in any of his succeeding correspondence. As to a special in-

spector of all colonies, he doubtless saw the need of such an officer,

but also saw danger to his own plans should the inspector decline

to co-operate with him. Of the policy of restricting Anglo-

American immigration, however, there is not a hint in any of

Teran's correspondence. Teran must have known before April

that the measure was contemplated, for it appears in the inicia-

tiva, and it is not likely that it was omitted from either the report

submitted to Congress during the latter part of February or from

the draft of the law submitted by the joint committee a little

later, copies of which Alaman forwarded to Teran on March 2.

But these copies could hardly have reached Teran for another

week; and had he wished to protest, he might have felt that it

was too late, or that the decree involved too much else of vital

importance to his plans for him to jeopardize the whole by pro-

test against this provision. However, we are not certain that he

objected to the measure. We know only that he had not advo-

cated it in any of his available correspondence or in the Tarnava

report; and that since the beginning of his connection with Texas,

his policy appeared to be to strengthen the loyalty of the Anglo-

American colonists, and not to antagonize them.

3. The secrecy attending Term's worlc.—Teran's plans for

"saving Texas'' seem to have been simple enough: first, secretly

to prepare adequate reenforcements, then occupy the province sud-

denly on the plausible grounds of danger from the United States

and from the Indians;^ second, by measures for such an improve-

ment of political conditions in Texas as would increase the re-

spect of the colonists for their adopted country. The part of this

scheme that was surprisingly well carried out was its secrecy.

From the date of Teran's first visit to Texas, he maintained a

more or less frequent, and even affectionate, correspondence with

^There seems to have been considerable uneasiness on the part of Piedras

over the arrival in Texas of numerous bands of Cherokees and Chichasaws
during the winter of 1829-30. Piedras to Teran, December 12, 1829, and
Teran to Minister of War, January 24, 1830. Transcript. Legajo 14.

1830.
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Austin; yet he was able to keep Austin entirely in the dark with

regard to his intentions.

There is a touch of irony in the fact that some of the data

used by Austin for his map of Texas—complimentary copies of

which, executed by his own hand, he sent to Teran and other

Mexican officials in the fall of 1829—were furnished by explora-

tions recently ordered by Teran in preparation for this very occu-

pation of the province. In his letter acknowledging the receipt

of the map, Teran informed Austin that he would probably see

him ere long, as it was his intention to return to Texas for his

health as soon as he could be relieved from his duties in Tamau-

lipas.^ As a matter of fact, his health was quite bad, as Austin

was aware, so the reason seemed plausible enough. During the

busy months that followed, Austin appears to have known noth-

ing of Teran's plans for Texas.

The first definite information that Austin appears to have had

of the projected expedition, division of the territory, and the Law
of April 6 came in a letter written from New Orleans, April 5-7,

by an American named Pettit, who was apparently in the Mexican

naval service.^ On March 20, after Alaman had submitted his

Iniciativa, and the passage of the law had become an assured fact,

Bustamante himself had deemed it well to write Austin a personal

letter, expressing his friendship and entire contidence in him, and

asking him to inform the colonists of his great interest in their

prosperity. But this letter was slow in reaching Austin, because

it was sent first to Teran, who held it until April 24, when he

forwarded it with a letter of his own, insinuating that his own
knowledge of the decree was as recent as that of Austin. Busta-

mante wrote

:

Mexico, March 20, 1830.

Lieutenant-Colonel Stephen F. Austin.

Esteemed Friend : Notwithstanding the fact that I have not

received an answer to the late letters which I have sent you, and
in spite of the press of my own affairs, I take this opportunity of

writing you this letter, which I shall send to you through Senor
Teran, to whom you will kindly send your answer in order that

it may not go astray.

My object on this occasion is to assure you that during my

^Terdn to Austin, September 28, 1829. Austin Papers.

m. L. Pettit to Austin, April 5, 1830. lUd.
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administration you and 3^our estimable colonists shall continue to

receive the same proofs of favor and consideration which, since

the year 1822, my wishes for your happiness and prosperitv have
made clear to you, since I have used in your favor the influence

derived from the public positions T have held since that date. Be
so kind, then, as to inform the colonists of my goodwill, and for

yourself accept at the same time my assurances of true friendship

and appreciation, wherewith I sign myself, as formerly, your
friend and affectionate fellow-citizen. . . .

Anastasio Bustamante.^

Teran wrote:

Matamoras, April 24, 1830.

My esteem.ed friend and Sir:

I have the pleasure of sending you the inclosed letter of my
friend and companion-in-arms. Vice-president Don Anastasio

Bustamante. I suppose that you have received information of the

draft of the law for the development of this country, which is now
under consideration in the federal congress,^ and concerning which
certain of my friends in Mexico have asked my opinion; as 1

have time to com,mumcate this opinion after hearing from you,

I beg you to write me your opinion with that frankness we have

been accustomed to employ. My friends have particularly asked

me about the matter of declaring Texas a territory, and on this

point I am maintaining great circumspection, for indeed I have

no settled conviction on the subject, having heard a diversity of

opinions in Texas. If you will feel no hesitancy in honoring me
with your reflections, I shall greatly appreciate the same.

I think that we shall have the pleasure of seeing each other

within two months. In the meantime you know that your letters

will be most welcome, and you may write at your leisure.

Present my regards to Senor Don Samuel,^ and do you com-

mand at pleasure your most affectionate friend and obedient

servant. . . .

Manuel de Mier y Teran.*

It is hardly necessary to call attention to the craftiness with

which Teran attempts in this letter to deny all responsibility for

the decree whose provisions it had now become his duty to en-

force. But while his attitude is wholly disingenuous, we must

^Austin Papers.

^The italics in this translation are mine.

'Samuel Williams.

^Austin Papers.



Games and Origin of the Decree of April 6, 1830 421

remember that the most radical measures of the decree, those

which he knew the colonists would most resent, were not his work.

VII. Summary and Conclusion

The Decree of April 6, 1830, was an attempt of Mexico to save

Texas to the Mexican nation by strengthening the ties of that

state with Mexico and severing those which bound it to the United

States. In 1824 the Mexican government passed a generous col-

onization law, throwing open the rich lands of Texas to foreign

immigration. The vast majority of foreign colonists who came in

were from the United States, and the numbers and character of

these colonists so endangered Mexican authority in Texas that the

federal government felt it necessary to save the province by pass-

ing this Decree of April 6, the most important provision of which

was the prohibition of all further immigration of colonists from

the United States. The causes of suspicion and distrust which

led to the promulgation of this decree begin as far back as the

Fredonian Eebellion at Nacogdoches in 1826, and were -continued

and augmented by the insistent efforts of the United States to

purchase Texas, by the determination of the colonists to hold

slaves, notwithstanding their adopted country's reiterated policy

of abolition, and by the friction which was the inevitable result

of racial difference and prejudice. In 1828 Gleneral Teran, as

chief of the boundary commission which was sent to survey the

eastern and northern boundary between Mexico and the United

States, reported a serious condition of affairs for the political and

military authority of Mexico in Texas. But the central govern-

ment was either too indifferent or too occupied with internal

troubles to take cognizance of the situation at that time. In 1829

Teran was made comandante general of the Eastern States and

at once began preparations to occupy Texas with a sufficient num-
ber of troops to lend prestige to Mexican authority in the state.

About the same time he began urging upon the central govern-

ment the necessity of action from that source, if Texas were to

be saved to the federation. This the Guerrero government failed

to do, but after the accession of Bustamante, in December of

1829, Teran sent his lieutenant, Constantino Tarnava, to lay be-

fore the central authorities a full report of conditions in Texas,
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his OWE plans to remedy them, and various recommendations for

political measures which would make his military plans more

effective. One month later Lucas Alaman, the new minister of

relations, laid these recommendations, with certain additions of

his own, before Congress, and two months later still that body

complied with the requests by passing the Decree of April 6, 1830,

which was to go into effect on the day of its passage. The re-

sponsibility for that section of the law which prohibits further

immigration from the United States seems to rest upon Alaman,

though practically all of the other provisions are directly traceable

to suggestions made by Teran.

It is not the purpose of this paper to follow the attempts to

enforce the decree. The radical measures comprised in Article

11 were bitterly resented by the Texans, and were probably the

most potent factors in the later friction that resulted, as Teran

had so clearly foreseen, in the loss of Texas to the Mexican nation.

Had Teran lived and been retained in his position as special com-

missioner and military governor of the colonies, the story might

be different, but, as Filisola says, the whole fruit of his labors

was destroyed by Santa Annans overthrow of the Bustamante gov-

ernment in 1832.
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COREESPONDE^^CE FROM THE BRITISH ARCHIVES
CONCERmiSrG TEXAS, 183M846

VI

EDITED BY EPHRAIM DOUGLASS ADAMS

KENNEDY TO ABERDEEN^

N"o. 4. British Consulate

Galveston. June 9th 1843

My Lord,

I have the honor to transmit enclosed the following documents

relating to the trade and commerce and Maritime regulations of

the Republic of Texas, and the Consulate of Galveston
;
namely :

—

The present Tariff of the Republic of Texas.^

Historical Abstract in reference to the Tariff.

Return of the British and Foreign Trade at Galveston for the

year ending 31st December 1842.^

Return of British Trade at Galveston for the year ending 31st

December 1842.^

Charges on Shipping in the ports of Texas—Pilotage Regula-

tions at Galveston,^ description of the National Flag of Texas.*

Regulations for the Coasting Trade and Protection of Texian

Shipping^

Warehousing of Goods and Drawbacks^

I beg to observe that I have drawn up the "Historical Abstract"

for the purpose of rendering the series of official documents more

complete, and have furnished trade Returns for 1842—the year

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.

^Omitted.

^Omitted, since the matter submitted by Kennedy is a synopsis of "an
act regulating the appointment and duties of pilots at the Port of Gal-
veston," approved February 4, 1842 (Gammel, Laws of Texas, II, 773,
774).

*The description of the Texas flag is copied from the act approved
January 25, 1839 {lUd., II, 88).

°Under this title Kennedy submitted a synopsis of "an act for the

regulation of the coasting trade and the protection of Texian shipping,"
approved January 4, 1841 {lUd., II, 479-482).

^Under this title Kennedy submitted a synopsis of "an act to pro-

vide and establish the warehousing system in the ports of this Republic,"
approved February 5, 1840 {lUd., II, 225-229).
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previous to my arrival at my post—in order to note, by comparison

with the Eetums for the Current year, the Commercial progress,

or retrogression, of the Republic.

William Kennedy.

The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

Historical Abstract, in reference to the Tariff of the Republic of

Texas, in operation on the first of June 18Jf3^

On the 17th of January 1821, Moses Austin, a Native of New
England, obtained permission from the Supreme G-ovemment of

the Eastern Internal Provinces of Mexico, to introduce three hun-

dred families as Colonists from Louisiana into Texas.

In consequence of Moses Austin's death, his project of Coloniza-

tion was taken up and prosecuted by his Son, Stephen, who was

obliged, in 1822, to apply to the Authorities of revolutionized

Mexico, for Confirmation of the privilege which had been conceded

to his father by the Authorities of old Spain. On the 4th of Jan-

uary 1823, a Colonization law, approved by the Mexican Emperor

Iturbide, was promulgated, and, on the 18th of February of the

same year, an Imperial Decree was issued, empowering Austin to

found a Colony under the provisions of the general law.

A revolutionary Movement having displaced Iturbide, and the

Government which succeeded him, having decreed the Nullity

of all Imperial titles, Austin was Constrained to Solicit the Con-

firmation of his Concession from the Congress of Mexico. This he

obtained on the 14th of April 1823, which may, therefore, be re-

corded as the legal date of the Commencement of Anglo American

Colonization in Texas.

To encourage the settlement of her waste frontier lands,

and thereby interpose a barrier against Indian aggression, and

strengthen herself against Spanish attempts at reconquest, Mexico

held out various inducements to the earlier Colonists of Texas, and,

among them, a temporary exemption from tithes and taxes. By
Article 24, of the Mexican Colonization Law of the 4th of January

1823, it was enacted that, during Six Years from the date of the

Concession, the Colonists should not pay tithes, or duties, on their

produce, nor any Contribution whatever, of a public kind.

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.
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By Article 25, of the same law, it was enacted that, during the

Six years, immediately succeeding the termination of the first spec-

ified period the Colonists should pay half the tithes and half the

Contributions, direct and indirect, that were paid by Native Citi-

zens.

These enactments emanated from the General Government of

Mexico.

The State of Coahuila and Texas, as a Member of the Mexican

Federation, by Article 32, of a Colonization Law passed by its

Legislatare on the 24th March 1825, ordained that, during the

first ten years,—reckoning from the Commencement of the Settle-

ment,—Colonists within the limits of the State should be free

from every kind of public Contribution, except such as were gen-

erally demanded to prevent, or repel, foreign invasion.—After ten

years, new Settlers were to bear an equal proportion of the public

burthens with Native Citizens.

The law containing these provisions was repealed by an Act dated

April 28th 1832. which exempted all "New towns," for ten years,

from the time of their foundation, from every description of tax,

except Contributions for defence against foreign invasion. For

the Site of each of these ^''New towns," the State appropriated

four Square leagues of land.

The establishment of Custom-houses in Texas, and of garrisoned

posts to enforce the Collection of the National Kevenue, which fol-

lowed the periods of exemption from taxation granted to the in-

fant Settlements, formed with the Colonists prominent Causes

of dissatisfaction, while, on the other hand, the infraction of fiscal

enactments was regarded by the Government of Mexico as indica-

tive of an ungrateful and rebellious Spirit on the part of Men
invited by its liberality to occupy its fertile lands. In June 1832,

a party of Colonists attacked and Captured the Mexican garrison

at the port of Velasco.—in April 1833, petitions complaining of

the Tariff, and praying for the privilege of free importation, for a

term of three Years, of the most important Articles of Consump-

tion, were transmitted by the Colonists to the General Government.

—in the Autumn of 1834, a number of persons seized the Collector

of Customs at Anahuac, and expelled the Militar}^ stationed at his

post,—and, in the Autumn of 1835, Texas and Mexico were in a

State of open Warfare.
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In ISTovember 1835, a Convention was called in Texas, and a

Provisional Government proclaimed, which Conferred on a Gov-

ernor and Council the power "to impose and regnlate Impost and

Tonnage Dnties, and to provide for their Collection under such

Eegnlations as might be deemed expedient"

An Ordinance of the Provisional Government, imposing certain

dnties of Customs, passed on the 12th of December 1835, was re-

pealed by another Ordinance on the 27th of the same Month, which

placed a duty of twenty five per Cent, ad Valorem, on such goods,

wares, and Merchandize as Avere "entitled to a debenture" in the

port of Shipment, and a duty of fifteen per Cent, ad Valorem, on

such as were not entitled to debenture.—Articles imported hona

fide for the use of emigrants, including farming implements, house-

hold furniture, provisions, stores and Machinery of all kinds, were

to be admitted free.

The declaration and establishment of the independence of Texas,

and the adoption of a Constitution of its inhabitants, were fol-

lowed by the Convocation of a Congress, which, on the 20th of

December 1836, passed an Act "to raise a Revenue by Impost

Duties," under which the following, charges were exigible:

—

On Invoice price of Wines, Spirituous and Malt liquors 45 per

Cent ad Valorem.

Silk goods, and all Manufactures of Silk 50 per Cent ad Va-

lorem.

Sugar and Coffee 2^ ad Valorem.

Teas 25 ad Valorem.

Bread Stuffs 1 ad Valorem.

Iron and Castings—10 per Cent ad val.

Coarse Clothing^ Shirtings, Shoes, blankets Kerseys, Sattinets,

and Stuffs formed of a Mixture of Cotton and Wool. 10 per Cent

ad Valorem.

All the non-ennumerated goods an ad Valorem duty of twenty

five per Cent on invoice price.

Another, and more Comprehensive, Customs law was passed on

the 12th of June 1837 "for the purpose of raising a revenue to

aid in defraying the public expences, sustaining the public Credit,

and securing to the public Creditors a fair Annual, or semi-Annual

interest on the Shares of Stock in the funded debt."

The Tariff underwent a farther revision by an Act passed on the
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5th of February 1840, to which the law at present in operation is

tenned "Supplementarv"

It is to be observed that the receipt of duties in National paper,

profusely issued, on an unsound basis,—and, of course, rapidly

depreciated,—has from time to time, caused the Tariff to appear

much higher tlian it really was, and the successive endeavours to

realize, Amidst the Confusion occasioned by a spurious Currency,

an adequate, tangible revenue, has imparted a capricious charac-

ter to the fiscal legislation of the Eepublic, discouraging and in-

jurious to the Merchant and the emigrant. The duties, at present,

are receivable only in gold and silver, or in "Exchequer Bills,''

at their Market value.

There is a general and increasing feeling in favor of diminished

duties, with a view to the ultimate adoption of a System of Free

Trade, but no material alteration in this direction can well be an-

ticipated until the Country is tranquillized in regard to its ex-

ternal relations

More than two thirds of the revenue derived from Customs is

received at the port of Galveston. The Eastern Counties of Texas,

which possess a comparatively dense population. Contribute but a

small proportion to the public funds, owing to their geographical

position, which secures impunity to the Smuggler. The gross

amount received at the port of Galveston for the year ending the

31st of December. 1842, may be set down, in round numbers, at

110,000 (one hundred and ten thousand) dollars; the receipts for

the same period at Brazos, Matagorda, Eed River, San Augustine,

and Sabine at 30,000 (thirty thousand) dollars. The average ex-

pense of Collection was a fraction above fourteen per Cent.

The attempts hitherto made to raise a revenue by direct taxation

have been unsuccessful

[Endorsed.] No. 2. In Mr Consul Kennedy's despatch of 9th

June. 1843.

Charges on Shipping in the Ports of Texas'^

Tonnage Duty. All Sailing Vessels entering any port of the

Republic, from any foreign port or place, are chargeable with a

^F. 0., Texas, Vol. 7.
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tonnage duty of Sixty Cents per ton, and Steam boats with thirty

Cents, according to registered tonnage.

Entrance. Any Ship, or Vessel, of less than one hundred tons

burthen, pays one dollar and a half, of one hundred and upward,

two dollars and a half,

—

Clearance^. For every clearance of Vessels of the above-men-

tioned burthen, the same fees respectively.

Port Entry. Two dollars.

Permit to land goods. Twenty Cents.

Bond taken Officially. Forty Cents.

Permit to land goods for exportation that may be entitled to

debenture, or official Certificate. Forty Cents.

Bill of Health. Twenty Cents

For every document (registers excepted) required by any Mer-
chant, Owner, or Master of any Ship, or Vessel, not before enumer-

ated. Twenty Cents.

[Endorsed.] No. 5. In Mr. Consul Kennedy's despatch of 9th

June. 1843.

ELLIOT TO ABERDEEN^

No. 12.2 Galveston, June 10th. 1843.

My Lord,

Mer Majesty's Sloop "Scylla" arrived last night from Vera Cruz

bringing me a Despatch from Mr. Percy Doyle Her Majesty's

Charge d' Affaires at Mexico of which I have the honor to trans-

mit a Copy, as well as a Copy of the Communication I have there-

upon addressed to the Secretary of State of this Eepublic.^

The departure of the Steam boat for New Orleans, prevents me
from adding more upon this occasion. I should mention however,

that in the state of understanding between the Government of Her

Majesty, and that of the King of the French concerning the close

of the Contest between tliis Republic and Mexico, I have felt it

right to communicate the subject of Mr Do^^le's despatch in confi-

dence to my Colleague Monsieur de Cramayel; And He concurs

with me that every suitable effort should be made to dispose the

^F. 0., Texas, VoL 6.

^No. 11, Elliot to Aberdeen, on the Eliza Russell claims, has been

omitted.

^Elliot to Jones, June 10, 1843. In Garrison, Diplomatic Correspondence

of the Republic of Texas, III, 1090; in Am. Hist. Assoc. Report, 1908, II.
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Government of this Eepublic to meet these advances of the Presi-

dent of Mexico.

Charles Elliot

To The Earl of Aberdeen, K. T.

Downing Street
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BOOK EEVIEWS AND NOTICES

Journal of the Secession Convention of Texas, 1861, edited from

the original in the Department of State by Ernest William

Winkler, State Librarian (Austin: The Texas Library and His-

torical Commission. 1912. Pp. 469).

This volume is the second collection of documentary material

to be issued by the Texas Library and Historical Commission since

its creation four years ago; and it should be taken as an earnest

of what the commission could do in the way of aiding research in

the field of Texas history were it supplied by the state with

adequate funds. Very little of our rich archives has been pub-

lished except the diplomatic correspondence of the Eepublic, the

laws and the legislative journals—which last are not complete.

The commission is authorized by law to publish the archives, but

the scantiness of the funds supplied has made it impossible to

undertake the publication of anything but small and scattered

units. Thus, the former volume consisted of the secret journals

of the Congresses of the Eepublic.

The choice of the secession journal for the second volume is

justified not only by the importance of the subject but by the in-

herent value of the journal itself and of the accompanying papers

of the convention. The journal is remarkably full. It begins

with an account of the manner in which the convention was

called, and contains the full text of practically every resolution

and report, as well as the addresses of the commissioners from

the other cotton states. The debates are lacking, but it is not

difficult to follow the mind of the convention in the record that

is left. Inserted in the printed journal is a folded page photo-

graph of the signatures to the Ordinance of Secession.

There are four appendices, only one of which is found with the

original journal. The first is an address to the people, prepared

after final adjournment, setting forth the various acts of the con-

vention and the reasons for them. This was originally issued as

a pamphlet. The second is the report of the Committee of Pub-

lic Safety, a valuable document, which was appended to the jour-

nal and was also published in pamphlet form. The scarcity of
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these pamphlets justifies their inclusion here. A statistical list

of delegates follows. The fourth appendix contains the election

certificates of delegates as found in the convention papers.

A number of interesting points are brought to light, not all

of which can be enumerated here. The election certificates dis-

close the fact that in certain counties the strength of the seces-

sion sentiment had brought about the election of delegates be-

fore the general call went out from Austin. The movement was

truly spontaneous. And in the general election of delegates the

regular officials were in charge and made the returns. This seems

to dispose of the charge that unauthorized persons conducted the

election. It is shown that eight votes were cast against the or-

dinance of secession instead of the traditional seven; and the

figures given by Eoberts and others for the popular vote on that

ordinance are proven erroneous, though the ratio is not materi-

ally altered. A number of other inaccuracies in Roberts's account

also become evident.

The accuracy of the editorial work could be tested only by a

painstaking comparison of the printed copy with the originals

;

but the editor's reputation for care and thoroughness is a suffi-

cient guarantee on this point. All students will commend his

decision to include the appendices. The index is well done.

The publication of this volume emphasizes the need of a com-

prehensive plan for the publication of all the official archives of

the state and the provision of funds sufficient for carrying out

that plan. The other great requisite, efficient and scholarly edi-

torial supervision, is already provided for. The commission should

not be held to the necessity of publishing our historical records in

isolated fragments, however well done that sort of work may be.

Chas. W. Ramsdell.

The Pathfinders from River to Ocean: the Story of the Great

West from the Time of Coronado to the Present^ by Grace Ray-

mond Hebard, Ph. D. (Chicago. Lakeside Press, 1911. Pp.

viii, 263).

This little book is a praiseworthy attempt to provide a help for

the elementary teaching of the history of the New Northwest.

It contains nine chapters, on : the early explorers, the fur traders,
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the great trails, the missions, Fremont's explorations, the gold dis-

coveries, the soldier and the settler, cows and cowboys, and the

railroads. On the whole, the chapters are well and interestingly

written for the purpose, and with a fair degree of accuracy of

statement.

The principal shortcomings of the book are on the side of omis-

sion rather than of commission. It is written from the standpoint

of the ISTorthwest, and by no means covers the ground indicated

by its title, which embraces the whole of the Trans-Mississippi

West. The point of view is nicely illustrated by the fact that

the chapter on missions is placed after that on the Oregon and

California trails, and is devoted almost entirely to nineteenth cen-

tury missionary work. This narrow view of the West is shown

by the fact that the list of western explorers omits the names of

De Leon, St. Denis, La Harpe, Kino, Anza, Font, Garces, Es-

calante, De M'ezieres, and Vial. Similarly, in the history of the

fur trade, no mention is made of Natchitoches, second only in im-

portance to St. Louis, nor of the century long work of the French

and Spanish fur traders west of the Mississippi. In the account

of Catholic missions in the Southwest no mention is made of the

French missionaries in Louisiana and Arkansas; of the Spanish

Franciscans in Texas, where they labored for a century and a

quarter; or of the Spanish Jesuits in Arizona. In the list of great

western trails, the San Antonio trail, reaching from Natchez to

Durango, and in use for more than a century, finds no mention.

The history of "soldier and settler'' fails to touch the settlement

of Texas or of the western half of the Mississippi valley, except

on its outer edge.

Nevertheless, in spite of the fact that it covers only about one-

third of the field which it defines, the book is distinctly worth

while as an aid to elementary teaching; and the pai-tial view of

Western History presented by this author may serve as a helpful

suggestion to others whose standpoints are different but equally

local. In view of the growing interest in the history of the West,

many similar books are bound to be written; and the outcome will

be, at no distant day, a revision of the text-books and a very con-

siderable shifting of emphasis in the teaching of United States

history in the schools.

Herbert E. Bolton,
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Social Life in Old Neiu Orleans: Being Recollections of my
Girlhood, by Eliza Ripley. (New York: D. Appleton and

Company, 1912. Pp. 333.)

In a brief biographical sketcli, appended to these memoirs, we

are informed that the author died shortly after making the last

arrangements for their publication. Thus this account of old New
Orleans, of seventy years ago, becomes the more impressive, now

that another is gone of the few who could supply it.

Novelists in search of local color will find a rich store here.

The setting and the activities of every-day life are described with

rare accuracy and minuteness. Eeceptions, balls, and weddings;

the fashion in dress for both sexes, young and old ; the topography

of New Orleans, and its architecture; furniture, tapestries, and

pictures, the preparing and serving of meals; the opera, old

music, old songs; schools and old-fashioned ideas of bringing up

children; the plantation-life of masters and slaves; these and

many other topics are discussed at length. There are also fre-

quent references to her contemporaries. Of the celebrities of her

day she was acquainted with many; some famed in the annals of

New Orleans, some of wider reputation. Their names are often

linked with interesting biographical details and descriptions of

their persons and characters.

A praiser of her times, though she has only kind words for the

present, one fancies that with her strong memory she must have

preferred to dwell in the past even more than is the wont of old

age. And none will refuse to tarry with her in the glorified past

who feels the charms of invariable good humor and of a youthful

heart.

Not the least interesting of the hors-d'oeuvres which lend va-

riety to the narrative is the account of how Lexington won the

great race in 1854, and of the swarming of the Kentucky belles

and their escorts into New Orleans to be present at his triumph:

^'The race, the only one I had ever witnessed, was tremendously

exciting, and as the gallant horses swept round the last lap, Lex-

ington, ever so little, in the lead, the uproar became quite deafen-

ing. One of the Johnson women, beautiful and enthusiastic,

sprang upon the bench and said to her equally excited escort,

^Hold me while I holler.' He threw his strong arms about her
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and steadied her feet. ^^sTow, holler.' And never did I hear the

full compass of the female voice before, nor since.'*

Nev^^ Orleans is interesting, directly or indirectly, for its Creole

population. There can be no complaint that this subject does

not receive at the hands of the author the attention it deserves.

But it may be urged, perhaps, that whatever information she im-

parts is of an external character. It is true that the quaintness

of Creole objects and ways, as the term is usually understood,

does not imply analysis of character. At any rate the average

tourist, who seems to feel repaid for his pains, probably inakes no

great progress in this direction. It would be no reproach to say

that, even from the picturesque point of view, she supplies ma-

terials for the picture rather than the picture itself. The re-

viewer remembers Loti's magical homesick visions of French co-

lonial life, evoked by the master with a few simple w^ords. But

Tx)ti's intense visions doubtless exist in his mind only; they are

reproduced in the reader's by insistence on merely a few details,

and they could not have the informational value of these mem-
ories. From the moral and intellectual standpoint, the book

which shall describe the Creoles of Louisiana is still to be written,

at any rate, the book which shall satisfy the subject. The author

of such a book can surely only be one who has been steeped in

that strange experience of living in two atmospheres at once, a

French and an English, as far apart as may be, who is conscious

of so equally balanced claims upon his sympathy that he hardly

knows in which direction to incline, who speaks and thinks and

laughs now in obedience to the one, now to the other.

E. J. Ytllavaso.

Incomplete Bolls First Regiment Texas Infantry, C. S. A., Fourtli

Regiment Texas Infantry, C. S. A., Fifth Regiment Texas In-

fantry, C. S. A., Hood's Texas Brigade, Army of Northern Vir-

ginia, 1SG1-1S65-. Compiled by William E. Hamby, Company

B, Fourth Texas.

The above is the title of a volume of one hundred and thirty-

five typewritten pages and the result of several years of tireless

effort. General Hamby has presented the State Library with a

copy of the book. Its character and contents are w^ell described

by the following excerpts from the introduction

:
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''The following rolls have been compiled from incomplete

records and with the assistance of surviving comrades. It was

earnestly desired the name of each comrade, especially those killed

or wounded in action or who died in the service, should be cor-

rectly reported, and it is a matter of lamentable regret that so

raany of the rolls are still incomplete, not only in names but in

casualties, but incomplete as they are it is believed that they

show a record for Hood's Texas Brigade, from 1861 to 1865, that

is unequaled in modern warfare.

"These incomplete rolls show for the First Texas 1302 names,

for the Fourth Texas 1251 names, for the Fifth Texas 1331

names—total 3884 names.

"The First Texas lost 332 killed in battle, 476 wounded once,

119 wounded twice, 25 wounded three or more times, 159 died of

disease; total casualties 1111, a loss of over 85 per cent.

"The Fourth Texas lost 316 killed in battle, 451 wounded once,

98 wounded twice, 19 wounded three or more times, 123 died of

disease; total casualties 1007, a loss of over 80 per cent.

"The Fifth Texas lost 303 killed in battle, 506 wounded once,

138 wounded twice, 28 wounded three or more times, 140 died of

disease; total casualties 1115, a loss of over 83 per cent.

"The aggregate losses of the three regiments in killed, wounded
and died of disease was 3233 out of 3884, making the total loss

over 83 per cent."

E. W. Winkler.

Texas Almanac for 1861.—It may be of interest to collectors

to note that there were two editions of Richardson's Texas Alma-
nac for 1861, each containing 336 pages, including advertise-

ments. The principal differences between the two editions are in

the preface and in the contents on page 242 and pages 246-52,

inclusive. The preface of the edition which seems to be the

earlier is undated and unsigned; the preface of the later is signed

Richardson and Company, Gralveston, November 1, 1860. Para-

graph two of the earlier preface contains two sentences which are

omitted in paragraph two of the later regarding statistics not

available for the first issue. Paragraph four of the later edition

also omits the two final sentences of the earlier regarding the

failure to receive census reports and county statistics. Paragraph
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five of the earlier edition promises a second edition; paragraph

five of the later treats of the county statistics included in this

issue and promises a supplementary sheet as soon as the census

reports are received.

Page 242 of the first edition contains a report of the Wash-

ington County Eailroad Company
;
page 242 of the second; a list

of the District Judges and Attorneys and an article regarding the

commerce of Indianola. The United States statistics on pages

246-52^ inclusive, of the earlier edition are omitted entirely in

the second. The corresponding pages in the later edition con-

tain a list of the county officers, an abstract of the treasurer's

report for the year ending August 31, 1860, an article upon river

and harbor improvements, a report of the Washington Eailroad

Company (found on page 242 of the earlier), a list of newspapers

in Texas, brief directories of the Supreme Court of Texas and the

United States District Courts in Texas, and the penitentiary re-

port for the year ending September 1, 1860.

Elizabeth H. West.

The Mississippi Valley Historical Association will hold its sixth

annual meeting at Omaha, Nebraska, May 8-10. Plans will be

discussed for inaugurating a quarterly publication in addition to

the annual Proceedings, which has heretofore been the sole organ

of the Association. The Proceedings for 1911-1912, which is just

from the press, is a beautifully printed volume of 268 pages.

Besides a number of papers which are of interest primarily to

teachers of history, it contains the following articles: "The Set-

tlement of the John Randolph Slaves in Ohio," "The Quakers in

the Old Northwest," "The Western Eeserve in the Anti-Slavery

Movement, ] 840-1860," "The Mississippi Valley in the Move-

ment for Fifty-Four Forty or Fight," "De Soto's Line of March

from the View Point of an Ethnologist," "The Disintegration and

Organization of Political Parties in Iowa, 1852-1860," "Attitude

of the Western Whigs toward the Convention System," "Factors

Influencing the Development of American Education before the

Eevolution," "The Battle of Lake Erie."

Membership dues in the Association are only one dollar a year,

and members are entitled to the publications of the Association
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without additional cost. Applications for membership and for

back volnmes of the Proceedings should be sent to Clarence S.

Paine, Lincoln, Nebraska.

Lectures on the American Civil War, by James Ford Rhodes,

LL. D., D. Litt. (Pp. xi, 206) has just been issued by the Mac-

millan Company. The lectures, of which there are three, were

delivered at the University of Oxford during the Easter and

Trinity Terms of 1912. The first lecture is devoted to "Ante-

cedents of the American Civil War 1850-1860," the second covers

the period between the election of Lincoln and the emancipation

proclamation, and the third brings the story to the surrender of

General Lee at Appomattox. The book is a fresh, thoughtful,

skillful, and interesting epitome of the war. It can be read in

three hours.

The Texas Star, by Joseph A. Altsheler (New York: D. Ap-

pleton and Company, 1912. Pp. 37*2 ), is a story for boys, de-

tailing the adventures of Edward Fulton, a fictitious youth who
voluntarily w^ent to Mexico to share the imprisonment of Stephen

F. Austin in 1834. and w^ho, divining Santa Anna's purpose of

subjugating Texas, escaped to warn the Texans. A number of

historical characters, both Texan and Mexican, appear in the

book, which on the whole pictures the conditions of the period

with a good deal of accuracy. iVustin appears only in the early

chapters of the book.

Mr. W. T. Hefley, of Cameron, has collected and printed in

convenient booklet form the newspaper correspondence recently

evoked by his suggestion of a commission to locate the ashes

of those who died at the Alamo and give them suitable burial.

It is entitled, "In Memory of the Heroes of the Alamo and to

Give the Facts of History as to the Resting Place of their Ashes."

The Quarterly has received Border Wars, by James T. De
Shields, edited by Matt Bradley (The Herald Company. Tioga,
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Texas. 1912. Pp. 400). A more extended notice will appear in

the July number.

Mr. Edward W. Heusinger, of San Antonio, has ready for press

a volume, entitled "Mission Ruins in Texas."

In the William and Mary College Quarterly for October, 1912,

is printed a letter from James Hamilton to Thomas W. Gilmer,

dated Columbia, June 3, 1838, in regard to a foreign loan for the

Eepublic of Texas.

In The American Historical Revievj for January, 1913, George

L. Rives has an article entitled "Mexican Diplomacy on the Eve

of the War with the United States."

The Texas Magazine (Houston) for January, 1913, contains an

article by Julia Beazley on "Ashbel Smith, physician, orator, sol-

dier, scholar, philosopher and statesmEin"; the number for Febru-

ary contains a brief article by H. M. McDougall on "Rare Con-

federate Stamps," which refers to certain issues by Texas post-

offices; the March number contains a brief sketch of James Kemp
Holland, a Mexican War veteran, by Annie J. Holland.

Two letters of Elisabet Ney are printed in the Austin States-

man of January 20, 1913.
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NEWS' ITEMS

The International Congress of Historical Studies is to be held

this year at London, April 3-9. The last meeting of the Con-

gress was at Berlin in 1908.

A Confederate monument was unveiled at Beaumont on No-

vember 27, 1912. A full account of the dedicatory ceremonies

and a picture of the monument are contained in the Beaumont

Enterprise of November 27.

A Confederate monument, erected under the auspices of the

local chapter, U. D. C, was unveiled at Matagorda, January 17,

1913. The Galveston News of January 18 contains an account

of the ceremonies, a list of the twenty soldiers lost in the ship-

wreck on Matagorda Bay on December 31, 1863, portraits of Cap-

tain E, S. Eugeley and Judge A. C. Burkhart, two of the rescued,

and a picture of the monument.

A combined monument to Thomas Jefferson and memorial of

the purchase of Louisiana Territory will be dedicated in St. Louis

some time this spring, probably in April. It is in the form of

a large building of concrete, stone, and marble, costing about

$450,000. A heroic statue of Jefferson occupies the center of

the rotunda. The architect is Ceorge F. Kessler, and the sculp-

tor is Karl T. F. Bitter. The cost of the building is defrayed

from the residue fund of the Louisiana Purchase Exposition of

1904. In the building will be housed the archeological collections

and the archives of the Missouri Historical Society, which contain

much valuable material on the history of the Mississippi Valley.

The Illinois Chapter of the Daughters of the Confederacy has

established a prize of $100 to be awarded annually by the His-

tory Department of the University of Chicago to the author of

the best study in Southern History. Competitors for this prize

must be graduates of some Southern College or university and

candidates for a higher degree at the University of Chicago, and
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they shall, on recommendation of the History faculty, receive

annual scholarships free of other conditions. It is understood

that the prize money shall be used to pay the expense of publish-

ing the successful essay or thesis, and further that in the event

that no Southern student enters the competition for one year the

Department of History may award the said prize to the author of

a suitable study in the field of Southern History without regard

to place of residence.

Judge Edwin LeEoy Antony, of Cameron, member of Congress,

1892-1893, died in Dallas on January 16, 1913. A sketch of his

life appeared in the Dallas News of the 17th.

George C. Pendleton, Lieutenant Governor under Governor

Hogg, and formerly Congressman from the old Ninth District,

died at his home in Temple, January 18. He was sixty-eight

years old.

Thomas Yolney Munson, an international authority on viticul-

ture and. author of Foundations of American Grape Culture

(1909), died at Denison, Texas, on January 21, 1913. A sketch

of his life appeared in the Dallas News of January 23, and in

Who's Who in America, 1912-1913.

On Januarv' 25 J. W. Curd died at El Paso. He was one of

the ablest teachers of history to be found in the public schools of

Texas. For several years he had been employing all of his spare

time on a study of the early history of El Paso, and it is to be hoped

that his work had progressed sufficiently to be useful.

Col. T. B. Wheeler, of Aransas Pass, former Lieutenant Gov-

ernor, and mayor of Austin in the early 70's, died at San An-

tonio on February 2, 1913. A sketch of his life is printed in the

San Antonio Express of the same date. He contributed to The
Quarterly (XI, 56-65) his "Eeminiscences of Eeconstruction in

Texas."

On February 3, 1913, Mrs. Jeanette Ennis Belo, widow of the

late Col. A. H. Belo and head of the Galveston-Dallas News Corpo-

ration, died at Cambridge, Massachusetts.
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On Monda}^ February 10, 1913, Mr. W. W. Mills died at his

home in Austin. He was born in Indiana in 1836, came to Texas

in 1857 with his brother, now Brigadier-General Anson Mills of

the United States Army, and settled at El Paso, then a small

village. He served in the United States Army in New Mexico

during the Civil War. In 1868-'69 he was a member of the Texas

Reconstruction Convention. Most of his later life was spent in

the Federal service as customs collector at El Paso and as consul

in Chihuahua. Brief biographical sketches may be found in the

El Paso Herald of February 11 and 17, and the Austin Tribune

of February 24, 1913.

The transfer of the remains of Joanna Troutman, the Georgia

girl who presented Ward's battalion with a lone star flag, from her

native State to the State Cemetery at Austin is chronicled in a

proclamation issued by the Governor, January 21, and in a message

to the Legislature, February 25, 1913.

Dr. W. L. Bringhurst, Superintendent of the Orphans' Home^
died at Corsicana on February 18, 1913. His widow is a daugh-

ter of General Sam Houston. A sketch of his life appeared in the

Dallas News of February 19.

Judge Marcellus E. Kleberg, son of Robert Justus Kleberg, a

San Jacinto veteran, died at Galveston on March 1, 1913. He
represented De Witt county in the Thirteenth Legislature, and was

city attorney of Galveston from 1904 until 1911.



442 The South western Historical Quarterly

AFFAIRS OF THE ASSOCIATION

THE AXXUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of the Association was held at the Univer-

sity of Texas on March 3. The Treasurer read the report, which

appears below. Thirteen life members and forty-seven members

were elected to the Association. The following oflBcers were

chosen for the ensuing year: Judge Z: T, Fulmore, President;

Miss Katie Daffan, Mrs. A. B. Looscan, Mr. Beauregard Bryan,

and Mr. Edward W. Heusinger, Vice-Presidents; Professor

Charles W. Eamsdell, Corresponding Secretary and Treasurer,

and Dr. W. F. McCaleb, Miss Lilia M. Casis, and Dr. W. J.

Battle, Members of the Executive Council. At a meeting of the

Fellows, Mr. Charles W. Hackett was elected a Fellow, and Pro-

fessor Herbert E. Bolton was added to the Publication Committee.

Other members of the Publication Committee were re-elected.

teeasubee's eepoet foe yeae exdixg maech 1, 1913

Receipts

By membership dues .

By sale of Quaeteely

1913

$1,760 68

108 80

1912

$1,539 35

44 75

8 50

29 55

3 28

By sale of reprints

By sale of binding

By miscellaneous .

4 50

7 13

By life memberships

By interest

390 00

142 45 149 45

Total receipts $2,413 56 $1,774 88

Expenditures

To printing Quaeteely
To binding Quaeteely

1913 1912

$ 574 21* 5 775 41
55 63 101 76

*It should b€ noted that when this report was made bills had not
been rendered for printing the October and January numbers of The
QUABTEKLY.
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1913 1912

To reprinting Quarterly 37 25 301 76

To reviews 19 50

To commissions 5 00

To clerical expenses 424 15 257 60

To miscellaneous expenses 98 99 108 52

To postage 158 50 125 00

To stationery 87 25 27 15

To Powell transcripts 57 74

Total expenditures $1,493 72 $1,721 11

Net profit 919 84* 53 77

$2,413 56 $1,774 88

Chas. W. Ramsdell,

Treasurer.

H. Y. Benedict,

Auditor.

*See note on previous page.
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Brunner, John H., 219.
Bryan, Beauregard, 442.
Bryan, William, 111, 300, 306; orders

to, 302-4.
Buckner, , 43.
Bugbee, Lester Gladstone, "Slavery

in early Texas," comment, 389.
Burch, John, 40 note 3.

Burke, William, 40 note 3.

Burkett, M. H. B., 219.

Burkett, Mrs. M. H. B., 219.

Burkhart, A. C, 440.
Buleson, Rufus (Rev.), 122.

Burnet, David G. (President), 45-6,

385; challenge to Houston, 129;
letter to (extract), 58.

Burnett, Peter Hardeman, letter to

(extract), 249.
Bustamante, Anastasio, 391-2 note

2, 394, 399; revolt, 1829, 379; rela-

tions with Teran, 391-2 note 2,

402; installation, 394, 402, 406,

421; letter (extract), 419-20; over-

throw, 422.
Butler, Anthony, 385.
Butler, Bennett, 36.

Butler, Pierce, 38-9 note 2.

Byron,
,
voyage, 71.

Cabrera Bueno, Gonzales, 67.

Cabrillo, Juan Rodriguez, expedition,

65.

Cabeza de Vaca, Alvar Nunez de,

expedition, 4.

Cacaxtles Indians, 14-15.

Caddo Indians, 4; reputed alliance

with Mexico, 59.

Calahorro y Saenz, Joseph (Father),

341, 365, 373.
Calhoun, John Caldwell, 211.

California, approaches to, 63-74;

eastern boundary, in Convention
of 18I^9, 227-58.

California (ship), 71.

Callaghan, Bryan, obituary, 222.

C a 1 z o n e s Colorados (Orcoquiza
chief), 345-6, 348, 360, 366, 369-70,
372-3, 375-6; village, 358-9.

Camulacanos River, 13.

Cambaros, (Father), 375.
Canadian River, 5.

Canning, Charles John (Lord Can-
ning), 91, 98.

Cannon, Newton (Governor of Ten-
nessee), 60 note 4; letter to (ex-

tract), 55 note 3.

Canos (Orcoquiza chief), 345-6, 349-

51, 357, 370, 372-3.

Caro, Francisco (Fray), 371.
Carabajal, Luis de, 12.

Carbajal, Agustin de, 158.
Caro, Joseph Francisco (Fray), 362.
Carretas (Nueva Vizcaya), 267.
Carson, Sam P., letter (extract), 58.

Carteret, , 71.

Casas, Bernabe (Capt.), 13.

Casas Grandes, 263, 267, 273-4.
Casis, Lilia Mary, 442.
Cass, Lewis, 96.
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Castano de la Sosa, Gaspar, 13; ex-

plorations, 5, 12.

Castillo, Diego del, 20; expedition,
9-10.

Castillo, Pedro Fernandez de, 56.

Catlett, Fairfax, 50 note 6, 51 note 1.

Catron, John, 281-2 note 7.

Causes and origin of the decree of April

6, 1830 (Howren), 378-422.
Cave, E. W., 122-3.

Cavendish, Thomas (Sir), 66.

Central Mexican Plateau, explora-
tion and conquest, 11-12.

Cerralvo, founding, importance, 12.

Cerro de la Plata, 2; search for, 13-14,

17.

Chambers, George (Governor), 38,

52.

Chambers, Thomas J. (General),

services, 39, 281; account of the
Wilson-Postlethwaite expedition,

46.
Channing, Edward, 334.
Chavez, Fernando de (Sarjento may-

or), 138-9, 142 note 2, 152, 269.

Chavira, Bruno (Fray), 357, 362, 371.

Cherokee Indians, reputed Mexican
alliance, 59 notes 1 and 2, 60;

lands, 88; Houston's life among,
114, 117-18; Houston's efforts to

protect, 123.
Chihuahua, 4.

Chiles, Rosa Pendleton, 335.
Chirikoff, , 70.

Chriesman, Horatio, 281.
Claiborne, John, 280.
Clark, Robert Carlton, 24.

Clay, Henry, 127, 198; attitude

toward recognition of Texas, 62

note 1; instructions to Poinsett,

384.
Cloud, D. W., 34.

Coahuil Indians, 16.

Coahuila, founding, missions, 15-16.

,Coahuila and Texas, legislature:

colonization scheme, 380-1, negli-

gence, 393; state authorities, 389.

(See also Statehood question).

Coast Range, 229.
Cocke, (Maj.), 304-5; letter to,

305-6.
Cockerell, Theodore Dru Alison, 111.

Cocos Indians ("Cokes", Cacaos),
racial affinity, range, 345.

Coleto, 106.
Collinsworth, George M. (Capt.),

286.
Colonization, methods of England
and Spain contrasted, 66, 73.

Colonization of Texas, Anglo-Ameri-
can, 379-82, 391, 398, 416, 418,
421-2, 424-5; Mexican, 409-13,
415-16; European, 409, 412-13.

Colorado of Baltimore, see Wharton.
Colorado River, 5-9, 17, 21, 24, 229.
Columbia River, discovery, 72; Lewis
and Clarke's exploration, 72.

Comanche Indians, 367; reputed
Mexican alliance, 59.

Coman, Katherine, Economic be-

ginnings of the Far West, comment
and correction, 229 note 1, 364
note 4.

Combs, (Lieut.), 46.

Concepcion (Spanish vessel), 65.

Concho River, 9, 21.

Conchos River, 17, 19.

Condron, Stuart Harkins, 110.
Confederate monuments: Waxa-

hachie, 336; Beaumont, 439;
Matagorda, 440.

Congress of Texas, 18If2-3, 77, 98.

Connally, John, 41 note 6.

Constitutional Convention of Cali-

fornia, 18J^9, 229-58.
Constitutional Conventions of Texas,

action upon the State debt, 1866,
172-3; 1869, 176-7.

Consultation, 1835, action regarding
volunteers, 30; regarding customs,
426.

Convention, Salt Lake City, 18j^9,

248-9.
Cook, James (Capt.), 66, 71-2.

Cooke, William G., 278, 279 note 1.

Cooper, Washington, 115 note 2.

Cordoba, Cristobal de, 356.
Coronado, Francisco Vasquez de, 5,

65.

Corn, trade, memorandum on, 310-
11.

Correspondence from the British Ar-
chives concerning Texas, 75-98,

184-213, 291-327, 423-9.

Cos, Martin Perfecto de, 280.

Cosgrove, J. H., 336.

Cotton, export from Texas, 412;
goods, import, 415, manufacture,
416.

Council, General, Provisional, ap-
peal to the people of the United
States, 31.

County names, 335.
Courcey, George D., 40 note 3.

Courier and Advertiser, 58-9 note 2.

Cowley, Henry Wellesley, Baron, 75,

98.
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Cramayel, Jules de (Vicomte), 97,

428.
Crane, R. C, 109.

Crittenden, , 280.

Crockett, David, 279, 336.

Crockett, Elizabeth (Mrs. David),
monument, 336.

Cruz, Manuel de la (Fray), 15.

Cruzate, Domingo Jironza de (Gov-
ernor), 2 note 6, 21.

Cuellar, Pedro de, 158, 265.

Cuitoa Indians, 10.

Cujanes Indians, 343; racial affinity,

346.
Culberson, Charles A. (Senator),

135 note 1.

Culberson, David B., 135.

Culiacan, 4.

Cunningham, Isaac, 42.

Curd, John William, 20 note 1, 110;

obituary, 440.
Currency of Texas, 109.

Custom-houses, establishment, 425.

Customs receipts at Texas ports,

18J!^2, 427; appropriations, 413,
415-16.

Daffan, Katie, 442.
Dampier, William, 67.

Davenport, Eliza M., see McFarlane,
Eliza Davenport, 284-90.

Davis, H. W., 40 note 3.

Davis, John, 40 note 3.

Davis, John A., 279.
Davis, M. B., obituary, 112.
Davis, Perry, 36.

Davis, W. W. H., Spanish Conquest
of New Mexico, correction, 145
note 2, 165-6.

Dawson, William & Company, 85.

Deadoses Indians (Agdocas, Doxses),
343; country, racial and liguistic

affinity, 345-6.

Decree of April 6, 1830, origin and
causes, 378-422; text (translation),
415-17.

Demecieres, De Mezieres, Antanacio,
see Mezieres, Athanase de, 367,
442.

Descubierta (Spanish vessel), 68.

Deseret, proposed state, 248-50.
De Shields, James T., 437.
Dickens, , 56 note 5.

Dickson, J., 307 note 3.

Dimmit, Philip (Capt.), company,
286.

Disdier, (Abbe), 367.
Disturnell, John, Mapa de los Es-

tados Unidos de Mejico, comment,
228-9.

Dobbs, Arthur, expeditions secured
by, 1737-U6, 71.

Dodd, William E., 332.
Dolores (mission), 371.
Dominguez, Atanasio (Fray), 227.
Dominguez, Bartolome, 162.
Dominguez de Mendoza, Juan (Ma-

estre de campo), opinions, 259-60,
270-1; expedition, 168U, 10-11, 20;
on exploration, 1686, 23.

Dominguez de Mendoza, Thome,
connection with the revolt oi 1680,
141-2, 162, 167, 259-60, 270-1.

Douglas, (Dr.), 117.
Downing, Benjamin F., 40 note 3.

Downing, John, 40 note 3.

Doxsas, Doxses, see Deadoses, 343,
345-6.

Doyle, Percy W., 294, 428; letters,
296-7.

Drake, Francis, voyage, 1579, effect,
65-6.

Downman, Henry W., 279.
Dufour map, comment, 228-9.
Dugald, McFarlane (Looscan), 284-

90.

Dunlap, Richard G., 30, 38 note 1.

Dunlap, Archibald, 40 note 3.

Dunn, James, 280.
Dunning, William Archibald, 108.
Duran y Chavez, Fernando (Capt.),

142.

Duran y Chavez, Pedro (Sargento
mayor), 142 note 2, 271.

Duties, tonnage, customs, 89-90.
Duval, Burr H. (Capt.), company at

Goliad, 35.

Duval, John Crittenden, escape from
Goliad, 36; company, 279.

Duval, William P. (Governor), 38.

Earl, (Capt.), 43 note 7.

Echegaray, Martin de, 18.

Edwards, Hayden (Col.), 39; diffi-

culties, 382-3.
Egerton, , land claims, 188, 192.
Electra (sloop), 191.
Elisa,

, voyage, 1 790, 68.
Eliza Russell (British merchantman),

case, 87-8, 91-2, 185.
Ellen Brooks (British ship), 184.
Elliott, Charles (Capt.), 93 note 1,

200, 306; letters, 76-98, 184-97,
199-213, 291-9, 311-12, 318-21,
428-9; letters to, 75, 82-3, 85, 198-

9, 296-7, 304-5, 314-18, 321-7.
Elliot, Mrs. Charles, 299, 306.
Elliot, George (Capt.), 296-7.
Ellis, A. J., 234.
Encomiendas in Nuevo Leon, 14.
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Enriquez, Cristobal {Sarjento major),

142 note 2.

Epperson, Ben, 135.

Escalante, Silvestre Velez, 432; ex-

plorations, 227; letter, translation,

correction of, 144 note 1.

Escanjaques Indians, 6, 10.

Escorsa, Juan de {Sarjento mayor),
273.

Espejo, Antonio, expedition, 1582-3,

5.

Espiritu Santo (presidio), 368; garri-

son, 408.
Espiritu Santo Bay, occupation, 7,

18; French claims to, 371.

Estrada, Bartolome, 273; orders, 267.

Eve, Joseph, 82, 177.

Everett, Edv/ard, 317.
Exchequer bills of Texas, 88-9.

Fannin, James W., Jr., 35, 52-3; sur-

render, 1836, 106; massacre, 279.

Fannin Hotel (Austin), 122.

Farfan, Francisco (Fray), 144, 162.

Ears, Antonio de la, 348-9.

Ferguson, Robert A. (Maj.), 40 note
2; funds collected by, 42.

Ferrelo, Bartolome, 65.

Fidalgo, , 68.

Filisola, Vicente, 422; Memorias . . .

quoted, 391-2 note 2, 393 note 3.

Fincher, F. E. (Rev.), 222.
Fisher, John, 279.
Fisher, Newton, 40 note 3.

Fisher, Samuel Rhodes, 285.
Fitzhugh, John P. T., 280.

Florida, importance, 1613, 13; efforts

to bring into communication with
Northern Mexico, 1613-50, 13-14;

exploration, 4, 17.

Flourney, George (Attorney-gen-
eral), 134.

Font, Pedro (Fray), 432; map, com-
ment, 227.

Foote, Henry Stuart, 238-9 note 2.

Forsyth, John, 60; attitude toward
recognition of Texas, 55 note 3;

orders for enforcing neutrality
laws, 56 note 5.

Fort Adams (steamer), 43.

Fort Gibson, 118.

Fort Jesup, 57 note 1.

Fort Ross, 70.

Franciscans, college at Zacatecas,
missions, 354, 357-9.

Franklin (steamboat), 44.

Fray Cristobal, Parage de, 143-4,

155, 161-2, 165, 167, 269; rendez-
vous at, 259.

Frazier, Charles, 34.
Frazier, W. W., 34.
Fredonian War, 382-3, 391-2, 421.
Free labor, 78-80, 91, 190.
Freminia, Maria El Garma, 331.
Fremont, John C, 228.
French-Spanish relations, see Front-

ier.

Frontier, Texan, 17, 424; French re-
lations on, 366-71.

Fry, Francis, 40 note 3.

Fulmore, Zachary T., 48, 335, 337,
442.

Furtleroy, William H., 34.

Fur-trade, 432.

Gaines, Edmund Pendleton (Gen.),
30, 57 note 1; sympathy with
Texas, 50; advance into Texas,
1836, 58-60.

Gaines, James, 278 note 4.

Galiano,
,
voyage, 1792, 68.

Galveston, trade, 423; customs re-

ceipts, 18^2, 427.
Galveston (Texas brig), 84-5.

Galveston Bay, colony near pro-
posed, 409 note 2, 411.

Galvez, Joseph (Visitador-general),
expedition, 1769, 68; fear of en-
croachment by Russia, 69; by
France, 72.

Garay, Francisco de, grant, 3.

Garces, Francisco, 432; explorations,
227.

Garcia, Anselmo {Fray), 373.
Garcia, Alonso de {Maestre de

campo), connection with the revolt
of 1680, 137-46, 153-6, 162-6,

259-61, 264 note 1, 265-6, 268, 271;
hacienda, 160.

Garcia, Pedro (Christian Tanos In-
dian), 158-9.

Garcia de San Francisco, {Fray),
19.

Garcia Larios, Francisco (Governor),
341.

Garrison, George Pierce, 24; Texas
. . . quoted, 382, 391.

Garza, Felipe de la, 399, 402-3.

Garza, Juan de la, Indian campaign,
1653, 14.

Cause, Benjamin F., 40 note 2.

George, Elias, 348-9.
George, Franklin, 40 note 3.

Gil de AVila, Alonso {Fray), 148.

Gilmer, Thomas W., 438.
Giraud, Diego, 360, 362.
Godoy, Juan Lucer© de {Sarjento

mayor), 265, 274.
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Goliad, massacre, 38 note 1, 106,

279; victims, 35-6, 38, 53; escapes,
36-7.

"Goliad declaration of Independ-
ence," 286.

Los Gomez, hacienda, 260.
Gomez de la Cadena, Francisco

{Fray), 157, 159.

Gomez Dobledo, Francisco {Maestre
de campo), connection with the
revolt of 1680, 259-61, 264 note
1, 271.

Goodlow, R. R., 280.
Goodwin, Cardinal, The Question of

the Eastern boundary of California
in the Convention of 181^9, 227-58.

El Gordo (Orcoquiza chief), 345, 351,
370; village, 358-9.

Gordon, Silas A., 280.
Goree, (Maj.), 133.
Gorham, J. G., 41 note 6.

Gorostiza, Manuel E. de, 56.

Grain, trade, memorandum on, 310.
Grand River, 118.

Granillo, Luis de {Sarjento mayor),
142-3, 163, 273-4.

Grant, James (Dr.), 25.
Gray, Robert (Capt.), 72.

Gray, William F., 281 note 1.

Grayson, Peter W., 50 note 3.

Green, John A., 118.
Green, Nathan, 118.
Green, Thomas Jefferson, 50.

Gregg, Josiah, Commerce of the

Prairies, correct-ion, 145 note 2,

Gregg, Simon, 41 note 6.

Grooms, Horatio, 40 note 3.

Grundy, (Capt.), 58.

Grundy, Felix, 124, 126.

Guadalajara, Diego de, expedition,
165J^, 10.

Guadalupe (Mexican steamship), 86
note 1, 307 note 3, 312.

Guadalupe del Paso (Monastery),
146, 152-3, 262-3, 266-7, 274.

Guasco Indians, 4.

Guerra, Pablo de la, 230.
Guerra, Rosa, 375.
Guerrero, Vicente, disputed election,

378-9; deposed, 379; administra-
tion, 421.

Guild, Joseph, 114.

Guizot, Francois Pierre Guillaume,
93 note 1.

Gulf of Mexico, explorations of, 3, 17.
Givin, William M., in California

Constitutional Convention, 233-5,
237-41, 247, 250-7.

Hackett, Charles Wilson, 110, 422;
The retreat of the Spanish from
New Mexico in 1680, and the be-

ginnings of El Paso, 137-68,
259-76.

Hall, Edward, 111.

Halleck, Henry W., 227; in Cali-
fornia Constitutional Convention,
233-5, 237-40, 246, 250-1, 253-7.

Hamby, William Robert, 434.
Hamilton, Andrew Jackson, 131-2,

169.
Hamilton, Jack, 123-4.

Hamilton, James, 85, 211, 438; med-
iation proposal, 87.

Hamilton, Morgan Calvin, letter,

301-2.
Hamilton, Samuel (i. e., James), 85.

Hancock, John, 118, 123.

Handy, Robert Eden, 107.
Haro, , 68.

Harris, Henry, 40 note 3.

Harris, P. H. (Maj.), 40 note 2;

letter, 44.

Harris County Bar Association, 223.
Harriss, , 34.

Harrison, Charles L. (Col.), com-
mand, 43.

Hart, Albert Bushnell, 334.
Hart, William P. (Col.), 41.

Hasinai Indians, 24-5, 375.
Hastings, Lansford, 230-1, 249, 255,

257.
Hays," John C. (Maj.), 294 note 2.

Hearne, Samuel, 72.

Hebard, Grace Raymond, 431.
Heceta, , 68.

Hefiey, W. T., 437.
Henderson, J. W., 223.
Henderson, James Pinckney, 50

note 6, 51 note 1.

Henry, O. (Sidney Porter), 221.
Herff, Ferdinand (Dr.), obituary,

111-12.
Hernandez, (Surveyor), 359.
Heroine (steamboat), 43.

Herrera, Sebastian de, 138-9, 142,
152, 269, 271.

Herron, Nicholas, 280.
Heusinger, Edward W., 437, 442.
Highway, royal, 341.
Hill, Henry, 235-6, 256-7.
Hill, J. A., book review, 105-6.
Hittell, Theodore Henry, History of

California, comment, 251 note 4.

Hobson, , 257.
Hockley, George W. (Col.), 48 note 2.

Hodge, Frederick Webb, note, 114
note 1.
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Hodges, LeRoy, 221, 336.
Hogg, James Stephen, 136.
Holden, William Woods, 173.
Holland, Annie J., 438.
Holland, Benjamin H. (Capt.), 38

note 1.

Holland, James Kemp, 438.
Holley, Mary Austin, 40-1.

Hoist, Hermann Eduard von, 58-9

note 2.

Holston River, 114.
Hooper, John M., 280.

Hoppe, J. D., 255.
Los Horconsitas, 356, 363-6.

Houston, Eliza Allen (Mrs. Sam),
separation from Houston, 116-18.

Houston, Margaret Lea (Mrs. Sam),
83; influence over Houston, 76,

121-2.

Houston, Nettie, see Bringhurst,
Nettie Houston.

Houston, Sam, 49 note 1, 93 note 1,

96, 107, 172, 287, 318-20; quoted,

30; letters, 32 (extract), 82-3,

198-9, 321-7; characterized, 76-7,

188; attitude toward England, 77,

86; policy, 86-91, 207-13; message
to Congress, Dec. 1, 18Jf.2, com-
ment, 88; opposition to Texan ad-
vance, 181^2, 94; Terrell's recollec-

tions of, 113-36; portrait, facing

113; portraits, note upon, 115-16;
attitude toward annexation, 197-9,

206-13; drama regarding, noted,

222; orders, 302-4; whereabouts,
183J^, 328-9.

Houston, Sam, Jr., 123, 132.

Houston, Temple, 136.

Howren, Alleine, Causes and origin

of the decree of April 6, 1830, 378-

422.
Hubde, Carlos, 412.
Hudson, H. G., 36.

Hughes, Anne, 20 note 1, 110, 276.
Hughes, Benjamin F., 36.

Hughy, W., 41 note 6.

Humana, Juan de, 5-6.

Hunt, Charlton, 41.

Hunt, Memucan, 55.

Hunt, Rockwell D. (Dr.), The
genesis of California's first consti-

tution, quotation, comment, 253-6.

Hunter, William L., 279.
Huston, Felix (Gen.), letter (ex-

tract), 61.

Icara Indians, 367.
Iman, Santiago (Gen.), 297.

Independence of Texas, British in-
terest in maintaining, 93-4; pros-
pects, 18Jt3, 91.

Innes, Robert, 41 note 6.

Ingram, John (Capt.), 34.
Isleta, (pueblo and Mission, El Paso

district), 19.

Isleta (pueblo, New Mexico), 8, 163,
165, 168, 269; rendezvous at, re-
treat from, 1680, 137-45, 160-1.

Jack, William H., 50 note 3.

Jackson, Andrew, 99-102, 124-6,
128; letter (extract), 55 note 3.

Jackson, Pearl (Mrs. John A.),
335-6.

James, John H., obituary, 223.
Jamison, Green B. (Maj.), death, 34.
Janos Indians, 272; mission, 275.
Jefferson, Thomas, memorial build-

ing, St. Louis, 441.
Jemez (pueblo, New Alexico), 143,

160, 163.
Jesus Maria, Josef Abad de (Fray),

363-4, 371; letter (extract), 358.
Johnson, (Col.), 53.

Johnson, Andrew (President), 169;
repudiation policy, 173.

Johnson, Cave, 127.
Johnson, Francis W., 278 note 4.

Johnson, Reverdy, 124-5.

Johnston, Albert Sidney (Gen.), 129.
Jolly, John (Cherokee chief), 114.
Jones, Anson, 93 note 1, 184, 186,

192-6, 306, 326.
Jones, James M., 235-7, 251, 256-8.
Juan Luis, Sr. (Capt.), 142 note 2.

Juan Luis, Jr. (Capt.), 142 note 2.

Julimes Indians, 19-20.

Julius Caesar (schooner), 44 note 4.

Jumano Indians, 6; expeditions to,

7-11, 17, 20-2; country, proposals
to occupy, 1685-6, 22-4.

Juntas: 1680, 259-61, 269-71; 1683,
18; 175Jf, 350; 1755, 352; 1756,
353-4; 1757, 360; 1762, 365; 1768,
72.

La Junta, 22; missions, 19.

Karankawa Indians, 284; racial

affinity, range, 345-6; French
among, 369.

Kemp, James, 279.
Kennedy, William, 311; letters, 81,

184, 200, 205-6, 300-1, 304-6,

316-18, 423-8; letter to, 312-13.

Kentucky and the Independence of
Texas (Winston), 27-62.
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Kentucky Gazette, 61-2.

Kerlerec, Louis Billouart de (Gov.),
protests, 366-70; designs, 370.

Kimball, Heber C, 249; letter,

243-5 note 3.

King, Thomas Butler, 243-4, 254
note 1.

Kino, Eusebio Francisco (Father),

432; missionary activity, 67.

Kleberg, Marcellus E., death, 439.
Knox, John 0., 280.
Krenitzen, , expedition, 1768-9,

70.

Laba, Ignacio Maria (Fray), 373-4,
377.

"Ladies' Battalion," 39.
"Ladies' Cavalry," 42.
"Ladies' Legion of the City of Lex-

ington," 40, 41 note 1, 43-7.

La Fora, Nicolas (?) diary (extract),
366.

La Harpe, Benard de, 432.
Lamar, Mirabeau Buonaparte, 107,

120; challenge to Houston, 129.
Land claims, Texas, 186; laws, criti-

cism, 186-8.

Lands, bounty, 45-7, 52-4.

Lanpen, see Blancpain, Joseph.
Larios, Juan (Father), 15.

La Salle, Rene Robert Cavelier de,
expedition, results, 4-6.

Lauck, W. Jett, 221.
La Verendrye, , discovery of
Rocky Mountains, 72.

Lawrence, Asa, 41 note 6.

Lawton, Eba Anderson, 217.
Legare, Hugh Swinton, 317.
Leiva, Pedro de {Maestre de campo),

connection with the revolt of 1 680,
138, 140, 144, 146, 152-4; 161 note
5, 163-6, 166, 168, 261, 265, 272.

Leland, Waldo G., 335.
Leon, , 13.

Leon, Alonso de, 14, 432; expedi-
tion, 1689, 24; 1690, 25-6.

Leon, Jacinto de, 347.
Leon (Cerralvo), founding and early

importance, 12.

Lester, James S., 111.
Letas, see Comanche, 367.
Levashef, , expedition, 1768-9,

70.

Levy, A. M. (Dr.), 280.
Lewis, , 4.

Lewis, (Col.), 39.
Lewis and Clarke, expedition, 1801^-6,

72.

Lexington Fayette Volunteers, 40.
Lexington Intelligencer, 61.

Lincoln, Abraham, proposal to Hous-
ton, 1861, 135.

Lippitt, Francis J., in California
Constitutional Convention, 247,
254; The California boundary ques-
tion of 18U9, quotation, comment,
252-6.

Little Penn (British merchantman),
case, 87-8, 91-2.

Llanos del Cibolo, 5-6.

Lizardi and Company, 92.

Loan of Texas, first, 281 note 1.

Long, James, 329; order, 330; procla-
mations, 330.

Long John (Cherokee), 130-1.

Looscan, Adele Briscoe (Mrs. Mich-
ael), 442; Dugaid McFarlane, 284-
90.

Lopez, Diego (Father), 9.

Lopez, Diego (Sarjento mayor), 274.
Lopez, Nicholas (Fray), 19, 24, 261.
Lopez de Gracia, Andres, 266-7.

Lopez de Gracia, Joseph, 266-7.

Louisiana Purchase, memorial build-
ing, 441.

Lubbock, Francis Richard, 115, 129.
Lucero de Godoy, Juan, 166.
Lummis, Charles Fletcher, transla-

tion of Escalante, correction, 144
note 1.

Lumpkin, John, 36.

Lyman, Amasa, letter (extract), 249;
letter to, 243-5 note 3.

Macarty (Chevalier), letter (ex-

tract), 370.
McCaleb, Walter Flavius, 442.
McCalla, , letter (extract), 384.
McCarver, M. M., 238, 246, 254.
McCormac, Eugene I., 110.
McCulloch, James, 281 note 1.

McCulloch, James E., 221.
McDougal, John, 231-2, 235-7, 250-2,

254-5.
McDougall, H. M., 438.
McFarlane, Dugald, biography, 284-

90.

McFarlane, Eliza Davenport (Mrs.
Dugald), 284-90, passim.

McFarlane, Eureka, see Theall, Eu-
reka McFarlane, 284, 289-90.

McFarlane, William Wallace, 289.
McFarlane's Castle, 285.
McGauhey, W. L., obituary, 222.
McGregor, (CoL), 128.
Mclntyre, (Capt.), company,

280.
Mackay, William H., 281.
MacKenzie, Alexander, 72.

McLean, John, 41 note 6.
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McMaster, William (Capt.), 289.
McMeans, Robert, 41 note 6.

Maddox, James, 41 note 6.

Madrid, Roque de (Capt.), muster-
record, 266.

Magee, Augustus, raid, 32.

Mail, overland, Texas, 221.
Malaspina, Alejandro, 68.

Maldonado, Juan Antonio, 347.
Manchaca, (Capt.), 375.
Manning, William Ray, 111.
Mansos Indians, 143, 260, 271; mis-

sion, 275.
Manzanet, Damian, see Manssanet,
Damian.

Maps and charts, comment: Font's,
1777, 227; Rosa's, 1837, 227-9;
Dufour's, 1837, 228-9; Tanner's,
181^6, 228-9; Preuss's, 228-9, 236-7;
Disturnell's, 228-9; Miranda's,
1757, 344-5 note 1, 356 note 1,

368-9; Austin's, 1829, 419; trans-
mitted to England, 18J+3, 309.

Marenti, Joseph {Fray), 373.
Marmolejo, Francisco Fernandez,

148.
Marquez, Bernabe {Sarjento mayor),

156.
Marquez, Pedro (Capt.), 142 note 2,

271.
Marshall, John, 120.

Marshal, Thomas Maitland, note
upon Houston, 328-9.

Martin, Hernando, 21; expedition,
9-10.

Martinez, , 68.

Martinez Pacheco, Rafael, see Pache-
co, Rafael Martinez, 365, 371-7.

Martos y Navarrete, Angel (Gov-
ernor), appointment, 356; admin-
istration, 363-6, 370, 374-6; letter
to (extract), 371.

Mason, John Young, 186-7, 194, 281.
Masonic lodges in Texas, 285-7.
Massanet, Damian (Fray), expedi-

tion, 1689, 24, 1690, 25-6.
Masse, , 367-8.
Massey, J. W., 280.
Matagorda, early history, 284; cus-
toms receipts, 1 814.2, 427.

Matagorda Bay, 3; shipwreck, 1863,
440.

La Matanza, 6.

Mateo (Orcoquiza chief), 345-6,
250-1, 360.

Maverick, S. A., 220.
Mediation between, Texas and Mexi-

co; joint, 75, 93, 97; by England,
82, 87.

Mendoza, Antonio de (Viceroy), ex-
plorations, 65.

Mendoza, Diego de {Fray), 138,
152-3.

Mendoza, Diego Dominguez de
(Capt.), 142 note 2.

Mendoza, Juan Dominguez de, see

Dominguez de Mendoza, Juan,
10.23, 259-71 passim.

Mendoza, Thome Dominguez de,
see Dominguez de Mendoza,
Thome, 141-271 passim.

Mexicana (Spanish vessel), 68.

Mexico, history, 1823-33, 378-81;
growth of friction with Texas,
382-91. {See also Blockade of
eastern Mexican ports; Coloniza-
tion of Texas; Customs receipts;
Decree of April 6, 1830; Fredonian
War; Invasion of Texas; Maps;
Mediation between Texas and
Mexico; Montezuma; Peace be-
tween Texas and Mexico; Recog-
nition of Texan independence;
Revolution of Mexico; Revolution
of Texas; Slavery; Texas; Trade;
Treaties; etc.)

Mezieres, Athanase de (Mecieres,
Demecieres, etc.), 367, 432.

Mier, early settlement near, 12; ex-
pedition, 18Jf2, 189; prisoners, 199,
295, 315-16, 319-20, 324-7.

Milam, Benjamin, sketch of, 34.
Mill Creek, 359.
Miller, Edmund Thornton, Repudia-

tion of State debt in Texas since

1861, 169-83.
Miller, James Weston (Rev.), 221.
Miller, Robert F., 221.
Miller, T. S., obituary, 223.
Miller, William P. (Maj.), 54.

Mills, Roger Quarles, 109.
Mills, W. W., obituary, 440.
Miranda, Bernardo de, 346-7, 359-61,

368-9; map, Apr. 18, 1757, com-
ment, 344-5 note 1, 356 note 1,

368-9.

Missions of Texas, progress, 1 759-71

,

371-4. {See also Adaes; Ais;
Dolores; Franciscans; Nuestra
Sefiora de la Luz; Orcoquisac; El
Paso; San Jose de los Nasonis,
etc.)

Missions, southwestern, 432.
Mississippi River, alleged Spanish

expedition to, 15 note 1.

Mississippi Valley Historical Asso-
ciation, 436-7.
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Missouri Compromise, attempt to

apply to the Pacific coast, 238-9
note 2, 242 note 1.

Mississippi Republican, 329.
Mitchell, Mrs. E. H., 116.

Mitchell, Samuel Augustus, Map of
Mexico including Yucatan and
Upper California, comment, 228.

Mitcherson, (Dr.), 279.
Monasterio, , 56.

Monterey (California), 67; occupa-
tion, 67-8, 73.

Monterrey (villa of San Luis, Mexi-
co), establishment, 12.

Montezuma (Mexican vessel), 307
note 3; release, 77, 86.

Montgomery, James, 280.
Montgomery County, volunteers

from, 43 note 2.

Montoya, Felipe, 266.

Moore, Edwin Ward (Commodore),
289, 305-6; challenge to Houston,
129; letter, 307; letter to, 301-2;
conduct, 18^3, 291, 300, 303-4,

312.
Moore, Robert B., 34.

Morales, (surveyor), 359.
Morehead, John T., 280.
Morfi, Agustln (Fray), Memorias

. . . correction, 354.
Morgan, James, 300, 306-7; orders

to, 302-4.

Mormons, settlements, 236, 238; in

relation to the California bound-
ary, 247-50.

Morton, Jeremiah, 281 note 1.

Moscoso, Luis de, expedition, 4.

Motley, William (Dr.), 49.

Mulkey, Abe, 219.
Munson, Thomas Volney, death, 439.
Murphy, Daniel, 36.

Murphy, William C, 40 note 3.

Murphy, William S., 316-18; state-
ment, 316-17.

Musquiz, Ramon, 387 ; letter to (ex-

tract), 386-7.

"Mustangs" (Duval's company), 35.

Nabedache Indians, 24; village, 341,
351.

Nacogdoches, 59; United States
troops at, 58-9; conditions, 1828,
395-8; garrison, 408.

Nanboa, Pedro (Indian), 162.
Narvaez, Pdnfilo de, 4.

Natchitoches, trade, 347-8; fur trade,
432.

Natchitoches Courier, 398.
National archives building project,

335.

National Intelligencer, comment upon
Gaines's advance, 1836, 60 note 4.

Native Sons of the Golden West, 110.
Navy of Texas, 83-5, 289, 307.
Neill, Andrew, escape from Mexico,

191.
Neutrality, Jackson's attitude to-

ward, 54-61.

New Mexico, explorations of, 4-8, 17;
missions, 89; base of operations
in, 18. (See also Retreat of the

Spanish from New Mexico in 1 680
. . . (Hackett) ; School of American
Archaeology; etc.)

New Orleans Bee, 30, 58-9 note 2,

61-2, 282.
New Orleans Greys, 279, 280 note 3.

Newspapers of Texas: at Brazoria
and Matagorda, 288, 290. (See
also Texas Republican.)

New York Courier, quoted, 278.
Ney, Elisabet, 438.
Nicholas, , letter (extract), 384.
Nicholson, Jimmy, 123, 130.

Nisone Indians, 4.

Nondacan Indians, 4.

Nootka Sound Controversy, 68, 72.

Nordenskjold, , voyage, 1879,
69.

Northwest Company, 72.

Northwest passage, search for, 68-9,

70-3.

Norton, Myron, 245-6, 253.

Norvell, Mrs. Lipscomb, 221, 335.
Nueces River (Colorado), 10, 17,

19-21, 24.

Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe (Al-

maden site), founding, missions,
15.

Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe (El

Paso), see Guadalupe del Paso.
Nuestra Senora de la Luz (mission),

establishment and early history,

357-9, 371-4.

Nuevo Leon, exploration and found-
ing, 11-15; encomiendas, 14.

Nueva Vizcaya, 149; danger, 1680,
272.

Oath of enlistment, 51 note 3.

O'Gorman, , land claim, 188,
192.

O'Kinney, Allen, 279.
Oldham, William S. (Judge), 118-20.
Olives (Indian tribe), 3.

Olmos, (Father), 3.

Ofiate, Juan de, expedition, 1598, 5;

expedition, 1601, 6.

Oo-loo-tee-kah (John Jolly, Chero-
kee chief), 114.
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ElOrcoquisac, site, 344-5 note 1; plan
for villa and mission at, 349-50;
garrisoned, 350-1; presidio, mis-
sion, and villa authorized, 351-5;
presidio and mission established,
355-9; plans for a villa at Santa
Rosa, 359-61; efforts to move the
presidio and the mission, failure
of the project for a villa, 361-6;
abandonment, 377.

Orcoquiza Indians, 338-77 passim.
Ordofiez de Montalvo, , 165.
Oregon Territory, 96.

Orobio Bazterra, Joaquin de, expedi-
tion, 17U5-6, 339-43; diary, com-
ment, 341-2.

Orr, , 307 note 3.

Ortega, Diego de (Father), 9.

Osburn, J. C. (Dr.), 280.
Otermm, Antonio de (Governor),

connection with the revolt of 1 680,
138-9, 144-5, 152, 154-68, 259-61,
263-4, 271-5; letter, 167-8; letter

to (extract), 260-1.
Overland Monthly, 252-3.
Owen, Shapley, 49.

Pacheco, Rafael Martinez (Capt.),
365; career at ElOrcoquisac, 371-7.

Pachina Indians, 342.
Page, Albert, 40 note 3.

Paine, Clarence S., 437.
Pakenham, Richard (Sir), 199, 206,

294 note 1, 314, 319; course re-

specting Mier prisoners, 320, 325;
letters to, 207-13.

Palm, Swante (Sir), report, 1865,
169-171.

Palmas, Rio de las, 13.

Panis Indians, 367.
Panuco, 12-13; founding, early im-

portance, 3, 11.

Pares, see Panis.
Parker, C. A., 33 note 5.

Parker, Edwin B., 115.
Parker, Isaac, letter to (extract), 32.

Parraga, Diego de {Fray), 259; letter

to, 167-8.

Parral, 19, 27, 275.

Paschal, George W., 131.

El Paso, 7, 11, 144, 154, 164, 166,
272-3; settlement, early history,

17, 19-20, 23, 269-76; presidio, 271,
276; history, note upon, 440.
(See also Guadalupe del Paso; San
Lorenzo, etc.)

Pataca, see Comanche, 59, 367.

Patties, , 73.

Pauit Indians, 16.

La Paz, 65.

Peace between Texas and Mexico:
importance to England, 191; Mex-
ican overtures, 204-5, 428.

Pease, , 41.
Pease, Elisha Marshall, report, 1865,

169-71.
Pecos River, 5, 13, 15.
Pedraza, Manuel Gomez, disputed

election, 378; installation, 379.
Pendleton, George C, death, 439.
Pefialosa, Diego de, 23; expedition,

6-7, 17-18.

Penasco, Dionysio de (Father), mis-
sionary work, 15.

Perez, Juan, voyage, 1 77U, 68.
Periere, (French commander,

Natchitoches), 374-5.
Perry, Emily Austin, letter to (ex-

tract), 385-6.
Perry, James, 279.
Perry, James Franklin, letter to (ex-

tract), 385-6.
Pettus, Samuel 0. (Capt.) company,

279.
Peyton, Balie, 124, 126-7.
PhiUips, Drury McN., 335.
Phillips, William Battle (Dr.), 335.
Picuris (pueblo) Indians from, in

sack of Santa Fe, 156.
Piedras, Jose de las (Col.), at Nacog-

doches, 390 note 1, 393.
Los Pielagos (ElPielago), 363-4, 366.
Pilotage, 423.
Pimeria Atla, 67.

Pineda, Alonzo Alvarez de, explora-
tion, 1519, 3.

Piro Indians, 138; pueblos, 268.
Poinsett, Joel Roberts, in Mexico,

383-5.

Polk, James Knox, 124, 126-7; settle-

ment of the Oregon question,
107-8; message, December 5, 181f.8,

comment, 238-9 note 2.

Population of Texas, character, 1828-
30, 395-8, 408.

Port Gibson Correspondent, extract,

331.
Portola, Caspar de, expedition, 1769y

68.

Postlethwaite, G. Lewis, volunteer
expedition, 1836, 43.

Preston, Isaac T., 282.
Preuss, Charles, Map of Oregon and
upper California, comment, 228,
236-7.

Price, (Capt.), 46.

Price, Rodman M., 239, 254.

Primer, Sylvester (Dr.), obituary
223.
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Prince, , Historical sketches . . .

correction, 165.
Pryor (Prior), land claim, 188, 192.

Public debt of Texas, 169-193.
Pueblo Indian revolt, 1680, 19, 137-

ft68, 258-76.

Queen Charlotte Island, 68.

The question of the eastern boundary
of California in the Convention of

18U9 (Goodwin), 227-58.
Quimper, , voyage, 1790, 68.

Quintana, Luis de (Sarjento mayor),
166, 266.

Quivira, 20, 22; search for, 1-2, 17-

18; Indians, 6, 9.

Ragan, William, 40 note 3.

Ragsdale, Peter C, 280.
Rains, J. D., 36.
Ramirez de la Piscina,— (Capt.), 375.
Ramos, Juan, 157.
Ramsdell, Charles William, 442-3;
book reviews, 217, 332-4, 430-1.

Randolph (Tenn.) Recorder, quoted,
277 note 1.

Read, Ezra (Dr.), 46.
Reagan, John Henninger (Judge),

115; anecdote of Houston, 122.
Recognition of Texas independence,

314-15, 324; Jackson's attitude to-
ward, 55-6; by Mexico, 200-1.

Recollections of General Sam Houston
(Terrell), 113-36.

Red, William S. (Rev.), 222.
Red River, 4, 8; alleged Spanish ex-

pedition to, 15 note 1; district

customs receipts, 18^2, 427.
Red Rovers, 279 note 6.

Reid, Hugh, 230.
Repudiation of State debt in Texas

since 1861 (Miller), 169-83.
Retes, Joseph de (Capt.), 152.
The retreat of the Spaniards from New
Mexico in 1680, and the beginnings
of El Paso (Hackett), 137-68, 259-
76.

Revolution of Mexico, 1910, 108.
Revolution of Texas, causes, 105-6.
Rhodes, James Ford, 437.
Richards, Willard, 249; letter, 243-5

note 3.

Richmond (Va.) Enquirer, quoted,
278, 282-3; attitude toward Texas,
282.

Richmond (Va.) Whig, 280; attitude
toward Texas, 282.

Riley, Bennett (Gen.), proclama-
tion, comment, 229, 246.

Rio, Domingo del, 339-77 passim.

Rio Abajo (district. New Mexico),
inhabitants, 137, 162; revolt, 1680,
143; refugees from, 156, 259, 272.

Rio Grande (Rio Bravo, Rio Bravo
del Norte, Rio Grande del Norte,
Rio del Norte), 13, 15; Jumano on,
7; missions on, 19; frontier, 12-13,

17; Texan advance to, 18J^2, 94, 98;
Ayeta's crossing, 1690, 262-3.

Ripley, Eliza, 433.
Ripperda, Baron de (Governor), 377.
Ritchie, William F., 281 note 1.

Ritter, T. E., 41 note 6.

Rivera, Afan de, 365, 373, 376.
Rivera, Payo Enriquez de (Viceroy),

147.
Rivera, Pedro de, inspection, 1727,

340 note 1.

Rives, George L., 438.
Robbins, , 34.

Robbins, Fred S., 222.
Roberts, Oran Milo, 134.
Robinson, James W., 288; peace ne-

gotiations, 18J^3, 204 note 2,207-
11, 307-8, 314-15.

Rocky Mountains, discovery, 72.

Rodgers, Tiana, 118.
Rodriguez, Agustm (Father), expe-

dition, 1581, 5.

Rodriguez, Jacinto, 230.
Rogers, William P. (Col.), 135;
monument, 224.

Rogers, Woods, 67.

Roman, Richard (Capt.), 48 note 1.

Romero, (Father), 357, 359, 364.
Romero, Felipe (Capt.), 142 note 2.

Roque (Tesuque Indian), 156.
Rosa, Luis de la, map, comment,

228-9.
El Rosario, 23.

Ross, John M., 38 note 1.

Ross, William, 34.

Rowe, Leo S., 108.

Roy, John, 41 note 6.

Royce, Josiah, History of Californiay
comment and correction, 229 note
1, 252.

Rubi (Ruby), Marques de, inspec-
tion, 1767, 365-6, 376-7.

Rugeley, E. S., 440.
Runnels, Hiram R., 118.

Ruiz, Marcos, 344 note 1, 347-8, 350,
356; connection with San Agustin
Presidio, 375-6; arrest, 376.

Rusk, Thomas J., 50 note 4; elected
major general, 190; letter to (ex-

tract), 282 note 4.

Russell, Joseph, 185.
Russia, activities in northwestern
America, 67, 69-72.
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Sabeata, Juan, 2 note 6, 20-1.

Sabinas River, Indian settlements
'-ion, 15.

Sabine, customs receipts, 427.
St. Denis, Louis de (son of Louis
Jucherean de St. Denis), accusa-
tions against, 369-70.

St. Denis, Louis Jucherean de, 369,
432.

Salas, Antonio de {Sarjento mayor),
142 note 2.

Salas, Juan de (Father), visits to
the Jumano, 6, 8-9, 11.

Salinero Indians, 8.

La Salineta (Texas), retreat to, 1680,
166, 259-64; temporary camp at,

264-75.
Salvino, Luis (Father), 372, 375-6.
Sam Houston Normal College, 222.
San Andres (Red) River, 15 note 1.

San Agustln de Ahumada (pre-

sidio), 357, 360, 362, 366, 373;
trade, 348; establishment, 355-6;
site, conflicting claims, 366; French
plot against alleged, 369; adminis-
tration, scandals, 374-6.

San Antonio de Bexar (presidio),

garrison, 408, 410.
San Antonio (Texas schooner), 84-5.

San Antonio Road, 432.
San Augustin*e, customs receipts,

181^2, 427.
San Bartolome, valley (New Mex-

ico), 273.
San Bernard (Texas schooner), 84-5.

San Buenaventura, Dionysio de

r- (Father), 15.

San Carlos (Spanish vessel), 68.

San Clemente (stream), 21.

Sanders, Lewis, 56 note 5.

Sandia, 59-61.

San Diego (Cal.), 67; occupation,
67-8, 73.

San Felipe de Austin, capture, 37.

San Francisco Bay, 68, 70.

San Francisco Bay (Matagorda), 3.

San Francisco (mission. El Paso),
275.

San Francisco de los Sumas, mission,
founding, 19.

San Gregorio, mines, 12.

San Ldzaro (Spanish vessel), 65.

San Lorenzo (pueblo), 9.

San Lorenzo, Real de, 275.
San Luis (villa, Monterey), found-

ing, 12.

San Luis de Ahumada, see San
Agustln de Ahumada.

San Luis de los Amarillas, see San
Saba (presidio).

San Jose de los Nasonis (mission),
375.

San Jacinto, battle, 33, 47-8; 116-17,
280; effect, 49, 60.

San Jacinto (Texas schooner), notes
upon, 84-5.

San Jacinto River, 343-4.
San Juan Bautista, 274.
San Marcos (pueblo, New Mexico),

156-7.

San Miguel (mission), see Adaes
(mission).

San Pedro (Nabedache village), 341.
San Pedro de Alcantara (pueblo), 19.

San Pedro de Alcantara, Real de,
275.

San Rafael, Arroyo de, 344.
San Rafael, Puesto de, 342.
San Saba (presidio), name, 355;

destruction, 369-70.
Santa Anna, Antonio Lopez de, 106,

206, 280, 285, 294-5, 324-5, 399;
cruelty, 38 note 2; capture, 47;
attitude toward recognition, 198-9;
peace negotiations, 181^3, 204-5,
207-12, 307-8, 314-15, 325; in-

fluence, 201; revolution, 1832, 379,
422.

Santa Barbara, 70.

Santa Cruz, bay, 65.

Santa Fe (New Mexico), 6, 9, 17;
cabildo, 147, 260, 269, 274-6; in
the revolt of 1680, 137, 156-8,
269-72.

Santa Gertrudis, mission, 19.

Santander, Rio de, 13.

Santa Rosa de Alcazar, 357-61.
Santa Rosa de Alcazar, Arroyo de,

344, 359-61.
Santa Rosa de Alcazar, Springs of,

344-5 note 1, 354-5.

Santa Rosa de Viterbo (Bidai ran-
cheria), 342.

Santiago (Spanish vessel), 68.

Santisimo Sacramento, Real de, 275-
6.

Santo Domingo, 157.

Satereyn, Marcos (Fray), 357, 362.
Sayers, Joseph D., 123.
School of American Archaeology, 111.

Schuyler, R. L. (Dr.), 107-8.

Scorpion of Baltimore, see San Bern-
ard, 84.

Scott, , 83.

Scott, Winfield, 217.
Scurry, William R., 118, 131-2.

Scylla (British sloop), 428.

Secession, Houston's opposing speech,
comment, 133-4.

Sedillo, Pedro (Capt.), 142 note 2.
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Semple, Robert, 232, 239, 243, 254.

Senecu (New Mexico mission), 19.

Senecu (New Mexico pueblo), In-

dians of, 144, 148, 268.

Seven Cities of Cibola, see Cibola,
Seven Cities of.

Seven Hills of the Aijados, see Aijados,
Seven Hills of.

Sevilleta (puehlo, New Mexico), 138,

140; Indians of, 268.
Sewell, , 34.

Sharpe, , 36.

Shain, , letter to, 37.

Shain, Charles B., escape from Go-
liad, 36; letter, 37.

Shannon, (Capt.), company,
42-3.

Shannon, William E., in California

Constitutional Convention, 234,

236, 244-5, 247, 254-6.

Sharpe, . 36.

Sheffy, , 114.
Shelvocke, George, 67.

Sheppard, Morris, 335.
Sherman, Sidney (Col.), 33; regi-

ment, 48 note 1.

Sherwood, Winfield S., 239-44.

Shipping charges, 427-8.

Shivers, O. L., 40 note 2.

Shumard, Benjamin F. (State Geolo-
gist), 131-2.

Sia (Queres pueblo, New Mexico),
160; revolt, 1680, 143.

Sierra, Antonio de (Fray), 144-5, 155.

Sierra Azul, 23.

Sikes, Henry, 279.
Silva, Bernardo de (Fray), 373.

Simonds, Frederic William, 220.

Simpey, John, 41 note 6.

Slave-hunting, 14.

Slavery, Indian, 14.

Slavery, Negro, question in relation

to Texas, 29, 61, 93; in Texas, 312-

13, 318-19, 324, 396-8, 416, 418;
in the California Constitutional
Convention, 238, 240-5, 250-8.

Slave-trade, efforts to suppress, 96
note 1.

Smith, Ashbel, 75, 86, 93 note 1'

131-2, 304.
Smith, Benjamin, 280.
Smith, Jedediah, 73.

Smith, John T., 128-9.

Smith, John W., 40 note 3.

Smith, Justin Harvey, 58-9 note 1.

Smith, Lemuel, 280.
Smith, Thomas, 43.
Snelling, John, 279.

Snyder, Jacob, 254.
Socorro (pueblo. New Mexico), 138,

144-5, 156, 162, 166, 269; mission,
19; fortification, 140; Indians, 140-

1, 26S; junta, 141-3.
La Soledad (mission. El Paso), 275.
Soils, (Father), 373.
Soils de Miranda, Martin, 148.
Sonora, Indians, revolt feared, 271-2.
Soto, Joseph del Rosario (Fray), 373.
Spanish activities on the lower Trin-

ity River, 171^6-1771 (Bolton), 339-
77.

Spanish-French relations, see Fron-
tier.

The Spanish occupation of Texas,
1519-1690 (Bolton), 1-26.

Spartan (British ship), 296-7, 299,
309.

Sphon, Joseph H., 279 note 6.

Spring Creek, 344, 359.
Stanberry, William, encounter with

Houston, 123-8.

Statehood question in Texas, 1828,
396-8.

Steger, Harry Peyton, 221.
Steiner, J. M., 120.
Stevenson, Andrew, 126.
Stewart, Charles, 223.
Stockton, R. L., 279.
Striff, T. R., 280.
Stroble, Lewis (Capt.), 289.
Sturgis, Paul B., 336.
Sublett, Henry, 117.
Sublett, Phil, 117.

Sumas Indians, 271; mission, 275.
Sumesta, Juan de (Fray), 19.

Sutil (Spanish vessel), 68.

Sutter, John A., 230, 255.
Sweeny, Arie Davenport (Mrs. B. F.),

284, 290.
Swisher, James M. (Capt.), 130.

Tamages (Orcoquiza chief), 370.
Tampico, 3.

Tandey, A. M., 280.
Tanner, Henry Schenck, Map of the

United States of Mexico, comment,
228.

Taos (New Mexico pueblo), juris-

diction, 139; Indians from, in

sack of Santa Fe, 156.

Taovayas Indians, 355.
Taraumares Indians, 263.
Tariff, Texan, enforcement, 293;

history, 424-7.

Tarleton, James (Capt.), 33; account
of San Jacinto, 48-9.
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Tarnava, Constantino (Lieut.), 403,
406; letter (extract), 383; report,

406-13; report, comment, 417-18,
421-2.

Taylor, (Capt.), 289.
Taylor, Eldorado, comment, 251

note 4.

Taylor, Zachary, 243.
Teggart, Frederick J., The ap-

proaches to California, 63-74.

Teguayo, Kingdom of, 18, 22-3.

Tejas Indians, 10, 17, 343; kingdom,
2, 6, 10, 16-17, 20-4.

Tellez Xiron, Joseph (Capt.), 142
note 2.

Tenorio, Antonio, ejection, 425.
Teran, Manuel de Mier y, 379, 390

note 1; suspicions, 383, 385, 407-8,
411-12; connection with the af-

fairs of Texas, 386, 391-406, 418-21;
biographical sketch, 391-2 note 2;

relations with Bustamante, 391-2
note 1, 402; with Austin, 394, 418-

19; report (extract), 401-2; con-
nection with the decree of April
6, 1830, 406-14, 417-18, 421-2;
letters (extracts), 395-8, 400-1,

406, 420; letters to (extracts), 404,
414.

Terrell, Alexander Watkins, Recol-
lections of General Sam Houston,
113-36; death, 223; memorial reso-

lutions, 337.
Terrell, George W., 91-2.

Terry, Stephen P., 40 note 3.

Texas, Spanish occupation, 1519-
1690, 1-26; Growth of friction

with Mexico, 382-91; attempts of

the United States to purchase, 383;
colonizing races, general character,
390-1; military occupation, prepa-
rations for, 1829-31, 398-407, 421.
{See also Agency; Annexation;
Boundary of Texas; Constitu-
tional Conventions; Custom-
houses; Currency; Customs; In-
dependence; Mexico; Missions;
Navy; Population; Public debt;
Volunteer Army; etc.)

Texas Republican, note upon, 329-31.
Texas State Historical Association,

affairs, 1912-13, 337-8, 442-3.

Theall, Arie Davenport, see Sweeney,
Arie Theall, 284, 290.

Theall, Eureka McFarlane, (Mrs.
Joseph), 284, 289-90.

Theall, Joseph, 288-9.
Thoma, Francisco de, Historia . . . de
Nuevo Mexico, correction, 153-4
note 4, 161 note 5.

Thompson, Henry, 106-7.
Thompson, Waddy, 220, 291; con-

duct respecting the Mier prisoners,
320, 324-5.

Thornton, Howard F., 281 note 1.

Throckmorton, James, 135.
Thruston, A. S., order, 51.

Thruston, J. M., 34.

Tlascaltecan Indians, 360; Spanish
relations, 354.

La Toma, 270.
Tomas (Bidai chief), 344-5 note 1,

370, 372-3.
Tompiro Indians, 8.

Toncray, L. C, 280.
Tonnage, duties, 427-8.
Trade, with the Jumano, 10-11, 17;
between Cerralvo and Panuco, 13;
with the Bidai and Orcoquiza,
347-8; illicit, 367-8; coastwise,
412-13, 416, 423; English and
foreign in Texas, 18J^2, 423, 427.

Travis, William Barret, 53.

Treaties: of the United States with
Spain, 1819, dissatisfaction with,
29-30; United States-Mexico,
1831, right of Texas to protection
under, 59; Texas-United States,

commercial, non-ratification, 201-

2, 293, 322-3.

Trevino, Jose (Capt.), 13.

Trinity River, 17 ;
Spanish activities

on, 171^5-6, 339-77.
Trist, James, 217.
Troutman, Joanna, 439.
Trujillo, Diego de {Maestre de

campo), 259-60.
Trujillo, Luisa (Dona), 160.

Turner, Frederick Jackson, 334.
Tuskina (steamboat), 43 note 5.

Tuthill, Franklin, History of Cali-

fornia, comment, 251 note 4.

Twichell, Ralph Emerson, Leading
facts . . . review, 99-102; correc-

tion, 161 note 5, 164 note 4.

Twiggs, David E. (Gen.), 135.

Tyler, John, 95-6, 198, 211, 324.

Udden, J. A., 335.

Ulloa, Francisco de, 65.

Unalaska, 63.

United Confederate Veterans, reun-
ion, 1912, 223.

United Daughters of the Confeder-
acy, State Convention, 1912, 336;
Illinois chapter, prize, 441. {See

also Confederate monuments.)
Urbantke, Carl, death, 222.

Urdaneta, Andres de, 65.

Urrea, Jose (Gen.), 35, 287.
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Utah, effort to gain admission to the
Union, 248-50.

Vaca, Alonso de, 6.

Valcarcel, Antonio de, 15.

Valcarcel, Domingo (Auditor), 353.

Valdes,
,
voyage, 68.

Valencia, Francisco de, 161.

Valentin, Joseph, 344-5 note 1.

Vallejo, (Mission president),

357, 361-2, 364, 373.

Van Bibber, John, 36.

Van Bibber, S., 36.

Van Buren, Martin (President),

103-4, 198, 243 note 1.

Vanderpoel, James, 40 note 3.

Van Tyne, Claude Halstead, 110.

Van Zandt, Isaac, 293, 304.
Varela Xaramillo, Pedro (Capt.),

142 note 2.

Vassault, F. I., Beginnings of Cali-

fornia, quotation and comment,
252-6.

Vaughn, John S., 40 note 3.

Velasco, 46; disturbances, 1832, 425.

Velez Escalante, Silvestre, see Esca-
lante, Silvestre Velez.

Vial, Pierre (Pedro), 432.
Victoria, Guadalupe (President),

378, 418; letter to (extract), 395-8.

Villagutierre y Soto Mayor, Juan,
Historia de la conquista . . . de los

Itzaex . . . note upon, 153-4 note 4.

Villavaso, Ernest Joseph, book re-

view, 433-4.
Viper of Baltimore, see San Jacinto,

84-5.

Virginia and the independence of
Texas (Winston), 277-83.

Virginia Herald, quoted, 277 note 1;

notes upon, 279 note 4, 280 note 2,

281.
Vizcaino, Sebastian, 68; voyages,

66-7.

Volunteer Army, Company E, first

regiment of infantry, 279-80; for-

eign volunteers, Texas revolution,
27-62.

Waite, (Col.), letter to (ex-

tract), 135.
Walker, Robert John, 50 note 6.

Wallace, C, 41 note 6.

Wallace, J. R., 41 note 6.

Waller, Edwin, 278.
Wallis, , 71.

Walton, W. M. (Maj.), 115.
Ward, William (Maj.), 53; battalion,

flag, 439.
Warner, George P., 221.

Washington on the Brazos, descrip-
tion, 181,2, 78.

Waxahachie, confederate monument,
336.

Webster, Daniel, 198, 317; letter

(extract), 58-9 note 2.

Weigert, D. H., 40 note 3.

Welles, Gideon, Diary, note upon,
108.

Wellesley, Henry, see Cowley, Henry
Weliesley, Baron, 75, 98.

West, Elizabeth Howard, 224; book
reviews, 106-7, 435-6.

Wharton, William H., 32, 55; defied
by Houston, 129; services as com-
missioner, 38-9; letters (extracts),

50, 282 note 5; request for United
States troops on the Texas border,
60.

Wharton (Texas brig), 84-5, 291,
303 311

Wheeler, T. B. (Col.), death, 440.
White, Ham, 130.
White, James, 40 note 3.

White, William, duel with Houston,
128.

White Oak Bayou, 129.
Wigfall, Louis T., 118-19.
Wigginton, (Capt.), company,

42.

Willey, Samuel H., The transition

period of California, comment,
253-6.

Williams, Samuel M., 420.
Wilmot Proviso, 243-4.

Wilson, Edward J., 40 note 3, 42;
volunteer expedition, 1836, 43-7.

Wilson, Harry Langford, 111.
Wilson, John (Gen.), 243-5 note 3,

249; letter (extract), 249.
Winkler, Ernest William (State Li-

brarian), 337, 430; note upon a
Bexar prisoner's letter, 220-1;
upon the Texas Republican, 329-
31; book reviews, 218-19, 333-4,
434-5.

Winston, Jamxes E., Kentucky and
the independence of Texas, 27-62;
Virginia and the independence of
Texas, 277-83.

Wood, George T., monument, 336.
Woolley, Sam D., 40 note 2.

Woolley, Sam D. (?), 43.

Worlen, , 34.

Wroe, W. T., 111.

Wroe, Mrs. W. T., 111.
Wyatt, (Capt.), 35 note 1, 36.
Wynne, Richard M., obituary, 222.

Xavier, Francisco, 166, 265-7.
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Young, Brigham, 249; letter, 243-5
note 3.

Yucatan, 190, 212; revolution, 181^3,

201, 291, 297, 299, 312.
Yumas Indians, 272.

Zacatecas, governor, refusal to sup-
ply troops to Teran, 405.

Zanesville Volunteer Rifle Company,
279.

Zavala, Juan de (Gen.), 13-14.
Zavala, Martin de (Governor), ex-

plorations, 14.

Zavala (Texas ship), 84-5.

Zavaleta, Alvaro de {Fray), 275-6.
Zavaleta, Juan {Fray), 19.
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